NATIONAL TOXICOLOGY PROGRAM Technical Report Series No. 465



TOXICOLOGY AND CARCINOGENESIS

STUDIES OF PHENOLPHTHALEIN

(CAS NO. 77-09-8)

IN F344/N RATS AND B6C3F₁ MICE

(FEED STUDIES)

U.S. DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES Public Health Service National Institutes of Health

FOREWORD

The National Toxicology Program (NTP) is made up of four charter agencies of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (DHHS): the National Cancer Institute (NCI), National Institutes of Health; the National Institute of Environmental Health Sciences (NIEHS), National Institutes of Health; the National Center for Toxicological Research (NCTR), Food and Drug Administration; and the National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health (NIOSH), Centers for Disease Control. In July 1981, the Carcinogenesis Bioassay Testing Program, NCI, was transferred to the NIEHS. The NTP coordinates the relevant programs, staff, and resources from these Public Health Service agencies relating to basic and applied research and to biological assay development and validation.

The NTP develops, evaluates, and disseminates scientific information about potentially toxic and hazardous chemicals. This knowledge is used for protecting the health of the American people and for the primary prevention of disease.

The studies described in this Technical Report were performed under the direction of the NIEHS and were conducted in compliance with NTP laboratory health and safety requirements and must meet or exceed all applicable federal, state, and local health and safety regulations. Animal care and use were in accordance with the Public Health Service Policy on Humane Care and Use of Animals. The prechronic and chronic studies were conducted in compliance with Food and Drug Administration (FDA) Good Laboratory Practice Regulations, and all aspects of the chronic studies were subjected to retrospective quality assurance audits before being presented for public review.

These studies are designed and conducted to characterize and evaluate the toxicologic potential, including carcinogenic activity, of selected chemicals in laboratory animals (usually two species, rats and mice). Chemicals selected for NTP toxicology and carcinogenesis studies are chosen primarily on the bases of human exposure, level of production, and chemical structure. The interpretive conclusions presented in this Technical Report are based only on the results of these NTP studies. Extrapolation of these results to other species and quantitative risk analyses for humans require wider analyses beyond the purview of these studies. Selection *per se* is not an indicator of a chemical's carcinogenic potential.

These NTP Technical Reports are available for sale from the National Technical Information Service, U.S. Department of Commerce, 5285 Port Royal Road, Springfield, VA 22161 (703-487-4650). Single copies of this Technical Report are available without charge while supplies last from NTP Central Data Management, NIEHS, P.O. Box 12233, MD E1-02, Research Triangle Park, NC 27709 (919-541-3419). Listings of all published NTP reports and ongoing studies are also available from NTP Central Data Management. The Abstracts and other study information for 2-year studies are also available at the NTP's World Wide Web site: http://ntp-server.niehs.nih.gov. NTP TECHNICAL REPORT

ON THE

TOXICOLOGY AND CARCINOGENESIS

STUDIES OF PHENOLPHTHALEIN

(CAS NO. 77-09-8)

IN F344/N RATS AND B6C3F₁ MICE

(FEED STUDIES)

NATIONAL TOXICOLOGY PROGRAM P.O. Box 12233 Research Triangle Park, NC 27709

November 1996

NTP TR 465

NIH Publication No. 97-3390

U.S. DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES Public Health Service National Institutes of Health

CONTRIBUTORS

National Toxicology Program

Evaluated and interpreted results and reported findings

J.K. Dunnick, Ph.D., Study Scientist
G.A. Boorman, D.V.M., Ph.D.
D.A. Bridge, B.S.
J.R. Bucher, Ph.D.
L.T. Burka, Ph.D.
R.E. Chapin, Ph.D.
J.R. Hailey, D.V.M.
J.K. Haseman, Ph.D.
G.N. Rao, D.V.M., Ph.D.
J.H. Roycroft, Ph.D.
G.S. Travlos, D.V.M.
D.B. Walters, Ph.D.
K.L. Witt, M.S., Oak Ridge Associated Universities

Cannon Laboratories, Inc.

Conducted 14-day studies, evaluated pathology findings

A.K. Reddy, Ph.D., Principal Investigator L. Billups, D.V.M. J.T. Ravert

Microbiological Associates, Inc.

Conducted 13-week studies, evaluated pathology findings

L.T. Mulligan, Ph.D., Study Director R. Filler, Ph.D. M.A. Stedham, D.V.M., M.S.

TSI Mason Laboratories, Inc.

Conducted 2-year studies, evaluated pathology findings

M.R. Osheroff, Ph.D., Principal Investigator C. Gamba-Vitalo, Ph.D. F.A. Voelker, M.S., D.V.M.

Experimental Pathology Laboratories, Inc.

Provided pathology quality assurance

J.F. Hardisty, D.V.M., Principal Investigator S. Botts, M.S., D.V.M., Ph.D. E.T. Gaillard, M.S., D.V.M.

NTP Pathology Working Group

Evaluated slides, prepared pathology report on rats (15 September 1995)

- J.C. Seely, D.V.M., Chairperson PATHCO, Inc.
- G.A. Boorman, D.V.M., Ph.D. National Toxicology Program
- S. Botts, M.S., D.V.M., Ph.D. Experimental Pathology Laboratories, Inc.
- L. Bowman, B.S., Observer North Carolina State University
- J.M. Cullen, V.M.D., Ph.D. North Carolina State University
- D. Dixon, D.V.M., Ph.D. National Toxicology Program
- J.R. Hailey, D.V.M. National Toxicology Program
- J. Hellman, D.V.M., Ph.D., Observer Merck KGaA

R.C. Sills, D.V.M., Ph.D. National Toxicology Program

Evaluated slides, prepared pathology report on mice (26 September 1995)

- M.P. Jokinen, D.V.M, Chairperson Pathology Associates, Inc.
- P. Blackshear, D.V.M., Observer North Carolina State University
- A. Enomot, D.V.M., Ph.D. National Toxicology Program
- E.T. Gaillard, M.S., D.V.M. Experimental Pathology Laboratories, Inc.
- J.R. Hailey, D.V.M. National Toxicology Program
- R. Miller, D.V.M., Ph.D. North Carolina State University
- A. Radovsky, D.V.M., Ph.D. National Toxicology Program R.C. Sills, D.V.M., Ph.D.
- National Toxicology Program
- M. Torii, D.V.M., Ph.D. National Toxicology Program

Dynamac Corporation

Prepared quality assurance audits

S. Brecher, Ph.D., Principal Investigator

Analytical Sciences, Inc.

Provided statistical analyses

R.W. Morris, M.S., Principal Investigator N.G. Mintz, B.S. S. Rosenblum, M.S.

Biotechnical Services, Inc.

Prepared Technical Report

S.R. Gunnels, M.A., Principal Investigator G. Gordon, M.A. L.M. Harper, B.S. M.J. Nicholls, B.S. D.C. Serbus, Ph.D. S.M. Swift, B.S.

CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	5
EXPLANATION OF LEVELS OF EVIDENCE OF CARCINOGENIC ACTIVITY	12
TECHNICAL REPORTS REVIEW SUBCOMMITTEE	13
SUMMARY OF TECHNICAL REPORTS REVIEW SUBCOMMITTEE COMMENTS	14
INTRODUCTION	17
MATERIALS AND METHODS	27
RESULTS	39
DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSIONS	71
REFERENCES	81
APPENDIX A Summary of Lesions in Male Rats in the 2-Year Feed Study of Phenolphthalein	93
APPENDIX B Summary of Lesions in Female Rats in the 2-Year Feed Study of Phenolphthalein	137
APPENDIX C Summary of Lesions in Male Mice in the 2-Year Feed Study of Phenolphthalein	175
APPENDIX D Summary of Lesions in Female Mice in the 2-Year Feed Study of Phenolphthalein	219
APPENDIX E Genetic Toxicology	259
APPENDIX F Organ Weights and Organ-Weight-to-Body-Weight Ratios	269
APPENDIX G Hematology and Clinical Chemistry Results	275
APPENDIX H Determinations of Total Phenolphthalein in Plasma	281
APPENDIX I Reproductive Tissue Evaluations and Estrous Cycle Characterization	291
APPENDIX J Chemical Characterization and Dose Formulation Studies	295
APPENDIX K Feed and Compound Consumption in the 2-Year Feed Studies of Phenolphthalein	309
APPENDIX L Ingredients, Nutrient Composition, and Contaminant Levels in NIH-07 Rat and Mouse Ration	315
APPENDIX M Sentinel Animal Program	319
APPENDIX N Continuous Breeding Study in Swiss (CD-1®) Mice	323
APPENDIX O Single-Dose Toxicokinetic Studies in F344/N Rats and B6C3F ₁ Mice	339

ABSTRACT



PHENOLPHTHALEIN

CAS No. 77-09-8

Chemical Formula: C₂₀H₁₄O₄ Molecular Weight: 318.33

Synonyms: 3,3-Bis(4-hydroxyphenyl)-1(3H)-isobenzofuranone; 3,3-bis(p-hydroxyphenyl)phthalide; α -(p-hydroxyphenyl)- α -(4-oxo-2,5-cyclohexadien-1-ylidene)-o-toluic acid

Trade names: Agoral[®], Alophen[®], Colax[®], Correctol[®], Dialose[®], Doxidan[®], Espotabs[®], Evac-U-Gen[®], Evac-U-Lax[®], Ex-Lax[®], Feen-A-Mint[®], FemiLax[®], Kondremul[®], LaxCaps[®], Lax-Pills[®], Medilax[®], Modane[®], Phenolax[®], Prulet[®]

Phenolphthalein is used as a laboratory reagent and acid-base indicator and in over-the-counter laxative preparations. The National Cancer Institute nominated phenolphthalein for study because of its wide-spread use as a component in numerous laxative preparations and the lack of adequate testing for carcinogenicity in experimental animals. Male and female F344/N rats and B6C3F₁ mice were exposed to phenolphthalein (98% to 99% pure) in feed for 14 days, 13 weeks, or 2 years. Genetic toxicology studies were conducted in *Salmonella typhimurium*, cultured Chinese hamster ovary cells, and mouse peripheral blood.

14-DAY STUDY IN RATS

Groups of five male and five female F344/N rats were given 0, 6,250, 12,500, 25,000, 50,000, or 100,000 ppm phenolphthalein in feed for 14 days. All rats survived to the end of the study. The final mean body weights of all exposed groups of rats were similar to those of the controls. No chemicalrelated gross or microscopic lesions were observed.

14-DAY STUDY IN MICE

Groups of five male and five female $B6C3F_1$ mice were given 0, 6,250, 12,500, 25,000, 50,000, or

6

100,000 ppm phenolphthalein in feed for 14 days. All mice survived to the end of the study. The final mean body weights of all exposed groups of mice were similar to those of the controls. No chemicalrelated gross or microscopic lesions were observed.

13-WEEK STUDY IN RATS

Groups of 10 male and 9 or 10 female F344/N rats were given 0, 3,000, 6,000, 12,000, 25,000, or 50,000 ppm phenolphthalein (equivalent to average daily doses of approximately 200, 400, 800, 1,600, or 3,500 mg phenolphthalein/kg body weight to males and 200, 400, 800, 1,700, or 3,600 mg/kg to females) in feed for 13 weeks. Additional groups of 10 male and 10 female rats designated for clinical pathology evaluations were also given 0, 3,000, 6,000, 12,000, 25,000, or 50,000 ppm phenolphthalein in feed until day 21. All core study rats survived to the end of the study. The final mean body weight of the 50,000 ppm females and the mean body weight gains of the 25,000 and 50,000 ppm females were significantly lower than those of the controls. The final mean body weights and mean body weight gains of all other exposed groups were similar to those of the controls. There was no cathartic action or any other clinical finding attributed to exposure to phenolphthalein. The few differences in the hematology and clinical chemistry parameters were sporadic and were not considered to be chemical related. The percentage of motile sperm in the 12,000 ppm males was significantly greater than that in the controls, but no other significant differences in sperm morphology or vaginal cytology between exposed and control groups were observed. Absolute and relative liver weights of 25,000 and 50,000 ppm males were significantly greater than those of the controls. No chemical-related gross or microscopic lesions were observed.

13-WEEK STUDY IN MICE

Groups of 10 male and 10 female $B6C3F_1$ mice were given 0, 3,000, 6,000, 12,000, 25,000, or 50,000 ppm phenolphthalein (equivalent to average daily doses of approximately 500, 1,000, 2,000, 4,100, or 9,000 mg phenolphthalein/kg body weight to males and 600, 1,200, 2,400, 5,000, or 10,500 mg/kg to females) in feed for 13 weeks. All mice survived until the end of the study. The final mean body weights and mean body weight gains of all exposed groups were similar to those of the controls. There was no cathartic action or any other clinical finding attributed to exposure to phenolphthalein. The absolute right cauda weight of the 12,000 ppm males and the absolute right epididymis weights of 12,000, 25,000, and 50,000 ppm males were significantly less than those of the controls. The percentages of abnormal sperm in 12,000, 25,000, and 50,000 ppm males were significantly greater than that in the control group, and the sperm concentrations in 12,000 and 50,000 ppm males were significantly less than that of the control group. The absolute and relative right testis weights of males exposed to 6,000 ppm or greater and the absolute right testis weight of 3,000 ppm males were significantly less than those of the controls. The incidences of hypoplasia of the bone marrow in males and females exposed to 12,000 ppm or greater were significantly greater than those in the controls. The incidences of hematopoiesis of the spleen in 25,000 and 50,000 ppm males were significantly greater than that in the controls.

2-YEAR STUDY IN RATS

Groups of 50 male and 50 female F344/N rats were given 0, 12,000, 25,000, or 50,000 ppm phenol-phthalein (equivalent to average daily doses of approximately 500, 1,000, or 2,000 mg phenol-phthalein/kg body weight to males and 500, 1,000, or 2,500 mg/kg to females) in feed for 2 years.

Survival, Body Weights, and Clinical Findings

Survival of exposed males and females was similar to that of the controls. The mean body weights of exposed males were less than those of the controls through most of the second year of the study, and the mean body weights of exposed females were less than those of the controls from about week 16 until the end of the study. Clinical findings attributed to phenolphthalein exposure included thin appearance and ruffled fur in all exposed groups of males.

Determinations of Total Phenolphthalein in Plasma

The mean plasma concentrations of total phenolphthalein (free and conjugated) after 2 years of exposure varied little with time of day. Plasma concentrations of total phenolphthalein were approximately the same between exposure groups and between males and females.

Pathology Findings

The incidences of benign pheochromocytoma of the adrenal medulla in all exposed groups of males were significantly greater than those in the controls and occurred with a significant positive trend. The incidences of benign pheochromocytoma in 12,000 ppm females and of benign or malignant pheochromocytoma (combined) in 12,000 and 25,000 ppm females were significantly greater than those in the controls. The numbers of exposed males with bilateral benign pheochromocytomas exceeded the number of controls with these neoplasms. The incidences of malignant pheochromocytomas in exposed rats were similar to those in the controls. The incidences of focal hyperplasia of the adrenal medulla in the 12,000 and 50,000 ppm males were significantly greater than in the controls.

The incidences of renal tubule adenoma in 50,000 ppm male rats and of renal tubule adenoma or carcinoma (combined) in 12,000 and 50,000 ppm male rats were significantly greater than those in the controls. Although the increased incidences were predominantly of renal tubule adenoma, four carcinomas were observed in exposed males (0 ppm, 0/50; 12,000 ppm, 1/50; 25,000 ppm, 1/50; 50,000 ppm, 2/50). The incidences of renal tubule neoplasms in exposed groups of females were similar to those in the controls. The findings from an extended evaluation (step section) of the kidneys of female rats were similar to those from the standard evaluation. The incidences of nephropathy in all exposed groups of females were significantly greater than in the controls, and the severity of nephropathy in all exposed groups of males and in 25,000 and 50,000 ppm females was significantly greater than in the controls.

The incidences of diffuse hyperplasia of the parathyroid gland (0/41, 16/48, 14/49, 14/46), fibrous osteodystrophy of the bone (0/50, 17/50, 14/50, 12/50), and mineralization (0/50, 11/50, 5/50, 5/49)and degeneration (0/50, 11/50, 5/50, 4/49) of the glandular stomach in exposed groups of males were generally significantly greater than those in the controls. The incidences of hyperplasia of the thyroid gland C-cells (13/50, 3/50, 9/49, 4/49) in 12,000 and 50,000 ppm males were significantly less than in the controls. These lesions are commonly observed in male rats with more advanced nephropathy and are considered to be associated with a calcium/phosphorus imbalance created by compromised functional capacity of the kidney.

2-YEAR STUDY IN MICE

Groups of 50 male and 50 female $B6C3F_1$ mice were given 0, 3,000, 6,000, or 12,000 ppm phenolphthalein (equivalent to average daily doses of approximately 300, 600, or 1,200 mg phenolphthalein/kg body weight to males and 400, 800, or 1,500 mg/kg to females) in feed for 2 years.

Survival, Body Weights, and Clinical Findings

Survival of the 12,000 ppm females was significantly lower than that of the controls; survival of all other exposed groups of mice was similar to that of the controls. The mean body weights of 12,000 ppm males were slightly less than those of the controls beginning at week 93 of the study, and the mean body weights of the 3,000, 6,000, and 12,000 ppm females were less than those of the controls during most of the second year of the study. In exposed mice, there were no clinical findings related to phenolphthalein exposure.

Determinations of Total Phenolphthalein in Plasma

The mean plasma concentrations of total phenolphthalein (free and conjugated) after 2 years of exposure varied little with time of day. Plasma concentrations of total phenolphthalein were approximately the same between exposure groups and between males and females.

Pathology Findings

The incidences of histiocytic sarcoma in 6,000 and 12,000 ppm males and females were significantly greater than those in the controls and occurred with a significant positive trend. In this study, histiocytic sarcoma was consistently observed in the liver with several other sites (e.g., spleen, lung, bone marrow, and various lymph nodes) involved less frequently.

The incidences of all types of malignant lymphoma and of lymphoma of thymic origin in all exposed groups of females were significantly greater than those in the controls and occurred with significant positive trends, while the incidences of all types of malignant lymphoma in all exposed groups of males were similar to that in the controls. The incidences of lymphoma of thymic origin were increased in exposed groups of males, but were significantly increased only in the 6,000 ppm group. The incidences of atypical hyperplasia of the thymus in 6,000 and 12,000 ppm males and in all exposed groups of females were significantly greater than those in the controls.

The incidences of benign sex-cord stromal tumors of the ovary in all exposed groups of females were significantly greater than in the controls. The incidences of hyperplasia of the ovary in 3,000 and 12,000 ppm females were significantly greater than in the controls. The incidences of germinal epithelial degeneration of the testis in all exposed groups of males were significantly greater than that in the controls.

There were increased incidences of myelofibrosis of the bone marrow in 12,000 ppm males (0 ppm, 3/50; 3,000 ppm, 8/50; 6,000 ppm, 8/50; 12,000 ppm, 19/49) and an increased severity but not incidence of this lesion in exposed females. There were also increased incidences of pigmentation of minimal to mild severity in the bone marrow of 6,000 and 12,000 ppm males (0/50, 2/50, 5/50, 16/49) and females (2/50, 3/50, 11/50, 11/50).

Also, the incidences of hematopoietic cell proliferation in the red pulp of the spleen (10/50, 22/50, 28/50, 21/49) in all exposed groups of males were significantly greater than that in the controls, and the severity of this lesion increased with increasing exposure concentration.

The incidences of hepatocellular adenoma in all exposed groups of males and females and of hepatocellular adenoma or carcinoma (combined) in 6,000 and 12,000 ppm males and all exposed groups of females were significantly less than those in the controls, and these lesions occurred with significant negative trends. Multiple hepatocellular adenomas were observed more frequently in the control groups than in the exposed groups. The incidences of clear cell and eosinophilic foci in all exposed groups of males and of mixed cell foci in 12,000 ppm males were significantly less than those in the controls. The incidences of eosinophilic foci in exposed groups of females were significantly less than in the controls.

GENETIC TOXICOLOGY

Phenolphthalein, tested in two laboratories, was not mutagenic in any of four strains of *Salmonella typhimurium* with or without S9 metabolic activation enzymes, and no induction of sister chromatid exchanges was observed in cultured Chinese hamster ovary cells treated with phenolphthalein with or without S9. However, significant increases in chromosomal aberrations were observed after treatment of cultured Chinese hamster ovary cells with phenolphthalein in the presence of S9, and the frequencies of micronucleated erythrocytes were increased in peripheral blood samples from male and female mice administered phenolphthalein in feed for 13 weeks.

CONCLUSIONS

Under the conditions of these 2-year feed studies, there was clear evidence of carcinogenic activity* of phenolphthalein in male F344/N rats based on markincreased incidences of benign edly pheochromocytomas of the adrenal medulla and of renal tubule adenomas and adenomas or carcinomas (combined). There was some evidence of carcinogenic activity of phenolphthalein in female F344/N rats based on the increased incidences of benign pheochromocytomas of the adrenal medulla in the 12,000 ppm group and of benign or malignant pheochromocytomas (combined) in the 12,000 and 25,000 ppm groups. There was clear evidence of carcinogenic activity of phenolphthalein in male B6C3F, mice based on increased incidences of histiocytic sarcomas and of malignant lymphomas of thymic origin. There was clear evidence of carcinogenic activity of phenolphthalein in female B6C3F₁ mice based on increased incidences of histiocytic sarcomas, malignant lymphomas of all types, lymphomas of thymic origin, and benign sex-cord stromal tumors of the ovary.

Exposure of rats to phenolphthalein in feed for 2 years resulted in increased incidences of focal hyperplasia of the adrenal medulla in males and in increased incidences and/or severity of nephropathy of the kidney in males and females. Exposure of mice to phenolphthalein in feed for 2 years resulted in increased incidences of atypical hyperplasia of the thymus in males and females, degeneration of the

germinal epithelium of the testis in males, and ovarian hyperplasia in females.

Exposure of mice to phenolphthalein in feed for 2 years resulted in decreased incidences of hepatocellular neoplasms and nonneoplastic lesions in males and females.

^{*} Explanation of Levels of Evidence of Carcinogenic Activity is on page 12. A summary of the Technical Reports Review Subcommittee comments and the public discussion on this Technical Report appears on page 14.

	Male	Female	Male	Female
	F344/N Rats	F344/N Rats	B6C3F ₁ Mice	B6C3F ₁ Mice
Doses	0, 12,000, 25,000, or	0, 12,000, 25,000, or	0, 3,000, 6,000, or	0, 3,000, 6,000, or
	50,000 ppm in feed	50,000 ppm in feed	12,000 ppm in feed	12,000 ppm in feed
	(approximately 500,	(approximately 500,	(approximately 300,	(approximately 400,
	1,000, or 2,000 mg/kg	1,000, or 2,500 mg/kg	600, or 1,200 mg/kg	800, or 1,500 mg/kg
	per day)	per day)	per day)	per day)
Body weights	Exposed groups lower than the control group	Exposed groups lower than the control group	12,000 ppm group slightly lower than the control group	Exposed groups lower than the control group
2-Year survival	21/50, 15/50, 15/50,	30/50, 38/50, 32/50,	40/50, 33/50, 36/50,	39/50, 31/50, 34/50,
rates	13/50	38/50	36/49	28/50
Nonneoplastic effects	<u>Adrenal medulla</u> : focal hyperplasia (13/50, 22/50, 18/50, 23/50) <u>Kidney</u> : severity of nephropathy (1.8, 2.9, 3.1, 3.1)	<u>Kidney</u> : nephropathy (34/50, 45/50, 43/50, 44/50); severity of nephropathy (1.2, 1.4, 1.5, 1.5)	<u>Thymus</u> : atypical hyperplasia (0/43, 3/46, 7/44, 7/42) <u>Testis</u> : germinal epithelial degeneration (1/50, 49/50, 50/50, 47/48)	<u>Thymus</u> : atypical hyperplasia (0/48, 7/44, 6/49, 5/45) <u>Ovary</u> : hyperplasia (4/50, 11/49, 10/50, 17/50)
Neoplastic effects	Adrenal medulla: benign pheochromocytoma (17/50, 34/50, 34/50, 34/50) <u>Kidney</u> : renal tubule adenoma (standard evaluation - 0/50, 4/50, 2/50, 6/50; extended evaluation - 1/50, 7/50, 15/50, 11/50; standard and extended evaluations combined - $1/50,$ 10/50, 15/50, 15/50; renal tubule adenoma or carcinoma (standard evaluation - $0/50,$ 5/50, 3/50, 7/50; extended evaluation - 1/50, 7/50, 15/50, 11/50; standard and extended evaluation - 1/50, 7/50, 15/50, 11/50; standard and extended evaluations combined - $1/50,$ 10/50, 16/50, 16/50)	Adrenal medulla: benign pheochromocytoma (3/50, 11/50, 9/50, 2/49); benign or malignant pheochromocytoma (3/50, 12/50, 10/50, 2/49)	All organs: histiocytic sarcoma (1/50, 3/50, 11/50, 12/49); malignant lymphoma (thymic origin) (0/50, 4/50, 7/50, 2/49)	All organs: histiocytic sarcoma (0/50, 2/50, 7/50, 7/50); malignant lymphoma (all types) (15/50, 28/50, 33/50, 25/50); malignant lymphoma (thymic origin) (1/50, 9/50, 10/50, 7/50) <u>Ovary</u> : benign sex-cord stromal tumor (0/50, 7/49, 6/50, 5/50)

Summary of the 2-Year Carcinogenesis and Genetic Toxicology Studies of Phenolphthalein

	Male F344/N Rats	Female F344/N R		Female B6C3F ₁ Mice	
Decreased incidences	None	None	Liver: hepatocellular adenoma (22/50, 12/50, 8/50, 10/49); hepatocellular adenoma or carcinoma (27/50, 20/50, 11/50, 16/49); clear cell focus (24/50, 6/50, 1/50, 0/49); eosinophilic focus (22/50, 6/50, 1/50, 1/49); mixed cell focus (6/50, 2/50, 1/50, 0/49)	Liver: hepatocellular adenoma (17/50, 2/50, 6/50, 1/50); hepatocellular adenoma or carcinoma (21/50, 3/50, 6/50, 2/50); eosinophilic focus (20/50, 4/50, 2/50, 1/50)	
Level of evidence of carcinogenic activity	Clear evidence	Some evidence	Clear evidence	Clear evidence	
Genetic toxicology Salmonella typhimu	rium gene mutations:		Negative in strains TA98, TA100, TA and without S9	1535, and TA1537 with	
Sister chromatid exchanges Cultured Chinese hamster ovary cells <i>in vitro</i> :			Negative with and without S9		
Chromosomal aber	-		<i>c</i>		
	ese hamster ovary cells in vitro:		Positive with S9; negative without S9		
Micronucleated erythrocytes Mouse peripheral blood <i>in vivo</i> :			Positive		

.

Summary of the 2-Year Carcinogenesis and Genetic Toxicology Studies of Phenolphthalein (continued)

EXPLANATION OF LEVELS OF EVIDENCE OF CARCINOGENIC ACTIVITY

The National Toxicology Program describes the results of individual experiments on a chemical agent and notes the strength of the evidence for conclusions regarding each study. Negative results, in which the study animals do not have a greater incidence of neoplasia than control animals, do not necessarily mean that a chemical is not a carcinogen, inasmuch as the experiments are conducted under a limited set of conditions. Positive results demonstrate that a chemical is carcinogenic for laboratory animals under the conditions of the study and indicate that exposure to the chemical has the potential for hazard to humans. Other organizations, such as the International Agency for Research on Cancer, assign a strength of evidence for conclusions based on an examination of all available evidence, including animal studies such as those conducted by the NTP, epidemiologic studies, and estimates of exposure. Thus, the actual determination of risk to humans from chemicals found to be carcinogenic in laboratory animals requires a wider analysis that extends beyond the purview of these studies.

Five categories of evidence of carcinogenic activity are used in the Technical Report series to summarize the strength of the evidence observed in each experiment: two categories for positive results (clear evidence and some evidence); one category for uncertain findings (equivocal evidence); one category for no observable effects (no evidence); and one category for experiments that cannot be evaluated because of major flaws (inadequate study). These categories of interpretative conclusions were first adopted in June 1983 and then revised in March 1986 for use in the Technical Report series to incorporate more specifically the concept of actual weight of evidence of carcinogenic activity. For each separate experiment (male rats, female rats, male mice, female mice), one of the following five categories is selected to describe the findings. These categories refer to the strength of the experimental evidence and not to potency or mechanism.

- Clear evidence of carcinogenic activity is demonstrated by studies that are interpreted as showing a dose-related (i) increase of malignant neoplasms, (ii) increase of a combination of malignant and benign neoplasms, or (iii) marked increase of benign neoplasms if there is an indication from this or other studies of the ability of such tumors to progress to malignancy.
- Some evidence of carcinogenic activity is demonstrated by studies that are interpreted as showing a chemical-related increased incidence of neoplasms (malignant, benign, or combined) in which the strength of the response is less than that required for clear evidence.
- Equivocal evidence of carcinogenic activity is demonstrated by studies that are interpreted as showing a marginal increase of neoplasms that may be chemical related.
- No evidence of carcinogenic activity is demonstrated by studies that are interpreted as showing no chemical-related increases in malignant or benign neoplasms.
- Inadequate study of carcinogenic activity is demonstrated by studies that, because of major qualitative or quantitative limitations, cannot be interpreted as valid for showing either the presence or absence of carcinogenic activity.

When a conclusion statement for a particular experiment is selected, consideration must be given to key factors that would extend the actual boundary of an individual category of evidence. Such consideration should allow for incorporation of scientific experience and current understanding of long-term carcinogenesis studies in laboratory animals, especially for those evaluations that may be on the borderline between two adjacent levels. These considerations should include:

- adequacy of the experimental design and conduct;
- occurrence of common versus uncommon neoplasia;
- progression (or lack thereof) from benign to malignant neoplasia as well as from preneoplastic to neoplastic lesions;
- some benign neoplasms have the capacity to regress but others (of the same morphologic type) progress. At present, it is
 impossible to identify the difference. Therefore, where progression is known to be a possibility, the most prudent course
 is to assume that benign neoplasms of those types have the potential to become malignant;
- combining benign and malignant tumor incidence known or thought to represent stages of progression in the same organ or tissue:
- latency in tumor induction;
- multiplicity in site-specific neoplasia;
- metastases;
- supporting information from proliferative lesions (hyperplasia) in the same site of neoplasia or in other experiments (same lesion in another sex or species);
- presence or absence of dose relationships;
- statistical significance of the observed tumor increase;
- concurrent control tumor incidence as well as the historical control rate and variability for a specific neoplasm;
- survival-adjusted analyses and false positive or false negative concerns;
- structure-activity correlations; and
- in some cases, genetic toxicology.

NATIONAL TOXICOLOGY PROGRAM BOARD OF SCIENTIFIC COUNSELORS TECHNICAL REPORTS REVIEW SUBCOMMITTEE

The members of the Technical Reports Review Subcommittee who evaluated the draft NTP Technical Report on phenolphthalein on December 5, 1995, are listed below. Subcommittee members serve as independent scientists, not as representatives of any institution, company, or governmental agency. In this capacity, subcommittee members have five major responsibilities in reviewing NTP studies:

- to ascertain that all relevant literature data have been adequately cited and interpreted,
- to determine if the design and conditions of the NTP studies were appropriate,
- to ensure that the Technical Report presents the experimental results and conclusions fully and clearly,
- to judge the significance of the experimental results by scientific criteria, and
- to assess the evaluation of the evidence of carcinogenic activity and other observed toxic responses.

Arnold L. Brown, M.D., Chairperson University of Wisconsin Medical School Madison, WI

Gary P. Carlson, Ph.D. School of Health Sciences Purdue University West Lafayette, IN

Thomas L. Goldsworthy, Ph.D., Principal Reviewer Department of Experimental Pathology and Toxicology Chemical Industry Institute of Toxicology Research Triangle Park, NC

Robert LeBoeuf, Ph.D. Corporate Professional and Regulatory Services Human Safety Department The Procter & Gamble Company Cincinnati, OH

Janardan K. Reddy, M.D.* Department of Pathology Northwestern University Medical School Chicago, IL

* Did not attend

Irma Russo, M.D. Fox Chase Cancer Center Philadelphia, PA

Louise Ryan, Ph.D. Division of Biostatistics Dana-Farber Cancer Institute Boston, MA

Robert E. Taylor, M.D., Ph.D., Principal Reviewer Department of Pharmacology Howard University College of Medicine Washington, DC

Frederick L. Tyson, Ph.D. St. Mary's Hospital and Research Center Cancer Research Institute Grand Junction, CO

Jerrold M. Ward, D.V.M., Ph.D., Principal Reviewer* National Cancer Institute Frederick, MD

SUMMARY OF TECHNICAL REPORTS REVIEW SUBCOMMITTEE COMMENTS

On December 5, 1995, the draft Technical Report on the toxicology and carcinogenesis studies of phenolphthalein received public review by the National Toxicology Program's Board of Scientific Counselors' Technical Reports Review Subcommittee. The review meeting was held at the National Institute of Environmental Health Sciences, Research Triangle Park, NC.

Dr. J.K. Dunnick, NIEHS, introduced the toxicology and carcinogenesis studies of phenolphthalein by describing the uses of the chemical and rationale for the study, describing the experimental design, reporting on survival and body weight effects, and commenting on chemical-related neoplasms and nonneoplastic lesions in male and female rats and mice. Dr. Dunnick noted that molecular biology studies in collaboration with NIEHS intramural scientists are in progress or planned, including studies of the chemical in transgenic mouse models. Pharmacokinetic studies are in progress. Dr. J.R. Hailey, NIEHS, presented photomicrographs of lesions of the hematopoietic system, examples of histiocytic sarcoma, malignant lymphoma of thymic origin and associated hyperplasia, ovarian proliferative lesions, and testicular atrophy. The proposed conclusions were clear evidence of carcinogenic activity of phenolphthalein in male F344/N rats, some evidence of carcinogenic activity of phenolphthalein in female F344/N rats, and clear evidence of carcinogenic activity in male and female B6C3F₁ mice.

Dr. Goldsworthy, a principal reviewer, agreed with the proposed conclusions. He stated that the Technical Report should provide assurance that biological responses observed, especially those related to estrogenic effects, are attributable to phenolphthalein and not to lipophilic impurities. Small quantities of such impurities have been shown to account for the estrogenic activity in commercial preparations of the sulfonated analog of phenolphthalein, phenolsulfonphthalein or phenol red. Dr. Dunnick responded that the phenolphthalein used in these studies was 99% pure. She noted that Dr. M.D. Shelby, NIEHS, is developing assays for estrogenic activity and anticipated that the estrogenic potential of phenolphthalein could be compared with those of phenol red and of lipophilic impurities. Dr. Goldsworthy said there should be a comprehensive treatment of the estrogenic responses; for example, discussion on decreased incidences of liver lesions in mice. Dr. Dunnick proposed isolating the 1% impurity and examining its carcinogenic and estrogenic activity in short-term model systems such as transgenics and MCF-7 cells.

Dr. Ward, the second principal reviewer, was unable to attend the meeting but had submitted his review, which Dr. L.G. Hart, NIEHS, read into the record. Dr. Ward agreed with the proposed conclusions. He asked if the myelofibrosis reported was the typical lesion found in aging $B6C3F_1$ mice and probably estrogenic in origin. Dr. Hailey said that it was the lesion associated with aging.

Dr. Taylor, the third principal reviewer, agreed with the proposed conclusions. He noted that pharmacokinetic data on phenolphthalein are rare in the literature and recommended that the pharmacokinetic data, particularly the lack of a dose-response relationship, in Appendix O be discussed in the body of the Technical Report. Dr. Dunnick said that these studies were limited, but that she would try to give more emphasis to the findings. Dr. Goldsworthy hoped that follow-up studies would look at phenolphthalein levels in organs such as the ovaries. Dr. G.W. Lucier, NIEHS, reported that follow-up pharmacokinetic studies will span a very wide dose range and will enable a better definition of the leveling off of tissue or blood levels of phenolphthalein in relation to dose.

Dr. Russo commented that there did not seem to be any influence of chemical treatment on pituitary gland or mammary gland lesions, with an even lower incidence of thyroid gland C-cell lesions than in control animals, all speaking against an estrogenic effect. Dr. Dunnick agreed, noting that another chemical with estrogenic activity, zearalenone, had not produced increases in mammary gland lesions in rats or mice. Dr. LeBoeuf asked whether the *in vitro* increases in chromosomal aberrations and *in vivo* increases in the frequency of micronucleated erythrocytes were consistent with other chemicals that may have estrogen-like properties and can form quinones with metabolism, such as diethylstilbestrol. Dr. Shelby replied that the database is too small to reach any general conclusion. However, these increases along with the 2-year study results are fully consistent with the endocrine disrupting estromimetic compounds. Dr. W.T. Allaben, National Center for Toxicological Research and Food and Drug Administration (FDA), thanked the NTP, and particularly

Dr. Dunnick, for sharing information during the

study and review process and noted that the additional studies mentioned will be helpful to the FDA in its further review toward making an assessment regarding potential human risk.

Dr. Goldsworthy moved that the Technical Report on phenolphthalein be accepted with the revisions discussed and with the conclusions as written. Dr. Taylor seconded the motion, which was accepted with six yes votes and one abstention (Dr. LeBoeuf).

Phenolphthalein, NTP TR 465

.

.

INTRODUCTION



PHENOLPHTHALEIN

CAS No. 77-09-8

Chemical Formula: C₂₀H₁₄O₄ Molecular Weight: 318.33

Synonyms: 3,3-Bis(4-hydroxyphenyl)-1(3H)-isobenzofuranone; 3,3-bis(p-hydroxyphenyl)phthalide; α -(p-hydroxyphenyl)- α -(4-oxo-2,5-cyclohexadien-1-ylidene)-o-toluic acid

Trade names: Agoral[®], Alophen[®], Colax[®], Correctol[®], Dialose[®], Doxidan[®], Espotabs[®], Evac-U-Gen[®], Evac-U-Lax[®], Ex-Lax[®], Feen-A-Mint[®], FemiLax[®], Kondremul[®], LaxCaps[®], Lax-Pills[®], Medilax[®], Modane[®], Phenolax[®], Prulet[®]

CHEMICAL AND PHYSICAL PROPERTIES

Phenolphthalein is a white or yellowish white, odorless, tasteless powder consisting of minute triclinic crystals (often twinned). It has a specific gravity of 1.277 at $32/4^{\circ}$ C and a melting point range of 262° to 263° C (Weast, 1987) or 258° to 262° C (*Merck Index*, 1989), depending on the relative amounts of associated impurities. Although not flammable, phenolphthalein emits acrid smoke and fumes when heated to decomposition (*Sax's*, 1992). Phenolphthalein is readily soluble in alcohol (1 g dissolves in 12 to 15 mL) or ether (1 g dissolves in approximately 100 mL) and very slightly soluble in chloroform. It is almost insoluble in water; however, its solubility is increased in physiologic buffered solutions simulating intestinal contents, i.e.. 7.8 mg/dL in Krebs-Ringer-bicarbonate solution, pH 7.4 (Sharaiha et al., 1983). The solubility of aqueous phenolphthalein is also pH dependent and does not exceed 6 mg/dL without the addition of ethanol until the pH is above the physiologic range, i.e., greater than 9 (Fantus and Dyniewicz, 1937; Solutions containing phenol-Hubacher, 1945). phthalein are colorless to pH 8.5 and pink to deep red above pH 9 (Figure 1). Phenolphthalein is used as a laboratory reagent and an acid-base indicator in titrations of mineral and organic acids and most alkalies (Merck Index, 1989).



FIGURE 1 Phenolphthalein Synthesis and Reactions as an Indicator (Morrison and Boyd, 1966)

PRODUCTION, USE, AND HUMAN EXPOSURE

Phenolphthalein is synthesized commercially by the condensation of phthalic anhydride with phenol in the presence of a dehydrating agent (sulfuric acid) (Figure 1). After the mixture is heated at 120° C for 10 to 12 hours, the phenolphthalein residue is extracted with boiling water and then dissolved in dilute sodium hydroxide solution, filtered, and precipitated with acid (*Remington's*, 1990). Approximately 250 tons of phenolphthalein are produced in the United States annually by a single manufacturer, Sigma-Aldrich Corporation (*Chemical Economics Handbook*, 1992).

Early studies in humans assessing the safety of phenolphthalein when used as a pH-dependent coloring agent in adulterated wine led to recognition of its cathartic action (von Vámossy, 1908). Phenolphthalein is available worldwide in numerous proprietary over-the-counter laxative preparations including tablets, powders, suspensions, capsules, and chewables; the fact that phenolphthalein is tasteless makes it desirable for marketing in the form of chocolate candy or chewing gum (AHFS, 1995).

The usual daily oral laxative doses for white or yellow phenolphthalein are 30 to 270 mg for adults and children 12 years of age and older, 30 to 60 mg for children 6 to 11 years of age, and 15 to 30 mg for children 2 to 5 years of age, although the use of stimulant laxatives is generally not recommended in children younger than 6 years of age (*Fed. Regist.*, 1975; AHFS, 1995).

Uses of phenolphthalein as a laxative-cathartic may include: as bowel evacuants prior to bowel surgery

or radiologic, proctoscopic, and colonoscopic procedures; to alleviate pain of elimination from an episiotomy wound, anal fissures, perianal abscesses, or after surgery; to reduce intra-abdominal pressure during elimination in patients with hernias, anorectal stenosis, or abnormalities of the cerebral or coronary arterial vessels; to relieve constipation during pregnancy or the puerperium; to modify the effluent in ileostomy and colostomy patients; to compensate for lost abdominal and perineal muscle tone in geriatric patients with poor eating habits; and for altered bowel motility in patients receiving anticholinergic or narcotic therapy (Pietrusko, 1977; Goodman and Gilman's, 1990).

However, laxative-cathartics, which are habit forming (i.e., chronic usage results in dependence), are commonly used to self-medicate symptoms of constipation and are frequently abused in an effort to control weight (Pietrusko, 1977; Goodman and Gilman's, 1990). Ten percent of college students who participated in a 1981 survey admitted to purging behavior, i.e., laxative use and self-induced vomiting (Halmi et al., 1981). Purging behavior is also associated with the eating disorders anorexia nervosa and bulimia nervosa; the prevalence of laxative abuse in patients with bulimia nervosa has been reported as 38% to 63% (Van Rooyen and Ziady, 1972; Pyle et al., 1981; Johnson et al., 1982; Bo-Linn et al., 1983; Mitchell et al., 1983; Fairburn and Cooper, 1984). A review by Cummings (1974) indicated that over 90% of chronic laxative abusers are women.

It is not possible to quantitate exposure to phenolphthalein via medication because of the large number of over-the-counter laxative preparations (Fleischer *et al.*, 1969; Van Rooyen and Ziady, 1972; Cummings *et al.*, 1974; LaRusso and McGill, 1975; Bytzer *et al.*, 1989). In the United States, Great Britain, and Australia, the rate of regular laxative use in populations who are apparently well is approximately 17% to 20% (Connell *et al.*, 1965; Dent *et al.*, 1986; Wu *et al.*, 1987; Kune, 1993). In 1975, 130 million dollars were spent in the United States on over-the-counter laxative preparations (Binder and Donowitz, 1975). In 1980, overall United States sales increased to approximately one billion dollars (Curry, 1990).

According to the National Occupational Exposure Survey, 75,243 workers (26% of whom were female) were potentially exposed to phenolphthalein in the years 1981 to 1983. Of the potentially exposed workers, 20,122 (65% female) were employed in the health services (NIOSH, 1990).

REGULATORY STATUS

Based on a review of over-the-counter laxativecathartics conducted by a Food and Drug Administration panel as part of a drug efficacy study implementation project, phenolphthalein was approved for human use and considered to be "generally recognized as safe" (*Fed. Regist.*, 1975).

PHARMACOKINETICS, ABSORPTION, DISTRIBUTION, METABOLISM, AND EXCRETION

Experimental Animals

Phenolphthalein is absorbed from the intestine and is excreted in the bile, urine, feces, and milk (Visek et al., 1956; AHFS, 1995). Once phenolphthalein is absorbed, it is conjugated with glucuronic acid via uridine diphosphate glucuronosyltransferase (UDPGT; a phospholipid-dependent enzyme system) in the liver and intestine (Sund and Hillestad, 1982) and is distributed throughout the body in the blood and lymph (Visek et al., 1956). Studies reported in the literature provide evidence for enzyme multiplicity of UDPGT. Steroidal and nonsteroidal UDPGT may have different membrane environments, and certain tissues such as the kidney and uterus have been shown to have a lower UDPGT activity for xenobiotic estrogenic compounds such as phenolphthalein (Lucier and McDaniel, 1977). Minor amounts of sulfate conjugate metabolites have also been detected in mucosal sheets isolated from the jejunum and colon of the guinea pig (Sund and Lauterbach, 1986).

Phenolphthalein conjugation enzyme activity (uridine diphosphatase glucuronosyltransferase) is absent or very low in microsomes from fetal or neonatal rat and guinea pig liver compared to activity from adult livers (Jondorf *et al.*, 1958; Wishart, 1978a). Glucuronide conjugation activity in adult rats is

stimulated by phenobarbital and unaffected by 3-methylcholanthrene (Wishart, 1978b).

Pharmacokinetic and tissue distribution studies in mice (strain not specified) and dogs (breed not specified) given 4.8 mg [¹⁴C]-phenolphthalein/kg (uniformly labeled) indicated that phenolphthalein was widely and evenly distributed throughout the body, with levels of radioactivity parallel to the concentration in the blood. In dogs, approximately 50% of an oral dose was recovered in the feces and 36% in the urine after 72 hours (Visek *et al.*, 1956).

In the mouse studies (Visek et al., 1956), no respiratory [14C]-carbon dioxide was recovered following administration of phenolphthalein labeled with ¹⁴C on the nonaromatic carbon of the lactone ring, indicating that the bonds to the labeled carbon atoms probably were not broken. Within 48 hours approximately 96% of the administered radioactivity was recovered in the urine and feces (56% in the urine and 38% in the feces following an oral dose; 30% in the urine and 68% in the feces following an intravenous dose). At 30 minutes to 6 hours, the highest levels of radioactivity appeared in the liver, gallbladder, and small intestine. On a total organ basis, the small intestine, which plays a major role in the excretion of phenolphthalein, contained more radioactive label than did the large intestine at all measurement intervals. However, when equated on a unit weight basis, the radioactivity of the large intestine and its contents increased substantially 6 hours after dosing.

autoradiography studies in male Whole-body BOM:NMRI mice given an intragastric dose of 1 mL/kg[¹⁴C]-phenolphthalein $(10 \ \mu Ci/100 \ g)$ showed initial high levels of radioactivity in the stomach, gallbladder, and small intestine at 10 and 20 minutes. Radioactivity was observed in peripheral organs (including the kidney, liver, and skin) showing that the drug was absorbed from the gastrointestinal tract. The radiolabel moved along the intestinal tract, reaching the large intestine after 2 hours and showing maximum activity in the rectum after 4 hours. No radiolabel was detected in autoradiograms 2 days after dosing (Sund et al., 1986).

Phenolphthalein undergoes extensive first pass metabolism in the intestinal epithelium and liver, which results in almost complete conversion of phenolphthalein to its glucuronide (Parker et al., 1980). Studies by Colburn et al. (1979) demonstrated that 6 hours after intravenous administration of [3H]-phenolphthalein to female Wistar rats, all radioactivity in the systemic circulation was present as the conjugate. In addition, a secondary peak in blood radioactivity occurred 5 to 6 hours after intravenous administration and coincided with the absorption of [3H]-phenolphthalein from the intestine following bacterial B-glucuronidase hydrolysis of [³H]-phenolphthalein glucuronide excreted in the bile. Hydrolysis of phenolphthalein glucuronide to the aglycone is a rate-limiting step in enterohepatic recirculation (Bergan et al., 1982); pretreatment with antibiotics to suppress intestinal microflora decreased the absorption of [³H]-phenolphthalein from 85% to 22% in female Wistar rats following intraduodenal administration of [³H]-phenolphthalein glucuronide (Parker et al., 1980).

In a study with beagle dogs, two males were given 8- or 10-hour intravenous infusions of phenolphthalein at a rate of 177 μ g/minute per kg body weight, and food was introduced at 2, 4, 6, and 8 hours during the study to stimulate gallbladder contraction. Steady-state serum levels were 7 μ g/mL for phenolphthalein and 30 μ g/mL for phenolphthalein glucuronide, and significant secondary peaks occurred for both compounds, an observation consistent with enterohepatic recirculation (Wilhelm *et al.*, 1992).

Phenolphthalein has been used as a model compound for enterohepatic recirculation studies in rats (Colburn et al., 1979), and surgical cannulation of the bile duct has been used to evaluate the extent of enterohepatic recirculation in rats and dogs. In bileduct-cannulated female Wistar rats, 95% of an intraperitoneal dose of 25 mg [3H]-phenolphthalein/kg was recovered in the bile as the glucuronide within 24 hours, while only 0.2% was recovered in the urine. Administration of the same dose to intact rats resulted in recovery of 86% in the feces, predominantly as the parent drug, and 10% in the urine as the glucuronide (Parker et al., 1980). In another study in female Wistar rats with biliary fistulae, phenolphthalein was completely eliminated in the bile (100%), almost entirely in the form of phenolphthalein glucuronide (98%) (Millburn et al., 1967). The plasma disappearance and biliary excretion kinetics of phenolphthalein glucuronide in the rat have been characterized by Mehendale (1990). Male Sprague-Dawley rats of the CR-1 strain were intravenously administered 3, 30, or 60 mg phenolphthalein or 3, 30, or 100 mg phenolphthalein glucuronide, and the femoral vein, artery, and common bile duct were cannulated. After administration of phenolphthalein, 99.5% of the dose was eliminated in the bile as phenolphthalein glucuronide with only trace quantities (0.5%) as phenolphthalein. Following administration of phenolphthalein glucuronide, phenolphthalein was undetectable in the bile. Biliary excretion was saturable at higher doses of both compounds.

Female dogs (breed not specified) given 4.8 mg [¹⁴C]-phenolphthalein/kg excreted 51% and 36% of the administered radioactivity in the feces and urine within 72 hours after an oral dose and 54% and 37% in the feces and urine following an intravenous dose. Following surgical cannulation of the bile duct, recovery of orally administered radiolabel from the same dogs over a 72-hour period was: feces, 31%; urine, 38%; and bile, 22%. The corresponding figures following an intravenous dose were: feces, 11%; urine, 35%; and bile, 43% (Visek *et al.*, 1956).

The investigations of Visek *et al.* (1956) also demonstrated that radiolabeled phenolphthalein crossed the placenta of mice, resulting in recovery of radiolabel from fetal tissues at 6, 24, and 96 hours after administration that paralleled that of maternal blood. In the dog, however, analysis of blood and tissue samples of puppies born 50 hours after the mother received a 4.8 mg/kg oral dose indicated less than 0.03% of the administered dose in the liver and gallbladder and no radiolabel in the blood, which was interpreted by the authors as exceedingly limited passage of the drug across the placenta.

Humans

Phenolphthalein absorption in humans has been estimated to be 15% of an oral dose (*Goodman and Gilman's*, 1990). The absorbed compound is excreted primarily in the urine as phenolichydroxyglucuronide or sulfate conjugates, and the urine becomes pink or red if it is sufficiently alkaline. Some conjugated compound is also excreted in the feces via the bile, and the resulting enterohepatic recirculation probably contributes to prolongation of the laxative effect, a hypothesis supported by the observation that phenolphthalein is ineffective as a laxative in jaundiced patients or experimental animals with ligated common bile ducts (Steigmann *et al.*, 1938; Goodman and Gilman's, 1990).

Small doses of phenolphthalein in humans (30 to 60 mg) are excreted entirely as conjugated metabolites in urine or feces, while larger doses (300 mg) result in excretion of both the free and conjugated drug (Williams, 1959).

Diarrhea in infants may be caused by phenolphthalein usage by the mother during breast feeding (Tyson *et al.*, 1937).

PHARMACOLOGY

Following oral administration of phenolphthalein, evacuation usually occurs within 4 to 8 hours, and a single dose may produce laxation for several days (AHFS, 1995). The major site of cathartic action for phenolphthalein in humans is considered to be the large intestine with minor changes occurring in the small intestine (Saunders *et al.*, 1978; Sund, 1983). Phenolphthalein has choleretic properties and has been shown to accelerate bile secretions in male rats (Takeda and Aburada, 1981).

Phenolphthalein, a diphenylmethane derivative, belongs to the class of stimulant or irritant laxativecathartics originally thought to stimulate peristalsis by irritation of the colonic mucosa (Binder, 1977). Current views of the mechanism of action of phenolphthalein indicate that it has a hydrophoric effect, which alters intestinal fluid and electrolyte movement and causes a net accumulation of luminal fluid and increased fluidity of the intestinal contents (Binder and Donowitz, 1975; Gaginella and Bass, 1978; Sund. 1983). This effect on the sodium pump, which has been demonstrated in an isolated rabbit ileal loop model in vivo using measurement of ²⁴Na flux, involves inhibition of Na⁺ ion transport from the gut lumen to the plasma. Accumulation of Na⁺ ions in the lumen results in secondary accumulation of anions (chiefly Cl⁻ and HCO₃⁻) to maintain electroneutrality at a pH of approximately 8 with luminal water retention (Phillips et al., 1965). Inhibition of intestinal water absorption has been demonstrated in experimental animal models and in humans. An in vivo model using isolated jejunal, ileal, and colonic segments of the intestine of male Sprague-Dawley rats was used to demonstrate that phenolphthalein inhibited net water transport to the same extent in all regions of the intestine (Saunders *et al.*, 1978). A study of six ileostomy patients by the same investigators indicated that inhibition of water absorption in both the large and small intestine contributes to the laxative effect of phenolphthalein; 100 mg given four times a day increased the weight of ileostomy output by 30% and Na⁺ output by 39%.

In addition to inhibition of active transport of sodium across the rabbit ileum and frog skin (Phillips et al., 1965), phenolphthalein inhibited the sodiumdependent uptake of 3-methyl-D-glucose by the hamster small intestine in vitro (Adamič and Bihler, 1967) and reduced intestinal glucose absorption in the rat (Hart and McColl, 1967). Chignell (1968) investigated the effects of various purgative drugs on Na⁺, K⁺-adenosine triphosphatase activity in microsomes from the intestinal brush border of male Sprague-Dawley rats. Phenolphthalein was the most potent enzyme inhibitor of all the purgatives studied, blocking 70% of enzyme activity, which suggests that inhibition of sodium transport is a direct result of inhibition of Na⁺, K⁺-adenosine triphosphatase.

Phenolphthalein has been shown to stimulate prostaglandin biosynthesis in the colon of female Sprague-Dawley rats, with release of E-series prostaglandins into the gut lumen (Cohen, 1982). The extent of prostaglandin release correlated with the net water flux (laxative action) induced by the drug, and pretreatment with inhibitors of prostaglandin synthesis (indomethacin or aspirin) reduced the laxative effect in rats and mice (Beubler and Juan, 1978; Capasso et al., 1984). In in vitro studies in male rat intestinal homogenates, phenolphthalein (314 µM) significantly increased the conversion of arachidonic acid, a prostaglandin precursor, to prostaglandins and 5-hydroxy-eicosatetraynoic acid in the colon and to leukotriene B_4 in the jejunum and colon. Similarly, in human colon homogenates, $100 \mu g$ phenolphthalein/mL increased conversion of arachidonic acid to prostaglandins and leukotriene B₄ (Capasso et al., 1987).

Autore et al. (1984) attributed the laxative effect of a 16 mg/kg intragastric dose of phenolphthalein in male Wistar rats to stimulation of histamine and 5-hydroxytryptamine production and increased formation of prostaglandins, effects which were reduced by pretreatment with indomethacin. They concluded that the stimulation of biologically active amines may be due to altered gut motility, an overproduction of prostaglandin-like material, or a nonrelated direct effect of phenolphthalein. In a more recent study, there was an increase in kininogen content (measured as bradykinin equivalents/g wet tissue weight) in the colon of phenolphthalein-treated male Wistar rats, thus implicating kinins in the induction of laxation (Autore et al., 1990). Augmentation of muscle contractions induced by prostaglandin E₂, demonstrated in the rat stomach and the longitudinal muscle of the guinea pig ileum and colon following in vitro administration of 10 µg phenolphthalein/mL, was suggested as a possible contributing factor in phenolphthalein laxation (Capasso et al., 1988).

Although the laxative effect of phenolphthalein in monkeys is similar to that in humans, the dose required to induce laxation (25 mg/kg) is approximately 10 times that required for humans (Loewe and Hubacher, 1941).

TOXICITY

Experimental Animals

Phenolphthalein, given intravenously in dogs (breed not specified), was classified as relatively nontoxic in early studies (Abel and Rowntree, 1909). However, in rats it is regarded as moderately toxic by the intraperitoneal route, with an LD_{Lo} of 500 mg/kg (*Sax's*, 1992).

In oral studies, female mice (strain not specified) fed 5, 25, or 50 mg phenolphthalein/kg per day for 135 days showed no toxic manifestations or evidence of histopathologic changes in the liver, kidney, or gastrointestinal tract (Visek *et al.*, 1956).

Phenolphthalein, at doses of 25 and 50 μ g/mL, caused cytotoxic effects in cultured Chang liver cells

Introduction

characterized by decreased cell growth and increased anaerobic glycolysis, i.e., increased glucose consumption and lactate production (Nishikawa, 1981). Phenolphthalein has also been shown to inhibit growth of strains of anaerobic bacteria *in vitro* and cause leakage of potassium ions from both anaerobes and aerobes, findings consistent with the antibacterial properties of phenolic compounds (Bergan *et al.*, 1982; Sund, 1983).

Humans

Under normal conditions, phenolphthalein is regarded as nontoxic and safe for consumption, although therapeutic oral doses may occasionally produce abdominal discomfort, diarrhea, nausea, decreased blood pressure, faintness, and red urine and feces (AHFS, 1995). Serious side effects have been reported in cases of habitual phenolphthalein consumption under conditions of abuse (Cooke, 1977; Pietrusko, 1977); hypersensitivity reactions have been limited to susceptible or allergic individuals (Davies, 1985).

The primary reported organ for phenolphthalein toxicity is the intestine; indiscriminate use of phenolphthalein results in chronic constipation and laxative dependence, loss of normal bowel function, and bowel irritation. Habitual use for several years may cause a "cathartic colon," i.e., a poorly functioning, atonic dilation of the colon, especially of the right side, resulting in extensive bowel retention. The clinical condition, which resembles chronic ulcerative colitis both radiologically and pathologically, involves thinning of the intestinal wall and loss of the normal mucosal pattern of the terminal ileum (Cummings, 1974; Cooke, 1977; Pietrusko, 1977; AHFS, 1995).

Anecdotal cases of long-term use or overdose of phenolphthalein have been associated with abdominal pain, diarrhea, vomiting, electrolyte imbalance (hypokalemia, hypocalcemia, and/or metabolic acidosis or alkalosis), dehydration, malabsorption, protein-losing gastroenteropathy, steatorrhea, anorexia, weight loss, polydipsia, polyuria, cardiac arrhythmias, muscle weakness, prostration, and histopathologic lesions (Heizer *et al.*, 1968; Velentzas and Ikkos, 1971; Cummings, 1974; LaRusso and McGill, 1975; Pohl and Lowe, 1978; AHFS, 1995). Kidney, muscle, and central nervous system disturbances are thought to be due to electrolyte imbalance. Intestinal sodium and water loss stimulates compensatory renin production and secondary aldosteronism, leading to sodium conservation and potassium loss by the kidney (hypokalemia). Hypokalemia contributes to renal insufficiency, sometimes associated with rhabdomyolysis (Copeland, 1994).

Abuse of phenolphthalein-containing laxatives has been associated with gastrointestinal bleeding and iron deficient anemia (Weiss and Wood, 1982), acute pancreatitis (Lambrianides and Rosin, 1984), and multiple organ damage in cases of massive overdosages, including fulminant hepatic failure and disseminated intravascular coagulation (Sidhu *et al.*, 1989). Individual hypersensitivity reactions to phenolphthalein have also been reported to cause renal irritation, encephalitis, cardiac arrest, respiratory disturbances, and death (AHFS, 1995).

Phenolphthalein allergy is often manifested by cutaneous inflammatory reactions or fixed drug eruptions, i.e., solitary or multiple, well-defined, erythematous macules that may progress to vesicles and/or bullae. These lesions characteristically recur in the same location with each subsequent dose of phenolphthalein and generally leave residual hyperpigmentation that increases in intensity with each exposure; numerous melanin-containing dermal macrophages have been demonstrated in pigmented areas (Wyatt et al., 1972; Davies, 1985; Stroud and Rosio, 1987; Zanolli et al., 1993). In extreme cases, recurrences have involved progressively more severe lesions characterized as bullous erythema multiforme, with focal hemorrhage and necrosis and perivascular lymphocytic infiltration (Shelley et al., 1972), and in one case report, toxic epidermal necrolysis (Kar et al., 1986).

A review of 204 cases of phenolphthalein ingestion in children 5 years of age and younger reported to the Pittsburgh Poison Center over a 30-month period indicated that ingestion of 1 g or less was associated with minimal risk of developing dehydration caused by excessive diarrhea and resulting fluid loss (Mrvos *et al.*, 1991). However, despite the low acute toxicity profile documented by the Pittsburgh study, cases of fatal phenolphthalein poisoning of children have been reported; symptoms of pulmonary and cerebral edema, multiple organ toxicity, and encephalitis were attributed to hypersensitivity reactions (Cleves, 1932; Kendall, 1954; Sarcinelli *et al.*, 1970). Repeated administration of phenolphthaleincontaining laxatives to children has led to serious illnesses and multiple hospitalizations (Fleisher and Ament, 1977; Meadow, 1977; Devore *et al.*, 1982; Rosenberg, 1987; Sugar *et al.*, 1991; Ayass *et al.*, 1993).

REPRODUCTIVE AND DEVELOPMENTAL TOXICITY *Experimental Animals*

In a three-generation study involving 678 births, no drug-related teratogenic or reproductive deficits were observed in mice (strain not specified) fed approximately 250 mg phenolphthalein/kg per day in chocolate (Stockinger, 1965).

Phenolphthalein has weak estrogenic activity. In a study in immature Wistar rats, the minimum effective dose of phenolphthalein required to cause an estrogenic response (increase in glycogen content) in the uterus was 4 mg, compared to a 0.1 mg minimum effective dose of diethylstilbestrol (Bitman and Cecil, 1970). Subcutaneous injection of phenolphthalein also stimulated growth of the immature rat uterus in a similar study (Nieto *et al.*, 1990).

Humans

Phenolphthalein competed with estrogen for binding to cultured MCF-7 human breast cancer cells, with a relative binding affinity 10^{-4} that of estradiol, and stimulated cell growth as measured by DNA and protein assays. Acting as an estrogen agonist, phenolphthalein induced elevated levels of progesterone receptor in the MCF-7 cells. Growth stimulation by both phenolphthalein and estradiol was blocked by the anti-estrogen, 4-hydroxytamoxifen (Ravdin *et al.*, 1987). No other information related to the reproductive or developmental toxicity of phenolphthalein in humans has been reported in the literature.

CARCINOGENICITY Experimental Animals

No definitive information regarding the carcinogenic potential of phenolphthalein in experimental animals was found in the literature. However, phenolphthalein phosphate was inactive as an inducer of tumors at the site of subcutaneous injections in mice when given once weekly for 13 weeks. Following an 8-month, treatment-free period, no tumors were observed when the experiment was terminated at 11 months with a 50% survival rate (10/20). The value of this study as an indicator of the carcinogenic potential of phenolphthalein was limited because the compound was tested at a single unspecified dose level (Haddow and Horning, 1960).

Humans

In a study conducted in Melbourne, Australia with 1,408 subjects, there was no statistically significant increased risk for colorectal cancer in phenolphthalein laxative users (Kune, 1993). The cases included in this study included all histologically confirmed new patients in "The Melbourne Colorectal Cancer Study" from April 1980 to April 1981. Community controls were age/sex frequency-matched with the clinical cases and were randomly selected from the same geographic area. In another study following 11,888 residents of a retirement community in California for 4.5 years, the association between laxative use and risk of colorectal cancer was not significant (Wu *et al.*, 1987). Information on other cancer sites was not reported.

GENETIC TOXICITY

The mutagenicity of phenolphthalein has been investigated and the data indicate that the chemical, although not mutagenic in bacteria, is capable of inducing chromosomal damage in mammalian cells *in vitro* and *in vivo*. Phenolphthalein did not induce DNA damage in repair-deficient strains of *Bacillus subtilis* (Kada *et al.*, 1972; Fujita *et al.*, 1976), nor was it mutagenic in *Salmonella typhimurium* (Bonin *et al.*, 1981; Mortelmans *et al.*, 1986). However, blood samples obtained from the mice at the end of the 13-week toxicity study with phenolphthalein showed significant increases in micronucleated polychromatic erythrocytes and normochromatic erythrocytes in males and females (Dietz et al., 1992). Efforts to confirm the genotoxicity of phenolphthalein in mice resulted in a series of experiments that investigated the influence of various experimental parameters (route of administration, frequency of dosing, duration of exposure, carrier vehicle) on the phenolphthalein-induced micronucleus response in mice (Witt et al., 1995). It was concluded that phenolphthalein at relatively high doses (greater than or equal to 2,000 mg/kg per day for at least 2 days) administered either in feed or by gavage induced micronuclei in erythrocytes of B6C3F₁ mice and that this indication of chromosomal damage could be detected in either bone marrow or blood. Lower

doses of phenolphthalein (120 mg/kg per day) were highly effective in inducing micronucleated erythrocytes when administered over a longer period of time (14 weeks) in Swiss (CD-1[®]) mice. Phenolphthalein also induced dose-related increases in chromosomal aberrations in cultured Chinese hamster ovary cells treated in the presence of induced rat liver S9 (Witt *et al.*, 1995). These *in vitro* results provide additional evidence of the genotoxicity of phenolphthalein.

STUDY RATIONALE

The National Cancer Institute nominated phenolphthalein for study because of its widespread use as a component of numerous over-the-counter laxative preparations, and the lack of adequate testing for carcinogenicity in experimental animals.

.

.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

PROCUREMENT AND CHARACTERIZATION OF PHENOLPHTHALEIN

Phenolphthalein was obtained from Air Products and Chemicals, Inc. (Allentown, PA), in one lot (127-7809) and from Pharmco Laboratories, Inc. (Titusville, FL), in two lots (P3186-D5 and P9189-J1). Lot 127-7809 was used during the 14-day studies, lot P3186-D5 was used during the 13-week studies, and lot P9189-J1 was used during the 2-year studies. Identity, purity, and stability analyses were conducted by the analytical chemistry laboratory, Midwest Research Institute (Kansas City, MO) (Appendix J). Reports on analyses performed in support of the phenolphthalein studies are on file at the National Institute of Environmental Health Sciences (NIEHS).

All lots of the chemical, a yellow powder, were identified as phenolphthalein by infrared, ultraviolet/ visible, and nuclear magnetic resonance spectroscopy and by melting point. The purity of all lots was determined by elemental analyses, Karl Fischer water analysis, functional group titration, thin-layer chromatography, and high-performance liquid chromatography. For lot 127-7809, elemental analyses for carbon, hydrogen, and oxygen were in agreement with the theoretical values for phenolphthalein. Karl Fischer water analysis indicated 0.36% + 0.02%water. Functional group titration indicated a purity of 98.8% \pm 0.8%. Thin-layer chromatography by two systems indicated a major spot, a minor impurity, a trace impurity, and a slight trace impurity. High-performance liquid chromatography with one system revealed a major peak and five impurities with a combined area of 2.19% relative to the major peak area; high-performance liquid chromatography with a second system revealed a major peak and four impurities with a combined area of 2.28% relative to the major peak area. The overall purity of lot 127-7809 was determined to be greater than or equal to 98%. For lot P3186-D5, elemental analyses

for carbon and hydrogen were in agreement with the theoretical values for phenolphthalein. Karl Fischer water analysis indicated 0.193% + 0.004% water. Functional group titration indicated a purity of 99.5% \pm 0.4%. Thin-layer chromatography indicated a major spot, a minor impurity, and a trace impurity by one system and a major spot and a trace impurity by a second system. High-performance liquid chromatography revealed a major peak and three impurities with a combined area of 1.4% relative to the major peak area, and major peak comparisons of lot P3186-D5 with lot 127-7809 indicated a purity of $100.3\% \pm 0.6\%$ for lot P3186-D5 relative to lot 127-7809. The overall purity of lot P3186-D5 was determined to be greater than or equal to 98%. For lot P9189-J1, elemental analyses for carbon and hydrogen were in agreement with the theoretical values for phenolphthalein. Karl Fischer water analysis indicated $0.12\% \pm 0.05\%$ water. Functional group titration indicated a purity of $99.9\% \pm 0.5\%$. Thin-layer chromatography indicated a major spot and a trace impurity by one system and a major spot by a second system. Highperformance liquid chromatography revealed a major peak and three impurities with a combined area of 1.2% relative to the major peak area, and major peak comparisons of lot P9189-J1 with lot 127-7809 indicated a purity of $100.9\% \pm 0.2\%$ for lot P9189-J1 relative to lot 127-7809. The overall purity of lot P9189-J1 was determined to be greater than or equal to 99%.

Stability studies of lot 127-7809 were performed by the analytical chemistry laboratory using highperformance liquid chromatography. These studies indicated that phenolphthalein was stable as a bulk chemical for 2 weeks when stored protected from light at temperatures up to 60° C. To ensure stability, the bulk chemical was stored protected from light at 25° C in sealed containers during the 13-week studies and was stored protected from light at or below 27° C in sealed containers during the 2-year studies. Stability was monitored during the 13-week and 2-year studies using high-performance liquid chromatography. No degradation of the bulk chemical was detected.

PREPARATION AND ANALYSIS OF DOSE FORMULATIONS

The dose formulations for all studies were prepared weekly by mixing phenolphthalein with feed (Table J1). Stability studies of the 6,000 ppm dose formulation of lot 127-7809 were performed by the analytical chemistry laboratory using high-performance liquid chromatography. The stability of the dose formulation was confirmed for at least 2 weeks when stored at temperatures up to 25° C. Homogeneity and stability studies of the 500 ppm dose formulation of lot P3186-D5 were performed by the analytical chemistry laboratory using highperformance liquid chromatography. Homogeneity was confirmed and the stability of the dose formulation was confirmed for at least 3 weeks when stored protected from light at room temperature.

Periodic analyses of the dose formulations of phenolphthalein were conducted at the study laboratories using high-performance liquid chromatography. During the 13-week studies, the formulations were analyzed every 6 weeks (Table J2). During the 2-year studies, the formulations were analyzed approximately every 8 weeks (Table J3). All of the dose formulations analyzed during the 13-week studies were within 10% of the target concentrations. Of the dose formulations analyzed during the 2-year studies, 99% (122/123) were within 10% of the target concentrations; the one formulation out of specifications was remixed and was within 10% of the target concentration. During the 2-year studies, 89% (40/45) of the animal room samples were within 10% of the target concentrations. Results of periodic referee analyses performed during the 13-week studies by the analytical chemistry laboratory agreed with the results obtained by the study laboratory (Table J4).

14-DAY STUDIES

Male and female F344/N rats and $B6C3F_1$ mice were obtained from Harlan Industries (Indianapolis, IN), and animals were quarantined for 19 days. Before

initiation of the studies, two male and two female rats and mice were randomly selected for parasite evaluation and gross observation for evidence of disease. Groups of five male and five female rats and mice were fed diets containing 0, 6,250, 12,500, 25,000, 50,000, or 100,000 ppm phenolphthalein. Feed and water were available *ad libitum*. Rats and mice were housed five per cage. Clinical findings were recorded daily for rats and mice. Feed consumption was recorded on days 7 and 14 and whenever the feed had to be replenished due to an inadequate feed supply. The animals were weighed initially, on day 7, and at the end of the studies. Details of the study design and animal maintenance are summarized in Table 1.

At the end of the 14-day studies, a necropsy was performed on all rats and mice. Histopathologic examinations were performed on one male control rat, two female control rats, two male control mice, one female control mouse, and two males and one female from the 100,000 ppm rats and mice. Table 1 lists the tissues and organs examined.

13-WEEK STUDIES

The 13-week studies were conducted to evaluate the cumulative toxic effects of repeated exposure to phenolphthalein and to determine the appropriate exposures to be used in the 2-year studies.

Male and female F344/N rats and B6C3F₁ mice were obtained from Taconic Farms (Germantown, NY). On receipt, the rats and mice were 4 weeks old. Animals were quarantined for 12 to 14 days (rats) or for 14 days (mice) and were 6 weeks old on the first day of the studies. Before initiation of the studies, five male and five female rats and mice were randomly selected for parasite evaluation and gross observation for evidence of disease. At the end of the studies, serologic analyses were performed on five male and five female sentinel rats and on five male and five female control mice using the protocols of the NTP Sentinel Animal Program (Appendix M).

Groups of 10 male and 9 or 10 female rats and mice were fed diets containing 0, 3,000, 6,000, 12,000, 25,000, or 50,000 ppm phenolphthalein. Additional groups of 10 male and 10 female rats designated for clinical pathology evaluations were fed diets containing 0, 3,000, 6,000, 12,000, 25,000, or 50,000 ppm phenolphthalein. Feed and water were available *ad libitum*. Rats were housed five per cage, and mice were housed individually. Clinical findings were recorded weekly for rats and mice. Feed consumption was recorded weekly. The animals were weighed initially, weekly, and at the end of the studies. Details of the study design and animal maintenance are summarized in Table 1.

On days 5 and 21, all clinical pathology group rats were anesthetized with carbon dioxide, and blood was collected from the retroorbital sinus for hematology and clinical chemistry analyses. At the end of the 13-week study, all core study rats were anesthetized with carbon dioxide, and blood was collected from the retroorbital sinus for hematology and clinical chemistry analyses. Blood for hematology determinations was placed in tubes containing potassium EDTA as the anticoagulant. Hematology evaluations for hematocrit, hemoglobin, erythrocyte and reticulocyte counts, mean cell volume, mean cell hemoglobin, and leukocyte counts and differentials were performed according to standard hematology methods using a Baker 7000 (Baker Instruments, Allentown, PA) hematology analyzer. Platelet counts were performed using a Baker Model 810 (Baker Instruments, Allentown, PA) platelet analyzer. In addition, erythrocyte and platelet morphology were evaluated microscopically. For clinical chemistry analyses, samples were collected in plastic centrifuge tubes. Serum samples were analyzed using a Centrifichem 400 (Baker Instruments, Allentown, PA). The hematology and clinical chemistry parameters measured are listed in Table 1.

At the end of the 13-week studies, samples were collected from rats (core study) and mice exposed to 0, 12,000, 25,000, or 50,000 ppm phenolphthalein for sperm morphology and vaginal cytology evaluations. The parameters evaluated are listed in Table 1. Methods used were those described in NTP's sperm morphology and vaginal cytology evaluations protocol (NTP, 1984a). For 7 consecutive days prior to the end of the studies, the vaginal vaults of the females were moistened with saline, if

necessary, and aspirated samples of vaginal fluids and cells were transferred to slides, air dried, fixed, and stained. Relative numbers of leukocytes, nucleated epithelial cells, and large squamous cells were determined to ascertain estrus cycle stage (i.e., diestrus, proestrus, estrus, or metestrus). Male animals were evaluated for sperm morphology, count, and motility. The right testis and right epididymis were isolated, weighed, and fixed and preserved for histopathology. The tail of the epididymis (cauda epididymis) was then removed from the epididymal body (corpus epididymis) and weighed. Test yolk (rats) or modified Tyrode's buffer (mice) was applied to slides, and a small incision was made at the distal border of the cauda epididymis. The sperm effluxing from the incision were dispersed in the buffer on the slides, and the numbers of motile and nonmotile spermatozoa were counted in five fields per slide by two observers. Following completion of the sperm motility estimates, each right cauda epididymis was placed in buffered saline solution. Caudae were finely minced, and the tissue was incubated in the Samples were then removed for saline solution. morphology evaluation, and the remainder were heat Sperm density was determined fixed at 65° C. microscopically using a hemacytometer. Four sperm morphology slides were prepared for each animal evaluated. An aliquot of killed sperm suspension was stained in a test tube, spread on a microscope slide, coverslipped, and examined. Results of reproductive tissue evaluations and estrous cycle characterization are given in Appendix I.

A necropsy was performed on all core study rats and on all mice. The brain, heart, right kidney, liver, lung, right testis, and thymus were weighed. Tissues for microscopic examination were fixed and preserved in 10% neutral buffered formalin, processed and trimmed, embedded in paraffin, sectioned to a thickness of 5 to 6 μ m, and stained with hematoxylin and eosin. A complete histopathologic examination was performed on control and 50,000 ppm groups of rats and mice. Additionally, the liver (females), lung (males), and ovaries of rats were examined to a no effect level; the bone marrow and spleen (males) of mice were examined to a no effect level. Table 1 lists the tissues and organs routinely examined.

Study Design

Groups of 50 male and 50 female rats were fed diets containing 0, 12,000, 25,000, or 50,000 ppm phenol-phthalein. Groups of 50 male and 50 female mice were fed diets containing 0, 3,000, 6,000, or 12,000 ppm phenolphthalein.

Source and Specification of Animals

Male and female F344/N rats and B6C3F1 mice were obtained from Taconic Farms (Germantown, NY) for use in the 2-year studies. Rats were guarantined for 13 days (males) or 15 days (females) before the beginning of the study. Mice were quarantined for 12 days (males) or 13 days (females) before the beginning of the study. Five male and five female rats and mice were selected for parasite evaluation and gross observation of disease. Male and female rats and female mice were approximately 7 weeks old at the beginning of the studies; male mice were approximately 6 weeks old at the beginning of the study. Serology samples were collected from up to five male and five female rats and mice for viral screening before the beginning of the study. Serology samples were collected from up to five male and five female sentinel rats at 5, 9, 12, 17, 18, and 23 months and from up to three male and three female sentinel rats and up to five male and five female 25,000 ppm rats at the end of the study. Serology samples were collected from up to five male and five female sentinel mice at 5, 12, and 18 months and from up to five male and five female 6,000 ppm mice at the end of the study. The health of the animals was monitored during the studies according to the protocols of the NTP Sentinel Animal Program (Appendix M).

Animal Maintenance

Rats were housed five per cage and mice were housed individually. Feed and water were available *ad libitum*. Feed consumption was measured approximately every 4 weeks by cage. Cages and racks were rotated every 2 weeks. Further details of animal maintenance are given in Table 1. Information on feed composition and contaminants is provided in Appendix L.

Clinical Examinations and Pathology

All animals were observed twice daily. Clinical findings were recorded every 4 weeks, and body weights were recorded initially, weekly for the first 13 weeks, and every 4 weeks thereafter.

On the last day of the 2-year studies, blood was collected from the retroorbital sinus of three male and three female anesthetized rats and mice from each exposed group at five time points (6 and 9 a.m. and 1, 4, and 9 p.m.) for the determination of plasma concentrations of total phenolphthalein (free and conjugated). The phenolphthalein concentration was not measured in the plasma of control animals because it was not expected to be a normal constituent of plasma and was not detected in plasma from untreated animals during development of the analytical procedure. Dosed feed was available ad libitum during the collection period. The plasma was stored at -20° C or lower until analysis. Plasma samples were analyzed using a procedure developed during the single-dose toxicokinetic studies (Appendix O) for the analysis of concentrations of total phenolphthalein (free and conjugated). Plasma samples were treated with β -glucuronidase and sulfatase enzyme preparation. Solid-phase extraction was used to isolate phenolphthalein, and the samples were analyzed using high-performance liquid chromatography. The average plasma concentrations of total phenolphthalein and standard deviations were calculated. The logarithms of these values were plotted as a function of time. Results of analyses of plasma concentrations for total phenolphthalein at the end of the 2-year studies are given in Appendix H.

A complete necropsy and microscopic examination were performed on all rats and mice. At necropsy, all organs and tissues were examined for grossly visible lesions, and all major tissues were fixed and preserved in 10% neutral buffered formalin, processed and trimmed, embedded in paraffin, sectioned to a thickness of 5 to 6 μ m, and stained with hematoxylin and eosin for microscopic examination. For all paired organs (i.e., adrenal gland, kidney, ovary), samples from each organ were examined. For the extended evaluation of renal tubule proliferative lesions, kidneys of male and female rats were step sectioned at 1 mm intervals, and five or six additional sections were obtained from each animal. Tissues examined microscopically are listed in Table 1.

Microscopic evaluations were completed by the study laboratory pathologist, and the pathology data were entered into the Toxicology Data Management System. The microscopic slides, paraffin blocks, and residual wet tissues were sent to the NTP Archives for inventory, slide/block match, and wet tissue audit. The slides, individual animal data records, and pathology tables were evaluated by an independent quality assessment laboratory. The individual animal records and tables were compared for accuracy, the slide and tissue counts were verified, and the histotechnique was evaluated. For the 2-year studies, a quality assessment pathologist reviewed the adrenal gland and kidney of male and female rats; the seminal vesicle and spleen of male rats; the ovary of female rats; the bone, bone marrow, liver, thymus, lymph nodes, and spleen of male and female mice; the testis of male mice; and the ovary, pituitary gland, thyroid gland, and uterus of female mice.

The quality assessment report and the reviewed slides were submitted to the NTP Pathology Working Group (PWG) chairperson, who reviewed all tissues and addressed any inconsistencies in the diagnoses made by the laboratory and quality assessment pathologists. Representative histopathology slides containing examples of lesions related to chemical administration, examples of disagreements in diagnoses between the laboratory and quality assessment pathologist, or lesions of general interest were presented by the chairperson to the PWG for review. The PWG consisted of the quality assessment pathologist and other pathologists experienced in rodent toxicologic pathology. This group examined the tissues without any knowledge of dose groups or previously rendered diagnoses. When the PWG consensus differed from the opinion of the laboratory pathologist, the diagnosis was changed. Thus, the final diagnoses represent a consensus of quality assessment pathologists, the PWG chairperson, and the PWG. Details of these review procedures have been described, in part, by Maronpot and Boorman (1982) and Boorman et al. (1985). For subsequent analyses of the pathology data, the diagnosed lesions for each tissue type were evaluated separately or combined according to the guidelines of McConnell et al. (1986).

STATISTICAL METHODS Survival Analyses

The probability of survival was estimated by the product-limit procedure of Kaplan and Meier (1958) and is presented in the form of graphs. Animals found dead of other than natural causes or missing were censored from the survival analyses; animals dying from natural causes were not censored. Statistical analyses for possible dose-related effects on survival used Cox's (1972) method for testing two groups for equality and Tarone's (1975) life table test to identify dose-related trends. All reported P values for the survival analyses are two sided.

Calculation of Incidence

The incidences of neoplasms or nonneoplastic lesions as presented in Tables A1, A5, B1, B5, C1, C5, D1, and D5 are given as the number of animals bearing such lesions at a specific anatomic site and the number of animals with that site examined microscopically. For calculation of statistical significance, the incidences of most neoplasms (Tables A3, B3, C3, and D3) and all nonneoplastic lesions are given as the numbers of animals affected at each site examined microscopically. However, when macroscopic examination was required to detect neoplasms in certain tissues (e.g., harderian gland, intestine, mammary gland, and skin) before microscopic evaluation, or when neoplasms had multiple potential sites of occurrence (e.g., leukemia or lymphoma), the denominators consist of the number of animals on which a necropsy was performed. Tables A3, B3, C3, and D3 also give the survival-adjusted neoplasm rate for each group and each site-specific neoplasm, i.e., the Kaplan-Meier estimate of the neoplasm incidence that would have been observed at the end of the study in the absence of mortality from all other competing risks (Kaplan and Meier, 1958).

Analysis of Neoplasm Incidences

The majority of neoplasms in these studies were considered to be incidental to the cause of death or not rapidly lethal. Thus, the primary statistical method used was logistic regression analysis, which assumed that the diagnosed neoplasms were discovered as the result of death from an unrelated

cause and thus did not affect the risk of death. In this approach, neoplasm prevalence was modeled as a logistic function of chemical exposure and time. Both linear and quadratic terms in time were incorporated initially, and the quadratic term was eliminated if the fit of the model was not significantly enhanced. The neoplasm incidences of exposed and control groups were compared on the basis of the likelihood score test for the regression coefficient of This method of adjusting for intercurrent dose. mortality is the prevalence analysis of Dinse and Lagakos (1983), further described and illustrated by Dinse and Haseman (1986). When neoplasms are incidental, this comparison of the time-specific neoplasm prevalences also provides a comparison of the time-specific neoplasm incidences (McKnight and Crowley, 1984).

In addition to logistic regression, other methods of statistical analysis were used, and the results of these tests are summarized in the appendixes. These methods include the life table test (Cox, 1972; Tarone, 1975), appropriate for rapidly lethal neoplasms, and the Fisher exact test and the Cochran-Armitage trend test (Armitage, 1971; Gart *et al.*, 1979), procedures based on the overall proportion of neoplasm-bearing animals.

Tests of significance included pairwise comparisons of each exposed group with controls and a test for an overall dose-related trend. Continuity-corrected tests were used in the analysis of neoplasm incidence, and reported P values are one sided. The procedures described in the preceding paragraphs were also used to evaluate selected nonneoplastic lesions. For further discussion of these statistical methods, refer to Haseman (1984).

Analysis of Nonneoplastic Lesion Incidences

Because all nonneoplastic lesions in this study were considered to be incidental to the cause of death or not rapidly lethal, the primary statistical analysis used was a logistic regression analysis in which nonneoplastic lesion prevalence was modeled as a logistic function of chemical exposure and time.

Analysis of Continuous Variables

Two approaches were employed to assess the significance of pairwise comparisons between exposed and control groups in the analysis of continuous variables. Organ and body weight data, which have approximately normal distributions, were analyzed using the parametric multiple comparison procedures of Dunnett (1955) and Williams (1971, 1972). Clinical chemistry, hematology, spermatid, and epididymal spermatozoal data, which have typically skewed distributions, were analyzed using the nonparametric multiple comparison methods of Shirley (1977) and Dunn (1964). Jonckheere's test (Jonckheere, 1954) was used to assess the significance of the dose-related trends and to determine whether a trend-sensitive test (Williams' or Shirley's test) was more appropriate for pairwise comparisons than a test that does not assume a monotonic doserelated trend (Dunnett's or Dunn's test). Prior to analysis, extreme values identified by the outlier test of Dixon and Massey (1951) were examined by NTP personnel, and implausible values were eliminated from the analysis. Average severity values were analyzed for significance using the Mann-Whitney U test (Hollander and Wolfe, 1973). Because the vaginal cytology data are proportions (the proportion of the observation period that an animal was in a given estrous stage), an arcsine transformation was used to bring the data into closer conformance with a normality assumption. Treatment effects were investigated by applying a multivariate analysis of variance (Morrison, 1976) to the transformed data to test for simultaneous equality of measurements across exposure concentrations.

Historical Control Data

Although the concurrent control group is always the first and most appropriate control group used for evaluation, historical control data can be helpful in the overall assessment of neoplasm incidence in certain instances. Consequently, neoplasm incidences from the NTP historical control database (Haseman *et al.*, 1984, 1985) are included in the NTP reports for neoplasms appearing to show compound-related effects.

QUALITY ASSURANCE METHODS

The 13-week and 2-year studies were conducted in compliance with Food and Drug Administration Good Laboratory Practice Regulations (21 CFR, Part 58). In addition, as records from the 2-year studies were

submitted to the NTP Archives, these studies were audited retrospectively by an independent quality assurance contractor. Separate audits covering completeness and accuracy of the pathology data, pathology specimens, final pathology tables, and a draft of this NTP Technical Report were conducted. Audit procedures and findings are presented in the reports and are on file at NIEHS. The audit findings were reviewed and assessed by NTP staff, so all comments had been resolved or were otherwise addressed during the preparation of this Technical Report.

GENETIC TOXICOLOGY

The genetic toxicity of phenolphthalein was assessed by testing the ability of the chemical to induce mutations in various strains of *Salmonella typhimurium*, sister chromatid exchanges and chromosomal aberrations in cultured Chinese hamster ovary cells, and increases in the frequency of micronucleated erythrocytes in mouse peripheral blood. The protocols for these studies and the results are given in Appendix E.

The genetic toxicity studies of phenolphthalein are part of a larger effort by the NTP to develop a database that would permit the evaluation of carcinogenicity in experimental animals from the structure and responses of the chemical in short-term *in vitro* and *in vivo* genetic toxicity tests. These genetic toxicity tests were originally developed to study mechanisms of chemically induced DNA damage and to predict carcinogenicity in animals, based on the electrophilic theory of chemical carcinogenesis and the somatic mutation theory (Miller and Miller, 1977; Straus, 1981; Crawford, 1985).

There is a strong correlation between a chemical's potential electrophilicity (structural alert to DNA reactivity), mutagenicity in Salmonella, and carcinogenicity in rodents. The combination of electrophilicity and Salmonella mutagenicity is highly correlated with the induction of carcinogenicity in rats and mice and/or at multiple tissue sites (Ashby and Tennant, 1991). Other in vitro genetic toxicity tests do not correlate well with rodent carcinogenicity (Tennant et al., 1987; Zeiger et al., 1990), although these other tests can provide information on the types of DNA and chromosome effects that can be induced by the chemical being investigated. Data from NTP studies show that a positive response in Salmonella is currently the most predictive in vitro test for rodent carcinogenicity (89% of the Salmonella mutagens were rodent carcinogens), and that there is no complementarity among the in vitro genetic toxicity tests. That is, no battery of tests that included the Salmonella test improved the predictivity of the Salmonella test alone. The predictivity for carcinogenicity of a positive response in bone marrow chromosome aberration or micronucleus tests is not vet defined.

TABLE 1

Experimental Design and Materials and Methods in the Feed Studies of Phenolphthalein

.

14-Day Studies	13-Week Studies	2-Year Studies
tudy Laboratory		
annon Laboratories, Inc.	Microbiological Associates, Inc.	TSI Mason Laboratories, Inc.
Reading, PA)	(Bethesda, MD)	(Worcester, MA)
train and Species		
344/N rats	F344/N rats	F344/N rats
6C3F ₁ mice	B6C3F ₁ mice	$B6C3F_1$ mice
nimal Source		
larlan Industries	Taconic Farms	Taconic Farms
Indianapolis, IN)	(Germantown, NY)	(Germantown, NY)
Time Held Before Studies		
9 days	Rats: 12 to 14 days	Rats: 13 days (males) or
	Mice: 14 days	15 days (females)
		Mice: 12 days (males) or
		13 days (females)
verage Age When Studies Began		
lot available	6 weeks	7 weeks (male and female rats and female mice) or 6 weeks (male mice)
		remare milee) of 0 weeks (male milee)
Date of First Dose		
June 1979	Rats: 28 April 1987	Rats: 13 March (males) or
	Mice: 30 April 1987	15 March (females) 1991
		Mice: 27 November (males) or 28 November (females) 1990
Duration of Dosing 4 days	13 weeks	104 weeks (males) or 105 weeks
- duyo		(females)
Date of Last Dose		
7 June 1979	Rats: 28-29 July 1987 (core study) or	Rats: 10 March (males) or
	18 May 1987 (clinical pathology	18-19 March (females) 1993
	groups)	Mice: 24-25 November (males) or
	Mice: 30-31 July 1987	3-4 December (females) 1992
Necropsy Dates		
Rats: 19-20 June 1979	Rats: 28-29 July 1987	Rats: 10 March (males) or
Aice: 19 June 1979	Mice: 30-31 July 1987	18-19 March (females) 1993
		Mice: 24-25 November (males) or 3-4 December (females) 1992
A		• •
Average Age at Necropsy Not available	19 weeks	110 weeks (male mice), 111 weeks
		(male rats), or 112 weeks (female rats
		and mice)
Size of Study Groups		
Experimental Design and Materials and Methods in the Feed Studies of Phenolphthalein (continued)

14-Day Studies	13-Week Studies	2-Year Studies
Method of Distribution Animals were distributed randomly into groups of approximately equal initial mean body weight	Same as 14-day studies	Same as 14-day studies
Animals per Cage 5	Rats: 5 Mice: 1	Rats: 5 Mice: 1
Method of Animal Identification Ear tag	Ear punch and toe clip	Tail tattoo
Diet NIH-07 open formula meal diet (Zeigler Brothers, Inc., Gardners, PA), available <i>ad libitum</i> , changed daily	Same as 14-day studies, changed weekly	Same as 14-day studies, changed twice weekly
Water Distribution Tap water (Reading municipal supply) via water bottles changed weekly, available <i>ad libitum</i>	Tap water (Bethesda municipal supply) via automatic watering system (Edstrom Industries, Inc., Waterford, WI), available <i>ad libitum</i> , changed every 2 weeks	Tap water (Worcester municipal supply) via automatic watering system (Edstrom Industries, Inc., Waterford, WI), available <i>ad libitum</i> , changed every 2 weeks
Cages Polycarbonate cages with stainless steel tops, changed twice per week	Polycarbonate suspended cages (Lab Products, Inc., Rochelle Park, NJ), changed twice per week	Polycarbonate, solid-bottom cages (Lal Products, Inc., Rochelle Park, NJ), changed 3 times per week (male rats), twice per week (female rats), or weekl (male and female mice)
Bedding Absorb-Dri [®] hardwood chips, changed twice per week	Beta-chips [®] heat-treated hardwood chips (Northeastern Products Corp., Warrensburg, NY), changed twice per week	Sani-chips [®] heat-treated hardwood chips (P.J. Murphy Forest Products, Montville, NJ), changed 3 times per week (male rats), twice per week (female rats), or weekly (male and female mice)
Cage Filters Reemay [®] spun-bonded polyester filter sheet (Andico, Birmingham, AL)	Spun-bonded polyester filter sheet (Snow Filtration Co., Cincinnati, OH), changed every 2 weeks	Nonwoven fiber filters (Snow Filtration, Cincinnati, OH), changed every 2 weeks
Racks Racks changed every 2 weeks	Stainless steel racks (Lab Products, Inc., Rochelle Park, NJ), changed every 2 weeks	Same as 13-week studies

Experimental Design and Materials and Methods in the Feed Studies of Phenolphthalein (continued)

14-Day Studies	13-Week Studies	2-Year Studies
Animal Room Environment		
Temperature: 22° to 24° C Relative humidity: 45% to 55% Fluorescent light: 12 hours/day Room air: 10 to 15 changes/hour	Temperature: 21° to 23° C Relative humidity: 50% to 67% Fluorescent light: 12 hours/day Room air: minimum of 10 changes/hour	Temperature: 21° to 23° C Relative humidity: 37% to 58% Fluorescent light: 12 hours/day Room air: 10 changes/hour
Doses 0, 6,250, 12,500, 25,000, 50,000, or 100,000 ppm in feed, available <i>ad libitum</i>	0, 3,000, 6,000, 12,000, 25,000, or 50,000 ppm in feed, available ad libitum	Rats: 0, 12,000, 25,000, or 50,000 ppm in feed, available <i>ad libitum</i> Mice: 0, 3,000, 6,000, or 12,000 ppm in feed, available <i>ad libitum</i>
Type and Frequency of Observation Observed once daily; animals were weighed initially, on day 7, at the end of the studies; clinical findings were recorded daily. Feed consumption was recorded by cage on days 7 and 14 and whenever the feed had to be replenished due to an inadequate feed supply.	Observed twice daily; animals were weighed initially, weekly, and at the end of the studies; clinical findings were recorded weekly. Feed consumption was recorded weekly by cage.	Observed twice daily; animals were weighed initially, weekly for 13 weeks, monthly thereafter, and at the end of the studies; clinical findings were recorded every 4 weeks. Feed consumption was recorded approximately monthly by cage.
Method of Sacrifice Asphyxiation with carbon dioxide	Asphyxiation with carbon dioxide	Asphyxiation with carbon dioxide
Necropsy Necropsy was performed on all animals.	Necropsy was performed on all core study rats and on all mice. Organs weighed were brain, heart, right kidney, liver, lung, right testis, and thymus.	Necropsy was performed on all animals.
Clinical Pathology		
None	Blood was collected from the retroorbital sinus of rats in the clinical pathology groups on days 5 and 21 and of core study rats at the end of the study for hematology and clinical chemistry. <i>Hematology:</i> hematocrit, hemoglobin, erythrocyte and reticulocyte counts, mean cell volume, mean cell hemoglobin, mean cell hemoglobin concentration, platelet count, and total leukocyte counts and differentials. <i>Clinical chemistry:</i> urea nitrogen, creatinine, total protein, albumin, alanine aminotransferase, alkaline phosphatase, creatine kinase, sorbitol dehydrogenase, and bile acids.	None

Experimental Design and Materials and Methods in the Feed Studies of Phenolphthalein (continued)

14-Day Studies	13-Week Studies	2-Year Studies
Histopathology		
Complete histopathology was	Complete histopathology was	Complete histopathology was
performed on one male rat and	performed on 0 and 50,000 ppm rats	performed on all rats and mice. In
two female rats from the control	and mice. In addition to gross lesions	addition to gross lesions and tissue
groups, on two male mice and	and tissue masses, the tissues examined	masses, the tissues examined included:
one female mouse from the control	included: adrenal gland, brain, clitoral	adrenal glands, brain (3 sections),
groups, and on two males and	gland (rats), esophagus, femur	clitoral gland, esophagus, femur
one female from the 100,000 ppm rats	(including marrow), heart, gallbladder	(including marrow), heart, large
and mice. In addition to gross lesions	(mice), large intestine (cecum, colon,	intestine (cecum, colon, and rectum),
and tissue masses, the tissues examined	and rectum), small intestine	small intestine (duodenum, jejunum,
included: adrenal glands, bone	(duodenum, jejunum, and ileum),	and ileum), kidneys, liver, lung (and
marrow, brain, ears (external and	kidney, liver, lungs (and mainstem	mainstem bronchi), lymph nodes
middle), esophagus, eyes, gallbladder	bronchi), lymph nodes (mandibular and	(mandibular and mesenteric), mammar
(mice), heart, large intestine (colon and	mesenteric), mammary gland, nose,	gland, nose (3 sections), ovary,
rectum), small intestine (duodenum,	ovaries, pancreas, parathyroid gland,	pancreas, parathyroid gland, pituitary
jejunum, and ileum) kidneys, larynx,	pituitary gland, preputial gland (rats),	gland, preputial gland, prostate gland,
liver, lungs (and mainstem bronchi),	prostate gland, salivary gland, skin,	salivary glands, spleen, stomach
lymph nodes (mandibular and	spleen, stomach (including forestomach	(forestomach and glandular), testis
mesenteric), mammary gland, nose,	and glandular stomach), testes (with	(with epididymis and seminal vesicle),
ovaries, pancreas, parathyroid glands,	epididymis and seminal vesicle),	thymus, thyroid gland, trachea, urinary
pituitary gland, prostate gland, rib (and	thymus, thyroid gland, trachea, urinary	bladder, and uterus.
costochondral junction), salivary gland,	bladder, and uterus. In rats, the liver	
skin, spinal cord (and sciatic nerve).	(females), lung (males), and ovaries	
spleen, stomach, testes (with seminal	were examined to a no effect level. In	
vesicle), thigh muscle, thymus, thyroid	mice, the bone marrow and spleen	
glands, trachea, urinary bladder, and	(males) were examined to a no effect	
uterus.	level.	
Sperm Morphology and Vaginal Cyto	logy Evaluations	
None	At the end of the study, sperm samples	None
	were collected from male rats (core	
	study) and male mice in the 0, 12,000,	
	25,000, and 50,000 ppm groups for	
	sperm morphology evaluations. The	
	parameters evaluated included sperm	
	density, morphology, and motility.	
	The right cauda, right epididymis, and	
	right testis were weighed. Vaginal	
	fluid samples were collected for up to	
	7 consecutive days prior to the end of	
	the studies from female rats (core	
	study) and female mice in the 0,	
	12,000, 25,000, and 50,000 ppm	
	groups. The parameters evaluated	
	were relative frequency of estrous	
	stages and estrous cycle length.	
Determinations of Total Phenolphthal	ein in Plasma	
None	None	On the last day, blood was taken from
		three animals from each exposed grou
		at 6 and 9 a.m. and 1, 4, and 9 p.m.
		for determination of plasma
		concentrations of total phenolphthaleir

RESULTS

RATS 14-DAY STUDY

All rats survived to the end of the study (Table 2). The final mean body weights of all exposed groups of rats were similar to those of the controls. Feed consumption by 100,000 ppm males and females was greater than that by the controls; feed consumption by all other exposed groups of rats was similar to that by the controls. Dietary levels of 6,250, 12,500, 25,000, 50,000, or 100,000 ppm phenolphthalein

resulted in average daily doses of approximately 500, 1,000, 2,000, 4,500, or 10,500 mg phenolphthalein/kg body weight to males and 500, 1,000, 2,000, 4,000, or 11,000 mg/kg to females. The feces of 100,000 ppm males and females were abnormally lighter in color than those of the other groups. This discoloration was observed on day 3 and continued throughout the study. There were no chemical-related gross or microscopic lesions observed in rats.

 TABLE 2

 Survival, Mean Body Weights, and Feed Consumption of Rats in the 14-Day Feed Study of Phenolphthalein

		Mean Body	Mean Body Weight ^b (g)			ed
Dose (ppm)	Survival ^a	Initial	Final	to Controls (%)	Consur Week 1	nption ^c Week 2
Male						
0	5/5	123 ± 9	174 ± 12		12	14
6,250	5/5	128 ± 13	168 ± 13	97	11	13
12,500	5/5	125 ± 6	167 ± 10	96	11	13
25,000	5/5	125 ± 8	167 ± 11	96	11	13
50,000	5/5	127 ± 11	169 ± 10	97	12	15
100,000	5/5	127 ± 13	167 ± 12	96	13	18
Female						
0	5/5	109 ± 4	136 ± 4		10	10
6,250	5/5	110 ± 6	136 ± 8	100	9	10
12,500	5/5	110 ± 6	133 ± 6	98	10	10
25,000	5/5	108 ± 5	130 ± 6	96	9	9
50,000	5/5	111 ± 7	135 ± 7	99	10	10
100,000	5/5	111 ± 6	132 ± 5	97	12	15

^a Number of animals surviving at 14 days/number initially in group. Differences from the control group are not significant by Williams' or Dunnett's test.
 ^b Williams and the state of the state of

^b Weights are given as mean \pm standard deviation.

^c Feed consumption is expressed as grams of feed consumed per animal per day.

13-WEEK STUDY

All rats survived to the end of the study (Table 3). The final mean body weight of the 50,000 ppm females and the body weight gains of the 25,000 and 50,000 ppm females were significantly lower than those of the controls. The final mean body weights and body weight gains of all other exposed groups were similar to those of the controls. Feed consumption by exposed groups was similar to that by the controls. Dietary levels of 3,000, 6,000, 12,000, 25,000, or 50,000 ppm phenolphthalein resulted in average daily doses of approximately 200, 400, 800, 1,600, or 3,500 mg phenolphthalein/kg body weight to males and 200, 400, 800, 1,700, or 3,600 mg/kg to females. There was no cathartic action or any other clinical finding attributed to exposure to phenolphthalein.

The few differences in the hematology and clinical chemistry parameters were sporadic and were not considered to be chemical related (Table G1).

The percentage of motile sperm in the 12,000 ppm males was significantly greater than that in the controls, but no other significant differences in sperm morphology or vaginal cytology were observed between exposed and control groups (Table I1).

The absolute and relative liver weights of 25,000 and 50,000 ppm males and the relative liver weights of 12,000 ppm males and of 25,000 and 50,000 ppm females were significantly greater than those of the controls (Table F1). No chemical-related gross or microscopic lesions were observed.

Dose Selection Rationale: Based on the absence of histopathologic effects after 13 weeks of exposure to up to 50,000 ppm phenolphthalein, the highest phenolphthalein exposure concentration selected for the 2-year feed study in rats was 50,000 ppm.

TABLE 3 Survival, Mean Body Weights, and Feed Consumption of Rats in the 13-Week Feed Study of Phenolphthalein

		Me	an Body Weight ^b	Final Weight Relative	Feed		
Dose (ppm)	Survival ^a	Initial	Final	Change	to Controls (%)	Consur Week 1	mption ^c Week 13
1ale							
0	10/10	132 ± 4	351 ± 5	219 ± 6		16	18
3,000	10/10	128 ± 3	346 ± 6	218 ± 6	99	16	18
6,000	10/10	124 ± 2	349 ± 6	225 ± 5	99	15	17
12,000	10/10	129 ± 3	345 ± 7	216 ± 6	98	16	18
25,000	10/10	136 ± 4	344 ± 8	208 ± 6	98	16	19
50,000	10/10	129 ± 3	334 ± 5	205 ± 5	95	15	20
emale							
0	10/10	109 ± 3	210 ± 2	101 ± 2		13	11
3,000	10/10	105 ± 2	202 ± 5	97 ± 4	97	12	11
6,000	10/10	105 ± 2	208 ± 2	103 ± 2	99	13	12
12,000	9/9	107 ± 1	206 ± 3	100 ± 2	98	12	11
25,000	10/10	109 ± 3	198 ± 2	90 ± 2*	95	12	12
50,000	10/10	106 ± 3	198 ± 3*	92 ± 3*	95	12	12

* Significantly different ($P \le 0.05$) from the control group by Dunnett's test

^a Number of animals surviving at 13 weeks/number initially in group

^b Weights and weight changes are given as mean ± standard error.

^c Feed consumption is expressed as grams of feed consumed per animal per day.

2-YEAR STUDY

Survival

Estimates of 2-year survival probabilities for male and female rats are shown in Table 4 and in the Kaplan-Meier survival curves (Figure 2). Survival of exposed males and females was similar to that of the controls.

Body Weights, Feed and Compound Consumption, and Clinical Findings

The mean body weights of exposed males were less than those of the controls through most of the second year of the study, and the mean body weights of exposed females were less than those of the controls from about week 16 until the end of the study (Figure 3, Tables 5 and 6). Feed consumption by all exposed groups of rats was similar to that by the controls (Tables K1 and K2). Dietary levels of 12,000, 25,000, or 50,000 ppm phenolphthalein resulted in average daily doses of approximately 500, 1,000, or 2,000 mg phenolphthalein/kg body weight to males and 500, 1,000, or 2,500 mg/kg to females. The estimated equivalent daily doses of phenolphthalein for the last year of the study ranged from 430 to 1,900 mg/kg for male rats and from 480 to 2.100 mg/kg for female rats. Clinical findings attributed to phenolphthalein exposure included thin appearance and ruffled fur in all exposed groups of males.

TABLE 4

Survival of Rats in the 2-Year Feed Study of Phenolphthalein

	0 ppm	12,000 ppm	25,000 ppm	50,000 ppm
viale				
nimals initially in study	50	50	50	50
foribund	15	15	13	16
atural deaths	14	20	22	21
nimals surviving to study termination	21	15	15 ^d	13
ercent probability of survival at end of study ^a	42	30	30	26
ean survival (days) ^b	640	652	658	662
rvival analysis ^c	P=0.463	P=0.492	P=0.626	P=0.405
male				
nimals initially in study	50	50	50	50
loribund	9	8	7	8
atural deaths	11	4	11	4
nimals surviving to study termination	30	38	32	38
ercent probability of survival at end of study	60	76	64	76
ean survival (days)	680	713	701	686
urvival analysis P	=0.278N	P=0.108N	P=0.679N	P=0.166N

^a Kaplan-Meier determinations

^b Mean of all deaths (uncensored, censored, and terminal sacrifice).

^c The result of the life table trend test (Tarone, 1975) is in the control column, and the results of the life table pairwise comparisons (Cox, 1972) with the controls are in the exposed columns. A negative trend or lower mortality in an exposure group is indicated by N.

^d Includes one animal that died during the last week of the study.



FIGURE 2 Kaplan-Meier Survival Curves for Rats Administered Phenolphthalein in Feed for 2 Years



FIGURE 3 Growth Curves for Rats Administered Phenolphthalein in Feed for 2 Years

Mean Body Weights and Survival of Male Rats in the 2-Year Feed Study of Phenolphthalein

Weeks	0 ppm			12,000 ppm		25,000 ppm			50,000 ppm		
on	Av. Wt.	No. of	Av. Wt	. Wt. (% of	No. of	Av. Wt.	Wt. (% of		Av. Wt.	Wt. (% of	No. of
Study	(g)	Survivors	(g)	controls)	Survivors	(g)	controls)	Survivors	(g)		Survivors
1	135	50	135	100	50	136	100	50	133	98	50
2	170	50	168	99	50	168	99	50	161	95	50
3	208	50	203	98	50	204	98	50	197	94	50
4	237	50	229	96	50	233	98	50	227	96	50
5	258	50	250	97	50	254	98	50	249	97	50
6	280	50	272	97	50	270	96	50	269	96	50
7	294	50	286	97	50	286	97	50	283	96	50
8	306	50	289	94	50	276	90	50	292	95	50
9	320	50	301	94	50	294	92	50	306	95	50
10	330	50	315	96	50	293	89	50	316	96	50
11	341	50	325	95	50	317	93	50	326	95	50
12	344	50	318	93	50	312	91	50	332	97	50
13	344	50	327	95	50	326	95	50	333	97	50
17	382	50	364	95	50	362	95	50	365	95	50
21	400	50	381	95	50	386	97	50	385	96	50
25	415	50	398	96	50	402	97	50	405	98	50
29	425	50	406	95	50	410	97	50	409	96	50
33	437	50	411	94	50	421	96	50	420	96	50
37	449	49	428	95	50	432	96	50	434	97	50
41	459	49	437	95	50	442	96	50	443	97	50
45	460	49	440	96	50	442	96	50	443	96	50
49	463	48	438	95	50	446	97	50	446	96	50
53	464	48	443	96	50	445	96	50	447	96	50
57	459	48	439	96	50	441	96	48	442	96	50
61	466	47	439	94	50	444	95	47	439	94	50
65	470	47	443	94	50	443	94	46	447	95	50
69	466	47	440	95	48	445	96	46	442	95	50
73	461	44	442	96	47	441	96	45	442	96	49
77	465	41	436	94	46	439	94	45	437	94	47
81	457	38	433	95	41	431	94	45	431	94	45
85	455	36	423	93	40	422	93	44	428	94	42
89	450	31	419	93	35	404	90	42	415	92	39
93	457	29	423	93	28	397	87	35	390	86	34
97	451	27	405	90	25	395	88	26	409	91	24
101	439	26	375	85	20	364	83	21	372	85	19
104	434	21	367	85	15	341	79	15	342	79	13
Mean for	weeks										
1-13	274		263	96		259	95		263	96	
14-52	432		411	95		416	96		417	97	
53-104	457		423	93		418	91		420	92	

Mean Body Weights and Survival of Female Rats in the 2-Year Feed Study of Phenolphthalein

Weeks0	ppm	12,000 ppm			25,000 ppm		50,000 ppm				
on	Av. Wt.	No. of	Av. Wt	. Wt. (% o	No. of	Av. Wt	. Wt. (% o		Av. Wt.	Wt. (% of	No. of
Study	(g)	Survivors	(g)	controls)	Survivors	(g)	controls)	Survivors	(g)	controls)	Survivors
1	113	50	114	100	50	113	100	50	113	100	50
2	129	50	129	100	50	128	99	50	129	100	50
3	139	50	138	100	50	138	100	50	141	102	50
4	142	50	147	104	50	146	103	50	151	107	50
5	157	50	157	100	50	155	99	50	159	102	50
6	169	50	168	99	50	167	99	50	168	99	50
7	172	50	173	100	50	171	100	50	170	98	50
8	179	50	177	99	50	172	96	50	174	97	50
9	184	50	182	99	50	179	97	50	180	98	50
10	187	50	184	98	50	185	99	50	184	99	50
11	194	50	191	98	50	189	98	50	185	95	50
12	200	50	194	97	50	193	97	50	186	93	50
13	201	50	195	97	50	196	98	50	191	95	50
16	214	50	204	95	50	202	94	50	200	93	50
21	222	50	211	95	50	209	94	50	206	93	50
25	229	50	220	96	50	216	94	50	214	93	50
29	234	50	222	95	50	219	94	50	216	93	50
33	240	50	225	94	50	223	93	50	219	91	50
37	252	50	234	93	50	230	91	50	228	90	50
41	261	50	240	92	50	238	91	50	234	90	49
45	267	50	244	91	50	242	91	50	237	89	49
49	281	50	254	90	50	249	89	50	245	87	48
53	287	50	258	90	50	254	88	50	249	87	48
57	296	48	262	89	50	256	87	49	251	85	48
61	304	47	265	87	50	260	86	49	259	85	48
65	314	46	272	87	49	269	86	49	265	84	47
69	322	46	282	88	49	280	87	49	270	84	47
73	325	46	287	89	49	284	87	48	275	85	45
77	332	45	290	87	49	288	87	48	281	85	43
81	342	44	298	87	48	293	86	48	284	83	43
85	346	44	303	88	47	296	86	47	292	85	42
89	351	40	301	86	47	295	84	44	291	83	42
93	345	40	299	87	46	294	85	42	293	85	41
97	346	37	290	84	45	298	86	40	290	84	41
101	348	34	301	87	41	300	86	37	296	85	40
Mean for	weeks										
1-13	167		165	99		164	98		164	98	
14-52 53-101	244 328		228 285	93 87		225 282	92 86			222 277	

Determinations of Total Phenolphthalein in Plasma

On the last day of the 2-year study, blood was collected from the retroorbital sinus of three male and three female anesthetized rats from each group at five time points for the determination of plasma concentrations of total phenolphthalein (free and conjugated). The plasma concentrations of total phenolphthalein and their standard deviations in rats are given in Table H1. The semilogarithmic plots of plasma concentrations of total phenolphthalein (free and conjugated) versus time for male and female rats administered 12,000, 25,000, and 50,000 ppm for 2 years are shown and Figures H1 through H5. In general, the mean plasma concentrations of total phenolphthalein varied little with time of day. There were no significant differences in plasma concentrations of total phenolphthalein between exposure groups or between males and females.

Pathology and Statistical Analyses

This section describes the statistically significant or biologically noteworthy changes in the incidences of neoplasms and/or nonneoplastic lesions of the adrenal medulla, kidney, seminal vesicle, spleen, mammary gland, pituitary gland, and other organs. Summaries of the incidences of neoplasms and nonneoplastic lesions, individual animal tumor diagnoses, statistical analyses of primary neoplasms that occurred with an incidence of at least 5% in at least one animal group, and historical incidences for the neoplasms mentioned in this section are presented in Appendix A for male rats and Appendix B for female rats.

Adrenal medulla: The incidences of benign pheochromocytoma of the adrenal medulla in all exposed groups of males were significantly greater than that in the controls and occurred with a significant positive trend (Tables 7 and A3). The incidences of

Incidences of Neoplasms and Nonneoplastic Lesions of the Adrenal Medulla in Rats in the 2-Year Feed Study of Phenolphthalein

	0 ppm	12,000 ppm	25,000 ppm	50,000 ppm
Male				
Number Examined Microscopically	50	50	50	50
Hyperplasia, Focal ^a	13	22*	18	23**
Benign Pheochromocytoma, Bilateral	3	19**	19**	15**
Benign Pheochromocytoma ^b (Includes B	ilateral)			
Overall rate ^c	17/50 (34%)	34/50 (68%)	34/50 (68%)	34/50 (68%)
Adjusted rate ^d	62.1%	88.6%	93.7%	87.0%
Terminal rate ^e	11/21 (52%)	11/15 (73%)	13/15 (87%)	9/13 (69%)
First incidence (days)	608	485	372	528
Logistic regression test ^f	P=0.006	P<0.001	P<0.001	P=0.001
Malignant Pheochromocytoma				
(Includes Bilateral)	1	1	. 1	2
Benign or Malignant Pheochromocytoma	L			
Overall rate	18/50 (36%)	35/50 (70%)	35/50 (70%)	35/50 (70%)
Adjusted rate	62.9%	88.9%	93.9%	90.3%
Terminal rate	11/21 (52%)	11/15 (73%)	13/15 (87%)	10/13 (77%)
First incidence (days)	330	485	372	528
Logistic regression test	P = 0.005	P<0.001	P<0.001	P=0.001

TABLE 7 Incidences of Neoplasms and Nonneoplastic Lesions of the Adrenal Medulla in Rats in the 2-Year Feed Study of Phenolphthalein (continued)

	0 ppm	12,000 ppm	25,000 ppm	50,000 ppm
Female				
Number Examined Microscopically	50	50	50	49
Hyperplasia, Focal	10	18	15	11
Benign Pheochromocytoma, Bilateral	1	2	0	0
Benign Pheochromocytoma ^g (Includes Bi	lateral)			
Overall rate	3/50 (6%)	11/50 (22%)	9/50 (18%)	2/49 (4%)
Adjusted rate	10.0%	25.8%	23.7%	5.3%
Terminal rate	3/30 (10%)	7/38 (18%)	5/32 (16%)	2/38 (5%)
First incidence (days)	735 (T)	549	608	735 (T)
Logistic regression test	P=0.197N	P=0.031	P=0.074	P=0.392N
Malignant Pheochromocytoma	0	1	1	0
Benign or Malignant Pheochromocytoma	h			
Overall rate	3/50 (6%)	12/50 (24%)	10/50 (20%)	2/49 (4%)
Adjusted rate	10.0%	28.2%	25.3%	5.3%
Terminal rate	3/30 (10%)	8/38 (21%)	5/32 (16%)	2/38 (5%)
First incidence (days)	735 (T)	549	568	735 (T)
Logistic regression test	P=0.189N	P=0.019	P=0.041	P=0.392N

(T)Terminal sacrifice

* Significantly different (P \leq 0.05) from the control group by the logistic regression test

- ** P≤0.01
- ^a Number of animals with lesion

^b Historical incidence for 2-year NTP feed studies with untreated controls (mean ± standard deviation): 396/1,283 (30.9% ± 12.1%); range, 10%-63%

^c Number of animals with neoplasm per number of animals with adrenal medulla examined microscopically

^d Kaplan-Meier estimated neoplasm incidence at the end of the study after adjustment for intercurrent mortality

^e Observed incidence in animals surviving until the end of the study

f In the control column are the P values associated with the trend test. In the exposed group columns are the P values corresponding to the pairwise comparisons between the controls and that exposed group. The logistic regression test regards lesions in animals dying prior to terminal kill as nonfatal. A negative trend or lower incidence in an exposure group is indicated by N.

^g Historical incidence: $50/1,274 (3.9\% \pm 2.4\%)$; range, 0%-8%

^h Historical incidence: 64/1,274 (5.0% $\pm 2.7\%$); range, 2%-12%

benign pheochromocytoma in 12,000 ppm females and of benign or malignant pheochromocytoma (combined) in 12,000 and 25,000 ppm females were significantly greater than those in the controls (Tables 7 and B3). The incidences of benign pheochromocytoma in all exposed groups of males and of benign pheochromocytoma and benign or malignant pheochromocytoma (combined) in 12,000 and 25,000 ppm females exceeded the ranges in historical controls in NTP 2-year feed studies (Tables 7, A4a, and B4a). The numbers of males with bilateral benign pheochromocytomas exceeded the number of controls with these neoplasms (Tables 7 and A1). The incidences of malignant pheochromocytomas in exposed rats were similar to those in the controls (Tables 7, A1, and B1). The incidences of focal hyperplasia of the adrenal medulla in 12,000 and 50,000 ppm males were significantly greater than that in the controls (Tables 7 and A5); however, the diagnosis of focal hyperplasia in an adrenal gland was made only in the absence of a diagnosis of a neoplasm in that adrenal gland. Therefore, exposed

groups were less at risk for diagnosis of hyperplasia. Focal hyperplasia, benign pheochromocytoma, and malignant pheochromocytoma are considered to be a morphologic continuum in the adrenal medulla. Focal hyperplasia consisted of irregular, small foci of small to normal-sized medullary cells arranged in packets or solid clusters slightly larger than normal; compression of surrounding parenchyma was minimal or absent. Benign pheochromocytomas were welldelineated masses often with altered architecture and variable compression of the surrounding parenchyma. Neoplastic cells were arranged in variably sized aggregates, clusters, and trabecular cords of varying Larger neoplasms usually exhibited thickness. greater cellular pleomorphism and atypia than smaller neoplasms. The few malignant pheochromocytomas were identified when there was invasion of. or beyond, the adrenal capsule.

Kidney: The incidences of proliferative lesions of the renal tubule epithelium in male rats were greater in all exposed groups than in the controls (Tables 8, A3, and A5). The incidences of renal tubule adenoma in 50,000 ppm males and of renal tubule adenoma or carcinoma (combined) in 12,000 and 50,000 ppm males were significantly greater than those in the controls (Tables 8 and A3). Although the neoplasms were predominantly adenomas, a few carcinomas were observed in exposed males (Tables 8 and A1). The incidences of renal tubule adenoma and adenoma or carcinoma (combined) in 12,000 and 50,000 ppm males exceeded the ranges in historical controls in NTP 2-year feed studies (Tables 7, A3, and A4b). Both renal tubule adenoma and carcinoma are relatively uncommon neoplasms in the male F344/N rat. Hyperplasia, adenoma, and carcinoma are thought to represent a continuum in the progression of proliferative lesions of the renal tubule epithelium. Hyperplasias were generally focal lesions characterized by increased numbers of renal tubule epithelial cells forming multiple layers that partially or totally filled the renal tubule lumen and usually caused dilation of the tubule. Generally, adenomas were discrete, expansile masses that were larger (greater than the diameter of five renal tubules) than the hyperplasias and had a more complex structure. Carcinomas were less discrete and larger than adenomas with hemorrhage, necrosis, and locally invasive growth patterns commonly observed.

One renal tubule adenoma was observed in a 50,000 ppm female at the standard evaluation (Tables 8 and B1). Because an effect was observed in males and renal tubule adenomas are rare in the female F344/N rat, an extended histologic evaluation (step sections) of the kidneys was conducted in females (Table 8). In this extended evaluation, no additional neoplasms were observed in the 25,000 or 50,000 ppm females, while neoplasms were identified in the 12,000 ppm group and the controls. Therefore, the adenoma in the 50,000 ppm female was not considered to be chemical related. For completeness, an extended evaluation was also conducted for male rats (Tables 8 and A3). In the expanded evaluation of males, additional adenomas were observed in exposed groups of males; only one additional adenoma was observed in the control males. This finding provides additional support that the increased incidences of renal tubule proliferative lesions in males were associated with the administration of phenolphthalein.

The incidences of nephropathy in all exposed groups of females were significantly greater than in the controls (Tables 8 and B5), and the severity of nephropathy in all exposed groups of males and in 25,000 and 50,000 ppm females was significantly greater than in the controls (Table 8). Nephropathy is a common spontaneously occurring lesion in aging F344/N rats, particularly males, and the typical morphological changes associated with nephropathy were present in this study. Changes consisted of the following spectrum of lesions: varying degrees of tubular dilation and distortion with cyst formation; proteinaceous tubular casts; atrophy; regeneration and hypertrophy of the renal tubule epithelium; thickening of the renal tubule and glomerular basement membranes; interstitial fibrosis; scattered foci of suppurative inflammation, primarily within degenerating renal tubules; and varying numbers and aggregates of mononuclear inflammatory cells within the interstitium. Marked renal tubule dilatation with cyst formation and transitional epithelial hyperplasia of the renal pelvis occur more commonly in kidneys with the most severe nephropathy, as was observed in exposed groups of males (Tables 8 and A5). The absence of a dose response for these two lesions is consistent with the similar severity of nephropathy observed in exposed groups.

Incidences of Neoplasms and Nonneoplastic Lesions of the Kidney in Rats in the 2-Year Feed Study of Phenolphthalein

	0 ppm	12,000 ppm	25,000 ppm	50,000 ppm
Male	<u></u>		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	·····
Number Examined Microscopically	50	50	50	50
Single Sections (Standard Evaluation)				
Cyst ^a	$1 (1.0)^{b}$	19** (1.8)	21** (1.7)	22** (1.9)
Nephropathy, Chronic	47 (1.8)	49 (2.9)**	50 (3.1)**	50 (3.1)*
Pelvis, Transitional Epithelium, Hyperplasia	4 (1.5)	31** (1.1)	34** (1.2)	29** (1.3)
Renal Tubule, Hyperplasia	0	6** (2.3)	7** (2.3)	2 (3.0)
Renal Tubule, Adenoma ^c				
Overall rate ^d	0/50 (0%)	4/50 (8%)	2/50 (4%)	6/50 (12%)
Adjusted rate ^e	0.0%	20.4%	10.6%	22.4%
Terminal rate ^f	0/21 (0%)	2/15 (13%)	1/15 (7%)	1/13 (8%)
First incidence (days)	— ^h 577	692 542		
Logistic regression test ^g	P=0.026	P=0.060	P=0.233	P=0.018
Renal Tubule, Carcinoma	0	1	1	2
Adenoma or Carcinoma ⁱ				
Overall rate	0/50 (0%)	5/50 (10%)	3/50 (6%)	7/50 (14%)
Adjusted rate	0.0%	24.0%	16.1%	24.7%
Terminal rate	0/21 (0%)	2/15 (13%)	1/15 (7%)	1/13 (8%)
First incidence (days)	— 577	692 542		
Logistic regression test	P=0.020	P=0.031	P=0.106	P=0.009
Step Sections (Extended Evaluation)				
Renal Tubule, Hyperplasia	3	23**	29**	27**
Renal Tubule, Adenoma				
Overall rate	1/50 (2%)	7/50 (14%)	15/50 (30%)	11/50 (22%)
Adjusted rate	4.8%	36.4%	64.9%	51.1%
Terminal rate	1/21 (5%)	4/15 (27%)	8/15 (53%)	5/13 (38%)
First incidence (days)	729 (T)	691 664	542	5/15 (5070)
Logistic regression test	P=0.003	P=0.017	P<0.001	P=0.003
			1 (0.001	
Renal Tubule, Carcinoma	0	0	1	0
Renal Tubule, Adenoma or Carcinoma				
Overall rate	1/50 (2%)	7/50 (14%)	15/50 (30%)	11/50 (22%)
Adjusted rate	4.8%	36.4%	64.9%	51.1%
Terminal rate	1/21 (5%)	4/15 (27%)	8/15 (53%)	5/13 (38%)
First incidence (days)	729 (T)	691 664	542	
Logistic regression test	P=0.003	P=0.017	P<0.001	P=0.003
Single Sections and Step Sections (Combined)				
Renal Tubule, Hyperplasia	3	25**	29**	27**
Renal Tubule, Adenoma				
Overall rate	1/50 (2%)	10/50 (20%)	15/50 (30%)	15/50 (30%)
Adjusted rate	4.8%	46.9%	64.9%	61.8%
Terminal rate	1/21 (5%)	5/15 (33%)	8/15 (53%)	6/13 (46%)
First incidence (days)	729 (T)	577 664	542	015 (TOID)
Logistic regression test	P<0.001	P=0.003	P<0.001	P<0.001
Renal Tubule, Carcinoma	0	1	2	2

	0 ppm	12,000 ppm	25,000 ppm	50,000 ppm
Male (continued)				
Single Sections and Step Sections (Comb	ined) (continued)			
Renal Tubule, Adenoma or Carcinoma Overall rate	1/50 (20)	10/50 (20.01)	16150 (22.01)	1(150 (22 1)
Adjusted rate	1/50 (2%) 4.8%	10/50 (20%) 46.9%	16/50 (32%) 67.1%	16/50 (32%) 62.9%
Terminal rate	4.8%	40.9% 5/15 (33%)	8/15 (53%)	62.9% 6/13 (46%)
First incidence (days)	729 (T)	577 664	542	0/13 (40%)
Logistic regression test	P<0.001	P=0.003	P<0.001	P<0.001
Female				
Number Examined Microscopically	50	50	50	50
Single Sections (Standard Evaluation) Nephropathy, Chronic	34 (1.2)	45* (1.4)	43* (1.5)*	44* (1.5)*
Renal Tubule, Adenoma ^j	0	0	0	1
Step Sections (Extended Evaluation)				
Renal Tubule, Hyperplasia	1	4	3	3
Renal Tubule, Adenoma	1	2	0	0
Single Sections and Step Sections (Comb	ined)			
Renal Tubule, Hyperplasia	1	4	3	3
Renal Tubule, Adenoma	1	2	0	1

Incidences of Neoplasms and Nonneoplastic Lesions of the Kidney in Rats in the 2-Year Feed Study of Phenolphthalein (continued)

(T)Terminal sacrifice

* Significantly different (P≤0.05) from the control group by the logistic regression test (incidence data) or the Mann-Whitney U test (severity of nephropathy)

** P≤0.01

^a Number of animals with lesion

^b Average severity of lesions in affected animals: 1 = minimal; 2 = mild; 3 = moderate; 4 = marked

Historical incidence for 2-year NTP feed studies with untreated controls (mean ± standard deviation): 9/1,301 (0.7% ± 1.5%); range, 0%-6%

^d Number of animals with neoplasm per number of animals with kidney examined microscopically

e Kaplan-Meier estimated neoplasm incidence at the end of the study after adjustment for intercurrent mortality

f Observed incidence in animals surviving until the end of the study

^g In the control column are the P values associated with the trend test. In the exposed group columns are the P values corresponding to the pairwise comparisons between the controls and that exposed group. The logistic regression test regards lesions in animals dying prior to terminal kill as nonfatal.

- ^h Not applicable; no neoplasms in animal group
- ¹ Historical incidence: 12/1,301 (0.9% ± 1.5%); range, 0%-6%

j Historical incidence: 0/1,298 (0.0%)

Other organs: The incidences of diffuse hyperplasia of the parathyroid gland, fibrous osteodystrophy of the bone, and mineralization and degeneration of the glandular stomach in exposed groups of males were generally significantly greater than those in the controls (Tables 9 and A5). These lesions are commonly observed in male rats with more advanced nephropathy and are associated with a calcium/ phosphorus imbalance created by compromised functional capacity of the kidney. The incidences of hyperplasia of the thyroid gland C-cells in 12,000 and 50,000 ppm males were significantly less than that in the controls and were also considered related to the calcium/phosphorus imbalance (Tables 9 and A5). Additionally, the incidence of mineralization of the aorta in 12,000 ppm males was significantly greater than that in the controls and was considered secondary to the renal disease.

TABLE 9

Incidences of Selected Nonneo	plastic Lesions in Male Rat	ts in the 2-Year Feed S	udy of Phenolphthalein

	0 ppm	12,000 ppm	25,000 ppm	50,000 ppm
Blood Vessel ^a	50	49	50	50
Aorta, Media, Mineralization ^b	0	9**	3	4
Bone	50	50	50	50
Femur, Fibrous Osteodystrophy	0	17**	14**	12**
Parathyroid Gland	41	48	49	46
Hyperplasia, Diffuse	0	16**	14**	14**
Stomach, Glandular	50	50	50	49
Degeneration	0	11**	5*	4
Mineralization	0	11**	5*	5*
Thyroid Gland	50	50	49	49
C-cell, Hyperplasia, Focal	13	3**	9	4*

* Significantly different ($P \le 0.05$) from the control group by the logistic regression test

** P≤0.01

^a Number of animals with tissue examined microscopically

^b Number of animals with lesion

Seminal vesicle: There were minimal increases in the incidences of atrophy of the seminal vesicle in exposed groups of males (0 ppm, 33/50; 12,000 ppm, 44/50; 25,000 ppm, 45/50; 50,000 ppm, 47/50; Table A5). The severity of the lesion was similar among exposed and control groups (2.5, 2.5, 2.8, 2.6). The atrophy consisted of reduced length of acinar branching, decreased size of secretory epithelial cells, increased fibrosis within the periacinar smooth muscle, and a decreased amount of eosinophilic secretory material. Sex glands are hormone dependent, and mild atrophy of the seminal vesicle associated with declining function of the testes is a common finding in aged male F344/N rats.

Evaluation and interpretation of effects in primary sex organs and accessory sex glands in a 2-year study of male F344/N rats is complicated by the extremely high incidence of testicular interstitial cell neoplasms and associated degenerative changes. However, this effect would also be expected of an estrogenic exposure. The effect is consistent with a biological effect of phenolphthalein, but could also be explained by other changes in the animals. Chemical-related lesions were not observed in other accessory sex glands (e.g., prostate gland) in this study. The significance of this marginal increase and its association with the administration of phenolphthalein are uncertain. Spleen: The incidences of lymphoid follicle atrophy of the spleen in exposed groups of males were greater than that in the controls (2/50, 8/50, 9/50, 12/49; Table A5). Macroscopically, affected spleens were observed to be smaller than normal, and histologically, there was a reduction in the mantle layer of lymphocytes. This change was observed predominantly in animals that died early or were killed moribund.

Mammary gland: The incidences of mammary gland fibroadenoma were decreased in exposed groups of females (0 ppm, 30/50; 12,000 ppm, 25/50; 25,000 ppm, 17/48; 50,000 ppm, 24/49; Table B3); however, the incidence in the control group (60%) slightly exceeded the range in historical controls in NTP 2-year feed studies [524/1,301 ($40\% \pm 13\%$); range, 8%-58%]. There is a known association between the incidence of this neoplasm and body weight in female F344/N rats. The decreased incidences of this neoplasm were considered to be due primarily to the lower body weights of exposed

groups and the unusually high incidence in the control group.

Pituitary gland: The incidence of adenoma of the pars distalis of the pituitary gland in 50,000 ppm females was significantly less than that in the controls (35/50, 32/49, 29/50, 25/47; Table B3), and the incidence of this lesion occurred with a significant negative trend. Pituitary gland adenoma in female F344/N rats occurs spontaneously at a high and variable rate in historical controls in NTP 2-year feed studies $[666/1, 290(52\% \pm 13\%); range, 30\% - 74\%]$. In this study, the incidence in the control group (70%) was at the upper end of the range for the historical controls, while the incidence in the 50,000 females (53%) was similar to the mean historical control incidence. Further, the dose-related decrease is inconsistent with the absence of a dose response in plasma phenolphthalein concentrations and other chemical-related effects in this study. Therefore, the marginal decrease of pituitary gland adenoma was not considered related to the administration of phenolphthalein.

MICE 14-Day Study

All mice survived to the end of the study (Table 10). The final mean body weights of all exposed groups of mice were similar to those of the controls. Because of feed spillage, accurate measurements of feed and compound consumption could not be made. The feces of 100,000 ppm males and females were abnormally lighter in color than those of the other groups. This discoloration was observed on day 3 and continued throughout the study. No chemicalrelated gross or microscopic lesions were observed.

TABLE 10 Survival and Mean Body Weights of Mice in the 14-Day Feed Study of Phenolphthalein

		Mean Bod	y Weight ^b (g)	Final Weight
Dose (ppm)	Survival ^a	Initial	Final	Relative to Controls (%)
Male			<u></u>	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
0	5/5	24.4 ± 2.2	27.9 ± 3.2	
6,250	5/5	25.2 ± 1.8	28.2 ± 2.0	101
12,500	5/5	25.6 ± 1.8	29.6 ± 2.1	106
25,000	5/5	25.4 ± 1.9	28.9 ± 1.8	104
50,000	5/5	25.5 ± 1.7	28.5 ± 1.2	102
100,000	5/5	25.9 ± 2.3	26.5 ± 2.6	95
Female				
0	5/5	19.9 ± 0.9	23.0 ± 1.0	
6,250	5/5	20.1 ± 1.0	22.8 ± 1.1	99
12,500	5/5	19.9 ± 0.8	22.7 ± 0.8	99
25,000	5/5	20.3 ± 1.5	21.8 ± 0.6	95
50,000	5/5	19.9 ± 0.7	22.2 ± 0.8	97
100,000	5/5	19.9 ± 0.8	22.4 ± 0.8	97

^a Number of animals surviving at 14 days/number initially in group. Differences from the control group are not significant by Williams' or Dunnett's test.

^b Weights are given as mean \pm standard deviation.

13-WEEK STUDY

All mice survived until the end of the study (Table 11). The final mean body weights and body weight gains of all exposed groups were similar to those of the controls. Feed consumption by exposed groups of mice was similar to that by the controls. Dietary levels of 3,000, 6,000, 12,000, 25,000, or

50,000 ppm phenolphthalein resulted in average daily doses of approximately 500, 1,000, 2,000, 4,100, or 9,000 mg phenolphthalein/kg body weight to males and 600, 1,200, 2,400, 5,000, or 10,500 mg/kg to females. There was no cathartic action nor any other clinical finding attributed to exposure to phenolphthalein.

 TABLE 11

 Survival, Mean Body Weights, and Feed Consumption of Mice in the 13-Week Feed Study of Phenolphthalein

		Final Weight Mean Body Weight ^b (g) Relative					Feed		
Dose (ppm)	Survival ^a	Initial	Final	Change	to Controls (%)	Aug. 1997	mption ^c Week 13		
Male		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·			· · · · ·				
0	10/10	20.4 ± 0.7	27.8 ± 0.8	7.4 ± 0.5		3.7	3.9		
3,000	10/10	19.8 ± 0.5	25.8 ± 0.6	6.1 ± 0.5	93	4.0	4.3		
6,000	10/10	20.3 ± 0.5	26.8 ± 0.6	6.6 ± 0.3	97	3.8	4.4		
12,000	10/10	19.9 ± 0.5	27.4 ± 0.5	7.5 ± 0.4	99	3.9	4.1		
25,000	10/10	19.6 ± 0.5	27.6 ± 0.7	7.9 ± 0.4	99	4.3	4.4		
50,000	10/10	20.0 ± 0.4	26.5 ± 0.6	6.5 ± 0.4	95	4.3	4.6		
Female									
0	10/10	15.8 ± 0.7	22.9 ± 0.6	7.1 ± 0.3		3.5	4.5		
3,000	10/10	16.6 ± 0.5	23.9 ± 0.7	7.3 ± 0.4	104	4.4	4.5		
6,000	10/10	17.7 ± 0.4*	24.1 ± 0.5	6.4 ± 0.3	105	4.0	4.6		
12,000	10/10	16.9 ± 0.4	23.8 ± 0.4	6.9 ± 0.3	104	4.0	4.6		
25,000	10/10	17.1 ± 0.3	24.0 ± 0.4	6.9 ± 0.3	105	4.1	4.8		
50,000	10/10	17.0 ± 0.4	23.6 ± 0.5	6.7 ± 0.3	103	4.1	5.0		

* Significantly different ($P \le 0.05$) from the control group by Dunnett's test

^a Number of animals surviving at 13 weeks/number initially in group

^b Weights and weight changes are given as mean \pm standard error.

^c Feed consumption is expressed as grams of feed consumed per animal per day.

The absolute right cauda weight of the 12,000 ppm males was significantly less than that of the controls (Table I2). The absolute right epididymis weights of 12,000, 25,000, and 50,000 ppm males were significantly less than that of the controls. The percentages of abnormal sperm in 12,000, 25,000, and 50,000 ppm males were significantly greater than that

in the control group, and the sperm concentrations in 12,000 and 50,000 ppm males were significantly less than that in the control group. The estrous cyclicity appeared normal in females (Table I2). In some groups of females, there was a slight lengthening of the cycle, but a specific phase could not be identified as being responsible.

Results

The absolute and relative right testis weights of males exposed to 6,000 ppm or greater and the absolute right testis weight of 3,000 ppm males were significantly less than those of the control group (Table F2). Other organ weight differences in mice were attributed to changes in body weights of exposed mice and were not considered to be related to exposure to phenolphthalein. Although a very subtle lesion in most instances, some seminiferous tubules lacked one or more generations of germ cells in portions or the entirety of a seminiferous tubule. This could be seen by the presence of spermatogonia, early spermatocytes, and pachytene spermatocytes, but no round or elongated spermatids. Similarly, other seminiferous tubules contained Sertoli nuclei, spermatogonia, early spermatocytes, and elongating spermatids, but no pachytene spermatocytes or round spermatids. Occasionally, seminiferous tubules contained only Sertoli cells. Often an affected seminiferous tubule would be surrounded by tubules that looked normal.

The incidences of hypoplasia of the bone marrow in males and females exposed to 12,000 ppm or greater were significantly greater than those in the controls (Table 12). This lesion was characterized by less cellular marrow with a decreased myeloid to erythroid ratio, vascular congestion, and individual cell necrosis. The identification of the necrotic cell type was not always possible, but in many instances, these cells appeared to be myeloid precursors. In addition, there was a slight increase in pigment interpreted as

 TABLE 12

 Incidences of Selected Nonneoplastic Lesions in Mice in the 13-Week Feed Study of Phenolphthalein

	0 ppm	3,000 ppm	6,000 ppm	12,000 ppm	25,000 ppm	50,000 ppm
Male						
Bone Marrow ^a	10	10	10	10	10	10
Hypoplasia ^b	0	0	1 (1.0) ^c	10** (1.0)	10** (1.0)	10** (2.0)
Necrosis	0	0	1 (1.0)	10** (1.0)	10** (1.0)	10** (1.0)
Spleen	10	d	_	10	10	10
Hematopoiesis	0		-	0	9** (1.0)	10** (1.0)
Female						
Bone Marrow	10		10	10	10	10
Hypoplasia	0	_	0	8** (1.0)	10** (1.0)	10** (1.0)
Necrosis	0		0	8** (1.0)	10** (1.0)	10** (1.0)

** Significantly different ($P \le 0.01$) from the control group by the Fisher exact test

^a Number of animals with tissue examined microscopically

^b Number of animals with lesion

^c Average severity of lesions in affected animals: 1 = minimal; 2 = mild; 3 = moderate; 4 = marked

^d Tissue not examined at this exposure concentration

hemosiderin. The incidences of hematopoiesis of the spleen in 25,000 and 50,000 ppm males were significantly greater than that in the controls (Table 12). The bone marrow and spleen findings were minimal to mild in severity.

Dose Selection Rationale: Based on the minimal severity of bone marrow and splenic lesions after 13 weeks of exposure to 12,000 ppm, the highest phenolphthalein exposure concentration selected for the 2-year feed study in mice was 12,000 ppm.

2-YEAR STUDY

Survival

Estimates of 2-year survival probabilities for male and female mice are shown in Table 13 and in the Kaplan-Meier survival curves (Figure 4). Survival of the 12,000 ppm females was significantly lower than that of the controls; survival of all other exposed groups of mice was similar to that of the controls.

Body Weights, Feed and Compound Consumption, and Clinical Findings

The mean body weights of 12,000 ppm males were slightly less than those of the controls beginning at week 93 of the study, and the mean body weights of the 3,000, 6,000, and 12,000 ppm females were less than those of the controls during most of the second year of the study (Figure 5, Tables 14 and 15). Feed consumption by all exposed groups of mice was similar to that by the controls (Tables K3 and K4). Dietary levels of 3,000, 6,000, or 12,000 ppm phenolphthalein resulted in average daily doses of approximately 300, 600, or 1,200 mg phenolphthalein/kg body weight to males and 400, 800, or 1,500 mg/kg to females. The estimated equivalent daily doses of phenolphthalein for the last year of the

study ranged from 290 to 1,200 mg/kg for male mice and from 310 to 1,300 mg/kg for female mice. In exposed mice, there were no clinical findings related to phenolphthalein exposure.

Determinations of Total Phenolphthalein in Plasma

On the last day of the 2-year study, blood was collected from the retroorbital sinus of three male and three female anesthetized mice from each group at five time points for the determination of plasma concentrations of total phenolphthalein (free and conjugated). The plasma concentrations of total phenolphthalein and their standard deviations in mice are given in Table H2. The semilogarithmic plots of plasma concentration of total phenolphthalein (free and conjugated) versus time data for male and female mice administered 3,000, 6,000, and 12,000 ppm for 2 years are shown in Table H2 and Figures H6 through H10. In general, the mean plasma concentrations of total phenolphthalein varied little with time of day. There were no significant differences in plasma concentrations of total phenolphthalein between exposure groups or between males and females.

	0 ppm	3,000 ppm	6,000 ppm	12,000 ppm
Male		<u>, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , </u>	<u></u>	
Animals initially in study	50	50	50	50
Missing ^a	0	0	0	1
Moribund	6	13	11	3
Natural deaths	4	4	3	10
Animals surviving to study termination	40	33	36	36
Percent probability of survival at end of study ^b	80	66	72	74
Mean survival (days) ^c	701	695	695	681
Survival analysis ^d	P=0.826	P=0.186	P=0.461	P=0.600
Female				
Animals initially in study	50	50	50	50
Moribund	5	13	9	12
Natural deaths	6	6	7	10
Animals surviving to study termination	39 ^e	31	34	28
Percent probability of survival at end of study	78	62	68	56
Mean survival (days)	697	665	687	663
Survival analysis	P=0.047	P=0.097	P=0.331	P=0.024

TABLE 13 Survival of Mice in the 2-Year Feed Study of Phenolphthalein

^a Censored from survival analyses

b Kaplan-Meier determinations

С Mean of all deaths (uncensored, censored, and terminal sacrifice).

d The result of the life table trend test (Tarone, 1975) is in the control column, and the results of the life table pairwise comparisons (Cox, 1972) with the controls are in the exposed columns. Includes one animal that died during the last week of the study.

e



FIGURE 4 Kaplan-Meier Survival Curves for Mice Administered Phenolphthalein in Feed for 2 Years



FIGURE 5 Growth Curves for Mice Administered Phenolphthalein in Feed for 2 Years

60

 TABLE 14

 Mean Body Weights and Survival of Male Mice in the 2-Year Feed Study of Phenolphthalein

Weeks	0	ppm		3,000 ppm			6,000 pp	m		12,000 p	pm
on	Av. Wt.	No. of	Av. Wt	. Wt. (% of		Av. Wt	. Wt. (% of		Av. Wt	. Wt. (% of	No. of
Study	(g)	Survivors	(g)	controls)	Survivors	(g)	controls)	Survivors	(g)	controls)	Survivors
1	24.1	50	23.4		50	23.2	96	50	23.2	96	50
2	25.2	50	24.9	99	50	24.8	98	50	24.8	98	49
3	25.8	50	25.5	99	50	25.5	99	50	25.5	99	49
4	26.4	50	26.4	100	50	26.4	100	50	26.8	102	49
5	27.7	50	27.4	99	50	27.1	98	50	26.9	97	48
6	28.7	50	28.1	98	50	28.3	99	50	28.0	98	48
7	28.9	50	28.5	99	50	28.6	99	50	28.8	100	48
8	29.5	50	28.8	98	50	29.5	100	50	29.2	99	48
9	29.5	50	29.2	99	50	29.4	100	50	28.8	98	48
10	30.7	50	30.4	99	50	30.6	100	50	30.8	100	48
11	31.5	50	31.5	100	50	31.1	99	50	30.7	98	48
12	32.5	50	32.4	100	50	32.5	100	50	32.4	100	48
13	32.6	50	32.8	101	50	32.6	100	50	32.5	100	48
17	35.2	50	35.0	99	50	34.7	99	50	34.2	97	48
21	40.5	50	39.1	97	50	39.7	98	50	38.5	95	48
25	42.8	50	41.6	97	50	41.8	98	50	41.2	96	48
29	44.8	50	43.9	98	50	44.0	98	50	43.2	96	48
33	46.5	50	45.7	98	50	45.9	99	50	43.8	94	48
37	46.8	49	46.0	98	50	45.7	98	50	43.9	94	48
41	46.2	49	45.0	97	50	45.3	98	50	44.9	97	48
45	47.1	49	47.0	100	50	46.4	99	50	45.6	97	48
49	48.7	49	48.2	99	50	47.7	98	50	46.9	96	48
53	48.7	49	48.3	99	49	48.3	99	50	47.0	97	48
57	49.8	49	49.0	98	49	48.9	98	50	47.5	95	48
61	49.6	49	48.9	99	49	47.9	97	50	47.3	95	48
65	51.7	49	50.5	98	49	49.8	96	49	49.8	96	48
69	52.0	49	50.9	98	49	49.8	96	49	49.8	96	48
73	51.7	49	50.7	98	49	51.0	99	47	50.3	97	48
77	51.6	48	50.7	98	49	50.3	98	46	49.8	97	47
81	51.1	47	50.2	98	47	51.0	100	44	49.8	98	46
85	51.1	46	50.2	98	45	51.5	101	44	50.1	98	45
89	51.5	45	49.5	96	43	50.8	99	44	49.4	96	45
93	50.0	44	49.1	98	41	50.2	100	44	47.1 ·	94	44
97	50.4	43	49.1	97	40	50.1	99	41	47.3	94	41
101	49.9	42	49.0	98	39	50.2	101	38	46.3	93	40
104	49.4	40	47.9	97	33	49.1	99	36	45.9	93	36
Mean for			10 4	00		20 1	99		28.3	99	
1-13	28.7		28.4	99 08		28.4 43.5	99 98		28.3 42.5	99 96	
14-52	44.3		43.5	98 08			98 99		42.5 48.4	96 96	
53-104	50.6		49.6	98		49.9	99		48.4	90	

Mean Body Weights and Survival of Female Mice in the 2-Year Feed Study of Phenolphthalein

Weeks	0	opm		3,000 ppm	l		6,000 pp	m		12,000 p	pm
on	Av. Wt.	No. of	Av. Wt	. Wt. (% of		Av. Wt	. Wt. (% of	No. of	Av. Wt	. Wt. (% of	
Study	(g)	Survivors	(g)	controls)	Survivors	(g)	controls)	Survivors	(g)	controls)	Survivors
1	18.2	50	17.9	98	50	17.8	98	50	18.7	103	50
2	19.9	50	19.5	98	50	19.6	99	50	19.6	99	50
3	20.9	50	20.3	97	50	20.4	98	50	21.0	101	50
4	21.3	50	21.1	99	50	21.0	99	50	21.1	99	50
5	21.8	50	21.8	100	50	21.7	100	50	21.9	101	50
6	23.4	50	23.0	98	50	23.2	99	50	23.4	100	50
7	23.0	50	22.7	99	50	22.7	99	50	23.3	101	49
8	24.0	50	23.5	98	50	23.8	99	50	24.0	100	49
9	24.9	50	24.3	98	50	24.7	99	50	24.9	100	49
10	25.4	50	24.5	97	50	25.2	99	50	25.1	99	49
11	26.5	50	25.5	96	50	26.0	98	50	26.4	100	49
12	27.6	49	26.9	98	50	26.7	97	50	26.9	98	49
13	27.0	49	26.1	97	50	26.9	100	50	27.4	102	49
17	30.6	49	29.1	95	50	29.3	96	50	29.6	97	49
21	34.0	49	33.6	99	49	33.6	99	50	34.3	101	49
25	36.2	48	35.2	97	49	35.1	97	50	35.8	99	49
29	38.8	48	37.5	97	49	37.8	97	50	37.5	97	49
33	42.2	48	40.3	96	49	40.3	96	50	39.9	95	49
37	42.1	48	40.6	96	49	40.7	97	50	40.2	96	49
41	44.5	48	42.8	96	48	42.1	95	50	41.7	94	49
45	45.2	48	43.1	95	48	42.9	95	50	43.1	95	49
49	46.6	48	44.6	96	48	43.7	94	49	43.0	92	49
53	47.8	48	46.1	96	48	45.5	95	48	45.0	94	49
57	49.0	48	46.9	96	48	47.1	96	48	46.5	95	49
61	50.2	48	48.0	96	48	47.6	95	48	46.8	93	49
65	53.6	48	50.7	95	47	51.1	95	48	49.7	93	48
69	55.6	48	52.3	94	46	51.0	92	48	50.8	91	46
73	55.6	48	52.9	95	45	51.7	93	47	50.9	92	46
77	54.6	48	52.4	96	44	51.4	94	47	50.3	92	44
81	55.6	47	52.7	95	43	51.5	93	46	50.3	91	44
85	56.3	47	52.9	94	39	52.5	93	44	51.2	91	39
89	56.5	44	52.6	93	37	52.7	93	41	52.9	94	35
93	55.2	43	51.4	93	36	51.0	92	39	51.7	94	34
97	55.6	43	52.5	94	33	51.8	93	37	51.8	93	32
101	54.9	42	50.3	92	33	52.0	95	34	51.6	94	31
Mean for	weeks										
1-13	23.4		22.9	98		23.1	99		23.4	100	
14-52	40.0		38.5	96		38.4	96		38.3	96	
53-101	53.9		50.9	94		50.5	94		50.0	93	

Pathology and Statistical Analyses

This section describes the statistically significant or biologically noteworthy changes in the incidences of histiocytic sarcoma and malignant lymphoma and neoplasms and/or nonneoplastic lesions of the thymus, ovary, testis, bone marrow, kidney, spleen, liver, tooth, pituitary gland, and thyroid gland. Summaries of the incidences of neoplasms and nonneoplastic lesions, individual animal tumor diagnoses, statistical analyses of primary neoplasms that occurred with an incidence of at least 5% in at least one animal group, and historical incidences for the neoplasms mentioned in this section are presented in Appendix C for male mice and Appendix D for female mice.

All organs: The incidences of histiocytic sarcoma in 6,000 and 12,000 ppm males and females were significantly greater than those in the controls and occurred with a significant positive trend (Tables 16, C3, and D3). The incidences of histiocytic sarcoma in all exposed groups of males and in 6,000 and

TABLE 16

Incidences of Histiocytic Sarcoma in Mice in the 2-Year Feed Study of Phenolphthalein

	0 ppm	3,000 ppm	6,000 ppm	12,000 ppm
Male ^a		Fr.,		
Overall rate ^b	1/50 (2%)	3/50 (6%)	11/50 (22%)	12/49 (24%)
Adjusted rate ^c	2.4%	7.9%	28.0%	27.5%
Terminal rate ^d	0/40 (0%)	0/33 (0%)	8/36 (22%)	5/36 (14%)
First incidence (days)	727	658	665	549
Life table test ^e	P<0.001	P = 0.255	P=0.002	P=0.002
Logistic regression test ^e	P<0.001	P=0.302	P = 0.002	P=0.001
Female ^f				
Overall rate	0/50 (0%)	2/50 (4%)	7/50 (14%)	7/50 (14%)
Adjusted rate	0.0%	6.5%	17.6%	18.0%
Ferminal rate	0/39 (0%)	2/31 (6%)	3/34 (9%)	0/28 (0%)
First incidence (days)	g	737 (T)	567	588
Life table test	P=0.002	P = 0.189	P = 0.007	P = 0.005
Logistic regression test	P = 0.009	P = 0.189	P=0.010	P=0.011

(T)Terminal sacrifice

^a Historical incidence for 2-year NTP feed studies with untreated controls (mean ± standard deviation): 6/1,474 (0.4% ± 1.0%); range, 0%-2%

^b Number of animals with neoplasm per number of animals necropsied

^c Kaplan-Meier estimated neoplasm incidence at the end of the study after adjustment for intercurrent mortality

^d Observed incidence in animals surviving until the end of the study

e In the control column are the P values associated with the trend test. In the exposed group columns are the P values corresponding to the pairwise comparisons between the controls and that exposed group. The life table test regards neoplasms in animals dying prior to terminal kill as being (directly or indirectly) the cause of death. The logistic regression test regards lesions in animals dying prior to terminal kill as nonfatal.

f Historical incidence: 19/1,473 (1.3% ± 1.6%); range, 0%-4%

^g Not applicable; no neoplasms in animal group

Results

12,000 ppm females exceeded the ranges in historical controls in NTP 2-year feed studies (Tables 16, C4a, and D4a). In this study, histiocytic sarcoma was consistently observed in the liver with several other sites (e.g., spleen, lung, bone marrow, and various lymph nodes) involved less frequently. In the liver, hepatic sinusoids were expanded by neoplastic histiocytes, which frequently formed small nodules, and occasional thick bands, which often effaced hepatic parenchyma (Plates 1 and 2). Nuclei of neoplastic cells varied from rounded to kidney-shaped, and cells contained abundant pale eosino-philic cytoplasm.

The incidences of all types of malignant lymphoma in all exposed groups of females were significantly greater than that in the controls and exceeded the range in historical controls in NTP 2-year feed studies (Tables 17, D3, and D4b). The incidences in all exposed groups of males were similar to that in the controls (Tables 17 and C3).

In this study, many proliferative lesions (atypical hyperplasia and lymphoma) that clearly arose within the thymus were observed in exposed males and females. Lymphomas were considered to be of thymic origin when they were observed only in the

Incidences of Malignant Lymphoma and of Selected Thymic Neoplasms and Nonneoplastic Lesions in Mice in the 2-Year Feed Study of Phenolphthalein

	0 ppm	3,000 ppm	6,000 ppm	12,000 ppm
Male		·····		
Malignant Lymphoma, All Types ^a				
Overall rate ^b	6/50 (12%)	8/50 (16%)	12/50 (24%)	8/49 (16%)
Adjusted rate ^c	14.5%	19.1%	27.2%	22.2%
Terminal rate ^d	5/40 (13%)	3/33 (9%)	6/36 (17%)	8/36 (22%)
First incidence (days)	662	347	423	729 (T)
Life table test ^e	P=0.299	P=0.300	P=0.082	P=0.309
Logistic regression test ^e	P=0.324	P=0.396	P=0.101	P=0.353
Thymus ^f	43	46	44	42
Atypical Hyperplasia ^g	0	3	7**	7**
Lymphoma, Primary Site Thymus				
Overall rate	0/50 (0%)	2/50 (4%)	7/50 (14%)	1/49 (2%)
Adjusted rate	0.0%	4.9%	15.4%	2.8%
Terminal rate	0/40 (0%)	0/33 (0%)	2/36 (6%)	1/36 (3%)
First incidence (days)	h	583	423	729 (T)
Life table test	P=0.357	P=0.223	P=0.010	P=0.479
Logistic regression test	P=0.412	P=0.234	P = 0.006	P=0.479
Lymphoma, Primary Site Thymus or 1	Probably Thymus			
Overall rate	0/50 (0%)	4/50 (8%)	7/50 (14%)	2/49 (4%)
Adjusted rate	0.0%	9.8%	15.4%	5.6%
Terminal rate	0/40 (0%)	1/33 (3%)	2/36 (6%)	2/36 (6%)
First incidence (days)		583	423	729 (T)
Life table test	P=0.317	P=0.055	P=0.010	P=0.215
Logistic regression test	P=0.359	P=0.061	P = 0.006	P=0.215

	0 ppm	3,000 ppm	6,000 ppm	12,000 ppm
Female				
Malignant Lymphoma, All Types ⁱ				
Overall rate	15/50 (30%)	28/50 (56%)	33/50 (66%)	25/50 (50%)
Adjusted rate	34.3%	60.2%	74.6%	65.8%
Terminal rate	11/39 (28%)	13/31 (42%)	23/34 (68%)	16/28 (57%)
First incidence (days)	156	266	338	447
Life table test	P=0.010	P=0.003	P<0.001	P=0.004
Logistic regression test	P=0.114	P=0.051	P<0.001	P=0.035
Гhymus	48	44	49	45
Atypical Hyperplasia	0	7**	6**	5**
Lymphoma, Primary Site Thymus				
Overall rate	0/50 (0%)	5/50 (10%)	5/50 (10%)	4/50 (8%)
Adjusted rate	0.0%	13.9%	13.8%	12.6%
Terminal rate	0/39 (0%)	3/31 (10%)	4/34 (12%)	3/28 (11%)
First incidence (days)		266	604	450
Life table test	P=0.086	P=0.023	P=0.025	P=0.037
Logistic regression test	P=0.157	P=0.038	P=0.030	P=0.065
Lymphoma, Primary Site Thymus or I	Probably Thymus			
Overall rate	1/50 (2%)	9/50 (18%)	10/50 (20%)	7/50 (14%)
Adjusted rate	2.6%	24.9%	25.8%	23.1%
Terminal rate	1/39 (3%)	6/31 (19%)	7/34 (21%)	6/28 (21%)
First incidence (days)	737 (T)	266	551	450
Life table test	P=0.044	P=0.005	P=0.004	P=0.011
Logistic regression test	P=0.106	P=0.011	P=0.005	P=0.025

Incidences of Malignant Lymphoma and of Selected Thymic Neoplasms and Nonneoplastic Lesions in Mice in the 2-Year Feed Study of Phenolphthalein (continued)

(T)Terminal sacrifice

** Significantly different (P≤0.01) from the control group by the logistic regression test

^a Historical incidence for 2-year NTP feed studies with untreated controls (mean ± standard deviation): 130/1,474 (8.8% ± 6.0%); range, 2%-24%

^b Number of animals with neoplasm per number of animals necropsied

^c Kaplan-Meier estimated neoplasm incidence at the end of the study after adjustment for intercurrent mortality

^d Observed incidence in animals surviving until the end of the study

^e In the control column are the P values associated with the trend test. In the exposed group columns are the P values corresponding to the pairwise comparisons between the controls and that exposed group. The life table test regards neoplasms in animals dying prior to terminal kill as being (directly or indirectly) the cause of death. The logistic regression test regards lesions in animals dying prior to terminal kill as nonfatal.

f Number of animals with thymus examined microscopically

^g Number of animals with lesion

^h Not applicable; no neoplasms in animal group

ⁱ Historical incidence: 339/1,473 (23.0% ± 11.9%); range, 6%-44%

Results

thymus or within the thymus and metastatic only to other sites within the chest cavity. The incidences of lymphoma of thymic origin were increased in exposed groups of males, but were significantly increased only in the 6,000 ppm group, and the incidences of lymphoma of thymic origin in all exposed groups of females were significantly greater (by the life table test) than that in the controls (Table 17). In the other exposed groups, where the lymphoma was largest in the thymus with minimal involvement of other sites, the thymus was considered the "probable" site of origin. Additionally, the incidences of atypical hyperplasia of the thymus in 6,000 and 12,000 ppm males and in all exposed groups of females were significantly greater than those in the controls.

After puberty, there is a gradual involution of the bilobed thymic tissue with advancing age, and while the amount of thymic tissue is reduced at 2 years, the morphological structure of the outer cortex and inner medulla is generally maintained. The thymic cortex is generally composed of smaller hyperchromatic lymphocytes, while more eosinophilic staining lymphocytes and epithelial cells are major constituents of the medulla. In this study, animals with hyperplasia of the thymus often had a normal appearing lobe along with an abnormal lobe (Plates 3 and 4). The abnormal lobe was generally smaller than the normal lobe and lacked a distinct cortex and medulla. Rather, abnormal lobes were composed of sheets of large lymphocytes combined with variable numbers of smaller, more normal appearing lymphocytes (Plate 5). The large lymphocytes had stippled chromatin, scant to moderate amounts of cytoplasm, and one or two fairly distinct nucleoli. The mitotic index was variable. In the earliest lesions diagnosed as malignant lymphomas, a fairly homogeneous population of lymphocytes (as described previously) extended beyond the confines of normal thymic tissue, and mitotic figures were common. Larger thymic lymphomas occupied a larger portion of the chest cavity.

Ovary: There were increased incidences of benign ovarian neoplasms and associated hyperplasia of a rather distinctive morphology in all exposed groups of females (Tables 18, D1, D3, and D5). The incidences of benign sex-cord stromal tumors of the ovary in all exposed groups of females were significantly greater than that in the controls and exceeded the range for ovarian luteomas in historical controls in NTP 2-year feed studies (Tables 18, D3, and D4c). The incidences of hyperplasia of the ovary in 3,000 and 12,000 ppm females were significantly greater than that in the controls. The neoplasms varied from occupying most of the ovary to markedly expanding it (three to four times) with compression of the surrounding parenchyma (Plates 6 and 7). Neoplasms were usually composed of sheets of round to oval cells with abundant cytoplasm that varied from finely granular and eosinophilic to vesiculated (luteinized). In most neoplasms, the cells were rather homogeneous with a low mitotic index; however, in some of the larger neoplasms, there was a modest degree of cellular pleomorphism and a higher mitotic rate. Hyperplasias were observed within the ovarian stroma and were composed of cells that were morphologically similar to those in the neoplasms (Plates 8 and 9). However, hyperplasias were smaller, and component cells usually blended with the surrounding parenchyma with little or no compression. The histomorphology of the granulosa cell tumors identified in a control female and in a 3,000 ppm female was typical of granulosa cell tumors and was distinctly different from the benign sex-cord stromal tumors observed in exposed females.

Incidences of Neoplasms and Nonneoplastic Lesions of the Ovary in Female Mice
in the 2-Year Feed Study of Phenolphthalein

	0 ppm	3,000 ppm	6,000 ppm	12,000 ppm	
Number Examined Microscopically	50	49	50	50	
Hyperplasia ^a	4 (1.5) ^b	11* (2.0)	10 (2.6)	17** (2.2)	
Benign Sex-Cord Stromal Tumor, Bilateral	0	1	0	0	
Benign Sex-Cord Stromal Tumor ^c (Include:	s Bilateral)				
Overall rate ^d	0/50 (0%)	7/49 (14%)	6/50 (12%)	5/50 (10%)	
Adjusted rate ^e	0.0%	21.7%	17.6% 17.9%		
Terminal rate ^f	0/39 (0%)	6/31 (19%)	6/34 (18%)	5/28 (18%)	
First incidence (days)	- ^h 668	737 (T)	737 (T)		
Logistic regression test ^g	P = 0.066	P=0.004	P=0.011	P=0.012	
Benign Granulosa Cell Tumor	1	1	0	0	

(T)Terminal sacrifice

* Significantly different ($P \le 0.05$) from the control group by the logistic regression test

** P≤0.01

^a Number of animals with lesion

^b Average severity of lesions in affected animals: 1 = minimal; 2 = mild; 3 = moderate; 4 = marked

^c Historical incidence of ovarian luteoma for 2-year NTP feed studies with untreated controls (mean ± standard deviation): 5/1,436 (0.4% ± 1.0%); range, 0%-4%

^d Number of animals with neoplasm per number of animals with ovary examined microscopically

e Kaplan-Meier estimated neoplasm incidence at the end of the study after adjustment for intercurrent mortality

f Observed incidence in animals surviving until the end of the study

^g In the control column are the P values associated with the trend test. In the exposed group columns are the P values corresponding to the pairwise comparisons between the controls and that exposed group. The logistic regression test regards lesions in animals dying prior to terminal kill as nonfatal.

^h Not applicable; no neoplasms in animal group

Testis: The incidences of germinal epithelial degeneration of the testis in all exposed groups of males were significantly greater than in the controls (Tables 19 and C5). The lesion varied from involvement of a few to all seminiferous tubules. Within the tubules, there was variable loss of sperm and germinal epithelial cells (spermatogonia, spermatocytes, and spermatids), often with only Sertoli cells remaining (Plates 10 and 11). In the most severe cases, the cross-sectional diameter of the testis was decreased. Although more severe, this lesion is consistent with that observed in the 13-week study.

Bone marrow: There were increased incidences of myelofibrosis of the bone marrow in 12,000 ppm males (Tables 19 and C5) and an increased severity of this lesion in exposed females (Table 19). In this study, the fibro-osseous lesion generally partially replaced the bone marrow cavity and was composed of minimal to mild proliferation of spindle cells in an eosinophilic, often fibrillar, matrix. In advanced lesions, the spindle cell proliferation was more extensive, and there was more osteosclerosis. Additionally, as observed in the 13-week study, there were increased incidences of pigmentation (probably

Incidences of Selected Nonneoplastic Lesions in Mice in the 2-Year Feed Study of Phenolphthalein

	0 ppm		3,000 ppm		6,000 ppm		12,000 ppm	
Male								
Bone Marrow ^a	50		50		50		49	
Myelofibrosis ^b	3 (1.	.0) ^c	8	(1.3)	8	(1.3)	19**	(1.3)
Pigmentation	0		2	(1.0)	5*	(1.8)	16**	(1.8)
Kidney	50		50		50		49	
Renal Tubule, Accumulation,								
Hyaline Droplet	0		2	(2.5)	5*	(2.6)	5*	(2.8)
Spleen	50		50		50		49	
Hematopoietic Cell Proliferation	10 (1	.9)	22*	(2.3)	28**	(2.5)	21*	(2.6)
Testes	50		50		50		48	
Germinal Epithelium, Degeneration	1 (1	.0)	49**	(2.0)	50**	(3.0)	47**	(2.7)
Female								
Bone Marrow	50		50		50		50	
Myelofibrosis	34 (1	.4)	34	(2.7)	38	(2.0)	36	(2.3)
Pigmentation	2 (1	.5)	3	(1.3)	11**	(1.9)	11**	(2.2)
Kidney	50		50		50		50	
Renal Tubule, Accumulation,								
Hyaline Droplet	0		1	(1.0)	3	(2.0)	8**	(2.0)
Spleen	50		50		50		50	
Hematopoietic Cell Proliferation	13 (2	.8)	14	(2.5)	20	(2.7)	21	(2.5)

* Significantly different ($P \le 0.05$) from the control group by the logistic regression test

** P≤0.01

^a Number of animals with tissue examined microscopically

^b Number of animals with lesion

^c Average severity of lesions in affected animals: 1 = minimal; 2 = mild; 3 = moderate; 4 = marked

hemosiderin) of minimal to mild severity in the bone marrow of 6,000 and 12,000 ppm males and females (Tables 19, C5, and D5).

Kidney: The incidences of hyaline droplets within the renal tubules in 6,000 and 12,000 ppm males and in 12,000 ppm females were significantly greater than those in the controls (Tables 19, C5, and D5). Mild to moderate numbers of eosinophilic, intracytoplasmic hyaline droplets were observed within the proximal convoluted renal tubules. Generally, mice with renal hyaline droplets also had histiocytic sarcoma in other organs. This renal change is not uncommon in mice with histiocytic sarcomas. It has been shown that histiocytic sarcomas may produce excessive amounts of lysozyme, which may accumulate in the proximal renal tubule (Barsoum *et al.*, 1984; Hard and Snowden, 1991; Luz and Murray, 1991).

Spleen: The incidences of hematopoietic cell proliferation in the red pulp of the spleen in all exposed groups of males were significantly greater than in the controls (Tables 19 and D5), and the severity of this lesion increased with increasing exposure concentration. Hematopoiesis is a process that normally occurs to some extent in the spleen of $B6C3F_1$ mice; therefore, in this study, the diagnosis was generally made when the amount of hematopoietic cell proliferation exceeded an established threshold. This minimal change is consistent with that identified in the 13-week study and is considered related to administration of phenolphthalein.

Liver: The incidences of hepatocellular adenoma in all exposed groups of males and females and of hepatocellular adenoma or carcinoma (combined) in 6,000 and 12,000 ppm males and all exposed groups of females were significantly less than those in the controls, and the incidences of these lesions occurred with significant negative trends (Tables 20, C3, and D3). The incidences of hepatocellular adenoma or carcinoma (combined) in all control and exposed groups were within the ranges in historical controls in NTP 2-year feed studies (Tables C4c and D4d).

Multiple hepatocellular adenomas were observed more frequently in the control groups than in the exposed groups (Tables C1 and D1). The incidences of clear cell and eosinophilic foci in all exposed groups of males and of mixed cell foci in 12,000 ppm males were significantly less than those in the controls (Table C5). The incidences of eosinophilic foci in exposed groups of females were significantly less than that in the controls (Table D5). Foci of cellular alteration, adenomas, and carcinomas generally represent a spectrum in the progression of neoplasia in the liver of B6C3F₁ mice. Although there is a known association of the incidences of these neoplasms with body weight in the $B6C3F_1$ mouse, the slightly lower mean body weights of exposed groups could not account for the decreased incidences observed in this study. These decreases were considered related to the administration of phenolphthalein.

Incidences of Neoplasms and Nonneoplastic Lesions of the Liver in Mice in the 2-Year Feed Study of Phenolphthalein

	0 ppm 3,000 ppm		6,000 ppm	12,000 ppm	
Male			· · · ·		
Number Examined Microscopically	50	50	50	49	
Clear Cell Focus ^a	24	6**	1**	0**	
Eosinophilic Focus	22	6**	1**	1**	
Mixed Cell Focus	6	2	1	0*	
Hepatocellular Adenoma, Multiple	12	1	0	1	
Hepatocellular Adenoma (Includes Mu	ltiple)				
Overall rate ^b	22/50 (44%)	12/50 (24%)	8/50 (16%)	10/49 (20%)	
Adjusted rate ^c	53.5%	29.3%	19.6%	25.0%	
Terminal rate ^d	21/40 (53%)	6/33 (18%)	5/36 (14%)	7/36 (19%)	
First incidence (days)	582	563	495	522	
Logistic regression test ^e	P = 0.010N	P = 0.032N	P = 0.003N	P=0.011N	
Hepatocellular Carcinoma (Includes M	(ultiple)				
Overall rate	8/50 (16%)	10/50 (20%)	5/50 (10%)	9/49 (18%)	
Adjusted rate	19.5%	25.0%	11.8%	22.0%	
Terminal rate	7/40 (18%)	5/33 (15%)	2/36 (6%)	5/36 (14%)	
First incidence (days)	727	560	500	639	
Logistic regression test	P=0.533	P=0.385	P=0.273N	P=0.474	
Hepatocellular Adenoma or Carcinoma	a ^f				
Overall rate	27/50 (54%)	20/50 (40%)	11/50 (22%)	16/49 (33%)	
Adjusted rate	64.2%	45.3%	25.8%	38.4%	
Terminal rate	25/40 (63%)	10/33 (30%)	6/36 (17%)	11/36 (31%)	
First incidence (days)	582	560	495	522	
Logistic regression test	P=0.016N	P = 0.123N	P = 0.001 N	P = 0.026N	

Incidences of Neoplasms and Nonneoplastic Lesions of the Liver in Mice in the 2-Year Feed Study	
of Phenolphthalein (continued)	

	0 ppm	3,000 ppm	6,000 ppm	12,000 ppm	
Female					
Number Examined Microscopically	50	50	50	50	
Clear Cell Focus	1	2	0	0	
Eosinophilic Focus	20	4**	2**	1**	
Mixed Cell Focus	3	2	1	0	
Hepatocellular Adenoma, Multiple	5	0	0	0	
Hepatocellular Adenoma (Includes Multi	ple)				
Overall rate	17/50 (34%)	2/50 (4%)	6/50 (12%)	1/50 (2%)	
Adjusted rate	41.2%	6.5%	17.1%	3.6%	
Terminal rate	15/39 (38%)	2/31 (6%)	5/34 (15%)	1/28 (4%)	
First incidence (days)	597	737 (T)	693	737 (T)	
Logistic regression test	P<0.001N	P<0.001N	P=0.015N	P<0.001N	
Hepatocellular Carcinoma					
Overall rate	6/50 (12%)	1/50 (2%)	0/50 (0%)	1/50 (2%)	
Adjusted rate	14.9%	3.2%	0.0%	3.6%	
Terminal rate	5/39 (13%)	1/31 (3%)	0/34 (0%)	1/28 (4%)	
First incidence (days)	708	737 (T)	g	737 (T)	
Logistic regression test	P=0.042N	P=0.099N	P=0.025N	P=0.111N	
Hepatocellular Adenoma or Carcinoma ^h					
Overall rate	21/50 (42%)	3/50 (6%)	6/50 (12%)	2/50 (4%)	
Adjusted rate	49.8%	9.7%	17.1%	7.1%	
Terminal rate	18/39 (46%)	3/31 (10%)	5/34 (15%)	2/28 (7%)	
First incidence (days)	597	737 (T)	693	737 (T)	
Logistic regression test	P<0.001N	P<0.001N	P=0.002N	P<0.001N	

(T)Terminal sacrifice

* Significantly different ($P \le 0.05$) from the control group by the logistic regression test

** P≤0.01

^a Number of animals with lesion

^b Number of animals with neoplasm per number of animals with liver examined microscopically

^c Kaplan-Meier estimated neoplasm incidence at the end of the study after adjustment for intercurrent mortality

^d Observed incidence in animals surviving until the end of the study

^e In the control column are the P values associated with the trend test. In the exposed group columns are the P values corresponding to the pairwise comparisons between the controls and that exposed group. The logistic regression test regards lesions in animals dying prior to terminal kill as nonfatal. A negative trend or lower incidence in an exposure group is indicated by N.

f Historical incidence for 2-year NTP feed studies with untreated controls (mean ± standard deviation): 596/1,465 (40.7% ± 14.5%); range, 10%-68%

^g Not applicable; no neoplasms in animal group

^h Historical incidence: 313/1,464 (21.4% ± 13.0%); range, 3%-56%

Tooth: There were decreased incidences of degeneration of the teeth in all exposed groups of male mice (0 ppm, 22/49; 3,000 ppm, 12/50; 6,000 ppm, 4/50; 12,000 ppm, 1/49; Table C5) Degeneration of the teeth is a common spontaneous lesion in male $B6C3F_1$ mice and is characterized by deformity and distortion of dental profiles, excessive dentine

formation, and hyperplasia of various cellular elements associated with tooth formation. Because this lesion occurs more frequently in males, it is possible that male hormones play a role in its development or that female hormones are protective. The decrease in the incidence of this lesion was considered to be related to phenolphthalein administration. *Pituitary gland:* The incidences of hyperplasia of the pars distalis of the pituitary gland in 6,000 and 12,000 ppm females were significantly less than that in the controls (0 ppm, 11/49; 3,000 ppm, 4/50; 6,000 ppm, 1/49; 12,000 ppm, 1/48; Table D5). Because of the central role the pituitary gland in hormonal homeostasis, it is probable that this decrease in the incidence of hyperplasia is related to the administration of phenolphthalein. However, its significance and mechanism of relationship to phenolphthalein administration are not understood.

Thyroid gland: There were decreased incidences of follicular cell hyperplasia of the thyroid gland in all exposed groups of females (27/50, 8/50, 3/50, 7/50; Table D5). However, all hyperplasias observed in the control mice were of minimal severity. As with the pituitary gland, this change is of questionable biological significance, but is also probably related to exposure to phenolphthalein.

GENETIC TOXICOLOGY

Phenolphthalein, tested independently in two laboratories, was not mutagenic in *Salmonella typhimurium* strain TA98, TA100, TA1535, or TA1537, with or without induced rat or hamster liver S9 metabolic activation enzymes (Mortelmans *et al.*, 1986; Table E1). In cytogenetic tests with cultured Chinese hamster ovary cells, no induction of sister chromatid exchanges was observed after treatment with 0.5 to $50 \,\mu g/mL$ phenolphthalein with or without S9 (Table E2). Cytotoxicity was noted at the 50 μ g/mL dose level, and culture times were extended to maximize the proportion of cells available for analysis at this dose level. Results of the in vitro chromosomal aberrations test with phenolphthalein were positive for the two trials conducted with S9; no increase in chromosomal aberrations was observed in the absence of S9 (Witt et al., 1995; Table E3). At the 50 μ g/mL dose level, approximately one quarter of all cells contained aberrations, and most of these were chromosome breaks located at the distal end of X_a. The significance of this preferential breakage is as yet unknown, but it has been noted with other chemicals, and it occurs only in the presence of S9. A discussion of possible mechanisms for this phenomenon is presented in Galloway et al. (1987). Results from the in vivo mouse peripheral blood micronucleus test were positive for both male and female mice (Dietz et al., 1992; Table E4). Significant increases in micronuclei were noted for both the normochromatic and polychromatic erythrocyte populations. The increases in micronucleated normochromatic erythrocytes, which indicate the effects of chronic exposure, occurred at all exposure concentrations in males and females. The effects on polychromatic erythrocytes, which indicate chromosomal damage induced within the 48 hours preceding analysis, occurred only at 25,000 and 50,000 ppm, the two highest exposure concentrations.


PLATE 1

Histiocytic sarcoma of the liver of a male $B6C3F_1$ mouse exposed to 12,000 ppm phenolphthalein in feed for 2 years. Note the thick band of neoplastic histiocytes within the liver. H&E; $50 \times$



PLATE 2

A higher magnification of the histiocytic sarcoma shown in Plate 1. The upper half demonstrates the variability in nuclear shape and the abundant cytoplasm present in the neoplastic cells. In the lower half, neoplastic cells (large arrow) are present within expanded hepatic sinusoids. Also note few remaining hepatocytes (small arrow). H&E; $130 \times$



PLATE 3

Thymus of a male B6C3F₁ mouse exposed to 12,000 ppm phenolphthalein in feed for 2 years. The section to the left is normal thymic tissue with a darkly stained peripheral cortex (large arrow) and an inner medullary area (small arrow). The section to the right is abnormal without a distinct cortex or medulla. H&E; $10 \times$



PLATE 4

Normal thymus of a control male B6C3F₁ mouse in the 2-year feed study of phenolphthalein. The cortex is to the left and the medulla in the upper right. H&E; $130 \times$



PLATE 5

Higher magnification of Plate 3. Note the population of large lymphocytes with rounded to oval nuclei and scant cytoplasm. Compare to normal thymic tissue in Plate 4. H&E; $130 \times$



PLATE 6

Ovary of a female $B6C3F_1$ mouse exposed to 12,000 ppm phenolphthalein in feed for 2 years. Note the expansile mass composed of a homogeneous sheet of cells within and expanding the ovary. Compare with normal ovary in Plate 7 at much higher magnification. H&E; $6 \times$



PLATE 7

Relatively normal ovary of a control female B6C3F₁ mouse in the 2-year feed study of phenolphthalein. H&E; $20 \times$

PLATE 8

Ovary of a female $B6C3F_1$ mouse exposed to 6,000 ppm phenolphthalein in feed for 2 years. Note the area of hyperplasia (arrows) within the ovary. H&E; $20 \times$



PLATE 9

A higher magnification of Plate 8. Note the component cells with abundant finely granular (right) or vesiculated (left) cytoplasm. H&E; $130 \times$



PLATE 10

Marked degeneration of the seminiferous tubules in the testis of a male $B6C3F_1$ mouse exposed to 12,000 ppm phenolphthalein in feed for 2 years. Note the variable loss of germinal epithelium within tubules. Compare to a normal testis in Plate 11. H&E; $65 \times$



PLATE 11

Testis of a control male $B6C3F_1$ mouse in the 2-year feed study of phenolphthalein. Note normal appearing germinal epithelium. H&E; $65 \times$

DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSIONS

Phenolphthalein was nominated by the National Cancer Institute for toxicity and carcinogenicity studies because it is an over-the-counter laxative for which no carcinogenesis bioassay has been reported in the literature. Phenolphthalein is usually taken as a 60 mg oral dose, four times a day, for an approximate daily dose of 4 to 5 mg/kg. The probable mechanism for the laxative effect is stimulation of the mucosal nerve plexus in the colon, combined with water and electrolyte secretion or inhibition of water absorption in both large and small intestines, and decreased glucose absorption (Pietrusko, 1977; Saunders *et al.*, 1978; *Goodman and Gilman's*, 1990).

In the 13-week feed studies, rats and mice were exposed to phenolphthalein at concentrations up to 50,000 ppm. All rats and mice survived to the end of the studies. No chemical-related clinical signs of toxicity were observed in rats or mice, and there was no evidence of a laxative effect in these animals. In the 13-week studies, there were no chemical-related gross or microscopic lesions in rats. However. hypoplasia of the bone marrow occurred in male and female mice exposed to 12,000 ppm or greater. This lesion was characterized by decreased amounts of hematopoietic tissue with a decreased myeloid to erythroid ratio. Splenic hematopoiesis was observed in male mice exposed to 25,000 or 50,000 ppm. There were also effects on the male reproductive system in mice. There was no evidence of reproductive toxicity in female $B6C3F_1$ mice or in male or female F344/N rats. Lower epididymal weights and sperm density and an increased incidence of abnormal sperm were observed in male mice at all exposure concentrations evaluated (12,000, 25,000, and 50,000 ppm). In some seminiferous tubules one or more generations of germ cells in portions of or in the entire tubule were missing. Often such tubules were surrounded by seminiferous tubules that looked normal. This suggested an intermittent commitment of spermatogonia to differentiation, producing a "blank space" in the progression of cells through spermatogenesis. The lesion may be mimicked by dosing with a toxicant for a limited period of time followed by quick recovery of the testis, as has been observed in rats administered 2-methoxyethanol in drinking water (NTP, 1993a). However, this is the only instance in the history of the NTP where continued exposure to a chemical has apparently caused stops and starts in spermatogenesis.

In order to further analyze the reproductive toxic effects in mice, a continuous breeding study of phenolphthalein was conducted in Swiss (CD-1®) mice according to a protocol previously described (Lamb, 1985; Heindel et al., 1989). In this study, male and female mice were given 1,000, 7,000, or 30,000 ppm phenolphthalein in feed for a 98-day cohabitation period, and fertility during this period was assessed (Appendix N; NTP, 1991). Phenolphthalein caused lower fertility in the 7,000 and 30,000 ppm groups. Overall, the mean numbers of litters per pair in the 7,000 and 30,000 ppm groups were 24% and 50% lower than in the controls. The numbers of live pups per litter in these groups were 58% and 59% lower than in the controls. There was also postnatal toxicity in the F₁ generation, as indicated by a 30% to 71% lower survival than that of the controls (all of the deaths occurred during the first 4 days of life).

Phenolphthalein can cross the placental barrier in mice (strain not specified) (Visek et al., 1956). The lower survival in the F_1 generation observed in this continuous breeding study in Swiss (CD-1®) mice may be attributed to effects to the developing fetus from in utero exposure, postnatal exposure via the milk, or from a combination of these exposures. No reproductive or teratogenic effects were observed in mice (strain not specified) exposed to 250 mg phenolphthalein/kg body weight per day in feed (Stockinger, 1965), but this study was conducted at lower doses than those used in the continuous breeding study. In the continuous breeding study, the exposure concentrations of 7,000 and 30,000 ppm were equivalent to daily doses of approximately 1,056 and 4,530 mg/kg, respectively.

In a crossover mating trial with Swiss (CD-1[®]) mice (control males mated to 7,000 ppm females or control females mated to 7,000 ppm males), it was found that the lower fertility, as measured by a lower number of pups born per litter, resulted from effects in the female mice. It should be noted that the 7,000 ppm male Swiss (CD-1[®]) mice exhibited approximately a 20% lower sperm count relative to the controls, but the lower sperm count did not affect fertility. The relationship between lower sperm counts and fertility in a number of species is an area of continuing investigation (Medical Research Council, 1995).

In summary, phenolphthalein produced significant reproductive toxicity in both Swiss (CD-1[®]) and B6C3F₁ mice as measured by lower epididymal weight and sperm density. Exposed female Swiss (CD-1[®]) mice mated to control male Swiss (CD-1[®]) mice had fewer than half the number of live pups per litter as controls.

The mechanism for the reproductive toxicity observed in mice (but not in rats) is not fully understood. Phenolphthalein contains a triphenylmethane structure, and this structure may act as a nonsteroidal estrogen agonist or antagonist through interaction with the estrogen receptor protein (Ravdin *et al.*, 1987). Studies by other groups are underway to assess whether or not environmental estrogenic compounds play a significant role in reproductive disorders in humans (Jobling *et al.*, 1995; Medical Research Council, 1995).

In the 2-year feed studies of phenolphthalein, there were no chemical-related effects on survival in male or female rats or male mice; there was marginally lower survival in the 12,000 ppm female mice. No chemical-related clinical signs were observed.

Mean body weights of exposed groups of rats were 5% to 10% lower than those of the controls during most of the study, but toward the end of the study, the body weight differences became more pronounced. The body weight differences in mice were less than those in rats.

Feed consumption by exposed groups was similar to that by the controls. Comparisons of doses based on body surface area are provided in Table 21. At the end of the 2-year study, organ toxicity and/or carcinogenic effects were observed in the adrenal gland of rats. These effects developed late in the study, and no toxicity was observed in these organs in the 13-week rat study.

The incidences of benign pheochromocytoma of the adrenal medulla were significantly increased in all groups of exposed male rats and in 12,000 ppm female rats. The incidences of benign pheochromocytoma in all groups of exposed male rats and in 12,000 and 25,000 ppm female rats exceeded the ranges in historical controls in NTP 2-year feed studies. The incidence of benign or malignant pheochromocytoma (combined) of the adrenal medulla in 12,000 and 25,000 ppm female rats was significantly greater than that of the controls and exceeded the range in historical controls in NTP 2-year feed In the NTP database of approximately studies. 450 chemicals. а chemical-induced neoplasm response is observed in the adrenal gland of rats two to three times more frequently than in mice. These increases in the incidences of pheochromocytoma of the adrenal medulla were considered to be related to exposure to phenolphthalein because the effect was observed in males and females, and in the groups cited above the neoplasm rates were greater than those of the concurrent and historical control rates. However, increased incidences were not observed in 50,000 ppm female rats.

The incidence of chronic nephropathy, which is common in aging rats (particularly males), was increased in exposed groups of female rats, and the severity of nephropathy was increased in exposed groups of male rats and slightly increased in exposed groups of female rats. In males, changes secondary to the exacerbated renal disease and indicative of compromised renal function (hyperplasia of the parathyroid gland, fibrous osteodystrophy of the bone, and mineralization and degeneration of the glandular stomach) were also increased, but not in a Additionally, there were dose-related manner. increases in the incidences of hyperplasia and neoplasms of the renal tubule epithelium. These lesions were confirmed by an extended evaluation of the kidneys. No mechanism by which these renal proliferative lesions developed was readily apparent, nor were these studies designed to determine a mechanism. One possible mode of action is consistent

	0 ppm	12,000 ppm	25,000 ppm	50,000 ppm
Male Rats				
Mean for Weeks 1-13				
(g feed/day)	16.3	16.2	17.0	16.6
(mg/kg per day)	0	789	1,714	3,375
(mg/m ² per day) ^a	0	4,102	8,912	17,550
Mean for Weeks 53-104				
(g feed/day)	14.4	15.3	15.9	15.8
(mg/kg per day)	0	434	953	1,880
Female Rats				
Mean for Weeks 1-13				
(g feed/day)	10.7	10.4	10.4	11.0
(mg/kg per day)	0	787	1,655	3,423
(mg/m ² per day)	0	4,092	8,603	17,799
Mean for Weeks 53-105				
(g feed/day)	11.4	11.3	11.4	11.8
(mg/kg per day)	0	477	1,013	2,125
	0 ppm	3,000 ppm	6,000 ppm	12,000 ppm
Male Mice				
Mean for Weeks 1-13				
(g feed/day)	4.3	4.3	4.4	4.2
(mg/kg per day)	0	453	940	1,802
(mg/m ² per day)	0	1,359	2,820	5,406
Mean for Weeks 53-104				
(g feed/day)	4.8	4.8	4.9	4.8
(mg/kg per day)	0	291	589	1,181
Female Mice				
Mean for Weeks 1-13				
(g feed/day)	5.1	4.9	5.3	5.1
(mg/kg per day)	0	651	1,407	2,640
(mg/m ² per day)	0	1,953	4,221	7,920
Mean for Weeks 53-105				
(g feed/day)	5.3	5.3	5.2	5.2
(mg/kg per day)	0	311	617	1,255

TABLE 21 Summary of Feed and Compound Consumption by Rats and Mice in the 2-Year Feed Studies of Phenolphthalein

^a Calculation for body surface area dose based on Freireich *et al.*, 1966; mg/m²=K_m × (dose in mg/kg), where K_m is 37 for humans, 5.2 for rats, and 3.0 for mice. (K_m is a conversion based on average height-to-body weight ratio.) Compound consumption values for humans=5 mg/kg and 185 mg/m².

with the theory of increased cell replication providing a "fertile ground" for increased mutation rates and neoplasm development. To a certain point, increased kidney damage is thought to increase the amount of renal tubule epithelial regeneration via cell replication. In one study, [³H]-thymidine labeling demonstrated increased levels of DNA synthesis to be directly proportional to increased severity of nephropathy in aging female F344/NCr rats (Konishi and Ward, 1989).

The findings in the male rat kidney are similar to those observed with other chemicals including quercetin (NTP, 1992), coumarin (NTP, 1993b), and 3,4-dihydrocoumarin (NTP, 1993c). With these chemicals, there was no evidence for toxicity to the kidney in the 13-week studies, but toward the end of the 2-year studies, the severity of nephropathy increased in male rats (and to a lesser extent in female rats), and there were a few kidney neoplasms in male rats. The greater sensitivity of the male rat to this kidney toxicity is apparently due to a greater susceptibility of male rats to spontaneous nephropathy during aging and the exacerbation of this disease by chemical administration. Changes in glomerular permeability, resulting in proteinuria, progressive glomerular sclerosis, tubule damage, inflammation, and interstitial fibrosis, are associated with the process of aging in rats.

There was a decrease in the incidence of mammary gland fibroadenomas in groups of exposed female rats. Previous studies have shown that decreases in the incidences of some naturally occurring benign neoplasms, such as mammary gland fibroadenoma, are associated with lower body weights relative to those of the controls (Rao *et al.*, 1987; Seilkop, 1995). The lower incidences of female rat mammary gland neoplasms in this study were also thought to be related to the lower body weights.

At the end of the 2-year mouse study, carcinogenic effects were observed in the hematopoietic system of males and females and the ovary of females. There were increases in the incidences of histiocytic sarcomas and malignant lymphomas of thymic origin in all exposed groups of male and female mice. These effects were clearly related to exposure to phenolphthalein. The incidences of histiocytic sarcoma in all groups of exposed male and female mice exceeded the ranges in historical controls in NTP 2-year feed studies. The incidences of malignant lymphoma (all types) in all exposed groups of female mice also exceeded the ranges in historical controls in NTP 2-year feed studies.

Chemical-associated increases in the incidences of histiocytic sarcoma are uncommon in NTP studies: however, increased incidences have been observed in the studies with 1,3-butadiene (NTP, 1984b, 1993d) (an increase in thymic lymphomas also occurred) and tetrafluoroethylene (NTP, 1996a). **Spontaneous** histiocytic sarcoma occurs two to three times more frequently in female mice than in male mice. Similarly, in the tetrafluoroethylene mouse study, incidences in groups of females were about twice those observed in groups of males. The reverse was true in the current study. Histiocytic sarcomas occur most commonly in the liver, but are often widespread and involve numerous tissues. In the current study, histiocytic sarcoma was identified in the liver of all but three mice diagnosed with histiocytic sarcoma. Histiocytic sarcomas are generally considered to arise from a macrophage/histiocyte including the specialized Kupffer cell of the liver, but definitive data relative to the site of origin are lacking. In studies where histiocytic sarcomas were transplanted, the local lesions generally remained small, while the liver became quite large (Frith et al., 1980). There is also evidence that many of these neoplasms produce excessive amounts of lysozyme, which can result in the accumulation of hyaline droplets in the proximal renal tubules as apparently occurred in the current study.

Exposure to phenolphthalein was associated with a clear increase in the incidence of malignant lymphoma (all types) in groups of exposed female mice. However, significant increased incidences of proliferative lymphocytic lesions that arose within the thymus were observed in both male and female mice. A number of classification schemes for malignant lymphomas (Dunn, 1954; Pattengale and Taylor, 1983; Wogan, 1984), primarily based upon histomorphology, have been proposed. However, it is often difficult to categorize consistently the various lymphomas. Further, as more is learned, it appears that there is little biological relevance for some of the classification schemes. Therefore, in most recent NTP studies, all lymphomas have been combined under the diagnosis of malignant lymphoma. However, under certain circumstances, subclassification of lymphomas may be necessary to better understand the effects associated with an administered agent. In the B6C3F₁ mouse, the vast majority of spontaneous lymphomas arise from within the spleen or lymph nodes and are of B-cell origin. Lymphomas of the T-cells are much less common, and lymphomas arising from the thymus are uncommon. With phenolphthalein, 1,3-butadiene, and 2',3'-dideoxycytidine (ddC) (Sanders et al., 1995), the lymphomas originated primarily in the thymus. In this study, many proliferative lesions (atypical hyperplasias and lymphomas) clearly arose within the thymus of exposed males and females. Lymphomas were considered of thymic origin when they were observed only in the thymus or in the thymus and metastatic only to other sites within the chest cavity. Additionally, there was an increase in the incidence of atypical hyperplasia of the thymus in exposed males and females. It was apparent that, in general, the proliferative lesions of the thymus represented a morphological continuum in which the latter stage is malignant lymphoma. While there is a high probability that the lesions diagnosed as lymphomas are malignant neoplasms, there is less certainty as to the biological behavior of the smaller lesions (atypical hyperplasia). These smaller proliferative lesions are at least pre-neoplastic lesions and at most an early lymphoma. Many of the mice in this study had advanced lymphoma involving multiple tissues and organs. In those mice, there was less confidence in determining the site of origin; however, because of the numerous thymic lesions observed in this study. it was expected that a number of those widespread lymphomas were of thymic origin. Proliferative lesions (atypical hyperplasia and malignant lymphoma) of the thymus in exposed males and females were considered related to phenolphthalein exposure.

Phenolphthalein, 1,3-butadiene, and ddC are genotoxic in *in vivo* tests, suggesting that genotoxicity may be a contributing factor to the observation of thymic lymphomas. However, further work is in progress to see if phenolphthalein accumulates in the thymus and to identify possible mechanisms. Although mutations that activate *ras* proto-oncogenes are common in thymic lymphomas induced by a number of environmental agents including *N*-methylnitrosurea (Warren *et al.*, 1990; Corominas *et al.*,

1991) and radiation (Janowski *et al.*, 1990), *ras* mutations have not been commonly observed in the ddC-induced thymic lymphomas (Wiseman *et al.*, 1994) and were observed in only 2 of 11 thymic lymphomas from mice exposed to 1,3-butadiene (Goodrow *et al.*, 1994). *Ras* mutations were more common in 1,3-butadiene-induced lung and liver tumors than in the 1,3-butadiene-induced thymic lymphomas examined (6/7 lung tumors had K-*ras* mutations; 3/7 liver tumors had K-*ras* mutations; and 4/7 liver tumors had H-*ras* mutations) (Goodrow *et al.*, 1994).

In mice, exposure to phenolphthalein increased the incidence of ovarian hyperplasia in 3,000 and 12,000 ppm females and ovarian neoplasms in all groups of female mice. Generally, ovarian neoplasms fall into three categories: 1) epithelial, 2) germ cell, or 3) sex-cord stromal (e.g., granulosa cell tumors and luteomas). In the B6C3F₁ mouse, ovarian neoplasms are uncommon; epithelial cell tumors are slightly more common than granulosa cell tumors in control females. The morphology of the proliferative lesions of the ovary in the female mice in this study was somewhat distinctive from those typically observed in controls. It was apparent that cells composing proliferative lesions were often luteinized and were of sex-cord stromal origin. However, it was uncertain if component cells were granulosa, thecal, interstitial, or a combination. Non-specific categorization of these ovarian neoplasms as sex-cord stromal reflects that uncertainty.

Ovarian tumors (granulosal and epithelial) have previously been reported in mice in NTP studies after administration of eight other chemicals: benzene (NTP, 1986a), 1,3-butadiene (NTP, 1984b, 1993d), (NTP. 1989a). *N*-methylolacrylamide 5-nitroacenaphthene (NCI, 1978), nitrofurantoin (NTP, 1989b), nitrofurazone (NTP, 1988), 4-vinylcyclohexene (NTP, 1986b), and 4-vinyl-1-cyclohexene diepoxide (NTP, 1989c). The mechanism for the induction of ovarian tumors with some of these chemicals may involve atrophy of the ovary and oocyte destruction followed by a subsequent decrease in estrogen production, which leads to a compensatory increase in pituitary gland gonadotropin release. The increased stimulation by gonadotropins is thought to stimulate cell proliferation in the ovary and to promote the eventual development of

In the current study, no atrophy was tumors. observed, and the tumors are not similar to the epithelial and granulosa cell tumors observed in the previous NTP studies. The observation that phenolphthalein interacts with estrogen receptors (Ravdin et al., 1987) may be one means by which this chemical stimulates cellular proliferation of the ovary. It has previously been demonstrated that estradiol can stimulate ovary cells to proliferate (including granulosa and theca cells) (Rao et al., 1978); phenolphthalein may mimic the action of this steroid hormone by interacting with estrogen receptors of ovary cells. Alternatively, phenolphthalein may act as an antiestrogen in the pituitary gland and lead to an increase in gonadotropin production.

No chemical-related ovarian tumors have been reported in rats in any of the NTP studies. In the phenolphthalein study in rats, there was no tumor response at this site. Therefore, in our model systems, the mouse is more sensitive to a chemicalinduced ovarian tumor response than the rat.

Cancer of the ovary is the fourth most common cancer in American women. There were an estimated 26,600 new cases diagnosed in 1995 and 14,500 deaths from this disease (SEER, 1995). In humans, approximately 80% of the ovarian tumors are of epithelial origin; other ovarian tumors may be of sex-cord stromal origin. Like many cancers, ovarian cancer is a disease of aging, with almost half of new cases occurring in women age 65 or older (SEER, 1995). In these mouse studies, ovarian effects were not observed in the 13-week study but developed toward the end of the 2-year study. The earliest occurrence of ovarian tumors in mice was noted on day 668. In this study, and in mice in general, the ovarian tumors were not fatal.

Environmental factors that might contribute to ovarian cancer in humans have not been identified. It is known that the rate for ovarian cancer in American women is two to three times higher than that for women in other parts of the world (Parkin *et al.*, 1993). It is not known if this difference in the ovarian cancer rate is due to environmental or genetic factors. Like phenolphthalein, which has been shown to bind competitively to the estrogen receptor in MCF-7 cells (Ravdin et al., 1987), other chemicals tested in the NTP bioassay have also been shown to interfere with estrogen binding at the estrogen receptor and to have mitogenic effects on breast cancer cells (Jobling et al., 1995). These include zearalenone (NTP. 1982a), 2,4-dichlorophenol (NTP, 1989d), and butyl benzyl phthalate (NTP, 1982b, 1996b). However, of these chemicals, only phenolphthalein was shown to cause ovarian neoplasms in mice. Thus, demonstration of a chemical-induced estrogenic response (as reported from in vitro and/or in vivo studies) does not necessarily correlate with ovarian neoplasm or mammary gland neoplasm response in the F344/N rat and B6C3F₁ mouse studies. Further, these NTP chemicals with estrogenic activity show different neoplasm patterns in other tissues. This suggests that phenolphthalein-induced neoplasms may be due to multiple factors, which might include specific metabolism and distribution of the chemical, estrogenic effects of the chemical, or genotoxic properties of the chemical.

Estrogenic activity is found with compounds having different chemical structures, including estradiol, zearalenone, coumestrol, o, p'-DDT, kepone, bisphenol A. and impurities in phenol red (Katzenellenbogen, 1995). More information is needed on the molecular details of the three-dimensional structure of the estrogen receptor and its interaction with ligands to understand how these varied chemicals interact with the receptor. Studies with phenol red (phenolsulfonphthalein) have shown that lipophilic impurities in this dye have more estrogenic activity than the parent compound (Bindal and Katzenellenbogen, 1988; Bindal et al., 1988), suggesting that the lipophilicity of chemicals is an important property in reaching or binding to the estrogen receptor.

The incidences of germinal epithelial degeneration of the testis in all exposed groups of male mice were significantly greater than that in the controls. The lesion varied from involvement of a few to all seminiferous tubules. Within the tubules, there was variable loss of sperm and germinal epithelial cells (spermatogonia, spermatocytes, and spermatids), often with only Sertoli cells remaining. In the most severe cases, the cross-sectional diameter of the testis was decreased. Although more severe, this lesion is consistent with that observed in the 13-week study.

There was an increased incidence of myelofibrosis of the bone marrow of 12,000 ppm male and female mice and an increased severity of this lesion in exposed female mice. This was characterized by focal to multifocal replacement of bone marrow elements by clusters of loosely arranged spindle cells. The finding that phenolphthalein affects the bone marrow cells of mice in both the 13-week and 2-year studies shows that, in both short-term and long-term exposures, the bone marrow is a target tissue. Fibro-osseous lesions are observed in the flat and long bones of a number of strains of mice as spontaneous and induced lesions, and these lesions are very common in female B6C3F₁ mice. Female sex hormones, especially estradiol, appear to play a major role in the spontaneous development of myelofibrosis. Estrogen has been reported to cause neutropenia, thrombocytopenia, decreased bone marrow cellularity, and increased incidences of splenic hematopoiesis in mice (Fried et al., 1974; Adler and Trobaugh, 1978). Witt et al. (1995) have also shown that phenolphthalein can induce micronuclei in bone marrow erythrocytes of mice. Micronuclei are formed from acentric chromosomal fragments or whole chromosomes generated through a variety of mechanisms such as mitotic loss of acentric fragments, mechanical consequences of chromosomal breakage and exchange events resulting in abnormal anaphase separation, or mitotic loss of whole chromosomes due to centromere or spindle failures. Because phenolphthalein induced chromosomal aberrations in cultured Chinese hamster ovary cells, induction of chromosomal breakage may be one of the mechanisms for the observed alterations in mouse bone marrow following exposure to phenolphthalein.

The decreases in the incidences of liver neoplasms and nonneoplastic lesions and the decreases in the incidences of proliferative lesions of the pituitary gland in female mice, the thyroid gland in female mice, and the tooth of male mice were considered to be chemical related. There was no indication that phenolphthalein caused an increase in the incidences of lesions of the colon or rectum in rats or mice. In one limited study conducted in Australia to identify risk factors for colorectal cancer in humans, there was no indication that phenolphthalein taken as a laxative caused any disease in the colon or rectum (Kune, 1993). This study did not examine the potential of phenolphthalein to cause toxic or carcinogenic effects at other sites.

After oral administration, phenolphthalein is absorbed by the small intestine and is conjugated in the liver to phenolphthalein glucuronide, which passes into the colon where it is deconjugated and the active compound, phenolphthalein, is released. In humans, the laxative response may occur after an oral dose of phenolphthalein or the phenolphthalein glucuronide (Anand *et al.*, 1994).

In the 2-year studies, the plasma concentrations of total phenolphthalein were similar for all exposure concentrations. There was no consistent difference in plasma concentrations of total phenolphthalein between males and females. The findings that the plasma concentrations of total phenolphthalein were approximately the same (approximately 100 to 200 μ g/mL plasma in rats and mice) for the exposure concentrations used in the 2-year studies may explain why dose-response increases in the incidences of kidney neoplasms in male rats, histiocytic sarcoma in male and female mice, malignant lymphoma in female mice, or ovarian neoplasms in female mice did not occur. However, in the single-dose toxicokinetic studies of phenolphthalein, the elimination half-lives in mice were approximately half those of rats (Appendix O; NTP, 1994).

The use of phenolphthalein as a laxative began early in the twentieth century (von Vámossy, 1908), and systematic studies of plasma concentrations of phenolphthalein or its metabolites in humans have not been reported in the literature.

Phenolphthalein was negative in the Salmonella mutagenicity assay with and without metabolic activation, but was positive in an *in vitro* chromosomal aberrations test conducted with S9 metabolic

activation. In conjunction with the 13-week feed study in mice, blood samples were analyzed at the end of study for the presence of micronucleated erythrocytes, and these were found to be significantly increased in male and female mice at exposure concentrations of 6,000 ppm phenolphthalein or higher (Witt *et al.*, 1995). In feed studies in Swiss (CD-1[®]) mice, phenolphthalein was found to increase the frequency of micronucleated erythrocytes in mice receiving 1,000 ppm phenolphthalein in feed for 14 weeks (Witt *et al.*, 1995).

Metabolism appears to be needed for genotoxicity with phenolphthalein. This hypothesis is supported by the requirement for S9 metabolic activation enzymes for the positive response in the chromosomal aberrations test in cultured Chinese hamster However, the predominant type of ovary cells. chromosomal damage observed in cultured Chinese hamster ovary cells treated with phenolphthalein was X chromosome breakage, a phenomenon that is not well understood, has been noted with only a few chemicals, and is only observed in cell cultures treated in the presence of S9. Therefore, the significance of the cultured Chinese hamster ovary cell results to interpretation of the in vivo responses is It is possible that the genetic damage unclear. induced by phenolphthalein is limited to chromosomal breakage (phenolphthalein, if converted to a quinoid, induces free oxygen radicals) and that point mutations and/or small deletions, such as are detected in the Salmonella assay, as well as other types of genetic damage, are not induced. For example, phenolphthalein did not induce sister chromatid exchanges in cultured Chinese hamster ovary cells with or without S9. It is unusual for a chemical to induce chromosomal aberrations but not sister chromatid exchanges in cultured Chinese hamster ovary cells, and this pattern of activity further supports the specificity of genetic damage induced by phenolphthalein.

In summary, phenolphthalein caused toxicity to the reproductive system of male and female mice. Phenolphthalein also caused neoplasms and nonneoplastic lesions in various tissues and organs in rats and mice (Tables 24 and 25). The mechanisms for these effects are not known; however, phenolphthalein has been shown to have estrogenic activity in vitro (Ravdin et al., 1987) and in vivo (Nieto et al., 1990) and genotoxic activity in vivo (Witt et al., 1995). As is shown in Figure 1, phenolphthalein is capable of being converted to a quinoid structure. Quinoids are highly reactive chemicals capable of reacting with sulfhydryl groups and amino groups and forming oxygen free radicals (Brunmark and Cadenas, 1989; Degen and Metzler, 1989; Thompson et al., 1990). It is not known at what specific sites in the cell these reactions might occur. Specific microenvironment conditions (e.g., pH) might be conducive to the formation of the phenolphthalein quinoid. Multiple mechanisms may be involved in causing the toxic/carcinogenic responses to phenolphthalein in the rodent.

CONCLUSIONS

Under the conditions of these 2-year feed studies, there was clear evidence of carcinogenic activity* of phenolphthalein in male F344/N rats based on markincreased incidences of benign pheoedly chromocytomas of the adrenal medulla and of renal tubule adenomas and adenomas or carcinomas (combined). There was some evidence of carcinogenic activity of phenolphthalein in female F344/N rats based on the increased incidences of benign pheochromocytomas of the adrenal medulla in the 12,000 ppm group and of benign or malignant pheochromocytomas (combined) in the 12,000 and 25,000 ppm groups. There was clear evidence of carcinogenic activity of phenolphthalein in male B6C3F₁ mice based on increased incidences of histiocytic sarcomas and of malignant lymphomas of thymic origin. There was clear evidence of carcinogenic activity of phenolphthalein in female B6C3F₁ mice based on increased incidences of histiocytic sarcomas, malignant lymphomas of all types, lymphomas of thymic origin, and benign sex-cord stromal tumors of the ovary.

Exposure of rats to phenolphthalein in feed for 2 years resulted in increased incidences of focal hyperplasia of the adrenal medulla in males and in increased incidences and/or severity of nephropathy of the kidney in males and females. Exposure of mice to phenolphthalein in feed for 2 years resulted

Discussion and Conclusions

in increased incidences of atypical hyperplasia of the thymus in males and females, degeneration of the germinal epithelium of the testis in males, and ovarian hyperplasia in females. Exposure of mice to phenolphthalein in feed for 2 years resulted in decreased incidences of hepatocellular neoplasms and nonneoplastic lesions in males and females.

^{*} Explanation of Levels of Evidence of Carcinogenic Activity is on page 12. A summary of the Technical Reports Review Subcommittee comments and the public discussion on this Technical Report appears on page 14.

÷

REFERENCES

Abel, J.J., and Rowntree, L.G. (1909). On the pharmacological action of some phthaleins and their derivatives, with especial reference to their behavior as purgatives. I. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 1, 231-264.

Adamič, Š., and Bihler, I. (1967). Inhibition of intestinal sugar transport by phenolphthalein. *Mol. Pharmacol.* **3**, 188-194.

Adler, S.S., and Trobaugh, E.E. (1978). Effects of estrogen on erythropoiesis and granuloid progenitor cell (CFU-C) proliferation in mice. J. Lab. Clin. Med. 91, 960-968.

American Hospital Formulary Service (AHFS) (1995). AHFS Drug Information *95 (G.K. McEvoy, Ed.), pp. 1986-1995. American Society of Health-System Pharmacists, Bethesda, MD.

Anand, B.S., Torres, E., Operkun, A., and Graham, D.Y. (1994). Comparative assessment of phenolphthalein and phenolphthalein glucuronide: Is phenolphthalein a better laxative? *Aliment. Pharmacol. Ther.* **8**, 559-562.

Armitage, P. (1971). Statistical Methods in Medical Research, pp. 362-365. John Wiley and Sons, Inc., New York.

Ashby, J., and Tennant, R.W. (1991). Definitive relationships among chemical structure, carcinogenicity, and mutagenicity for 301 chemicals tested by the U.S. NTP. *Mutat. Res.* 257, 229-306.

Autore, G., Capasso, F., and Mascolo, N. (1984). Phenolphthalein stimulates the formation of histamine, 5-hydroxytryptamine and prostaglandinlike material by rat jejunum, ileum and colon. *Br. J. Pharmacol.* 81, 347-349.

Autore, G., Mascolo, N., and Capasso, F. (1990). Kinins and the laxative effect of phenolphthalein. *Pharmacol. Res.* 22 (Suppl. 1), 105-106. Ayass, M., Bussing R., and Mehta, P. (1993). Munchausen syndrome presenting as hemophilia: A convenient and economical "steal" of disease and treatment. *Pediatr. Hematol. Oncol.* **10**, 241-244.

Barsoum, N.J., Hanna, W., Gough, A.W., Smith, G.S., Sturgess, J.M., and de la Iglesia, F.A. (1984). Histiocytic sarcoma in Wistar rats. Arch. Pathol. Lab. Med. 108, 802-807.

Bergan, T., Fotland, M.H., and Sund, R.B. (1982). Interaction between diphenolic laxatives and intestinal bacteria *in vitro*. Acta Pharmacol. Toxicol. (Copenh.) **51**, 165-172.

Beubler, E., and Juan, H. (1978). PGE-mediated laxative effect of diphenolic laxatives. *Naunyn-Schmiedebergs Arch. Pharmacol.* 305, 241-246.

B i n d a l, R. D., C a r l s o n, K. E., Katzenellenbogen, B.S., and Katzenellenbogen, J.A. (1988). Lipophilic impurities, not phenolsulfonphthalein, account for the estrogenic activity in commercial preparations of phenol red. J. Steroid Biochem. 31, 287-293.

Bindal, R.D., and Katzenellenbogen, J.A. (1988). Bis(4-hydroxyphenyl)[2-(phenoxysulfonyl)phenyl]methane: Isolation and structure elucidation of a novel estrogen from commercial preparations of phenol red (phenolsulfonphthalein). J. Med. Chem. 31, 1978-1983.

Binder, H.J. (1977). Pharmacology of laxatives. Ann. Rev. Pharmacol. Toxicol. 17, 355-367.

Binder, H.J., and Donowitz, M. (1975). A new look at laxative action. *Gastroenterology* 69, 1001-1005.

Bitman, J., and Cecil, H.C. (1970). Estrogenic activity of DDT analogs and polychlorinated biphenyls. J. Agric. Food Chem. 18, 1108-1112.

Bo-Linn, G.W., Santa Ana, C.A., Morawski, S.G., and Fordtran, J.S. (1983). Purging and calorie absorption in bulimic patients and normal women. *Ann. Intern. Med.* **99**, 14-17.

Bonin, A.M., Farquharson, J.B., and Baker, R.S.U. (1981). Mutagenicity of arylmethane dyes in Salmonella. *Mutat. Res.* 89, 21-34.

Boorman, G.A., Montgomery, C.A., Jr., Eustis, S.L., Wolfe, M.J., McConnell, E.E., and Hardisty, J.F. (1985). Quality assurance in pathology for rodent carcinogenicity studies. In Handbook of Carcinogen Testing (H.A. Milman and E.K. Weisburger, Eds.), pp. 345-357. Noyes Publications, Park Ridge, NJ.

Brunmark, A., and Cadenas, E. (1989). Redox and addition chemistry of quinoid compounds and its biological implications. *Free Radic. Biol. Med.* 7, 435-477.

Bytzer, P., Stokholm, M., Andersen, I., Klitgaard, N.A., and Schaffalitzky de Muckadell, O.B. (1989). Prevalence of surreptitious laxative abuse in patients with diarrhoea of uncertain origin: A cost benefit analysis of a screening procedure. *Gut* **30**, 1379-1384.

Capasso, F., Mascolo, N., Autore, G., and Duraccio, M.R. (1984). Suppression of laxative action of phenolphthalein by orally-administered indomethacin or aspirin. J. Pharm. Pharmacol. 36, 132-133.

Capasso, F., Tavares, I.A., Tsang, R., Rennie, J.A., and Bennett, A. (1987). Eicosanoid formation by mammalian intestine. Effects of some intestinal secretagogues. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* **138**, 107.

Capasso, F., Mascolo, N., Romano, V., Parkinson, N., and Bennett, A. (1988). Potentiation by phenolphthalein of the responses of guinea-pig ileum and rat stomach strip to PGE_2 and other agonists. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* **145**, 1-5.

Chemical Economics Handbook (1992). Phthalic anhydride. 687.5001A.

Chignell, C.F. (1968). The effect of phenolphthalein and other purgative drugs on rat intestinal $(Na^+ + K^+)$ adenosine triphosphatase. *Biochem. Pharmacol.* 17, 1207-1212.

Cleves, M. (1932). Poisoning by Exlax tablets. J. Amer. Med. Assoc. 99, 654.

Code of Federal Regulations (CFR) 21, Part 58.

Cohen, M.M. (1982). The effect of cathartics on prostaglandin synthesis by rat gastro-intestinal tract. *Prostaglandins Leukot. Med.* **8**, 389-397.

Colburn, W.A., Hirom, P.C., Parker, R.J., and Milburn, P. (1979). A pharmacokinetic model for enterohepatic recirculation in the rat: Phenolphthalein, a model drug. *Drug Metab. Dispos.* 7, 100-102.

Connell, A.M., Hilton, C., Irvine, G., Lennard-Jones, J.E., and Misiewicz, J.J. (1965). Variation of bowel habit in two population samples. *Br. Med. J.* 2, 1095-1099.

Conover, W.J. (1971). *Practical Nonparametric Statistics*. John Wiley and Sons, Inc., New York.

Cooke, W.T. (1977). Laxative abuse. Clin. Gastroenterol. 6, 659-673.

Copeland, P.M. (1994). Renal failure associated with laxative abuse. *Psychother. Psychosom.* **62**, 200-202.

Corominas, M., Perucho, M., Newcomb, E.W., and Pellicer, A. (1991) Differential expression of the normal and mutated K-ras alleles in chemically induced thymic lymphomas. *Cancer Res.* 51, 5129-5133.

Cox, D.R. (1972). Regression models and lifetables. J. R. Stat. Soc. B34, 187-220.

Crawford, B.D. (1985). Perspectives on the somatic mutation model of carcinogenesis. In Advances in Modern Environmental Toxicology: Mechanisms and Toxicity of Chemical Carcinogens and Mutagens (M.A. Mehlman, W.G. Flamm, and R.J. Lorentzen, Eds.), pp. 13-59. Princeton Scientific Publishing Co. Inc., Princeton, NJ.

References

Cummings, J.H. (1974). Laxative abuse. Gut 15, 758-766.

Cummings, J.H., Sladen, G.E., James, O.F.W., Sarner, M., and Misiewicz, J.J. (1974). Laxative-induced diarrhoea: A continuing clinical problem. *Br. Med. J.* 1, 537-541.

Curry, C.E., Jr. (1990). Laxative products. In *Handbook of Nonprescription Drugs*, 9th ed., pp. 360-365. American Pharmaceutical Association, Washington, DC.

Davies, D.M., Ed. (1985). *Textbook of Adverse Drug Reactions*. 3rd ed., pp. 110, 121, and 475-479. Oxford University Press, New York.

Degen, G.H., and Metzler, M. (1989). Indanyl analogs of diethylstilbestrol: Differential interaction with prostaglandin H synthase. *Carcinogenesis* 10, 839-845.

Dent, O.F., Goulston, K.J., Zubrzycki, J., and Chapuis, P.H. (1986). Bowel symptoms in an apparently well population. *Dis. Colon Rectum* **29**, 243-247.

Devore, C.D., Ulshen, M.H., and Cross, R.E. (1982). Phenolphthalein laxatives and factitious diarrhea. *Clin. Pediat. (Phila.)* **21**, 573-574.

Dietz, D.D., Elwell, M.R., Chapin, R.E., Shelby, M.D., Thompson, M.B., Filler, R., and Stedham, M.A. (1992). Subchronic (13-week) toxicity studies of oral phenolphthalein in Fischer 344 rats and $B_6C_3F_1$ mice. *Fundam. Appl. Toxicol.* 18, 48-58.

Dinse, G.E., and Haseman, J.K. (1986). Logistic regression analysis of incidental-tumor data from animal carcinogenicity experiments. *Fundam. Appl. Toxicol.* 6, 44-52.

Dinse, G.E., and Lagakos, S.W. (1983). Regression analysis of tumour prevalence data. *Appl. Statist.* **32**, 236-248.

Dixon, W.J., and Massey, F.J., Jr. (1951). Introduction to Statistical Analysis, 1st ed., pp. 145-147. McGraw-Hill Book Company, Inc., New York. Dunn, O.J. (1964). Multiple comparisons using rank sums. *Technometrics* 6, 241-252.

Dunn, T.B. (1954). Normal and pathological anatomy of the reticular tissue in laboratory mice, with a classification and discussion of neoplasms. J. Natl. Cancer Inst. 14, 1281-1433.

Dunnett, C.W. (1955). A multiple comparison procedure for comparing several treatments with a control. J. Am. Stat. Assoc. 50, 1096-1121.

Fairburn, C.G., and Cooper, P.J. (1984). Bingeeating, self-induced vomiting and laxative abuse: A community study. *Psychol. Med.* 14, 401-410.

Fantus, B., and Dyniewicz, J.M. (1937). Phenolphthalein studies. A thousand doses of phenolphthalein: Urinalyses. *JAMA* **108**, 439-443.

Federal Register (1975). Food and Drug Administration Over-The-Counter Drugs. Proposal to establish monographs for OTC laxative, antidiarrheal, emetic and antiemetic products. Vol. 40, pp. 12,901-12,944.

Fleischer, N., Brown, H., Graham, D.Y., and Deleña, S. (1969). Chronic laxative-induced hyperaldosteronism and hypokalemia simulating Bartter's syndrome. *Ann. Intern. Med.* **70**, 791-798.

Fleisher, D., and Ament, M.E. (1977). Diarrhea, red diapers, and child abuse. *Clin. Pediatr.* 17, 820-824.

Freireich, E.J., Gehan, E.A., Rall, D.P., Schmidt, L.H., and Skipper, H.E. (1966) Quantitative comparison of toxicity of anticancer agents in mouse, rat, hamster, dog, monkey, and man. *Cancer Chemother. Rep.* **50**, 219-244.

Fried, W., Tichler, T., Dennenberg, I., Barone, J., and Wang, F. (1974). Effects of estrogens on hematopoietic stem cells and on hematopoiesis of mice. J. Lab. Clin. Med. 83, 807-815.

Frith, C.H., Davis, T.M., Zolotor, L.A., and Townsend, J.W. (1980). Histiocytic lymphoma in the mouse. *Leuk. Res.* 4, 651-662.

Fujita, H., Mizuo, A., and Hiraga, K. (1976). Mutagenicity of dyes in the microbiol system. *Annu. Rep. Tokyo Metr. Res. Lab. P.H.* 27, 153-158.

Gaginella, T.S., and Bass, P. (1978). Laxatives: An update on mechanism of action. *Life Sci.* 23, 1001-1010.

Galloway, S.M., Armstrong, M.J., Reuben, C., Colman, S., Brown, B., Cannon, C., Bloom, A.D., Nakamura, F., Ahmed, M., Duk, S., Rimpo, J., Margolin, B.H., Resnick, M.A., Anderson, B., and Zeiger, E. (1987). Chromosome aberrations and sister chromatid exchanges in Chinese hamster ovary cells: Evaluations of 108 chemicals. *Environ. Mol. Mutagen.* **10** (Suppl. 10), 1-175.

Gart, J.J., Chu, K.C., and Tarone, R.E. (1979). Statistical issues in interpretation of chronic bioassay tests for carcinogenicity. *J. Natl. Cancer Inst.* **62**, 957-974.

Goodman and Gilman's The Pharmacological Basis of Therapeutics (1990). 8th ed. (A.G. Gilman, T.W. Rall, A.S. Nies, and P. Taylor, Eds.) pp. 920-924. Pergamon Press, Inc., New York.

Goodrow, T.L., Nichols, W.W., Storer, R.D., Anderson, M.W., and Maronpot, R.R. (1994). Activation of H-*ras* is prevalent in 1,3-butadieneinduced and spontaneously occurring murine Harderian gland tumors. *Carcinogenesis* 15, 2665-2667.

Haddow, A., and Horning, E.S. (1960). On the carcinogenicity of an iron-dextran complex. J. Natl. Cancer Inst. 24, 109-147.

Halmi, K.A., Falk, J.R., and Schwartz, E. (1981). Binge-eating and vomiting: A survey of a college population. *Psychol. Med.* **11**, 697-706.

Hard, G.C., and Snowden, R.T. (1991). Hyaline droplet accumulation in rodent kidney proximal tubules: An association with histiocytic sarcoma. *Toxicol. Pathol.* **19**, 88-97.

Hart, S.L., and McColl, I. (1967). The effect of purgative drugs on the intestinal absorption of drugs. *J. Pharm. Pharmacol.* **19**, 70-71.

Haseman, J.K. (1984). Statistical issues in the design, analysis and interpretation of animal carcinogenicity studies. *Environ. Health Perspect.* 58, 385-392.

Haseman, J.K., Huff, J., and Boorman, G.A. (1984). Use of historical control data in carcinogenicity studies in rodents. *Toxicol. Pathol.* **12**, 126-135.

Haseman, J.K., Huff, J.E., Rao, G.N., Arnold, J.E., Boorman, G.A., and McConnell, E.E. (1985). Neoplasms observed in untreated and corn oil gavage control groups of F344/N rats and (C57BL/6N \times C3H/HeN)F₁ (B6C3F₁) mice. JNCI 75, 975-984.

Heindel, J.J., Lamb, J.C., IV, Chapin, R.E., Gulati D.K., Hope, E., George, J., Jameson, C.W., Teague, J., and Schwetz, B.A. (1989). Reproductive toxicity testing by continuous breeding: Test protocol in Swiss (CD-1) mice. NTIS No. PB89152425/AS. National Technical Information Service, Springfield, VA.

Heizer, W.D., Warshaw, A.L., Waldmann, T.A., and Laster, L. (1968). Protein-losing gastroenteropathy and malabsorption associated with factitious diarrhea. *Ann. Intern. Med.* 68, 893-852.

Hollander, M., and Wolfe, D.A. (1973). Nonparametric Statistical Methods, pp. 120-123. John Wiley and Sons, New York.

Hubacher, M.H. (1945). Solubility, density and melting point of phenolphthalein. J. Am. Pharm. Assoc. 34, 76-78.

Janowski, M., Cox, R., and Strauss, P.G. (1990). The molecular biology of radiation-induced carcinogenesis: Thymic lymphoma, myeloid leukemia and osteosarcoma. *Int. J. Radiat. Biol.* 57, 677-91.

Jobling, S., Reynolds, T., White, R., Parker, M.G., and Sumpter, J.P. (1995). A variety of environmentally persistent chemicals, including some phthalate plasticizers, are weakly estrogenic. *Environ. Health Perspect.* **103**, 582-587.

Johnson, C.L., Stuckey, M.K., Lewis, L.D., and Schwartz, D.M. (1982). Bulimia: A descriptive survey of 316 cases. *Int. J. Eating Disord.* 2, 3-16.

References

Jonckheere, A.R. (1954). A distribution-free k-sample test against ordered alternatives. *Biometrika* **41**, 133-145.

Jondorf, W.R., Maickel, R.P., and Brodie, B.B. (1958). Inability of newborn mice and guinea pigs to metabolize drugs. *Biochem. Pharmacol.* 1, 352-354.

Kada T., Tutikawa, K., and Sadaie, Y. (1972). *In vitro* and host-mediated "rec-assay" procedures for screening chemical mutagens; and phloxine, a mutagenic red dye detected. *Mutat. Res.* 16, 165-174.

Kaplan, E.L., and Meier, P. (1958). Nonparametric estimation from incomplete observations. J. Am. Stat. Assoc. 53, 457-481.

Kar, P.K., Dutta, R.K., and Shah, B.H. (1986). Toxic epidermal necrolysis in a patient induced by phenolphthalein. J. Indian Med. Assoc. 84, 189-190, 193.

Katzenellenbogen, J.A. (1995). The structural pervasiveness of estrogenic activity. *Environ. Health Perspect.* **103**, 99-101.

Kendall, A.C. (1954). Fatal case of encephalitis after phenolphthalein ingestion. Br. Med. J. 2, 1461.

Konishi, N., and Ward, J.M. (1989). Increased levels of DNA synthesis in hyperplastic renal tubules of aging nephropathy in female F344/NCr rats. *Vet. Pathol.* **26**, 6-10.

Kruskal, W.H., and Wallis, W.A. (1952). Use of ranks in one-criterion variance analysis. J. Am. Stat. Assoc. 47, 583-621.

Kune, G.A. (1993). Laxative use not a risk for colorectal cancer: Data from the Melbourne-colorectal-cancer-study. Z. Gastroenterol. 31, 140-143.

Lamb, J.C., IV. (1985). Reproductive toxicity testing: Evaluating and developing new testing systems. J. Amer. Coll. Toxicol. 4, 163-171.

Lambrianides, A.L., and Rosin, R.D. (1984). Acute pancreatitis complicating excessive intake of phenolphthalein. *Postgrad. Med. J.* **60**, 491-492.

LaRusso, N.F., and McGill, D.B. (1975). Surreptitious laxative ingestion. *Mayo Clin. Proc.* 50, 706-708.

Loewe, S., and Hubacher, M. (1941). Laxative activity of compounds of the diphenylmethane group in the rhesus monkey. *Arch. Int. Pharmacodyn.* **65**, 297-312.

Lucier, G.W., and McDaniel, O.S. (1977). Steroid and non-steroid UDP glucuronyltransferase: Glucuronidation of synthetic estrogens as steroids. J. Steroid Biochem. 8, 867-872.

Luz, A., and Murray, A.B. (1991). Hyaline droplet accumulation in kidney proximal tubules of mice with histiocytic sarcoma. *Toxicol. Pathol.* **19**, 670-671.

McConnell, E.E., Solleveld, H.A., Swenberg, J.A., and Boorman, G.A. (1986). Guidelines for combining neoplasms for evaluation of rodent carcinogenesis studies. *JNCI* 76, 283-289.

MacGregor, J.T., Wehr, C.M., and Langlois, R.G. (1983). A simple fluorescent staining procedure for micronuclei and RNA in erythrocytes using Hoescht 33258 and pyronin Y. *Mutat. Res.* **120**, 269-275.

McKnight, B., and Crowley, J. (1984). Tests for differences in tumor incidence based on animal carcinogenesis experiments. J. Am. Stat. Assoc. 79, 639-648.

Maronpot, R.R., and Boorman, G.A. (1982). Interpretation of rodent hepatocellular proliferative alterations and hepatocellular tumors in chemical safety assessment. *Toxicol. Pathol.* **10**, 71-80.

Meadow, R. (1977). Munchausen syndrome by proxy: The hinterland of child abuse. *Lancet* 2, 343-345.

Medical Research Council (1995). IEH Assessment on Environmental Oestrogens: Consequences to Human Health and Wildlife. Institute for Environment and Health, Leicester University, Leicester, UK.

Mehendale, H.M. (1990). Assessment of hepatobiliary function with phenolphthalein and phenolphthalein glucuronide. *Clin. Chem. Enzyme Commun.* **2**, 195-204.

The Merck Index (1989). 11th ed. (S. Budavari, Ed.), pp. 1150-1151, and 1593-1594, Merck and Company, Rahway, NJ.

Millburn, P., Smith, R.L., and Williams, R.T. (1967). Biliary excretion of foreign compounds. Biphenyl, stilboestrol and phenolphthalein in the rat: Molecular weight, polarity and metabolism as factors in biliary excretion. *Biochem. J.* 105, 1275-1281.

Miller, J.A., and Miller, E.C. (1977). Ultimate chemical carcinogens as reactive mutagenic electrophiles. In *Origins of Human Cancer* (H.H. Hiatt, J.D. Watson, and J.A. Winsten, Eds.), pp. 605-627. Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory, Cold Spring Harbor, NY.

Mitchell, J.E., Pyle, R.L., Eckert, E.D., Hatsukami, D., and Lentz, R. (1983). Electrolyte and other physiological abnormalities in patients with bulimia. *Psychol. Med.* 14, 273-278.

Miller, Morrison, D.F. (1976). Multivariate Statistical Methods, 2nd. ed., pp. 170-179. McGraw-Hill Book Company, New York.

Morrison, R.T., and Boyd, R.N., Eds. (1966). Reactions of cyclic anhydrides. In Organic Chemistry, 2nd. ed. pp. 915. Allyn and Bacon, Inc., Boston.

Mortelmans, K., Haworth, S., Lawlor, T., Speck, W., Tainer, B., and Zeiger, E. (1986). Salmonella mutagenicity tests: II. Results from the testing of 270 chemicals. *Environ. Mutagen.* 8 (Suppl. 7), 1-119.

Mrvos, R., Swanson-Biearman, B., Dean, B.S., and Krenzelok, E.P. (1991). Acute phenolphthalein ingestion in children. A retrospective review. J. Pediatr. Health Care 5, 147-151.

National Cancer Institute (NCI) (1976). Guidelines for Carcinogen Bioassay in Small Rodents. Technical Report Series No. 1. NIH Publication No. 76-801. U.S. Department of Health, Education, and Welfare, Public Health Service, National Institutes of Health, Bethesda, MD. National Cancer Institute (NCI) (1978). Bioassay of 5-Nitroacenaphthene for Possible Carcinogenicity (CAS No. 602-87-9). Technical Report Series No. 118. NIH Publication No. 78-1373. U.S. Department of Health, Education, and Welfare, Public Health Service, National Institutes of Health, Bethesda, MD.

National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health (NIOSH) (1990). National Occupational Exposure Survey (1981-1983), unpublished provisional data as of July 1, 1990. NIOSH, Cincinnati, OH.

National Institutes of Health (NIH) (1978). Open Formula Rat and Mouse Ration (NIH-07). Specification NIH-11-1335. U.S. Department of Health, Education, and Welfare, Public Health Service, National Institutes of Health, Bethesda, MD.

National Toxicology Program (NTP) (1982a). Carcinogenesis Bioassay of Zearalenone (CAS No. 17924-92-4) in F344/N Rats and B6C3F₁ Mice (Feed Study). Technical Report Series No. 235. NIH Publication No. 83-1791. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Public Health Service, National Institutes of Health, Research Triangle Park, NC, and Bethesda, MD.

National Toxicology Program (NTP) (1982b). Carcinogenesis Bioassay of Butyl Benzyl Phthalate (CAS No. 85-68-7) In F344/N Rats and B6C3F₁ Mice (Feed Study). Technical Report Series No. 213. NIH Publication No. 82-1769. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Public Health Service, National Institutes of Health, Research Triangle Park, NC, and Bethesda, MD.

National Toxicology Program (NTP) (1984a). Technical Protocol for Sperm Morphology and Vaginal Cytology Evaluations in Toxicity Testing for Rats and Mice, 10/31/82 version (updated July 1984). Research Triangle Park, NC.

National Toxicology Program (NTP) (1984b). Toxicology and Carcinogenesis Studies of 1,3-Butadiene (CAS No. 106-99-0) in B6C3F₁ Mice (Inhalation Studies). Technical Report Series No. 288. NIH Publication No. 84-2544. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Public Health Service, National Institutes of Health, Research Triangle Park, NC.

References

National Toxicology Program (NTP) (1986a). Toxicology and Carcinogenesis Studies of Benzene (CAS No. 71-43-2) in F344/N Rats and B6C3F₁ Mice (Gavage Studies). Technical Report Series No. 289. NIH Publication No. 86-2545. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Public Health Service, National Institutes of Health, Research Triangle Park, NC.

National Toxicology Program (NTP) (1986b). Toxicology and Carcinogenesis Studies of 4-Vinylcyclohexene (CAS No. 100-40-3) in F344/N Rats and B6C3F₁ Mice (Gavage Studies). Technical Report Series No. 303. NIH Publication No. 86-2559. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Public Health Service, National Institutes of Health, Research Triangle Park, NC.

National Toxicology Program (NTP) (1988). Toxicology and Carcinogenesis Studies of Nitrofurazone (CAS No. 59-87-0) in F344/N Rats and B6C3F₁ Mice (Feed Studies). Technical Report Series No. 337. NIH Publication No. 88-2593. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Public Health Service, National Institutes of Health, Research Triangle Park, NC.

National Toxicology Program (NTP) (1989a). Toxicology and Carcinogenesis Studies of *N*-Methylolacrylamide (CAS No. 924-42-5) in F344/N Rats and B6C3F₁ Mice (Gavage Studies). Technical Report Series No. 352. NIH Publication No. 89-2807. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Public Health Service, National Institutes of Health, Research Triangle Park, NC.

National Toxicology Program (NTP) (1989b). Toxicology and Carcinogenesis Studies of Nitrofurantoin (CAS No. 67-20-9) in F344/N Rats and B6C3F₁ Mice (Feed Studies). Technical Report Series No. 341. NIH Publication No. 89-2597. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Public Health Service, National Institutes of Health, Research Triangle Park, NC.

National Toxicology Program (NTP) (1989c). Toxicology and Carcinogenesis Studies of 4-Vinyl-1-cyclohexene Diepoxide (CAS No. 106-87-6) in F344/N Rats and B6C3F₁ Mice (Dermal Studies). Technical Report Series No. 362. NIH Publication No. 90-2817. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Public Health Service, National Institutes of Health, Research Triangle Park, NC. National Toxicology Program (NTP) (1989d). Toxicology and Carcinogenesis Studies of 2,4-Dichlorophenol (CAS No. 120-83-2) in F344/N Rats and B6C3F₁ Mice (Feed Studies). Technical Report Series No. 353. NIH Publication No. 89-2808. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Public Health Service, National Institutes of Health, Research Triangle Park, NC.

National Toxicology Program (1991). Final Report on the Reproductive Toxicity of Phenolphthalein (CAS No. 77-09-8) in CD-1-Swiss Mice. Report No. T0196. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Public Health Service, National Institutes of Health, Research Triangle Park, NC.

National Toxicology Program (NTP) (1992). Toxicology and Carcinogenesis Studies of Quercetin (CAS No. 117-39-5) in F344/N Rats (Feed Studies). Technical Report Series No. 409. NIH Publication No. 92-3140. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Public Health Service, National Institutes of Health, Research Triangle Park, NC.

National Toxicology Program (NTP) (1993a). Toxicity Studies of Ethylene Glycol Ethers (CAS Nos. 109-86-4, 110-80-5, 111-76-2) Administered in Drinking Water to F344/N Rats and B6C3F₁ Mice. Toxicity Report Series No. 26. NIH Publication No. 93-3349. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Public Health Service, National Institutes of Health, Research Triangle Park, NC.

National Toxicology Program (NTP) (1993b). Toxicology and Carcinogenesis Studies of Coumarin (CAS No. 91-64-5) in F344/N Rats and $B6C3F_1$ Mice (Gavage Studies). Technical Report Series No. 422. NIH Publication No. 93-3153. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Public Health Service, National Institutes of Health, Research Triangle Park, NC.

National Toxicology Program (NTP) (1993c). Toxicology and Carcinogenesis Studies of 3,4-Dihydrocoumarin (CAS No. 119-84-6) in F344/N Rats and B6C3F₁ Mice (Gavage Studies). Technical Report Series No. 423. NIH Publication No. 93-3154. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Public Health Service, National Institutes of Health, Research Triangle Park, NC. National Toxicology Program (NTP) (1993d). Toxicology and Carcinogenesis Studies of 1,3-Butadiene (CAS No. 106-99-0) in B6C3F₁ Mice (Inhalation Studies). Technical Report Series No. 434. NIH Publication No. 93-3165. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Public Health Service, National Institutes of Health, Research Triangle Park, NC.

National Toxicology Program (NTP) (1994). Single Dose Toxicokinetic Studies of Phenolphthalein in Rodents Including Prestart Toxicokinetic Report. Report No. ML-NTP-302-93-105. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Public Health Service, National Institutes of Health, Research Triangle Park, NC.

National Toxicology Program (NTP) (1996a). Toxicology and Carcinogenesis Studies of Tetrafluoroethylene (CAS No. 116-14-3) in F344/N Rats and B6C3F₁ Mice (Inhalation Studies). Technical Report Series No. 450. NIH Publication No. 95-3366. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Public Health Service, National Institutes of Health, Research Triangle Park, NC. (In press).

National Toxicology Program (NTP) (1996b). Toxicology and Carcinogenesis Studies of Butyl Benzyl Phthalate (CAS No. 85-68-7) in F344/N Rats (Feed Studies). Technical Report Series No. 458. NIH Publication No. 95-3374. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Public Health Service, National Institutes of Health, Research Triangle Park, NC. (In press).

Neter, J., and Wasserman, W. (1974). Analysis of covariance for completely randomized designs. In *Applied Linear Statistical Models*, pp. 685-721. Richard D. Irwin, Inc., Homewood, IL.

Nieto, A., García, C., and López de Haro, M.S. (1990). *In vivo* estrogenic and antiestrogenic activity of phenolphthalein and derivative compounds. *Biochem. Int.* 21, 305-311.

Nishikawa, J. (1981). Effects of sodium picosulfate and other laxatives in cultured Chang cells. *Arzneimittelforschung* **31**, 1872-1875. Parker, R.J., Hirom, P.C., and Millburn, P. (1980). Enterohepatic recycling of phenolphthalein, morphine, lysergic acid diethylamide (LSD) and diphenylacetic acid in the rat. Hydrolysis of glucuronic acid conjugates in the gut lumen. *Xenobiotica* **10**, 689-703.

Parkin, D.M., Pisani, P., and Ferlay, J. (1993). Estimates of the worldwide incidence of eighteen major cancers in 1985. *Int. J. Cancer* 54, 594-606.

Pattengale, P.K., and Taylor, C.R. (1983). Experimental models of lymphoproliferative disease: The mouse as a model for human non-Hodgkin's lymphomas and related leukemias. *Am. J. Pathol.* **113**, 237-265.

Phillips, R.A., Love, A.H.G., Mitchell, T.G., and Neptune, E.M. (1965). Cathartics and the sodium pump. *Nature* **206**, 1367-1368.

Pietrusko, R.G. (1977). Use and abuse of laxatives. Am. J. Hosp. Pharm. 34, 291-300.

Pohl, A., and Lowe, J.P. (1978). Phenolphthalein poisoning — four cases. *Proc. Mine Med. Off.* Assoc. S.A. 57, 84-86.

Pyle, R.L., Mitchell, J.E., and Eckert, E.D. (1981). Bulimia: A report of 34 cases. J. Clin. Psychiatry 42, 60-64.

Rao, G.N., Piegorsch, W.W., and Haseman, J.K. (1987). Influence of body weight on the incidence of spontaneous tumors in rats and mice of long-term studies. *Am. J. Clin. Nutr.* **45**, 252-260.

Rao, M.C., Midgley, A.R., Jr., and Richards, J.S. (1978). Hormonal regulation of ovarian cellular proliferation. *Cell* 14, 71-78.

Ravdin, P.M., van Beurden, M., and Jordan, V.C. (1987). Estrogenic effects of phenolphthalein on human breast cancer cells *in vitro*. Breast Cancer Res. Treat. 9, 151-154.

Remington's Pharmaceutical Sciences (1990). 18th ed. (A.R. Gennaro, Ed.), p. 785. Mack Publishing Company, Easton, PA.

References

Rosenberg, D.A. (1987). Web of deceit: A literature review of Munchhausen's syndrome by proxy. *Child Abuse Neglect* **11**, 547-563.

Sadtler Standard Spectra. IR No. 8113. UV No. 2188. NMR No. 14709. Sadtler Research Laboratories, Philadelphia.

Sanders, V.M., Elwell, M.R., Heath, J.E., Collins, B.J., Dunnick, J.K., Rao, G.N., Prejean, D., Lindamood, C., III, and Irwin, R.D. (1995). Induction of thymic lymphoma in mice administered the dideoxynucleoside ddC. *Fundam. Appl. Toxicol.* **27**, 263-269.

Sarcinelli, L., Signore, L., and Malizia, E. (1970). Lethal phenolphthalein poisoning in a child. *Proc. Eur. Soc. Stud. Drug Tox.* **50**, 261.

Saunders, D.R., Sillery, J., Surawica, C., and Tytgat, G.N. (1978). Effect of phenolphthalein on the function and structure of rodent and human intestine. *Dig. Dis.* 23, 909-913.

Sax's Dangerous Properties of Industrial Materials (1992). 8th ed. (R.J. Lewis, Ed.), p. 2730. Van Nostrand Reinhold, New York.

Schmid, W. (1976). The micronucleus test for cytogenetic analysis. In *Chemical Mutagens: Principles and Methods for their Detection* (A. Hollaender, Ed.), Vol. 4, pp. 31-53. Plenum Press, New York.

Seilkop, S.K. (1995). The effect of body weight on tumor incidence and carcinogenicity testing in $B6C3F_1$ mice and F344 rats. *Fundam. Appl. Toxicol.* 24, 247-259.

Sharaiha, Z.K., Sackman, J.W., and Graham, D.Y. (1983). Comparison of phenolphthalein and phenolphthalein glucuronide on net water transport in rat ileum and colon. *Dig. Dis. Sci.* 28, 827-832.

Shelley, W.B., Schlappner, O.L.A., and Heiss, H.B. (1972). Demonstration of intercellular immuno-fluorescence and epidermal hysteresis in bullous fixed drug eruption due to phenolphthalein. *Br. J. Dermatol.* **86**, 188-125.

Shirley, E. (1977). A non-parametric equivalent of Williams' test for contrasting increasing dose levels of a treatment. *Biometrics* 33, 386-389.

Sidhu, P.S., Wilkinson, M.L., Sladen, G.E., Filipe, M.I., and Toseland, P.A. (1989). Fatal phenolphthalein poisoning with fulminant hepatic failure and disseminated intravascular coagulation. *Hum. Toxicol.* **8**, 381-384.

Steigmann, F., Barnard, R.D., and Dyniewicz, J.M. (1938). Phenolphthalein studies: Phenolphthalein in jaundice. *Am. J. Med. Sci.* **196**, 673-688.

Stockinger, V.L. (1965). Versuche sur analyse der phenolphthalein-wirkung. Arzneimittelforschung 5, 550-554.

Straus, D.S. (1981). Somatic mutation, cellular differentiation, and cancer causation. *JNCI* 67, 233-241.

Stroud, M.B., and Rosio, T.J. (1987). A case of recurring painful red macules. *Arch. Dermatol.* **123**, 1225-1230.

Sugar, J.A., Belfer, M., Israel, E., and Herzog, D.B. (1991). A 3-year-old boy's chronic diarrhea and unexplained death. J. Am. Acad. Child Adolesc. Psychiatry **30**, 1015-1021.

Sund, R.B. (1983). Aspects of the pharmacology of diphenylmethane laxatives (bisacodyl, oxyphenisatin and phenolphthalein derivatives). *Nor. Pharm. Acta* **45**, 125-162.

Sund, R.B., and Hillestad, B. (1982). Uptake, conjugation and transport of laxative diphenols by everted sacs of the rat jejunum and stripped colon. *Acta Pharmacol. Toxicol. (Copenh.)* **51**, 377-387.

Sund, R.B., and Lauterbach, F. (1986). Drug metabolism and metabolite transport in the small and large intestine: Experiments with 1-naphthol and phenolphthalein by luminal and contraluminal administration in the isolated guinea pig mucosa. *Acta Pharmacol. Toxicol. (Copenh.)* **58**, 74-83.

Sund, R.B., Hetland, H.S., and Nafstad, I. (1986). Autoradiography in mice after intravenous and intragastric administration of phenolphthalein and desacetylated bisacodyl, two laxative diphenols of the diphenylmethane group. *Nor. Pharm. Acta* **48**, 57-73. Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results Program (SEER) (1995). Ovarian cancer incidence: Distribution by age. J. Natl. Cancer Inst. 87, 1280.

Takeda, S., and Aburada, M. (1981). The choleretic mechanism of coumarin compounds and phenolic compounds. J. Pharm. Acobiodyn. 4, 724-734.

Tarone, R.E. (1975). Tests for trend in life table analysis. *Biometrika* 62, 679-682.

Tennant, R.W., Margolin, B.H., Shelby, M.D., Zeiger, E., Haseman, J.K., Spalding, J., Caspary, W., Resnick, M., Stasiewicz, S., Anderson, B., and Minor, R. (1987). Prediction of chemical carcinogenicity in rodents from *in vitro* genetic toxicity assays. *Science* 236, 933-941.

Thompson, J.A., Bolton, J.L., Schullek, K.M., and Sevestre, H. (1990). Bioactivation of 2,6-di-tertbutyl-4-methyl phenol (BHT) and hyrdoxylated analogues to toxic quinoid metabolites. In *Biological Reactive Intermediates IV* (C.M. Witmer *et al.*, Eds.), pp. 393-398. Plenum Press, New York.

Tyson, R.M., Shrader, E.A., and Perlman, H.H. (1937). Drugs transmitted through breast milk. Part I. Laxatives. J. Pediatr. 11, 824.

Van Rooyen, R.J., and Ziady, F. (1972). Hypokalaemic alkalosis following the abuse of purgatives. S. Afr. Med. J. 46, 998-1003.

Velentzas, C.G., and Ikkos, D.G. (1971). Phenolphthalein as cause of factitious enteritis. *JAMA* 217, 966.

Visek, W.J., Liu, W.C., and Roth, L.J. (1956). Studies on the fate of carbon-14 labeled phenolphthalein. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 117, 347-357.

von Vámossy, Z. (1908). Ist "Purgen" ein schädliches Abführmittel? Munch. Med. Wochenschr. 50, 1124-1126.

Warren, W., Clark, J.P., Gardner, E., Harris, G., Cooper, C.S., Lawley, P.D. (1990). Chemical induction of thyomas in AKR mice: Interaction of chemical carcinogens and endogenous murine leukemia viruses. Comparison of *N*-methyl-*N*-nitrosourea and methyl methanesulphonate. *Mol. Carcinog.* **3**, 126-133. Weast, R.C., Ed. (1987). CRC Handbook of Chemistry and Physics, p. C-416. CRC Press, Inc., Boca Raton, FL.

Weiss, B.D., and Wood, G.A. (1982). Laxative abuse causing gastrointestinal bleeding. J. Fam. Pract. 15, 177-181.

Wilhelm, J.A., Bailey, L.C., Shepard, T.A., and Venturella, V.S. (1992). Simultaneous determination of phenolphthalein and phenolphthalein glucuronide from dog serum, urine and bile by high-performance liquid chromatography. J. Chromatogr. 578, 231-238.

Williams, D.A. (1971). A test for differences between treatment means when several dose levels are compared with a zero dose control. *Biometrics* 27, 103-117.

Williams, D.A. (1972). The comparison of several dose levels with a zero dose control. *Biometrics* 28, 519-531.

Williams, R.T. (1959). Detoxication Mechanisms. The Metabolism and Detoxication of Drugs, Toxic Substances and Other Organic Compounds, 2nd ed., pp. 475-476, John Wiley and Sons, Inc., New York.

Wiseman, R.W., Cochran, C., Dietrich, W., Lander, E.S., and Söderkvist, P. (1994). Allelotyping of butadiene-induced lung and mammary adenocarcinomas of B6C3F1 mice: Frequent losses of heterozygosity in regions homologous to human tumor-suppressor genes. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* **91**, 3759-3763.

Wishart, G.J. (1978a). Functional heterogeneity of UDP-glucuronosyltransferase as indicated by its differential development and inducibility by glucocorticoids. *Biochem. J.* **174**, 485-489.

Wishart, G.J. (1978b). Demonstration of functional heterogeneity of hepatic uridine diphosphate glucuronosyltransferase activities after administration of 3-methylcholanthrene and phenobarbital to rats. *Biochem. J.* **174**, 671-672.

Witt, K.L., Gulati, D.K., Kaur, P., and Shelby, M.D. (1995). Phenolphthalein: Induction of micronucleated erythrocytes in mice. *Mutat. Res.* 341, 151-160.

References

Wogan, G.N. (1984). Tumors of the mouse hematopoietic system: Their diagnosis and interpretation in safety evaluations tests. Report of a study group. *CRC Crit. Rev. Toxicol.* 13, 161-175.

Wu, A.H., Paganini-Hill, A., Ross, R.K., and Henderson, B.E. (1987). Alcohol, physical activity and other risk factors for colorectal cancer: A prospective study. *Br. J. Cancer* 55, 687-694.

Wyatt, E., Greaves, M., and S ϕ ndergaard, J. (1972). Fixed drug eruption (phenolphthalein). Evidence for a blood-borne mediator. *Arch. Dermatol.* **106**, 671-673.

Zanolli, M.D., McAlvany, J., and Krowchuk, D.P. (1993). Phenolphthalein-induced fixed drug eruption: A cutaneous complication of laxative use in a child. *Pediatrics* **91**, 1199-1201.

Zeiger, E., Haseman, J.K., Shelby, M.D., Margolin, B.H., and Tennant, R.W. (1990). Evaluation of four in vitro genetic toxicity tests for predicting rodent carcinogenicity: Confirmation of earlier results with 41 additional chemicals. *Environ. Mol. Mutagen.* **16** (Suppl. 18), 1-14.

.

APPENDIX A SUMMARY OF LESIONS IN MALE RATS IN THE 2-YEAR FEED STUDY OF PHENOLPHTHALEIN

Summary of the Incidence of Neoplasms in Male Rats	
in the 2-Year Feed Study of Phenolphthalein	94
Individual Animal Tumor Pathology of Male Rats	
in the 2-Year Feed Study of Phenolphthalein	98
Statistical Analysis of Primary Neoplasms in Male Rats	
in the 2-Year Feed Study of Phenolphthalein	122
Historical Incidence of Adrenal Medulla Pheochromocytoma	
in Untreated Male F344/N Rats	129
Historical Incidence of Renal Tubule Neoplasms in Untreated Male F344/N Rats	129
Summary of the Incidence of Nonneoplastic Lesions in Male Rats	
in the 2-Year Feed Study of Phenolphthalein	130
	in the 2-Year Feed Study of Phenolphthalein

Summary of the Incidence of Neoplasms in Male Rats in the 2-Year Feed Study of Phenolphthalein^a

	0 ppm	12,000 ppm	25,000 ppm	50,000 ppm
Disposition Summary				
Animals initially in study	50	50	50	50
Early deaths				
Moribund	15	15	13	16
Natural deaths	14	20	22	21
Survivors				
Died last week of the study			1	
Terminal sacrifice	21	15	14	13
Animals examined microscopically	50	50	50	50
Alimentary System				
intestine large, colon	(48)	(49)	(49)	(48)
intestine large, rectum	(48)	(49)	(50)	(50)
intestine large, cecum	(44)	(41)	(44)	(40)
intestine small, duodenum	(47)	(50)	(49)	(47)
Intestine small, jejunum	(47)	(41)	(47)	(42)
intestine small, ileum	(44)	(40)	(40)	(41)
Liver	(50)	(50)	(50)	(50)
Hepatocellular adenoma	1 (2%)	3 (6%)		1 (2%)
Hepatocellular adenoma, multiple				1 (2%)
Histiocytic sarcoma			1 (2%)	
Mesentery	(20)	(7)	(3)	(3)
Histiocytic sarcoma	<i>(</i> 1)		1 (33%)	
Dral mucosa	(1)		(1)	
Pharyngeal, squamous cell carcinoma			1 (100%)	
Pharyngeal, squamous cell papilloma	1 (100%)	(50)	(50)	(47)
Pancreas	(50)	(50)	(50)	(47)
Histiocytic sarcoma			1 (2%)	1 (2%)
Acinus, adenoma multiple	1 (2%)		2 (4%)	1 (270)
Acinus, adenoma, multiple	1 (2%) (50)	(49)	(49)	(49)
Salivary glands Stomach, forestomach	(50)	(50)	(50)	(49)
Stomach, glandular	(50)	(50)	(50)	(49)
	····	V 4		
Cardiovascular System	(50)	(10)	(50)	
Heart Schwannoma malignant	(50)	(49)	(50) 1 (2%)	(50)
En de anine Sustan				
Endocrine System	(50)	(50)	(50)	(50)
Adrenal cortex Adenoma	(50) 1 (2%)	(50)	(50)	(50)
	(50)	(50)	(50)	(50)
Adrenal medulla Pheochromocytoma malignant	(50)	(50)	(50)	2 (4%)
Pheochromocytoma mangnant Pheochromocytoma benign	14 (28%)	15 (30%)	15 (30%)	19 (38%)
Bilateral, pheochromocytoma malig nant	17 (2070)	10 (0070)	1 (2%)	-> (00,0)
Bilateral, pheochromocytoma hani hani	3 (6%)	19 (38%)	19 (38%)	15 (30%)
Islets, pancreatic	(50)	(50)	(50)	(48)
Adenoma	3 (6%)	2 (4%)	· -/	1 (2%)
Carcinoma	1 (2%)	2 (4%)	1 (2%)	2 (4%)

Summary of the Incidence of Neoplasms in Male Rats in the 2-Year Feed Study of Phenolphthalein (continued)

	0 ppm	12,000 ppm	25,000 ppm	50,000 ppm
Endocrine System (continued)				. <u> </u>
Parathyroid gland	(41)	(48)	(49)	(46)
Adenoma		1 (2%)		
Pituitary gland	(50)	(50)	(50)	(50)
Pars distalis, adenoma	13 (26%)	11 (22%)	16 (32%)	11 (22%)
Pars intermedia, adenoma	1 (2%)			
Thyroid gland	(50)	(50)	(49)	(49)
Bilateral, C-cell, adenoma	1 (2%)			
Bilateral, follicular cell, adenoma		1 (2%)		
C-cell, adenoma	8 (16%)	2 (4%)	3 (6%)	4 (8%)
C-cell, carcinoma			1 (2%)	2 (4%)
Follicular cell, adenoma			2 (4%)	3 (6%)
Follicular cell, carcinoma	1 (2%)			
General Body System None				
Genital System	<u></u>		<u></u>	
Epididymis	(50)	(50)	(50)	(50)
Preputial gland	(50)	(49)	(50)	(49)
Adenoma	4 (8%)	4 (8%)	4 (8%)	4 (8%)
Carcinoma	. (0,0)	2 (4%)	2 (4%)	. (0,0)
Bilateral, adenoma	1 (2%)	- (,	- (,	
Bilateral, carcinoma	- (=,0)	1 (2%)		
Prostate	(50)	(50)	(50)	(50)
Adenoma	2 (4%)	(50)	(00)	(00)
Seminal vesicle	(50)	(50)	(50)	(50)
Testes	(50)	(50)	(50)	(50)
Bilateral, interstitial cell, adenoma	42 (84%)	42 (84%)	46 (92%)	45 (90%)
Interstitial cell, adenoma	4 (8%)	4 (8%)	3 (6%)	4 (8%)
Hematopoietic System	(40)			(10)
Bone marrow	(48)	(50)	(50)	(49)
Lymph node	(17)	(22)	(27)	(20)
Mediastinal, carcinoma, metastatic, kidney				1 (5%)
Renal, carcinoma, metastatic, kidney		(10)	(10)	1 (5%)
Lymph node, mandibular	(50)	(49)	(49)	(49)
Lymph node, mesenteric	(50)	(50)	(47)	(48)
Histiocytic sarcoma		(20)	1 (2%)	(10)
Spleen	(50)	(50)	(50)	(49)
Fibrosarcoma		1 (2%)		
Hemangioma			1 (2%)	
Histiocytic sarcoma			1 (2%)	
Thymus	(50)	(49)	(47)	(47)
Histiocytic sarcoma			1 (2%)	
Thymoma benign		1 (2%)		

Summary of the Incidence of Neoplasms in Male Rats in the 2-Year Feed Study of Phenolphthalein (continued)

	0 ppm	12,000 ppm	25,000 ppm	50,000 ppm
Integumentary System		······		<u> </u>
Mammary gland	(43)	(47)	(48)	(47)
Adenoma	1 (2%)	(47)	1 (2%)	(47)
Fibroadenoma	5 (12%)	2 (4%)	2 (4%)	1 (2%)
Fibroadenoma, multiple	1 (2%)	2 ((1))	2 ((1,0)	1 (270)
Skin	(49)	(50)	(50)	(50)
Basal cell adenoma	2 (4%)	(20)	1 (2%)	(50)
Keratoacanthoma	4 (8%)	2 (4%)	3 (6%)	1 (2%)
Squamous cell carcinoma	+ (070)	1 (2%)	3 (0,0)	1 (270)
Pinna, schwannoma malignant	1 (2%)	1 (270)		2 (4%)
Subcutaneous tissue, fibroma	2 (4%)	2 (4%)	1 (2%)	2 (4%)
Subcutaneous tissue, fibroma, multiple	1 (2%)	2 (470)	1 (270)	2 (470)
Subcutaneous tissue, histiocytic sarcoma	· (= /0)		1 (2%)	
Subcutaneous tissue, schwannoma malignant	1 (2%)		* (~/0)	1 (2%)
	1 (270)			1 (270)
Musculoskeletal System				
Bone	(50)	(50)	(50)	(50)
Cranium, osteosarcoma				1 (2%)
Skeletal muscle	(2)	(5)	(4)	(1)
Osteosarcoma			1 (25%)	
Nervous System Brain	(50)	(50)	(50)	(50)
Cerebrum, oligodendroglioma malignant	1 (2%)			()
Spinal cord	(2)	(3)	(3)	
Respiratory System				
Lung	(50)	(50)	(50)	(50)
Alveolar/bronchiolar adenoma	1 (2%)	1 (2%)	(00)	1 (2%)
Alveolar/bronchiolar carcinoma	1 (270)	1 (2%)		. (270)
Carcinoma, metastatic, kidney		. (270)		1 (2%)
Chordoma, metastatic, uncertain primary site		1 (2%)		- (=/0)
Histiocytic sarcoma		• (= /0)	1 (2%)	
Osteosarcoma, metastatic, bone			• (270)	1 (2%)
Osteosarcoma, metastatic, skeletal muscle			1 (2%)	- (270)
Nose	(50)	(50)	(50)	(50)
Squamous cell carcinoma, metastatic, oral	* * /	\/	x /	<u></u>
mucosa			1 (2%)	
Special Senses System				
Zymbal's gland	(1)		(1)	(2)
Adenoma			1 (100%)	
Carcinoma	1 (100%)			2 (100%)

Summary of the Incidence of Neoplasms in Male Rats in the 2-Year Feed Study of Phenolphthalein (continued)

	0 ppm	12,000 ppm	25,000 ppm	50,000 ppm
Urinary System			· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	<u> </u>
Kidney	(50)	(50)	(50)	(50)
Liposarcoma	1 (2%)			
Renal tubule, adenoma		4 (8%)	2 (4%)	6 (12%)
Renal tubule, carcinoma		1 (2%)	1 (2%)	2 (4%)
Renal tubule, oncocytoma benign				1 (2%)
Transitional epithelium, carcinoma			1 (2%)	
Urinary bladder	(49)	(50)	(50)	(50)
Transitional epithelium, carcinoma	1 (2%)			
Systemic Lesions				
Multiple organs ^b	(50)	(50)	(50)	(50)
Histiocytic sarcoma			1 (2%)	
Leukemia mononuclear	31 (62%)	27 (54%)	24 (48%)	29 (58%)
Mesothelioma malignant	2 (4%)	2 (4%)		2 (4%)
Neoplasm Summary			1	
Fotal animals with primary neoplasms ^c	49	50	50	50
Total primary neoplasms	159	155	157	166
Total animals with benign neoplasms	47	50	49	50
Total benign neoplasms	117	116	122	121
Total animals with malignant neoplasms	35	36	31	33
Total malignant neoplasms	42	39	35	45
Fotal animals with metastatic neoplasms	1	2	2	4
Total metastatic neoplasms	3	14	2	7
Fotal animals with malignant neoplasms				
of uncertain primary site		1		

а Number of animals examined microscopically at the site and the number of animals with neoplasm

b

^b Number of animals with any tissue examined microscopically
 ^c Primary neoplasms: all neoplasms except metastatic neoplasms

TABLE A2

Individual Animal Tumor Pathology of Male Rats in the 2-Year Feed Study of Phenolphthalein: 0 p	pm
---	----

	2								5																
Number of Days on Study	3	3													9 0										
	8	0	7	6	0	8	6	0	9	4	3	1	1 '	78	31	8	4	5	7	3	9	1	1 :	5	4
	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0 0	0 0) () ()	0	0	0	0	0	0) () (0	0
Carcass ID Number	1	1	5	-	4				2				4 2			2							3,		
	1	7	0	1	3										59								5	1	7
Alimentary System																									
Esophagus	+	+	+	Ŧ	+	+	+	+	+ '	+	+	+	ж	⊥ .	+ •	L .1					L .	L .	_	-	ж
Intestine large, colon			· +	+	+	+	+ +	+ +							+ -							F .	Ā	+ +	+
Intestine large, rectum	+	+	. +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+										A		
Intestine large, cecum	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	÷	Å		+ -					-	-				
Intestine small, duodenum	+	+	+	+	+	+									• + -										
Intestine small, jejunum	+	+	+	+	+	+									+ .		-	1							
Intestine small, ileum		+			+	+			+						+ -										
Liver	+	+	· +		÷		+							+ ·		· /							+		
Hepatocellular adenoma	т	ſ			'	'	•	•	•	•			•	•	•	, 1			1			•			•
Mesentery			+	+					+			+			+		4	⊦.	4	+	-	+	+		
Mesothelioma malignant, metastatic, epididymis			,	r					,						•		ſ	• .				•	•		
Oral mucosa															-	ŀ									
Pharyngeal, squamous cell papilloma																ζ.									
Pancreas	+	. .	• +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+ -	+ -		Ļч	F 4		⊢ -	۰.	+	+	+	+
Acinus, adenoma, multiple	т	ſ	ſ		•	'	•	•	•	•	•	•	•			. 1						•	•	'	•
Salivary glands	ــ		. .	+	Ŧ	÷	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+ -	LЧ	ь <u> </u>	ل ا		- -	⊾ .	÷	+	+	+
Stomach, forestomach		т 			+	+	+	+	+	÷	+	+	÷	+	 + .	, , , ,	 	. 7 F 4		, - 		, +	÷	+	+
Stomach, glandular	+	+ +	- -	+	+	+ +	+	+	+ +	+	+ +	+	+ +	+ ·	+ ·		с Т Н 4	г ¬ 		 	, . 	۔ ۲	+ +		-
	•			•		_					•	•	•	•	•							•	•	•	·
Cardiovascular System																									
Blood vessel	- +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+ •	+ +	+ -	+ +		+ -	+ •	ł	+	+	+
Heart	+	+	• +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+ ·	+ +	+ -	+ +		+ -	+ •	+	+	+	+
Endocrine System																									
Adrenal cortex	+	+	• +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+ •	+ +	+ -	+ +	+ -	+ •	+ •	+	+	+	+
Adenoma																									
Adrenal medulla	+	• +	• +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+ •	+ +	+ -	+ +	+ -	+ •	+ •	+	+	+	+
Pheochromocytoma malignant		Х																							
Pheochromocytoma benign																λ	ζ.						х	Х	
Bilateral, pheochromocytoma benign																									x
Islets, pancreatic	+	• +	• +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+ •	+ +	+ -	+ -	+ -	+ -	+	+	+	+	+
Adenoma																									
Carcinoma																									
Parathyroid gland	+	• -+	• +	+	+	+	+	+	М	+	М	+	М	M	M	+ +	+ -	+ -	F -	+ •	+	+	+	М	+
Pituitary gland	-+	- +	- +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+ -	+ -	+ -	+ -	⊦ -	+ •	+	ł	+	+	+
Pars distalis, adenoma			Х				Х					•			2	ĸ		2	۲.		2	X			
Pars intermedia, adenoma																									
Thyroid gland	+		- +	• +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+ -	+ •	+ -	+ -	+ •	+	+	+	+	+
Bilateral, C-cell, adenoma																									
C-cell, adenoma													х							2	ĸ			х	
Follicular cell, carcinoma									х											-					
									-																
General Body System																									
Tissue NOS									+																

+: Tissue examined microscopically A: Autolysis precludes examination M: Missing tissue I: Insufficient tissue X: Lesion present Blank: Not examined

Individual Animal Tumor Pathology of Male Rats in the 2-Year Feed Study of Phenolphthalein: 0 ppm (continued)

Number of Days on Study	7	1	2	2		7 2		7 2	7 2	7 2	7 2	7 2	7 2	7 2	2		7 2	7		7 2		7	7		7 2	
Aumoer of Days on Study	8	5	2 4					2 9		2 9	2 9			_	-	2 9		2 9								
	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	Total
Carcass ID Number	4	4	1	4	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	1	1	1	2	2	2	2	3	3	4	4	Tissues/
	5	0	8	8	1	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	0	2	4	5	9	1	3	6	9	3	7	2	6	Tumors
Alimentary System																										
Esophagus	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	50
Intestine large, colon	Α	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	48
Intestine large, rectum	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	48
Intestine large, cecum	Α	+	+	Α	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	44
Intestine small, duodenum	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	47
Intestine small, jejunum	+	Α	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	÷	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	47
Intestine small, ileum	Α	+	+	Α	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	· +	44
Liver	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	50
Hepatocellular adenoma				Х																						1
Mesentery	+				+				+	+			+		+			+	+	+	+		+		Μ	20
Mesothelioma malignant, metastatic, epididymis																				x						1
Oral mucosa																										1
Pharyngeal, squamous cell papilloma																										1
Pancreas	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	• +	• +	50
Acinus, adenoma, multiple																	х									1
Salivary glands	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	• +	• +	50
Stomach, forestomach	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	• +	+	50
Stomach, glandular	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	- +	
Cardiovascular System																-										
Blood vessel	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	• 4	- +	50
Heart	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	• +	- +	50
Endocrine System																										
Adrenal cortex	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	- +	• +	• +	50
Adenoma										X														-		1
Adrenal medulla	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+			+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	· +	- 4	- +	50
Pheochromocytoma malignant							·					·					·		·	·	•	•		•	•	1
Pheochromocytoma benign	х		X		х						x	x	х			x	х			х			х		х	
Bilateral, pheochromocytoma benign			~			x																x				3
Islets, pancreatic	+	+	+	+	+		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	· +			- +	
Adenoma		•	•	x		•		•	•	•	x		•	•	•	x		·	•	•	•	•		•	•	3
Carcinoma				-							~					~				х						1
Parathyroid gland	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+		+	м	í +	+	м	· +	+	+	+						⊦ M	
Pituitary gland	+	+		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	. .	+	. .	+	+		+	+	+		+				+ +	
Pars distalis, adenoma		x	1		x	1.	•	1.	1			•	X		1.	X	1	x	1	x	· '	ſ	X		1-	13
Pars intermedia, adenoma	А	-			~								~	х		**				~			41	•		1
Thyroid gland	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	. .	4		+	+			+	• +	+	+			. ц			+ +	50
Bilateral, C-cell, adenoma	т			۰.		x		1.	r	ſ	ſ		1	t.	1	ſ	1-	1-		г	F	T	T	T	r	·
C-cell, adenoma						л		x							х			х					Х	r	x	
Follicular cell, carcinoma								л							л			л					~	•	л	. c
Foncular cen, carcinonia																										

TABLE A2

Individual Animal Tumor Pathology of Male Rats in the 2-Year Feed Study of Phenolphthalein: (0 ppm (continued)
---	-------------------

	2 3 4 4 4 4 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 6 6 6 6 6 6 6	
Number of Days on Study	3 3 0 8 9 9 0 2 2 3 5 6 7 7 9 0 0 1 1 1 4 4 7 8 0	
	8 0 7 6 0 8 6 0 9 4 3 1 1 7 8 1 8 4 5 7 3 9 1 5 4	
	0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	
Carcass ID Number	1 1 5 3 4 3 3 0 2 2 3 1 4 2 3 4 2 2 3 1 3 2 3 4 4	
	1 7 0 1 3 2 8 2 7 4 4 3 4 0 6 9 2 5 0 6 9 8 5 1 7	
Genital System		
Epididymis	+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +	
Preputial gland	+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +	
Adenoma	Х	
Bilateral, adenoma		
Prostate	* * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +	
Adenoma		
Seminal vesicle	+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +	
Testes	+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +	
Mesothelioma malignant, metastatic,		
epididymis		
Bilateral, interstitial cell, adenoma	X X X X X X X X X X X X X X X X X X X	
Interstitial cell, adenoma	X X X	
	Λ Λ	
Hematopoietic System		
Bone marrow	+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +	
Lymph node	++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++	
Lymph node, mandibular	+++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++	
Lymph node, mesenteric	····	
	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
Spleen	+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +	
Thymus	+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +	
Integumentary System		
Mammary gland	+ + M + + + + M + + M + + + + + M + + + + M + +	
Adenoma		
Fibroadenoma	x x	
Fibroadenoma, multiple	Δ Δ	
Skin	+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +	
Basal cell adenoma	X	
Keratoacanthoma	Х	
Pinna, schwannoma malignant		
Subcutaneous tissue, fibroma		
Subcutaneous tissue, fibroma,		
multiple	Х	
Subcutaneous tissue, schwannoma		
malignant	Х	
Managed a last a		
Musculoskeletal System		
Bone	+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +	
Skeletal muscle	+ +	
Nervous System		
Brain		
DIAIII	+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +	
Carabrum aligadandraaliama malianaat	v	
Cerebrum, oligodendroglioma malignant	X	
Cerebrum, oligodendroglioma malignant Peripheral nerve Spinal cord	X + + + +	

Individual Animal Tumor Patholog	of Male Rats in the 2-Year Feed Study	of Phenolphthalein: 0 ppm (continued)
----------------------------------	---------------------------------------	---------------------------------------

		7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7 '	77	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	
Number of Days on Study		0	1	2	2	2	2		2			2	2 3	22	2 2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	
		8	5	4	7	9	9	9	9	9	9	9	9	99	9	9	9	9	9	9	9	9	9	9	9	
		0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	^	0	0	0 0) 0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	Total
Carcass ID Number		-	-	-																		-			-	
Carcass ID Number		4	4	1		0									1				2			3	3	4		Tissues/
		5	0	8	8	1	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	0 2	2 4	5	9	1	3	6	9	3	7	2	6	Tumors
Genital System																										
Epididymis		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+ -	+ +	- +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	50
Preputial gland		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+			, , + +		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	50
Adenoma		'	•			x		'	'	•		'				'	x	•	•	•		•		x	'	4
Bilateral, adenoma						Λ											л				х			~		1
Prostate			+	+	Т	Т	Т	Ŧ	л.	н.	<u>т</u>	т	т	_	+ +		+	+	+	+			+	+	+	50
Adenoma		т	т	т	т	т	т	т	т	т	т	т	т	Τ -	гт	- T	X	т	т	т	т	x	т	т	т	2
Seminal vesicle					,																					50
		+	+	+	+	+	+	T	+	+	+	+	т ,		+ +				+	+	+	+	+		+	
Testes		+	+	+	+	+	+	Ŧ	+	+	+	+	Ŧ	Ŧ ·	+ +	- +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	50
Mesothelioma malignant, metastatic,																				37						
epididymis		**		••		1 7	v	v				v						* 7	X 7	X	1 7	17	1 7	3	37	1
Bilateral, interstitial cell, adenoma		х		Х		Х	х	Х	х	х	х	Х	X	X X	к х	X	Х	Х	х	х	X	х	х	х	Х	42
Interstitial cell, adenoma			Х		Х																					4
Hematopoietic System																										
Bone marrow		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+ •	+ +	- +	• +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	48
Lymph node		'	+	+	+	•	•	+	•	•	•	•	•	•	יי ר			•				٠	•	•	•	17
Lymph node, mandibular		+	ــــ	, _	_	Ŧ	+	+	Т	Т	+	Ŧ	+	+ •	+ +		ь	+	1	+	+	+	+	+	+	50
Lymph node, mesenteric		т 	-T- -L	т Т	т —	, ,	÷	т. Т	т _	T L	י ב	+	•		+ +	 		+	, ,	- -		, +	+		- -	50
		Ţ	Ť	Ť	т 1	T I	T	T	Ţ	Ţ	т ,	T I	T L	т (т т 4. 4	гт L (· T	т (т 	т 	т 		- -	т 	Ť	50
Spleen Thymus		+	+	+	т +	т 	+	+	+	+	+	+	+ +	+ ·	 + -	г т ⊢ +	· +	+	+	+	т 	+	+	т 	+	50
		т	т	т	-	т	Ŧ	-T ⁻	т	т	т	т	т —	ч. 	1 1	т т	т —	т —	.1.	'	T			۰ 	'	
Integumentary System																										
Mammary gland		+	+	+	Μ	+	+	+	÷	+	+	+	+	+ ·	+ +	+ +	• +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	Μ	43
Adenoma			Х																							1
Fibroadenoma		Х												Х								Х				5
Fibroadenoma, multiple											Х															1
Skin		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	÷	+	+	+ +	+ +	• +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	49
Basal cell adenoma													х													2
Keratoacanthoma								х	х									Х								4
Pinna, schwannoma malignant												х														1
Subcutaneous tissue, fibroma		х					х																			2
Subcutaneous tissue, fibroma,																										
multiple																										1
Subcutaneous tissue, schwannoma																										
malignant																										1
	·····																									4.000 C
Musculoskeletal System																										F 0
Bone		+	÷	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+ •	+ +	- +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	50
Skeletal muscle																										2
Nervous System								_																		
Brain		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+ -	+ +	- +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	50
Cerebrum, oligodendroglioma malignant		'	•	•	'		'	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•		•	•	•	•	•		•		•	1
Peripheral nerve																										2
Spinal cord																										2

¢

TABLE A2

Individual Animal Tumor Pathology of Male Rats in the 2-Year Feed Study of Phenolphthalein: 0 ppm (continued)

	2			•	4	. 4	5	5	5	e	5.	5	5	5	-	6	6	6	6	6	6	6	6	6		
Number of Days on Study	3	3	3 () 8	3 9		-	2	2	3	5	6	7	7	9	0	0	1	1	1	4	4	7	8	0	
· · ·	8	• 0) 7	7 6	5 0) - 8	6	0	9	4	3	1	1	7	8	1	8	4	5	7	3	9	1	5	4	
	0	• •) () () () (0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	
Carcass ID Number	1	1	. 5	5 3	3 4	3	3	0	2	2	3	1	4	2	3	4	2	2	3	1	3	2	3	4	4	
	1	7	. () 1	3	3 2	8	2	7	4	4	3	4	0	6	9	2	5	0	6	9	8	5	1	7	
Respiratory System				-																						
Lung	-	+ -	+ -	+ •	+ -	+ -	F 4	- +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
Alveolar/bronchiolar adenoma																										
Mesothelioma malignant, metastatic, epididymis																										
Nose	-	⊢ -	+ -	+ •	+ -	+ -	+ +	+ +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
Trachea	-	+ -	+ -	+ •	+ -	+ -	⊦ ⊣	- +	+	+	≁	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
Special Senses System							,				_			-		_			-							
Ear				-	ł																					
Zymbal's gland														+												
Carcinoma														X												
Urinary System											_				•											
Kidney	+		+ -	+ -	+ -	+ -	+ +	- +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
Liposarcoma																										
Urinary bladder	. 4		+ -	+	+ -	+ -	н - I	+ +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	A	+	+	
Transitional epithelium, carcinoma			-	•	•				•	•		-		·	·			·	·		·			·	•	
Systemic Lesions																										
Multiple organs	-	+ -		+ •	+ -	+ -	+ +	- +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+			+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
Leukemia mononuclear		2	C	2	C X	C X	C	Х		Х	Х	Х			Х	Х	Х	Х		Х	Х		Х		Х	
Mesothelioma malignant																										

Individual Animal Tumor Pathology of Male Rats in the 2-Year Feed Study of Phenolphthalein: 0 ppm (continued)

Number of Deve or Stade	7		7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	
Number of Days on Study	8	4	5	2 4	2	2	2	2 9	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	29	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	
				-		-											-									-	
Carcass ID Number	0	()	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	Total
Carcass ID Number	4	4	+)	1	4 8	1	0 3	4	5	0 6	0 7	0 8	9	1	1	4	1 5	19	2	2	2	2	3	3	4	4 6	Tissues/ Tumors
Respiratory System																											
Lung	+		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	4	50
Alveolar/bronchiolar adenoma	•		•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•		•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	x			•	•	•	1
Mesothelioma malignant, metastatic, epididymis																					x						1
Nose	4		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	~ +	+	+	+	+	+	50
Trachea	+		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	50
Special Senses System																											
Ear																											1
Zymbal's gland																											1
Carcinoma																											1
Urinary System															····	<u> </u>											
Kidney	4	+ -	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	50
Liposarcoma													х														1
Urinary bladder	4	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	• +	49
Transitional epithelium, carcinoma																х											1
Systemic Lesions									•						-												
Multiple organs	-	ŀ	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	• +	50
Leukemia mononuclear	Х	K		Х	х			х	Х		Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х		Х	Х				Х			Х	31
Mesothelioma malignant																					Х						2
TABLE A2

Individual Animal Tumor Pathology of Male Rats in the 2-Year Feed Study of Phenolphthalein: 12,000 ppm

Number of Days on Study	4 4 4 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 6 6 6 6 6 6 6
Number of Days on Study	5 7 8 3 3 4 5 6 6 7 9 9 9 1 1 1 2 2 3 3 3 3 3 4 5 7 8 0 5 1 8 3 8 1 1 7 1 2 4 0 4 8 4 6 2 3 6 8 6 0 0
	8 0 5 1 8 3 8 1 1 7 1 2 4 0 4 8 4 6 2 3 6 8 6 0 0
	0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Carcass ID Number	7 7 8 7 8 9 9 5 5 6 6 5 6 7 7 8 7 5 7 6 5 5 5 8 9
	6 7 6 3 3 8 5 4 6 6 7 5 4 4 1 5 5 9 0 2 2 3 7 8 2
Alimentary System	
Esophagus	+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +
Intestine large, colon	+ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$
Intestine large, rectum	+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +
Intestine large, cecum	+ + + + A A + + + + + + + A A + A + + + + + + A
Serosa, mesothelioma malignant, metastatic, epididymis	x
Intestine small, duodenum	+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +
Serosa, mesothelioma malignant,	
metastatic, epididymis	Х
Intestine small, jejunum	+ + + + + + + + + + + A + A + + + A + A
Serosa, mesothelioma malignant,	
metastatic, epididymis	Х
Intestine small, ileum	+ + + + + A A + + + + + A + A + + + + A + + + + + A
Serosa, mesothelioma malignant,	
metastatic, epididymis	Х
Liver	 + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +
Hepatocellular adenoma	X X
Mesentery	+++ + + +
Mesothelioma malignant, metastatic,	
epididymis	Х
Pancreas	+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +
Mesothelioma malignant, metastatic,	
epididymis	Х
Salivary glands	+ + + + + + + + + + + M + + + + + + + +
Stomach, forestomach	+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +
Serosa, mesothelioma malignant,	
metastatic, epididymis	Х
Stomach, glandular	+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +
Cardiovascular System	
Blood vessel	+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +
Heart	+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +
Endocrine System	
Adrenal cortex	+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +
Adrenal medulla	+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +
Pheochromocytoma malignant	X
Pheochromocytoma benign	x x x x x x x x
Bilateral, pheochromocytoma benign	X X X X X X X X X X
Islets, pancreatic	+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +
Adenoma	
Carcinoma	Х
Parathyroid gland	+ + M + + + + + + + + + + + M + + + + +
Adenoma	X
Pituitary gland	
Pars distalis, adenoma	ХХ
	+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +
Thyroid gland Bilateral, follicular cell, adenoma	+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

6 6 6 6 6 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 Number of Days on Study 7899901 1 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 9 5 1 3 4 1 0 5 3 8 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 0 0 0 0 1 Total **Carcass ID Number** 5 6 8 7 9 9 6 7 7 9 5 6 6 6 6 8 8 8 8 8 9 9 9 9 0 Tissues/ 1 1 9 9 6 4 8 2 8 0 8 0 3 5 9 0 1 2 4 7 1 3 7 9 0 Tumors **Alimentary System** Esophagus 50 + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + ++ + + + + + +49 Intestine large, colon + + + + + + ++ + + + + ++ ++ + + ++ + + + + + Intestine large, rectum ++ A + + + + +++ ++ +49 + ++ + + + + + + + + + Intestine large, cecum 41 + + A A + + A +++ + + + + + + + + + + ++ + +Serosa, mesothelioma malignant, metastatic, epididymis 1 Intestine small, duodenum 50 Serosa, mesothelioma malignant, metastatic, epididymis 1 Intestine small, jejunum 41 + + + Serosa, mesothelioma malignant, metastatic, epididymis 1 Intestine small, ileum A + + + + A A A + + + 40 + Serosa, mesothelioma malignant, metastatic, epididymis 1 50 Liver + + + + + + Hepatocellular adenoma 3 7 Mesentery + Mesothelioma malignant, metastatic, epididymis 1 50 Pancreas + Mesothelioma malignant, metastatic, epididymis 1 49 Salivary glands + + + + + 50 Stomach, forestomach + + + + ++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + Serosa, mesothelioma malignant, metastatic, epididymis 1 Stomach, glandular 50 **Cardiovascular System** Blood vessel + + + + +49 + + 49 Heart + **Endocrine System** Adrenal cortex 50 + + + ++ Adrenal medulla + + + + + + + + + + + + 50 + + + + + + + + + + + Pheochromocytoma malignant 1 15 Pheochromocytoma benign х Х Х х х хх х Х х 19 Bilateral, pheochromocytoma benign хх ххх Х х ХХ + + + + + + + X 50 Islets, pancreatic + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + 2 Adenoma 2 Carcinoma X 48 Parathyroid gland + + + + + + Adenoma 1 50 + + Pituitary gland + + + + + + + х Х хх 11 Pars distalis, adenoma X x х х x Thyroid gland + + + + + + + + + + + 50 Bilateral, follicular cell, adenoma 1 C-cell, adenoma х 2

Individual Animal Lumor Pathology	y UL WIAI	~ 1																					-,-	••	
Number of Days on Study	5	4 7 0	8	5 3 1	3	4	5	6	6	7	9	5 9 2	9		1	1	2	2	3	3	3	3	4	5	7
Carcass ID Number	7	7	8	0 7 3	8	9	9	5	5	6	6	5	6	7	7	8	7	5	7	6	5	5	5	8	9
General Body System None																									
Genital System			•																						
Epididymis	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Preputial gland	+	+	+		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	М	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+		+	+	+
Adenoma			Х																Х			х			
Carcinoma																Х									
Bilateral, carcinoma																									
rostate	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Mesothelioma malignant, metastatic, epididymis																							x		
eminal vesicle	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Mesothelioma malignant, metastatic, epididymis																							x		
Testes	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Mesothelioma malignant, metastatic, epididymis																							x		
Bilateral, interstitial cell, adenoma	Х	Х		Х	Х	Х	Х			Х	Х		Х	Х		Х	Х	Х	Х	х	Х	х	Х	Х	
Interstitial cell, adenoma			Х					х																	x
Iematopoietic System																									
Bone marrow	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
ymph node	+	+	+			+			+	+		+	+			+	+		+	+	+	`+			
ymph node, mandibular	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	М	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
ymph node, mesenteric	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
pleen	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Fibrosarcoma																									
Mesothelioma malignant, metastatic, epididymis																							x		
Thymus	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	М	+	+	+	+	+
Thymoma benign																									
ntegumentary System																									
Mammary gland Fibroadenoma	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	М	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	М	+	+
Skin	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	÷	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Keratoacanthoma																									
Squamous cell carcinoma																									
Subcutaneous tissue, fibroma								Х			Х														
Musculoskeletal System					-																				
Bone	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Skeletal muscle										+							+					+	+		
Mesothelioma malignant, metastatic,																									
epididymis																							Х		
• · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·																									
Nervous System																									
Brain	+	+	• •	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	Ŧ
Peripheral nerve										+							++								
Spinal cord										+							-								

J

morvioual Ammai Fumor Facilology	y Or Ivia												•					•							•••	•
Number of Days on Study	6 7 9	6 8 5	9	9	9	0	1	1	2	7 2 8	2	2	2	2	7 2 9	2	2	7 2 9	2	2	2	7 2 9	7 2 9	7 2 9	2	
Carcass ID Number	0 5 1	0 6 1	8	0 7 9	9	9	6	7	7	0 9 0	5	6	6	6	6	8	8	8	8	8	9	0 9 3	9	0 9 9	0	Total Tissues/ Tumors
General Body System None																										
Genital System																		-							_	
Epididymis	+	1			+ +	┝┥	+ +	- +	• +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	÷	+	+	+	+	+	+	50
Preputial gland	+	- 1		+	+ -	+ +	+ +	- +	- +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	49
Adenoma								х																		4
Carcinoma																							х			2
Bilateral, carcinoma												х														1
Prostate	4	. 4			μ _	+ -	⊦ -	+ +	- +	+	+	+	+	÷	+	+	+	+	4	+	+	+	+	+	+	50
Mesothelioma malignant, metastatic, epididymis					-		-		-			-	-			-	-	-			-				-	1
Seminal vesicle	+			+ +	+ -	+ -	F 4	- +	• +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	50
Mesothelioma malignant, metastatic, epididymis		-							,										•							1
Testes	+			+ +	+ -	+ -	+ -	- +	- +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	50
Mesothelioma malignant, metastatic, epididymis																										1
Bilateral, interstitial cell, adenoma	Х	Σ	хх	x x	ζ	2	< >	x x	x	X	Х	Х	х		х	х	х	х	х	х	х	х	х	х	х	42
Interstitial cell, adenoma		2.		3.	- >								-			-			-							4
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·																										
Hematopoietic System																										
Bone marrow	+		⊢ →	+ +	+ -	+ -	+ -	+ +	- +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	÷	+	+	+	50
Lymph node	+		F	4	t-									+		+	+			+	+					22
Lymph node, mandibular	+	• -	+ -	+ +	+ -	+ -	+ •	+ +	+ +	• +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	49
Lymph node, mesenteric	+		+ -	+ +	+ -	+ •	+ -	+ +	+ +	• +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	50
Spleen	+	• -	+ -	+ -	+ -	+ •	+ •	+ +	+ +	• +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	50
Fibrosarcoma															Х											1
Mesothelioma malignant, metastatic, epididymis																										1
Thymus	+		+ -	+ -	+ •	+ •	+ -	+ +	- +	• +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	49
Thymoma benign																		х								1
Integumentary System																						_		_		· · · ·
Mammary gland	+		+ •		+ •	+ ·	+ -	+ +	+ +	• +	+	+		Μ	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	÷	+	+	+	47
Fibroadenoma				2	ĸ								х													2
Skin	4		+ •	+ -	+ •	+ •	+ •	+ +	+ +	• +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	50
Keratoacanthoma				2	X							Х														2
Squamous cell carcinoma					2	x																				1
Subcutaneous tissue, fibroma																										2
Musculoskeletal System															-							_				
Bone	4	+ •	+ -	+ -	+ •	+	+	+ -	+ +	- +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	50
Skeletal muscle	1		• +	•		•	•	•		'	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	5
Mesothelioma malignant, metastatic,																										-
epididymis																										1
Nowyous Systems			_			_					_															
Nervous System																										50
Brain	-		+ •	+ •	+	+	+	+ -	+ +	- +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	ł	+	+	+	50
Peripheral nerve			+																							3
Spinal cord			+																							3

TABLE A2

Individual Animal Tumor Pathology	of Male Rats in the 2-Year Feed Study	of Phenolphthalein: 12,000 ppm (continued)
-----------------------------------	---------------------------------------	--

Number of Days on Study	4	4	4	•	5	5 4	5	5 6	5 6	5 7	5 9	5 9	5 9	6	6	6	6 2	6 2	6	6	6	6	6 4	6	6	,
	8		-	-	8	3	8	•	1	7	1	-	4	0	4	8	-	6	2	3	6	8	6	0) ()
	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	()
Carcass ID Number	7	7	8	7	8	9	9	5	5	6	6	5	6	7	7	8	7	5	7	6	5	5	5	8	9)
	6	7	6	3	3	8	5	4	6	6	7	5	4	4	1	5	5	9	0	2	2	3	7	8	2	2
Respiratory System																										
Lung	+	• +	- +	- +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	• +	• +		ŀ٠	+
Alveolar/bronchiolar adenoma																										
Alveolar/bronchiolar carcinoma																										
Chordoma, metastatic, uncertain																										
primary site Nose							,																			
Trachea -	т L	 		- +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	- + 	т т	 		г · ∟ .	+
	-				т	т	+	Т	т	т	-1	· · ·				.1								1	<u> </u>	
Special Senses System																										
Eye																										
Urinary System																										
Kidney	+	• +	- +	- +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	· +	• - 1		۴ -	÷
Renal tubule, adenoma										х																
Renal tubule, carcinoma																										
Urinary bladder	+	· +	• +	• +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	• +			+ •	÷
Serosa, mesothelioma malignant,																										
metastatic, epididymis																							Х			
Systemic Lesions																										
Multiple organs	+	• +	• +	• +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	· +			۲·	+
Leukemia mononuclear	Х	X	X		Х	Х		Х	Х	х		х	Х	х		х	Х			Х	Х	X	-		-	ζ.
Mesothelioma malignant																							Х		2	ζ (

Individual Animal Tumor Pathology of Male Rats in the 2-Year Feed Study of Phenolphthalein: 12,000 ppm (continued) 6 6 6 67777 7 7 77 7 77 7 7 7 6 7 7 7 7 7 7 Number of Days on Study 951341053899999999999999999999 Total **Carcass ID Number** 5 6 8 7 9 9 6 7 7 9 5 6 6 6 6 8 8 8 8 8 9 9 9 9 0 Tissues/ 1 1 9 9 6 4 8 2 8 0 8 0 3 5 9 0 1 2 4 7 1 3 7 9 0 Tumors **Respiratory System** Lung + + + + + 50 + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + Alveolar/bronchiolar adenoma х 1 Alveolar/bronchiolar carcinoma Х 1 Chordoma, metastatic, uncertain primary site Х 1 Nose + 50 + + + + + + + + + + Trachea 50 + + + + + + + + + + + ++ + + + + + + + + + + + + **Special Senses System** Eye + 1 **Urinary System** Kidney 50 + + + х Х Renal tubule, adenoma х 4 Renal tubule, carcinoma 1 Urinary bladder 50 Serosa, mesothelioma malignant, metastatic, epididymis 1 Systemic Lesions 50 Multiple organs + + + + + + + + + + 27 Leukemia mononuclear хх х ХХ Х хххх Mesothelioma malignant 2

110

TABLE A2

Individual Animal Tumor Pathology of Male Rats in the 2-Year Feed Study of Phenolphthalein: 25,000 ppm

		-	-				-																	_			
															6												
Number of Days on Study															3										7	-	
		2	3	6	4	2	4	1	1	2	3	3	2	3	4	6	5	4	1	1	4	6	0	1	1	1	
		1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	
Carcass ID Number													3					3									
															2												
Alimentary System							÷											-									
Esophagus		+	+	+	+	+	+	. +	. +	. +	• +	+	· +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
Intestine large, colon		÷	÷	+	+	+	+		• +				· +			+				+	+	+	Å	+	+	+	
Intestine large, rectum			÷	÷	+	+	•		•	•	• +	-			+	-									+		
Intestine large, cecum		+ +	+	+	+		+	-	• +		• +					+										+	
Intestine small, duodenum		_	÷	÷	_	_	+				· +							+						+		_	
Intestine small, jejunum		т -	- -	+	-	+		-	-	-	-				+	-								+	+	+	
Intestine small, leum		т _	т Т	т Т			+								A											+	
Liver		т +	+	Ŧ	т -	- -	+						· +			+										+	
Histiocytic sarcoma		т	Ŧ	Ŧ	Ŧ	Ŧ	Ŧ	- +	- 1	- 1	- +	+	-	т	Ŧ	Ŧ	т	Ŧ	т	т	т	т	т	т	Ŧ	т	
Mesentery		т												۰													
-		+												+													
Histiocytic sarcoma																					L						
Oral mucosa Bhannacal scuemous cell carcinoma																					+ X						
Pharyngeal, squamous cell carcinoma																										+	
Pancreas		+	+	+	+	Ŧ	+	• •	- +	- 1	- 1	• +	• +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	Ŧ	+	+	+	
Histiocytic sarcoma																											
Acinus, adenoma																											
Salivary glands		+	+	+	+	+	+					• +	-	-	• +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
Stomach, forestomach		+	+	+	+	+	+		•		- +				• +	•				+		+	+	+	+	+	
Stomach, glandular		+	+	+	+	+	+	1	+		+	- +	• +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
Cardiovascular System																											
Blood vessel		+	+	+	+	+	+	- 4			- +	- +	- +	+	• +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
Heart		+	+	+	+	+	+	- +	- +		+ +	• +	- +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
Schwannoma malignant																											
Endocrine System																									-		
Adrenal cortex		+	+	+	+	+	• +			+ +	+ +	- +	- +	• +	• +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
Adrenal medulla		+	+	+	+	+	• +	+ -		+ +	+ +	- +	- +	• +	• +	+	+	• +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
Pheochromocytoma benign	*	Х								2	C C			Х	X	Х			х								
Bilateral, pheochromocytoma malignant																	х										
Bilateral, pheochromocytoma benign								Х	5		Х	X	2					Х		х		Х		Х		Х	
Islets, pancreatic		+	+	+	+	+	• +	+ +		+ +	+ +	+	+ +	+	• +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	• +	+	
Carcinoma																											
Parathyroid gland		+	+	+	+	• +	• +	+ +	+ +	+ +	+ +		+ +	• +	• +	• +	+	• +	+	+	+	+	+	+	• +	+	
Pituitary gland		+	+	+	+	• +	• +	+ +	+ +	+ +	+ +		+ +	- +	- +	• +	• +	• +	+	+	+	• +	+	• +	• +	+	
Pars distalis, adenoma											X								х						Х		
Thyroid gland		+	+	+	+	• +	• +	+ +	+ +	⊦ -	+ +	⊢ -	+ +	- +	- +	• +	• +	• +	+	+	+	• +	• +	• +	• +	+	
C-cell, adenoma												Х															
C-cell, carcinoma																											
Follicular cell, adenoma																											

Number of Days on Study	8	9	9	9		Ó		1		2	2	2	2	2				2	2	2	2	7 2	2	2		
	1	2	7	8	1	4	0	3	0	7	9	9	9	9	9	9	9	9	9	9	9	9	9	9	9	
	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	Total
Carcass ID Number	2	1	2	4	1 0	4 8	-	3 0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0 7	-	_	17		2	2 7	2	3 6	4 4		Tissues/ Tumors
						0				0	1	4			/			<u> </u>	5	0	/	0		+	0	Tumors
Alimentary System																										50
Esophagus	+	+	+	• •	- +	• +		• +	• +	• +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	50
Intestine large, colon	+	+	+	• •	- +	• •	- +	• +	• +	• +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	49
Intestine large, rectum	+	+	+	• -	- +	• +		• +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	50
Intestine large, cecum	+	+	+	·A	. +	• +	+ +	• +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	44
Intestine small, duodenum	+	+	+		- +	• +	+ +	• +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	49
Intestine small, jejunum	+	+	+	· A	. +		+ +	·A	+	• +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	47
Intestine small, ileum	Α	+	A		- +	+	+ +	·A	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	40
Liver	+	+	+	• •	- +	- 4	+ +	- +	• +	· +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	50
Histiocytic sarcoma																Х										1
Mesentery																+										3
Histiocytic sarcoma																Х										1
Oral mucosa																										1
Pharyngeal, squamous cell carcinoma																										1
Pancreas	+	+	• +		+ +	- +	+ +	- +	• +	• +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	50
Histiocytic sarcoma																Х										1
Acinus, adenoma										Х	X															2
Salivary glands	+	+	• +		+ +		+ +	- N	1+	• +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	49
Stomach, forestomach	+	+	• +		+ +		+ +	- +	• +	• +	• +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	50
Stomach, glandular	+	+	• +		+ 4	- 4	+ +	- +	- +	• +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	50
Cardiovascular System								_																		
Blood vessel	+	4	• +		+ +		+ +	- +	- +	- +	• +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	50
Heart	+	4	+		+ +		+ +		- +	- +	• +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	50
Schwannoma malignant	x																									1
Endocrine System																										
Adrenal cortex	+	4	- 4		+ -1	⊢ -	+ +		- +	- +	• +	• +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	50
Adrenal medulla	+	4		÷ -	۲- ۱	⊦ -	+ -	⊢ -		- +	· +	. .	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	50
Pheochromocytoma benign	x	Х			x	c				•	•	•	•	,	x			•		x	x		x		x	15
Bilateral, pheochromocytoma malignant		•	-		41	-																				10
Bilateral, pheochromocytoma benign			Х	r		y	к 3	2		х			x	х			x	х	x			х		x		19
Islets, pancreatic	L	-			ل ل		• •		<u>ц</u>	- 4				+		+			+	+	+				+	50
Carcinoma	x				•		•				Т		ſ	Г	1	,	•	•	'	•			ſ	ſ	,	1
Parathyroid gland				L .	L -	L .	л.	L 1.	л	ہے ا			. . .		+	+	+	+	+	-			L	L	Ŧ	49
Pituitary gland	+		 {	 L	- 1 L		г. -	с Л С Л	а. Б. Л	1 	۳ بار	- T	. I	Ţ	т 	т 	ᅮ	т _	т 	т 	т _	т 	T L	т [•]	+	49 50
	+	-	_	r. '		_	_			-					+		т	т	+							
Pars distalis, adenoma Thyroid gland		>			2			() 			X		X			X				X		X			Х 	16 49
	+			r '	τ -	r -			- 1	- 1	- +	- +			+ X	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	Ŧ	+	
C-cell, adenoma							2	۲.					v		л											3
C-cell, carcinoma													X	•				77								1
Follicular cell, adenoma												Х	•					х								2

TABLE A2

Individual Animal Tumor Pathology of Male Rats in the 2-Year Feed Study of Phenolphthalein: 25,000 ppm (continued)

Number of Days on Study	3 4 4 5 5 6
Carcass ID Number	1 1
Genital System	
Epididymis	+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +
Preputial gland	+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +
Adenoma	X
Carcinoma	
Prostate	+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +
Seminal vesicle	+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +
Testes	+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +
Bilateral, interstitial cell, adenoma Interstitial cell, adenoma	X X X X X X X X X X X X X X X X X X X
Hematopoietic System	
Bone marrow	+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +
Lymph node	+ $++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++$
Lymph node, mandibular	+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +
Lymph node, mesenteric	+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + M + + + +
Histiocytic sarcoma	
Spleen	+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +
Hemangioma	Х
Histiocytic sarcoma	
Thymus	+ M + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + M + + + + +
Histiocytic sarcoma	
Integumentary System	
Mammary gland	+ + + + + M + + + + + + + + + + + + + +
Adenoma	
Fibroadenoma	
Skin	+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +
Basal cell adenoma	
Keratoacanthoma	Х
Subcutaneous tissue, fibroma	
Subcutaneous tissue, histiocytic	
sarcoma	
Musculoskeletal System	
Bone	+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +
Skeletal muscle	+ +
Osteosarcoma	
Nervous System	
Brain	* + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +
Peripheral nerve	+ +
Spinal cord	+ +
Respiratory System	
Lung	+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +
Histiocytic sarcoma	
Osteosarcoma, metastatic, skeletal	
· · · ·	
muscle	
muscle Nose	+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +
	+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +
Nose	+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

8.	J			_		-											P						<u> </u>		FF.	
Number of Days on Study	8	6 9 2	6 9 7		0	0	7 1 0	1	2		2	2	2	2	77 22 99	2	2 2	2	2	2	2 2	2 :	2	7 2 9	2	
Carcass ID Number	1 2 0	1 1 1	2	1 4 5	1	4	1 0 3	3	0	0	0	0	0	0	1 1 0 1 7 5	1	. 1	2	2	2	2	2 :	3		4	Total Tissues/ Tumors
Genital System															-								_			
Epididymis	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+ -	+ +	+ +	• +			+ -	+	+	+	+	50
Preputial gland	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+			+	+	+	+	+ -	+ -	+ +	- +			+ •	+	+	+	+	50
Adenoma					Х					Х											ζ.					4
Carcinoma																			Х		K					2
Prostate	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+ -	+ -	+ +	- +			+ •	+	+	+	+	50
Seminal vesicle	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+ •	+ -	+ +				+ •	+	+	+	+	50
Testes	+	+	+	+	+	+		+	+						+ -		+ +	- +			+ -			+		50
Bilateral, interstitial cell, adenoma Interstitial cell, adenoma	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	х	Х	Х	Х	х	X	Х	X	X	хУ	< >		x			K 2	Κ.	х	Х	х	46 3
Hematopoietic System							_												••							
Bone marrow	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+ -	+ -	+ +	- +		- -	+ •	+	+	+	+	50
Lymph node	+	+	+	•	•	•	+	+	+	+	•	•	•	•	+	-	+		4	-		+	+	•	•	27
Lymph node, mandibular	+	+	+	+	+	+		М		+	+	+	+	+	+ -	+ -	+ 4	- +	- 4		+ •	+	+	+	+	49
Lymph node, mesenteric	+	+	+	M	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+ -	+ -	+ +			1.	+ •	+	+	+	+	47
Histiocytic sarcoma		-	-				•		-							κ.			-	-						1
Spleen	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+ -		+ +			- .	+ •	+ '	+	+	+	50
Hemangioma Histiocytic sarcoma	·		·	-	-							-		·		K		-								1
Thymus	+	+	· +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+		- + -	+ +	+		Ļ.	+ -	+	+	м	+	47
Histiocytic sarcoma																ĸ										1
Integumentary System														-										-		
Mammary gland	+	+	+	+	+	+	М	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+ •	+ -	+ +		+ +	+ -	+ ·	+	+	+	+	48
Adenoma													Х													1
Fibroadenoma																				2	ĸ				х	2
Skin	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+ •	+ -	+ +		+ +	ŀ	+ -	+	+	+	+	50
Basal cell adenoma												Х														1
Keratoacanthoma												Х			Х											3
Subcutaneous tissue, fibroma																							Х			1
Subcutaneous tissue, histiocytic															_											
sarcoma																X										1
Musculoskeletal System										,																20
Bone	+		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+ ·	+ •	+ +			ł	+	+	+	+	+	50
Skeletal muscle		+																					+			4
Osteosarcoma															_					_			x			1
Nervous System																										E 0
Brain	+		+	· +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+ •	+ -		+ -	t	+	+	+	+	+	50
Peripheral nerve Spinal cord		+																								3 3
Respiratory System																										
Lung	+	· +	• +	• +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+		+	+ -	+ -	+ •	ł	+	+	+	+	+	50
Histiocytic sarcoma																х										1
Osteosarcoma, metastatic, skeletal																										
muscle																							Х			1
Nose	+	- +	- +	• +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+ •	+ -	+ -	ł	+	+	+	+	+	50
Squamous cell carcinoma, metastatic,																										
oral mucosa Trachea																										1 50

TABLE A2

80													•		_			•								,
,, <u>,,,,</u> ,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,	3	3	4	4	4	5	5	6	6	6	6	6	6	6	6	6	6	6	6	6	6	6	6	6	6	<u> </u>
Number of Days on Study	7	8	1	4	8	8	9	0	2	2	2	3	3	3	3	4	5	6	6	6	6	7	7	7	8	
	2	3	6	4	2	4	1	1	2	3	3	2	3	4	6	5	4	1	1	4	6	0	1	1	1	
• · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	
Carcass ID Number	4	3	3	4	4	0	4	2	1	1	3	3	3	3	4	5	3	1	2	2	2	3	1	4	1	,
	1	4	1	7	3	2	9	1	2	3	9	5	7	2	2	0	8	4	2	4	3	3	8	0	9	
Special Senses System									-																	
Ear	+																									
Zymbal's gland Adenoma																										
Urinary System																										<u></u>
Kidney	+	+	• +	• +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
Renal tubule, adenoma																										
Renal tubule, carcinoma																										
Transitional epithelium, carcinoma																								Х		
Urinary bladder	+	+	• +	• +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
Systemic Lesions					· · · · · ·											_										
Multiple organs	+	+	• +	• +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
Histiocytic sarcoma																										
Leukemia mononuclear		Х			х	х	х	х	х	х			х			х		х	х			Х	Х		Х	

	6	6	6	6	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	
Number of Days on Study	8	9	9	9	0	0	1	1	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	
	1	2	. 7	8	1	4	0	3	0	7	9	9	9	9	9	9	9	9	9	9	9	9	9	9	9	
	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	Total
Carcass ID Number	2	1	2	4	1	4	0	3	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	1	2	2	2	2	3	4	4	Tissues/
	0	1	9	5	0	8	3	0	9	8	1	4	5	6	7	5	6	7	5	6	7	8	6	4	6	Tumors
Special Senses System																					_					
Ear																										1
Zymbal's gland					+	•																				1
Adenoma					Х																					1
Urinary System																										
Kidney	+		+ -	+ +	+ +	- +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	50
Renal tubule, adenoma		2	ζ.																				х			2
Renal tubule, carcinoma										х																1
Transitional epithelium, carcinoma																										1
Urinary bladder	+		+ -	+ -	+ +	• +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	50
Systemic Lesions																										
Multiple organs	+		+ -	+ -	+ +	+ +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	50
Histiocytic sarcoma																х										1
Leukemia mononuclear	х		2	<i>c</i>		х		v	х							_	v	v	х			v	x			24

TABLE A2

Number of Days on Study	4		5 2												6 3										
uniber of Days on Study	5														3										
	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1							1										
Carcass ID Number	5 9	8 0	6 7				6 4						5 6		9 8		8 3								
Alimentary System	,,,,					<u></u> -	·								<u> </u>										
Esophagus	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Intestine large, colon	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	Α	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	Μ	+	+
Intestine large, rectum	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Intestine large, cecum	+	Α	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	Α	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	Α	+	+	М	Α	+
Intestine small, duodenum	+	Α	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	Α	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	М	+	+
Intestine small, jejunum	+	Α	+	+	Α	+	+	+	+	Α	+	+	+	Α	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	М	Α	+
Intestine small, ileum	+	Α	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	Α	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	Α	+	+	+	+	М	Α	Α
Liver	+	+	+	+											+								+		
Hepatocellular adenoma																								х	
Hepatocellular adenoma, multiple																									
Mesentery			+														+								
Pancreas	+	Α		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	М	Α	+
Mesothelioma malignant, metastatic, epididymis																x									
Acinus, adenoma																~									
Salivary glands	+	+	+	+	- I -	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	м	+	+	+	+	+	+
Stomach, forestomach	T L			т - т	т —	т —	+		+						+										
Stomach, glandular	י ע		، ــــــــــــــــــــــــــــــــــــ	т Т	т 	т —			+	+	+		+				+								
Tooth		'		I	'	I	•	'	'	•	•	'	•		+			•	,	'	'	'	1.11	'	•
Cardiovascular System																			_						
Blood vessel	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Heart	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Endocrine System																									
Adrenal cortex	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Adrenal medulla	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Pheochromocytoma malignant									_	_		_													
Pheochromocytoma benign			Х		х			_		х	_	х		х	х	х			-	X	х		Х	х	
Bilateral, pheochromocytoma benign				Х				х			х		Х					Х							X
Islets, pancreatic	+	A	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	М	+	+
Adenoma											х														
Carcinoma																									
Parathyroid gland	-	• +	+	+	+	+									+										
Pituitary gland	-	· +	+	+			+		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+		
Pars distalis, adenoma					Х			Х							Х									Х	
Thyroid gland	4	• +	+	+	+	+			+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	Μ	+	+	+	+	+	
C-cell, adenoma							Х								Х										х
C-cell, carcinoma																									
Follicular cell, adenoma																									

Individual Animal Tumor Pathology of Male Rats in the 2-Year Feed Study of Phenolphthalein: 50,000 ppm

None

•

	6	6	U	U	0	7	, ,	'7	/	17	/	/	7	'	1	7	1	7	1	1	1	7	7	7	/	7	
Number of Days on Study	7	7	8	9	9	0) 1	1	1	1	l	1	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	
	3	3	5	3	6	C) () 1	7	7	7	8	0	9	9	9	9	9	9	9	9	9	9	9	9	9	
	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	2	Total
Carcass ID Number	5	7	5	9	6	8	37	5	; 9) 9	9	8	7	5	5	5	6	7	7	7	7	8	8	8	9	0	Tissues/
	8	3	1	2	5	8	8 6	i 4	1	19)	4	1	3	5	7	0	0	2	4	7	1	2	6	7	0	Tumors
Alimentary System																											
Esophagus	+	+	• +		+ +	+ -	+ -	+ -	+ -	+ •	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	÷	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	50
Intestine large, colon	+	+	- +		+ +	+ •	+ •	+ -	+ -	+ •	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+-	48
Intestine large, rectum	+	+	+	- +	+ +	+ -	+ -	+ -	+ -	+ •	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	50
Intestine large, cecum	Α	4	+		+ A	۰ ۱	÷ •	+ -	+ A	۸	A	Α	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	40
Intestine small, duodenum	+	4	• -+		+ -	+ -	+ -	+ -	+ -	+ •	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	47
Intestine small, jejunum	+	4	+		+ A		+ -	+ -					+.	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	42
Intestine small, ileum	A	4	+		+ A		+ -	+ -		+ •			+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	41
Liver	+				+ -	- + -				+ •					+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	50
Hepatocellular adenoma																			-			•		•	•	•	1
Hepatocellular adenoma, multiple '							2	ĸ																			1
Mesentery				_	ł		1	-																			3
Pancreas	+	-				+ -	+ -	+ -	+ -	+ •	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	47
Mesothelioma malignant, metastatic,						•			•		•		•	•	•			•	•	•			•	•		•	11
epididymis																											1
Acinus, adenoma																								х			1
Salivary glands	-					г.	т.	+ -	ц.	т.	<u>т</u>	+	+	+	т	Т	+	+	Т	Т	ъ	+	ᆂ		ъ	т	49
Stomach, forestomach	1				• -	г 	т. т.		т. _	т 	т -	т 	т _	т Т	т 	т 	т 	т -	т 	т 					т - т	т 	49
Stomach, glandular					т - ⊥ _		т. т.	т - – –	 	т —		т —	+	т Т	т -	т _	+	т _	т 	т -	т -	т 	т 		т —	- -	49
Tooth	•		1		1	I	- T			T	т	т	Ŧ	-1-	Ŧ	т	т	-	т	Ŧ	Ŧ	т	т	т	т	т	1
Cardiovascular System																											
Blood vessel	+			⊢ -	÷ -	÷.	+ .	÷ -	+ -	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	50
Heart					+ -	, ↓ ,	+ .	+ .	+ .		+	+	+	+	÷	+	+	+	.+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	50
	•			, 					•	'	•	•			•	•			<u> </u>	•			•				
Endocrine System																											50
Adrenal cortex	+				+ -	+ ·	+ ·	+ •	+ ·	+ ·	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	50
Adrenal medulla	+				+ -	+ ·	+ •	+ •			+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	50
Pheochromocytoma malignant										X					*7					Х							2
Pheochromocytoma benign		Σ	•		-					X					X	Х			Х			Х			Х		19
Bilateral, pheochromocytoma benign						K I			x		X			X				X						X			15
Islets, pancreatic	+	• •		r -	+ •	+	+ ·	+ •	+ •	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	48
Adenoma																											1
Carcinoma	-						X																,				2
Parathyroid gland	N	-		+ •	+ •			+ •	+ •			Μ		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	46
Pituitary gland	+			+ •	+ •	+		+ ·	+ ·	+			+			+	+	+	+	+	+			+	+	+	50
Pars distalis, adenoma								X				X		X									X			X	11
Thyroid gland	+			+ •	+ •	+	+	+ ·	+ ·	+	+	+	+	+	+	÷	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	49
C-cell, adenoma		Σ	C I																								4
C-cell, carcinoma							Х					х															2
Follicular cell, adenoma			2	ζ.			Х														Х						3

Individual Animal Tumor Pathology of Male Rats in the 2-Year Feed Study of Phenolphthalein: 50,000 ppm (continued)

																											-	
Number of Days on Study		8	5 2 4	2	4	4	6	7	8	9	9	1	2.	2 2	6 (2 : 6 :	3 3	34	4 :	5	5		6	6	6	6 6 8	7		
Carcass ID Number		5	8	6	9	8		6	9	6	8	9	5	5	1 7 9 5 8) (6 8	8 (1 6 (8 (6		7	8	9	1 6 9	9		
Genital System			_							•																		
Epididymis		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+		
Preputial gland		+	+	+	+	+	+		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+		
Adenoma									х																			
Prostate		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+		
Seminal vesicle		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+		
Festes		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+		
Mesothelioma malignant, metastatic, epididymis																	X											
Bilateral, interstitial cell, adenoma Interstitial cell, adenoma		х	х	х	Х	х	Х		x	х	х	х	х	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	х	х	х	x		x		
Hematopoietic System		-					_								_													
Bone marrow		+	Α	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+		
Lymph node				+	+			+	+	+			+	+	+		+	+	+	+					+			
Mediastinal, carcinoma, metastatic, kidney																						٠						
Renal, carcinoma, metastatic, kidney																												
ymph node, mandibular		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+						+			
ymph node, mesenteric		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+		•	-	-		A			
pleen		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+						+			
Thymus		+	+	+	+	M	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	M	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+		
Integumentary System	- •										÷	•									• •							
Mammary gland Fibroadenoma		+	+	Μ	[+	+	+	+	+	+	+	Μ	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+		
Skin		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+		
Keratoacanthoma				x																								
Pinna, schwannoma malignant								х																				
Subcutaneous tissue, fibroma																												
Subcutaneous tissue, schwannoma																												
malignant										х																		
Musculoskeletal System															_													
Bone		L.				+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+		
Cranium, osteosarcoma		-	-	-1	Ŧ	7	.1.		r						•	x	•	•		'	'	•	'		•	•		
Skeletal muscle															+													
	-		_															_						_				
Nervous System																									-			
Brain		+	• +	• +	• +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+		
Respiratory System				÷																								
Lung		+	- +	• +	• +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+		
Alveolar/bronchiolar adenoma																												
Carcinoma, metastatic, kidney																												
Osteosarcoma, metastatic, bone																Х												
Nose		+	- +	- +	- +	• +	• +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+		
Trachea		, +	- +	- +	- +	• +	• +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+		
Special Senses System																												
																+												
Eye Zymbal's gland												+																

.

6 6 6 7 7 6 6 7 7 77 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 Number of Days on Study 7 7 8 99 0 1 1 1 1 1 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 3 3 5 3 6 0 0 1 7 7 8 0 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 99 1 2 Total **Carcass ID Number** 5759687599 8 7 5 5 5 6 7 7 7 7 8 8 8 9 0 Tissues/ 8 3 1 2 5 8 6 4 1 9 4 1 3 5 7 0 0 2 4 7 1 2 6 7 0 Tumors **Genital System** Epididymis + + + + + + + + 50 Preputial gland M + 49 + + + + + + + + + + + + + + 4 Adenoma х Х Х 4 Prostate + 50 + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + Seminal vesicle + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + 4 50 + + + + + + Testes 4 4 + + + + + + + + + 50 Mesothelioma malignant, metastatic, epididymis 2 Bilateral, interstitial cell, adenoma 45 Interstitial cell, adenoma х 4 Hematopoietic System Bone 49 Lymp 20 Μ 1 R 1 49 Lymp Lymp 48 Splee 49

Individual Animal Tumor Pathology of Male Rats in the 2-Year Feed Study of Phenolphthalein: 50,000 ppm (continued)

Bone marrow	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	÷	+	+	+	+	+	+	49
Lymph node	+				+		+										+	+	+	+						20
Mediastinal, carcinoma, metastatic,							••																			
kidney							X																			1
Renal, carcinoma, metastatic, kidney							X																			1
Lymph node, mandibular	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	49
Lymph node, mesenteric	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	48
Spleen	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	49
Thymus	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	Μ	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	47
Integumentary System																										
Mammary gland	+	+	+	+	М	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	47
Fibroadenoma																					Х					1
Skin	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	50
Keratoacanthoma																										1
Pinna, schwannoma malignant																					Х					2
Subcutaneous tissue, fibroma	Х	Х																								2
Subcutaneous tissue, schwannoma																										
malignant																										1
Musculoskeletal System																										•••
Bone	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	-	+	+	50
Cranium, osteosarcoma								-	-			-						-	-				-			1
Skeletal muscle																										1
Nonvous System			-	-							_					_						_				
Nervous System Brain																										50
Brain		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	50
Respiratory System																										
Lung	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	• +	+	+	50
Alveolar/bronchiolar adenoma																							Х			1
Carcinoma, metastatic, kidney							Х																			1
Osteosarcoma, metastatic, bone																										1
Nose	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	50
Trachea	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	• +	+	+	50
Sanadal Sanada Sanadana											-		_					_					_		• • • •	

Special Senses System Eye Zymbal's gland Carcinoma

2

2

2

+

+

х

r

TABLE A2

.

Individual Animal Tumor Pathology of Male Rats in the 2-Year Feed Study of Phenolphthalein: 50,000 ppm (continued)

Number of Days on Study	4 8 5	5 2 4	5 2 8	5 4 1	5 4 2	5 6 3	5 7 0	5 8 5	5 9 1	5 9 4	6 1 2	6 2 2	6 2 4	6 2 6	6 3 3	6 3 6	6 4 5	6 5 2	6 5 4	6 5 9	6 6 4	6 6 4	6 6 5	6	6 7 1	
Carcass ID Number	1 5 9	1 8	1 6 7	1 9 0	1 8 5	1 7 9	1 6 4	1 9 4	1 6 6	1 8 7	1 9 3	1 5 2	1 5 6	1 7 5	1 9 8	1 6 3	1 8 3	1 6 8	1 6 2	1 6 1	1 7 8	1 8 9	1 9 5	1 6 9	1 9	
Urinary System																										
Kidney Renal tubule, adenoma Renal tubule, carcinoma	+	+	+	+	+ x	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+ X	+	+	+	+ x	+ X	+	+	+	+	+ X	+	
Renal tubule, oncocytoma benign Urinary bladder	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	• +	+	
Systemic Lesions															-											
Multiple organs Leukemia mononuclear Mesothelioma malignant	+	+ X	+ X	+ X	+	+ X	+ X	+ X	+ X	+	+ X	+ X	+	+ X	+ X		+ x	+ X	+	+	+ X	+ X		• +	+	

.

	6	6	6	6	6	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	
Number of Days on Study	7	7	8	9	9	0	1	1	1	1	1	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	
	3	3	5	3	6	0	0	1	7	7	8	0	9	9	9	9	9	9	9	9	9	9	9	9	9	
	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	2	Total
Carcass ID Number	5	7	5	9	6	8	7	5	9	9	8	7	5	5	5	6	7	7	7	7	8	8	8	9	0	Tissues/
	8	3	1	2	5	8	6	4	1	9	4	1	3	5	7	0	0	2	4	7	1	2	6	7	0	Tumors
Urinary System								-	-																	
Kidney	+	+	- +	+ +	• +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	50
Renal tubule, adenoma							Х											Х								6
Renal tubule, carcinoma							Х																			2
Renal tubule, oncocytoma benign											Х															1
Urinary bladder	+	- +	+	- +	• +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	ł	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	50
Systemic Lesions														_												
Multiple organs	4			+ +	• +	• +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	50
Leukemia mononuclear	х			Х				х			х		х	х	х		х		х	х	Х		х	х	х	29
Mesothelioma malignant																										2

	0 ppm	12,000 ppm	25,000 ppm	50,000 ppm
Adrenal Medulla: Benign Pheochromocytoma	<u> </u>			
Overall rate ^a	17/50 (34%)	34/50 (68%)	34/50 (68%)	34/50 (68%)
djusted rate ^b	62.1%	88.6%	93.7%	87.0%
erminal rate ^c	11/21 (52%)	11/15 (73%)	13/15 (87%)	9/13 (69%)
irst incidence (days)	608	485	372	528
ife table test ^d	P = 0.003	P<0.001	P<0.001	P<0.001
ogistic regression test ^d	P = 0.005 P = 0.006	P<0.001	P<0.001	P = 0.001
ochran-Armitage test ^d	P = 0.000 P = 0.003	r < 0.001	F < 0.001	F=0.001
isher exact test ^d	1 - 0.005	P<0.001	P<0.001	P<0.001
Adrenal Medulla: Benign or Malignant Pheochro	•	35/50 (70%)	35/50 /70 %	35/50 /700
	18/50 (36%)	35/50 (70%)	35/50 (70%)	35/50 (70%)
djusted rate	62.9%	88.9%	93.9%	90.3%
erminal rate	11/21 (52%)	11/15 (73%)	13/15 (87%) 272	10/13 (77%)
irst incidence (days)	330 B-0.002	485 R < 0.001	372 R < 0.001	528 B < 0.001
ife table test	P = 0.003	P<0.001	P<0.001	P<0.001
ogistic regression test	P = 0.005 P = 0.003	P<0.001	P<0.001	P=0.001
Cochran-Armitage test Fisher exact test	P=0.003	P<0.001	P<0.001	P<0.001
Kidney (Renal Tubule): Adenoma (Single Section			A 1 A A A A	
Overall rate	0/50 (0%)	4/50 (8%)	2/50 (4%)	6/50 (12%)
djusted rate	0.0%	20.4%	10.6%	22.4%
erminal rate	0/21 (0%)	2/15 (13%)	1/15 (7%)	1/13 (8%)
irst incidence (days)	e	577	692	542
ife table test	P=0.015	P=0.040	P=0.195	P=0.017
ogistic regression test	P=0.026	P=0.060	P=0.233	P=0.018
Cochran-Armitage test	P=0.023	D-0.050	B-0.247	B -0.012
isher exact test		₽=0.059	P=0.247	P=0.013
Kidney (Renal Tubule): Adenoma (Step Sections)				
Overall rate	1/50 (2%)	7/50 (14%)	15/50 (30%)	11/50 (22%)
Adjusted rate	4.8%	36.4%	64.9%	51.1%
Cerminal rate	1/21 (5%)	4/15 (27%)	8/15 (53%)	5/13 (38%)
First incidence (days)	729 (T)	691	664 D 40 001	542 D 10 001
ife table test	P<0.001	P=0.012	P<0.001	P<0.001
ogistic regression test	P=0.003	P=0.017	P<0.001	P=0.003
Cochran-Armitage test	P=0.005	D-0.020	R < 0.001	P=0.002
isher exact test		P=0.030	P<0.001	P=0.002
Kidney (Renal Tubule): Adenoma (Single and Ste	•			
Overall rate	1/50 (2%)	10/50 (20%)	15/50 (30%)	15/50 (30%)
djusted rate	4.8%	46.9%	64.9%	61.8%
Terminal rate	1/21 (5%)	5/15 (33%)	8/15 (53%)	6/13 (46%)
First incidence (days)	729 (T)	577	664	542
Life table test	P<0.001	P=0.001	P<0.001	P<0.001
ogistic regression test	P<0.001	P=0.003	P<0.001	P<0.001
Cochran-Armitage test	P<0.001	D	D +0.004	D +0.004
Fisher exact test		P=0.004	P<0.001	P<0.001

	0 ppm	12,000 ppm	25,000 ppm	50,000 ppm
Kidney (Renal Tubule): Adenoma or C	Carcinoma (Single Sections)			
Overall rate	0/50 (0%)	5/50 (10%)	3/50 (6%)	7/50 (14%)
Adjusted rate	0.0%	24.0%	16.1%	24.7%
erminal rate	0/21 (0%)	2/15 (13%)	1/15 (7%)	1/13 (8%)
Virst incidence (days)		577	692	542
Life table test	P=0.011	P = 0.020	P = 0.084	P=0.011
ogistic regression test	P = 0.020	P = 0.020 P = 0.031	P = 0.106	P = 0.009
Cochran-Armitage test	P = 0.017	1 -0.031	1-0.100	1~0.009
Fisher exact test	1-0.017	P=0.028	P=0.121	P=0.006
		1 0.020		1 0.000
Kidney (Renal Tubule): Adenoma or C				
Overall rate	1/50 (2%)	7/50 (14%)	15/50 (30%)	11/50 (22%)
Adjusted rate	4.8%	36.4%	64.9%	51.1%
Terminal rate	1/21 (5%)	4/15 (27%)	8/15 (53%)	5/13 (38%)
First incidence (days)	729 (T)	691	664	542
Life table test	P<0.001	P=0.012	P<0.001	P<0.001
ogistic regression test	P=0.003	P=0.017	P<0.001	P=0.003
Cochran-Armitage test	P=0.005			
Fisher exact test		P=0.030	P<0.001	P=0.002
Kidney (Renal Tubule): Adenoma or (Carcinoma (Single and Step Se	ections)		
Overall rate	1/50 (2%)	10/50 (20%)	16/50 (32%)	16/50 (32%)
Adjusted rate	4.8%	46.9%	67.1%	62.9%
Ferminal rate	1/21 (5%)	5/15 (33%)	8/15 (53%)	6/13 (46%)
First incidence (days)	729 (T)	577	664	542
Life table test	P<0.001	P=0.001	P<0.001	P<0.001
Logistic regression test	P<0.001	P=0.003	P<0.001	P<0.001
Cochran-Armitage test	P<0.001			
Fisher exact test		P=0.004	P <0.001	P<0.001
Liver: Hepatocellular Adenoma				
Overall rate	1/50 (2%)	3/50 (6%)	0/50 (0%)	2/50 (4%)
Adjusted rate	4.5%	9.4%	0.0%	8.8%
Ferminal rate	0/21 (0%)	0/15 (0%)	0/15 (0%)	0/13 (0%)
First incidence (days)	727	577	_	668
Life table test	P=0.532	P=0.285	P = 0.564N	P = 0.409
Logistic regression test	P=0.571	P=0.307	P=0.554N	P=0.495
Cochran-Armitage test	P=0.562			
Fisher exact test		P=0.309	P=0.500N	P=0.500
Mammary Gland: Fibroadenoma				
Overall rate	6/50 (12%)	2/50 (4%)	2/50 (4%)	1/50 (2%)
Adjusted rate	22.8%	10.9%	13.3%	7.7%
Terminal rate	3/21 (14%)	1/15 (7%)	2/15 (13%)	1/13 (8%)
First incidence (days)	534	693	729 (T)	729 (T)
Life table test	P=0.092N	P=0.231N	P=0.235N	P=0.131N
Logistic regression test	P=0.041N	P=0.138N	P=0.120N	P=0.054N
Cochran-Armitage test	P=0.043N			
Fisher exact test		P=0.134N	P=0.134N	P=0.056N

TABLE	A3
-------	----

	0 ppm	12,000 ppm	25,000 ppm	50,000 ppm
Mammary Gland: Fibroadenoma or Adenoma				
Overall rate	7/50 (14%)	2/50 (4%)	3/50 (6%)	1/50 (2%)
Adjusted rate	26.0%	10.9%	20.0%	7.7%
Terminal rate	3/21 (14%)	1/15 (7%)	3/15 (20%)	1/13 (8%)
First incidence (days)	534	693	729 (T)	729 (T)
Life table test	P = 0.075N	P = 0.162N	P = 0.295N	P = 0.088N
Logistic regression test	P = 0.030N	P = 0.084N	P = 0.142N	P = 0.030N
Cochran-Armitage test	P = 0.030N	1 0.00	1 0.11211	1 0.05011
Fisher exact test		P=0.080N	P=0.159N	P=0.030N
Pancreatic Islets: Adenoma				
Overall rate	3/50 (6%)	2/50 (4%)	0/50 (0%)	1/48 (2%)
Adjusted rate	13.6%	11.9%	0.0%	2.5%
Terminal rate	2/21 (10%)	1/15 (7%)	0/15 (0%)	0/13 (0%)
First incidence (days)	727	715	_ ``	612
Life table test	P = 0.242N	P=0.644N	P=0.186N	P=0.425N
Logistic regression test	P=0.169N	P=0.612N	P=0.175N	P=0.311N
Cochran-Armitage test	P=0.171N			
Fisher exact test		P=0.500N	P=0.121N	P=0.324N
Pancreatic Islets: Adenoma or Carcinoma				
Overall rate	4/50 (8%)	4/50 (8%)	1/50 (2%)	3/48 (6%)
Adjusted rate	18.2%	19.1%	3.8%	12.2%
Ferminal rate	3/21 (14%)	1/15 (7%)	0/15 (0%)	0/13 (0%)
First incidence (days)	727	638	681	612
Life table test	P=0.466N	P=0.483	P=0.271N	P=0.635
Logistic regression test	P=0.344N	P=0.593	P=0.199N	P=0.525N
Cochran-Armitage test	P=0.361N			
Fisher exact test		P=0.643N	P=0.181N	P=0.523N
Pituitary Gland (Pars Distalis): Adenoma				
Overall rate	13/50 (26%)	11/50 (22%)	16/50 (32%)	11/50 (22%)
Adjusted rate	42.9%	50.8%	67.3%	51.3%
Terminal rate	6/21 (29%)	6/15 (40%)	8/15 (53%)	5/13 (38%)
First incidence (days)	407 R=0.362	610 B=0.555	623 P=0.169	542 P=0.528
Life table test	P = 0.362	P = 0.555	P = 0.169 P = 0.388	P = 0.328 P = 0.367N
Logistic regression test	P=0.390N P=0.449N	P=0.391N	r =0.566	r =0.50/10
Cochran-Armitage test Fisher exact test	r=0.449N	P=0.408N	P=0.330	P=0.408N
Preputial Gland: Adenoma				
Overall rate	5/50 (10%)	4/49 (8%)	4/50 (8%)	4/49 (8%)
Adjusted rate	21.9%	13.5%	18.4%	22.9%
Terminal rate	4/21 (19%)	0/15 (0%)	1/15 (7%)	2/13 (15%)
First incidence (days)	671	485	416	585
Life table test	P=0.543	P=0.613N	P=0.625	P=0.561
Logistic regression test	P = 0.439N	P = 0.502N	P=0.472N	P=0.539N
Cochran-Armitage test	P=0.458N			
Fisher exact test		P=0.513N	P=0.500N	P=0.513N

	0 ppm	12,000 ppm	25,000 ppm	50,000 ppm
Preputial Gland: Carcinoma				• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •
Overall rate	0/50 (0%)	3/49 (6%)	2/50 (4%)	0/49 (0%)
Adjusted rate	0.0%	15.8%	13.3%	0.0%
Ferminal rate	0/21 (0%)	2/15 (13%)	2/15 (13%)	0/13 (0%)
First incidence (days)		618	729 (T)	
Life table test	P=0.498N	P = 0.092	P=0.166	-
Logistic regression test	P=0.419N	P = 0.114	P = 0.166	
Cochran-Armitage test	P = 0.405N	1 - 0.114	1-0.100	
Fisher exact test	1 - 0. (OSI)	P=0.117	P=0.247	-
Preputial Gland: Adenoma or Carcinon	na			
Overall rate	5/50 (10%)	7/49 (14%)	5/50 (10%)	4/49 (8%)
Adjusted rate	21.9%	27.2%	24.2%	22.9%
Cerminal rate	4/21 (19%)	2/15 (13%)	2/15 (13%)	2/13 (15%)
First incidence (days)	671	485	416	585
Life table test	P=0.491N	P=0.263	P=0.466	P=0.561
ogistic regression test	P=0.316N	P=0.375	P = 0.602N	P=0.539N
Cochran-Armitage test	P=0.339N			
isher exact test		P=0.365	P=0.630N	P=0.513N
Skin: Keratoacanthoma				
Overall rate	4/50 (8%)	2/50 (4%)	3/50 (6%)	1/50 (2%)
djusted rate	17.5%	10.9%	15.4%	2.1%
erminal rate	3/21 (14%)	1/15 (7%)	2/15 (13%)	0/13 (0%)
First incidence (days)	685	693	622	528
Life table test	P=0.245N	P = 0.468N	P=0.614N	P=0.276N
ogistic regression test	P=0.153N	P=0.391N	P=0.493N	P=0.168N
Cochran-Armitage test	P=0.164N			
isher exact test		P=0.339N	P=0.500N	P=0.181N
Skin: Keratoacanthoma or Squamous C	Cell Carcinoma			
Overall rate	4/50 (8%)	3/50 (6%)	3/50 (6%)	1/50 (2%)
Adjusted rate	17.5%	15.2%	15.4%	2.1%
Cerminal rate	3/21 (14%)	1/15 (7%)	2/15 (13%)	0/13 (0%)
First incidence (days)	685	693	622	528
Life table test	P=0.212N	P=0.640N	P = 0.614N	P = 0.276N
ogistic regression test	P = 0.125N	P=0.556N	P=0.493N	P = 0.168N
Cochran-Armitage test	P=0.136N		n a 70007	D
Fisher exact test		P=0.500N	P=0.500N	P=0.181N
Skin: Keratoacanthoma, Basal Cell Ad				
Overall rate	5/50 (10%)	3/50 (6%)	3/50 (6%)	1/50 (2%)
Adjusted rate	22.0%	15.2%	15.4%	2.1%
ferminal rate	4/21 (19%)	1/15 (7%)	2/15 (13%)	0/13 (0%)
First incidence (days)	685 D-0 141N	693 D-0 512N	622 D=0.484N	528 D-0 100N
Life table test	P=0.141N	P = 0.512N	P = 0.484N	P = 0.190N
Logistic regression test	P = 0.073N	P=0.416N	P=0.353N	P=0.095N
Cochran-Armitage test	P=0.080N	D_0.057N	D-0.2573	D-0 100N
Fisher exact test		P=0.357N	P=0.357N	P = 0.102N

	0 ppm	12,000 ppm	25,000 ppm	50,000 ppm
Skin (Subcutaneous Tissue): Fibroma		· · · · · ·		
Overall rate	3/50 (6%)	2/50 (4%)	1/50 (2%)	2/50 (4%)
djusted rate	10.8%	4.8%	6.7%	8.0%
erminal rate	1/21 (5%)	0/15 (0%)	1/15 (7%)	0/13 (0%)
irst incidence (days)	534	561	729 (T)	673
ife table test	P=0.448N	P = 0.526N	P = 0.385N	P = 0.568N
ogistic regression test	P = 0.407N	P = 0.518N	P = 0.292N	P=0.488N
ochran-Armitage test	P = 0.404N			2
sher exact test		P=0.500N	P=0.309N	P=0.500N
kin (Pinna and Subcutaneous Tissue): Mal	ignant Schwannoma			
Overall rate	2/50 (4%)	0/50 (0%)	0/50 (0%)	3/50 (6%)
djusted rate	7.6%	0.0%	0.0%	11.9%
erminal rate	1/21 (5%)	0/15 (0%)	0/15 (0%)	1/13 (8%)
irst incidence (days)	608	_	<u> </u>	570
ife table test	P=0.220	P=0.266N	P=0.251N	P=0.457
ogistic regression test	P=0.234	P=0.235N	P=0.231N	P=0.493
ochran-Armitage test	P = 0.241			
sher exact test		P=0.247N	P=0.247N	P=0.500
estes: Adenoma				
verali rate	46/50 (92%)	46/50 (92%)	49/50 (98%)	49/50 (98%)
djusted rate	100.0%	97.8%	100.0%	100.0%
rminal rate	21/21 (100%)	14/15 (93%)	15/15 (100%)	13/13 (100%)
rst incidence (days)	486	458	372	485
fe table test	P=0.112	P=0.233	P=0.180	P=0.103
ogistic regression test	P=0.223	P=0.365N	P=0.225	P=0.680
ochran-Armitage test	P=0.076			
sher exact test		P=0.643N	P=0.181	P=0.181
hyroid Gland (C-cell): Adenoma				
overall rate	9/50 (18%)	2/50 (4%)	3/49 (6%)	4/49 (8%)
djusted rate	35.3%	8.2%	13.7%	12.3%
erminal rate	6/21 (29%)	0/15 (0%)	1/15 (7%)	0/13 (0%)
irst incidence (days)	571	531	623	570
ife table test	P=0.216N	P = 0.061N	P=0.111N	P = 0.214N
ogistic regression test	P=0.137N	P=0.026N	P=0.055N	P = 0.108N
ochran-Armitage test	P=0.152N	D	D. O. COM	D 0 1003
sher exact test		P=0.026N	P=0.065N	P=0.125N
hyroid Gland (C-cell): Adenoma or Carcin				C140 (10 M)
overall rate	9/50 (18%)	2/50 (4%)	4/49 (8%)	6/49 (12%)
djusted rate	35.3%	8.2%	19.9%	22.2%
erminal rate	6/21 (29%)	0/15 (0%)	2/15 (13%)	0/13 (0%)
irst incidence (days)	571	531	623 D 0 2000	570
ife table test	P=0.532N	P = 0.061N	P = 0.200N	P=0.459N
ogistic regression test	P=0.386N	P=0.026N	P=0.106N	P=0.271N
ochran-Armitage test isher exact test	P=0.417N	P=0.026N	P=0.125N	P=0.303N

	0 ррт	12,000 ppm	25,000 ppm	50,000 ppm
Thyroid Gland (Follicular Cell): Adenoma			····	
Overall rate	0/50 (0%)	1/50 (2%)	2/49 (4%)	3/49 (6%)
Adjusted rate	0.0%	3.6%	13.3%	16.1%
Terminal rate	0/21 (0%)	0/15 (0%)	2/15 (13%)	1/13 (8%)
First incidence (days)	-	646	729 (T)	685
Life table test	P=0.039	P=0.493	P=0.166	P=0.076
Logistic regression test	P = 0.057	P = 0.500	P = 0.166	P = 0.110
Cochran-Armitage test	P = 0.059	1 - 0.500	1-0.100	1-0.110
Fisher exact test	x = 0.037	P=0.500	P=0.242	P=0.117
Thyroid Gland (Follicular Cell): Adenoma or C	arcinoma			
Overall rate	1/50 (2%)	1/50 (2%)	2/49 (4%)	3/49 (6%)
Adjusted rate	2.4%	3.6%	13.3%	16.1%
Ferminal rate	0/21 (0%)	0/15 (0%)	2/15 (13%)	1/13 (8%)
First incidence (days)	529	646	729 (T)	685
Life table test	P=0.121	P = 0.752N	P=0.430	P=0.241
Logistic regression test	P = 0.168	P=0.735	P = 0.500	P=0.305
Cochran-Armitage test	P = 0.158			
Fisher exact test		P=0.753N	P=0.492	P=0.301
All Organs: Mononuclear Cell Leukemia				
Overall rate	31/50 (62%)	27/50 (54%)	24/50 (48%)	29/50 (58%)
Adjusted rate	76.0%	67.6%	65.0%	87.4%
Terminal rate	12/21 (57%)	5/15 (33%)	5/15 (33%)	10/13 (77%)
First incidence (days)	330	458	383	524
Life table test	P=0.448	P=0.503N	P=0.284N	P = 0.412
Logistic regression test	P=0.457N	P=0.291N	P=0.116N	P=0.421N
Cochran-Armitage test	P=0.416N			
Fisher exact test		P=0.272N	P=0.114N	P=0.419N
All Organs: Benign Neoplasms				
Overall rate	47/50 (94%)	50/50 (100%)	49/50 (98%)	50/50 (100%)
Adjusted rate	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%
Terminal rate	21/21 (100%)	15/15 (100%)	15/15 (100%)	13/13 (100%)
First incidence (days)	407	458	372	485
Life table test	P = 0.148	P=0.136	P=0.219	P = 0.107
Logistic regression test	P=0.354	P = 0.456	P = 0.480	P = 0.602
Cochran-Armitage test	P = 0.089			
Fisher exact test		P=0.121	P=0.309	P = 0.121
All Organs: Malignant Neoplasms				
Overall rate	35/50 (70%)	36/50 (72%)	31/50 (62%)	33/50 (66%)
Adjusted rate	80.2%	84.2%	81.6%	89.6%
Terminal rate	13/21 (62%)	9/15 (60%)	9/15 (60%)	10/13 (77%)
First incidence (days)	330	458	383	524
Life table test	P = 0.467	P = 0.297	P=0.491N	P=0.399
Logistic regression test	P=0.297N	P=0.486	P=0.253N	P=0.420N
Cochran-Armitage test	P=0.294N			
Fisher exact test		P = 0.500	P=0.263N	P=0.415N

	0 ppm	12,000 ppm	25,000 ppm	50,000 ppm
All Organs: Benign or Malignant Neoplasms				
Overall rate	49/50 (98%)	50/50 (100%)	50/50 (100%)	50/50 (100%)
Adjusted rate	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%
Ferminal rate	21/21 (100%)	15/15 (100%)	15/15 (100%)	13/13 (100%)
First incidence (days)	330	458	372	485
Life table test	P=0.201	P = 0.206	P=0.268	P=0.167
Logistic regression test	f	_	_	_
Cochran-Armitage test	P=0.309			
Fisher exact test		P = 0.500	P = 0.500	P = 0.500

Statistical Analysis of Primary Neoplasms in Male Rats in the 2-Year Feed Study of Phenolphthalein (continued)

(T)Terminal sacrifice

^a Number of neoplasm-bearing animals/number of animals examined. Denominator is number of animals examined microscopically for adrenal gland, kidney, liver, pancreatic islets, pituitary gland, preputial gland, testes, and thyroid gland; for other tissues, denominator is number of animals necropsied.

^b Kaplan-Meier estimated neoplasm incidence at the end of the study after adjustment for intercurrent mortality

^c Observed incidence at terminal kill

^d Beneath the control incidence are the P values associated with the trend test. Beneath the exposed group incidence are the P values corresponding to pairwise comparisons between the controls and that exposed group. The life table test regards neoplasms in animals dying prior to terminal kill as being (directly or indirectly) the cause of death. The logistic regression test regards these lesions as nonfatal. The Cochran-Armitage and Fisher exact tests compare directly the overall incidence rates. For all tests, a negative trend or a lower incidence in an exposure group is indicated by N.

^e Not applicable; no neoplasms in animal group

^f Value of statistic cannot be computed.

TABLE A4a Historical Incidence of Adrenal Medulla Pheochromocytoma in Untreated Male F344/N Rats^a

	Incidence in Controls			
Study	Benign	Malignant	Benign or Malignant	
Historical Incidence at EG&G Ma	son Research Institute/1	SI Mason Laboratori	es, Inc.	
1-Amino-2,4-dibromoanthraquinone	12/50	1/50	13/50	
Acetaminophen	16/44	1/44	17/44	
HC Yellow 4	19/50	2/50	19/50	
Methylphenidate Hydrochloride	17/49	1/49	18/49	
Pentaerythritol Tetranitrate	19/49	0/49	19/49	
Quercetin	12/50	1/50	13/50	
Turmeric Oleoresin	14/47	0/47	14/47	
Overall Historical Incidence				
Total	396/1,283 (30.9%)	39/1,283 (3.0%)	421/1,283 (32.8%)	
Standard deviation	12.1%	3.1%	11.2%	
Range	10%-63%	0%-12%	14%-63%	

^a Data as of 12 May 1995; includes data for complex pheochromocytoma

TABLE A4b Historical Incidence of Renal Tubule Neoplasms in Untreated Male F344/N Rats^a

	Incidence in Controls			
Study	Adenoma	Carcinoma	Adenoma or Carcinoma	
Historical Incidence at EG&G Mas	on Research Institute/7	rSI Mason Laborator	ries, Inc.	
1-Amino-2,4-dibromoanthraquinone	2/50	0/50	2/50	
Acetaminophen	3/50	0/50	3/50	
HC Yellow 4	1/50	0/50	1/50	
Methylphenidate Hydrochloride	0/49	0/49	0/49	
Pentaerythritol Tetranitrate	0/49	0/49	0/49	
Quercetin	0/50	0/50	0/50	
Turmeric Oleoresin	0/50	0/50	0/50	
Overall Historical Incidence				
Total	9/1,301 (0.7%)	3/1,301 (0.2%)	12/1,301 (0.9%)	
Standard deviation	1.5%	0.7%	1.5%	
Range	0%-6%	0%-2%	0%-6%	

^a Data as of 12 May 1995

Summary of the Incidence of Nonneoplastic Lesions in Male Rats in the 2-Year Feed Study of Phenolphthalein^a

	0 ppm	12,000 ppm	25,000 ppm	50,000 ppm
Disposition Summary			······	
Animals initially in study	50	50	50	50
Early deaths				
Moribund	15	15	13	16
Natural deaths	14	20	22	21
Survivors				
Died last week of the study			1	
Terminal sacrifice	21	15	14	13
Animals examined microscopically	50	50	50	50
Alimentary System				
Intestine large, colon	(48)	(49)	(49)	(48)
Parasite metazoan	1 (2%)	2 (4%)	4 (8%)	3 (6%)
Muscularis, necrosis, focal				1 (2%)
Intestine large, rectum	(48)	(49)	(50)	(50)
Necrosis		1 (2%)		
Parasite metazoan	1 (2%)	2 (4%)	·	
Intestine large, cecum	(44)	(41)	(44)	(40)
Edema		3 (7%)	1 (2%)	1 (3%)
Erosion, focal				1 (3%)
Inflammation, acute			1 (2%)	
Inflammation, chronic			1 (2%)	1 (20)
Necrosis			1 (2%)	1 (3%)
Artery, inflammation, chronic		2 (5%)		1 (3%) 1 (3%)
Epithelium, hyperplasia	(47)	(50)	(40)	(47)
Intestine small, duodenum	(47)	(50)	(49) 1 (2%)	(47)
Artery, inflammation, chronic			1 (270)	1 (2%)
Muscularis, necrosis, focal	(47)	(41)	(47)	(42)
Intestine small, jejunum Inflammation, chronic active	(47) 1 (2%)	(**)	(**)	()
Intestine small, ileum	(44)	(40)	(40)	(41)
Inflammation, chronic	(**)	1 (3%)	(·)	× · - /
Liver	(50)	(50)	(50)	(50)
Angiectasis, focal	7 (14%)	1 (2%)	1 (2%)	1 (2%)
Basophilic focus	17 (34%)	18 (36%)	9 (18%)	21 (42%)
Clear cell focus	2 (4%)	2 (4%)	1 (2%)	1 (2%)
Degeneration, cystic, focal	4 (8%)	1 (2%)	6 (12%)	5 (10%)
Eosinophilic focus	8 (16%)	10 (20%)	7 (14%)	14 (28%)
Hematopoietic cell proliferation	2 (4%)	1 (2%)	2 (4%)	1 (2%)
Hepatodiaphragmatic nodule	4 (8%)		1 (2%)	2 (4%)
Mixed cell focus	4 (8%)	8 (16%)	8 (16%)	
Necrosis	1 (2%)		5 <u>(</u> 10%)	3 (6%)
Bile duct, hyperplasia	10 (20%)	1 (2%)	2 (4%)	4 (8%)
Centrilobular, necrosis	2 (4%)	1 (2%)	1 (2%)	2 (4%)
Hepatocyte, vacuolization cytoplasmic	3 (6%)	12 (24%)	13 (26%)	10 (20%)
Vein, thrombosis	2 (4%)	1 (2%)		

^a Number of animals examined microscopically at the site and the number of animals with lesion

	0 ppm	12,000 ppm	25,000 ppm	50,000 ppm
Alimentary System (continued)	<u></u>			
Mesentery	(20)	(7)	(3)	(3)
Metaplasia, osseous				1 (33%)
Polyarteritis			1 (33%)	
Artery, inflammation, chronic			1 (33%)	
Fat, necrosis	19 (95%)	4 (57%)	1 (33%)	2 (67%)
ancreas	(50)	(50)	(50)	(47)
Infiltration cellular, focal, lymphocyte	1 (2%)			
Necrosis, diffuse			1 (2%)	
Pigmentation, focal		1 (2%)		
Acinus, atrophy, diffuse	1 (2%)	1 (2%)	1 (2%)	
Acinus, atrophy, focal	22 (44%)	18 (36%)	25 (50%)	31 (66%)
Acinus, hyperplasia, focal	1 (2%)	5 (10%)	4 (8%)	2 (4%)
Artery, inflammation, chronic	- ()	3 (6%)		
Salivary glands	(50)	(49)	(49)	(49)
Atrophy	1 (2%)	N7	···/	×/
Duct, sublingual gland, hyperplasia, focal	1 (2%)		1 (2%)	
Parotid gland, atrophy	- (=,0)			1 (2%)
Parotid gland, atrophy, focal			1 (2%)	- (,
Parotid gland, inflammation, chronic active			- ()	1 (2%)
Sublingual gland, atrophy		2 (4%)		• (,
Sublingual gland, inflammation, chronic	1 (2%)	2 (1,0)		
Submandibular gland, atrophy	1 (270)			1 (2%)
Stomach, forestomach	(50)	(50)	(50)	(49)
Edema	1 (2%)	3 (6%)	1 (2%)	4 (8%)
Erosion, focal	1 (270)	5 (670)	1 (2%)	2 (4%)
Inflammation, acute			1 (2%)	- (,
Inflammation, chronic			5 (10%)	2 (4%)
Ulcer, focal	2 (4%)	2 (4%)	4 (8%)	3 (6%)
Epithelium, hyperplasia	4 (8%)	2 (4%)	12 (24%)	9 (18%)
Muscularis, mineralization	. (370)	2 (4%)	2 (4%)	
Stomach, glandular	(50)	(50)	(50)	(49)
Degeneration	(00)	11 (22%)	5 (10%)	4 (8%)
Edema		(22/0)	1 (2%)	• (••••)
Erosion, focal	8 (16%)	6 (12%)	4 (8%)	6 (12%)
Inflammation, acute	1 (2%)	· (12/0)	. (0,0)	1 (2%)
Mineralization	~ (~/0)	11 (22%)	5 (10%)	5 (10%)
Mineralization, focal		•• (4470)		1 (2%)
Ulcer, focal		1 (2%)	1 (2%)	• (=/0)
Glands, cyst, focal		1 (2%)	2 (4%)	3 (6%)
Glands, cyst, local Glands, inflammation, acute, focal		I (20/0)	1 (2%)	5 (070)
Muscularis, mineralization			2 (4%)	
Tooth			- (,	(1)
Necrosis				1 (100%)

	0 ppm	12,000 ppm	25,000 ppm	50,000 ppm
Cardiovascular System				
Blood vessel	(50)	(49)	(50)	(50)
Aorta, media, mineralization	(50)	9 (18%)	3 (6%)	4 (8%)
Heart	(50)	(49)	(50)	(50)
Cardiomyopathy	39 (78%)	36 (73%)	41 (82%)	38 (76%)
Fibrosis	55 (1010)	56 (15%)	(02,%)	1 (2%)
Artery, mineralization		1 (2%)	2 (4%)	. (270)
Atrium, thrombosis	3 (6%)	2 (4%)	2 (4%)	
Atrium, epicardium, hyperplasia, focal	1 (2%)	= ()	2 ((),0)	
Atrium, epicardium, pigmentation	1 (2%)			
Myocardium, inflammation, acute	- (-,-,		2 (4%)	
Myocardium, mineralization			2 (4%)	1 (2%)
Valve, inflammation, acute			1 (2%)	- (-/-)
Valve, inflammation, chronic active			1 (2%)	
			- (- //)	
Endocrine System				
Adrenal cortex	(50)	(50)	(50)	(50)
Hematopoietic cell proliferation		1 (2%)		1 (2%)
Hyperplasia, focal	4 (8%)	1 (2%)	1 (2%)	6 (12%)
Hypertrophy, focal	2 (4%)			
Inflammation				1 (2%)
Necrosis			2 (4%)	1 (2%)
Vacuolization cytoplasmic, focal	6 (12%)	11 (22%)	4 (8%)	7 (14%)
Bilateral, hematopoietic cell proliferation				1 (2%)
Bilateral, necrosis		4 (8%)	3 (6%)	1 (2%)
Bilateral, vacuolization cytoplasmic, focal		2 (4%)	2 (4%)	1 (2%)
Adrenal medulla	(50)	(50)	(50)	(50)
Hyperplasia, focal	12 (24%)	21 (42%)	16 (32%)	19 (38%)
Infiltration cellular, lymphocyte	1 (2%)			
Bilateral, hyperplasia, focal	1 (2%)	1 (2%)	2 (4%)	4 (8%)
slets, pancreatic	(50)	(50)	(50)	(48)
Hyperplasia, focal	2 (4%)			2 (4%)
Parathyroid gland	(41)	(48)	(49)	(46)
Hyperplasia, diffuse		6 (13%)	3 (6%)	8 (17%)
Hyperplasia, focal	1 (2%)			
Bilateral, hyperplasia				1 (2%)
Bilateral, hyperplasia, diffuse		10 (21%)	11 (22%)	6 (13%)
Pituitary gland	(50)	(50)	(50)	(50)
Hyperplasia, focal				1 (2%)
Pars distalis, angiectasis, focal	1 (2%)	, <u>, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , </u>	1 (2%)	
Pars distalis, cyst	1 (2%)	4 (8%)	5 (10%)	5 (10%)
Pars distalis, hemorrhage, focal				1 (2%)
Pars distalis, hyperplasia, focal	9 (18%)	6 (12%)	4 (8%)	11 (22%)
Pars distalis, hypertrophy, focal	1 (2%)			
Pars nervosa, hyperplasia	1 (2%)	1 (2%)		
Rathke's cleft, pigmentation	1 (2%)		(10)	(10)
Thyroid gland	(50)	(50)	(49)	(49)
Necrosis		1 (2%)		
Ultimobranchial cyst			1 (2%)	
C-cell, hyperplasia, focal	13 (26%)	3 (6%)	9 (18%)	4 (8%)
Follicle, cyst	3 (6%)	4 (8%)	7 (14%)	6 (12%)
Follicular cell, hyperplasia				1 (2%)
Follicular cell, hyperplasia, focal		1 (2%)		

	0 ppm	12,000 ppm	25,000 ppm	50,000 ppm
eral Body System				
ue NOS	(1)			
ediastinum, hemorrhage	1 (100%)			
nital System				
lidymis	(50)	(50)	(50)	(50)
ranuloma sperm, focal				1 (2%)
flammation, chronic		2 (4%)	1 (2%)	
olyarteritis			1 (2%)	
outial gland	(50)	(49)	(50)	(49)
trophy				1 (2%)
yst		1 (2%)		
yperplasia, focal	3 (6%)	2 (4%)	2 (4%)	
flammation, acute		1 (2%)		
flammation, chronic	14 (28%)	14 (29%)	8 (16%)	13 (27%)
flammation, chronic active	1 (2%)	2 (4%)	4 (8%)	4 (8%)
lateral, inflammation, chronic	21 (42%)	21 (43%)	25 (50%)	20 (41%)
lateral, inflammation, chronic active	6 (12%)	8 (16%)	9 (18%)	4 (8%)
uct, hyperplasia			1 (2%)	(
state	(50)	(50)	(50)	(50)
trophy	14 (28%)	8 (16%)	9 (18%)	13 (26%)
flammation, acute	6 (12%)	5 (10%)	4 (8%)	10 (20%)
flammation, chronic	1 (2%)	2 (4%)	1 (2%)	4 (8%)
flammation, chronic active	3 (6%)	7 (14%)	8 (16%)	5 (10%)
pithelium, hyperplasia, focal inal vesicle	1 (2%)	2 (4%)	5 (10%) (50)	3 (6%) (50)
trophy	(50) 33 (66%)	(50) 44 (88%)	(50) 45 (90%)	(30) 47 (94%)
flammation, acute	1 (2%)	44 (88%)	43 (90%)	47 (94%)
les	(50)	(50)	(50)	(50)
lineralization, focal	1 (2%)	(50)	(50)	(50)
ilateral, artery, inflammation, chronic	1 (2/0)	1 (2%)		
ilateral, interstitial cell, hyperplasia,		. (270)		
focal	2 (4%)	1 (2%)	1 (2%)	1 (2%)
ilateral, germinal epithelium, atrophy	4 (8%)	3 (6%)	- (=,0,	2 (4%)
erminal epithelium, atrophy	2 (4%)	5 (670)	1 (2%)	2 (4%)
iterstitial cell, hyperplasia, focal	2 (4%)	2 (4%)	3 (6%)	3 (6%)
				·
matopoietic System	(49)	(50)	(50)	(40)
e marrow	(48)	(50) 1 (2%)	(50)	(49)
trophy ibrosis	1 (2%)	1 (2%)	1 (2%)	1 (2%) 1 (2%)
				1 (2%) 2 (4%)
emorrhage	15 (21%)	18 (26%)	21 (42%)	2 (4%) 26 (53%)
		10 (30%)	21 (42/0)	20 (35%)
			2 (4%)	1 (2%)
iyperplasia Iyelofibrosis lecrosis	15 (31%) 1 (2%) 1 (2%)	18 (36%)	21 (42%) 2 (4%)	

:	0 ppm	12,000 ppm	25,000 ppm	50,000 ppm
Hematopoletic System (continued)				
_ymph node	(17)	(22)	(27)	(20)
Infiltration cellular, histiocyte	()	()		1 (5%)
Iliac, hyperplasia, lymphoid			1 (4%)	1 (5%)
Iliac, infiltration cellular, histiocyte				1 (5%)
Inguinal, hyperplasia, lymphoid			2 (7%)	- ()
Mediastinal, hematopoietic cell proliferation			- (***)	1 (5%)
Mediastinal, hemorrhage	1 (6%)	1 (5%)	3 (11%)	1 (5%)
Mediastinal, hyperplasia, lymphoid		1 (5%)	4 (15%)	1 (5%)
Mediastinal, infiltration cellular,		1 (0,0)		- (070)
histiocyte			2 (7%)	1 (5%)
Mediastinal, pigmentation	1 (6%)	1 (5%)	1 (4%)	2 (10%)
Pancreatic, fibrosis	1 (0,0)	1 (5,0)	1 (170)	1 (5%)
Pancreatic, hematopoietic cell proliferation				1 (5%)
Pancreatic, hemorrhage	1 (6%)		1 (4%)	1 (570)
Renal, congestion	1 (070)		1 (7/0)	1 (5%)
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	1 (110)	2 (149)	5 (19%)	2 (10%)
Renal, hemorrhage	2 (12%)	3 (14%) 2 (9%)	3 (11%)	2 (10%)
Renal, hyperplasia, lymphoid		2 (9%) 1 (5%)	1 (4%)	2 (10%)
Renal, infiltration cellular, histiocyte		. ,	1 (4%)	2 (10%)
Renal, pigmentation	(50)	1 (5%) (49)	(49)	(49)
ymph node, mandibular	(50) 9 (18%)		2 (4%)	(49) 5 (10%)
Degeneration, cystic	• •	6 (12%)	2 (4%)	5 (10%)
Hemorrhage	1 (2%)	6 (1297)	12 (24%)	7 (14%)
Hyperplasia, lymphoid	7 (14%)	6 (12%)	2 (4%)	4 (8%)
Infiltration cellular, histiocyte	2 (4%)	1 (29)	1 (2%)	4 (0/0)
Inflammation, chronic		1 (2%)	1 (270)	
Necrosis	1 (2%)	1 (2%)		1 (2%)
Pigmentation		(50)	(47)	(48)
ymph node, mesenteric	(50)	1 (2%)	1 (2%)	(40)
Atrophy		1 (2%)	1 (276)	1 (2%)
Degeneration, cystic				1 (2%)
Degeneration, cystic, focal				1 (2%)
Ectasia	A (907)	2 (4%)	2 (4%)	1 (2%)
Hemorrhage	4 (8%)	• •		1 (270)
Hyperplasia, lymphoid	1 (2%)	2 (4%) 18 (26%)	2 (4%) 22 (47%)	23 (48%)
Infiltration cellular, histiocyte	33 (66%)	18 (36%)	22 (47%) 1 (2%)	23 (40 <i>1</i> 0)
Inflammation, chronic	(50)	(50)	(50)	(49)
pleen	(50)	(50)	• •	
Congestion	1 (2%)	0 (160)	6 (12%) 6 (12%)	2 (4%) 4 (8%)
Fibrosis	3 (6%)	8 (16%) 5 (10%)	6 (12%) 5 (10%)	4 (8%) 6 (12%)
Hematopoietic cell proliferation	6 (12%)	5 (10%)	5 (10%) 1 (2%)	0 (1270)
Inflammation, acute		1 (0 0)	1 (2%)	
Inflammation, chronic active		1 (2%)	A 1001	2 (107)
Pigmentation		1 (2%)	4 (8%)	2 (4%)
Capsule, degeneration, cystic	1 (2%)	0 (1 (1))	0 (100)	10 (040)
Lymphoid follicle, atrophy	2 (4%)	8 (16%)	9 (18%)	12 (24%)
Chymus	(50)	(49)	(47)	(47)
Angiectasis, focal		1 (2%)		
Cyst	aa .	1 (2%)		
Hemorrhage	3 (6%)		1 (0.00)	
Necrosis, diffuse			1 (2%)	00 (47.01)
Epithelial cell, hyperplasia	24 (48%)	25 (51%)	31 (66%)	22 (47%)
Thymocyte, atrophy	33 (66%)	33 (67%)	37 (79%)	34 (72%)

	0 ppm	12,000 ppm	25,000 ppm	50,000 ppm
Integumentary System			···· ·	<u> </u>
Mammary gland	(43)	(47)	(48)	(47)
Galactocele	8 (19%)	9 (19%)	13 (27%)	8 (17%)
Hyperplasia		1 (2%)		
Inflammation, chronic			1 (2%)	
Mineralization, focal				1 (2%)
Pigmentation	1 (2%)	7 (15%)		5 (11%)
Epithelium, hyperplasia	1 (2%)		2 (4%)	2 (4%)
Skin	(49)	(50)	(50)	(50)
Fibrosis, focal	1 (2%)		• •	
Hyperkeratosis	• •			1 (2%)
Hyperplasia, basal cell				1 (2%)
Ulcer				1 (2%)
Artery, thrombosis				1 (2%)
Epidermis, hyperplasia			1 (2%)	
Lip, inflammation, chronic active		1 (2%)	~~~/	
Lip, ulcer		- \		1 (2%)
Subcutaneous tissue, inflammation, acute				1 (2%)
Subcutaneous tissue, inflammation, acute				- \- /*/
active				1 (2%)
Vein, inflammation, acute				1 (2%)
		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		· · ·
Musculoskeletal System				
Bone	(50)	(50)	(50)	(50)
Femur, fibrous osteodystrophy		17 (34%)	14 (28%)	12 (24%)
Femur, hyperostosis	2 (4%)	1 (2%)	1 (2%)	1 (2%)
Joint, inflammation, chronic		1 (2%)		
Nervous System		-5	,	
	(60)	(50)	(50)	(50)
Brain	(50)	(50)	(50)	(50)
Hydrocephalus	1 (2%)	1 (2%)	1 (2%)	1 (29)
Cerebellum, gliosis, focal			1 (20)	1 (2%)
Cerebellum, inflammation, acute, focal			1 (2%)	
Cerebrum, inflammation, acute			1 (2%)	
Cerebrum, necrosis			1 (2%)	
Choroid plexus, cerebrum, infiltration				
cellular, lymphocyte		1 (2%)		
Hippocampus, cerebrum, necrosis, focal	1 (2%)		6 /A M	
Meninges, hemorrhage			1 (2%)	
Respiratory System				
	(50)	(50)	(50)	(50)
Lung		(50)		2 (4%)
Congestion	3 (6%)		1 (2%)	2 (470)
Foreign body	1 (2%)	1 (20)	3 (6%)	4 (8%)
Hemorrhage	1 (2%)	1 (2%)	5 (070)	+ (070)
Infiltration cellular, focal, histiocyte	2 (4%)			
Inflammation, chronic active	1 (2%)	1 (00)	1 (AD)	
Alveolar epithelium, hyperplasia, focal	2 (4%)	1 (2%)	2 (4%)	
Artery, mineralization		1 (2%)	1 (2%)	

Respiratory System (continued) Lung (continued) Interstitium, inflammation, acute Interstitium, inflammation, chronic Interstitium, inflammation, chronic active Nose Inflammation, acute Inflammation, acute Inflammation, chronic Inflammation, chronic Inflammation, chronic Inflammation, chronic Inflammation, chronic active Metaplasia, focal, squamous Nasolacrimal duct, inflammation, acute Nasolacrimal duct, inflammation, chronic active Trachea Inflammation, chronic active Glands, cyst, focal Special Senses System Eye Cornea, inflammation, chronic active Retina, atrophy Urinary System Kidney Cyst	 (50) 3 (6%) (50) 1 (2%) 2 (4%) 14 (28%) 1 (2%) 1 (2%) (50) 	 (50) 8 (16%) 1 (2%) (50) 2 (4%) 12 (24%) 1 (2%) 	(50) 1 (2%) 7 (14%) 1 (2%) (50) 1 (2%) 1 (2	(50) 6 (12%) (50) 1 (2%) 1 (2%) 16 (32%) 2 (4%)
Lung (continued) Interstitium, inflammation, acute Interstitium, inflammation, chronic Interstitium, inflammation, chronic active Nose Inflammation, acute Inflammation, chronic Inflammation, chronic active Metaplasia, focal, squamous Metaplasia, squamous Masolacrimal duct, inflammation, acute Nasolacrimal duct, inflammation, acute Nasolacrimal duct, inflammation, chronic active Trachea Inflammation, chronic active Glands, cyst, focal Special Senses System Eye Cornea, inflammation, chronic Cornea, inflammation, chronic active Retina, atrophy Urinary System Kidney Cyst	3 (6%) (50) 1 (2%) 2 (4%) 14 (28%) 1 (2%) 1 (2%)	8 (16%) 1 (2%) (50) 2 (4%) 12 (24%)	1 (2%) 7 (14%) 1 (2%) (50) 1 (2%) 15 (30%) 1 (2%)	6 (12%) (50) 1 (2%) 1 (2%) 16 (32%)
Interstitium, inflammation, acute Interstitium, inflammation, chronic Interstitium, inflammation, chronic active Nose Inflammation, acute Inflammation, chronic Inflammation, chronic active Metaplasia, focal, squamous Metaplasia, squamous Masolacrimal duct, inflammation, acute Nasolacrimal duct, inflammation, acute Nasolacrimal duct, inflammation, chronic active Trachea Inflammation, chronic active Glands, cyst, focal Special Senses System Eye Cornea, inflammation, chronic Cornea, inflammation, chronic active Retina, atrophy Urinary System Kidney Cyst	3 (6%) (50) 1 (2%) 2 (4%) 14 (28%) 1 (2%) 1 (2%)	8 (16%) 1 (2%) (50) 2 (4%) 12 (24%)	1 (2%) 7 (14%) 1 (2%) (50) 1 (2%) 15 (30%) 1 (2%)	6 (12%) (50) 1 (2%) 1 (2%) 16 (32%)
Interstitium, inflammation, chronic Interstitium, inflammation, chronic active Nose Inflammation, acute Inflammation, chronic Inflammation, chronic active Metaplasia, focal, squamous Metaplasia, squamous Masolacrimal duct, inflammation, acute Nasolacrimal duct, inflammation, acute Nasolacrimal duct, inflammation, chronic active Trachea Inflammation, chronic active Glands, cyst, focal Special Senses System Eye Cornea, inflammation, chronic Cornea, inflammation, chronic active Retina, atrophy Urinary System Kidney Cyst	 (50) 1 (2%) 2 (4%) 14 (28%) 1 (2%) 1 (2%) 	1 (2%) (50) 2 (4%) 12 (24%)	7 (14%) 1 (2%) (50) 1 (2%) 15 (30%) 1 (2%)	(50) 1 (2%) 1 (2%) 16 (32%)
Interstitium, inflammation, chronic active Nose Inflammation, acute Inflammation, chronic Inflammation, chronic active Metaplasia, focal, squamous Metaplasia, squamous Masolacrimal duct, inflammation, acute Nasolacrimal duct, inflammation, acute Nasolacrimal duct, inflammation, acute Nasolacrimal duct, inflammation, chronic active Trachea Inflammation, chronic active Glands, cyst, focal Special Senses System Eye Cornea, inflammation, chronic Cornea, inflammation, chronic active Retina, atrophy Urinary System Kidney Cyst	 (50) 1 (2%) 2 (4%) 14 (28%) 1 (2%) 1 (2%) 	1 (2%) (50) 2 (4%) 12 (24%)	1 (2%) (50) 1 (2%) 15 (30%) 1 (2%)	(50) 1 (2%) 1 (2%) 16 (32%)
Nose Inflammation, acute Inflammation, chronic Inflammation, chronic active Metaplasia, focal, squamous Metaplasia, squamous Masolacrimal duct, inflammation, acute Nasolacrimal duct, inflammation, acute Nasolacrimal duct, inflammation, chronic active Grachea Inflammation, chronic active Glands, cyst, focal Special Senses System Eye Cornea, inflammation, chronic Cornea, inflammation, chronic active Retina, atrophy Urinary System Kidney Cyst	1 (2%) 2 (4%) 14 (28%) 1 (2%) 1 (2%)	(50) 2 (4%) 12 (24%)	(50) 1 (2%) 15 (30%) 1 (2%)	1 (2%) 1 (2%) 16 (32%)
Inflammation, acute Inflammation, chronic Inflammation, chronic active Metaplasia, focal, squamous Masolacrimal duct, inflammation, acute Nasolacrimal duct, inflammation, acute Nasolacrimal duct, inflammation, chronic active Grachea Inflammation, chronic active Glands, cyst, focal Special Senses System Eye Cornea, inflammation, chronic Cornea, inflammation, chronic active Retina, atrophy Urinary System Kidney Cyst	1 (2%) 2 (4%) 14 (28%) 1 (2%) 1 (2%)	2 (4%) 12 (24%)	1 (2%) 15 (30%) 1 (2%)	1 (2%) 1 (2%) 16 (32%)
Inflammation, chronic Inflammation, chronic active Metaplasia, focal, squamous Masolacrimal duct, inflammation, acute Nasolacrimal duct, inflammation, chronic active Trachea Inflammation, chronic active Glands, cyst, focal Special Senses System Eye Cornea, inflammation, chronic Cornea, inflammation, chronic active Retina, atrophy Urinary System Kidney Cyst	2 (4%) 14 (28%) 1 (2%) 1 (2%)	12 (24%)	15 (30%) 1 (2%)	1 (2%) 16 (32%)
Inflammation, chronic active Metaplasia, focal, squamous Metaplasia, squamous Nasolacrimal duct, inflammation, acute Nasolacrimal duct, inflammation, chronic active Trachea Inflammation, chronic active Glands, cyst, focal Special Senses System Eye Cornea, inflammation, chronic Cornea, inflammation, chronic active Retina, atrophy Urinary System Kidney Cyst	14 (28%) 1 (2%) 1 (2%)	12 (24%)	15 (30%) 1 (2%)	16 (32%)
Metaplasia, focal, squamous Metaplasia, squamous Nasolacrimal duct, inflammation, acute Nasolacrimal duct, inflammation, chronic active Grachea Inflammation, chronic active Glands, cyst, focal Special Senses System Eye Cornea, inflammation, chronic Cornea, inflammation, chronic active Retina, atrophy Urinary System Kidney Cyst	1 (2%)		1 (2%)	
Metaplasia, squamous Nasolacrimal duct, inflammation, acute Nasolacrimal duct, inflammation, chronic active Trachea Inflammation, chronic active Glands, cyst, focal Special Senses System Eye Cornea, inflammation, chronic Cornea, inflammation, chronic active Retina, atrophy Urinary System Kidney Cyst	1 (2%)	1 (2%)		- ()
Nasolacrimal duct, inflammation, acute Nasolacrimal duct, inflammation, chronic active Trachea Inflammation, chronic active Glands, cyst, focal Special Senses System Eye Cornea, inflammation, chronic Cornea, inflammation, chronic active Retina, atrophy Urinary System Kidney Cyst	1 (2%)	1 (2,0)	1 (2%)	
Nasolacrimal duct, inflammation, chronic active Trachea Inflammation, chronic active Glands, cyst, focal Special Senses System Eye Cornea, inflammation, chronic Cornea, inflammation, chronic active Retina, atrophy Urinary System Kidney Cyst				1 (2%)
active Frachea Inflammation, chronic active Glands, cyst, focal Special Senses System Eye Cornea, inflammation, chronic Cornea, inflammation, chronic active Retina, atrophy Urinary System Kidney Cyst			- (=/0)	· (2%)
Trachea Inflammation, chronic active Glands, cyst, focal Special Senses System Eye Cornea, inflammation, chronic Cornea, inflammation, chronic active Retina, atrophy Urinary System Kidney Cyst				1 (2%)
Inflammation, chronic active Glands, cyst, focal Special Senses System Eye Cornea, inflammation, chronic Cornea, inflammation, chronic active Retina, atrophy Urinary System Kidney Cyst	(30)	(50)	(50)	(50)
Glands, cyst, focal Special Senses System Eye Cornea, inflammation, chronic Cornea, inflammation, chronic active Retina, atrophy Urinary System Kidney Cyst		1 (2%)	(00)	(30)
Special Senses System Eye Cornea, inflammation, chronic Cornea, inflammation, chronic active Retina, atrophy Urinary System Kidney Cyst	1 (2%)	1 (270)		
Eye Cornea, inflammation, chronic Cornea, inflammation, chronic active Retina, atrophy Urinary System Kidney Cyst	1 (2%)			
Cornea, inflammation, chronic Cornea, inflammation, chronic active Retina, atrophy Urinary System Kidney Cyst				
Cornea, inflammation, chronic active Retina, atrophy Urinary System Kidney Cyst		(1)		(2)
Retina, atrophy Urinary System Kidney Cyst		1 (100%)		1 (50%)
U rinary System Kidney Cyst				1 (50%)
Kidney Cyst		1 (100%)		1 (50%)
Kidney Cyst				
Cyst	(50)	(50)	(50)	(50)
-	1 (2%)	3 (6%)	8 (16%)	10 (20%)
Hydronephrosis	1 (270)	1 (2%)	- (,	(,
Inflammation, acute		- ()	1 (2%)	
Mineralization, focal	1 (2%)		- (,	
Nephropathy, chronic	2 (4%)	1 (2%)	1 (2%)	
Bilateral, cyst	~ (+ <i>i</i> v)	16 (32%)	13 (26%)	12 (24%)
Bilateral, inflammation, acute		10 (5270)	13(23%) 1 (2%)	()
Bilateral, mineralization, focal		2 (4%)	1 (2%) 1 (2%)	1 (2%)
Bilateral, nephropathy, chronic	45 (90%)	48 (96%)	49 (98%)	50 (100%)
Bilateral, nephropauly, chronic Bilateral, pelvis, transitional epithelium,	4J (30 /0)	-0 (2070)	-2 (2070)	50 (10070)
	1 (2%)	21 (42%)	20 (40%)	17 (34%)
hyperplasia Bilateral republic hyperplasia focal	1 (270)	1 (2%)	20 (4070)	1 (3470)
Bilateral, renal tubule, hyperplasia, focal Bilateral, renal tubule, normanization	10 (20%)	5 (10%)	7 (14%)	6 (12%)
Bilateral, renal tubule, pigmentation	10 (20%)	5 (1070)	, (1470)	1 (2%)
Pelvis, inflammation, acute	2 (60)	10 (20.0%)	14 (28%)	12 (24%)
Pelvis, transitional epithelium, hyperplasia	3 (6%)	10 (20%)	7 (14%)	2 (4%)
Renal tubule, hyperplasia, focal		5 (10%)	/ (1470)	2 (4%) 1 (2%)
Renal tubule, hyperplasia, oncocytic			1 (20)	1 (270)
Vein, inflammation, chronic			1 (2%)	
Vein, thrombosis	(40)	(50)	1 (2%)	(50)
Urinary bladder	(49)	(50)	(50)	(50)
Hemorrhage	2 (4%)	1 (0.01)		
Inflammation, acute	1 (2%)	1 (2%)	1 (20)	
Inflammation, chronic active Transitional epithelium, hyperplasia		1 (2%)	1 (2%) 1 (2%)	

APPENDIX B SUMMARY OF LESIONS IN FEMALE RATS IN THE 2-YEAR FEED STUDY OF PHENOLPHTHALEIN

Summary of the Incidence of Neoplasms in Female Rats	
in the 2-Year Feed Study of Phenolphthalein	138
Individual Animal Tumor Pathology of Female Rats	
in the 2-Year Feed Study of Phenolphthalein	142
Statistical Analysis of Primary Neoplasms in Female Rats	
in the 2-Year Feed Study of Phenolphthalein	162
Historical Incidence of Adrenal Medulla Pheochromocytoma	
in Untreated Female F344/N Rats	168
Historical Incidence of Renal Tubule Neoplasms in Untreated Female F344/N Rats	168
Summary of the Incidence of Nonneoplastic Lesions in Female Rats	
in the 2-Year Feed Study of Phenolphthalein	169
	in the 2-Year Feed Study of Phenolphthalein

TABLE B1

Summary of the Incidence of Neoplasms in Female Rats in the 2-Year Feed Study of Phenolphthalein^a

	0 ppm	12,000 ppm	25,000 ppm	50,000 ppm
Disposition Summary			and and an annual of the second second	
Animals initially in study	50	50	50	50
Early deaths				
Moribund	9	8	7	8
Natural deaths	11	4	11	4
Survivors				
Terminal sacrifice	30	38	32	38
Animals examined microscopically	50	50	50	50
Alimentary System				· <u>-</u>
Intestine large, colon	(48)	(49)	(49)	(49)
Intestine large, cecum	(45)	(49)	(47)	(48)
Intestine small, duodenum	(46)	(49)	(49)	(48)
Intestine small, jejunum	(44)	(49)	(47)	(48)
Intestine small, ileum	(47)	(49)	(45)	(49)
Liver	(50)	(50)	(50)	(49)
Hepatocellular carcinoma		1 (2%)		
Hepatocellular adenoma		1 (2%)	1 (2%)	1 (2%)
Hepatocellular adenoma, multiple		1 (2%)		
Mesentery	(12)	(7)	(6)	(7)
Carcinoma, metastatic, uterus	1 (8%)			
Dral mucosa		(3)		
Squamous cell papilloma		2 (67%)		
Pancreas	(49)	(49)	(49)	(46)
Carcinoma, metastatic, uterus	1 (2%)			
Acinus, adenoma		(=0)	(==)	1 (2%)
Salivary glands	(50)	(50)	(50)	(49)
Stomach, forestomach	(49)	(50)	(50)	(49)
Stomach, glandular	(48)	(50)	(50)	(48)
Fongue	(2)	(3)		(2)
Squamous cell carcinoma	2 (100%)	1 (33%)		
Tooth Adamantinoma malignant	(1) 1 (100%)		(2)	
Cardiovascular System				
Heart	(50)	(50)	(50)	(49)
Schwannoma malignant	()	()	1 (2%)	()
Endocrine System				
Adrenal cortex	(50)	(50)	(49)	(49)
Adenoma	2 (4%)	1 (2%)	1 (2%)	2 (4%)
Adrenal medulla	(50)	(50)	(50)	(49)
Pheochromocytoma malignant		1 (2%)	1 (2%)	. ,
Pheochromocytoma benign	2 (4%)	9 (18%)	9 (18%)	2 (4%)
Bilateral, pheochromocytoma benign	1 (2%)	2 (4%)		
Islets, pancreatic	(49)	(49)	(49)	(47)
Adenoma	2 (4%)		1 (2%)	1 (2%)
Carcinoma	3 (6%)			1 (2%)

TABLE B1

	0 ppm	12,000 ppm	25,000 ppm	50,000 ppm
Endocrine System (continued)		·····		······
Pituitary gland	(50)	(49)	(50)	(47)
Pars distalis, adenoma	35 (70%)	32 (65%)	29 (58%)	25 (53%)
Pars distalis, carcinoma	1 (2%)			
Thyroid gland	(50)	(50)	(50)	(48)
C-cell, adenoma	7 (14%)	5 (10%)	7 (14%)	7 (15%)
C-cell, carcinoma	1 (2%)	3 (6%)		2 (4%)
General Body System				
None				
Genital System	_			, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,
Clitoral gland	(50)	(50)	(49)	(48)
Adenoma	9 (18%)	7 (14%)	3 (6%)	7 (15%)
Carcinoma			1 (2%)	1 (2%)
Bilateral, adenoma	1 (2%)		1 (2%)	
Ovary	(50)	(50)	(50)	(50)
Cystadenoma		1 (2%)		
Granulosa cell tumor malignant			1 (2%)	
Granulosa cell tumor benign		2 (4%)		
Granulosa-theca tumor benign		1 (2%)		
Bilateral, tubulostromal adenoma	1 (2%)			
Uterus	(50)	(50)	(50)	(50)
Carcinoma	1 (2%)			
Histiocytic sarcoma		1 (2%)		
Schwannoma malignant			1 (2%)	
Endometrium, polyp stromal	3 (6%)	7 (14%)	5 (10%)	4 (8%)
Endometrium, polyp stromal, multiple	1 (2%)	1 (2%)	1 (2%)	1 (2%)
Endometrium, sarcoma stromal	1 (2%)			
Vagina		(1)		(1)
Schwannoma malignant				1 (100%)
Hematopoietic System				
Bone marrow	(50)	(50)	(50)	(50)
Histiocytic sarcoma	1 (2%)			1 (2%)
Lymph node	(7)	(11)	(9)	(9)
Mediastinal, carcinoma, metastatic, uterus	1 (14%)			
Lymph node, mandibular	(50)	(50)	(50)	(48)
Lymph node, mesenteric	(49)	(50)	(49)	(48)
Carcinoma, metastatic, uterus	1 (2%)			
Spleen	(50)	(50)	(50)	(49)
Fibrosarcoma				1 (2%)
Histiocytic sarcoma, metastatic,				
bone marrow	1 (2%)			
Thymus	(50)	(49)	(49)	(48)
Summary of the Incidence of Neoplasms in Female Rats in the 2-Year Feed Study of Phenolphthalein (continued)

	0 ppm	12,000 ppm	25,000 ppm	50,000 ppm
Integumentary System				********
Mammary gland	(50)	(50)	(48)	(49)
Adenoma	2 (4%)			. ,
Carcinoma	3 (6%)			3 (6%)
Fibroadenoma	21 (42%)	25 (50%)	11 (23%)	19 (39%)
Fibroadenoma, multiple	9 (18%)		6 (13%)	5 (10%)
Skin	(50)	(50)	(49)	(50)
Lip, basal cell adenoma				1 (2%)
Pinna, squamous cell papilloma	1 (2%)			
Subcutaneous tissue, fibroma	1 (2%)	2 (4%)		1 (2%)
Ausculoskeletal System		Pr. 200	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
Skeletal muscle		(3)	(3)	(2)
Sarcoma		1 (33%)		
Nervous System				
Brain	(50)	(50)	(50)	(50)
Cerebellum, granular cell tumor malignant	1 (2%)			
Cerebrum, astrocytoma malignant				2 (4%)
pinal cord	(1)	(2)	(2)	(2)
Respiratory System				
Lung	(50)	(50)	(50)	(50)
Alveolar/bronchiolar adenoma	3 (6%)	3 (6%)	1 (2%)	2 (4%)
Alveolar/bronchiolar carcinoma		1 (2%)		
Carcinoma, metastatic, uterus	1 (2%)			
Histiocytic sarcoma, metastatic,	•			
bone marrow	1 (2%)			
Nose	(50)	(49)	(50)	(50)
Turbinate, adenoma	1 (2%)			
Special Senses System		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		
Zymbal's gland		(1)		(1)
Carcinoma		1 (100%)		
Urinary System	,			
Kidney	(50)	(50)	(50)	(50)
Pelvis, transitional epithelium, papilloma				1 (2%)
Renal tubule, adenoma				1 (2%)
Urinary bladder	(49)	(49)	(49)	(49)
Carcinoma, metastatic, uterus	1 (2%)			
Transitional epithelium, papilloma				1 (2%)
Systemic Lesions		<u></u>	<u></u>	
Multiple organs ^b	(50)	(50)	(50)	(50)
Histiocytic sarcoma	1 (2%)	1 (2%)		1 (2%)
Leukemia mononuclear	21 (42%)	21 (42%)	17 (34%)	14 (28%)

	0 ppm	12,000 ppm	25,000 ppm	50,000 ppm
Neoplasm Summary		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		
Total animals with primary neoplasms ^c	49	50	50	49
Total primary neoplasms	138	133	98	108
Total animals with benign neoplasms	43	49	42	41
Total benign neoplasms	102	102	76	82
Total animals with malignant neoplasms	30	25	21	23
Total malignant neoplasms	36	31	22	26
Total animals with metastatic neoplasms	2			
Total metastatic neoplasms	8			

TABLE B1 Summary of the Incidence of Neoplasms in Female Rats in the 2-Year Feed Study of Phenolphthalein (continued)

^a Number of animals examined microscopically at the site and the number of animals with neoplasm

^b Number of animals with any tissue examined microscopically

^c Primary neoplasms: all neoplasms except metastatic neoplasms

TABLE B2

Individual Animal Tumor Pathology of Female Rats in the 2-Year Feed Study of Phenolphthalein: 0	ppm
---	-----

	3 3	4	4	2	5 3	6 (6	6	6	6	66	6	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7
Number of Days on Study	77				5 9						58		0		0		2	3	3	3	3	
	0 0	4	9	5	94	5	6	6	8	0	93	7	0	2	9	3	4	5	5	5	5	5
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	2 2	2	2	2		2					2 2					2	2	2	2	2	2	2
Carcass ID Number	1 5	4	5	4	4 (i 5	2	3	5	1 :	54	5	5	2	4	2	3	2	2	2	2	3
	8 7	9	0	1	3 3	3	8	4	2	9 4	44	1	9	7	8	5	0	1	3	6	9	6
Alimentary System																						
Esophagus	+ +	+ +	+	+	+ •	+ +	+	+	+	+	+ +	• +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Intestine large, colon	+ -	+ +	+	+	+ •	+ A	+	+	+	+	+ +	• +	+	+	Α	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Intestine large, rectum	+ +	+ +	+	+	+ •	+ +	+	+	+	+	+ +	• +	+	+	+	Α	+	+	+	+	+	+
Intestine large, cecum	+ +	+ +	+	+	+ •	+ A	Α	+	Α	+	+ +	• +	+	+	Α	Α	+	+	+	+	+	+
Intestine small, duodenum	+ -	+ +	+	+	+ •	+ A	Α	+	Α	+	+ +	• +	+	+	+	Α	+	+	+	+	+	+
Intestine small, jejunum	+ -	+ +	+	+	+ •	+ A	Α	+	Α	+ .	A +	+ +	+	+	Α	Α	+	+	+	+	+	+
Intestine small, ileum	+ -	+ +	+	+	+ •	+ A	Α	+	Α	+	+ +	• +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Liver	+ -	+ +				+ +						• +							+	+		
Mesentery	+				+		+			+	-				+	-	-	-	-	+	-	
Carcinoma, metastatic, uterus															x					-		
Pancreas	+ -	+ +	+	+	+ •	, + +	Α	+	+	+	+ +	+	+	+		+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Carcinoma, metastatic, uterus						,				-		-	-		x	-					•	
Salivary glands	+ -	+ +	+	+	+ •	+ +	+	+	+	+	+ +	• +	+	+		+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Stomach, forestomach	+ +	+ +	+	+		+ +					+ +					+						
Stomach, glandular	+ +	+ +	+	+	-						+ +											
Tongue		, . F	•	•			•••	•					•	•	•	+	•	•	•	•	•	•
Squamous cell carcinoma	,															x						
Tooth	2	• +														~						
Adamantinoma malignant		x																				
Cardiovascular System													-			-						
Blood vessel		ι,		L	т	L ,		J	ч	<u>ـ</u>	<u>т</u> ,				J	د	5					+
Heart	+ -		Ţ	T	+ -	 + +	+	Ŧ	Ŧ	+ +	+ + + +	· +	Ť	+	Ţ	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
	+ +		+	+	+ ·	+ +	+	+	+	+	+ +	- +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Endocrine System Adrenal cortex																						
Adrenai correx Adenoma	+ -	- +	+	Ŧ	+ •	+ +	+	+	Ŧ	+	+ +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
	,							,														
Adrenal medulla	+ -	r +	+,	+	+ ·	+ +	+	+	+	+	+ +	• +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+ x	+	+	+
Pheochromocytoma benign																			Å			
Bilateral, pheochromocytoma benign																						
Islets, pancreatic	+ -	r +	+	+	+ ·	+ +	A	+	+	+	+ +	• +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	Ŧ
Adenoma																						
Carcinoma				,							. X											
Parathyroid gland	+ -	+ +	+	+	+ ·	+ +	+	+	+	•	+ +	•	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Pituitary gland		+ +	+				+	+	+		+ +			+	+							
Pars distalis, adenoma	х				X	X					хх	. X	Х			Х	х	х	Х	Х	х	X
Pars distalis, carcinoma															Х							
Thyroid gland	+ -	+ +	+	+	+	+ +	+	+	+			- +		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
C-cell, adenoma											Х		х					х			Х	
C-cell, carcinoma																						

None

+: Tissue examined microscopically A: Autolysis precludes examination

M: Missing tissue I: Insufficient tissue

X: Lesion present Blank: Not examined

TABLE B2

Number of Days on Study			7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	1	7	7	7	
	3		3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	
	5		5	5	5	5	5	5	5	5	6	6	6	6	6	6	6	6	6	6	6	6	6	(6	6	6	
	2		2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	Total
Carcass ID Number	3		3	4	4	4	5	5	6	6	1	1	2	2	2	3	3	3	3	3	4	4	5	(6	6	6	Tissues/
	8	1	9	0	5	6	5	8	0	2	6	7	0	2	4	1	2	3	5	7	2	7	6	1	1	4	5	Tumors
Alimentary System																		-										
Esophagus	-	F	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	·+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+		+	+	+	50
Intestine large, colon	-	F	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+		+	+	+	48
Intestine large, rectum	-	F	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+		+	+	+	49
Intestine large, cecum	-	F	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+		+	+	+	45
Intestine small, duodenum	-	F	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+		+	+	+	46
Intestine small, jejunum	-	⊦	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+		+	+	+	44
Intestine small, ileum	-	F	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+		+	+	+	47
Liver	-	F	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+		+	+	+	50
Mesentery																						+	+		+	+	+	12
Carcinoma, metastatic, uterus																												1
Pancreas	-	⊦	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+		+	+	+	49
Carcinoma, metastatic, uterus																												1
Salivary glands	-	⊦	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+		+	+	·+	50
Stomach, forestomach	-	F	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	M	. +		+	+	+	49
Stomach, glandular	-	F	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+					+		+	48
Tongue																												2
Squamous cell carcinoma																												2
Tooth																												1
Adamantinoma malignant																												1
			-					_													-				-			
Cardiovascular System																			-	+	+	+	+	L .			-	50
Cardiovascular System Blood vessel	-	F	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+							+	+		
Blood vessel	-	⊦ ⊦	+ +	+ +	+ +	+ +	+ +	+ +	+ +	+ +	+ +	+ +	+ +	+ +	++	+ +	+ +	+ +	+	+	+	+	+	-	+	+ +	+	50
Blood vessel Heart	-	F F	+ +	+ +	+ +	++	+ +	+ +	+ +	++	++	++	++	+	+	++	++	+ +	+	+	+	+	+		+	++	+	
Blood vessel Heart Endocrine System		⊦ ⊦	+ +	+++	+++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++	+++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++	+ + +	++	++	+++	++	+++	+++	+ +	+ + + +	+++	++	+ + +	+	+	+	+	+		+	++	+	50
Blood vessel	-	+	+ + +	+++++	+++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++	+++++	++	+++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++	++	++++++	+++	++	++	+++	+ + + +	+ + +	+ + + X	+	+++	+	+	+ + +	+		+	+++++	+	50
Blood vessel Heart Endocrine System Adrenal cortex Adenoma	-	⊦ ⊦ ⊦	+ + +	+++++++	+++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++	+++++++	+++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++	+++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++	+ + + + +	+++++++	+++-++++	+++++	+++++	+ + + +	+ + + + +	+ + + +	х	+	+ + +	+++++	+	+ + +	+		+ X	+	+	50 50 2
Blood vessel Heart Endocrine System Adrenal cortex Adenoma Adrenal medulla	-	⊦ ⊦ ⊦	+ + +	+ + +	+ + +	+ + +	+++++++	+ + + +	++++++	+++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++	++++++	+++++++	++++++	+++++++	+ + + +	+ + + +		+	++++	+++++	+++	+ + +	+		+ X +	++	+++	50 50 2 50
Blood vessel Heart Endocrine System Adrenal cortex Adenoma Adrenal medulla Pheochromocytoma benign	-	⊦ ⊦ ⊦	+ + +	+ + +	+ + +	+ + +	++++++	+++++++	++++++	+++++++	++++++	++++++	+++++++	++++++	+ + + +	+ + + +	х	+	+++	++++	+ + + +	+	+		+ X +	+	+++	50 50 2 50 2 50 2
Blood vessel Heart Endocrine System Adrenal cortex Adenoma Adrenal medulla Pheochromocytoma benign Bilateral, pheochromocytoma benign	-	⊦ ⊦ ⊦	+ + + +	+ + + +	+ + + +	+++++++	+++++++	+++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++	++++++	+++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++	+++++++	+++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++	+++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++	+++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++	+ + + + +	+++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++	х	+	+++++	++++++	+ + + x	+	+	+ +	+ X +	+ + X	+	50 50 2 50 2 1
Blood vessel Heart Endocrine System Adrenal cortex Adenoma Adrenal medulla Pheochromocytoma benign	-	⊦ ⊦ ⊦	+ + + +	+ + + +	+ + + +	++++++	+++++++	+ + + +	++ + + +	+ + + + +	+ + + + +	+ + + + +	++++++	+++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++	+ + + + +	++++++++	х	+	++++	+++++		+	+ +	+ +	+ X +	+ + X	+++	50 50 2 50 2 1 49
Blood vessel Heart Endocrine System Adrenal cortex Adenoma Adrenal medulla Pheochromocytoma benign Bilateral, pheochromocytoma benign Islets, pancreatic Adenoma	-	⊦ ⊦ ⊦	+++++	+ + + + + +	+ + + +	+ + + + + x	++++++	++++++	++++++	+ + + +	+++++++	+++++++	+++++++	+++++++	++ ++ ++ +	+++++++	х	+	+ + +	+ + + +		++++	+ +	+ +	+ x +	+ + X	+	50 50 2 50 2 1 49 2
Blood vessel Heart Endocrine System Adrenal cortex Adenoma Adrenal medulla Pheochromocytoma benign Bilateral, pheochromocytoma benign Islets, pancreatic Adenoma Carcinoma	-	⊦ ⊦ ⊦		+ + + + + + X +	+++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++	+ + + + + + X +	++++++++	++++++++	+++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++	+++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++	+++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++	++++++++	++ ++ ++ +	++++++++	+++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++	+	x + +	++++			+	+ + + X	+	+ +	+ x +	+ + X	+	50 2 50 2 1 49 2 3
Blood vessel Heart Endocrine System Adrenal cortex Adenoma Adrenal medulla Pheochromocytoma benign Bilateral, pheochromocytoma benign Islets, pancreatic Adenoma Carcinoma Parathyroid gland	-		+	+	+++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++	+	++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +	+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +	+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +	+++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++	+++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++					+ M	× + + +	+ + +	+	+	+	+ + * *	+++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++	+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +	+ x + + X + + X +	+ + X +	++++++	50 2 50 2 1 49 2 3 46
Blood vessel Heart Endocrine System Adrenal cortex Adenoma Adrenal medulla Pheochromocytoma benign Bilateral, pheochromocytoma benign Islets, pancreatic Adenoma Carcinoma Parathyroid gland Pituitary gland		ł	+ +	+ +	+	+ +	++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +	+ + + + + + + ×	+ + + + + + + * *	+ + + + + + + ×	+	+	+	+	+	+ M +	× + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +	+ + +	++	+++	+ + +	+ + * *	+++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++	+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +	+ x + + + x + + + + + + + + + + + + + +	+ + X + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +	+ + + + +	50 2 50 2 1 49 2 3 46 50
Blood vessel Heart Endocrine System Adrenal cortex Adenoma Adrenal medulla Pheochromocytoma benign Bilateral, pheochromocytoma benign Islets, pancreatic Adenoma Carcinoma Parathyroid gland Pituitary gland Pars distalis, adenoma		ł	+ +	+ +	+	+ +		+ + + + + + X	+ + + + + + + X	+ + + + + + X	+	+	+	+	+	+ M	× + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +	+ + +	++	+++	+ + +	+ + * *	+++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++	+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +	+ x + + + x + + + + + + + + + + + + + +	+ + X + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +	++++++	50 2 50 2 1 49 2 3 46 50 35
Blood vessel Heart Endocrine System Adrenal cortex Adenoma Adrenal medulla Pheochromocytoma benign Bilateral, pheochromocytoma benign Islets, pancreatic Adenoma Carcinoma Parathyroid gland Pituitary gland Pars distalis, adenoma Pars distalis, carcinoma	2	ł	+ + X	+ + X	+ X	+ + X	x			x	+ X	+ X	+	+ X	+ x	+ M + X	x + + +	+ + + + X	+ +	+ + X	+ + X	+ + X + X	+ + + +		+ x + + x + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +	+ + + + + + + + + + X	+ + + + X	50 2 50 2 1 49 2 3 46 50 35 1
Blood vessel Heart Endocrine System Adrenal cortex Adenoma Adrenal medulla Pheochromocytoma benign Bilateral, pheochromocytoma benign Islets, pancreatic Adenoma Carcinoma Parathyroid gland Pituitary gland Pars distalis, adenoma		ł	+ + X	+ + X	+ X	+ + X	x				+ X	+ X	+	+ X	+ x	+ M + X	x + + +	+ + + + X	+ +	+ + X	+ + X	+ + X + X	+ + + +		+ x + + x + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +	+ + + + + + + + + + X	+ + + + X	50 2 50 2 1 49 2 3 46 50 35

	3 3 4 4 5 5 5 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7
Number of Days on Study	7 7 0 3 1 5 9 0 0 0 4 5 5 8 8 0 0 0 2 2 3 3 3 3 3
	0 0 4 9 5 9 4 5 6 6 8 0 9 3 7 0 2 9 3 4 5 5 5 5 5
	2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2
Carcass ID Number	1 5 4 5 4 4 6 5 2 3 5 1 5 4 5 5 2 4 2 3 2 2 2 2 3
	8 7 9 0 1 3 3 3 8 4 2 9 4 4 1 9 7 8 5 0 1 3 6 9 6
Conital Sustam	
Genital System Clitoral gland	+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +
Adenoma	X X
Bilateral, adenoma	X
Ovary	
Bilateral, tubulostromal adenoma	X
Uterus	+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +
Carcinoma	X
Endometrium, polyp stromal	Х
Endometrium, polyp stromal, multiple	X
Endometrium, sarcoma stromal	X
Hematopoietic System	
Bone marrow	+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +
Histiocytic sarcoma	
Lymph node	+ + + + + +
Mediastinal, carcinoma, metastatic,	
uterus	Х
Lymph node, mandibular	
Lymph node, mesenteric	+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +
Carcinoma, metastatic, uterus	Χ
Spleen	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
Histiocytic sarcoma, metastatic,	,
bone marrow	
	+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +
Thymus	тттттттттттттттттттттттттттт
Integumentary System	
Mammary gland	+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +
Adenoma	X X
Carcinoma	X
Fibroadenoma	x x x x x x x x
Fibroadenoma, multiple	Х
Skin	+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +
Pinna, squamous cell papilloma	
Subcutaneous tissue, fibroma	х
Musculoskeletal System	
	+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +
Bone	+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +
Nervous System	
Brain	+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +
Cerebellum, granular cell tumor	
malignant	Х
Peripheral nerve	+
Spinal cord	+
Primi core	•

	8.														-					-							
Number of Days on Study	7	5	3	7 3 5	7 3 5	7 3 5	7 3 5	7 3 5	7 3 5	3	7 3 6	3	3	7 3 6	3	7 3 6	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	
Carcass ID Number	2 2 2 8	5	3	4	2 4 5	4	2 5 5		6	6	1		2	2	2 2 4	3	2 3 2	3	2 3 5					2 6 1	6		Total Tissues/ Tumors
Genital System																											
Clitoral gland Adenoma Bilateral, adenoma		⊦	+	+ X	+	+ X	+	+ X	+ X	+	+		+ X	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+ x	+	50 9 1
Bilateral, tubulostromal adenoma		ł	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	50 1
Uterus Carcinoma Endometrium, polyp stromal		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+ x	+	+	+	+	+ x	+	+	50 1
Endometrium, polyp stromal, multiple Endometrium, sarcoma stromal																			^					л			3 1 1
Hematopoietic System			_																					_			
Bone marrow Histiocytic sarcoma Lymph node Mediastinal, carcinoma, metastatic,		ł	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+ X	+	+ +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	50 1 7
uterus Lymph node, mandibular		+	+	+	+	• +	+	+	+	+	+	+	÷	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	1 50
Lymph node, mesenteric Carcinoma, metastatic, uterus		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	÷	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	49 1
Spleen Histiocytic sarcoma, metastatic,		÷	+	+	+	· +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	• +	+	+	50
bone marrow Thymus		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	х +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	1 50
Integumentary System Mammary gland Adenoma		+	+	+	+	• +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	ł	+	• +	• +	+	· +	50 2
Carcinoma Fibroadenoma			x		x								x	x	x	x		x	x		X X				x	x x	3 21
Fibroadenoma, multiple Skin Pinna, squamous cell papilloma		X +	+	+	+		X +	+	X +				+	+	+	+	+	+	+	X +			X +		• +	+	1
Subcutaneous tissue, fibroma															-												1
Musculoskeletal System Bone		+	+	+	+	- +	• +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	· +	- +	• +	• +	50
Nervous System Brain Cerebellum, granular cell tumor		+	+	+	• +	- +	• +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	- +	• +	• +	- +	50
malignant Peripheral nerve Spinal cord																											1 1 1

TABLE B2

	00																			•						(******************
		3	3	4	4	5	5	5	6	6	6	6	6	6	6	6	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7
Number of Days on Study		7	7	0	3	1	5	9	0	0	0	4	5	5	8	8	0	0	0	2	2	3	3	3	3	3
		0	0	4	9	5.	9	4	5	6	6	8	0	9	3	7	0	2	9	3	4	5	5	5	5	5
		2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2
Carcass ID Number		1	5	4	5	4	4	6	5	2	3	5	1	5	4	5	5	2	4	2	3	2	2	2	2	3
		8	7	9	0	1	3	3	3	8	4	2	9	4	4	1	9	7	8	5	0	1	3	6	9	6
Respiratory System					-																	_	_			
Lung		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	• +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Alveolar/bronchiolar adenoma																							Х			

Individual Animal Tumor Pathology of Female Rats in the 2-Year Feed Study of Phenolphthalein: 0 ppm (continued)

•

Carcinoma, metastatic, uterus Histiocytic sarcoma, metastatic, bone marrow																	x				л				
Nose	-	+ +	+	+	+ -	+ +	- +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
Turbinate, adenoma																									
Trachea	-	+ +	+	+	+ -	+ +	• +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
Special Senses System						_										_					_				
Eye						+	-														+				
Urinary System																									
Kidney	-	+ +	+	+	+ -	+ +	- +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
Urinary bladder	-	+ +	+	+	+ •	+ +	- +	Μ	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
Carcinoma, metastatic, uterus																	х								
Systemic Lesions					_																				
Multiple organs		+ +	+	+	+ •	+ +	+ +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
Histiocytic sarcoma																									
Leukemia mononuclear					х		х				Х	х	Х	Х		Х		х				Х			

		7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	
Number of Days on Study	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	
	4	5	5	5	5	5	5	5	5	5	6	6	6	6	6	6.	6	6	6	6	6	6	6	6	6	6	
		2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	Total
Carcass ID Number	2	3	3	4	4	4	5	5	6	6	1	1	2	2	2	3	3	3	3	3	4	4	5	6	6	6	Tissues/
	٤	3	9	0	5	6	5	8	0	2	6	7	0	2	4	1	2	3	5	7	2	7	6	1	4	5	Tumors
Respiratory System																											
Lung		÷	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	50
Alveolar/bronchiolar adenoma											х							Х									3
Carcinoma, metastatic, uterus																											1
Histiocytic sarcoma, metastatic,																											
bone marrow																х											1
Nose		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	• +	+	50
Turbinate, adenoma														х													1
Trachea		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	• +	+	50
Special Senses System																	_										
Eye																											2
Urinary System																											
Kidney		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	- +	• +	+	50
Urinary bladder		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	• -+	• +	+	49
Carcinoma, metastatic, uterus		·																								·	1
																											-
Systemic Lesions																					,						5 0
Multiple organs		+	+	+	· +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	• +	• •	- +	• +	50
Histiocytic sarcoma							••									х								-			1
Leukemia mononuclear						Х	Х		х			х		Х				X	X	Х	X			X	. X	X	21

TABLE B2

	4	-	5	6	6					7	7	7	7			7 7	7	1	7 7	7	7	7	7	7	7	
Number of Days on Study	3	4	7	2	7	7		7	7	0	1	1			3 3			-		-	3	3	3	3	3	
	5	9	1	8	3	4	5	9	9	5	7	8	5	5	5 5	5 5	5 5	5 1	5 3	5	5	5	5	5	5	
	2	3	2	2	3	2	2	2	2	3	2	3	2	2	2 2	2 2	2 2	2 2	2 2	2	2	2	2	2	2	
Carcass ID Number	9	1	8	7	0	8	8	6	8	0	7	0	6	7	7 7	78	39) 9	9)	9	9	9	9	9	
	2	3	6	6	8	1	7	7	3	2	4	6	9	2	3 :	58	3 1	1 3	3 4	1	5	6	7	8	9	
Alimentary System								_											_							
Esophagus	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+ ·	+ •	+ •	+ -	+ -	+	+	+	+	+	+	
Intestine large, colon	+	A	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+ ·	+ •	+ •	+	+ -	+	+	+	+	+	+	
ntestine large, rectum	+	Α	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	М	+	+	+	+ •	+ -	+ -	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
Intestine large, cecum	+	A	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	÷.	+ .	4 .	+ .	+ .	+	+	+	+	+	+	
intestine small, duodenum	+	A	+	+	÷	+	+	+	÷	+	+	+	+	+	÷ .	+ .	+ .	+ .	• •	÷	+	+	+	+	+	
intestine small, jejunum		- A	+	+	, +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+ .		+ .		÷.	+	÷	+	+	+	+	
intestine small, ileum	+	A	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	÷	÷	+-	÷	÷.					÷	+	+	÷	+	+	
Liver	, 		, 	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+ -	+ -	+		÷	- -	÷	-	۰. ۲	+	
Hepatocellular carcinoma	т	1	ſ	1		'		x		'	•	•	ı	T.	1	•	1			r	т	т	т	т	т	
Hepatocellular adenoma								~																		
Hepatocellular adenoma, multiple										х																
Mesentery		+		д.				+		л +																
Dral mucosa		Ŧ		Ŧ				Ŧ		Ŧ																
											+ X															
Squamous cell papilloma Pancreas		A								+	л +															
	т ,	· A	+		Ť	т ,	т	Ť	+	Ţ	Ţ	+	Ť	+	т ,	+ ·	Τ '	T	T '	T	+	+	+	+	+	
Salivary glands	+	• +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+ ·	+ •	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
Stomach, forestomach	+	• +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+		+ •	+ •	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
Stomach, glandular	+	• +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+ •	+ •	+ -	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
Tongue														+												
Squamous cell carcinoma																										
Cardiovascular System																										
Blood vessel	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+ ·	+ •	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
Heart	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+ ·	+ •	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
Endocrine System																									-	
Adrenal cortex	+	• +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+ •	+ •	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
Adenoma																										
Adrenal medulla	+	• +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+ •	+ •	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
Pheochromocytoma malignant																										
Pheochromocytoma benign		х					х					х			x											
Bilateral, pheochromocytoma benign										х								2	х							
slets, pancreatic	+	· A	+	+	+	+	+	+	+		+	+	+	+	+	+	+ ·	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
Parathyroid gland	+	• +	+	+	+	M	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+ •	+	+ 1	M	+	+	+	+	+	
Pituitary gland	-+	• +		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+					M		+	+	+	+	+	
Pars distalis, adenoma	•	•		x	•	•	x	•	x	•	•	•		x			x :			x			x	x		
Thyroid gland	4			+	+	+		+		+	+	+			+						+			+		
C-cell, adenoma	'		'		•	•	•	x	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	x	
C-cell, carcinoma						х														x						

Individual Animal Tumor Pathology of Female Rats in the 2-Year Feed Study of Phenolphthalein: 12,000 ppm

7 77 Number of Days on Study 3 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 Total **Carcass ID Number** 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 1 1 1 6 6 7 7 7 7 7 8 8 8 8 9 Tissues/ 8 0 1 3 4 5 7 9 0 1 2 4 5 6 8 0 1 7 8 9 0 2 4 59 0 Tumors **Alimentary System** Esophagus + + + + + + + + + + + 50 + + + Intestine large, colon + ++ + + + + + + 49 47 Intestine large, rectum Μ + + 1 + 49 Intestine large, cecum 4 + + ++ + Intestine small, duodenum 49 + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + 4 + 4 + + + + 4 + + Intestine small, jejunum + + + + ÷ + + + + + + + + 49 + + 4 + + + + + Intestine small, ileum + 49 + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +++ + + + 50 Liver + + + + + + + + + + + ++ ++ + Hepatocellular carcinoma 1 Hepatocellular adenoma х 1 Hepatocellular adenoma, multiple 1 Mesentery 7 + + + Oral mucosa 3 + + 2 Squamous cell papilloma Х 49 Pancreas ++ + + + + + + 50 Salivary glands + + + ++ + + + + + + 50 Stomach, forestomach + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + 50 Stomach, glandular + + 4 + + + + + + + ++ + + + + + + Tongue 3 +Squamous cell carcinoma Х 1 **Cardiovascular System** 50 Blood vessel + + + + + + Heart 50 + + ++ + + + + + + + **Endocrine System** Adrenal cortex 50 Adenoma х 1 Adrenal medulla + + 50 + + + + + + + + + + + + Pheochromocytoma malignant Х 1 Pheochromocytoma benign х х Х х Х 9 Bilateral, pheochromocytoma benign 2 49 Islets, pancreatic + 4 + + + Parathyroid gland ÷ + + М + + + 46 + + + Μ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + Pituitary gland + 49 Pars distalis, adenoma хх ххххх **X X X X X X** хххх х 32 50 Thyroid gland + + + + + + + + + ++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + C-cell, adenoma ХХ Х 5 3 C-cell, carcinoma Х **General Body System** Peritoneum + 1

•

Individual Animal Tumor Pathology of Female Rats in the 2-Year Feed Study of Phenolphthalein: 12,000 ppm (continued)

Number of Days on Study	3		4	7	2	7	7	6 7 5	7	7	0	1	1	7 3 5	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	735	3	735	3	3	
Carcass ID Number		2 :	3	2 8	2	3 0	2 8	2	2 6	2 8	3 0	2 7	3 0	2	2 7	2 · 7	2 7	2 8	2 9	2 9	2 9	2 9	.2 9	2 9	2 9	2 9	
Genital System	<u> </u>		_		_				_		_							_			_						
Clitoral gland	+	ŀ	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
Adenoma											х					х					х						
Ovary	-	ł	+	+	+	+	+	+			+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
Cystadenoma										Х																	
Granulosa cell tumor benign																											
Granulosa-theca tumor benign																											
Uterus Histioautia sarrama	-	ł	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
Histiocytic sarcoma Endometrium, polyp stromal	,	,											x			х						x				x	
Endometrium, polyp stromal, multiple	~	7											л			л						Λ				л	
Vagina	-	┢																									
	···-	•																									
Hematopoietic System																											
Bone marrow	+	ł	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
Lymph node			+	+	+		+		+		+	+	+										+				
Lymph node, mandibular	4	ł	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
Lymph nođe, mesenteric	+	ł	+	÷	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
Spleen	-	ł	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
Thymus	-	⊦	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	м	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
Integumentary System												_			_			_									
Mammary gland	-	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
Fibroadenoma	X	ζ.	•	•	•	x	•	•	·	x	•	•	·		x	•	·	•	•	•	x	·	x	•	x	x	
Skin			+	+			+	+			+	+	+	+		+	+	+	+	+		+		+			
Subcutaneous tissue, fibroma																											
																						_					
Musculoskeletal System																											
Bone Skeletal muscle	-	t	+	+ +	+	+	+	+	+-	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	÷	+	+	+	+	Ŧ	+	+	+	+	
Sarcoma				т						+															+ X		
															_										~		
Nervous System																									•		
Brain	+	ł	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
Peripheral nerve				+						+																	
Spinal cord				+						+																	
Pagninotony, System															_						<u> </u>						
Respiratory System				1						,						.1			J	J	.1		.1	.1		۰L	
Lung Alveolar/bronchiolar adenoma	-	Ŧ	t	Ŧ	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	Ŧ	+	Ť	Ŧ	+ X	Ŧ	Ŧ	+	
Alveolar/bronchiolar agenoma Alveolar/bronchiolar carcinoma																							л				
Nose	-	÷	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	м	+	+	+	+	+	+	
Trachea	-	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+		+	+				+								+		
		•	<u>.</u>	<u>.</u>	•	<u>`</u>	<u>`</u>	·			<u> </u>	'	•	•		•				<u>.</u>			'	'			
Special Senses System																											
Eye																											
Zymbal's gland																											
Carcinoma																											

.

(continued)																											
Number of Days on Study	7 3 5	73	3	3	3	7 3 5	7 3 5	3	7 3 5	7 3 5	7 3 5	7 3 5	7 3 5	7 3 6													
Carcass ID Number	3 0 0	3 (1) (0	0	0	3 0 7	0	3 1 0	3 1 1	3 1 2	3 1 4	3 1 5	2 6 6	6	7	2 7 1	2 7 7	2 7 8	7	2 8 0	2 8 2	2 8 4	2 8 5	2 8 9	9	Total Tissues/ Tumors
Genital System																											
Clitoral gland	+	• •	ł			+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+		+	50
Adenoma					Х																			Х			7
Ovary	+	• •	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	50
Cystadenoma												.,														••	1
Granulosa cell tumor benign												Х								v						х	2
Granulosa-theca tumor benign Uterus				+												.1	4.			X						+	1 50
Histiocytic sarcoma	+		+ K	Ŧ	т	т	Ŧ	т	т	т	Ŧ	т	т	т	т	т	т	Ŧ	-	т	т	Ŧ	т	т	т	Ŧ	1
Endometrium, polyp stromal		1	•											х								x					7
Endometrium, polyp stromal, multiple											х											••					1
Vagina											• •																1
Hematopoietic System																	_										
Bone marrow	+		÷	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	50
Lymph node															+								+				11
Lymph node, mandibular	+		÷	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	50
Lymph node, mesenteric	+	• •	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	50
Spleen	+	• •	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	÷	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	50
Thymus	+	• •	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	49
Integumentary System																											
Mammary gland	+		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	50
Fibroadenoma	х		X		х				х					х					х				Х		Х		25
Skin	+		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	50
Subcutaneous tissue, fibroma									<u>x</u>							х											2
Musculoskeletal System																											
Bone	+	•	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	50
Skeletal muscle																											3
Sarcoma																											1
Nervous System																											
Brain	-	-	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	• +	+	50
Peripheral nerve																											2
Spinal cord																_											2
Respiratory System		-																									
Lung	-	۲	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+				+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	• +	+	
Alveolar/bronchiolar adenoma												Х		Х													3
Alveolar/bronchiolar carcinoma																			X								1
Nose	-	F	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	• +	- +	• +	49
Trachea		F	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	• +	- +	- +	· +	50
Special Senses System																											
Eye																			+								1
Zymbal's gland																			+								1
Carcinoma																			Х								1

	4 5 5 6 6 6 6 6 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7
Number of Days on Study	3 4 7 2 7 7 7 7 7 0 1 1 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3
	5 9 1 8 3 4 5 9 9 5 7 8 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5
	2 3 2 2 3 2 2 2 3 2 3 2 3 2 2 2 2 2 2 2
Carcass ID Number	9 1 8 7 0 8 8 6 8 0 7 0 6 7 7 7 8 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9
	2 3 6 6 8 1 7 7 3 2 4 6 9 2 3 5 8 1 3 4 5 6 7 8 9
Urinary System	
Kidney	+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +
Urinary bladder	+ A + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +
Systemic Lesions	
Multiple organs	+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +
Histiocytic sarcoma	
Leukemia mononuclear	X X X X X X X X X X X X X X X X X X X

	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	
Number of Days on Study	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	
	5	5	5	5	5	5	5	5	5	5	5	5	6	6	6	6	6	6	6	6	6	6	6	6	6	
	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	Total
Carcass ID Number	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	1	1	1	6	6	7	7	7	7	7	8	8	8	8	8	9	Tissues/
	0	1	3	4	5	7	9	0	1	2	4	5	6	8	0	1	7	8	9	0	2	4	5	9	0	Tumors
Urinary System																										
Kidney	+	• +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	50
Urinary bladder	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	49
Systemic Lesions										•																
Multiple organs	+	• +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	50
Histiocytic sarcoma		Х																								1
Leukemia mononuclear			Х								х			x	Х			х	х			х			х	21

TABLE B2

Individual Animal Tumor Pathology of Female Rats in the 2-Year Feed Study of Phenolphthalein:	25,000 ppm
---	------------

Number of Days on Study	3		5 6				6 2					6 9			7 1		7 2	7 3	7 3	7 3	7	7	7	7 3	7 3	
rumber of Days on Study	1	3					2						7					0		5	5	5 5	5	5 5	-	
	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	
Carcass ID Number	4	3				5			3			5					2		1		2		2		2	
	6	2	9	7	4	0	3	0	0	4	5	2	8	7	6	9	9	0	6	8	1	2	5	7	8	
Alimentary System																										
Esophagus	+	+	+	+	+	+	+								+			+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
Intestine large, colon	+	+	+	+	+	+			+						+		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	.+	
Intestine large, rectum	+	+	+	+	+	+							+		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
Intestine large, cecum	+	+	Α	+	+	+	+		+					+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
Intestine small, duodenum	+	+	+	+	+	+			+					+		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
Intestine small, jejunum	+			+											+			+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
Intestine small, ileum	+	+	Α	+											+					+	+	+	+	+	+	
Liver	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
Hepatocellular adenoma																										
Mesentery				+										+							+	+		+		
Pancreas	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	Α	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
Salivary glands	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
Stomach, forestomach	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
Stomach, glandular	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
Tooth							+																			
Cardiovascular System														•												
Blood vessel	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
Heart	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
Schwannoma malignant																										
Endocrine System				_																						
Adrenal cortex	+	+	+	+	+	Α	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
Adenoma																										
Adrenal medulla	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
Pheochromocytoma malignant			x																							
Pheochromocytoma benign					х		х				х							х								
Islets, pancreatic	+	+	+	+			+	+	+	+	A	+	+	+	+	+	+		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
Adenoma																									x	
Parathyroid gland	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	М	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	м	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
Pituitary gland	+	+	+	+	+	+		+			+	+		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+		
Pars distalis, adenoma	x	x	·	•	•	x	•		x	•	•	x	•	•	x	•		•	x	•				x		
Thyroid gland	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+				+		
C-cell, adenoma	·	•	•	•	•	·	•	•	•	•	•	·	•	•	x	•	•		x	•	•	•	•		•	
General Body System							_																			····
None																										
Genital System														-												
Clitoral gland	+	м	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
Adenoma	•		•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•		•	•	•	•	•	•	x				
Carcinoma																										
Bilateral, adenoma																										
Ovary	ـــ	Ъ	ᆂ	ъ	ᆂ	ـ	ъ	Ŧ	Ъ	┸	-	⊥	⊥	Ŧ	+	+	+	+	+	Ŧ	+	+	Ŧ	.		
Granulosa cell tumor malignant	+	Ŧ	Ŧ	т	т	т	т	г	T	т	т	т	г	r.	r.		r	r.	T.	Ŧ	-1-	1	1	T	1	
Uterus		.1	, I .		. لـ	.	ъ		<u>т</u>	<u>н</u>	+	<u>н</u>	.	┵	+	_	ъ	<u>ь</u>	<u>ь</u>	ᆂ	L	т.	L	+	ц	
Schwannoma malignant	+	Ŧ	Ŧ	Ŧ	-	x +	Ŧ	т	т	Ŧ	т	Ŧ	Ŧ	т	Ŧ	Ŧ	т	Ŧ	т	Ŧ	T	т	т	Ť	-	
•						л							х							x						
Endometrium, polyp stromal Endometrium, polyp stromal, multiple													Λ							л						
Endometrium, polyp stromal, multiple																										

	7	7	7 '	7	7	7	7							7				7					7	7	7	7	
Number of Days on Study	3	3 3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3 3	3 3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	
	5	; :	5 :	5	5	5	5	5	5	5	5	5	5	5	5	5 (5 (6	6	6	6	6	6	6	6	6	
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	3	3 :	3 :	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3 :	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	Total
Carcass ID Number	3	3 :	3	3	3	3	3	3	4	4	4	4	5	5	6	6	1 :	2	2	5	5	5	5	5	6	6	Tissues/
	1	1 :	3	4	5	6	7	8	1	2	5	9	5	8	1	3	9 (1	3	4	6	7	2	4	Tumors
Alimentary System																										•••	
Esophagus	-	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	50
Intestine large, colon	-	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	49
Intestine large, rectum	-	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	÷	48
Intestine large, cecum	-	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	47
Intestine small, duodenum	-	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	49
Intestine small, jejunum	-	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	47
Intestine small, ileum		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	45
Liver	-	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	50
Hepatocellular adenoma													х														1
Mesentery																					+						6
Pancreas		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	49
Salivary glands	-	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	50
Stomach, forestomach		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+		+	+				+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	50
Stomach, glandular	-	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+				+				+	+	+		+	50
Tooth				•				·	•							+			•								2
Cardiovascular System															ž												
Blood vessel		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	50
Heart		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+							+	+	+	50
Schwannoma malignant								-						·					-						х		1
Endocrine System				_				·																			
Adrenal cortex		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	49
Adenoma											х																1
Adrenal medulla		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	50
Pheochromocytoma malignant																											1
Pheochromocytoma benign							х						х				х					х		х			9
Islets, pancreatic		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+		+	+	+	+	+	+			+	+	49
Adenoma																											1
Parathyroid gland	J	м	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	47
Pituitary gland		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	50
Pars distalis, adenoma		•			x			x	·					x				x						x		X	
Thyroid gland		+	+	+		+			+	+					+			+								+	50
C-cell, adenoma		•	•	•		x		•	•	•	•	·	·	•	·	•	•				x		x			•	7
General Body System				_																						_	
None																											
Genital System				_																							
Clitoral gland		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	• +	+	49
Adenoma		х																			Х						3
Carcinoma															х												1
Bilateral, adenoma																			х								1
Ovary		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+		+	+	+	+	- +	• +	• +	50
Granulosa cell tumor malignant					-	-	-				-														X		1
Uterus		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	• +	· +		· +	50
Schwannoma malignant			-	•			•	•	•		•	•	•	•				,	•	-			•				1
Endometrium, polyp stromal										х				Х								X					5

Number of Days on Study	3 5 5 6 6 6 6 6 7 3 3 3
Carcass ID Number	3 3
Hematopoietic System Bone marrow Lymph node	+++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++
Lymph node, mandibular Lymph node, mesenteric Spleen Thymus	+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +
Integumentary System Mammary gland Fibroadenoma	+ + + + M + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +
Fibroadenoma, multiple Skin	X X + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +
Musculoskeletal System Bone Skeletal musc l e	+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +
Nervous System Brain Peripheral nerve Spinal cord	+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +
Respiratory System	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
Alveolar/bronchiolar adenoma Nose Frachea	X + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +
Special Senses System Eye	+ +
Urinary System Kidney Urinary bladder	+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +
Systemic Lesions Multiple organs Leukemia mononuclear	+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

.

Number of Days on Study	7 7	
Carcass ID Number	3 3 3 3 3 3 3 4 4 4 4 5 5 6 6 1 2 2 5 5 5 5 6 6 Tiss	Fotal sues/ mors
Hematopoietic System Bone marrow Lymph node Lymph node, mandibular	+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +	50 9 50
Lymph node, mesenteric Spleen Fhymus	+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +	49 50 49
Integumentary System Mammary gland Fibroadenoma Fibroadenoma, multiple Skin	+ + + + M + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +	48 11 6 49
Musculoskeletal System Bone Skeletal muscle	+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +	50 3
Nervous System Brain Peripheral nerve Spinal cord	+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +	50 2 2
Respiratory System Lung Alveolar/bronchiolar adenoma Nose	+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +	50 1 50
Trachea	+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +	50
Special Senses System Eye		2
Urinary System Kidney Urinary bladder	+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +	50 49
Systemic Lesions Multiple organs Leukemia mononuclear	+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +	50 17

TABLE B2 Individual Animal Tumor Pathology of Female Rats in the 2-Year Feed Study of Phenolphthalein: 50,000 ppm

																				-			-			
							5																	7		
Number of Days on Study	7	3		8			1 2				1	2	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	
	1	0	- 4	4	• 1	0	2	1	2	7	2	4	3	5	2	5			5	2	2	2	2	5	3	
	3	3	3	4	- 4	3			3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	
Carcass ID Number	6	9	8	1	-		7	1									7	7				8	9	9		
	7	3	7	C	8	8	6	4	0	7	4	8	6	8	9	0	3	5	7	9	2	9	1	2	4	
Alimentary System																				-						
Esophagus	+		F 4		+ +	• +	· +	+	+	+	М	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
Intestine large, colon	+		┝┥	+ •	+ +	• +	• +	+	+	+	Α	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
Intestine large, rectum	+		⊦ A	۰ ۱	+ +	• +	• +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
Intestine large, cecum	+		ΗA		+ +	• +	• +	+	+	Α	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
Intestine small, duodenum	+	• •	F A	· -	+ +	• +	• +	÷	+	+	Α	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
Intestine small, jejunum	+								+	+	+	+	+	+	+	М		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
Intestine small, ileum	+				+ +	- +	• +	+	+	+		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
Liver	+		F A	· -	+ +	- +	• +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+		
Hepatocellular adenoma																								х		
Mesentery Pancreas	+		F N		+				+		м			.1					+						+	
Acinus, adenoma	+		r 1	·1 -	r 1	- +	• +	+	IVI	A	Μ	Ŧ	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	x +	+	+	+	
Salivary glands	Ŧ		Ļц	⊢ -	г т	. ц		+	+	+	м	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	Ŧ	+	^ +	۔	Ŧ	+	
Stomach, forestomach	، ب				, , ,	, , ,	, 	+	+		M		, +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+		+	+	+	+	
Stomach, glandular	· +		ŀΑ		 + +	- +	- +	+	+		M		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
Tongue			•••	-	• •		•	•	•	•		•		•		•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	
Cardiovascular System																										
Blood vessel	+		+ -		+ +	- +	• +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+		+	
Heart	+		+ -		+ +	- +	• +	+	+	+	М	+	+	+	<u>.</u> +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
Endocrine System																										
Adrenal cortex	+		+ 4	۰ ۱	+ +	- +	• +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
Adenoma																										
Adrenal medulla	+		+ 4	x -	+ +	- +	- +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+		+	+	+	
Pheochromocytoma benign																					X					
Islets, pancreatic	+		+ -	+ •	+ +	- +	- +	+	М	Α	м	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
Adenoma																										
Carcinoma Desethuroid aland							- +				м			а.	+	Т	-	-	-	-					м	
Parathyroid gland Pituitary gland					 + -						M						++	т 	+	+	+				M	
Pars distalis, adenoma	1					x		x		ţ	141				x		1	x		'	•			x		
Thyroid gland	+		+ 4	ι.	+ +		- +			+	м	+	+				+		+	+	+				+	
C-cell, adenoma	•			•	•	•		•				•		•	•		•	x		•	x		x		•	
C-cell, carcinoma																				Х						
General Body System																										
None																										
													-													
Genital System																										
Clitoral gland	-4		+ •	+ ·	+ +	F N	1 +	• +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+		- +	• +	+	
Adenoma															Х							Х			х	
Carcinoma																										
Ovary	-		+ ·	+	+ +	r 1	- +	• +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	Ŧ	+	+	+	+	1	- +	+	
Oviduct					L.							1		Т	+	-	Г	L	Ц		L,	د .			ъ	
Uterus Endometrium, polyp stromal	-	- ·	+ •	T		r 1	- +	• +	+	+ X	+	+	-	Ŧ	Ŧ	Ŧ	-	Ŧ	Ŧ	+	+	+	- 1	- +	+	
Endometrium, polyp stromal Endometrium, polyp stromal, multiple										л																
					_	F																				
Vagina																										

									_																_	
	7	7	7	' 7		77	7	77	7	7 7	, '	77	17	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	
Number of Days on Study	3	3		-			-					33		-	3		3	3		3	3	3	3	3	-	
	5	5	5 5	5		5 5	5 5	5 5	5 5	5 5	5 :	5 5	5 5	55	5	5	6	6	6	6	6	6	6	6	6	
	3	3	3	4	4	44	4	44	4	4 4	1 4	4 4	4	14	4	4	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	Total
Carcass ID Number	9	9) 9	0				0 0		0 (1										8		Tissues/
	5	e	5 9	0)	12	2 3	34	15	5 6	5 '	79) 1	12	3	5	1	2	0	1	3	4	5	6	8	Tumors
Alimentary System					-																					
Esophagus	+		+ -	+ -	+	+ -	+ •	+ -	+ -	+ ·	+	+ •	+ •	+ +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	49
Intestine large, colon	+		+ •	+ -	+	+ -	+ •	+ -	+ -	+ •	+	+ -	+ •	+ +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	49
Intestine large, rectum	+		+ •	+ -	+	+ -	+ •	+ -	+ -	+ ·	+	+ -	+ •	+ +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	49
intestine large, cecum	+		+ -	+ -	+	+ •	+ •	+ •	+ •	+ ·	+	+ -	+ ·	+ +	· +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	48
ntestine small, duodenum	+		+ •	+ -	+ -	+ •	+ •	+ -	+ •	+ ·	+	+ •	+ •	+ +	• +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	48
intestine small, jejunum	+		+ -	+ -	+	+ -	+ -	+ -	+ •	+ ·	+	+ •	+ ·	+ +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	48
intestine small, ileum	-		+ •	+ -	ł	+ -	+ ·	+ -	+ •	+ •	÷	+ -	+ ·	+ +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	49
Liver	+		+ •	+ -	ł	+ -	+	+ •	+ ·	+ ·	+	+ •	+ ·	+ +	• +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	49
Hepatocellular adenoma																										1
Mesentery																		+								7
Pancreas	+		+ •	+ -	+	+ •	+	+ •	+ ·	+	ł	+ •	+ ·	+ +	· +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	46
Acinus, adenoma																										1
Salivary glands	-		+ ·	+ -	+	+ ·	+	+ •	+ ·	+	+	+ ·	+ ·	+ +	• +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	49
Stomach, forestomach	-		+ ·	+ -	ł	+ •	+	+ •	+ ·	+		+ ·		+ +	• +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	49
Stomach, glandular		+ •	+ •	+ •	+	+ •	+	+ •	+	+	+	+ •		+ +	• +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	48
Fongue												•	+								+				_	2
Cardiovascular System																										
Blood vessel	-	ب	+ ·	+ -	+	+ ·	+	+ •	+	+	+	+ ·	ł	+ +	- +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	50
Heart	-	+ •	+ ·	+ -	ł	+ ·	+	+ •	+	+	+	+ ·	+	+ +	• +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	49
Endocrine System																										
Adrenal cortex	+	+	+ ·	+ •	+	+ ·	+	+ ·	+	+	+	+ ·	+	+ +	• +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	49
Adenoma						Х															Х					2
Adrenal medulla	-	+ ۱	+	+ ·	+	+ -	+	+	+	+	+	+ -	+	+ +	- +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	49
Pheochromocytoma benign																										2
Islets, pancreatic	-	۲	+	+ ·	+			+	+	+	+	+	+	+ +	- +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	47
Adenoma							Х																			1
Carcinoma							х																			1
Parathyroid gland	-	۲)	М	+ ·	+	+		+ 1					+	+ +			+	+	+		Μ	+	+	+	+	44
Pituitary gland			+		+	+		+						+ +					+		+		+		+	47
Pars distalis, adenoma	2		X					X					Х			Х						Х		Х		25
Thyroid gland	-				+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+ -	+ +	· +	+			+	+	+	+		+	48
C-cell, adenoma			X	Х														Х						х		7
C-cell, carcinoma																										2
General Body System																			-							
None																										
Genital System																										
Clitoral gland	-	+	М	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+ -	+ +	• +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	• +	+	48
Adenoma				х						х		Х											Х			7
Carcinoma										х																1
Ovary		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+ •	+ +	• +	+	+	+	+	+	+	• +	• +	+	50
Oviduct																	+									1
Uterus		÷	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+ •	+ +	- +	+	+	+	+	+	+	• +	• +	• +	50
Endometrium, polyp stromal	2	x												Х		Х										4
Endometrium, polyp stromal, multiple																	Х									1
Vagina																										1
Schwannoma malignant																										1

(commune)																	
Number of Days on Study	7 3 3 3	4 4 5 8 9 0 4 1 6) 1	8 2	9	12	33	3	3 3	7 3 5	3						
Carcass ID Number			77	19	9	79	66	6	77	7	7	7	8	8	9	9	9
Hematopoietic System									_								
Bone marrow Histiocytic sarcoma Lymph node		+ +	+ + +	+	+	+		+	+							+	+
Lymph node, mandibular Lymph node, mesenteric	+ + A + + A		• •			M + + +	+ + +									+	+
Spleen Fibrosarcoma	+ + +	+ + -	+ +	+ +	+ 1	M +	+ +	+	+ +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+ +	+
Thymus	+ + +	+ + -	+ +	+ +	+ 1	M +	+ +	+	+ +	• +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Integumentary System																	
Mammary gland Carcinoma Fibroadenoma	+ + + X	2	+ + X X	+ + x	+	+ + x	+ + X X		+ + x x		+ x		+ x	+	+	+ x	М
Fibroadenoma, multiple		1	•	А			Âx			•	Α		л	х		л	
Skin Lip, basal cell adenoma Subcutaneous tissue, fibroma	+ + +	+ + -	+ +	+ +	+	+ +	+ +	+	+ +	• +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Musculoskeletal System									_								
Bone Skeletal muscle	+ + + + +	+ + - +	+ +	+ +	+	+ +	+ +	+	+ +	• +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Nervous System															-		
Brain	+ + +	+ + •	+ +	+ +	+	+ +	+ +	+	+ +	• +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Cerebrum, astrocytoma malignant	X																
Peripheral nerve Spinal cord		+ +															
											_						
Respiratory System Lung		-	<u>т</u> т	<u>н</u> н	т	т т	- -	–	_		+	т	Ŧ	+	+	+	т
Alveolar/bronchiolar adenoma	* * *		T T	тт	т	T 1		т	т I		т	т	'	'	1	т	т
Nose	+ + +	+ + •	+ +	+ +	+	+ +	+ +	+	+ +	• +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Trachea	+ + +	+ + •	+ +	+ +	+	M +	+ +	+	+ +	- +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Special Senses System Zymbal's gland						+											
Urinary System Kidney Pelvis, transitional epithelium,	+ + +	+ +	+ +	+ +	+	+ +	+ +	+	+ +	- +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
papilloma Renal tubule, adenoma																	
Ureter Urinary bladder		+ +	њ њ	+ +	м	+ +	+ +	• +	+ +	- +	+	+	÷	+	+	+	+
Transitional epithelium, papilloma	тт т		X	, -r	141								'	•	•	1.	
Systemic Lesions		-															
Multiple organs	+ + +	+ +	+ +	+ +	+	+ +	+ +	• +	+ +	+ +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Histiocytic sarcoma Leukemia mononuclear	х		х		х	x			х			х					

		7	7	7	7	7 7	7	7	7	7	7	7 7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	
Number of Days on Study			3	3		3 3	3 3	3	3	3	3	3 3	33	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	
		5	5	5	5	5 5	5 5	5	5	5	5	5 5	5 5	5	5	6	6	6	6	6	6	6	6	6	
······		3	3	3	4	4 4	4	4	4	4	4	4 4	44	4	4	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	Total
Carcass ID Number		9	9	9	0	0 () ()	0	0	0	0	0 0	1	1	1	7	7	8	8	8	8	8	8	8	Tissues/
		5	6	9	0	1 2	2 3	4	5	6	7	9 1	l 2	3	5	1	2	0	1	3	4	5	6	8	Tumors
Hematopoietic System								_			_														
Bone marrow		÷	+	+	+	+ •	+ +	- +-	+	+	+	+	+ +	· +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	50
Histiocytic sarcoma																						Х			1
Lymph node						+ -	+																		9
Lymph node, mandibular		+	+	+	+	+ •	+ +	- +	+	+	+	+	+ +	• +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	48
Lymph node, mesenteric		+	+	+	+	+ •	+ +	- +	+	+	М	+ •	+ +	• +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	48
Spleen		+	+	+	+	+ ·	+ +	- +	+	+	+	+	+ +	· +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	49
Fibrosarcoma															X										1
Гhymus		+	+	М	+	+	+ +	+ +	+	+	+	+	+ +	• +		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	48
Integumentary System																									
Mammary gland		+	+	+	+	+	+ +	+ +	+	+	+	+	+ +	• +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	49
Carcinoma			·					•	•	•		•		•	•	•				•	•	•		•	3
Fibroadenoma			х					x	х		х			х		х			х		x	х		х	19
Fibroadenoma, multiple							х		~	x	••		Х			••			••		••				5
Skin		+	+	+	+	+		⊾ ⊦ +	. +		+	+		- +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	50
Lip, basal cell adenoma		•	•	•	•					•		x	• •	•	,	•	'			•	•	'	'	•	1
Subcutaneous tissue, fibroma																	х								1
Musculoskeletal System	<u> </u>																								
Bone		+		-	+					4	т	т.			-	+	+	Т	-	-	÷	-	-	+	50
Skeletal muscle		Ŧ	+	+	Ŧ	+	+ +		• •	Ŧ	Ŧ	+	+ +	• +	+	Ŧ	+	Ŧ	Ŧ	Ŧ	Ŧ	Ŧ	т	Ŧ	2
						-															-				
Nervous System																									
Brain		+	+	+	+	+	+ +	+ +	• +	+	+	+	+ +	- +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+		50
Cerebrum, astrocytoma malignant																							Х		2
Peripheral nerve																									2
Spinal cord																						•			2
Respiratory System																									
•			+	+	+	+	+ +	+ +	• +	+	+	+	+ +	- +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	50
Lung						•																•	•		2
Lung Alveolar/bronchiolar adenoma		'																			X		x		2
Alveolar/bronchiolar adenoma		+	+	+	+	• +	+ +	+ +	- +	+	+	+	+ +	- +	+	+	+	+	+	+					2 50
Lung Alveolar/bronchiolar adenoma Nose Trachea		+ +	+ +	+ +	+ +	• + +	+ + + +	⊦ + ⊦ +	- + - +	+ +	+ +	+ +	+ +	- + - +	+ +	+ +	+ +	+ +	+ +	+ +		+	x +		
Alveolar/bronchiolar adenoma Nose Trachea Special Senses System		+ +	+ +	+ +	+ + 	• + +	+ + + +	⊦ + ⊦ +	- + - +	+ +	+ +	+ +	+ +	- + - +	+ +	+	+ +	+ +	++	+ +	x +	+	x +	+	50
Alveolar/bronchiolar adenoma Nose Trachea		+ +	+ +	+ +	+ +	• + +	+ + + + 	+ +	- +	+ +	++	+	+ -	- +	+	+ +	+	++	++	+ +	x +	+	x +	+	50
Alveolar/bronchiolar adenoma Nose Trachea Special Senses System Zymbal's gland		+ +	+ +	+	+	• + +	+ + + -	+ + + +	- + - +	+ +	+	+	+ +	- +-	+	+ +	+	++	+	+	x +	+	x +	+	50 49
Alveolar/bronchiolar adenoma Nose Trachea Special Senses System Zymbal's gland Urinary System Kidney		+ +	+ +	++	+	• + 	+ +	+ + + + 	- +				+ -					++		+	x + +	+	X + +	+	50 49
Alveolar/bronchiolar adenoma Nose Trachea Special Senses System Zymbal's gland Urinary System		+ + + + +	+	+	+ + 	+ + 	+ + + - 	+ + + + 										-			x + +	+	X + +	++	50 49 1
Alveolar/bronchiolar adenoma Nose Trachea Special Senses System Zymbal's gland Urinary System Kidney		+	+ + + X	++	+ + +	• + 	+ + + -	+ + 										-			x + +	+	X + +	· + · +	50 49 1 50
Alveolar/bronchiolar adenoma Nose Trachea Special Senses System Zymbal's gland Urinary System Kidney Pelvis, transitional epithelium,		+	+	++	+ + +	+ + +	+ +	+ + 										-			x + +	+	X + +	++	50 49 1 50
Alveolar/bronchiolar adenoma Nose Trachea Special Senses System Zymbal's gland Urinary System Kidney Pelvis, transitional epithelium, papilloma Renal tubule, adenoma		+	+	++	++++	- + + +	+ -	+ + 										-			x + +	+	X + +	+ + + +	50 49 1 50
Alveolar/bronchiolar adenoma Nose Trachea Special Senses System Zymbal's gland Urinary System Kidney Pelvis, transitional epithelium, papilloma Renal tubule, adenoma Ureter		+	+	+	++-+++	- + + + +	+ + +	+ + 										-			x + +	+	X + + + + + +	+ + + +	50 49 1 50 1 1
Alveolar/bronchiolar adenoma Nose Trachea Special Senses System Zymbal's gland Urinary System Kidney Pelvis, transitional epithelium, papilloma Renal tubule, adenoma Ureter		+	+ X	+	+ + + +	- + + + +	+ + +	+ + + + + +										-			x + +	+	X + + + + + +	++ ++ X	50 49 1 50 1 1 1
Alveolar/bronchiolar adenoma Nose Trachea Special Senses System Zymbal's gland Urinary System Kidney Pelvis, transitional epithelium, papilloma Renal tubule, adenoma Ureter Urinary bladder Transitional epithelium, papilloma		+	+ X	+	++++++	+ + +	+ + -	+ + 										-			x + +	+	X + + + + + +	++ ++ X	50 49 1 50 1 1 1 49
Alveolar/bronchiolar adenoma Nose Trachea Special Senses System Zymbal's gland Urinary System Kidney Pelvis, transitional epithelium, papilloma Renal tubule, adenoma Ureter Urinary bladder Transitional epithelium, papilloma Systemic Lesions		+	+ X	+	++ + + +	· + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +	+ + +	+ + 										-			x + +	+	X + + + + + +	++ ++ X	50 49 1 50 1 1 1 49
Alveolar/bronchiolar adenoma Nose Trachea Special Senses System Zymbal's gland Urinary System Kidney Pelvis, transitional epithelium, papilloma Renal tubule, adenoma Ureter Urinary bladder		+	+ X	+	++++++++	· + + + + + + +	+ + + +	+ + + +										-			x + +	+	X + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +	++ + + X +	50 49 1 50 1 1 1 49 1

TABLE	B3
IADLC	105

	0 ppm	12,000 ppm	25,000 ppm	50,000 ppm
Adrenal Medulla: Benign Pheochromocytoma				
Overall rate ^a	3/50 (6%)	11/50 (22%)	9/50 (18%)	2/49 (4%)
Adjusted rate ^b	10.0%	25.8%	23.7%	5.3%
Terminal rate ^c	3/30 (10%)	7/38 (18%)	5/32 (16%)	2/38 (5%)
First incidence (days)	735 (T)	549	608	735 (T)
Life table test ^d	P=0.138N	P = 0.060	P=0.088	P = 0.392N
Logistic regression test ^d	P = 0.138 R P = 0.197 N	P = 0.031	P = 0.038 P = 0.074	P = 0.392N
Cochran-Armitage test ^d	P = 0.197N P = 0.207N	F=0.031	r-0.074	r-0.392N
Fisher exact test ^d	r=0.20/1	P=0.020	P=0.061	P=0.510N
isher exact test		P=0.020	P=0.001	P=0.510N
drenal Medulla: Benign or Malignant Pheoch	romocytoma			
Overall rate	3/50 (6%)	12/50 (24%)	10/50 (20%)	2/49 (4%)
Adjusted rate	10.0%	28.2%	25.3%	5.3%
Ferminal rate	3/30 (10%)	8/38 (21%)	5/32 (16%)	2/38 (5%)
First incidence (days)	735 (T)	549	568	735 (T)
Life table test	P=0.130N	P=0.040	P=0.058	P=0.392N
Logistic regression test	P=0.189N	P=0.019	P=0.041	P=0.392N
Cochran-Armitage test	P=0.195N			
Fisher exact test		P=0.011	P=0.036	P=0.510N
Clitoral Gland: Adenoma				
Overall rate	10/50 (20%)	7/50 (14%)	4/49 (8%)	7/48 (15%)
Adjusted rate	32.2%	17.8%	12.5%	18.9%
Cerminal rate	9/30 (30%)	6/38 (16%)	4/32 (13%)	7/37 (19%)
First incidence (days)	723	705	735 (T)	735 (T)
Life table test	P=0.162N	P = 0.142N	P = 0.053N	P = 0.150N
Logistic regression test	P = 0.176N	P = 0.142N P=0.157N	P = 0.044N	P = 0.162N
Cochran-Armitage test	P = 0.275N	1-0.15/14	1-0.04410	1-0.1021
Fisher exact test	F=0.27510	P=0.298N	P=0.080N	P=0.330N
isher exact test		1 - 0.27011	1 - 0.00010	1 - 0.55011
Clitoral Gland: Adenoma or Carcinoma				
Overall rate	10/50 (20%)	7/50 (14%)	5/49 (10%)	7/48 (15%)
Adjusted rate	32.2%	17.8%	15.6%	18.9%
Ferminal rate	9/30 (30%)	6/38 (16%)	5/32 (16%)	7/37 (19%)
First incidence (days)	723	705	735 (T)	735 (T)
Life table test	P = 0.172N	P=0.142N	P=0.097N	P = 0.150N
Logistic regression test	P=0.186N	P=0.157N	P=0.083N	P = 0.162N
Cochran-Armitage test	P=0.291N			
Fisher exact test		P=0.298N	P = 0.140N	P=0.330N
Liver: Hepatocellular Adenoma or Carcinoma				
Overall rate	0/50 (0%)	3/50 (6%)	1/50 (2%)	1/49 (2%)
Adjusted rate	0.0%	7.2%	3.1%	2.6%
Terminal rate	0/30 (0%)	1/38 (3%)	1/32 (3%)	1/38 (3%)
First incidence (days)	e	679	735 (T)	735 (T)
Life table test	P=0.596N	P=0.162	P=0.513	P=0.547
Logistic regression test	P=0.602	P=0.126	P=0.513	P=0.547
Cochran-Armitage test	P=0.592			
Fisher exact test		P=0.121	P = 0.500	P=0.495

	0 ppm	12,000 ppm	25,000 ppm	50,000 ppm
Lung: Alveolar/bronchiolar Adenoma				
Overall rate	3/50 (6%)	3/50 (6%)	1/50 (2%)	2/50 (4%)
Adjusted rate	10.0%	7.9%	3.1%	5.3%
Terminal rate	3/30 (10%)	3/38 (8%)	1/32 (3%)	2/38 (5%)
First incidence (days)	735 (T)	735 (T)	735 (T)	735 (T)
Life table test	P=0.276N	P=0.550N	P=0.281N	P=0.392N
Logistic regression test	P = 0.276N	P = 0.550N	P = 0.281N	P = 0.392N
Cochran-Armitage test	P = 0.341N	1-0.5501	1 = 0.2011	1-0.5921
Fisher exact test	1-0.5411	P=0.661N	P=0.309N	P=0.500N
Lung: Alveolar/bronchiolar Adenoma or Ca	rcinoma			
Overall rate	3/50 (6%)	4/50 (8%)	1/50 (2%)	2/50 (4%)
Adjusted rate	10.0%	10.5%	3.1%	5.3%
Terminal rate	3/30 (10%)	4/38 (11%)	1/32 (3%)	2/38 (5%)
First incidence (days)	735 (T)	735 (T)	735 (T)	735 (T)
Life table test	P=0.225N	P=0.629	P=0.281N	P=0.392N
Logistic regression test	P = 0.225N	P = 0.630	P = 0.281N	P = 0.392N
Cochran-Armitage test	P = 0.288N			
Fisher exact test		P=0.500	P=0.309N	P=0.500N
Mammary Gland: Fibroadenoma				
Overall rate	30/50 (60%)	25/50 (50%)	17/50 (34%)	24/50 (48%)
Adjusted rate	83.2%	60.6%	50.0%	58.4%
Terminal rate	24/30 (80%)	22/38 (58%)	15/32 (47%)	21/38 (55%)
First incidence (days)	606	435	729	506
Life table test	P=0.026N	P=0.019N	P=0.002N	P=0.014N
Logistic regression test	P=0.060N	P=0.050N	P<0.001N	P=0.075N
Cochran-Armitage test	P=0.125N			
Fisher exact test		P=0.211N	P=0.008N	P=0.158N
Mammary Gland: Fibroadenoma or Adenor	na			
Overall rate	32/50 (64%)	25/50 (50%)	17/50 (34%)	24/50 (48%)
Adjusted rate	86.3%	60.6%	50.0%	58.4%
Terminal rate	25/30 (83%)	22/38 (58%)	15/32 (47%)	21/38 (55%)
First incidence (days)	594	435	729	506
Life table test	P=0.011N	P = 0.007N	P<0.001N	P = 0.005N
Logistic regression test	P=0.047N	P = 0.021N	P<0.001N	P=0.033N
Cochran-Armitage test	P=0.070N			
Fisher exact test		P=0.113N	P=0.002N	P=0.079N
Mammary Gland: Carcinoma				
Overall rate	3/50 (6%)	0/50 (0%)	0/50 (0%)	3/50 (6%)
Adjusted rate	8.8%	0.0%	0.0%	6.7%
Terminal rate	2/30 (7%)	0/38 (0%)	0/32 (0%)	1/38 (3%)
First incidence (days)	594	_	-	330
Life table test	P = 0.461	P=0.093N	P = 0.112N	P=0.612N
Logistic regression test	P = 0.492	P=0.122N	P=0.120N	P = 0.662N
Cochran-Armitage test	P=0.438			
Fisher exact test		P=0.121N	P=0.121N	P = 0.661N

	0 ppm	12,000 ppm	25,000 ppm	50,000 ppm
Mammary Gland: Adenoma or Carcino		H		
Overall rate	4/50 (8%)	0/50 (0%)	0/50 (0%)	3/50 (6%)
Adjusted rate	12.0%	0.0%	0.0%	6.7%
Ferminal rate	3/30 (10%)	0/38 (0%)	0/32 (0%)	1/38 (3%)
First incidence (days)	594	0/30 (070)	0/52 (070)	330
Life table test	P=0.554N	P=0.043N	P=0.056N	P=0.435N
Logistic regression test	P=0.542N	P = 0.058N	P = 0.059N	P = 0.500N
Cochran-Armitage test	P=0.584N	1 - 0.05014	1 - 0.05711	1-0.5001
Fisher exact test	x 0.504x	P=0.059N	P=0.059N	P=0.500N
Mammary Gland: Fibroadenoma, Ade	noma, or Carcinoma			
Overall rate	32/50 (64%)	25/50 (50%)	17/50 (34%)	25/50 (50%)
Adjusted rate	86.3%	60.6%	50.0%	59.2%
Ferminal rate	25/30 (83%)	22/38 (58%)	15/32 (47%)	21/38 (55%)
First incidence (days)	594	435	729	330
Life table test	P=0.021N	P=0.007N	P<0.001N	P=0.009N
Logistic regression test	P=0.043N	P=0.021N	P<0.001N	P=0.073N
Cochran-Armitage test	P = 0.103N			
Fisher exact test	•	P=0.113N	P=0.002N	P=0.113N
Oral Cavity (Oral Mucosa or Tongue):	Squamous Cell Papilloma or	Squamous Cell Ca	rcinoma	
Overall rate	2/50 (4%)	3/50 (6%)	0/50 (0%)	0/50 (0%)
Adjusted rate	5.1%	7.6%	0.0%	0.0%
Ferminal rate	0/30 (0%)	2/38 (5%)	0/32 (0%)	0/38 (0%)
First incidence (days)	370	717	_	_
Life table test	P=0.061N	P=0.577	P=0.230N	P=0.222N
Logistic regression test	P=0.070N	P=0.408	P=0.343N	P=0.216N
Cochran-Armitage test	P=0.071N			
Fisher exact test		P=0.500	P=0.247N	P=0.247N
Pancreatic Islets: Carcinoma				
Overall rate	3/49 (6%)	0/49 (0%)	0/49 (0%)	1/47 (2%)
Adjusted rate	9.2%	0.0%	0.0%	2.6%
Terminal rate	2/30 (7%)	0/38 (0%)	0/32 (0%)	1/38 (3%)
First incidence (days)	683	-		735 (T)
Life table test	P=0.222N	P=0.091N	P = 0.111N	P=0.238N
Logistic regression test	P=0.254N	P=0.101N	P=0.110N	P=0.297N
Cochran-Armitage test	P = 0.261N			
Fisher exact test		P=0.121N	P=0.121N	P=0.324N
Pancreatic Islets: Adenoma or Carcino			4 4 4 0 4 0 00 1	1/47 (2%)
Pancreatic Islets: Adenoma or Carcino Overall rate	oma 5/49 (10%)	0/49 (0%)	1/49 (2%)	
	5/49 (10%) 15.7%	0.0%	3.1%	2.6%
Overall rate	5/49 (10%)	• •	3.1% 1/32 (3%)	2.6% 1/38 (3%)
Overall rate Adjusted rate	5/49 (10%) 15.7% 4/30 (13%) 683	0.0% 0/38 (0%)	3.1% 1/32 (3%) 735 (T)	2.6% 1/38 (3%) 735 (T)
Overall rate Adjusted rate Terminal rate	5/49 (10%) 15.7% 4/30 (13%) 683 P=0.069N	0.0% 0/38 (0%) P=0.019N	3.1% 1/32 (3%) 735 (T) P=0.089N	2.6% 1/38 (3%) 735 (T) P=0.063N
Overall rate Adjusted rate Terminal rate First incidence (days) Life table test Logistic regression test	5/49 (10%) 15.7% 4/30 (13%) 683 P=0.069N P=0.084N	0.0% 0/38 (0%)	3.1% 1/32 (3%) 735 (T)	2.6% 1/38 (3%) 735 (T)
Overall rate Adjusted rate Terminał rate First incidence (days)	5/49 (10%) 15.7% 4/30 (13%) 683 P=0.069N	0.0% 0/38 (0%) P=0.019N	3.1% 1/32 (3%) 735 (T) P=0.089N	2.6% 1/38 (3%) 735 (T) P=0.063N

	0 ppm	12,000 ppm	25,000 ppm	50,000 ppm
Pituitary Gland (Pars Distalis): Adenoma				<u></u>
Overall rate	35/50 (70%)	32/49 (65%)	29/50 (58%)	25/47 (53%)
Adjusted rate	89.5%	77.7%	75.6%	63.9%
Ferminal rate	26/30 (87%)	28/37 (76%)	23/32 (72%)	23/37 (62%)
First incidence (days)	370	571	391	506
life table test	P=0.002N	P=0.040N	P=0.078N	P=0.002N
ogistic regression test	P=0.032N	P=0.154N	P=0.090N	P=0.034N
Cochran-Armitage test	P = 0.044N			
Fisher exact test		P=0.388N	P=0.149N	P=0.067N
Pituitary Gland (Pars Distalis): Adenoma or	Carcinoma			
Overall rate	36/50 (72%)	32/49 (65%)	29/50 (58%)	25/47 (53%)
Adjusted rate	89.8%	77.7%	75.6%	63.9%
erminal rate	26/30 (87%)	28/37 (76%)	23/32 (72%)	23/37 (62%)
First incidence (days)	370	571	391	506
Life table test	P=0.001N	P=0.027N	P=0.055N	P<0.001N
Logistic regression test	P=0.021N	P=0.102N	P=0.057N	P=0.020N
Cochran-Armitage test	P=0.030N			
Fisher exact test		P=0.308N	P=0.104N	P=0.044N
Fhyroid Gland (C-cell): Adenoma				
Overall rate	7/50 (14%)	5/50 (10%)	7/50 (14%)	7/48 (15%)
Adjusted rate	21.2%	12.6%	20.5%	18.4%
Ferminal rate	5/30 (17%)	4/38 (11%)	5/32 (16%)	7/38 (18%)
First incidence (days)	659	679	717	735 (T)
Life table test	P=0.524N	P=0.241N	P=0.557N	P=0.440N
Logistic regression test	P=0.493	P=0.293N	P=0.549N	P=0.561N
Cochran-Armitage test	P=0.435			
Fisher exact test		P=0.380N	P=0.613N	P=0.581
Thyroid Gland (C-cell): Carcinoma				
Overall rate	1/50 (2%)	3/50 (6%)	0/50 (0%)	2/48 (4%)
Adjusted rate	3.3%	7.4%	0.0%	5.3%
rerminal rate	1/30 (3%)	2/38 (5%)	0/32 (0%)	2/38 (5%)
First incidence (days)	735 (T)	674	— —	735 (T)
Life table test	P = 0.606N	P = 0.390	P=0.487N	P=0.583
Logistic regression test	P=0.568	P=0.346	P=0.487N	P=0.583
Cochran-Armitage test	P=0.547			D 0 465
Fisher exact test		P=0.309	P=0.500N	P=0.485
Thyroid Gland (C-cell): Adenoma or Carcin				
Overall rate	8/50 (16%)	8/50 (16%)	7/50 (14%)	9/48 (19%)
Adjusted rate	24.3%	19.6%	20.5%	23.7%
rerminal rate	6/30 (20%)	6/38 (16%)	5/32 (16%)	9/38 (24%)
First incidence (days)	659	674	717	735 (T)
Life table test	P=0.520N	P=0.419N	P=0.442N	P=0.514N
Logistic regression test	P=0.471	P=0.503N	P=0.429N	P=0.574
Cochran-Armitage test	P=0.410	_ ,		D 0.155
Fisher exact test		P=0.607N	P=0.500N	P=0.463

	0 ppm	12,000 ppm	25,000 ppm	50,000 ppm
Uterus: Stromal Polyp		#L	<u>,</u>	
Overall rate	4/50 (8%)	8/50 (16%)	6/50 (12%)	5/50 (10%)
Adjusted rate	12.6%	19.6%	17.8%	12.7%
Ferminal rate	3/30 (10%)	6/38 (16%)	5/32 (16%)	4/38 (11%)
First incidence (days)	700	435	697	697
Life table test	P=0.431N	P=0.299	P=0.412	P=0.632
ogistic regression test	P = 0.533N	P = 0.197	P = 0.424	P = 0.558
Cochran-Armitage test	P = 0.539N			1 - 0.000
isher exact test		P=0.178	P=0.370	P = 0.500
Jterus: Stromal Polyp or Stromal Sarcoma				
Overall rate	5/50 (10%)	8/50 (16%)	6/50 (12%)	5/50 (10%)
Adjusted rate	14.7%	19.6%	17.8%	12.7%
Ferminal rate	3/30 (10%)	6/38 (16%)	5/32 (16%)	4/38 (11%)
First incidence (days)	606	435	697	697
Life table test	P=0.338N	P=0.422	P=0.547	P=0.504N
Logistic regression test	P=0.434N	P=0.277	P=0.547	P=0.606N
Cochran-Armitage test	P=0.437N			
isher exact test		P=0.277	P=0.500	P=0.630N
All Organs: Mononuclear Cell Leukemia				
Overall rate	21/50 (42%)	21/50 (42%)	17/50 (34%)	14/50 (28%)
Adjusted rate	54.3%	44.4%	39.8%	31.4%
erminal rate	13/30 (43%)	12/38 (32%)	7/32 (22%)	8/38 (21%)
irst incidence (days)	515	549	601	434
Life table test	P=0.040N	P=0.285N	P=0.212N	P=0.046N
ogistic regression test	P=0.107N	P = 0.571N	P=0.224N	P = 0.101N
Cochran-Armitage test	P=0.058N			
isher exact test		P=0.580N	P=0.268N	P = 0.104N
All Organs: Benign Neoplasms				
Overall rate	43/50 (86%)	49/50 (98%)	42/50 (84%)	41/50 (82%)
Adjusted rate	100.0%	100.0%	95.4%	95.3%
Ferminal rate	30/30 (100%)	38/38 (100%)	30/32 (94%)	36/38 (95%)
First incidence (days)	370 D 0 01 (N	435 D-0 280N	391 D-0 281N	506 D=0.016N
ife table test	P=0.014N	P = 0.289N	P = 0.281N	P=0.016N
ogistic regression test	P = 0.126N	P=0.147	P=0.301N	P=0.335N
Cochran-Armitage test ^z isher exact test	P=0.111N	P=0.030	P=0.500N	P=0.393N
All Organs: Malignant Neoplasms				
Overall rate	30/50 (60%)	25/50 (50%)	21/50 (42%)	23/50 (46%)
Adjusted rate	69.0%	52.9%	47.0%	47.5%
Ferminal rate	17/30 (57%)	16/38 (42%)	9/32 (28%)	13/38 (34%)
First incidence (days)	370	549	568	271
Life table test	P=0.071N	P=0.066N	P=0.058N	P=0.055N
Logistic regression test	P=0.096N	P=0.239N	P=0.061N	P=0.127N
Cochran-Armitage test	P=0.103N			
Fisher exact test		P=0.211N	P=0.055N	P=0.115N

Statistical Analysis of Primary Neoplasms in Female Rats in the 2-Year Feed Study of Phenolphthalein (continued)

	0 ppm	12,000 ppm	25,000 ppm	50,000 ppm
All Organs: Benign or Malignant Neoplasms	<u></u>	<u></u>	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
Overall rate	49/50 (98%)	50/50 (100%)	50/50 (100%)	49/50 (98%)
Adjusted rate	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%	98.0%
Terminal rate	30/30 (100%)	38/38 (100%)	32/32 (100%)	37/38 (97%)
First incidence (days)	370	435	391	271
Life table test	P=0.131N	P=0.073N	P = 0.401N	P=0.086N
Logistic regression test	P=0.627N	P=0.834	P=0.716	P=0.758
Cochran-Armitage test	P=0.591N			
Fisher exact test		P = 0.500	P = 0.500	P=0.753N

(T)Terminal sacrifice

^a Number of neoplasm-bearing animals/number of animals examined. Denominator is number of animals examined microscopically for adrenal gland, clitoral gland, liver, lung, pancreatic islets, pituitary gland, thyroid gland, and uterus; for other tissues, denominator is number of animals necropsied.
 ^b Kenler Main examined in a state and of the state of

^b Kaplan-Meier estimated neoplasm incidence at the end of the study after adjustment for intercurrent mortality

^c Observed incidence at terminal kill

^d Beneath the control incidence are the P values associated with the trend test. Beneath the exposed group incidence are the P values corresponding to pairwise comparisons between the controls and that exposed group. The life table test regards neoplasms in animals dying prior to terminal kill as being (directly or indirectly) the cause of death. The logistic regression test regards these lesions as nonfatal. The Cochran-Armitage and Fisher exact tests compare directly the overall incidence rates. For all tests, a negative trend or a lower incidence in an exposure group is indicated by N.

^e Not applicable; no neoplasms in animal group

TABLE B4a

Historical Incidence of Adrenal Medulla Pheochromocytoma in Untreated Female F344/N Rats^a

		Incidence in Cont	rols	
Study	Benign	Malignant	Benign or Malignant	
Historical Incidence at EG&G Ma	son Research Institute/7	rSI Mason Laborator	ies, Inc.	
1-Amino-2,4-dibromoanthraquinone	2/47	0/47	2/47	
Acetaminophen	3/39	0/39	3/39	
HC Yellow 4	1/49	1/49	2/49	
Methylphenidate Hydrochloride	3/50	0/50	3/50	
Pentaerythritol Tetranitrate	2/49	0/49	2/49	
Quercetin	3/49	1/49	3/49	
Furmeric Oleoresin	3/50	0/50	3/50	
Overall Historical Incidence				
Total	50/1,274 (3.9%)	6/1,274 (0.5%)	64/1,274 (5.0%)	
Standard deviation	2.4%	0.9%	2.7%	
Range	0%-8%	0%-2%	2%-12%	

^a Data as of 12 May 1995; includes data for complex and unspecified pheochromocytoma

TABLE B4b Historical Incidence of Renal Tubule Neoplasms in Untreated Female F344/N Rats^a

		Incidence in Con	trols	
Study	Adenoma	Carcinoma	Adenoma or Carcinoma	
Historical Incidence at EG&G Mas	on Research Institute/	rSI Mason Laborato	ies, Inc.	
1-Amino-2,4-dibromoanthraquinone	0/50	0/50	0/50	
Acetaminophen	0/50	0/50	0/50	
HC Yellow 4	0/49	0/49	0/49	
Methylphenidate Hydrochloride	0/50	0/50	0/50	
Pentaerythritol Tetranitrate	0/50	0/50	0/50	
Quercetin	0/49	0/49	0/49	
Turmeric Oleoresin	0/50	0/50	0/50	
Overall Historical Incidence				
Total	0/1,298 (0.0%)	1/1,298 (0.1%)	1/1,298 (0.1%)	
Standard deviation	,	0.4%	0.4%	
Range		0%-2%	0%-2%	

^a Data as of 12 May 1995

Summary of the Incidence of Nonneoplastic Lesions in Female Rats in the 2-Year Feed Study of Phenolphthalein^a

	0 ppm	12,000 ppm	25,000 ppm	50,000 ppm
Disposition Summary		···· · · · ·		
Animals initially in study	50	50	50	50
Early deaths	50	50	50	50
Moribund	9	8	7	8
Natural deaths	11	4	11	4
Survivors		-		4
Terminal sacrifice	30	38	32	38
	50	20	52	50
Animals examined microscopically	50	50	50	50
Alimentary System			·	
Intestine large, colon	(48)	(49)	(49)	(49)
Parasite metazoan	1 (2%)	2 (4%)	2 (4%)	2 (4%)
Intestine large, rectum	(49)	(47)	(48)	(49)
Edema	1 (2%)		()	()
Inflammation, acute	1 (2%)			
Parasite metazoan	4 (8%)			
Intestine large, cecum	(45)	(49)	(47)	(48)
Edema	1 (2%)	3 (6%)		
Necrosis	1 (2%)	- ()		
Intestine small, duodenum	(46)	(49)	(49)	(48)
Inflammation, chronic		1 (2%)	. ,	
ntestine small, jejunum	(44)	(49)	(47)	(48)
Ulcer, focal				1 (2%)
intestine small, ileum	(47)	(49)	(45)	(49)
Necrosis			1 (2%)	
Ulcer, focal				1 (2%)
Liver	(50)	(50)	(50)	(49)
Angiectasis, focal	1 (2%)	4 (8%)	4 (8%)	
Basophilic focus	32 (64%)	34 (68%)	34 (68%)	34 (69%)
Clear cell focus	2 (4%)	3 (6%)	3 (6%)	1 (2%)
Cytoplasmic alteration, focal		1 (2%)		
Eosinophilic focus	12 (24%)	12 (24%)	12 (24%)	4 (8%)
Fibrosis, focal	1 (2%)		· ·	
Hematopoietic cell proliferation	3 (6%)	2 (4%)	1 (2%)	1 (2%)
Hepatodiaphragmatic nodule	3 (6%)	7 (14%)	6 (12%)	4 (8%)
Hyperplasia, focal				1 (2%)
Infiltration cellular, focal, lymphocyte		1 (2%)		
Inflammation, chronic	7 (14%)	3 (6%)	4 (8%)	4 (8%)
Mixed cell focus	25 (50%)	23 (46%)	31 (62%)	33 (67%)
Necrosis	2 (4%)		1 (2%)	
Bile duct, hyperplasia, focal	1 (2%)			
Centrilobular, necrosis	1 (2%)			
Hepatocyte, vacuolization cytoplasmic	3 (6%)	1 (2%)	3 (6%)	6 (12%)
Kupffer cell, hyperplasia, diffuse	1 (2%)			
Mesentery	(12)	(7)	(6)	(7)
Accessory spleen	1 (8%)			1 (14%)
Fat, necrosis	10 (83%)	7 (100%)	6 (100%)	5 (71%)
Oral mucosa		(3)		
Ulcer		1 (33%)		

^a Number of animals examined microscopically at the site and the number of animals with lesion

Summary of the Incidence of Nonneoplastic Lesions in Female Rats in the 2-Year Feed Study of Phenolphthalein (continued)

	0 ppm	12,000 ppm	25,000 ppm	50,000 ppm
Alimentary System (continued)			<u></u>	
Pancreas	(49)	(49)	(49)	(46)
Acinus, atrophy, diffuse	4 (8%)	1 (2%)	1 (2%)	2 (4%)
Acinus, atrophy, focal	17 (35%)	28 (57%)	30 (61%)	22 (48%)
Acinus, basophilic focus		1 (2%)	· ·	
Acinus, hyperplasia, focal			2 (4%)	1 (2%)
alivary glands	(50)	(50)	(50)	(49)
Atrophy, diffuse		1 (2%)		
Infiltration cellular, focal, lymphocyte		1 (2%)		
Parotid gland, atrophy, diffuse	2 (4%)			
Parotid gland, atrophy, focal		1 (2%)	2 (4%)	1 (2%)
Submandibular gland, atrophy, diffuse	1 (2%)			
Stomach, forestomach	(49)	(50)	(50)	(49)
Inflammation, chronic	1 (2%)	2 (4%)	1 (2%)	
Ulcer, focal			3 (6%)	1 (2%)
Epithelium, hyperplasia	4 (8%)	3 (6%)	4 (8%)	2 (4%)
Stomach, glandular	(48)	(50)	(50)	(48)
Erosion, focal	6 (13%)	2 (4%)	1 (2%)	2 (4%)
Inflammation, chronic		A (1	1 (2%)	
Glands, cyst, focal	8 (17%)	9 (18%)	21 (42%)	4 (8%)
Serosa, inflammation, acute			1 (2%)	
ongue	(2)	(3)		(2)
Capillary, erosion, focal	(1)	1 (33%)		1 (50%)
Cooth	(1)		(2)	
Developmental malformation			1 (50%)	
Gingiva, inflammation, chronic			1 (50%)	
Cardiovascular System				
Blood vessel	(50)	(50)	(50)	(50)
Aorta, media, mineralization	1 (2%)			
Heart	(50)	(50)	(50)	(49)
Cardiomyopathy	36 (72%)	32 (64%)	34 (68%)	27 (55%)
Artery, inflammation, chronic	1 (2%)			
Atrium, thrombosis	2 (4%)			
Myocardium, inflammation, acute, focal			1 (2%)	
Endocrine System			<u> </u>	
Adrenal cortex	(50)	(50)	(49)	(49)
Hematopoietic cell proliferation				1 (2%)
Hemorrhage	1 (2%)			
Hyperplasia, focal	2 (4%)	5 (10%)	5 (10%)	6 (12%)
Hypertrophy, focal	2 (4%)	1 (2%)	3 (6%)	3 (6%)
Inflammation, acute, focal				1 (2%)
Pigmentation	1 (2%)			
Vacuolization cytoplasmic, focal	6 (12%)	17 (34%)	18 (37%)	10 (20%)
Bilateral, hematopoietic cell proliferation		1 (2%)	1 (0.01)	1 10.01
Bilateral, hyperplasia, focal	1 (2%)	1 (2%)	1 (2%)	1 (2%)
Bilateral, necrosis	2 (4%)	2 (4%)	1 (2%)	1 (20)
Bilateral, vacuolization cytoplasmic, focal			2 (4%)	1 (2%)

.

Summary of the Incidence of Nonneoplastic Lesions in Female Rats in the 2-Year Feed Study of Phenolphthalein (continued)

	0 ppm	12,000 ppm	25,000 ppm	50,000 ppm
Endocrine System (continued)	·····			
Adrenal medulla	(50)	(50)	(50)	(49)
Hyperplasia, focal	9 (18%)	14 (28%)	15 (30%)	11 (22%)
Infiltration cellular, lymphocyte		1 (2%)	. ,	
Bilateral, hyperplasia, focal	1 (2%)	4 (8%)		
slets, pancreatic	(49)	(49)	(49)	(47)
Metaplasia, focal	1 (2%)	1 (2%)		
Parathyroid gland	(46)	(46)	(47)	(44)
Hyperplasia, focal	1 (2%)	1 (2%)	1 (2%)	
Pituitary gland	(50)	(49)	(50)	(47)
Pars distalis, angiectasis, focal	1 (2%)	1 (2%)	1 (2%)	5 (11%)
Pars distalis, cyst	14 (28%)	17 (35%)	16 (32%)	11 (23%)
Pars distalis, hyperplasia, focal	5 (10%)	2 (4%)	2 (4%)	4 (9%)
Pars distalis, pigmentation	1 (2%)	- (,	1 (2%)	
Rathke's cleft, cyst	- (-/~)	1 (2%)	- (-/~)	
Thyroid gland	(50)	(50)	(50)	(48)
Illtimohronohial aust	()	1 (2%)	()	2 (4%)
C-cell, hyperplasia, diffuse	1 (2%)	- (=,0)		- (177)
C-cell, hyperplasia, focal	20 (40%)	18 (36%)	17 (34%)	9 (19%)
Follicle, cyst	1 (2%)	1 (2%)	2 (4%)	1 (2%)
Follicle, hyperplasia, focal	1 (270)	1 (2%)	2 (470)	1 (270)
General Body System None				
a h h a h				
Genital System				
Clitoral gland	(50)	(50)	(49)	(48)
Cyst		1 (2%)	1 (2%)	
Hyperplasia, focal	1 (2%)	4 (8%)	4 (8%)	3 (6%)
Inflammation, chronic	4 (8%)	4 (8%)	8 (16%)	7 (15%)
Inflammation, chronic active	3 (6%)	3 (6%)	1 (2%)	5 (10%)
Bilateral, atrophy	1 (2%)	2 (4%)		
		· ,		
Bilateral, hyperplasia, focal			1 (2%)	
Duct, hyperplasia, focal	1 (2%)		1 (2%)	
Duct, hyperplasia, focal Duct, inflammation, acute		1 (2%)		
Duct, hyperplasia, focal Duct, inflammation, acute Ovary	1 (2%) (50)		(50)	(50)
Duct, hyperplasia, focal Duct, inflammation, acute Ovary Cyst		1 (2%)		
Duct, hyperplasia, focal Duct, inflammation, acute Ovary Cyst Bilateral, atrophy		1 (2%)	(50)	1 (2%)
Duct, hyperplasia, focal Duct, inflammation, acute Ovary Cyst Bilateral, atrophy Bilateral, cyst		1 (2%) (50)	(50)	
Duct, hyperplasia, focal Duct, inflammation, acute Ovary Cyst Bilateral, atrophy Bilateral, cyst Bilateral, pigmentation	(50)	1 (2%) (50) 1 (2%)	(50) 1 (2%)	1 (2%) 1 (2%)
Duct, hyperplasia, focal Duct, inflammation, acute Ovary Cyst Bilateral, atrophy Bilateral, cyst Bilateral, pigmentation Bursa, cyst		1 (2%) (50) 1 (2%) 4 (8%)	(50) 1 (2%) 4 (8%)	1 (2%) 1 (2%) 6 (12%)
Duct, hyperplasia, focal Duct, inflammation, acute Ovary Cyst Bilateral, atrophy Bilateral, cyst Bilateral, pigmentation Bursa, cyst Follicle, cyst	(50)	1 (2%) (50) 1 (2%) 4 (8%) 2 (4%)	(50) 1 (2%)	1 (2%) 1 (2%)
Duct, hyperplasia, focal Duct, inflammation, acute Ovary Cyst Bilateral, atrophy Bilateral, cyst Bilateral, pigmentation Bursa, cyst Follicle, cyst Periovarian tissue, cyst	(50)	1 (2%) (50) 1 (2%) 4 (8%)	(50) 1 (2%) 4 (8%)	1 (2%) 1 (2%) 6 (12%) 4 (8%)
Duct, hyperplasia, focal Duct, inflammation, acute Ovary Cyst Bilateral, atrophy Bilateral, cyst Bilateral, pigmentation Bursa, cyst Follicle, cyst	(50)	1 (2%) (50) 1 (2%) 4 (8%) 2 (4%)	(50) 1 (2%) 4 (8%)	1 (2%) 1 (2%) 6 (12%)

Summary of the Incidence of Nonneoplastic Lesions in Female Rats in the 2-Year Feed Study of Phenolphthalein (continued)

.

	0 ppm	12,000 ppm	25,000 ppm	50,000 ppm
Genital System (continued)	<u> </u>		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
Uterus	(50)	(50)	(50)	(50)
Hydrometra	4 (8%)	4 (8%)	3 (6%)	6 (12%)
Inflammation, chronic active	(+/-)	1 (2%)	- ()	- (//)
Necrosis		1 (2%)		
Thrombosis		- (-,-,,		1 (2%)
Endometrium, atrophy	1 (2%)			
Endometrium, cyst	- (,	1 (2%)	1 (2%)	4 (8%)
Endometrium, inflammation, acute	2 (4%)			
Hematopoietic System	<u> </u>	<u> </u>		
Bone marrow	(50)	(50)	(50)	(50)
Atrophy	1 (2%)	1 (2%)	3 (6%)	5 (10%)
Hyperplasia	6 (12%)	9 (18%)	4 (8%)	6 (12%)
Myelofibrosis	5 (10%)	1 (2%)	2 (4%)	2 (4%)
Lymph node	(7)	(11)	(9)	(9)
Iliac, hemorrhage	(-)	()	1 (11%)	
Iliac, hyperplasia, lymphoid			1 (11%)	
Mediastinal, hemorrhage	1 (14%)			1 (11%)
Mediastinal, pigmentation	. (1 (11%)
Renal, infiltration cellular, histiocyte	1 (14%)			- (,
Lymph node, mandibular	(50)	(50)	(50)	(48)
Degeneration, cystic	6 (12%)	11 (22%)	2 (4%)	8 (17%)
Hemorrhage	2 (4%)			1 (2%)
Hyperplasia, lymphoid	14 (28%)	4 (8%)	6 (12%)	5 (10%)
Infiltration cellular, histiocyte	4 (8%)	3 (6%)	1 (2%)	3 (6%)
Necrosis	1 (2%)			. ,
Pigmentation	1 (2%)	1 (2%)		1 (2%)
Lymph node, mesenteric	(49)	(50)	(49)	(48)
Degeneration, cystic	2 (4%)	1 (2%)	4 (8%)	1 (2%)
Ectasia	1 (2%)			
Hemorrhage	1 (2%)	2 (4%)	2 (4%)	2 (4%)
Hyperplasia, lymphoid	2 (4%)			1 (2%)
Infiltration cellular, histiocyte	30 (61%)	33 (66%)	31 (63%)	26 (54%)
Pigmentation		1 (2%)		
Spleen	(50)	(50)	(50)	(49)
Congestion				1 (2%)
Fibrosis	1 (2%)			
Hematopoietic cell proliferation	9 (18%)	7 (14%)	6 (12%)	6 (12%)
Pigmentation	8 (16%)	7 (14%)	10 (20%)	6 (12%)
Lymphoid follicle, atrophy	3 (6%)			
Thymus	(50)	(49)	(49)	(48)
Cyst		1 (2%)	1 (2%)	
Hemorrhage	1 (2%)		1 (2%)	1 (2%)
Hyperplasia, lymphoid	1 (2%)			
Epithelial cell, hyperplasia	20 (40%)	34 (69%)	31 (63%)	23 (48%)
Thymocyte, atrophy	21 (42%)	19 (39%)	20 (41%)	23 (48%)

Summary of the Incidence of Nonneoplastic Lesions in Female Rats in the 2-Year Feed Study of Phenolphthalein (continued)

	0 ppm	12,000 ppm	25,000 ppm	50,000 ppm
Integumentary System				
Mammary gland	(50)	(50)	(48)	(49)
Galactocele	22 (44%)	15 (30%)	14 (29%)	17 (35%)
Inflammation, chronic		2 (4%)		
Epithelium, hyperplasia		1 (2%)		1 (2%)
Skin	(50)	(50)	(49)	(50)
Subcutaneous tissue, fibrosis, focal			1 (2%)	
Subcutaneous tissue, inflammation, acute			1 (2%)	
Subcutaneous tissue, inflammation, chronic,				
focal				1 (2%)
Musculoskeletal System				
Bone	(50)	(50)	(50)	(50)
Inflammation, acute		1 (2%)	N- 17	N /
Femur, fibrous osteodystrophy	1 (2%)	···· /		
Femur, hyperostosis	7 (14%)	2 (4%)	3 (6%)	
	· · · · · · ·	·	· ·	
Nervous System				
Brain	(50)	(50)	(50)	(50)
Hydrocephalus	1 (2%)	1 (2%)	5 (10%)	
Cerebellum, hemorrhage, focal		1 (2%)		
Cerebrum, hemorrhage, focal		1 (2%)	1 (2%)	1 (2%)
Meninges, cerebrum, hemorrhage				1 (2%)
Pons, hemorrhage, focal		1 (2%)		
Thalamus, cerebrum, necrosis	(1)	1 (2%)		
Peripheral nerve Sciatic, degeneration	(1)	(2)	(2)	(2)
Schanc, degeneration	1 (100%)			
Respiratory System				
Lung	(50)	(50)	(50)	(50)
Foreign body			1 (2%)	
Hemorrhage	2 (4%)	1 (2%)	8 (16%)	4 (8%)
Infiltration cellular, focal, lymphocyte		1 (2%)		
Infiltration cellular, focal, histiocyte				1 (2%)
Inflammation, chronic active	1 (2%)			
Alveolar epithelium, hyperplasia, focal	4 (8%)	5 (10%)	× 100 M	(1000)
Interstitium, inflammation, chronic	6 (12%)	5 (10%)	6 (12%)	6 (12%)
Interstitium, inflammation, chronic active		1 (2%)	1 (20)	
Serosa, inflammation, chronic	(50)	(40)	1 (2%)	(50)
Nose	(50)	(49)	(50)	(50)
Hemorrhage Inflammation, acute		1 (2%)	1 (2%) 1 (2%)	
Inflammation, acute Inflammation, chronic	5 (10%)	2 (4%)	2 (4%)	4 (8%)
Inflammation, chronic active	1 (2%)	2 (4%) 6 (12%)	3 (6%)	1 (2%)
Nasolacrimal duct, inflammation, acute	1 (470)	2 (4%)	2 (4%)	2 (4%)
Nasolacrimal duct, inflammation, acute	1 (2%)	~ (+/0)	- (*/0)	- (+,0)
Nasolacrimal duct, inflammation, chronic	- (- //)			
active				1 (2%)

Summary of the Incidence of Nonneoplastic Lesions in Female Rats in the 2-Year Feed Study of Phenolphthalein (continued)

	0 ppm	12,000 ppm	25,000 ppm	50,000 ppm
Respiratory System (continued)	<u></u>			
Nose (continued)	(50)	(49)	(50)	(50)
Olfactory epithelium, cytoplasmic alteration	3 (6%)	6 (12%)	3 (6%)	2 (4%)
Turbinate, congestion	1 (2%)			
Trachea	(50)	(50)	(50)	(49)
Inflammation, acute	1 (2%)			
Inflammation, chronic	1 (2%)	3 (6%)	2 (4%)	1 (2%)
Special Senses System				· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
Eye	(2)	(1)	(2)	
Atrophy	N7	1 (100%)	~~/	
Cornea, inflammation, chronic	1 (50%)	- (******)	1 (50%)	
Lens, cataract	1 (50%)		2 (100%)	
Retina, atrophy	1 (50%)		2 (100%)	
Zymbal's gland	- \- • /• /	(1)	_ (100,0)	(1)
Cyst		N -7		1 (100%)
Urinary System		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	······································	
Kidney	(50)	(50)	(50)	(50)
Cyst	(50)	2 (4%)	(50)	1 (2%)
Ectopic liver		2 (4%)		1 (2%)
-	1 (2%)	1 (7%)		1 (270)
Fibrosis, focal Inflammation, acute	1 (2%)	1 (2%)	1 (2%)	
Mineralization, focal	3 (6%)	3 (6%)	5 (10%)	3 (6%)
Nephropathy, chronic	4 (8%)	1 (2%)	5 (10%)	2 (4%)
Bilateral, mineralization, focal	7 (14%)	5 (10%)	9 (18%)	5 (10%)
Bilateral, nephropathy, chronic	30 (60%)	44 (88%)	43 (86%)	42 (84%)
Bilateral, pelvis, dilatation	1 (2%)	++ (88%)	45 (80%)	42 (0470)
Bilateral, pelvis, inflammation, acute	1 (2%)			
Bilateral, pelvis, inflammation, active Bilateral, pelvis, inflammation, chronic	1 (2/0)			
active	1 (2%)			
Bilateral, pelvis, mineralization, focal	1 (270)		1 (2%)	
Bilateral, pelvis, transitional epithelium,			- (270)	
hyperplasia	2 (4%)			
Bilateral, renal tubule, accumulation,	- ()			
hyaline droplet				2 (4%)
Bilateral, renal tubule, pigmentation	11 (22%)	9 (18%)	7 (14%)	8 (16%)
Papilla, necrosis	1 (2%)	> (10,0)		0 (10,0)
Pelvis, dilatation	- (=/0)		1 (2%)	
Pelvis, inflammation, acute		2 (4%)	• (• /0)	
Pelvis, transitional epithelium, hyperplasia		1 (2%)	1 (2%)	
Renal tubule, degeneration	1 (2%)	• \=/0/	• (=/•)	
Urinary bladder	(49)	(49)	(49)	(49)
Infiltration cellular, focal, lymphocyte	1 (2%)	(12)	(17)	(
minimuton contain, iocal, lymphocyte	(270)		1 (2%)	

APPENDIX C SUMMARY OF LESIONS IN MALE MICE IN THE 2-YEAR FEED STUDY OF PHENOLPHTHALEIN

TABLE C1	Summary of the Incidence of Neoplasms in Male Mice	
	in the 2-Year Feed Study of Phenolphthalein	177
TABLE C2	Individual Animal Tumor Pathology of Male Mice	
	in the 2-Year Feed Study of Phenolphthalein	182
TABLE C3	Statistical Analysis of Primary Neoplasms in Male Mice	
	in the 2-Year Feed Study of Phenolphthalein	208
TABLE C4a	Historical Incidence of Histiocytic Sarcoma in Untreated Male B6C3F ₁ Mice	212
TABLE C4b	Historical Incidence of Malignant Lymphoma in Untreated Male B6C3F ₁ Mice	212
TABLE C4c	Historical Incidence of Hepatocellular Neoplasms in Untreated Male B6C3F ₁ Mice	213
TABLE C5	Summary of the Incidence of Nonneoplastic Lesions in Male Mice	
	in the 2-Year Feed Study of Phenolphthalein	214
.

;

Summary of the Incidence of Neoplasms in Male Mice in the 2-Year Feed Study of Phenolphthalein^a

	0 ppm	3,000 ppm	6,000 ppm	12,000 ppm
Disposition Summary				
Animals initially in study	50	50	50	50
Early deaths				
Moribund	6	13	11	3
Natural deaths	4	4	3	10
Survivors				
Terminal sacrifice	40	33	36	36
Missing				1
Animals examined microscopically	50	50	50	49
Alimentary System				
Esophagus	(50)	(50)	(50)	(49)
Gallbladder	(50)	(46)	(46)	(41)
Fibrosarcoma, metastatic, mesentery		1 (2%)		
Intestine large, rectum	(50)	(50)	(50)	(48)
Fibrosarcoma, metastatic, meschtery			1 (2%)	
Intestine large, cecum	(50)	(48)	(47)	(45)
Carcinoma		1 (2%)	(10)	
Intestine small, duodenum	(49)	(48)	(48)	(46)
Carcinoma		4 / 5 54	1 (2%)	
Fibrosarcoma, metastatic, mesentery		1 (2%)		
Histiocytic sarcoma	(40)	1 (2%)	(49)	(16)
Intestine small, jejunum	(49)	(49)	(48) 1 (2%)	(46)
Fibrosarcoma, metastatic, mesentery Osteosarcoma, metastatic, uncertain primary			1 (270)	
site			1 (2%)	
Intestine small, ileum	(49)	(50)	(48)	(46)
Liver	(50)	(50)	(50)	(49)
Fibrosarcoma, metastatic, mesentery	(***)	1 (2%)	1 (2%)	N /
Hemangiosarcoma	1 (2%)	1 (2%)	2 (4%)	
Hemangiosarcoma, multiple	- ()	1 (2%)		
Hepatocellular carcinoma	7 (14%)	9 (18%)	4 (8%)	9 (18%)
Hepatocellular carcinoma, multiple	1 (2%)	1 (2%)	1 (2%)	
Hepatocellular adenoma	10 (20%)	11 (22%)	8 (16%)	9 (18%)
Hepatocellular adenoma, multiple	12 (24%)	1 (2%)		1 (2%)
Hepatocholangiocarcinoma		1 (2%)		
Histiocytic sarcoma	1 (2%)	3 (6%)	10 (20%)	12 (24%)
Ito cell tumor malignant	1 (2%)			
Osteosarcoma, metastatic, uncertain primary				
site			1 (2%)	
Sarcoma, metastatic, uncertain primary site		1 (2%)	<i>(</i> 1)	
Mesentery	(9)	(9)	(4)	(3)
Fibrosarcoma		1 (11%)	1 (25%)	
Hemangiosarcoma		2 (22%)		
Hepatocholangiocarcinoma, metastatic, liver		1 (11%)		
Sarcoma, metastatic, uncertain primary site	(50)	1 (11%)	(50)	(40)
Pancreas	(50)	(50)	(50)	(49)
Fibrosarcoma, metastatic, mesentery		1 (2%)	1 (2%)	
Hepatocholangiocarcinoma, metastatic, liver		1 (2%)		4 (8%)
Histiocytic sarcoma		1 (201)		+ (070)
Sarcoma, metastatic, uncertain primary site		1 (2%)		

Summary of the Incidence of Neoplasms in Male Mice in the 2-Year Feed Study of Phenolphthalein (continued)

Hemagiosarcoma 1 (2%) Sounch, forstomach (50) (50) (50) (49) Squamous cell carcinoma 2 (4%) 1 (2%) Sounch, glandular (50) (50) (50) (48) Stomach, fandular (50) (50) (50) (48) Stomach, forestomach 1 (2%) 1 (2%) 1 (2%) Stomach, forestomach 1 (100%) 1 (2%) 1 (2%) Toolu (1) (1) (1) 50) (50) (50) (49) Sacona, metastatic, uncertain primary site 1 (2%) 1 (2%) 1 (2%) 1 (2%) Cardiovascular System (50) (50) (50) (50) (49) Alveolar/bronchiolar carcinoma, metastatic, large numeratic, lung 1 (2%) 1 (2%) 1 (2%) Hemagiosarcoma 1 (2%) 3 (6%) 3 (6%) Sarcoma, metastatic, uncertain primary site 1 (2%) 3 (6%) 3 (6%) Adrenal cortex (49) (50) (49) (48) Adrenal medulla (49) (50) (49) (48) Istest, pancrenatic<		0 ppm	3,000 ppm	6,000 ppm	12,000 ppm
Hemagiosarcoma 1 (2%) Sourach, forestomach (50) (50) (50) (49) Squamous cell carcinoma 2 (4%) 1 (2%) Sourach, farstomach 1 (2%) (48) Squamous cell carcinoma, metastatic, 1 (2%) (50) (50) (49) Sourach, farstomach 1 (2%) (49) (50) (50) (49) Sourach, forestomach 1 (100%) (1) 1 (2%) (49) (50) (50) (49) Sourach, forestomach 1 (100%) (50) (50) (50) (49) Sourach, forestomach 1 (2%) 1 (2%) (49) (50) (50) (49) Sourach, forestomach (50) (50) (50) (49) (49) (50) (50) (49) Cardiovascular System (50) (50) (50) (49) (48) Alternal cortex (49) (2%) 3 (6%) 3 (6%) Sarcoma, metastatic, meentain primary site 1 (2%) 2 (4%) 2 (4%) 2 (4%) 2 (4%) 2 (4%) 2 (4%) 3 (6%) 3 (6%) 3 (Alimentary System (continued)		•		
Stomach, forestomach (50) (50) (49) Squamous cell acritoma 2 (4%) 1 (2%) Stomach, glandular (50) (50) (48) Histicoytic saroma 1 (2%) (50) (49) Squamous cell carcinoma, metastatic, stomach, forestomach 1 (2%) 1 (2%) Toopie (1) (1) (100%) Toomb (49) (50) (50) (49) Saroma, metastatic, uncertain primary site 1 (2%) (50) (49) Alveolar/bronchiolar carcinoma, metastatic, lung 1 (2%) (50) (49) Heart (50) (50) (50) (49) Alveolar/bronchiolar carcinoma, metastatic, lung 1 (2%) Hemangiosarcoma 3 (6%) Sarcoma, metastatic, uncertain primary site 1 (2%) 4(49) (48) Adrenal cortex (49) (50) (49) (48) Adrenal cortex (49) (50) (49) (48) Adrenal cortex (49) (50) (49) (48) Adrena	Salivary glands	(50)	(50)	(50)	(49)
Squamous cell carcinoma 1 (2%) Stomach, glandular (50) (50) (50) (48) Histiccyclic sarcoma 1 (2%) (48) 1 (2%) Stomach, forestomach 1 (2%) 1 (2%) 1 (2%) Stomach, forestomach 1 (2%) 1 (2%) 1 (2%) Stomach, forestomach 1 (100%) 1 (2%) 1 (2%) 1 (2%) Tooth (49) (50) (50) (49) 3 (6%) Sarcoma, metastatic, uncertain primary site 1 (2%) 1 (2%) 1 (2%) Cardiovascular System 1 (2%) 1 (2%) 1 (2%) Heart (50) (50) (50) (49) Alveolar/bronchiolar carcinoma, metastatic, lung 1 (2%) 1 (2%) Hemagiosarcoma 1 (2%) 3 (6%) 3 (6%) Sarcoma, metastatic, uncertain primary site 1 (2%) 3 (6%) 48) Adrenal medula (49) (50) (49) (48) Adrenal medula (49) (50) (49) (48) Adrenal medula (49) (50) (49) (48) <t< td=""><td>Hemangiosarcoma</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td>1 (2%)</td></t<>	Hemangiosarcoma				1 (2%)
Squanous cell papilloma 2 (4%) Stomach, glandular (50) (50) (50) Squamous cell carcinoma, metastatic, 1 (2%) Squamous cell carcinoma 1 (100%) Toodu (1) (1) Squamous cell carcinoma 1 (100%) Toodu (49) (50) (50) (49) Saccoma, metastatic, uncertain primary site 1 (2%) (49) (49) Cardiovascular System (50) (50) (50) (49) Reart (50) (50) (50) (49) Alveolar/bronchiolar carcinoma, metastatic, lung 1 (2%) Hemangiosarcoma, metastatic, mesentery 1 (2%) Hemangiosarcoma, metastatic, uncertain primary site 1 (2%) 3 (6%) 3 (6%) Saccoma, metastatic, uncertain primary site 1 (2%) 448) 448 Adrenal cortex (49) (50) (49) (48) Adrenal medula (49) (50) (49) (48) Adrenal medula (49) (50) (49) (48) Adrenal medula (49) (50) (50) (49) (4	Stomach, forestomach	(50)	(50)	(50)	(49)
Stomach, frandular (50) (50) (50) (48) Histiccytic sarcoma 1 (2%) Squamous cell carcinoma, metastatic, 1 (2%) Stomach, forestomach 1 (100%) 1 (2%) 1 (2%) Tongue (1) (1) 1 (2%) Squamous cell carcinoma 1 (100%) (50) (50) (49) Sacoma, metastatic, uncertain primary site 1 (2%) 1 (2%) 1 (2%) Cardiovascular System (50) (50) (50) (49) Heart (50) (50) (50) (49) Alveolar/bronchiolar carcinoma, metastatic, lung 1 (2%) 1 (2%) 1 (2%) Histiocytic sarcoma 1 (2%) 3 (6%) 3 (6%) Sarcoma, metastatic, uncertain primary site 1 (2%) 3 (6%) 3 (6%) Adrenal cortex (49) (50) (49) (48) Adrenal cortex (49) (50) (49) (48) Adrenal medulla (49) (50) (49) (48) Istes, pancreatic (50) (50) (50) (49) Adrenal medulla (49	Squamous cell carcinoma				1 (2%)
Historytic sarcoma 1 (2%) Squamous cell carcinoma, metastatic, 1 (100%) Tongue (1) (1) Squamous cell carcinoma 1 (100%) Tooh (49) (50) (50) (49) Sarcoma, metastatic, uncertain primary site 1 (2%) I (2%) I (2%) Cardiovascular System I (2%) I (2%) I (2%) Heart (50) (50) (50) (49) Alveolar/bronchiolar carcinoma, metastatic, lung 1 (2%) I (2%) I (2%) Heinargiosarcoma, metastatic, mesentery 1 (2%) I (2%) I (2%) Heanagiosarcoma 1 (2%) I (2%) I (2%) Endocrine System I (2%) I (2%) I (2%) Adrenal cortex (49) (50) (49) (48) Adrenal medula (19) (50) (49) (48) Adrenal medula (49) (50) (49) (48) Adrenal medula (49) (50) (49) (48) Istest, pancreatic (50) (50) (49) (48) Istest,	Squamous cell papilloma			2 (4%)	
Squamous cell carcinoma, metastatic, stomach, forestomach 1 (2%) Squamous cell carcinoma 1 (100%) Squamous cell carcinoma 1 (100%) Tooth (49) (50) (50) (49) Sarcoma, metastatic, uncertain primary site 1 (2%) (49) (49) Cardiovascular System 1 (2%) 1 (2%) (49) Heart (50) (50) (50) (49) Alveolar/Dronchiolar carcinoma, metastatic, lung 1 (2%) 1 (2%) 1 (2%) Hemangiosarcoma 1 (2%) 3 (6%) 3 (6%) Sarcoma, metastatic, uncertain primary site 1 (2%) 3 (6%) 3 (6%) Endocrine System 1 (2%) 2 (4%) 2 (4%) 2 (4%) Capsule, acrona, metastatic, lucertain 1 (2%) 2 (4%) 2 (4%) 2 (4%) Capsule, acrona, metastatic, lucertain 1 (2%) 2 (4%) 49) 48) 49) Adternal medulla (49) (50) (49) (48) 48) 48) Istes, pancreatic (50) (50) (50) (49) 48) 48) 48) 48)	Stomach, glandular	(50)	(50)	(50)	(48)
tomach, forestomach 1 (2%) fongue (1) (1) Squamous cell carcinoma 1 (100%) Tooh (49) (50) (50) (49) Sarcoma, metastatic, uncertain primary site 1 (2%) (49) (49) Cardiovascular System 1 (2%) 1 (2%) (49) Heart (50) (50) (50) (49) Alveolar/bronchiolar carcinoma, metastatic, lung 1 (2%) 1 (2%) 1 (2%) Fibrosarcoma, metastatic, mesentery 1 (2%) 1 (2%) 3 (6%) Sarcoma, metastatic, uncertain primary site 1 (2%) 3 (6%) 3 (6%) Carpaule, adenoma 1 (2%) 2 (4%) 48) Adrenal cortex (49) (50) (49) (48) Adrenal medulla (49) (50) (49) (48) Adrenal medulla (49) (50) (49) (48) Islets, pancreatic (50) (50) (49) (48) Adrenal medulla (49) (50) (49) (48) Islets, pancreatic (50) (50) (50)			1 (2%)		
Tongue (1) (1) Squamous cell carcinoma 1 (100%) Sarcoma, metastatic, uncertain primary site 1 (2%) Cardiovascular System 1 (2%) Heart (50) (50) (50) Alveolar/bronchiolar carcinoma, metastatic, lung 1 (2%) (50) (49) Fibrosarcoma, metastatic, mesentery 1 (2%) (2%) (49) Hemangiosarcoma 1 (2%) 3 (6%) 3 (6%) Sarcoma, metastatic, uncertain primary site 1 (2%) 3 (6%) 3 (6%) Endocrine System 1 (2%) 4(49) (50) (49) (48) Adrenal cortex (49) (50) (49) (48) Adrenal cortex (49) (50) (49) (48) Adrenal redulla (49) (50) (49) (48) Adrenal medulla (49) (50) (49) (48) Adrenal medulla (48) (50) (49) (48) Adrenal medulla (48) (50) (49) (48) Adrenal medulla (48) (50) (49) (48) </td <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td>					
Squamous cell carcinoma 1 (100%) Tooth (49) (50) (50) (49) Sarcoma, metastatic, uncertain primary site 1 (2%) 1 (2%) Cardiovascular System Heart (50) (50) (50) (49) Alveolar/bronchiolar carcinoma, metastatic, lung 1 (2%) 1 (2%) 1 (2%) Fibrosarcoma, metastatic, mesentery 1 (2%) 3 (6%) 3 (6%) Mistiocytic sarcoma 1 (2%) 3 (6%) 3 (6%) Carcone, metastatic, uncertain primary site 1 (2%) 3 (6%) 3 (6%) Carbona, metastatic, uncertain primary site 1 (2%) 3 (6%) 48) Aderona 1 (2%) 448) 448) 448) Aderona 1 (2%) 448) 448) 448) Capsule, adenoma 1 (2%) 448) 448) 448) Islets, pancreatic (50) (50) (49) (48) Islets, pancreatic (50) (50) (49) 48) Pars distalis, adenoma 1 (2%) 1 (2%) 48) 48) Pars distalis, adenoma					1 (2%)
Toom (49) (50) (50) (49) Sarcoma, metastatic, uncertain primary site 1 (2%) (49) Cardiovascular System (50) (50) (49) Alveolar/bronchiolar carcinoma, metastatic, lung 1 (2%) (50) (50) (49) Fibrosarcoma, metastatic, mesentery 1 (2%) 1 (2%) (49) (50) (49) Hemangiosarcoma 1 (2%) 1 (2%) 3 (6%) 3 (6%) Sarcoma, metastatic, uncertain primary site 1 (2%) 3 (6%) 3 (6%) Endocrine System 1 (2%) 2 (4%) 48) 4denoma 1 (2%) 448) Hepatocholangiocarcinoma, metastatic, liver 1 (2%) 2 (4%) 48) 449) 48) Capsule, adenoma 1 (2%) 2 (4%) 48) 449) 48) Islets, pancreatic (50) (50) (50) (49) 48) Adenoma 1 (2%) 48) 48) 48) 48) 48) 48) Islets, pancreatic (50) (50) (50) (49) 48) 48) 48)			(1)		
Sarcoma, metastatic, uncertain primary site 1 (2%) Cardiovascular System (50) (50) (50) (49) Alveolar/bronchiolar carcinoma, metastatic, lung 1 (2%) 1 (2%) 1 (2%) Fibrosarcoma, metastatic, mesentery 1 (2%) 1 (2%) 1 (2%) Hemangiosarcoma 1 (2%) 3 (6%) 3 (6%) Sarcoma, metastatic, uncertain primary site 1 (2%) 3 (6%) 3 (6%) Endocrine System 1 (2%) 449) (50) (49) (48) Adrenal cortex (49) (50) (49) (48) 4600000 48) Capsule, adenoma 1 (2%) 2 (4%) 48) 469) 48) 469) 48) 469) 48) 469) 48) 469) 48) 469) 48) 469) 48) 469) 48) 469) 48) 48) 48) 48) 48) 46) 48)					
Cardiovascular System Heart(50)(50)(50)(49)Alveolar/bronchiolar carcinoma, metastatic, lung1 (2%)1 (2%)11<		(49)		(50)	(49)
Heart(50)(50)(50)(49)Alveolar/bronchiolar carcinoma, metastatic, lung1 (2%)Fibrosarcoma, metastatic, mesentery1 (2%)Hemangiosarcoma1 (2%)Histiocytic sarcoma3 (6%)Sarcoma, metastatic, uncertain primary site1 (2%)Endocrine System1 (2%)Adrenal cortex(49)Adrenal cortex(49)Capsule, adenoma1 (2%)Capsule, adenoma1 (2%)Joint et al.(49)Sites, pancreatic(50)(50)(50)(49)(50)Adrenal edulla(49)(50)(50)Sarcoma, metastatic, uncertain primary site1(2%)Adrenal medulla(49)(50)(50)(50)(50)(49)(50)(49)(48)Adenoma1 (2%)Part distalis, adenoma1 (2%)Pars intermedia, adenoma1 (2%)Pars intermedia, adenoma1 (2%)Thyroid gland(49)(50)(50)(50)(50)(50)(50)(50)(50)(50)(50)(50)(50)(49)Pars intermedia, adenoma1 (2%)Thyroid gland(49)(2%)Follicular cell, carcinoma1 (2%)General Body System	Sarcoma, metastatic, uncertain primary site		1 (2%)		
Heart(50)(50)(50)(49)Alveolar/bronchiolar carcinoma, metastatic, lung1 (2%)Fibrosarcoma, metastatic, mesentery1 (2%)Hemangiosarcoma1 (2%)Histiocytic sarcoma3 (6%)Sarcoma, metastatic, uncertain primary site1 (2%)Endocrine System1 (2%)Adrenal cortex(49)Adrenal cortex(49)Capsule, adenoma1 (2%)Capsule, adenoma1 (2%)Joint et al.(49)Sites, pancreatic(50)(50)(50)(49)(50)Adrenal edulla(49)(50)(50)Sarcoma, metastatic, uncertain primary site1(2%)Adrenal medulla(49)(50)(50)(50)(50)(49)(50)(49)(48)Adenoma1 (2%)Part distalis, adenoma1 (2%)Pars intermedia, adenoma1 (2%)Pars intermedia, adenoma1 (2%)Thyroid gland(49)(50)(50)(50)(50)(50)(50)(50)(50)(50)(50)(50)(50)(49)Pars intermedia, adenoma1 (2%)Thyroid gland(49)(2%)Follicular cell, carcinoma1 (2%)General Body System	Cardiovascular System				
Alveolar/bronchiolar carcinoma, metastatic, lung1 (2%)Fibrosarcoma, metastatic, mesentery1 (2%)Hemangiosarcoma1 (2%)Histiocytic sarcoma3 (6%)Sarcoma, metastatic, uncertain primary site1 (2%)Endocrine System1 (2%)Adrenal cortex(49)(49)(50)(49)(48)Hepatocholangiocarcinoma, metastatic, liver1 (2%)Capsule, adenoma1 (2%)primary site1 (2%)Adrenal medulla(49)(50)(50)(49)(48)Islets, pancreatic(50)(48)(50)Adenoma1 (2%)Pars intermedia, adenoma1 (2%)Pars intermedia, adenoma1 (2%)Thyroid gland(49)(50)(50)(50)(50)(50)(50)(50)(50)General Body System		(50)	(50)	(50)	(49)
lung 1 (2%) Fibrosarcoma, metastatic, mesentery 1 (2%) Hemangiosarcoma 1 (2%) Hstiocytic sarcoma 3 (6%) Sarcoma, metastatic, uncertain primary site 1 (2%) Endocrine System 1 (2%) Adrenal cortex (49) (50) (49) (48) Adenoma 1 (2%) 2 (4%) 2 (4%) 2 (4%) Capsule, adenoma 1 (2%) 2 (4%) 2 (4%) 48) Adrenal medulla (49) (50) (49) (48) Adrenal medulla (49) (50) (49) (48) Islets, pancreatic (50) (50) (49) (48) Pars distalis, adenoma 1 (2%) 2 4(49) 4(49) (50) (49) (48) Pars distalis, adenoma 1 (2%) 1 (2%) 2 (49) (49) (50) (50) (49) (49) Pars distalis, adenoma 1 (2%) 1 (2%) 2 (4%) 1 (2%) 1 (2%) 2 (4%) 1 (2%) 1 (2%) 2 (4%) 1 (2%) 1 (2%) 2 (4%) 1 (2%)		(00)	(00)	(00)	
Fibrosarcoma, metastatic, mesentery 1 (2%) Hemangiosarcoma 1 (2%) Histiocytic sarcoma 3 (6%) Sarcoma, metastatic, uncertain primary site 1 (2%) Endocrine System Adrenal cortex (49) (50) (49) (48) Adrenal cortex (49) (50) (49) (48) Adenoma 1 (2%) 2 (4%) Capsule, adenoma 1 (2%) Capsule, adenoma 1 (2%) 2 (4%) Capsule, sarcoma, metastatic, uncertain 1 (2%) primary site 1 (2%) 448) (49) (50) (49) (48) Adrenal medulla (49) (50) (50) (49) (48) Adrenal medulla (49) (50) (50) (49) (48) Adrenal medulla (49) (50) (50) (49) (48) Pituitary gland (48) (50) (49) (48) Pars intermedia, adenoma 1 (2%) 1 (2%) Thyroid gland (49) Follicular cell, adenoma 1 (2%) 1 (2%) 2 (4%) Follicular cell, carcinoma 1 (2%)		1 (2%)			
Hemangiosarcoma 1 (2%) Histiocytic sarcoma 3 (6%) Sarcoma, metastatic, uncertain primary site 1 (2%) Endocrine System 1 (2%) Adrenal cortex (49) (50) (49) (48) Adenoma 1 (2%) 2 (4%) Capsule, adenoma 1 (2%) Capsule, adenoma 1 (2%) 2 (4%) Capsule, sarcoma, metastatic, uncertain 1 (2%) Primary site 1 (2%) 449) (50) (49) (48) Islets, pancreatic (50) (50) (49) (48) Islets, pancreatic (50) (50) (49) (48) Para distalis, adenoma 1 (2%) 7 1 (2%) Pars distalis, adenoma 1 (2%) 7 1 (2%) Thyroid gland (49) (50) (50) (49) Follicular cell, adenoma 1 (2%) 2 (4%) 1 (2%) Follicular cell, carcinoma 1 (2%) 2 (4%) 1 (2%) General Body System 1 (2%) 2 (4%) 1 (2%)	-	- ()	1 (2%)		
Histiocytic sarcoma 3 (6%) Sarcoma, metastatic, uncertain primary site 1 (2%) Endocrine System 1 (2%) Adrenal cortex (49) (50) (49) (48) Adrenoma 1 (2%) 2 (4%) Capsule, adenoma 1 (2%) Capsule, adenoma 1 (2%) 2 (4%) Capsule, sarcoma, metastatic, uncertain 1 (2%) primary site 1 (2%) 2 (4%) 448) 449 (49) (50) (49) (48) Islets, pancreatic (50) (50) (50) (49) (48) Adrenal medulla (49) (50) (50) (49) (48) Adrenal medulla (49) (50) (50) (49) (48) Adrenal medulla (49) (50) (50) (49) (48) Adrenal medulla (48) (50) (49) (48) Pars intermedia, adenoma 1 (2%) 2 (4%) Pars intermedia, adenoma 1 (2%) Thyroid gland (49) (50) (50) (49) (49) (49) (49) (49) (49) (49) (40) (40)<	•		· · ·		
Sarcoma, metastatic, uncertain primary site 1 (2%) Endocrine System Adrenal cortex (49) (50) (49) (48) Adrenal cortex (49) (50) (49) (48) Adenoma 1 (2%) 2 (4%) Capsule, adenoma 1 (2%) Capsule, adenoma 1 (2%) 2 (4%) Capsule, sarcoma, metastatic, uncertain primary site 1 (2%) Adrenal medulla (49) (50) (49) (48) Adrenoma 1 (2%) Adrenoma 1 (2%) Adrenoma Adrenoma 1 (2%) Pars interactic (50) (50) (50) (49) (48) Islets, pancreatic (50) (50) (49) (48) Adenoma 1 (2%) Pars intermedia, adenoma 1 (2%) Pars intermedia, adenoma 1 (2%) Thyroid gland (49) (50) (50) (49) Follicular cell, adenoma 1 (2%) 2 (4%) Follicular cell, adenoma 1 (2%) 2 (4%) Follicular cell, carcinoma 1 (2%) 2 (4%) Follicular cell, carcinoma 1 (2%)			- (270)		3 (6%)
Endocrine System Adrenal cortex (49) (50) (49) (48) Adenoma 1 (2%) 1 (2%) Capsule, adenoma 1 (2%) Capsule, adenoma 1 (2%) 2 (4%) Capsule, adenoma 1 (2%) Capsule, adenoma 1 (2%) 2 (4%) Capsule, sarcoma, metastatic, uncertain 1 (2%) Adrenal medulla (49) (50) (49) (48) (48) Islets, pancreatic (50) (50) (50) (49) (48) Adenoma 1 (2%) 2 (4%) Pars distalis, adenoma 1 (2%) Pars distalis, adenoma 1 (2%) 1 (2%) 2 (4%) Follicular cell, adenoma 1 (2%) 2 (4%) Follicular cell, adenoma 1 (2%) General Body System 1 (2%) 2 (4%) Follicular cell, carcinoma 1 (2%)	•		1 (2%)		- (0/0)
Adrenal cortex (49) (50) (49) (48) Adenoma 1 (2%) 1 (2%) Hepatocholangiocarcinoma, metastatic, liver 1 (2%) 2 (4%) Capsule, adenoma 1 (2%) 2 (4%) 5 Capsule, adenoma 1 (2%) 2 (4%) 5 Capsule, adenoma 1 (2%) 2 (4%) 5 Capsule, sarcoma, metastatic, uncertain 1 (2%) 7 7 Primary site 1 (2%) 4			- (,		
Adenoma 1 (2%) Hepatocholangiocarcinoma, metastatic, liver 1 (2%) Capsule, adenoma 1 (2%) Capsule, sarcoma, metastatic, uncertain 1 (2%) primary site 1 (2%) Adrenal medulla (49) (49) (50) (49) Adenoma 1 (2%) Adenoma 1 (2%) Pintitary gland (48) (48) (50) (49) Pars distalis, adenoma 1 (2%) Pars intermedia, adenoma 1 (2%) Follicular cell, adenoma 1 (2%) Follicular cell, carcinoma 1 (2%)					
Hepatocholangiocarcinoma, metastatic, liver 1 (2%) Capsule, adenoma 1 (2%) Capsule, sarcoma, metastatic, uncertain 1 (2%) primary site 1 (2%) Adrenal medulla (49) (50) (49) (48) Islets, pancreatic (50) (50) (50) (49) (48) Adenoma 1 (2%) 1 (49) (48) (49) (48) Pituitary gland (48) (50) (49) (48) (48) (49) (48) Pars distalis, adenoma 1 (2%) 1 (2%) 7 (49) (48) Pars intermedia, adenoma 1 (2%) 1 (2%) 7 (49) (49) (50) (49) (49) (49) (48) 1<	Adrenal cortex	(49)		(49)	(48)
Capsule, adenoma 1 (2%) 2 (4%) Capsule, sarcoma, metastatic, uncertain 1 (2%) Adrenal medulla (49) (50) (49) (48) Adrenal medulla (49) (50) (50) (49) (48) Islets, pancreatic (50) (50) (50) (49) (48) Adenoma 1 (2%) 1 (2%) 1 (2%) 1 (49) (48) Pars distalis, adenoma 1 (2%) 1 (2%) 7 1 (49) (49) (49) (49) (49) (49) (49) (49) (49) (49) (49) (49) (49) (49) (50) (50) (49) (49) (49) (50) (50) (49) (49) (49) (50) (50) (49) (49) (50) (20) (49) (49) (49) (49) (2%) (49) (49) (49) (49) (2%) (49) (49) (49) (49) (49) (49) (40) (40) (40) (40) (40) (40) (40) (40)<					
Capsule, sarcoma, metastatic, uncertain 1 (2%) Adrenal medulla (49) (50) (49) (48) Adenoma 1 (2%) (50) (50) (49) (48) Adenoma 1 (2%) (49) (48) (49) (48) Pituitary gland (48) (50) (49) (48) Pars distalis, adenoma 1 (2%) (49) (48) Pars intermedia, adenoma 1 (2%) (50) (50) (49) Follicular cell, adenoma 1 (2%) 2 (4%) (49) (49) (2%) General Body System 1 (2%) 2 (4%)					
primary site 1 (2%) Adrenal medulla (49) (50) (49) (48) Islets, pancreatic (50) (50) (50) (49) Adenoma 1 (2%) 1 (2%) (48) (48) Pituitary gland (48) (50) (49) (48) Pars distalis, adenoma 1 (2%) 1 (2%) 7 Pars intermedia, adenoma 1 (2%) 1 (2%) 7 Follicular cell, adenoma 1 (2%) 2 (4%) 49) General Body System 1 (2%) 2 (4%) 1	• · · ·	1 (2%)	2 (4%)		
Adrenal medulla (49) (50) (49) (48) Islets, pancreatic (50) (50) (50) (49) Adenoma 1 (2%) (49) (48) Pituitary gland (48) (50) (49) (48) Pars distalis, adenoma 1 (2%) (49) (48) Pars intermedia, adenoma 1 (2%) (50) (50) (49) Follicular cell, adenoma 1 (2%) 2 (4%) (49) (49) General Body System 1 (2%) 2 (4%)					
Islets, pancreatic (50) (50) (50) (49) Adenoma 1 (2%) (49) (48) Pituitary gland (48) (50) (49) (48) Pars distalis, adenoma 1 (2%) 1 (2%) (49) (48) Pars intermedia, adenoma 1 (2%) 700 (50) (49) (49) Follicular cell, adenoma 1 (2%) 2 (4%) 1 (2%) 2 (4%) 500				(10)	(40)
Adenoma1 (2%)Pituitary gland(48)Pars distalis, adenoma1 (2%)Pars intermedia, adenoma1 (2%)Thyroid gland(49)(50)(50)Follicular cell, adenoma1 (2%)Follicular cell, carcinoma1 (2%)General Body System					
Pituitary gland (48) (50) (49) (48) Pars distalis, adenoma 1 (2%) 1 (2%) Pars intermedia, adenoma 1 (2%) (50) (50) (49) Follicular cell, adenoma 1 (2%) 2 (4%) Follicular cell, carcinoma 1 (2%) 2 (4%)	-		(50)	(50)	(49)
Pars distalis, adenoma 1 (2%) Pars intermedia, adenoma 1 (2%) Thyroid gland (49) (50) (50) (49) Follicular cell, adenoma 1 (2%) 2 (4%) Follicular cell, carcinoma 1 (2%) 2 (4%)			(50)	(40)	(49)
Pars intermedia, adenoma 1 (2%) Thyroid gland (49) Follicular cell, adenoma 1 (2%) Follicular cell, carcinoma 1 (2%)		(48)		(49)	(48)
Thyroid gland (49) (50) (50) (49) Follicular cell, adenoma 1 (2%) 2 (4%) Follicular cell, carcinoma 1 (2%)			1 (2%)		
Follicular cell, adenoma 1 (2%) 2 (4%) Follicular cell, carcinoma 1 (2%)			(50)	(50)	(40)
Follicular cell, carcinoma 1 (2%) General Body System		(49)			(49)
General Body System			1 (2%)	2 (470)	
	Follicular cell, carcinoma	1 (2%)			
	General Body System				
	Tissue NOS		(1)		

Summary of the Incidence of Neoplasms in Male Mice in the 2-Year Feed Study of Phenolphthalein (continued)

.

	0 ppm	3,000 ppm	6,000 ppm	12,000 ppm
Genital System				
Epididymis	(50)	(50)	(50)	(49)
Fibrosarcoma, metastatic, mesentery	(00)	1 (2%)	1 (2%)	(12)
Hepatocholangiocarcinoma, metastatic, liver		1 (2%)	- ()	
Histiocytic sarcoma				1 (2%)
Leiomyoma		1 (2%)		
reputial gland	(49)	(50)	(49)	(49)
Fibrosarcoma, metastatic, skin			1 (2%)	
rostate	(50)	(50)	(50)	(49)
Fibrosarcoma, metastatic, mesentery		1 (2%)		
eminal vesicle	(50)	(50)	(50)	(49)
Fibrosarcoma, metastatic, mesentery		1 (2%)	1 (2%)	
Hepatocholangiocarcinoma, metastatic, liver		1 (2%)		
`estes	(50)	(50)	(50)	(48)
Hemangiosarcoma			1 (2%)	
Interstitial cell, adenoma	1 (2%)			
Iematopoietic System				
Bone marrow	(50)	(50)	(50)	(49)
Hemangiosarcoma		1 (2%)	1 (2%)	
Histiocytic sarcoma		1 (2%)	5 (10%)	5 (10%)
Mast cell tumor malignant				1 (2%)
ymph node	(8)	(5)	(14)	(9)
Iliac, fibrosarcoma, metastatic, mesentery		1 (20%)		
Iliac, histiocytic sarcoma			2 (14%)	1 (11%)
Inguinal, mast cell tumor malignant,				4 (11 07)
metastatic, bone marrow	1 (10 0)			1 (11%)
Mediastinal, carcinoma, metastatic, kidney	1 (13%)			
Mediastinal, sarcoma, metastatic, uncertain		1 (20 %)		
primary site		1 (20%)		1 (11%)
Pancreatic, histiocytic sarcoma			2 (14%)	1 (1170)
Renal, histiocytic sarcoma Renal, osteosarcoma, metastatic, uncertain			2 (1470)	
primary site			1 (7%)	
Lymph node, mandibular	(49)	(50)	(49)	(49)
Histiocytic sarcoma	(17)	2 (4%)	(17)	4 (8%)
ymph node, mesenteric	(50)	(50)	(48)	(49)
Fibrosarcoma, metastatic, mesentery	()	1 (2%)	()	(·-/
Hepatocholangiocarcinoma, metastatic, liver		1 (2%)		
Histiocytic sarcoma		2 (4%)	4 (8%)	7 (14%)
Spleen	(50)	(50)	(50)	(49)
Fibrosarcoma, metastatic, mesentery		1 (2%)		
Hemangiosarcoma		5 (10%)	1 (2%)	1 (2%)
Histiocytic sarcoma		2 (4%)	6 (12%)	9 (18%)
Thymus	(43)	(46)	(44)	(42)
Alveolar/bronchiolar carcinoma, metastatic,				
lung	1 (2%)			
Fibrosarcoma, metastatic, mesentery		1 (2%)		
Histiocytic sarcoma				2 (5%)

Summary of the Incidence of Neoplasms in Male Mice in the 2-Year Feed Study of Phenolphthalein (continued)

	0 ppm	3,000 ppm	6,000 ppm	12,000 ppm
Integumentary System			·····	<u></u>
Skin	(50)	(50)	(50)	(49)
Subcutaneous tissue, fibrosarcoma	1 (2%)		1 (2%)	
Subcutaneous tissue, hemangiosarcoma	1 (2%)		3 (6%)	
Subcutaneous tissue, histiocytic sarcoma		1 (2%)	1 (2%)	
Subcutaneous tissue, sarcoma, metastatic, uncertain primary site		1 (2%)		
• •				·
Musculoskeletal System	(70)			
Bone	(50)	(50)	(50)	(48)
Carcinoma, metastatic, kidney Skeletal muscle	1 (2%)	(1)	(1)	(1)
Alveolar/bronchiolar carcinoma, metastatic,	(2)	(1)	(1)	(1)
lung	1 (50%)			
Carcinoma, metastatic, kidney	1 (50%)			
Fibrosarcoma, metastatic, mesentery	. (00,0)		1 (100%)	
Hepatocholangiocarcinoma, metastatic, liver		1 (100%)	- \/	
· ·		·* <u></u>		
Nervous System	(7 0)			
Brain	(50)	(50)	(50)	(49)
Respiratory System				<u> </u>
Lung	(50)	(50)	(50)	(49)
Alveolar/bronchiolar adenoma	8 (16%)	10 (20%)	4 (8%)	10 (20%)
Alveolar/bronchiolar adenoma, multiple				2 (4%)
Alveolar/bronchiolar carcinoma	3 (6%)	5 (10%)	4 (8%)	4 (8%)
Alveolar/bronchiolar carcinoma, multiple	•			1 (2%)
Carcinoma, metastatic, harderian gland			1 (2%)	
Carcinoma, metastatic, kidney	1 (2%)	1 (0.01)		
Fibrosarcoma, metastatic, mesentery	1 (20)	1 (2%)		
Hemangiosarcoma	1 (2%)	2 (601)	1 (2%)	3 (6%)
Hepatocellular carcinoma, metastatic, liver	2 (4%)	3 (6%)	1 (2%) 4 (8%)	3 (0%) 9 (18%)
Histiocytic sarcoma Sarcoma, metastatic, uncertain primary site		2 (4%) 1 (2%)	4 (070)	9 (10%)
Nose	(50)	(50)	(50)	(49)
Sarcoma, metastatic, uncertain primary site	(30)	1 (2%)	(30)	
		- (*/v)	······································	
Special Senses System				
Ear		(2)		(2)
Harderian gland	(3)	(4)	(4)	(3)
Adenoma	3 (100%)	3 (75%)	2 (50%) 2 (50%)	1 (33%)
Carcinoma			2 (50%)	1 (33%)

Summary of the Incidence of Neoplasms in Male Mice in the 2-Year Feed Study of Phenolphthalein (continued)

	0 ppm	3,000 ppm	6,000 ppm	12,000 ppm
Urinary System			······································	
Kidney	(50)	(50)	(50)	(49)
Histiocytic sarcoma		2 (4%)	2 (4%)	3 (6%)
Sarcoma, metastatic, uncertain primary site		1 (2%)		
Squamous cell carcinoma, metastatic,				
stomach, forestomach				1 (2%)
Renal tubule, adenoma			2 (4%)	
Transitional epithelium, carcinoma	1 (2%)			
Urinary bladder	(50)	(50)	(48)	(49)
Systemic Lesions				
Multiple organs ^b	(50)	(50)	(50)	(49)
Histiocytic sarcoma	1 (2%)	3 (6%)	11 (22%)	12 (24%)
Lymphoma malignant	6 (12%)	8 (16%)	12 (24%)	8 (16%)
Neoplasm Summary	<u></u>		·	<u></u>
Total animals with primary neoplasms ^c	40	40	42	38
Total primary neoplasms	63	71	65	62
Total animals with benign neoplasms	29	24	18	19
Total benign neoplasms	37	31	20	23
Total animals with malignant neoplasms	19	29	35	29
Total malignant neoplasms	26	40	45	39
Total animals with metastatic neoplasms	4	5	5	4
Total metastatic neoplasms	9	34	13	6
Total animals with malignant neoplasms				
of uncertain primary site		1	1	

a Number of animals examined microscopically at the site and the number of animals with neoplasm

b

Number of animals with any tissue examined microscopically Primary neoplasms: all neoplasms except metastatic neoplasms С

TABLE C2

	2	5	5	5	5	6	6	6	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7 [.]	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7
Number of Days on Study	3	3	5	8	9	1	6	7	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2 3	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2
	2	3	0	2	9	3	2	3	4	7	9	9	9	9	9	9	9	9	9	9	9	9	9	9	9
	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Carcass ID Number	4 7	3 4	2 8	2	3 7	-	-	-	1 1					-	1 2	-	-			2 1	2	2	2	2 9	-
Alimentom Sustan	,	-	0					-	-						-					-		0		,	
Alimentary System Esophagus	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Gallbladder	.+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	÷	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	· +
ntestine large, colon	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
ntestine large, rectum	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
ntestine large, cecum	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	• +
ntestine small, duodenum	+	+	+	Å	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
ntestine small, jejunum	+	+	+	Α	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
ntestine small, ileum	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	Å	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	• +
liver	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	• +
Hemangiosarcoma														X											
Hepatocellular carcinoma												х													
Hepatocellular carcinoma, multiple										х															
Hepatocellular adenoma				х							х						х				х				
Hepatocellular adenoma, multiple													Х	Х									х	Х	
Histiocytic sarcoma										х															
Ito cell tumor malignant																									
sentery					+		+											+				+		+	• +
creas	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	÷	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	• +
ivary glands	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	• +
omach, forestomach	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	· +	• +
omach, glandular	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	· +	• +
ongue																		+							
Squamous cell carcinoma																		х							
oth .	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+		+	+	+	• +
rdiovascular System																									
art	+	+	• +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	• +	- +
Alveolar/bronchiolar carcinoma,																									
metastatic, lung			X										_		_										
docrine System																	,								
drenal cortex	+	+	• +	• +	+	+	Μ	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+		• +		+ +
Capsule, adenoma																		_	_		X				
irenal medulla			• +				Μ																		
ets, pancreatic	+	+	- +	• +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+		+	+	+	• +	- +		+ +
Adenoma																• •		x							
rathyroid gland	+	-	- +	- +	+	+	+	+	+					+			+					1 +	• +		+ +
tuitary gland	+	-	- +	• +	+	+	Μ			+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	- +	- +		+ +
Pars intermedia, adenoma								X				_	-	-		_									
hyroid gland	+	• +	- +	- +	• +	+		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	N	1 +			+ +
Follicular cell, carcinoma							Х																		

+: Tissue examined microscopically

A: Autolysis precludes examination

M: Missing tissue I: Insufficient tissue X: Lesion present Blank: Not examined

7 Number of Days on Study 9 9 99 0 Total **Carcass ID Number** 3 3 3 3 3 4 4 4 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 2 2 3 3 4 4 4 4 4 5 Tissues/ 2 3 5 8 9 0 3 9 1 4 5 6 8 4 5 4 5 1 6 1 4 5 6 8 0 Tumors **Alimentary System** Esophagus 50 + + + + + 4 + + + + 4 + 4 + + + + Gallbladder 50 + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + Intestine large, colon + 50 + + + 4 + + + + + + + + + + Intestine large, rectum + + 50 + 4 + ++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + 50 Intestine large, cecum + + + + + + + + + + + + 4 + 4 + + 1 + + + 1 1 + + Intestine small, duodenum 49 + + + + + + + + + + + + + + ++ + + + + 4 + + + + 49 Intestine small, jejunum + Intestine small, ileum 49 + + + + ++ Liver 50 + + + ++ + + + ++ + + + + + + + + ++ + Hemangiosarcoma 1 Hepatocellular carcinoma Х хх х х х 7 Hepatocellular carcinoma, multiple 1 Hepatocellular adenoma х х х Х 10 Х X хх Hepatocellular adenoma, multiple х х хх х х 12 Histiocytic sarcoma 1 х Ito cell tumor malignant 1 9 Mesentery Pancreas + 50 + + + + + ++ 4 + + + + + 4 50 Salivary glands + Stomach, forestomach 50 + + + + + + + 50 Stomach, glandular 1 + + 1 +Tongue 1 Squamous cell carcinoma 1 Tooth + + 49 + + Cardiovascular System Heart 50 + + + + -+ + + + + + + + + + Alveolar/bronchiolar carcinoma, metastatic, lung 1 **Endocrine System** Adrenal cortex + + + 49 Capsule, adenoma 1 Adrenal medulla 49 50 Islets, pancreatic + + 4 4 + + 4 4 + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + Adenoma 1 Parathyroid gland 46 + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + м M + 48 Pituitary gland М ++ + + + + + + 1 Pars intermedia, adenoma Thyroid gland 49 + + + + + +Follicular cell, carcinoma 1 **General Body System** None

TABLE C2

Individual Animal Tumor Pathology of Male Mice in the 2-Year Feed Study of Phenolphthalein: 0	ppm (continued)
---	------------------------

	01													•					•					· · ·	•		,	
Number of Days on Study		2 3	5 3	5	5	5 9	6 1		6 7	7 2	7 2	7 2	-		7	-	7	-	7 2	7 2	7 2	7 2	7	7	7 2	-		
the state of the s		2	3	0	2	9	3				7	-			-	-	-	-	-			9	9	9	9	-		
		0	0	0	0	0	0	0						0	0	0	0					-	0	0	0	0		
Carcass ID Number		4 7	3 4	2 8		3 7				1 1					1 0 :				1 8						2 9			
Genital System																												
Epididymis		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+		
Penis							+																					
Preputial gland		+	+	+	+	+	+			M				+		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+		
Prostate		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+		
Seminal vesicle Testes		+	+	++	+	+	++	+	+	+	+	++	+	++	+	+	+	+	++	+	+	+	+	+	+	+		
Interstitial cell, adenoma		т	т	т	т	Ŧ	Ŧ	т	Ŧ	т	Ŧ	т	т	т	т	т	т	Ŧ	Ŧ	т	т	т	т	т	т	т		
Hematopoietic System																								_			 	
Bone marrow		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+		
Lymph node						+	+	+									+					+				+		
Mediastinal, carcinoma, metastatic, kidney							x																					
Lymph node, mandibular		+	+	+	+	+		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	Μ	+	+	+	+		
Lymph node, mesenteric		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+		
Spleen		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+		
Thymus		+	+	+	+	+	Μ	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	Μ	+	+	I	+	+	+	+		
Alveolar/bronchiolar carcinoma,				•																								
metastatic, lung				x												_												
Integumentary System							/				14	м	M		M	м	м	м	м	м	м	M		м	м	м		
Mammary gland Skin															М +													
Subcutaneous tissue, fibrosarcoma		т	Ŧ	+	Ŧ	Ŧ	Ŧ	т	Ŧ	Ŧ	Ŧ	Ŧ	Ŧ	Ŧ	т	т	т	Ŧ	т	Ŧ	т	Ŧ	Ŧ	т	т	т		
Subcutaneous tissue, hemangiosarcoma	ı																											
Musculoskeletal System																								_				
Bone		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+		
Carcinoma, metastatic, kidney							х																					
Skeletal muscle				+			+																					
Alveolar/bronchiolar carcinoma,				•••																								
metastatic, lung				х			v																					
Carcinoma, metastatic, kidney							X																					
Nervous System Brain		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+		
Peripheral nerve		т	т	т	Ŧ	Ŧ	Ŧ	7	Ŧ	+	T	τ,	r		'	•	•	'	'					•				
Spinal cord										+																		
Respiratory System																								_				
Lung		+	+	+	• +	+	• +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+		
Alveolar/bronchiolar adenoma												х			х								х					
Alveolar/bronchiolar carcinoma				Х		Х					х																	
Carcinoma, metastatic, kidney							х																					
Hemangiosarcoma										х																		
Hepatocellular carcinoma, metastatic,											v																	
liver						,	,				X			ـــ		÷	ъ	.	ᅭ	Ŧ	Ŧ	L		+	-	т		
Nose		+	+	+	• +	• +	- +	+	+	. +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+		- -	- -	- -		
Trachea		+	+	- +	- +	• +	- +	-	-	- +	+	+	-	Ŧ	Ŧ	т	Ŧ	Ŧ	Ŧ	Τ.	Τ.	-	-		Τ"	Τ.		

Individual Animal Tumor Pathology of Male Mice in the 2-Year Feed Study of Phenolphthalein: 0 ppm (continued) 7 Number of Days on Study 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 0 Total **Carcass ID Number** 3 3 3 3 3 4 4 4 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 2 2 3 3 4 4 4 4 4 5 Tissues/ 2 3 5 8 9 0 3 9 1 4 5 6 8 4 5 4 5 1 6 1 4 5 6 8 0 Tumors **Genital System** Epididymis 50 + Penis 1 Preputial gland 49 + Prostate 50 + ++ + + + + + + + + + + + + ++ + + + + + + + Seminal vesicle + + + 50 + + ++ + + + + + + + + ++ + + + + + + + + Testes + + + + + + + 50 + Interstitial cell, adenoma х 1 Hematopoietic System Bone marrow 50 Lymph node 8 Mediastinal, carcinoma, metastatic, 1 kidney 49 Lymph node, mandibular + + 4 + + + + + ++ + 50 Lymph node, mesenteric + Spleen + + + + + + + + + ++ + + + + + + + + + + + 50 Thymus Μ I M 43 Μ + + ++ + + + + + + + Alveolar/bronchiolar carcinoma, 1 metastatic, lung **Integumentary System** 1 Mammary gland 50 + + + + + + + + + + Skin + + + + + + + + + + + + + + х 1 Subcutaneous tissue, fibrosarcoma Subcutaneous tissue, hemangiosarcoma Х 1 Musculoskeletal System 50 Bone + + + + + + + + + +Carcinoma, metastatic, kidney 1 2 Skeletal muscle Alveolar/bronchiolar carcinoma, 1 metastatic, lung Carcinoma, metastatic, kidney 1 **Nervous System** 50 Brain + 1 Peripheral nerve Spinal cord 1 **Respiratory System** 50 Lung + + + + + + + + х хх х х 8 Alveolar/bronchiolar adenoma 3 Alveolar/bronchiolar carcinoma 1 Carcinoma, metastatic, kidney Hemangiosarcoma 1 Hepatocellular carcinoma, metastatic, 2 Х liver Nose + 50 + ++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + 50 Trachea + + + + + + + + + + + + + + ++ + ++ + + + + +

TABLE C2

Number of Days on Study	2 3 2	5 3 3	5 5 0	5 8 2	5 9 9	6 1 3	6 6 2	6 7 3	7 2 4	7 2 7	7 2 9															
Carcass ID Number	-	03	0 2	2 0 2	9 0 3	0	2 0 1	0	+ 0 1	, 0 2	9 0 0	9 0 0	0	9 0 1	0	9 0 1	9 0 1	9 0 1	0	9 0 2	9 0 2	9 0 2	9 0 2	-	9 0 3	
	7	4	8	0	7	7	7	2	1	2	2	3	9	0	2	3	6	8	9	1	3	6	7	9	-	
Special Senses System																										
Harderian gland Adenoma														+ X			+ X									
Urinary System																										
Kidney Transitional epithelium, carcinoma	+	+	+	+	+	+ X	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
Urinary bladder	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
Systemic Lesions																										
Multiple organs	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
Histiocytic sarcoma Lymphoma malignant							x			х					x											

Individual Animal Tumor Patholog	gy of Ma	le	M	lic	e i	n 1	he	2-	Ye	ar	Fe	ed	St	ud	уo	of H	'he	no	lpł	ith	ale	ein	; () p	pn	1 (co	ontinued)
	7		7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	
Number of Days on Study	2	: :	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	
	9		9	9	9	9	9	9	9	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	
	()	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	Total
Carcass ID Number	3	3	3	3	3	3	4	4	4	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	2	2	3	3	4	4	4	4	4	5	Tissues/
	2	2	3	5	8	9	0	3	9	1	4	5	6	8	4	5	4	5	1	6	1	4	5	6	8	0	Tumors
Special Senses System																_											
Harderian gland																	+										3
Adenoma																	х										3
Urinary System																											
Kidney		ł	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	50
Transitional epithelium, carcinoma																											1
Urinary bladder		t	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	50
Systemic Lesions																											
Multiple organs		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	50
Histiocytic sarcoma																											1
Lymphoma malignant	2	X	Х			Х					Х																6

TABLE C2

Individual Animal Tumor Pathology of Male Mice in the 2-Yea	r Feed Study of Phenolphthalein: 3,000 ppm
---	--

																			-								
	ź	3										6	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	
Number of Days on Study	4	4	4	6	6	8	9	0	3	3	5	7	0	0	0	1	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	
		7	9	0	3	3	7	2	4	7	8	6	3	7	8	4	1	4	9	9	9	9	9	9	9	9	
	(0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	
Carcass ID Number		6	6	5	8	7	9	6	6	8	5	7	9	6	6	9	5	6	5	5	5	5	5	6	6	7	
	(6	8	3	5	3		5								1											
Alimentary System									_							-	-										
Esophagus		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+			+				+		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
Gallbladder		+	+	+	М	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+		+	+	A	+	м	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
Fibrosarcoma, metastatic, mesentery														X													
Intestine large, colon		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+				+		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
Intestine large, rectum		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
Intestine large, cecum		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	Α	+	+	+	+	+	Α	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
Carcinoma																											
Intestine small, duodenum		+	+	+	Α	+	+	+	+	+	Α	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
Fibrosarcoma, metastatic, mesentery														Х													
Histiocytic sarcoma															Х												
Intestine small, jejunum		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	Α	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
Intestine small, ileum		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
Liver		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
Fibrosarcoma, metastatic, mesentery														х													
Hemangiosarcoma													х														
Hemangiosarcoma, multiple																		х									
Hepatocellular carcinoma				х				х				х			х						х						
Hepatocellular carcinoma, multiple														х													
Hepatocellular adenoma					x	х	x				х			X			х		х			х					
Hepatocellular adenoma, multiple																			••								
Hepatocholangiocarcinoma												х															
Histiocytic sarcoma											х	~			х			х									
Sarcoma, metastatic, uncertain											~				~			~									
				х																							
primary site		+												4									.				
Mesentery		Ŧ	+	Ŧ								+		+ x									+				
Fibrosarcoma														л													
Hemangiosarcoma																											
Hepatocholangiocarcinoma, metastatic,																											
liver												Х															
Sarcoma, metastatic, uncertain																ç											
primary site				Х																							
Pancreas		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
Fibrosarcoma, metastatic, mesentery														Х													
Hepatocholangiocarcinoma, metastatic,																											
liver												Х															
Sarcoma, metastatic, uncertain																											
primary site				Х																							
Salivary glands		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
Stomach, forestomach		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
Stomach, glandular		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
Histiocytic sarcoma		·	-	·	•	•	•	•	-		•	-			x												
Tongue																											
Tooth		+	÷	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	• +	+	
Sarcoma, metastatic, uncertain		Τ.	r	T	T	т	T	т	T.	.г.	1.	1.	1-	r.	•	'						•		,			
primary site				x																							
primary site				Λ																							

	7	7	7	7	7 7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	1	7	
Number of Days on Study	2	2	2	2	2 2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	- 3	3	
	9	9	9	ç	9 9) .	9	9	9	9	9	9	9	9	9	9	9	9	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	()	
	0	0	0	() ()	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0) (0	Total
Carcass ID Number	7	7	7	7	7 8	8	8		8	8	8	8	9	9	9	9	9	0	5	6	7	7	7	8	9	9	9	Tissues/
	1	4	6	Ģ) ()			4	7		9	0	5	6	8	9	0	9	1	5	7	8	6	2		7	Tumors
Alimentary System																			-							_		
Esophagus	+	_	⊢	Ļ.	+ -	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	4		+ •	+	50
Gallbladder	+			- ·	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+		+			+			+	-		F	+	46
Fibrosarcoma, metastatic, mesentery																												1
Intestine large, colon	+	_	+ +	⊢ .	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	4		+ •	+	50
Intestine large, rectum	+	-	F -	-	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	- 4		+ •	+	50
Intestine large, cecum	+	-	F -	F -	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	-		+ •	+	48
Carcinoma																									2	C		1
Intestine small, duodenum	+	_	F -	F ·	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	-		+	+	48
Fibrosarcoma, metastatic, mesentery																												1
Histiocytic sarcoma																												1
Intestine small, jejunum	+	_	+ -	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+			+ -	+	49
Intestine small, ileum	+		+ -	F	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	· -I		+ -	+	50
Liver	+		+ -	F ·	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	1		+ ·		50
Fibrosarcoma, metastatic, mesentery								•		-	-	•			-	-	-									-		1
Hemangiosarcoma																												1
Hemangiosarcoma, multiple																												1
Hepatocellular carcinoma			2	ζ						х						х											х	9
Hepatocellular carcinoma, multiple			•	•						••						••												1
Hepatocellular adenoma									х															Х	7		х	11
Hepatocellular adenoma, multiple														х										•	-			1
Hepatocholangiocarcinoma																												1
Histiocytic sarcoma																												3
Sarcoma, metastatic, uncertain																												-
primary site																												1
Mesentery							+												+			+						- 9
Fibrosarcoma							•												•									1
Hemangiosarcoma																			х			х						2
Hepatocholangiocarcinoma, metastatic,																												_
liver																												1
Sarcoma, metastatic, uncertain																												•
primary site																												1
Pancreas	+		+ ·	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	• +			ł	+	+	50
Fibrosarcoma, metastatic, mesentery	•				•	·		·		•	·	•	•	•	•	·	•	•	•	•	'					•		1
Hepatocholangiocarcinoma, metastatic,																												•
liver																												1
Sarcoma, metastatic, uncertain																												•
primary site																												1
Salivary glands	L.	-	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	. +			+	+	+		. .			- .	+	+	+	50
Stomach, forestomach	т 4	-	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+		4	, ,	, .	· +	. +	. +	. .	4		. 4		+ •	+	+	+	50
Stomach, glandular	-	_	+	+	+	+	+	+	+		+			. + +			,				+	+	+	50
Histiocytic sarcoma	I			•	•	'	•	•		•	•	•	'	'	'	•	'	•	'		'			•	•	•	•	1
Tongue						+																						1
Tooth	L	_	+	+	+	+	+	+	+		Ŧ		د .					+						F .	+	+	+	50
Sarcoma, metastatic, uncertain	Т		'	•	L.	г	т	Τ'	r		r	-1	-1		r	Г	т	ſ	r	T	т				•	•	•	50
																												1
primary site																												1

TABLE C2

	2	- 5	5	- 5	5	5	6	6	6	6	6	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	
Number of Dava on Study													-	-					-				2			
Number of Days on Study	4	4	-	6		9					7							2	2	2	2	2	2	-	2	
	7	9	0	3	3	7	2	4	7	8	6	3	7	8	4	1	4	9	9	9	9	9	9	9	9	
	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	
Carcass ID Number	6	6	5	8	7	9	6	6	8	5	7	9	6	6	9	5	6	5	5	5	5	5	6	6	7	
	6	8	3	5	3	4	5	4	1	4	2	3	9	3	1	7	2	1	2	5	6	8	0	7	0	
Cardiovascular System																										
Heart	+	+	. +	. +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
Fibrosarcoma, metastatic, mesentery		'	'		'		'		'	'	'		x	•	'		•	'	'		•			•	'	
Hemangiosarcoma													Λ				х									
Sarcoma, metastatic, uncertain																	л									
			x																							
primary site			^																				_			
Endocrine System																										
Adrenal cortex	+	• +	• +	• +	· +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
Adenoma																										
Hepatocholangiocarcinoma, metastatic,																										
liver											Х															
Capsule, adenoma								х																		
Capsule, sarcoma, metastatic,																										
uncertain primary site			Х																							
Adrenal medulla	+	• +	• +	• +	• +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
Islets, pancreatic	+	- +	• +	- +	• +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
Parathyroid gland	+	• +	- +	- M	1 +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	Μ	
Pituitary gland	+	. +	• +	- +	• +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
Pars distalis, adenoma																						x				
Thyroid gland	+		• +	- +	. +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+		+	+	
Follicular cell, adenoma				X		-				-	-				-	-										
General Body System																										
Tissue NOS								+																		
Genital System																										
Epididymis	+	• -	- +	+	- +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	• +	+	
Fibrosarcoma, metastatic, mesentery													х													
Hepatocholangiocarcinoma, metastatic,																										
liver											х															
Leiomyoma						х																				
Preputial gland	+				- +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	· +	• +	+	
Prostate	- +		+		- +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	- +	- +	+	
Fibrosarcoma, metastatic, mesentery												-	x			-										
Seminal vesicle	-				- +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+		• +	
Fibrosarcoma, metastatic, mesentery						•	•	•	•	•	•	•	x	·	·	•										
Hepatocholangiocarcinoma, metastatic,													••													
liver											х															
	L	L					+	т	ъ	+	л +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+			. +	
Testes					-	-1	τ'	F	T												'					
Hematopoietic System																										
Bone marrow	-	+ -	+ -	+ -	+ +	• +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	• +			• +	
Hemangiosarcoma												X					••									
Histiocytic sarcoma													_				х									
Lymph node	-	ŀ	-	ł				+					+										-	-		
Iliac, fibrosarcoma, metastatic,																										
mesentery													х													
Mediastinal, sarcoma, metastatic,																										
uncertain primary site			2	ζ.																						

	~	~	~	-	_	_	-	~	~	~	~	-	-	-	-	-	-	~	~	~	~	~	-	~	-	
Number of Days on Study	7 2 9	7 2 9	2	2	2	2	2	7 2 9	7 2 9	7 2 9	2	2	2	7 2 9	2	2	7 2 9	7 3 0	7 3 0	7 3 0	7 3 0	7 3 0	7 3 0		7 3 0	
Carcass ID Number	7			7		8	8	8	0 8 7	8	8	9	9	0 9 6	9	0	1 0	0 5 9	6	7	7	7	8	0 9 2	9	Total Tissues/ Tumors
Cardiovascular System																										
Heart Fibrosarcoma, metastatic, mesentery Hemangiosarcoma Sarcoma, metastatic, uncertain primary site	+	• •		+ -	+ +	- 4	- +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	50 1 1
																										1
Endocrine System Adrenal cortex Adenoma Hepatocholangiocarcinoma, metastatic,	+	• - 1	+ -	+ -	+ -	⊦ ⊣	- +	+	+	+ x	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	50 1
liver Capsule, adenoma Capsule, sarcoma, metastatic,																			x							1 2
uncertain primary site																										1
Adrenal medulla	+	• -		+ •	+ -	+ +	- +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	50
Islets, pancreatic	+	• •		+ -	+ -	+ +	- +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	50
Parathyroid gland Binuingy gland	-1			+ - 1	+ - -	+ - L -	- +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	48 50
Pituitary gland Pars distalis, adenoma	+			• •	- -	- 1	- +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	50
Thyroid gland	4		⊢ -	+ -	+ -	+ +	- +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	50
Follicular cell, adenoma	'		•	•	•	• •	'	•	•		'	•	•	•	•	•	•	•		•	•	'	•		•	1
General Body System Tissue NOS																				<u> </u>					-	
Genital System																										50
Epididymis Eibrosarcoma metastatic mesenten	4		r -	+ .	+ -	+ +	- +	• +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	50 1
Fibrosarcoma, metastatic, mesentery Hepatocholangiocarcinoma, metastatic, liver																										1
Leiomyoma																										1
Preputial gland	4		+ •	+ •	+ •	+ -	⊦ +	• +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	50
Prostate	4		+ •	+ •	+ •	+ -	+ +	+	• +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	50
Fibrosarcoma, metastatic, mesentery																										1
Seminal vesicle	+		+ •	+ ·	+ •	+ -	+ +	• +	• +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	50
Fibrosarcoma, metastatic, mesentery Hepatocholangiocarcinoma, metastatic,																										1
liver Testes	-		+ •	+	+ ·	+ -	⊦ +	- +	• +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	• +	· +	• +	1 50
Hamada a siadia. Sustan			-																							
Hematopoietic System Bone marrow		L	L	+	.	+ •			• +	<u>н</u>	+	+	т	+	ъ	ъ	ъ	т	+	-	L.	L.		ب د .	.	50
Hemangiosarcoma	-			•	'		. 1	-1	Ŧ	т	Ŧ	Ŧ	т	т	T	Т.	т	т	т	T	Т	r	г	ſ	1-	1
Histiocytic sarcoma																										1
Lymph node																										5
Iliac, fibrosarcoma, metastatic,																										
mesentery																										1
Mediastinal, sarcoma, metastatic,																										
uncertain primary site																										1

														·				•					•			
Number of Days on Study	4		6	6	8	9	0	3	3	5	7	0	7 0 7	0	1	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	
Carcass ID Number	6	6	5	8	7	9	6	6	8	5	7	9	0 6 9	6	9	5	6	5	5	5	5	5	6	6	7	
Hematopoietic System (continued)						_									_											· · · · ·
Lymph node, mandibular	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
Histiocytic sarcoma										Х				х												
Lymph node, mesenteric	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
Fibrosarcoma, metastatic, mesentery Hepatocholangiocarcinoma, metastatic,													Х													
liver											х															
Histiocytic sarcoma										х	Λ			х												
Spleen	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+		+	+	+		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
Fibrosarcoma, metastatic, mesentery													Х													
Hemangiosarcoma											·	Х					Х							Х		
Histiocytic sarcoma									۰.	X				X					,					• -		
Fhymus Eibrogereeme metertetie meserter	+	М	+	+	+	+	+	+	м	+	+	+	+ X	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	м	+	
Fibrosarcoma, metastatic, mesentery													л		_											
Integumentary System	_		• -		-				• -				•									<u>.</u>	-	_	-	
Mammary gland													M													
Skin Subcutaneous tissue, histiocytic	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
salcoma														х												
Subcutaneous tissue, sarcoma,	•																									
metastatic, uncertain primary site			Х																							
Musculoskeletal System	_																									
Bone	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
Skeletal muscle											+													-		
Hepatocholangiocarcinoma, metastatic,																										
liver											Х															
Nervous System																										
Brain	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	÷	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	÷	+	+	+	+	+	+	•
Respiratory System									-	_													_			
Lung	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
Alveolar/bronchiolar adenoma							Х				Х				Х			Х	х							
Alveolar/bronchiolar carcinoma									х													Х				
Fibrosarcoma, metastatic, mesentery													х													
Hepatocellular carcinoma, metastatic, liver											x															
Histiocytic sarcoma										x	Λ			х												
Sarcoma, metastatic, uncertain										л				^												
primary site			х																							
Nose	+			+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	÷	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
Sarcoma, metastatic, uncertain																										
primary site			X																							
Trachea	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
Special Senses System																										
Ear					+			+																		
Harderian gland															+					+				+		
Adenoma															Х					х						

Number of Days on Study	7 2 9	7 2 9	7 2 9	2	7 2 9	7 2 9	2	2		2	2	2	2 2	77 22 999		7 2 9	7 3 0	3	7 3 0	7 3 0	7 3 0	7 3 0	3		3	
Carcass ID Number	0 7 1	0 7 4	7	7	0 8 0	0 8 2	8	8	8	8	8	9	9	99) 0) 9 ; 9	0	5	6		7	0 7 8		9	(9	Total Tissues/ Tumors
Hematopoietic System (continued)																										
Lymph node, mandibular	+	- +	- +	+ +	+	+	+	+	÷	+	+	+	+	+ •	+ +	+	+	+	+	+	+	-	+ -	+	+	50
Histiocytic sarcoma					,																					2
Lymph node, mesenteric Fibrosarcoma, metastatic, mesentery	+	• •	- 1		+	+	+	+	Ŧ	+	+	+	+	+ -	+ +	• +	+	+	+	+	+	-		F .	+	50 1
Hepatocholangiocarcinoma, metastatic, liver																										1
Histiocytic sarcoma																										2
Spleen	+	- +		+ +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+ ·	+ +	- +	+	+	+	+	+	-	⊦ -	F	+	50
Fibrosarcoma, metastatic, mesentery															_											1
Hemangiosarcoma															Х		Х									5
Histiocytic sarcoma Thymus	L				<u> </u>	Ŧ	Ъ	т	т	т	Ŧ	+	-	<u>ь</u> .	ь 4	.	+	м	· _	<u>т</u>	. .		+ -	L	т	2 46
Fibrosarcoma, metastatic, mesentery					Т	Т	Т	т	т	Т	T	1	1	T		Т		141	. т	Т	1		,	ſ	T	1
ntegumentary System Aammary gland	-	- M	1 N	им	ГМ	м	м	м	м	+	м	м	м	м	<u>и к</u>	1 N	ГМ	I M	M		I M	[]	<u>л</u>	л	м	6
kin Subcutaneous tissue, histiocytic				+ +																						50
sarcoma Subcutaneous tissue, sarcoma,																										1
metastatic, uncertain primary site																										1
Musculoskeletal System																										
Bone	4	- +		+ +	• +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+ +	- +	- +	+	+	• +	- +	• •	+ -	ł	+	50
Skeletal muscle Hepatocholangiocarcinoma, metastatic,																										1
liver																										1
Nervous System																										
Brain	-	- +		+ +	· +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+ +	⊢ - †	• +	• +	+	· +	• +		+ •	t	+	50
Respiratory System																										
Lung	-	+ +				+	+	+	+	+	+	+		+	+	- +	- +	• +	+	• +	- +			+	+	50
Alveolar/bronchiolar adenoma				X			v	Х		v	Х		Х										2	K		10
Alveolar/bronchiolar carcinoma Fibrosarcoma, metastatic, mesentery					Х		х			х																5 1
Hepatocellular carcinoma, metastatic, liver				ĸ											x											3
Histiocytic sarcoma			1	•											r h											2
Sarcoma, metastatic, uncertain																										-
primary site																										1
Nose	-	+ +	+ -	+ +	- +	• +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+ -	+ +	+ +	- +	• +			-	+	+	+	50
Sarcoma, metastatic, uncertain																										1
primary site Trachea		+ +	÷ ۰	+ +	+	• +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+ -	+ +	+ 4		+			-	+	+	+	1 50
					•		•		•															-		
Special Senses System Ear																										2
Harderian gland				-1																						4
Adenoma				Х																						3

194

TABLE C2

3	5	5	5	5	5	6	6	6	6	6	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	
4	4	6	6	8	9	0	3	3	5	7	0	0	0	1	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	
7	9	0	3	3	7	2	4	7	8	6	3	7	8	4	1	4	9	9	9	9	9	9	9	9	
0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	
6	6	5	8	7	9	6	6	8	5	7	9	6	6	9	5	6	5	5	5	5	5	6	6	7	
6	8	3	5	3	4	5	4	1	4	2	3	9	3	1	7	2	1	2	5	6	8	0	7	0	
+	+	+	• +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	• +	+	
													Х			Х									
		Х																							
+	+	+	• +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	• +	• +	• +	+	
+	+	+	• +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	• +	· +	• +	• +	+	
									Х				Х			Х									
v				Y	x		х							v								v	•		
	4 7 0 6 6 + +	0 0 6 6 6 8 + +	$ \begin{array}{r} 4 & 4 & 6 \\ 7 & 9 & 0 \\ \hline 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 6 & 6 & 5 \\ 6 & 8 & 3 \\ + & + & + \\ & & \\ & + & + & + \\ & & \\ & + & + & + \\ & + & + & + \\ \end{array} $	$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$																	

7777 7 7 7 7 7 7**7** 77 77 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 777 Number of Days on Study 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 Total **Carcass ID Number** 7 7 7 7 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 9 9 9 9 9 0 5 6 7 7 7 8 9 9 Tissues/ 1 4 6 9 0 2 3 4 7 8 9 0 5 6 8 9 0 9 1 5 7 8 6 2 7 Tumors **Urinary System** Kidney 50 Histiocytic sarcoma 2 Sarcoma, metastatic, uncertain primary site 1 Urinary bladder 50 Systemic Lesions Multiple organs + + ++ +50 Histiocytic sarcoma 3 Lymphoma malignant Х 8 Х

•

	4	4	Э	5	5	5	0	6	6	6	6	7	7	7	7 1	77	7	7	7	7	7		7	7	7	
Number of Days on Study	2	9	0	1	3	5	5	5	6	7	9	0	1	1	2 2	2 2	2	2	2	2	2	: :	2	2	2	
	3	5	0	5	5	6	7	9	5	3	6	0	3	6	9 9	99	9	9	9	9	9) (9	9	9	
	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1 1	1	1	1	1	1		1	1	1	
Carcass ID Number	0	2	1	4	5	1	0	2	3	0	3	2	1	2	0 (0 0	0	0	1	1	1		1	1	1	
	9													2	1 2	2 3	5									
Alimentary System																					_		~			
Esophagus	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+ +	+ +	+ +			⊦ -	+	+	+	+	
Gallbladder	+	M	(+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	Α	Α	+	+	+ +		+	+		+ +	+	+	М	+	
Intestine large, colon	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	Α	+	+	+	+ +		- +	• -+		+ +	ł	+	+	+	
Intestine large, rectum	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+ +	+ +	+ +			+ -	ł	+	+	+	
Fibrosarcoma, metastatic, mesentery										х																
Intestine large, cecum	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	Α	+	+	Α	Α	+	+	+ +	+ +	+ +			+ -	+	+	+	+	
Intestine small, duodenum	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+							+ +					+ -	÷	+	+	+	
Carcinoma																	2	C C								
Intestine small, jejunum	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	Α	Α	+	+	+ +		+ +	• +		+ -	ł	+	+	+	
Fibrosarcoma, metastatic, mesentery										х																
Osteosarcoma, metastatic, uncertain																										
primary site									х																	
Intestine small, ileum	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	Α	Α	+	+	+ +		+ +	• +		+ -	ł	+	+	+	
Liver	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+ +		+ +	• •		⊦ -	ł	+	+	+	
Fibrosarcoma, metastatic, mesentery										х																
Hemangiosarcoma																										
Hepatocellular carcinoma			Х			х									х		X	C								
Hepatocellular carcinoma, multiple										х																
Hepatocellular adenoma		Х	Х											х			Х	ζ.		X	C					
Histiocytic sarcoma									х			х	х					Х				2	х			
Osteosarcoma, metastatic, uncertain																										
primary site									х																	
Mesentery										+															+	
Fibrosarcoma										х																
Pancreas	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+ +		+ +	• +		+ -	F -	+	+	+	
Fibrosarcoma, metastatic, mesentery										х																
Salivary glands	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+ +		+ +	• +		⊦ -	H	+	+	+	
Stomach, forestomach	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+ +	+ +	+	• •		+ -	H	+	+	+	
Squamous cell papilloma																										
Stomach, glandular	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+ +		- +	• +		+ -	ŀ	+	+	+	
Tooth	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+ +		+ +	• +		+ -	+	+	+	+	
Cardiovascular System																										
Heart	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+ +		+ +			+ -	۲	+	+	+	
Endocrine System																										
Adrenal cortex	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+.	+	+ +	⊦ N	1 +	• +		⊦ -	ł	+	+	+	
Adrenal medulla	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+ +	⊦ N	14			⊦ -	ł	+	+	+	
Islets, pancreatic	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+ -	+ +	+ +			+ -	+	+	+	+	
Parathyroid gland	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	Μ	+	+	+	+	+ -	⊢ +	+ +			+ -	+	+	+	+	
Pituitary gland	+	· +	+	+	+	+	+	+	-	M		+	+	+	-	+ -	+ -	+ +			+ -	+	+	+	+	
Thyroid gland	+	• +	• +	+	+	+	+	+	+		+	+		+			+ -	+ +			+ -	+	+	+	+	
Follicular cell, adenoma						-							x										x			

TABLE C2 Individual Animal Tumor Pathology of Male Mice in the 2-Year Feed Study of Phenolobthaleir 6 000

196

Individual Animal Tumor Pathology of Male Mice in the 2-Year Feed Study of Phenolphthalein: 6,000 ppm (continued)

Number of Days on Study	7 2 9	2		!		2	2	2 9	2	7 2 9	2	2	2		2	2	2	2	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	7 3 0	
Carcass ID Number	1	122	2 2	2	2	2	2	1 3 0	3	3	3	1 3 8	4	4	4	4	4	4	0	2	3	3	3	4	4	4	Total Tissues/ Tumors
Alimentary System					_				_											_							
Esophagus	+		+ •	ŀ	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	- +	- +	- 50
Gallbladder	+		+ -	⊦	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	• +	- +	46
Intestine large, colon	+		+ •	ł	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	• +	- +	- 49
Intestine large, rectum	+		+ •	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+		- +	- 50
Fibrosarcoma, metastatic, mesentery																											1
Intestine large, cecum	-+		+ •	÷	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+		- +	- 47
Intestine small, duodenum	+		+ •	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+		- +	- 48
Carcinoma					•	•	•	·	•		•		•	•	·	•	•	•		•	•	•					1
Intestine small, jejunum	4		+ •	+	+	÷	÷	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	-		∔	
Fibrosarcoma, metastatic, mesentery	,		•	'	•	•	,	'	,	'	,	•	,	'	,	,	'	'	,	•	•	,	,	'		,	1
Osteosarcoma, metastatic, uncertain primary site																											1
Intestine small, ileum		_	. .	Ŧ	+	J.	<u>ــ</u>	÷	₊	л.	Т	Т	ــ	±.	ъ	<u>.</u>	л.	т	.بد	Т	ъ		L.	بر .		ر _	- 48
Liver	г 1		т. Г.	т л	т 1	- -	т	т _	Ţ	т 1	т 	T T	т 1	т 	Ť	- T - J	Ť	T T	T	т 	т -	т +	т 	т L		г т 	- 50
Fibrosarcoma, metastatic, mesentery	г	-	τ '	т	Ŧ	т	Ŧ	т	т	т	т	т	Ŧ	т	т	т	Ŧ	т	т	т	Ŧ	т	т	-		г т	1
· · · ·			x											x													2
Hemangiosarcoma			Λ.											л													
Hepatocellular carcinoma																											4
Hepatocellular carcinoma, multiple																											1
Hepatocellular adenoma						Х											Х				Х						8
Histiocytic sarcoma			X						x	х						х			Х								10
Osteosarcoma, metastatic, uncertain primary site																											1
Mesentery					+										+												4
Fibrosarcoma																											1
Pancreas	-	F	+	t	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	- +		+ +	- 50
Fibrosarcoma, metastatic, mesentery																											1
Salivary glands	4	۲	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	- 1		F 4	- 50
Stomach, forestomach	-	F	+ -	+	+	+	+	+	÷	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+		- 4	+ +	- 50
Squamous cell papilloma																		Х								Х	2
Stomach, glandular	4	F	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+			⊢ ⊣	- 50
Tooth	4	F	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	- +		- 1	- 50
Cardiovascular System																											
Heart		F	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+			+ -	- 50
Endocrine System																											
Adrenal cortex	-	⊦	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+		+ -	+ +	- 49
Adrenal medulla	-	ŀ	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+		⊦ -	+ +	- 49
Islets, pancreatic	-	⊦	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	• +	+ -	+ +	F 50
Parathyroid gland	-	۲	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	Μ	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	- +	• +	+ -	+ +	- 48
Pituitary gland	-	ŀ	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	· +		⊦ -	+ -	+ 49
Thyroid gland	-	ł	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	· +		⊦ -	+ -	F 50
Follicular cell, adenoma																											2

None

		_		_	_	_					_									_						
	4	. 4	1 :	5	5 5	5	5 6	6	6	6	6	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	
Number of Days on Study	2	. 9) ()	1 3	3	5 5	5	6	7	9	0	1	1	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	
	3		5 ()	5 5	5 (67	9	5	3	6	0	3	6	9	9	9	9	9	9	9	9	9	9	9	
	1	1	1	1	1 1	1	1 1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	
Carcass ID Number	0				4 5	-	1 0				3	2	1					0			1					
	9	-		-		-			3					_												
Genital System				_			-	-	_			-					_	_	-							
Epididymis	+	- .	÷ .	+	+ -	+	+ -	⊦ +	• +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
Fibrosarcoma, metastatic, mesentery			-		-					x	•	•	•	·	•	•	·	•	•	•	·	•		•	•	
Preputial gland	+		+ .	+	÷ -	+ .	<u>ل</u>	- +	• +		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	Ŧ	+	+	+	-	-	
Fibrosarcoma, metastatic, skin			•	•			x		'	'	•	'	'	'	'		•			'	-	'		-	т	
Prostate	ب	_	L .		<u> </u>		n. + +			+	+	+	.1		+	н.					,					
Seminal vesicle	T L			т 1	т. т.			г т ∟			т _	т _	+	T	+ +	Ŧ	Ŧ	-	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
	т		т ·	T	τ.	+	+ -	+ +	• +		+	Ŧ	Ŧ	Ŧ	Ŧ	Ŧ	+	+	+	+	+	+	Ŧ	+	+	
Fibrosarcoma, metastatic, mesentery		L								x								,								
Testes	+		+ -	t	+ •	+	+ -	+ +	• +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
Hemangiosarcoma																										
Hematopoietic System																										
Bone marrow	+		+ -	+	+ -	+ ·	+ +	+ +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
Hemangiosarcoma																										
Histiocytic sarcoma												х	х						х							
Lymph node									+	+	+		-	+					+						+	
Iliac, histiocytic sarcoma									-			x		-					x							
Renal, histiocytic sarcoma																									х	
Renal, osteosarcoma, metastatic,																										
uncertain primary site									х																	
Lymph node, mandibular	т		÷ -	+	+ -	+	+ -			+	+	Ŧ	+	+	+	+	+	+	ъ	т	+	+	+	+	+	
Lymph node, mesenteric	т 1		 _	Ļ		÷	с 1 ц 4	. – L _L	· +	M	+	Ă	+	+	т. Т	+	-	+	+	T	т -	т -	т -	т 	т 	
Histiocytic sarcoma	т			r	· ·	e '	r T	-	x		т	Α	x	Ŧ	T.	1	Ŧ	T	x	Ŧ	т	Τ'	т.	Ŧ	v	
					L							,		4	+			,							X	
Spleen	+		r .	T I	· ·	- ·	+ -	+ +	+	+	+	+	+	+	Ŧ	Ŧ	Ŧ	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
Hemangiosarcoma									v				v	Х											v	
Histiocytic sarcoma									X				X			• •			X				• •		X	
Гhymus	+	• •	+ •	+	+ •	+	+ -	+ +	• +	+	+	+	+	+	М	М	М	+	+	+	+	+	М	+	+	
Integumentary System																										
Mammary gland	M	11	1 -	+ 1	MN	M	+ N	1 M	1 M	Μ	Μ	М	Μ	+	М	М	Μ	Μ	М	+	М	Μ	Μ	Μ	М	
Skin									• +																	
Subcutaneous tissue, fibrosarcoma							X																			
Subcutaneous tissue, hemangiosarcoma				2	x	-								х							х					
Subcutaneous tissue, histiocytic				-	-																					
sarcoma																										
				_					_					-	_											
Musculoskeletal System																										
Bone	+	+ ·	+ ·	ł	+ •	+	+ -	+ +	• +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
Skeletal muscle										+																
Fibrosarcoma, metastatic, mesentery										X																
Nervous System									_									_					_	_		
Brain	+	⊢ ·	+ •	+	+ •	+	+ •	+ +	• +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
			-		-	-			•	•	•	•	•	•		•		•	•				•		•	

	-																		_								
						7		7																-		7	
Number of Days on Study	2	2			-														3	3	3	3	3	3		3	
	9	9	9	•	9	9	9	9	9	9	9	9	9	9	9	9	9	9	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	
	1	1	1	l	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	Total
Carcass ID Number	1	2	2	2	2	2	2	3	3	3	3	3	4	4	4			4	0	2	3	3	3	4	4	4	Tissues/
	7	0	3	3	6	7	8	0	2	4	6	8	2	3	4	5	6	9	4			5	9	0	1	7	Tumors
Genital System				•												-											
Epididymis	+		+ -	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	50
Fibrosarcoma, metastatic, mesentery																											1
Preputial gland	+		- -	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	м	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	49
Fibrosarcoma, metastatic, skin			-	-																							1
Prostate	+		ь.	÷	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	50
Seminal vesicle	_		, F.,	+	+	+	+	+	+	÷	÷	+	+	+	+	+	÷	÷	÷	+	+	+	+	+		. +	50
Fibrosarcoma, metastatic, mesentery	,		•	•	•	•	•	•	•	'	•	'			•	•		•	,	•	•		•		•		1
Testes	L		ь.	<u>.</u>	т.	т.	т	<u>т</u>	т	т	т	т	Ŧ	Ŧ	Т	т	т	Т	т	Т	+	ъ	<u>т</u>	ъ	-	. т	50
	т		r	Ŧ	T.	т	Ŧ	Ŧ	X	T.	т.	- T -	.т.	Т	т	1	4	т	.1	1		т	1		1	T	1
Hemangiosarcoma		_							Λ																		1
Hematopoietic System																											_
Bone marrow	+	• •	+ •	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	• +	50
Hemangiosarcoma											х																1
Histiocytic sarcoma																Х			х								5
Lymph node	+				+					+				+	+	+								+			14
Iliac, histiocytic sarcoma																											2
Renal, histiocytic sarcoma																Х											2
Renal, osteosarcoma, metastatic,																											
uncertain primary site																											1
Lymph node, mandibular	+		+ •	+	+	М	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	• +	49
Lymph node, mesenteric	+		+ •	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	• +	48
Histiocytic sarcoma																											4
Spleen	4		÷ .	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	-	. +	50
Hemangiosarcoma				'		•	•	,	•		•	•	•	•	•	•	•		•	•		Ċ		•	•	•	1
Histiocytic sarcoma									x							х											6
Thymus	د.	L .	+ -	т	т	ъ	+		+	ъ	т	+	-	Ŧ	Ŧ		Ŧ	Ŧ	м	+	+	+	м	г н	- н	• +	
	ר 		г ·	Τ	т		т	Τ.		т	т —	т	т	т	т	т	т	т	141	т	т	т	141		т 	- -	
Integumentary System																											
Mammary gland																										í M	
Skin	-		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	- +	- +	
Subcutaneous tissue, fibrosarcoma																											1
Subcutaneous tissue, hemangiosarcoma																											3
Subcutaneous tissue, histiocytic																											
sarcoma																х											1
Musculoskeletal System																											
Bone	_	F	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+		- +	50
Skeletal muscle			•	·	•	•	•	•	'		•	,	•	•			•	•		•	•	•		•			1
Fibrosarcoma, metastatic, mesentery																											1
Nervous System																											
Brain	_	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	4			+ +	50
L'I GIU		•	•	Г.	1	f.					- T.	- P.	- T.	- P.									- 1				50

TABLE C2

Number of Days on Study	4 2 3	4 9 5	() 1	1 :	3	5 :	5 :	5 (6	7	6 9 6	0	7 1 3	7 1 6	2	7 2 9										
Carcass ID Number	1 0 9	-	1	1 1 1 4) 8	4 :	1 5 0	1 1 (9 (1 1 0 2 6 4		1 3 3	-	1 3 7	1 2 1	1 1 8	-	•	1 0 2	1 0 3	1 0 5	1 0 7	1 1 1	1 1 2	1 1 3	1 1 4	1	1 1 6	
Respiratory System Lung Alveolar/bronchiolar adenoma Alveolar/bronchiolar carcinoma Carcinoma, metastatic, harderian gland			 	+ -	+	+	+		+ X	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+ x	Х	+	+	+ x		- +	4	-
Hepatocellular carcinoma, metastatic, liver Histiocytic sarcoma Nose Trachea	-1 +		⊢ ·	+ •	+ +	+ +	+ +	+ +	++	+ +	+ +	+ +	+ +	+ +	++	+ +	+ +	++	X + +	X + +	+ +	+ +	++	+	· + · +	• •	-
Special Senses System Harderian gland Adenoma Carcinoma											,																
Urinary System Kidney Histiocytic sarcoma Renal tubule, adenoma	-		 	+ ·	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+ x x	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	. +		-
Urinary bladder	-		۰ ۲	+ •	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	A	A	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	• +		-
Systemic Lesions Multiple organs Histiocytic sarcoma Lymphoma malignant	- X		+ +	+ · x	+	+ x		+ x :		+ X	+	+ x	+ x	+ x	+	+	+	+	+	+ x			+ x	+ X		 X	

7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 777 77 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 Number of Days on Study 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 9 9 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 1 Total 1 1 1 **Carcass ID Number** 1 2 2 2 2 2 3 3 3 3 3 4 4 4 4 4 4 0 2 3 3 3 4 4 4 Tissues/ 7 0 3 6 7 8 0 2 4 6 8 2 3 4 5 6 9 4 9 1 5 9 0 1 7 Tumors **Respiratory System** 50 Lung + + ++ + + + + + + + + + + + Alveolar/bronchiolar adenoma Х 4 Alveolar/bronchiolar carcinoma Х ХХ 4 Carcinoma, metastatic, harderian Х 1 gland Hepatocellular carcinoma, metastatic, 1 liver Histiocytic sarcoma Х Х х 4 50 Nose + + + + 50 Trachea + ++ + + + + + + **Special Senses System** Harderian gland + + + 4 + 2 хх Adenoma Carcinoma Х Х 2 **Urinary System** 50 Kidney 2 Histiocytic sarcoma Х Renal tubule, adenoma 2 x Urinary bladder + + 48 + + + + +++ + + + Systemic Lesions 50 Multiple organs + + + + + ++ ++ + + + + + + + + х Histiocytic sarcoma х хх х 11 х х 12 Lymphoma malignant хх

TABLE C2

	-	-	-	-						-		_	-	-	-	-		-	5	-	-	_	_		
Number of Dove on Stade													7		-					7	7	7			
Number of Days on Study	0	-	4	8	3	4	4		9	0	1	2	2		2			2	2	2	2	2	_	2	
	3	2	9	5	9	5	6	2	9	3	4	0	3	9	9	9	9	9	9	9	9	9	9	9	
	2	1	• 1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1			1	1		1	1	1	1	1	1	
Carcass ID Number	0	5	9	9	8	9	9	9	5	9	6	7	7	5	5	5	5		5	5	6	6	6	6	
													7	1	2		5	6				-	-	-	
		- ,																_	_				_	_	
Alimentary System																									
Esophagus	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+		+		+				+		+	+	+	+	+	
Gallbladder	A		+	+	+	+			Α				+				+	Μ	+	Μ	+	+	+	+	
Intestine large, colon	A		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
Intestine large, rectum	A		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
Intestine large, cecum	A		+	+	+	+	Α				+	Α	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
Intestine small, duodenum	A		+	+	+				+								+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
Intestine small, jejunum	A		+	+	+				+					+		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
Intestine small, ileum	Α		+	+	+	+	Α		•					+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+		+	
Liver	+	+	+	+		+	+	+	+	+			+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
Hepatocellular carcinoma					х		х				х													Х	
Hepatocellular adenoma		Х					х					х													
Hepatocellular adenoma, multiple																									
Histiocytic sarcoma			Х			Х		Х	Х	Х	х		Х					х				х			
Mesentery						+																	+		
Pancreas	+	+			+	+	+	+		+		+	+	+	+	+ -	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
Histiocytic sarcoma			Х						х		х											х			
Salivary glands	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
Hemangiosarcoma																				Х					
Stomach, forestomach	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
Squamous cell carcinoma																									
tomach, glandular	Α	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
Squamous cell carcinoma, metastatic,																	-								
stomach, forestomach																									
looth	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
Cardiovascular System																									
Blood vessel							+																		
Heart	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
Histiocytic sarcoma		-	x	-		x			x	-	-	-		-	-	-	-	-	-	,	-	-	-	-	
Endoaring Sustan														_											
Endocrine System																				,					
Adrenal cortex	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
Adrenal medulla	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
slets, pancreatic	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	++	+ M	+	+		+			+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
Parathyroid gland Pituitary gland	+	+	+	+	+	+							+					+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
	+	+	+	+	+	+	+			++		++	+				+		++	+	+	+	+	+	
hyroid gland	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	Ŧ	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
General Body System None																									
Genital System																									
Epididymis	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
Histiocytic sarcoma								-	x	-		-	-	,	<i>.</i>	~			-	-	-	-	-		
Preputial gland	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
Prostate	.+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
Seminal vesicle	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
Testes		, í		-	-			-	-	-	+	-	-	-	+			-	-	-	-	-	+		

Individual Animal Tumor Pathology of Male Mice in the 2-Year Feed Study of Phenolphthalein: 12,000 ppm

_-

85	,																									
	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7 1	7 7	77	7	7	7	7	7	1	7	7	7	
Number of Days on Study	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2			2	2	2	3 3	3 3	33	3	3	3	3	3	1 1	3	3	3	
	9	9	9	9	9	9	9	9	9	9	9	9	9 (0 (0 0	0 0	0	0	0	0	C) (0	0	0	
	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1 1	1 1	1	1	1	1	1		1	1	1	Total
Carcass ID Number	- 7	7	7	8	8	8						9			66									9		Tissues/
	, 0	4	6	-			4					4				3 9							-	1		Tumors
				Ľ.		_		5	<u> </u>															•	, 	Tumors
Alimentary System																										10
Esophagus Gallbladder	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+			+				- +	_			+ ·	+	+	+	49
	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+ ·	+ -		- +	· N	1 -		+ ·	+	+	+	41
Intestine large, colon Intestine large, rectum	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+ •	+ -		- +	• •			+ ·	+	+	+	48
Intestine large, recum	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	++	+	+	+	+	+	+	+ ·	+ -		- +	• •			+ •	+	+	+	48
Intestine small, duodenum	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+ •	+ -		- +				+	+	+	+	45 46
Intestine small, jejunum	+ +	+ +	+ +	- -	т _	т _	+	+	+	т _	+ +	+	+	+	+ ·	+ -							+	+	+	40
Intestine small, jejunum		- -	+ +	+ +	+ +	+ +	т _	+ +	+	т _	+	т _		+	-	•						- -	- -	+	+	40
Liver		+ +	+	+	+ +	+	т 	+	т 1	т _	T L	т _	т _	т _					• -			T L	+ +	+	- -	40
Hepatocellular carcinoma	т	т	x	т	т	т	т	Ŧ	т	т	т	т	т	т	Τ '	Τ -						•	x	т	-	49
Hepatocellular adenoma				x	х	x				х				х				^		•			n.			9
Hepatocellular adenoma, multiple			л	л	л	л				Λ				л		x										1
Histiocytic sarcoma					х				х					х		n.										12
Mesentery	+								~					^												3
Pancreas		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+ -	⊢ -	⊢ -∔		L -	⊾.	+	+	+	+	49
Histiocytic sarcoma		•	•	·	·	·	•	·	·	·	•	•	•	•	•	•						•	•	•	'	4
Salivary glands	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+ -	+ -	⊢ ⊣			F -	+	+	+	+	49
Hemangiosarcoma						·			·	·	•	•	•	•	•	•				,		•	•	·	·	1
Stomach, forestomach	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+ -	+ •	⊦ -			+ -	F -	+	+	+	+	49
Squamous cell carcinoma																						-			x	1
Stomach, glandular	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+ •	F -	- +		⊢ -	+ -	+	+	+	+	48
Squamous cell carcinoma, metastatic,																										
stomach, forestomach																									х	1
Tooth	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+ -	+ -	+ +		+ -	+ •	+	+	+	+	49
Cardiovascular System						<u> </u>																				
Blood vessel																										1
Heart	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+ -	+ -	+ +		⊦ -	+ •	+	+	+	+	49
Histiocytic sarcoma																										3
Endoaring System		—	—																							
Endocrine System Adrenal cortex	ــ	. т	-	-	т	+	М	т	+	т	+	-	т	-	<u>н</u>	н	L .		_	L .	L .	L	T	т	т	48
Adrenal medulla	T 1	. I	+ +	+ +	+ +	+	M		+	+	+	+	т _	т 1	т 1	+ ·		г 1 ∟ ј			г : L	т ⊥	т _	т _	+	48
Islets, pancreatic	т 	. <u>+</u>	- T - L	- -	+ +	+ +	141	- -	т -	+ +	т -	+ +	т _	т _	т _	т. т.		г 1 ∟ Ј		г : L .	г	T-	т -	т _	т _	48 49
Parathyroid gland	- -	. м	+ +	+	+	+	+	м	+	+	+	+	+	M	+	+ -	- ·	 + -			- ·	+	+	+	+	49
Pituitary gland	+		+					+	+	+	+					+ •		 + -				+	+		+	48
Thyroid gland	+			+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+ •	+ ·	+ +		+ •	+	+	+		+	40
General Body System																										
None																										
Genital System																										
Epididymis	+	. +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+ -	÷ •	+ +	⊢ -	+ •	+	+	+	+	+	49
Histiocytic sarcoma				•		•	'	•			•		•	•	•	•	•	-			-	•	•	•	•	1
Preputial gland	+	• +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+ •	+ •	+ +	+ -	+ •	+	+	+	+	+	49
Prostate	+	· +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+ •	+ •	+ +		+ •	+	+	+	+	+	49
Seminal vesicle	+	• +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+ -	+ •	+ +	F -	+ •	+	+	+	+	+	49
		-	-																							

	0 5 5 5 6 6 6 6 6 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7	
Number of Days on Study	0 2 4 8 3 4 4 5 9 0 1 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2	
	3 2 9 5 9 5 6 2 9 3 4 0 3 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9	
	2 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	
Carcass ID Number	0 5 9 9 8 9 9 9 5 9 6 7 7 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 6 6 6 6	
	0 7 5 2 3 9 8 3 4 0 4 3 7 1 2 3 5 6 8 9 0 1 2 6	
Hematopoietic System		
Bone marrow	+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +	
Histiocytic sarcoma	X X X X	
Mast cell tumor malignant		
Lymph node	+ + +	
Iliac, histiocytic sarcoma		
Inguinal, mast cell tumor malignant,		
metastatic, bone marrow		
Pancreatic, histiocytic sarcoma		
ymph node, mandibular	+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +	
Histiocytic sarcoma	XXXXXX	
Lymph node, mesenteric	+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +	
Histiocytic sarcoma	X X X X X X X	
pleen	+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +	
Hemangiosarcoma		
Histiocytic sarcoma	X X X X X X X	
hymus	+ + + + + M + + + + + + + + + M + + + I + +	
Histiocytic sarcoma	XX	
ntegumentary System		
Mammary gland	M M M + + M M M M M + M M M M M M + M +	
kin	+++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++	
Musculoskeletal System		
Bone	+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +	
Skeletal muscle	+	
Nervous System		
Brain	+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +	
Respiratory System		
Lung	+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +	
Alveolar/bronchiolar adenoma	X X XX	
Alveolar/bronchiolar adenoma,		
multiple	X X	
Alveolar/bronchiolar carcinoma	XXX	
Alveolar/bronchiolar carcinoma,		
multiple		
Hepatocellular carcinoma, metastatic,		
liver	X X	
Histiocytic sarcoma	X X X X X X X X	
lose	+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +	
Frachea	+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +	
Special Senses System		
	+	
Harderian gland Adenoma	+ X	

Individual Animal Tumor Pathology of Male Mice in the 2-Year Feed Study of Phenolphthalein: 12,000 ppm (continued) 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7. 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 Number of Days on Study 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 33 3 3 3 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 Total Carcass ID Number 7 7 7 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 9 9 6 6 6 677777899 Tissues/ 0 4 6 0 1 2 4 5 6 7 8 4 6 3 5 8 9 1 2 5 8 9 9 1 7 Tumors Hematopoietic System 49 Bone marrow + + + + Х 5 Histiocytic sarcoma х Mast cell tumor malignant Х 1 9 Lymph node + + + +Iliac, histiocytic sarcoma х 1 Inguinal, mast cell tumor malignant, Х metastatic, bone marrow 1 Pancreatic, histiocytic sarcoma 1 х Lymph node, mandibular 49 Histiocytic sarcoma 4 49 Lymph node, mesenteric + 7 Histiocytic sarcoma X 49 Spleen + Hemangiosarcoma Х 1 Х 9 Histiocytic sarcoma Thymus + + + M + + + + +Μ ΜI 42 Histiocytic sarcoma 2 **Integumentary System** 8 Mammary gland мммммммм + мммм + ммммммммммм 49 Skin + **Musculoskeletal System** Bone 48 + + + + Skeletal muscle 1 **Nervous System** 49 Brain + + + + + +**Respiratory System** 49 Lung + + + + + Alveolar/bronchiolar adenoma х х ххх х 10 Alveolar/bronchiolar adenoma, multiple 2 Alveolar/bronchiolar carcinoma Х Х 4 Alveolar/bronchiolar carcinoma, Х 1 multiple Hepatocellular carcinoma, metastatic, х 3 liver Histiocytic sarcoma Х 9 Nose 49 + + + 49 Trachea + **Special Senses System** 3 Harderian gland + + 1 Adenoma х 1 Carcinoma

.

206

TABLE C2

															_		_	_						_	
	0	5	5	5	6	6	6	6	6	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	
Number of Days on Study	0	2	4	8	3	4	4	5	9	0	1	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	
	3	2	9	5	9	5	6	2	9	3	4	0	3	9	9	9	9	9	9	9	9	9	9	9	
	2	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	
Carcass ID Number	0	5	9	9	8	9	9	9	5	9	6	7	7	5	5	5	5	5	5	5	6	6	6	6	•
	0	7	5	2	3	9	8	3	4	0	4	3	7	1	2	3	5	6	8	9	0	1	2	6	
Urinary System							_																	_	
Kidney	-	+ +	• +	• +	• +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	• -	-
Histiocytic sarcoma									Х		Х														
Squamous cell carcinoma, metastatic, stomach, forestomach																									
Urinary bladder	4	+ +	• +	- +	• +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+		F
Systemic Lesions																									
Multiple organs	-	+ +	• +	- +	• +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+		-
Histiocytic sarcoma			Х			Х		Х	Х	Х	Х		Х					Х				Х			
Lymphoma malignant																			Х				Х	2	<u> </u>

777 777 Number of Days on Study Total **Carcass ID Number** 7 7 7 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 9 9 6 6 6 6 7 7 7 7 7 8 9 9 Tissues/ 0 4 6 0 1 2 4 5 6 7 8 4 6 3 5 8 9 1 2 5 8 9 9 1 7 Tumors **Urinary System** Kidney 49 + + + + + Histiocytic sarcoma 3 Squamous cell carcinoma, metastatic, stomach, forestomach х 1 Urinary bladder 49 + + Systemic Lesions Multiple organs 49 + + + + + + + + + + + + ++ + + + Histiocytic sarcoma х х 12 Х Х Lymphoma malignant х Х х Х 8

Statistical Analysis of Primary Neoplasms in Male Mice in the 2-Year Feed Study of Phenolphthalein

	0 ppm	3,000 ppm	6,000 ppm	12,000 ppm
Adrenal Cortex: Adenoma				
Dverall rate ^a	1/49 (2%)	3/50 (6%)	0/49 (0%)	0/48 (0%)
Adjusted rate ^b	2.5%	8.2%	0.0%	0.0%
reminal rate ^c	1/40 (3%)	2/33 (6%)	0/35 (0%)	0/35 (0%)
irst incidence (days)	729 (T)	634	_e	0/33 (0/0)
life table test ^d	P=0.168N	P=0.255	P=0.527N	P=0.527N
ogistic regression test ^d	P = 0.158N	P = 0.308	P = 0.527N	P = 0.527N
ochran-Armitage test ^d	P = 0.156N	1-0.508	1 = 0.52710	1-0.5271
isher exact test ^d	1 -0.1500	P=0.316	P=0.500N	P=0.505N
arderian Gland: Adenoma				
verall rate	3/50 (6%)	3/50 (6%)	2/50 (4%)	1/49 (2%)
djusted rate	7.5%	8.7%	5.6%	2.8%
erminal rate	3/40 (8%)	2/33 (6%)	2/36 (6%)	1/36 (3%)
irst incidence (days)	729 (T)	714	729 (T)	729 (T)
ife table test	P=0.215N	P=0.574	P=0.548N	P=0.343N
ogistic regression test	P=0.208N	P=0.613	P=0.548N	P=0.343N
ochran-Armitage test	P=0.199N			
isher exact test		P=0.661N	P=0.500N	P=0.316N
Iarderian Gland: Adenoma or Carcinoma				
Overall rate	3/50 (6%)	3/50 (6%)	4/50 (8%)	2/49 (4%)
djusted rate	7.5%	8.7%	11.1%	5.6%
erminal rate	3/40 (8%)	2/33 (6%)	4/36 (11%)	2/36 (6%)
irst incidence (days)	729 (T)	714	729 (T)	729 (T)
ife table test	P = 0.451N	P=0.574	P = 0.442	P=0.548N
ogistic regression test	P = 0.444N	P=0.613	P=0.442	P=0.548N
ochran-Armitage test	P = 0.431N			
sher exact test		P=0.661N	P=0.500	P=0.510N
viver: Hepatocellular Adenoma				10/40 (00.00)
Overall rate	22/50 (44%)	12/50 (24%)	8/50 (16%)	10/49 (20%)
Adjusted rate	53.5%	29.3%	19.6%	25.0%
erminal rate	21/40 (53%)	6/33 (18%)	5/36 (14%)	7/36 (19%)
First incidence (days)	582 R=0.017N	563 P=0.103N	495 P=0.006N	522 P=0.022N
ife table test	P = 0.017N P = 0.010N	P=0.032N	P = 0.000 N P = 0.003 N	P = 0.022N P = 0.011N
ogistic regression test Cochran-Armitage test	P = 0.010N P = 0.010N	1 -0.03211	1 -0.0051	1-0.0111
Fisher exact test	1 -0.01010	P=0.028N	P=0.002N	P=0.010N
Liver: Hepatocellular Carcinoma				
Overall rate	8/50 (16%)	10/50 (20%)	5/50 (10%)	9/49 (18%)
djusted rate	19.5%	25.0%	11.8%	22.0%
'erminal rate	7/40 (18%)	5/33 (15%)	2/36 (6%)	5/36 (14%)
First incidence (days)	727	560	500	639
Life table test	P=0.508	P=0.275	P=0.343N	P=0.420
ogistic regression test	P=0.533	P=0.385	P=0.273N	P=0.474
Cochran-Armitage test	P=0.533			
Fisher exact test		P=0.398	P=0.277N	P=0.482

TABLE	C3
-------	----

Statistical Analysis of Primary Neoplasms in Male Mice in the 2-Year Feed Study of Phenolphthalein (continued)

	0 ppm	3,000 ppm	6,000 ppm	12,000 ppm
Liver: Hepatocellular Adenoma or Carcinoma		<u></u>		
Diversil rate	27/50 (54%)	20/50 (40%)	11/50 (22%)	16/49 (33%)
Adjusted rate	64.2%	45.3%	25.8%	38.4%
Ferminal rate	25/40 (63%)	10/33 (30%)	6/36 (17%)	11/36 (31%)
First incidence (days)	582	560	495	522
Life table test	P = 0.033N	P=0.341N	P = 0.005N	P = 0.060N
ogistic regression test	P = 0.016N	P = 0.123N	P = 0.005 N	P = 0.026N
Cochran-Armitage test	P = 0.016N	1-0.12514	1-0.00110	1 -0.02010
isher exact test	1-0.0101	P=0.115N	P<0.001N	P=0.026N
ung: Alveolar/bronchiolar Adenoma				
liverall rate	8/50 (16%)	10/50 (20%)	4/50 (8%)	12/49 (24%)
djusted rate	20.0%	27.0%	10.5%	30.6%
erminal rate	8/40 (20%)	7/33 (21%)	3/36 (8%)	9/36 (25%)
irst incidence (days)	729 (T)	602	659	699
life table test	P=0.211	P=0.255	P=0.229N	P=0.162
ogistic regression test	P=0.225	P=0.352	P = 0.203N	P = 0.185
Cochran-Armitage test	P = 0.225 P = 0.226			
isher exact test	1 - 0.220	P=0.398	P=0.178N	P=0.212
.ung: Alveolar/bronchiolar Carcinoma				
Overall rate	3/50 (6%)	5/50 (10%)	4/50 (8%)	5/49 (10%)
djusted rate	6.5%	14.2%	11.1%	13.5%
erminal rate	0/40 (0%)	4/33 (12%)	4/36 (11%)	4/36 (11%)
irst incidence (days)	550	637	729 (T)	720
ife table test	P=0.324	P=0.291	P = 0.450	P=0.314
ogistic regression test	P=0.335	P=0.361	P = 0.505	P=0.349
Cochran-Armitage test	P=0.337			
isher exact test		P=0.357	P=0.500	P=0.346
ung: Alveolar/bronchiolar Adenoma or Carcinom	a			
Overall rate	11/50 (22%)	15/50 (30%)	8/50 (16%)	16/49 (33%)
adjusted rate	25.2%	39.7%	21.3%	40.9%
erminal rate	8/40 (20%)	11/33 (33%)	7/36 (19%)	13/36 (36%)
irst incidence (days)	550	602	659	699
ife table test	P=0.200	P=0.134	P=0.394N	P=0.126
ogistic regression test	P=0.215	P=0.236	P=0.318N	P=0.160
Cochran-Armitage test	P=0.217			
Sisher exact test		P=0.247	P=0.306N	P = 0.168
ikin (Subcutaneous Tissue): Hemangiosarcoma				
Overall rate	1/50 (2%)	0/50 (0%)	3/50 (6%)	0/49 (0%)
Adjusted rate	2.5%	0.0%	7.4%	0.0%
Cerminal rate	1/40 (3%)	0/33 (0%)	1/36 (3%)	0/36 (0%)
First incidence (days)	729 (T)	—	515	<u> </u>
life table test	P=0.515N	P=0.538N	P=0.275	P=0.521N
ogistic regression test	P=0.496N	P=0.538N	P=0.307	P=0.521N
Cochran-Armitage test	P=0.506N			
Fisher exact test		P=0.500N	P=0.309	P=0.505N

Statistical Analysis of Primary Neoplasms in Male Mice in the 2-Year Feed Study of Phenolphthalein (continued)

	0 ppm	3,000 ppm	6,000 ppm	12,000 ppm
Spleen: Hemangiosarcoma				
Overall rate	0/50 (0%)	5/50 (10%)	1/50 (2%)	1/49 (2%)
Adjusted rate	0.0%	14.0%	2.7%	2.8%
erminal rate	0/40 (0%)	3/33 (9%)	0/36 (0%)	1/36 (3%)
irst incidence (days)	0/40 (0/2)	703	716	729 (T)
Life table test	P=0.500N	P = 0.022	P=0.475	P=0.479
ogistic regression test	P = 0.484N	P = 0.022	P = 0.494	P=0.479
cochran-Armitage test	P = 0.484N P=0.482N	1-0.020	1-0.474	1-0.475
isher exact test	1 - 0,40211	P=0.028	P=0.500	P=0.495
All Organs: Hemangiosarcoma				
verall rate	3/50 (6%)	6/50 (12%)	7/50 (14%)	2/49 (4%)
djusted rate	7.3%	16.9%	18.0%	5.6%
erminal rate	2/40 (5%)	4/33 (12%)	5/36 (14%)	2/36 (6%)
irst incidence (days)	724	703	515	729 (T)
ife table test	P=0.380N	P=0.166	P=0.125	P=0.552N
ogistic regression test	P=0.351N	P=0.197	P=0.154	P=0.534N
cochran-Armitage test	P=0.350N			
sher exact test		P=0.243	P=0.159	P=0.510N
ll Organs: Histiocytic Sarcoma				
verall rate	1/50 (2%)	3/50 (6%)	11/50 (22%)	12/49 (24%)
ljusted rate	2.4%	7.9%	28.0%	27.5%
rminal rate	0/40 (0%)	0/33 (0%)	8/36 (22%)	5/36 (14%)
rst incidence (days)	727	658	665	549
ife table test	P<0.001	P=0.255	P=0.002	P = 0.002
ogistic regression test	P<0.001	P=0.302	P=0.002	P=0.001
ochran-Armitage test	P<0.001			
sher exact test		P=0.309	P=0.002	P<0.001
ll Organs: Malignant Lymphoma				
Overall rate	6/50 (12%)	8/50 (16%)	12/50 (24%)	8/49 (16%)
djusted rate	14.5%	19.1%	27.2%	22.2%
erminal rate	5/40 (13%)	3/33 (9%)	6/36 (17%)	8/36 (22%)
irst incidence (days)	662	347	423	729 (T)
ife table test	P=0.299	P=0.300	P=0.082	P=0.309
ogistic regression test	P=0.324	P=0.396	P=0.101	P=0.353
ochran-Armitage test	P=0.310	D 0 000	D 0.007	n 0.071
isher exact test		P=0.387	P=0.096	P=0.371
ll Organs: Benign Neoplasms			10/00 /0/ 01	10/10 (007)
overall rate	29/50 (58%)	24/50 (48%)	18/50 (36%)	19/49 (39%)
djusted rate	68.9%	55.0%	43.3%	45.9%
erminal rate	27/40 (68%)	14/33 (42%)	13/36 (36%)	14/36 (39%)
irst incidence (days)	582 D. 0.050N	563	495 D 0 0(())	522 D-0.005N
ife table test	P=0.058N	P = 0.521N	P=0.066N	P = 0.095N
ogistic regression test	P=0.030N	P=0.234N	P = 0.027N	P=0.043N
Cochran-Armitage test Fisher exact test	P=0.030N	P=0.212N	P=0.022N	P=0.043N

Statistical Analysis of Primary Neoplasms in Male Mice in the 2-Year Feed Study of Phenolphthalein (continued)

	0 ppm	3,000 ppm	6,000 ppm	12,000 ppm
All Organs: Malignant Neoplasms				
Overall rate	19/50 (38%)	29/50 (58%)	35/50 (70%)	29/49 (59%)
Adjusted rate	41.2%	61.3%	71.4%	63.0%
Terminal rate	13/40 (33%)	15/33 (45%)	22/36 (61%)	19/36 (53%)
First incidence (days)	550	347	423	549
Life table test	P=0.057	P=0.021	P=0.002	P=0.030
Logistic regression test	P=0.026	P=0.039	P=0.001	P=0.035
Cochran-Armitage test	P=0.031			
Fisher exact test		P=0.036	P=0.001	P=0.028
All Organs: Benign or Malignant Neoplasms				
Overall rate	40/50 (80%)	40/50 (80%)	42/50 (84%)	38/49 (78%)
Adjusted rate	83.3%	81.6%	84.0%	80.8%
Terminal rate	32/40 (80%)	24/33 (73%)	28/36 (78%)	27/36 (75%)
First incidence (days)	550	347	423	522
Life table test	P=0.516	P=0.194	P=0.211	P=0.459
Logistic regression test	P=0.461N	P=0.590	P=0.392	P = 0.502N
Cochran-Armitage test	P=0.443N			
Fisher exact test		P = 0.598N	P=0.398	P=0.479N

(T)Terminal sacrifice

^a Number of neoplasm-bearing animals/number of animals examined. Denominator is number of animals examined microscopically for adrenal gland, liver, lung, and spleen; for other tissues, denominator is number of animals necropsied.

^b Kaplan-Meier estimated neoplasm incidence at the end of the study after adjustment for intercurrent mortality

^c Observed incidence at terminal kill

^d Beneath the control incidence are the P values associated with the trend test. Beneath the exposed group incidence are the P values corresponding to pairwise comparisons between the controls and that exposed group. The life table test regards neoplasms in animals dying prior to terminal kill as being (directly or indirectly) the cause of death. The logistic regression test regards these lesions as nonfatal. The Cochran-Armitage and Fisher exact tests compare directly the overall incidence rates. For all tests, a negative trend or a lower incidence in an exposure group is indicated by N.

• Not applicable; no neoplasms in animal group
TABLE C4a Historical Incidence of Histiocytic Sarcoma in Untreated Male B6C3F1 Mice^a

Study	Incidence in Controls	
Historical Incidence at EG&G Mason Research Ins	titute/TSI Mason Laboratories, Inc.	
1-Amino-2,4-dibromoanthraquinone	0/50	
Acetaminophen	1/50	
HC Yellow 4	0/50	
Methylphenidate Hydrochloride	0/50	
Pentaerythritol Tetranitrate	0/49	
Turmeric Oleoresin	0/50	
Overall Historical Incidence		
Total	6/1,474 (0.4%)	
Standard deviation	1.0%	
Range	0%-2%	

TABLE C4b Historical Incidence of Malignant Lymphoma in Untreated Male B6C3F1 Mice^a

Study	Incidence in Controls			
Historical Incidence at EG&G Mason Research In	stitute/TSI Mason Laboratories, Inc.			
1-Amino-2,4-dibromoanthraquinone	10/50			
Acetaminophen	7/50			
HC Yellow 4	2/50			
Methylphenidate Hydrochloride	3/50			
Pentaerythritol Tetranitrate Turmeric Oleoresin	4/49 1/50			
Turmene Oleoresin	1750			
Overall Historical Incidence				
Total	130/1,474 (8.8%)			
Standard deviation	6.0%			
Range	2%-24%			

^a Data as of 12 May 1995; includes data for histocytic, lymphocytic, mixed, unspecified, or undifferentiated cell type lymphomas

TABLE C4c

Historical Incidence of Hepatocellular Neoplasms in Untreated Male B6C3F1 Mice^a

	Incidence in Controls		
Study	Adenoma	Carcinoma	Adenoma or Carcinoma
Historical Incidence at EG&G Ma	son Research Institute/	TSI Mason Laborator	ies, Inc.
1-Amino-2,4-dibromoanthraquinone	10/50	9/50	18/50
Acetaminophen	11/50	7/50	16/50
HC Yellow 4	8/49	5/49	13/49
Methylphenidate Hydrochloride	18/50	10/50	24/50
Pentaerythritol Tetranitrate	9/48	3/48	11/48
Turmeric Oleoresin	25/50	12/50	30/50
Overall Historical Incidence			
Total	413/1,465 (28.2%)	252/1,465 (17.2%)	596/1,465 (40.7%)
Standard deviation	14.2%	7.1%	14.5%
Range	4%-60%	3%-29%	10%-68%

^a Data as of 12 May 1995

Summary of the Incidence of Nonneoplastic Lesions in Male Mice in the 2-Year Feed Study of Phenolphthalein^a

	0 ppm	3,000 ppm	6,000 ppm	12,000 ppm
Disposition Summary		·····		
Animals initially in study	50	50	50	50
Early deaths				
Moribund	6	13	11	3
Natural deaths	4	4	3	10
Survivors				
Terminal sacrifice	40	33	36	36
Missing				· 1
Animals examined microscopically	50	50	50	49
Alimentary System				<u></u>
Gallbladder	(50)	(46)	(46)	(41)
Metaplasia	1 (2%)			
intestine large, rectum	(50)	(50)	(50)	(48)
Edema			1 (2%)	
Intestine large, cecum	(50)	(48)	(47)	(45)
Edema		1 (2%)		
Serosa, inflammation, chronic		1 (2%)		
intestine small, jejunum	(49)	(49)	(48)	(46)
Hemorrhage	1 (2%)			
Necrosis	1 (2%)			
Liver	(50)	(50)	(50)	(49)
Angiectasis		1 (2%)		1 (2%)
Clear cell focus	24 (48%)	6 (12%)	1 (2%)	
Congestion		2 (4%)		
Eosinophilic focus	22 (44%)	6 (12%)	1 (2%)	1 (2%)
Fibrosis	1 (2%)			A (1985)
Hematopoietic cell proliferation		6 (12%)	6 (12%)	2 (4%)
Inflammation, chronic	4 (8%)	3 (6%)	7 (14%)	5 (10%)
Mineralization	~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~	A /1 M \	1 (2%)	1 (2%)
Mixed cell focus	6 (12%)	2 (4%)	1 (2%)	2 (40)
Necrosis	4 (8%)	4 (8%)	4 (8%) 2 (4%)	2 (4%)
Vacuolization cytoplasmic	7 (14%)	4 (8%)	2 (4%)	4 (8%)
Bile duct, cyst	1 (2%)			1 (2%)
Bile duct, inflammation, suppurative	1 (2%)	7 (192)		1 (2%)
Oval cell, hyperplasia Mesentery	4 (8%)	2 (4%) (9)	(4)	(3)
Mesentery Inflammation chronic active	(9)	1 (11%)	(7)	())
Inflammation, chronic active	7 (78%)	3 (33%)	2 (50%)	2 (67%)
Fat, necrosis Pancreas	(50)	(50)	(50)	(49)
Inflammation, chronic	(50)	1 (2%)		
Acinus, atrophy	1 (2%)	1 (2%)	1 (2%)	4 (8%)
Duct, cyst	· (#/0)	1 (2%)	- (=/0)	. (0,0)
Salivary glands	(50)	(50)	(50)	(49)
Inflammation, chronic	(00)	()	N= = /	1 (2%)
Necrosis		1 (2%)		
Duct, cyst		- ()	1 (2%)	

^a Number of animals examined microscopically at the site and the number of animals with lesion

,

TABLE C5

	0 ppm	3,000 ppm	6,000 ppm	12,000 ppm
Alimentary System (continued)				
Stomach, forestomach	(50)	(50)	(50)	(49)
Hyperkeratosis	1 (2%)	(50)	(50)	(47)
Hyperplasia, squamous	4 (8%)	7 (14%)	8 (16%)	4 (8%)
Inflammation, chronic	4 (670)	2 (4%)	1 (2%)	4 (070)
Mineralization	1 (2%)	2 (470)	1 (270)	
Ulcer	1 (2%)	3 (6%)	3 (6%)	1 (2%)
Serosa, inflammation, chronic	1 (270)	1 (2%)	5 (076)	1 (270)
stomach, glandular	(50)	(50)	(50)	(48)
	(30)	(50)		(40)
Cyst Erosion		1 (39)	1 (2%)	5 (100)
	1 (3 77)	1 (2%)	2 (4%)	5 (10%)
Mineralization	1 (2%)		1 (201)	
Glands, atrophy, focal	1 (0.01)		1 (2%)	
Glands, cyst	1 (2%)	1 (27)	1 (0.01)	A (4.55)
Glands, hyperplasia	1 (2%)	1 (2%)	1 (2%)	2 (4%)
Serosa, inflammation, chronic		1 (2%)		
`ooth	(49)	(50)	(50)	(49)
Degeneration	22 (45%)	12 (24%)	4 (8%)	1 (2%)
Inflammation, chronic		1 (2%)		
Inflammation, chronic active		1 (2%)	1 (2%)	2 (4%)
Cardiovascular System			<u> </u>	
leart	(50)	(50)	(50)	(49)
Cardiomyopathy	1 (2%)	1 (2%)	2 (4%)	5 (10%)
Inflammation, chronic	I (270)	· (4/0)	1 (2%)	5 (1070)
Inflammation, chronic active		1 (2%)	I (270)	
Mineralization		1 (2%)	2 (4%)	1 (2%)
		1 (2%)	2 (4%)	1 (2%)
Myocardium, degeneration				
Valve, inflammation				1 (2%)
Endocrine System				
Adrenal cortex	(49)	(50)	(49)	(48)
Hemorrhage				1 (2%)
Hyperplasia	1 (2%)	1 (2%)		
Hypertrophy, focal	16 (33%)	14 (28%)	10 (20%)	11 (23%)
Capsule, hyperplasia	36 (73%)	37 (74%)	34 (69%)	34 (71%)
Capsule, inflammation, chronic	• •	1 (2%)		. ,
Adrenal medulla	(49)	(50)	(49)	(48)
Hyperplasia	1 (2%)		1 (2%)	, -,
slets, pancreatic	(50)	(50)	(50)	(49)
Hyperplasia	45 (90%)	45 (90%)	44 (88%)	41 (84%)
Parathyroid gland	(46)	(48)	(48)	(45)
Cyst	(:= /		2 (4%)	
Pituitary gland	(48)	(50)	(49)	(48)
Pars distalis, cyst	2 (4%)	1 (2%)	3 (6%)	2 (4%)
A MAD MADIAND. WYOL	2 (770)	1 (2%)	1 (2%)	2 (470)
• •		· (~/~)		
Pars distalis, hyperplasia	(49)		(50)	(40)
· •	(49)	(50)	(50)	(49) 1 (2%)

	0 ppm	3,000 ppm	6,000 ppm	12,000 ppm
General Body System			······································	,
None				
Genital System	···		, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , 	
Epididymis	(50)	(50)	(50)	(49)
Granuloma sperm				1 (2%)
Inflammation, chronic		1 (2%)		
Inflammation, granulomatous		1 (2%)		
Spermatocele	1 (2%)	1 (2%)		
Penis	(1)			
Hemorrhage	1 (100%)			
Preputial gland	(49)	(50)	(49)	(49)
Cyst	39 (80%)	37 (74%)	41 (84%)	47 (96%)
Granuloma			1 (2%)	
Hyperplasia, lymphoid			1 (2%)	
Inflammation, acute		1 (2%)		
Inflammation, chronic	5 (10%)	1 (2%)	3 (6%)	3 (6%)
Inflammation, chronic active	1 (2%)	2 (4%)	5 (10%)	7 (14%)
Prostate	(50)	(50)	(50)	(49)
Cyst		1 (2%)		
Inflammation, chronic		1 (2%)		
Seminal vesicle	(50)	(50)	(50)	(49)
Atrophy				1 (2%)
Hypertrophy	1 (2%)	(a a)		
restes	(50)	(50)	(50)	(48)
Germinal epithelium, degeneration Interstitial cell, hyperplasia	1 (2%)	49 (98%) 1 (2%)	50 (100%)	47 (98%)
Hematopoietic System				
Bone marrow	(50)	(50)	(50)	(49)
Angiectasis	0 (CM)	0 (147 M)	2 (4%)	10 (000)
Myelofibrosis	3 (6%)	8 (16%)	8 (16%)	19 (39%)
Pigmentation Thrombosic		2 (4%)	5 (10%)	16 (33%)
Thrombosis Muslaid call, humaniasia		2 (4%)		
Myeloid cell, hyperplasia	(9)	1 (2%)	(14)	
Lymph node	(8)	(5)	(14)	(9)
Iliac, angiectasis			1 (7%)	1 /11//1
Iliac, hyperplasia	1 (12.07)		9 (1407)	1 (11%)
Iliac, hyperplasia, lymphoid	1 (13%)		2 (14%)	
Iliac, pigmentation	1 (13%)		3 (1401)	1 (1107)
Inguinal, hyperplasia, lymphoid	3 (38%)		2 (14%)	1 (11%)
Inguinal, pigmentation	1 (1201)		1 (7%)	
Mediastinal, hyperplasia, lymphoid Mediastinal, infiltration cellular, plasma	1 (13%)		1 (7%)	
cell			, . <u> </u>	1 (11%)
Pancreatic, angiectasis	1 (13%)		1 (7%)	
Renal, angiectasis			1 (7%)	
Renal, hyperplasia, lymphoid				1 (11%)

	0 ppm	3,000 ppm	6,000 ppm	12,000 ppm
Hematopoietic System (continued)				
Lymph node, mandibular Angiectasis	(49)	(50)	(49)	(49) 1 (2%)
Hyperplasia, lymphoid Infiltration cellular, histiocyte	2 (4%)	1 (2%)	2 (4%)	1 (2%)
Lymph node, mesenteric	(50)	(50)	(48)	1 (2%) (49)
Angiectasis	11 (22%)	10 (20%)	13 (27%)	(49)
Hyperplasia, lymphoid	3 (6%)	2 (4%)	15 (2770)	. ,
Infiltration cellular, polymorphonuclear	2 (4%)	2 (4%)		3 (6%)
Infiltration cellular, histiocyte	2 (470)		1 (29)	
Inflammation, chronic		1 (29)	1 (2%)	
	(50)	1 (2%)	(50)	(40)
Spleen	(50)	(50)	(50)	(49)
Angiectasis	10 (00 %)	1 (2%)	00 (51 7)	A
Hematopoietic cell proliferation	10 (20%)	22 (44%)	28 (56%)	21 (43%)
Pigmentation	3 (6%)	5 (10%)		4 (8%)
Lymphoid follicle, atrophy	1 (2%)	A / · ····	4	
Lymphoid follicle, hyperplasia	2 (4%)	2 (4%)	4 (8%)	
Lymphoid follicle, necrosis	1 (2%)		<i></i>	
Thymus	(43)	(46)	(44)	(42)
Atrophy	13 (30%)	11 (24%)	16 (36%)	12 (29%)
Cyst		1 (2%)		
Hyperplasia, atypical		3 (7%)	7 (16%)	7 (17%)
Hyperplasia, oncocytic	1 (2%)			·
Necrosis	1 (2%)			
Integumentary System	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·			
Skin	(50)	(50)	(50)	(49)
Inflammation, acute		()	1 (2%)	1 (2%)
Inflammation, chronic		2 (4%)	- (-//)	1 (2%)
Subcutaneous tissue, edema		2 (4%)	7 (14%)	6 (12%)
Subcutaneous tissue, infiltration cellular,			<u> </u>	• (-=,•)
polymorphonuclear				1 (2%)
Subcutaneous tissue, inflammation, acute			1 (2%)	1 (2%)
Subcutaneous tissue, inflammation, acute			- (*/0)	1(2%) 1(2%)
Subcutaneous tissue, necrosis		1 (2%)		1 (273)
Musculoskeletal System				
None				
	····		<u></u>	·····
Nervous System	(50)	(20)	(50)	(40)
Brain	(50)	(50)	(50)	(49)
Hemorrhage		1 (2%)		1 (2%)
Necrosis	1 (2%)	.		
Thalamus, mineralization	27 (54%)	24 (48%)	25 (50%)	35 (71%)

	0 ppm	3,000 ppm	6,000 ppm	12,000 ppm
Respiratory System		······		·
Lung	(50)	(50)	(50)	(49)
Congestion	1 (2%)	2 (4%)	1 (2%)	1 (2%)
Hemorrhage	1 (2%)	3 (6%)	4 (8%)	7 (14%)
Infiltration cellular, histiocyte	5 (10%)	5 (10%)	2 (4%)	
Inflammation, granulomatous	1 (2%)			
Alveolar epithelium, hyperplasia	3 (6%)	5 (10%)	3 (6%)	3 (6%)
Nose	(50)	(50)	(50)	(49)
Inflammation, acute	2 (4%)			
Polyp, inflammatory	1 (2%)	1 (2%)		
Special Senses System	<u> </u>	··		
Harderian gland	(3)	(4)	(4)	(3)
Hypertrophy		1 (25%)		2 (67%)
Urinary System			, <u></u> , <u></u> , <u></u> , <u></u> ,	<u></u>
Kidney	(50)	(50)	(50)	(49)
Cyst	7 (14%)	5 (10%)	5 (10%)	4 (8%)
Hydronephrosis	2 (4%)		- ()	. (,
Infarct	- (177)			1 (2%)
Infarct, chronic				1 (2%)
Inflammation, acute				1 (2%)
Metaplasia, osseous	1 (2%)			
Mineralization	7 (14%)	1 (2%)	2 (4%)	
Nephropathy, chronic	47 (94%)	46 (92%)	42 (84%)	41 (84%)
Pigmentation		· ·	1 (2%)	,
Papilla, necrosis	1 (2%)			
Pelvis, angiectasis	1 (2%)			
Renal tubule, accumulation, hyaline droplet		2 (4%)	5 (10%)	5 (10%)
Renal tubule, dilatation	1 (2%)		1 (2%)	2 (4%)
Renal tubule, hyperplasia	1 (2%)			
Renal tubule, necrosis				1 (2%)
Transitional epithelium, hyperplasia			1 (2%)	
Urinary bladder	(50)	(50)	(48)	(49)
Hemorrhage		1 (2%)		
Inflammation, acute				1 (2%)
Serosa, inflammation, chronic		1 (2%)		

APPENDIX D SUMMARY OF LESIONS IN FEMALE MICE IN THE 2-YEAR FEED STUDY OF PHENOLPHTHALEIN

TABLE D1	Summary of the Incidence of Neoplasms in Female Mice	
	in the 2-Year Feed Study of Phenolphthalein	220
TABLE D2	Individual Animal Tumor Pathology of Female Mice	
	in the 2-Year Feed Study of Phenolphthalein	224
TABLE D3	Statistical Analysis of Primary Neoplasms in Female Mice	
	in the 2-Year Feed Study of Phenolphthalein	246
TABLE D4a	Historical Incidence of Histiocytic Sarcoma in Untreated Female B6C3F ₁ Mice	251
TABLE D4b	Historical Incidence of Malignant Lymphoma in Untreated Female B6C3F ₁ Mice	251
TABLE D4c	Historical Incidence of Luteoma in the Ovary	
	of Untreated Female B6C3F ₁ Mice	252
TABLE D4d	Historical Incidence of Hepatocellular Neoplasms	
	in Untreated Female B6C3F ₁ Mice	252
TABLE D5	Summary of the Incidence of Nonneoplastic Lesions in Female Mice	
	in the 2-Year Feed Study of Phenolphthalein	253

Summary of the Incidence of Neoplasms in Female Mice in the 2-Year Feed Study of Phenolphthalein^a

	0 ppm	3,000 ppm	6,000 ppm	12,000 ppm
Disposition Summary	·····			<u></u>
Animals initially in study	50	50	50	50
Early deaths				•-
Moribund	5	13	9	12
Natural deaths	6	6	7	10
Survivors				
Died last week of the study	1			
Terminal sacrifice	38	31	34	28
Animals examined microscopically	50	50	50	50
Alimentary System			·······	
Gallbladder	(45)	(46)	(46)	(44)
Histiocytic sarcoma		1 (2%)	1 (2%)	1 (2%)
Intestine large, colon	(50)	(48)	(48)	(48)
Intestine large, rectum	(50)	(49)	(48)	(49)
Intestine large, cecum	(50)	(48)	(48)	(45)
Fibrosarcoma		1 (2%)		
Intestine small, duodenum	(48)	(47)	(47)	(48)
Intestine small, jejunum	(49)	(48)	(46)	(46)
Carcinoma			1 (2%)	
Intestine small, ileum	(48)	(47)	(46)	(47)
Liver	(50)	(50)	(50)	(50)
Fibrous histiocytoma	1 (2%)			
Hemangiosarcoma, metastatic, spleen	< (1 0 0 1)	1 (2%)		
Hepatocellular carcinoma	6 (12%)	1 (2%)	× 12 mm	1 (2%)
Hepatocellular adenoma	12 (24%)	2 (4%)	6 (12%)	1 (2%)
Hepatocellular adenoma, multiple	5 (10%)	1 (3.61)	((120))	7 (1401)
Histiocytic sarcoma	(16)	1 (2%)	6 (12%)	7 (14%)
Ribroug histigaritama	(16)	(2)	(7)	(1)
Fibrous histiocytoma	1 (6%)		1 (1407)	
Hemangiosarcoma Pancreas	(50)	(50)	1 (14%)	(50)
Fibrous histiocytoma	(50) 1 (2%)	(50)	(50)	(50)
Histiocytic sarcoma	1 (270)		1 (2%)	1 (2%)
Salivary glands	(49)	(50)	(50)	(49)
Stomach, forestomach	(50)	(50)	(50)	(50)
Squamous cell carcinoma	(50)	1 (2%)		()
Squamous cell papilloma	1 (2%)	1 (2%)		3 (6%)
Stomach, glandular	(50)	(49)	(49)	(50)
,	\~~/	····	····	(/
Cardiovascular System	(50)	(50)	(50)	(50)
Heart	(50)	(50)	(50)	(50)
Alveolar/bronchiolar carcinoma, metastatic,	1 (20)			1 (20%)
lung Fibrous bisticautome	1 (2%)			1 (2%)
Fibrous histiocytoma	1 (2%)			

Endocrine System Adrenal cortex (50) Adrenal medulla (50) Islets, pancreatic (49) Adenoma (49) Pars distalis, adenoma 3 (6%) Pars distalis, adenoma 1 (2%) Thyroid gland (50) Follicular cell, adenoma 1 (2%) General Body System 1 (2%) Tissue NOS General Body System Clitoral gland (48) Ovary (50) Cystadenoma 1 (2%) Hemangioma 2 (4%) Histiocytic sarcoma 2 (4%) Histiocytic sarcoma 1 (2%) Bilateral, sex-cord stromal tumor, benign 1 (2%) Histiocytic sarcoma 1 (2%) Hematopoietic System 1 (2%) Bone marrow ((50) (50) (50) 2 (4%) (50) 2 (4%) (1)	(50) (50) (50) (50) (49) (49) 1 (2%) (50)	(50) (50) (50) (48) (50)
Adrenal cortex (50) Adrenal medulla (50) Adrenal medulla (50) Islets, pancreatic (49) Adenoma (49) Pars distalis, adenoma 1 (2%) Pars intermedia, adenoma 1 (2%) Follicular cell, adenoma 1 (2%) General Body System (50) Follicular cell, adenoma 1 (2%) General Body System (50) Cystadenoma 1 (2%) Fibrous histiocytoma 1 (2%) Granulosa cell tumor benign 1 (2%) Hemangioma 2 (4%) Histiocytic sarcoma 500 Carcinoma 1 (2%) Bilateral, sex-cord stromal tumor, benign 1 (2%) Uterus (50) Carcinoma 1 (2%) Histiocytic sarcoma 1 (2%) Hematopoietic System 50) Bone marrow (50) Hemangioma 1 (2%) Histiocytic sarcoma 1 (2%) Histiocytic sarcoma 1 (7%) Iliac, fibrous histiocytoma 1 (7%) Iliac, histiocytic sar	(50) (50) 2 (4%) (50) 2 (4%)	(50) (50) 1 (2%) (49) 1 (2%)	(50) (50) (48)
Adrenal medulla (50) Islets, pancreatic (49) Adenoma Pituitary gland (49) Pars distalis, adenoma 3 (6%) Pars intermedia, adenoma 1 (2%) Thyroid gland (50) Follicular cell, adenoma 1 (2%) General Body System 1 (2%) General Body System 1 (2%) General Body System 50) Cystadenoma 1 (2%) Granulosa cell tumor benign 1 (2%) Hemangioma 2 (4%) Histiocytic sarcoma 1 (2%) Bilateral, sex-cord stromal tumor, benign 1 (2%) Uterus (50) Carcinoma 1 (2%) Histiocytic sarcoma 1 (2%) Histiocytic sarcoma 1 (2%) Hematopoietic System 50) Bone marrow (50) Hemangioma 1 (2%) Histiocytic sarcoma 1 (2%) Hemangioma 1 (2%) Histiocytic sarcoma 1 (2%) Iliac, fibrous histiocytoma 1 (7%) Iliac, histiocytic sarcoma 1 (7%)	(50) (50) 2 (4%) (50) 2 (4%)	(50) (50) 1 (2%) (49) 1 (2%)	(50) (50) (48)
Islets, pancreatic (49) Adenoma Pituitary gland (49) Pars distalis, adenoma 3 (6%) Pars intermedia, adenoma 1 (2%) Thyroid gland (50) Follicular cell, adenoma 1 (2%) General Body System Tissue NOS Genital System Clitoral gland (48) Ovary (50) Cystadenoma Fibrous histiocytoma 1 (2%) Granulosa cell tumor benign 1 (2%) Hemangioma 2 (4%) Histiocytic sarcoma Sex-cord stromal tumor, benign Teratoma benign 1 (2%) Bilateral, sex-cord stromal tumor, benign Uterus (50) Carcinoma 1 (2%) Histiocytic sarcoma 1 (2%) Hemangioma 1 (2%) Histiocytic sarcoma 1 (2%) Hemangioma 1 (2%) Hemangioma 1 (2%) Hemangioma 1 (2%)	(50) (50) 2 (4%) (50) 2 (4%)	(50) 1 (2%) (49) 1 (2%)	(50) (48)
AdenomaPituitary gland(49)Pars distalis, adenoma3 (6%)Pars intermedia, adenoma1 (2%)Thyroid gland(50)Follicular cell, adenoma1 (2%)General Body SystemTissue NOSGeneral Body SystemClitoral gland(48)Ovary(50)Cystadenoma1 (2%)Granulosa cell tumor benign1 (2%)Hemangioma2 (4%)Histiocytic sarcoma1 (2%)Bilateral, sex-cord stromal tumor, benign1 (2%)Bilateral, sex-cord stromal tumor, benign1 (2%)Hematopoietic System(50)Carcinoma1 (2%)Hemangioma1 (2%)Hemangioma1 (2%)Itsitocytic sarcoma(50)Carcinoma1 (2%)Histiocytic sarcoma1 (2%)Histiocytic sarcoma1 (2%)Iliac, fibrous histiocytoma1 (2%)Iliac, fibrous histiocytoma1 (7%)Iliac, fibrous histiocytoma1 (7%)Iliac, histiocytic sarcoma1 (7%)Mediastinal, alveolar/bronchiolar carcinoma, metastatic, lung2 (14%)	(50) 2 (4%) (50) 2 (4%)	1 (2%) (49) 1 (2%)	(48)
Pituitary gland (49) Pars distalis, adenoma 3 (6%) Pars intermedia, adenoma 1 (2%) Follicular cell, adenoma 1 (2%) Follicular cell, adenoma 1 (2%) General Body System Fissue NOS Genital System Clitoral gland (48) Ovary (50) Cystadenoma Fibrous histiocytoma 1 (2%) Hemangioma 2 (4%) Histiocytic sarcoma Sex-cord stromal tumor, benign Teratoma benign 1 (2%) Bilateral, sex-cord stromal tumor, benign Uterus (50) Carcinoma 1 (2%) Histiocytic sarcoma 1 (2%) Hemangioma 1 (2%) Histiocytic sarcoma 1 (2%) Hemangioma 1 (2%) Hemangioma 1 (2%) Hemangioma 1 (2%) Hematopoietic System Bone marrow (50) Hemangioma Histiocytic sarcoma (14) Lymph node (14) Iliac, fibrous histiocytoma 1 (7%) Iliac, histiocytic sarcoma Mediastinal, alveolar/bronchiolar carcinoma, metastatic, lung 2 (14%)	2 (4%) (50) 2 (4%)	(49) 1 (2%)	
Pars distalis, adenoma3 (6%)Pars intermedia, adenoma1 (2%)Thyroid gland(50)Follicular cell, adenoma1 (2%)General Body SystemTissue NOSGenital SystemClitoral glandOvary(50)Cystadenoma1 (2%)Granulosa cell tumor benign1 (2%)Hemangioma2 (4%)Histiocytic sarcoma500Sex-cord stromal tumor, benign1 (2%)Bilateral, sex-cord stromal tumor, benign1 (2%)Histiocytic sarcoma1 (2%)Histiocytic sarcoma1 (2%)Hematopoietic System1 (2%)Bone marrow(50)Hemangioma1 (2%)Histiocytic sarcoma1 (2%)Histiocytic sarcoma1 (2%)Histiocytic sarcoma1 (2%)Hematopoietic System1 (2%)Bone marrow(50)Hemangioma1 (2%)Hiac, fibrous histiocytoma1 (7%)Iliac, histiocytic sarcoma1 (7%)Mediastinal, alveolar/bronchiolar carcinoma, metastatic, lung2 (14%)	2 (4%) (50) 2 (4%)	1 (2%)	
Pars intermedia, adenoma1 (2%)Thyroid gland(50)Follicular cell, adenoma1 (2%)General Body System1 (2%)General Body System1 (2%)Genital System(48)Clitoral gland(48)Ovary(50)Cystadenoma1 (2%)Fibrous histiocytoma1 (2%)Granulosa cell tumor benign1 (2%)Hemangioma2 (4%)Histiocytic sarcoma2 (4%)Bilateral, sex-cord stromal tumor, benign1 (2%)Uterus(50)Carcinoma1 (2%)Histiocytic sarcoma1 (2%)Hematopoietic System1 (2%)Bone marrow(50)Hemangioma1 (2%)Histiocytic sarcoma1 (2%)Histiocytic sarcoma1 (2%)Hematopoietic System1 (2%)Bine, fibrous histiocytoma1 (7%)Iliac, fibrous histiocytoma1 (7%)Iliac, histiocytic sarcoma2 (14%)	(50) 2 (4%)		(50)
Fhyroid gland (50) Follicular cell, adenoma 1 (2%) General Body System Fissue NOS Genital System (48) Clitoral gland (48) Ovary (50) Cystadenoma 1 (2%) Fibrous histiocytoma 1 (2%) Granulosa cell tumor benign 1 (2%) Hemangioma 2 (4%) Histiocytic sarcoma 2 (4%) Bilateral, sex-cord stromal tumor, benign 1 (2%) Uterus (50) Carcinoma 1 (2%) Histiocytic sarcoma 1 (2%) Histiocytic sarcoma 1 (2%) Hematopoietic System 50) Bone marrow (50) Hemangioma 1 (2%) Histiocytic sarcoma 1 (2%) Hemangioma 1 (2%) Histiocytic sarcoma 1 (2%) Hemangioma 1 (2%) Histiocytic sarcoma 1 (7%) Iliac, fibrous histiocytoma 1 (7%) Iliac, histiocytic sarcoma 1 (7%) Mediastinal, alveolar/bronchiolar carcinoma, metastatic, lung 2 (14%) <	2 (4%)	(50)	(50)
Follicular cell, adenoma 1 (2%) General Body System Fissue NOS Genital System (48) Clitoral gland (48) Ovary (50) Cystadenoma 1 (2%) Fibrous histiocytoma 1 (2%) Granulosa cell tumor benign 1 (2%) Hemangioma 2 (4%) Histiocytic sarcoma Sex-cord stromal tumor, benign Teratoma benign 1 (2%) Bilateral, sex-cord stromal tumor, benign 1 (2%) Uterus (50) Carcinoma 1 (2%) Histiocytic sarcoma 1 (2%) Hematopoietic System 500 Bone marrow (50) Hemangioma 1 (2%) Histiocytic sarcoma 1 (2%) Hemangioma 1 (2%) Histiocytic sarcoma (50) Hemangioma 1 (2%) Histiocytic sarcoma (50) Hemangioma 1 (2%) Histiocytic sarcoma (14) Iliac, fibrous histiocytoma 1 (7%) Iliac, histiocytic sarcoma 1 (7%) Mediastinal, a	2 (4%)		(30)
Fissue NOS Genital System Clitoral gland (48) Ovary (50) Cystadenoma 1 (2%) Fibrous histiocytoma 1 (2%) Granulosa cell tumor benign 1 (2%) Hemangioma 2 (4%) Histiocytic sarcoma 2 (4%) Bilateral, sex-cord stromal tumor, benign 1 (2%) Uterus (50) Carcinoma 1 (2%) Histiocytic sarcoma 1 (2%) Hematopoietic System (50) Bone marrow (50) Hemangioma 1 (2%) Histiocytic sarcoma 1 (2%) Hemangioma 1 (2%) Histiocytic sarcoma 1 (2%) Hemangioma 1 (2%) Histiocytic sarcoma (50) Hemangioma 1 (2%) Histiocytic sarcoma (14) Iliac, fibrous histiocytoma 1 (7%) Iliac, histiocytic sarcoma 1 (7%) Mediastinal, alveolar/bronchiolar carcinoma, metastatic, lung 2 (14%)	(1)		
Genital System Clitoral gland (48) Ovary (50) Cystadenoma 1 (2%) Fibrous histiocytoma 1 (2%) Granulosa cell tumor benign 1 (2%) Hemangioma 2 (4%) Histiocytic sarcoma 2 (4%) Bilateral, sex-cord stromal tumor, benign 1 (2%) Bilateral, sex-cord stromal tumor, benign 1 (2%) Uterus (50) Carcinoma 1 (2%) Histiocytic sarcoma 1 (2%) Hematopoietic System 50) Bone marrow (50) Hemangioma 1 (2%) Histiocytic sarcoma 1 (2%) Histiocytic sarcoma 1 (2%) Hemangioma 1 (2%) Histiocytic sarcoma (50) Hemangioma 1 (2%) Histiocytic sarcoma (14) Iliac, fibrous histiocytoma 1 (7%) Iliac, histiocytic sarcoma 1 (7%) Mediastinal, alveolar/bronchiolar carcinoma, metastatic, lung 2 (14%)	(1)		
Clitoral gland(48)Ovary(50)Cystadenoma1Fibrous histiocytoma1Fibrous histiocytoma1Granulosa cell tumor benign1Hemangioma2Hemangioma2Karsen2Histiocytic sarcoma2Sex-cord stromal tumor, benign1Teratoma benign1Teratoma benign1Uterus(50)Carcinoma1Histiocytic sarcoma1Polyp stromal1Hematopoietic SystemBone marrow(50)Hemangioma1Histiocytic sarcoma(50)Iliac, fibrous histiocytoma1Iliac, histiocytic sarcoma1Mediastinal, alveolar/bronchiolar carcinoma, metastatic, lung22(14%)			
Ovary(50)Cystadenoma1Fibrous histiocytoma1Fibrous histiocytoma1Granulosa cell tumor benign1Hemangioma2Histiocytic sarcomaSex-cord stromal tumor, benignTeratoma benign1Teratoma benign1Uterus(50)Carcinoma1Polyp stromal1Hematopoietic SystemBone marrow(50)Hemangioma1Histiocytic sarcomaLymph node(14)Iliac, fibrous histiocytoma1Iliac, histiocytic sarcomaMediastinal, alveolar/bronchiolar carcinoma, metastatic, lung22(14%)			
Cystadenoma Fibrous histiocytoma 1 (2%) Granulosa cell tumor benign 1 (2%) Hemangioma 2 (4%) Histiocytic sarcoma Sex-cord stromal tumor, benign Teratoma benign 1 (2%) Bilateral, sex-cord stromal tumor, benign Uterus (50) Carcinoma 1 (2%) Histiocytic sarcoma Polyp stromal 1 (2%) Hematopoietic System Bone marrow (50) Hemangioma Histiocytic sarcoma Lymph node (14) Iliac, fibrous histiocytoma 1 (7%) Iliac, histiocytic sarcoma Mediastinal, alveolar/bronchiolar carcinoma, metastatic, lung 2 (14%)	(48)	(48)	(50)
Fibrous histiocytoma1 (2%)Granulosa cell tumor benign1 (2%)Hemangioma2 (4%)Histiocytic sarcoma2 (4%)Sex-cord stromal tumor, benign1 (2%)Bilateral, sex-cord stromal tumor, benign1 (2%)Uterus(50)Carcinoma1 (2%)Histiocytic sarcoma1 (2%)Histiocytic sarcoma1 (2%)Hematopoietic System500Bone marrow(50)Hemangioma1 (2%)Histiocytic sarcoma1 (2%)Lymph node(14)Iliac, fibrous histiocytoma1 (7%)Iliac, histiocytic sarcoma1 (7%)Mediastinal, alveolar/bronchiolar carcinoma, metastatic, lung2 (14%)	(49)	(50)	(50)
Granulosa cell tumor benign1 (2%)Hemangioma2 (4%)Histiocytic sarcoma2 (4%)Sex-cord stromal tumor, benign1 (2%)Bilateral, sex-cord stromal tumor, benign1 (2%)Uterus(50)Carcinoma1 (2%)Histiocytic sarcoma1 (2%)Polyp stromal1 (2%)Hematopoietic SystemBone marrow(50)Hemangioma1 (2%)Histiocytic sarcoma(14)Lymph node(14)Iliac, fibrous histiocytoma1 (7%)Iliac, histiocytic sarcoma2 (14%)	3 (6%)		1 (2%)
Hemangioma2 (4%)Histiocytic sarcomaSex-cord stromal tumor, benignTeratoma benign1 (2%)Bilateral, sex-cord stromal tumor, benign1 (2%)Uterus(50)Carcinoma1 (2%)Histiocytic sarcoma1 (2%)Polyp stromal1 (2%)Hematopoietic SystemSone marrowBone marrow(50)HemangiomaHistiocytic sarcomaLymph node(14)Iliac, fibrous histiocytoma1 (7%)Iliac, histiocytic sarcoma1 (7%)Mediastinal, alveolar/bronchiolar carcinoma, metastatic, lung2 (14%)			
Histiocytic sarcoma Sex-cord stromal tumor, benign Teratoma benign 1 (2%) Bilateral, sex-cord stromal tumor, benign Uterus (50) Carcinoma 1 (2%) Histiocytic sarcoma Polyp stromal 1 (2%) Hematopoietic System Bone marrow (50) Hemangioma Histiocytic sarcoma Lymph node (14) Iliac, fibrous histiocytoma 1 (7%) Iliac, histiocytic sarcoma Mediastinal, alveolar/bronchiolar carcinoma, metastatic, lung 2 (14%)	1 (2%)		
Sex-cord stromal tumor, benign 1 (2%) Bilateral, sex-cord stromal tumor, benign 1 (2%) Jterus (50) Carcinoma 1 (2%) Histiocytic sarcoma 1 (2%) Polyp stromal 1 (2%) Hematopoietic System 3 Bone marrow (50) Hemangioma 4 Histiocytic sarcoma 500 Lymph node (14) Iliac, fibrous histiocytoma 1 (7%) Iliac, histiocytic sarcoma 4 Mediastinal, alveolar/bronchiolar carcinoma, metastatic, lung 2 (14%)			1 (2%)
Teratoma benign 1 (2%) Bilateral, sex-cord stromal tumor, benign 1 Jterus (50) Carcinoma 1 (2%) Histiocytic sarcoma 1 (2%) Polyp stromal 1 (2%) Hematopoietic System 1 (2%) Bone marrow (50) Hemangioma 1 Histiocytic sarcoma (50) Lymph node (14) Iliac, fibrous histiocytoma 1 (7%) Iliac, histiocytic sarcoma 1 (7%) Mediastinal, alveolar/bronchiolar carcinoma, metastatic, lung 2 (14%)	1 (2%)		
Bilateral, sex-cord stromal tumor, benign Jterus (50) Carcinoma 1 (2%) Histiocytic sarcoma 1 (2%) Polyp stromal 1 (2%) Hematopoietic System 300 Bone marrow (50) Hemangioma 1 Histiocytic sarcoma 2 Lymph node (14) Iliac, fibrous histiocytoma 1 (7%) Iliac, histiocytic sarcoma 1 (7%) Mediastinal, alveolar/bronchiolar carcinoma, metastatic, lung 2 (14%)	6 (12%)	6 (12%)	5 (10%)
Uterus (50) Carcinoma 1 (2%) Histiocytic sarcoma 1 (2%) Polyp stromal 1 (2%) Hematopoietic System 300 Bone marrow (50) Hemangioma 1 Histiocytic sarcoma 400 Lymph node (14) Iliac, fibrous histiocytoma 1 (7%) Iliac, histiocytic sarcoma 400 Mediastinal, alveolar/bronchiolar carcinoma, metastatic, lung 2 (14%)			
Carcinoma1 (2%)Histiocytic sarcoma1 (2%)Polyp stromal1 (2%)Hematopoietic System1 (2%)Bone marrow(50)Hemangioma1Histiocytic sarcoma1Lymph node(14)Iliac, fibrous histiocytoma1 (7%)Iliac, histiocytic sarcoma1 (7%)Mediastinal, alveolar/bronchiolar carcinoma, metastatic, lung2 (14%)	1 (2%)		
Histiocytic sarcoma Polyp stromal 1 (2%) Hematopoietic System Bone marrow (50) Hemangioma Histiocytic sarcoma Lymph node (14) Iliac, fibrous histiocytoma 1 (7%) Iliac, histiocytic sarcoma Mediastinal, alveolar/bronchiolar carcinoma, metastatic, lung 2 (14%)	(50)	(50)	(50)
Polyp stromal 1 (2%) Hematopoietic System			
Hematopoietic System Bone marrow (50) Hemangioma Histiocytic sarcoma Lymph node (14) Iliac, fibrous histiocytoma 1 (7%) Iliac, histiocytic sarcoma Mediastinal, alveolar/bronchiolar carcinoma, metastatic, lung 2 (14%)	1 (2%)		
Bone marrow (50) Hemangioma Histiocytic sarcoma Lymph node (14) Iliac, fibrous histiocytoma 1 (7%) Iliac, histiocytic sarcoma Mediastinal, alveolar/bronchiolar carcinoma, metastatic, lung 2 (14%)	2 (4%)	3 (6%)	1 (2%)
Hemangioma Histiocytic sarcoma Lymph node (14) Iliac, fibrous histiocytoma 1 (7%) Iliac, histiocytic sarcoma Mediastinal, alveolar/bronchiolar carcinoma, metastatic, lung 2 (14%)			
Histiocytic sarcoma Lymph node (14) Iliac, fibrous histiocytoma 1 (7%) Iliac, histiocytic sarcoma Mediastinal, alveolar/bronchiolar carcinoma, metastatic, lung 2 (14%)	(50)	(50)	(50)
Lymph node (14) Iliac, fibrous histiocytoma 1 (7%) Iliac, histiocytic sarcoma Mediastinal, alveolar/bronchiolar carcinoma, metastatic, lung 2 (14%)		1 (2%)	# (10.01)
Iliac, fibrous histiocytoma1 (7%)Iliac, histiocytic sarcomaMediastinal, alveolar/bronchiolar carcinoma, metastatic, lung2 (14%)	1 (2%)	2 (4%)	5 (10%)
Iliac, histiocytic sarcoma Mediastinal, alveolar/bronchiolar carcinoma, metastatic, lung 2 (14%)	(17)	(13)	(16)
Mediastinal, alveolar/bronchiolar carcinoma, metastatic, lung 2 (14%)			A (10//)
metastatic, lung 2 (14%)			3 (19%)
mediasimal, misuocytic sarcoma			1 (201)
Paparentia histioautia saraama			1 (6%)
Pancreatic, histiocytic sarcoma Renal, histiocytic sarcoma			1 (6%) 2 (13%)
Lymph node, mandibular (49)		(49)	(49)
Histiocytic sarcoma (49)	(50)	3 (6%)	(49) 4 (8%)
Lymph node, mesenteric (49)	(50)	(49)	(50)
Fibrous histiocytoma 1 (2%)		1 (2%)	(50)
Histiocytic sarcoma	(50) (50)	3 (6%)	4 (8%)

	0 ppm	3,000 ppm	6,000 ppm	12,000 ppm
Hematopoietic System (continued)			·· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
Spleen	(50)	(50)	(50)	(50)
Hemangiosarcoma		1 (2%)	2 (4%)	1 (2%)
Histiocytic sarcoma		1 (2%)	3 (6%)	6 (12%)
Thymus	(48)	(44)	(49)	(45)
Alveolar/bronchiolar carcinoma, metastatic,				
lung				1 (2%)
Fibrous histiocytoma	1 (2%)			
Histiocytic sarcoma			1 (2%)	2 (4%)
Integumentary System				·····
Mammary gland	(50)	(50)	(50)	(50)
Adenoacanthoma		. ,	1 (2%)	· · /
Skin	(50)	(50)	(50)	(50)
Basal cell adenoma		1 (2%)		
Trichoepithelioma		N)	1 (2%)	
Subcutaneous tissue, hemangiosarcoma			1 (2%)	1 (2%)
,			····	····
Musculoskeletal System				
Bone	(50)	(50)	(50)	(50)
Osteosarcoma		1 (2%)		1 (2%)
Skeletal muscle	(1)	(1)	(1)	
Alveolar/bronchiolar carcinoma, metastatic,				
lung	1 (100%)			
Hemangiosarcoma		1 (100%)	1 (100%)	
Nervous System				
Brain	(50)	(49)	(50)	(50)
	·····	· · ·		· · ·
Respiratory System				
Lung	(50)	(50)	(50)	(50)
Alveolar/bronchiolar adenoma	3 (6%)	1 (2%)	4 (8%)	6 (12%)
Alveolar/bronchiolar adenoma, multiple	4 (0.5%)		1 (2%)	,
Alveolar/bronchiolar carcinoma	4 (8%)	4 (8%)	1 (2%)	2 (4%)
Carcinoma, metastatic, uncertain primary site		1 (2%)		
Fibrous histiocytoma	1 (2%)			
Hepatocellular carcinoma, metastatic, liver	2 (4%)	1 (2%)		4 40 70
Histiocytic sarcoma		1 (2%)	4 (8%)	4 (8%)
Osteosarcoma, metastatic, bone		(=0)	(50)	1 (2%)
Nose	(50)	(50)	(50)	(50)
Carcinoma, metastatic, harderian gland				1 (2%)
Hemangiosarcoma			1 (2%)	
Osteosarcoma, metastatic, bone	(=0)	1 (2%)	(50)	(50)
Trachea	(50)	(50)	(50)	(50)

Summary of the Incidence of Neoplasms in Female Mice in the 2-Year Feed Study of Phenolphthalein (continued)

	0 ppm	3,000 ppm	6,000 ppm	12,000 ppm
Special Senses System			· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
Harderian gland	(5)	(2)	(1)	(2)
Adenoma	2 (40%)	1 (50%)	1 (100%)	1 (50%)
Carcinoma	2 (40%)			1 (50%)
Urinary System				
Kidney	(50)	(50)	(50)	(50)
Alveolar/bronchiolar carcinoma, metastatic,				
lung	1 (2%)			
Histiocytic sarcoma				1 (2%)
Urinary bladder	(50)	(50)	(49)	(50)
Systemic Lesions	,			
Multiple organs ^b	(50)	(50)	(50)	(50)
Histiocytic sarcoma		2 (4%)	7 (14%)	7 (14%)
Lymphoma malignant	15 (30%)	28 (56%)	33 (66%)	25 (50%)
Neoplasm Summary				
Total animals with primary neoplasms ^c	40	39	47	43
Total primary neoplasms	70	63	75	58
Total animals with benign neoplasms	26	20	23	17
Total benign neoplasms	33	23	25	19
Total animals with malignant neoplasms	25	34	41	37
Total malignant neoplasms	37	40	50	39
Total animals with metastatic neoplasms	3	4		3
Total metastatic neoplasms	7	4		4
Total animals with malignant neoplasms				
of uncertain primary site		1		

^a Number of animals examined microscopically at the site and the number of animals with neoplasm

^b Number of animals with any tissue examined microscopically

^c Primary neoplasms: all neoplasms except metastatic neoplasms

TABLE D2

Individual Animal Tumor Pathology of Female Mice in the 2-Year Feed Study of Phenolphthalein: 0 ppm

Number of Days on Study		5	4	9	1	1		8	0	2	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	7 3 7	7 3 7	7 3 7	3
Carcass ID Number		5	5		5	5	5	2	2 5 1	2	3	1		2 2 1	2	2	2	2	2	3	2 3 2	2 3 3	2 3 6	2 3 8	3
Alimentary System																									
Esophagus	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Gallbladder	Α	+	+	Α	+	+	÷	Α	+	÷	÷	+	М	+	+	+	+	÷	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Intestine large, colon	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Intestine large, rectum	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Intestine large, cecum	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Intestine small, duodenum	Á	+	+	+	+	+	Å	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Intestine small, jejunum	A	+	+	+	+	+		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+			+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Intestine small, ileum	A	+	+	+	+	Å				+	+	+	+					+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
• •	+	+	+	+	+	+			+						+			+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Fibrous histiocytoma	t	·	,	•	1	`	ſ	,	,		,	,	ı	,	•	•	·	,	•	,	•		· ·	· F	,
Hepatocellular carcinoma									х														х		x
Hepatocellular adenoma				х					л						х	v	v		x				Λ		^
•				л				х						х	л	л	Λ		Λ						x
Hepatocellular adenoma, multiple							+	л						л	+									+	^
Mesentery							Ŧ								Ŧ	т		+						Ŧ	
Fibrous histiocytoma																									
Pancreas	Ŧ	Ŧ	+	+	Ŧ	+	Ŧ	Ŧ	+	Ŧ	+	+	+	Ŧ	Ŧ	+	Ŧ	+	4	Ŧ	+	Ŧ	Ŧ	Ŧ	+
Fibrous histiocytoma																									
Salivary glands	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+		+	+					+			+	+		+
Stomach, forestomach	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Squamous cell papilloma																								X	
Stomach, glandular	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Cardiovascular System																									
Heart	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Alveolar/bronchiolar carcinoma,																									
metastatic, lung									х																
Fibrous histiocytoma																									
Endocrine System																								_	
Adrenal cortex	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Adrenal medulla	-	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Islets, pancreatic	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Parathyroid gland	, +	'n	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+			'n		+	+	+	+	+	+
Pituitary gland	- -	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	•				+		+	+	+		+
Pars distalis, adenoma	т	г	т	т	т	т	г	г	т	г	T.	r	г	L_	I.	•-		r	г	141	r	т	т	т'	•
Pars intermedia, adenoma																									
	+	.لم	л.	<u>т</u>	.ب	л.	<u>ــ</u>	. ام	L.	ъ	4	. I.	+	-	+	4	4	L.	*	ъ	JL.		д	г	ж
Thyroid gland	Ŧ	т	т	T	Ŧ	т	т	т	т	Ŧ	т	Ŧ	т	т	т	т	т	т	т	т	т	Ŧ	Ŧ	т	
Follicular cell, adenoma																									х

+: Tissue examined microscopically

A: Autolysis precludes examination

M: Missing tissue I: Insufficient tissue X: Lesion present Blank: Not examined

Number of Days on Study	7 3 7	7 3 7	7 3 7	7 3 7	7 3 7	7 3 7	7 3 7	7 3 7	3	7 3 7	3	7 3 8	3	3	3	3	7 3 8	7 3 8	3	7 3 8	7 3 8	7 3 8	7 3 8	7 3 8	7 3 8	
Carcass ID Number	2 4 0	2 4 1	2 4 2	2 4 8	2 4 9	2 5 4		6	6	6			1		2	3	2 3 4	2 3 5	2 4 4	2 4 6	2 4 7	2 5 0	2 5 9	2 6 0	6	Total Tissues/ Tumors
Alimentary System																										
Esophagus	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	50
Gallbladder	+	+	+	Μ	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	45
Intestine large, colon	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	50
Intestine large, rectum	+	+	÷	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	50
Intestine large, cecum	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	50
Intestine small, duodenum	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	48
Intestine small, jejunum	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	49
Intestine small, ileum	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	48
Liver	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	50
Fibrous histiocytoma	•		•	•	x	•	•	•	•	•		·	•		•		•	•	·	•	•	•	•	·	•	1
Hepatocellular carcinoma	•	х																х							х	6
Hepatocellular adenoma			Х				х							х		х	x					х				12
Hepatocellular adenoma, multiple					х									**		••			х							5
Mesentery	+		+			+					+		+	+		+			~	+		+		+		16
Fibrous histiocytoma			'		x	'							'	•						•		•				10
Pancreas	+	Т	+	+	+	+	+	т	т	ъ	÷	Ŧ	Т	-	+	+	-	+	+	+	ъ	+	+	+	-	50
Fibrous histiocytoma	-r	1		. .	x	1		Ŧ					1		'	1		'	1			•		'		1
Salivary glands	+	+	+	+		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	ч	т	т	+	+	ъ	М	-	+	Т	ъ	. т	+	49
Stomach, forestomach	+				+	+	+	т а	+	+	+	+	т +	+	+	+	+	т —	+	+	+	+	т 	+	•	50
Squamous cell papilloma	т	т	т	т	т	т	т	т	т	т	т	Ŧ	т	т	т	Т	т	т	.4.		т	-	т	'	Ŧ	1
Stomach, glandular	+	+	+	+	÷	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	50
Cardiovascular System								-				_														
Heart	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	4	+	50
Alveolar/bronchiolar carcinoma,				,		-																·				
metastatic, lung																										1
Fibrous histiocytoma					х																					1
Endocrine System																										
Adrenal cortex	T	ــــــــــــــــــــــــــــــــــــــ	L	Ŧ	ـ	Ŧ	⊥	. ئ	ᆂ	Ŧ	-	. -	ᆂ	÷	Ŧ	Ŧ	⊥	Ŧ	Ŧ	÷	-	+	÷		. .	50
Adrenal medulla	۲ د	т Ц	T L	- -	- -	- -	т Т	т ⊥	т -	т -	т +		т —	г -	+	+	т -	т - т	-	4	+	-		т 	· +	
Islets, pancreatic	т L	۲ بر	- + -+	- +	M	 - +	+	- -	+	+	+	-		+	÷	+	+	4	+	+	-	- بد		· +		
•	т L		т 	۳ ار	<u>ا</u> بر.	 -	- -	т Т	T -	- -	т +		+	+	+	т М	- -	+ +	+	+	- -	M	ۍ له ا	- +		
Parathyroid gland Pituitary gland	+	• +	- T	• +	· +	+	+	T	+	+	т 1	+			+	+	+	- -	+			· +			- +	
Pars distalis, adenoma	+	-	· + X		Ť	T	т	т	T	т	+	т	+ X	7	Τ'	т	Ŧ		Ŧ	x		-	-T	т	т	3
			л			v							л							л						1
Pars intermedia, adenoma						X								.1		<u>н</u>	. 1		-		,		د .			
Thyroid gland Follicular cell, adenoma	+	• +	• +	• +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	Ŧ	+	+	Ŧ	+	+	Ŧ	+	+	• +	• +	• +	- +	1

Individual Animal Tumor Pathology of Female Mice in the 2-Year Feed Study of Phenolphthalein: 0 ppm (continued)

TABLE D2

Individual Animal Tumor Pathology of Female Mice in the 2-Year Feed Study of Phenolphthalein: 0 ppm (continued)

Number of Days on Study	0 1 5 5 6 6 6 6 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7
Carcass ID Number	2 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3
Genital System	
Clitoral gland	M + + + + + + + + + + + + M + + + + + +
Ovary	* + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +
Fibrous histiocytoma	•
Granulosa cell tumor benign	X
Hemangioma	X
Teratoma benign	X
Uterus Carcinoma	+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +
Polyp stromal	
Hematopoietic System	
Bone marrow	+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +
Lymph node	+++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++
Iliac, fibrous histiocytoma	
Mediastinal, alveolar/bronchiolar	
carcinoma, metastatic, lung	X X
Lymph node, mandibular	+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +
Lymph node, mesenteric	+ + + + + + + M + + + + + + + + + + + +
Fibrous histiocytoma	
Spleen	+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +
Thymus	+ + + + M + + + M + + + + + + + + + + +
Fibrous histiocytoma	
Inde guine automa Caratana	
Integumentary System Mammary gland	
Skin	+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +
Skii	
Musculoskeletal System	
Bone	+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +
Skeletal muscle	+
Alveolar/bronchiolar carcinoma,	
metastatic, lung	X
N. C. t	
Nervous System	
Brain	+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +
Peripheral nerve	+
Spinal cord	+
Respiratory System	
Lung	+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +
Alveolar/bronchiolar adenoma	X X
Alveolar/bronchiolar carcinoma	XXX
Fibrous histiocytoma	
Hepatocellular carcinoma, metastatic,	
liver	X
Nose	+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +
Trachea	+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

Individual Animal Tumor Pathology of Female Mice in the 2-Year Feed Study of Phenolphthalein: 0 ppm (continued) 7 Number of Days on Study 3 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 22 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 Total **Carcass ID Number** 4 4 4 4 4 5 5 6 6 6 6 1 1 1 2 3 3 3 4 4 4 5 5 6 6 Tissues/ 0 1 2 8 9 4 5 1 2 3 5 6 7 9 5 0 4 5 4 6 7 0 9 0 4 Tumors **Genital System** Clitoral gland 48 ++ + +++ + + + + + Ovary +50 + + + + + Fibrous histiocytoma Х 1 Granulosa cell tumor benign 1 Hemangioma х 2 Teratoma benign 1 Uterus 50 + + + + + + + Х Carcinoma 1 Polyp stromal х 1 **Hematopoietic System** Bone marrow 50 Lymph node 14 + + х Iliac, fibrous histiocytoma 1 Mediastinal, alveolar/bronchiolar carcinoma, metastatic, lung 2 Lymph node, mandibular 49 49 Lymph node, mesenteric + + + + Fibrous histiocytoma Х 1 50 Spleen + + + + + + + + Thymus 48 + ++ + + + + + + + Fibrous histiocytoma х 1 **Integumentary System** Mammary gland 50 + Skin 50 ++ **Musculoskeletal System** Bone 50 Skeletal muscle 1 Alveolar/bronchiolar carcinoma, metastatic, lung 1 **Nervous System** Brain 50 Peripheral nerve 1 Spinal cord 1 **Respiratory System** Lung + + 50 + + Alveolar/bronchiolar adenoma Х 3 х Alveolar/bronchiolar carcinoma х 4 Fibrous histiocytoma Х 1 Hepatocellular carcinoma, metastatic, liver 2 х Nose + + + + ++ + + + + + + + + + ++ 50 Trachea 50 + + + + ++ + + + + + ++ + + + + + + + + + + + +

•

TABLE D2

	0 1 5 5 6 6 6 6 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7	
Number of Days on Study	7 5 4 9 1 1 2 8 0 2 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3	
	8 6 6 7 3 5 8 6 8 3 0 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7	
	2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2	
Carcass ID Number	4 5 5 4 5 5 5 2 5 2 3 1 2 2 2 2 2 2 3 3 3 3 3 3 3	
	3 7 2 5 8 6 3 2 1 6 7 8 0 1 3 4 7 8 9 1 2 3 6 8 9	
Special Senses System		
Ear	+	
Harderian gland	+ + +	
Adenoma	x	
Carcinoma	X X	
Urinary System		
Kidney	+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +	
Alveolar/bronchiolar carcinoma,		
metastatic, lung	x	
Urinary bladder	·· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
Systemic Lesions		
Multiple organs	+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +	
Lymphoma malignant	X X X X X X X X	

•

Individual Animal Tumor Pathology of Female Mice in the 2-Year Feed Study of Phenolphthalein: 0 ppm (continued)

		7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	
Number of Days on Study		3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	
		7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	8	8	8	8	8	8	8	8	8	8	8	8	8	8	
	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	Total
Carcass ID Number		4	4	4	4	4	5	5	6	6	6	6	1	1	1	2	3	3	3	4	4	4	5	5	6	6	Tissues/
		0	1	2	8	9	4	5	1	2	3	5	6	7	9	5	0	4	5	4	6	7	0	9	0	4	Tumors
Special Senses System																											
Ear																											1
Harderian gland						+																					5
Adenoma					Х																						2
Carcinoma																											2
Urinary System																										_	
Kidney		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	50
Alveolar/bronchiolar carcinoma,																											
metastatic, lung																											1
Urinary bladder		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	50
Systemic Lesions																											
Multiple organs				+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+		+	+	+	+	+	+		+	+	+	50
Lymphoma malignant			Х								Х					Х			Х		Х	X				Х	15

-

TABLE D2

Individual Animal Tumor Pathology of Female Mice in the 2-Year Feed Study of Phenolphthalein: 3,000 ppm

																					_				-			
Number of Days on Study	1 2 6	2 6 6	4 3 5	5	0	1	5	7		8		0	1	6 (4 : 3 9	5 6	56	5 0) () :	3	3	3	3	7 3 7	3	_		
Carcass ID Number	3 0 9	6	0	8	8	8	7	7	6	8	9	9	8	2 : 7 (7 (0 (9 () 9	9	6	6	7	7		7	- <u>-</u> -		
Alimentary System													-															
Esophagus Gallbladder	+ +	+ A	+ +	+ +	+ +	+ +	+ +	+ +	+ +	+ +	+ +	+ +	+ A	+ +	+ /	+ · A ·	+ · + ·	+ +			+ +	+ +	+ +	+ +	+ +			
Histiocytic sarcoma Intestine large, colon	+	<u></u> т	+	+	Ŧ	Ŧ	Ŧ	+	+	+	A	+	۵	+	+	<u>ь</u> .	.	+	+	X +	+	+	Ŧ	+	+			
Intestine large, rectum	+	+	+	+	+	+			+		Â					+ •				+			+	+	+			
Intestine large, cecum Fibrosarcoma	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	A	+	A	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+			
Intestine small, duodenum	+	A	+											+					+	+	+	+	+	+	+			
Intestine small, jejunum	+		+											+					+			+	+	+	+			
Intestine small, ileum	+		+											+						+		+	+		+			
Liver Hemangiosarcoma, metastatic, spleen Hepatocellular carcinoma Hepatocellular adenoma Histiocytic sarcoma	+	• +	+	+	+	+	+	÷	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+		+ x	+	+	+	+	+			
Mesentery																								+			·	
Pancreas	+	• +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+			
Salivary glands	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+			
Stomach, forestomach Squamous cell carcinoma Squamous cell papilloma	+	• +	+				+				+			+								+			+			
Stomach, glandular		1	т				Т			T	<u></u>		-					·						<u> </u>			-	
Cardiovascular System Heart	÷	• +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	÷	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+			
Endocrine System																								_				
Adrenal cortex	+	• +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	ł	+	+	+	+			
Adrenal medulla	+	• +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+			
Islets, pancreatic	+	- +	+	+	+	+								+					+			+			+			
Parathyroid gland	+	- +	+	+	+	÷								+					+		+				+			
Pituitary gland	+	- +	• +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+			
Pars distalis, adenoma														+	.г	1.	_	-	т	Т	-	Т	+	-	+			
Thyroid gland Follicular cell, adenoma	+		• +	+	Ŧ	Ŧ	+	Ŧ	т	т	Ŧ	т	т	+		x	Ŧ	Ŧ	Ŧ	Ŧ	т	+	x		т			
General Body System Tissue NOS					· .									<u>, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , </u>		_		+					••••••	_				
Genital System	_					_					_			_										_				
Clitoral gland	N	1 +	- +	• +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+			
Ovary	+	1	• +	• +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	I	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+			
Cystadenoma																-									х			
Granulosa cell tumor benign																				••								
Histiocytic sarcoma																	v			X								
Sex-cord stromal tumor, benign Bilateral, sex-cord stromal tumor, benign																	х			X	х							
Uterus	-	+ +	- +	• +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+		+	+			
Histiocytic sarcoma Polyp stromal																		x				х						

TABLE D2

Individual Animal Tumor Pathology of Female Mice in the 2-Year Feed Study of Phenolphthalein: 3,000 ppm (continued)

individual Alimar Funite Fatiology	<i>y</i> 01 1 C																		T				_	,		I (
Number of Days on Study		7 3 7	7 3 7	7 3 7	7 3 7	7 3 7	3	3	3	3	3		3 3	77 333 77	3	3	7 3 7	7 3 8	3							
Carcass ID Number		2 7 9	8	2 8 4	2 8 5	8	9		9	9	9	3 0 4	0 (0 1	3 1 3	1	1	2 7 5	2 7 6	8	9	0	3 0 6	1	1	Total Tissues/ Tumors
Alimentary System																										
Bophagus		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+ +	+ +	- +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	50
Gallbladder		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+ N	1 +	- +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	46
Histiocytic sarcoma																										1
ntestine large, colon		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+ +	⊦ +	- +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	48
ntestine large, rectum		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+ +	+ +	- +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	49
ntestine large, cecum		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+ +	+ +	- +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	48
Fibrosarcoma																						Х				1
ntestine small, duodenum		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+ -	+ +	+ +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	47
ntestine small, jejunum		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+ -	+ +	+ +	• +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	48
ntestine small, ileum		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+ -	+ +	- +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	47
iver		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+ -	⊦ +	- +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	50
Hemangiosarcoma, metastatic, spleen												Х														1
Hepatocellular carcinoma									х																	1
Hepatocellular adenoma					х																		Х			2
Histiocytic sarcoma																										1
fesentery																									+	2
ancreas		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+ -	+ +	- +	• +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	50
alivary glands		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+ -	+ +	+ +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	50
tomach, forestomach		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+		+ -						+	+	+	+	+	+	50
Squamous cell carcinoma			-													X						-	-	-		1
Squamous cell papilloma								х																		1
tomach, glandular		+	+	+	+	+	+		+	+	+	+	+	+ •	+ +	F 4	• +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	49
			_									_														
Cardiovascular System Jeart		+		-			1	Ŀ	Ŧ			+	+	<u> </u>	с	+ +	• +	+	4	1	.1				+	50
1cait		т	т —	т		Ŧ	т	т —	т —	т 	т 	Ŧ	Τ	т ·	г т 	г т 	· ·	· •	т Т	т	т —			T	Τ	
Endocrine System																										
Adrenal cortex		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+ ·	+ +	+ +	• +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	50
Adrenal medulla		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+ · ·	+ +	+ +	- +	• +	• +	+	• +	+	+	+	+	50
slets, pancreatic		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+ ·	+ +	+ +	- +	• +	+	+	+	• +	+	+	+	50
Parathyroid gland		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	÷	+	+	+	+	+ ·	+ +	+ +	- +	• +	+	+	• +	+	+	+	+	48
Pituitary gland		+	+	.+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+ ·	+ +	+ +	- +	• +	· +	+	· +	• +	• +	+	+	50
Pars distalis, adenoma						Х				Х																2
Thyroid gland		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+ ·	+ +	+ +	- +	• +	• +	+ +	• +	+	• +	+	+	50
Follicular cell, adenoma																										2
General Body System Fissue NOS																										1
Genital System																										
Clitoral gland		+	+	+	+	+	Μ	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+ -	+ +	- +	• +	• +	• +	• +	• +	• +	• +	+	48
Dvary		+	+	+	• +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+ -	+ +	- +	• +	• +	• +	• +	• +	• +	• +	+	49
Cystadenoma															>	x x										3
Granulosa cell tumor benign										х																1
Histiocytic sarcoma																										1
Sex-cord stromal tumor, benign							х													Х	2	Х				6
Bilateral, sex-cord stromal tumor,							-															-				
benign																		Х								1
÷		Ŧ	+	• +	• +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+ -	+ -	+ +			1	- +		- +	• +	· +	50
Uterus																										
Uterus Histiocytic sarcoma		'							•			·														1

TABLE D2

Individual Animal Tumor Pathology of Female Mice in the 2-Year Feed Study of Phenolphthalein: 3,000 ppm (continued)

Number of Days on Study	2	2	6	3	5	0	1	5	7	78	88	0	6 1 5	4	5	6	6	0	0	3	3	3	-	3	3
Carcass ID Number	(0	6	0	8	8	8	7	7 (68		9	2 8 6	7	0	0	9	0	9	6	6		7		7
Hematopoietic System																_									
Bone marrow		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+ +	- +	• +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Histiocytic sarcoma																				х					
Lymph node				+	+		+			+	+ +	- +	• +				+	+	+				+	+	+
Lymph node, mandibular		ł	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+ +	- +	• +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Lymph node, mesenteric		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+ +	- +	• +	+	+	+	+	+			+	+	+	+	+
Histiocytic sarcoma																				х					
Spleen		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+ +	- 4	- +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Hemangiosarcoma																				.,					
Histiocytic sarcoma			_	-1-	. 1		ι.	.1					1 +		м	м				X			-		1
Thymus		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+ +	r IV	u +	+	1/1	1/1	+	Ť	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Integumentary System																									
Mammary gland		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+ +	+ +	- +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Skin		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+ +	+ -	+ +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Basal cell adenoma																									
Marala la																									<u></u>
Musculoskeletal System																									
Bone		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+ +	+ -	+ +	+		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Osteosarcoma															х										
Skeletal muscle																									
Hemangiosarcoma																_									
Nervous System												_													
Brain		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+ +	+ +	+ +	+	+	+	М	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Respiratory System					·		_																		
Lung		Ŧ	+	+	- 1 -	+	+	+	+	ж	. .	L 4	+ +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	-	+	+	+	
Alveolar/bronchiolar adenoma		1	,	,	,	'	'	'	1	,	,	1		1	,	,	•	,	,	'	'	•	'	,	1
Alveolar/bronchiolar carcinoma																х									
Carcinoma, metastatic, uncertain																••									
primary site						х																			
Hepatocellular carcinoma, metastatic,																									
liver																									
Histiocytic sarcoma																				х					
Nose		+	+	+	• +	+	+	+	+	+	+ -	+ •	+ +	• +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Osteosarcoma, metastatic, bone															Х										
Trachea		+	+	+	• +	+	+	+	+	+	+ •	+ •	+ +	• +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Special Senses System																					_				
Ear						+					+														
Harderian gland						, r					•												+		
Adenoma																									
Urinary System																									
Kidney		+	+	+	- +	• +	+	+	+	+	+ ·	+ •	+ +	- +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Urinary bladder		+	+	+	- +	• +	+	+	+	+	+	+ ·	+ +	- +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
							_									_					_				
Systemic Lesions																									
Systemic Lesions Multiple organs		+	+				ـ ـ	+	+	+	+ *	+ •	+ +			+	-	-	-	_		-	-		+
Multiple organs		+	+	• +	- +	- +	+	+	+	+	+ +	+ •	+ +	- +	+	+	+	+	+	+ x	+	+ x		+	+
		+			- + : x	- + :	· + x	+ x	+ x	+ x	+ • ·	+ · x :	+ + x x			+		+ x	+ x	+ X	+ x	+ X			+ x

Individual Animal Tumor Pathology of Female Mice in the 2-Year Feed Study of Phenolphthalein: 3,000 ppm (continued)

														-,													
Number of Days on Study		7					7 3	-				7				7							7				
uniber of Days on Study	3 7		7	3 7					3 7	3 8	3 8	3 8	3 8	3 8	3 8	3 8	3 8										
	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	2	2	2	2	3	3	3	3	Total
Carcass ID Number	7	8	3	8	8	8	9	9	9	9	9	0	0 ·	0	1	1	1	1	7	7	8	9	0	0	1	1	Tissues/
	9		l	4	5	7	1	3	5	6	9	4	5	8	1	3	4	5	5	6			3	6	0	2	Tumors
Hematopoietic System										-																	
Bone marrow	4	+ •	÷	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	50
Histiocytic sarcoma																											1
Lymph node					+							+															17
Lymph node, mandibular	4	⊦ •	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	• +	50 50
Lymph node, mesenteric Histiocytic sarcoma	-		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	• +	50 1
Spleen	-	ب ا	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	Ŧ	+	+	+	Ŧ	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	4	· +	
Hemangiosarcoma			'	•	•		'	'	•	'		x	•		•	•	•		•	•	•		•	•			1
Histiocytic sarcoma												••															1
Thymus	4	۲.	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	М	+	+	I	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	M	
Integumentary System																											
Mammary gland	4	F .	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+		• +	50
Skin	-	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	· 4	• +	
Basal cell adenoma							x	, i		·	•				,						•	•	•			•	1
Musculoskeletal System									_																		
Bone	-	⊦	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+		• +	50
Osteosarcoma																											1
Skeletal muscle												+															1
Hemangiosarcoma												х															1
Nervous System					_												-					_					
Brain	-	ł	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	• -	- +	49
Respiratory System																											
Lung	-	ł	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+		- +	· 50
Alveolar/bronchiolar adenoma												Х															1
Alveolar/bronchiolar carcinoma																Х			Х				Х				4
Carcinoma, metastatic, uncertain																											
primary site																											1
Hepatocellular carcinoma, metastatic,									x																		1
liver Histiocytic sarcoma									л																		1
Nose	-	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	÷	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+			- +	50
Osteosarcoma, metastatic, bone		•	'	'	'	•		'	•	•			•	•	•	'	•	•	'		'	'		'		•	1
Trachea	-	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	÷	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+		- +	- 50
Special Senses System	·																	_				_					
Ear																											2
Harderian gland																	+										2
Adenoma																	Х										1
Urinary System																											
Kidney		÷	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	• +	• +		+ +	
Urinary bladder		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	• +	+	+ •	+ +	- 50
																											- W.
											•						-1-	+	<u>ــ</u>	+					L .	+ +	- 50
Multiple organs		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	Ť	Ŧ	+	+	+	+	Ŧ	Ŧ	Ŧ	Ŧ	Ŧ	+	• +	• •		- ·	г т	
Systemic Lesions Multiple organs Histiocytic sarcoma Lymphoma malignant		+	+	+	+	+ x	+	+	+	-	Ŧ	×	+	+ x	·	+	×	Ŧ	Ŧ	Ŧ	+	• -	• +	 - X			2 28

TABLE D2

mutridual Ammai Tumor Tathor	ogy of remaie whice in the 2-real reed Study of rhenolphinalem. 0,000 ppin
	3 3 4 5 5 5 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 7 7 7 7 7 7 7
Number of Days on Study	2 3 7 5 6 6 0 0 1 2 4 5 5 8 8 9 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3
	9 8 9 1 1 7 2 4 5 2 5 1 4 6 6 3 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7
	3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3
Carcass ID Number	5 3 6 6 2 4 3 1 2 4 6 4 5 2 3 4 1 1 2 2 2 2 2 3 3
	8 7 2 4 1 6 2 6 5 0 3 5 7 9 8 1 8 9 0 2 4 7 8 0 1
Alimentary System	
Esophagus	+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +
Gallbladder	A + + A + + + + + + + A + A + + + + + +
Histiocytic sarcoma	Х
Intestine large, colon	A + + + + + + + + + A + + + + + + + + +
Intestine large, rectum	A + + + + + + + + + A + + + + + + + + +
Intestine large, cecum	A + + + + + + + + + A + + + + + + + + +
Intestine small, duodenum	A + + A + + + + + + + A + + + + + + + +
Intestine small, jejunum Carcinoma	A + + A + + + + + + + A + + A + + + + +
Intestine small, ileum	A + + A + + + + + + + A + + A + + + + +
Liver	+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +
Hepatocellular adenoma	X X
Histiocytic sarcoma	X X X
Mesentery	+ + +
Hemangiosarcoma	X
Pancreas	+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +
Histiocytic sarcoma	
Salivary glands	* + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +
Stomach, forestomach	+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +
Stomach, glandular	A + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +
Tooth	
Cardiovascular System	
Heart	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
Endocrine System	
Adrenal cortex	+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +
Adrenal medulla	+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +
Islets, pancreatic	+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +
Adenoma	X
Parathyroid gland	+ + M + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +
Pituitary gland	+ + + + + + + + M + + + + + + + + + + +
Pars distalis, adenoma	X
Thyroid gland	+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +
General Body System None	
Genital System	
Clitoral gland	+ + + + + + M + + + + + + M + + + + + +
Ovary	+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +
Sex-cord stromal tumor, benign	X
Uterus	+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +
Polyp stromal	х

Individual Animal Tumor Pathology of Female Mice in the 2-Year Feed Study of Phenolphthalein: 6,000 ppm

7 77 Number of Days on Study 3 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 3 Total **Carcass ID Number** 3 3 3 3 4 4 4 4 4 4 5 5 55 5 6 1 2 2 3 5 5 5 Tissues/ 6 6 3 5 6 9 2 3 4 7 8 9 1 4 5 6 9 0 1 5 7 3 6 4 0 2 3 Tumors **Alimentary System** Esophagus 50 + + + ++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + Gallbladder 46 + + + 4 + + + + + + + + + + + Histiocytic sarcoma 1 Intestine large, colon 48 Intestine large, rectum 48 + Intestine large, cecum 48 + + + + + + 47 Intestine small, duodenum + Intestine small, jejunum + + + 46 + Carcinoma Х 1 46 Intestine small, ileum + + + + + + + 50 Liver + + + + + + ++ + + + + + + + + х Hepatocellular adenoma х х х 6 х Histiocytic sarcoma Х Х 6 Mesentery + 7 + + Hemangiosarcoma 1 50 Pancreas + ++ + Histiocytic sarcoma 1 X 50 Salivary glands ++ + + + + + + + + ++ + + + + + 50 Stomach, forestomach +Stomach, glandular 49 + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + Tooth 1 **Cardiovascular System** 50 Heart + **Endocrine System** Adrenal cortex 50 + + + + + + + + + + + ++ + + + Adrenal medulla + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + ++ + + + + + + 50 50 Islets, pancreatic + + ++ + + + + + + + + + +++ + + + Adenoma 1 47 Parathyroid gland + M ++ + + M + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + 49 Pituitary gland + ++ + + + + + + + + + + + +++ + + + + + + + + Pars distalis, adenoma 1 Thyroid gland 50 **General Body System** None **Genital System** Clitoral gland 48 + + Ovary + + + + + + + + + ++ 50 х Sex-cord stromal tumor, benign Х х Х Х 6 50 Uterus + + + + + ++ +х 3 Polyp stromal Х

Individual Animal Tumor Pathology of Female Mice in the 2-Year Feed Study of Phenolphthalein: 6,000 ppm (continued)

TABLE D2

									_			_				_	_		_							_		_
	3						6															7	7	7		7		
lumber of Days on Study		3	7				0												3	3	3	3	3	3		3		
	9	8	9	1	1	7	2	4	5	2	5	1	4	6	6	3	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7		7		
	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3		3		
Carcass ID Number	5	3	6				3														2	2	2	3		3		
							2																					
	 -			-	-		_			-	-				-	_	-	-						-				_
Hematopoietic System																												
Bone marrow	+	+	+	+	+		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	÷	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	• +		F	+		
Hemangioma						Х																						
Histiocytic sarcoma											Х																	
Lymph node		+			+				+	+			+	+				+						-	ł			
Lymph node, mandibular	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	Μ	+	+	+	+	+	• +		⊦	+		
Histiocytic sarcoma											Х	Х																
Lymph node, mesenteric	+	+	+	Μ	+	+	+	+	+	+	Ŧ	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	• +		ł	+		
Fibrous histiocytoma																		Х										
Histiocytic sarcoma											Х	Х																
Spleen	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	• +		ł	+		
Hemangiosarcoma						X																						
Histiocytic sarcoma												х			х													
Thymus	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+			+		+	+	+	+	+	+		+		+	+		
Histiocytic sarcoma	•	•	•		•	x	•	•	•	•	·	•	•		•	•	·	•	•	·		•			•			
																_										_		_
Integumentary System																												
Mammary gland	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	• +	+	+ -	t	+		
Adenoacanthoma																Х												
Skin	+	+	+		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	• +	- +		ł	+		
Trichoepithelioma			х																									
Subcutaneous tissue, hemangiosarcoma																												
Musculoskeletal System												·																
Bone	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	-	+			L _	ŧ	+		
Skeletal muscle	•	'	•		'		•	•	ı					·	•	•		•	•			•				•		
Hemangiosarcoma																												
																			_	_		_					··	
Nervous System																												
Brain	+	+	+	+			+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	1		+ -	+	+		
Peripheral nerve					+																							
Spinal cord					+																							
Respiratory System																_												_
Lung	<u>т</u>	д	L.	L.		ъ	Т	-	. 1 .	щ	L	L	.ب	Ŀ	L.	L	л.	L	L	L.	ر .		L .1	L .	L	-		
5	т	т	Ŧ	+	Ť	4	т	т	т	Ť	+	+	Ŧ	+	+	+	Ŧ	+	+	+	- +	- 1			+ v			
Alveolar/bronchiolar adenoma																								2	X	х		
Alveolar/bronchiolar adenoma,																												
multiple																												
Alveolar/bronchiolar carcinoma																X												
Histiocytic sarcoma												X			X													
Nose	+	+	+	+	• +	+	+	+	+	+	+	• +	• +	• +	+	+	+	• +	+	• +	• +		+ -	+ •	+	+		
Hemangiosarcoma Trachea							+																					

Number of Days on Study	7777 3333 7777	7 7 7 7 3 3 3 3 7 7 7 7	3 3 3 3 3		3 3 3 3	7 7 7 7 7 3 3 3 3 3 8 8 8 8 8	
Carcass ID Number	3333 3333	3333		33333 55556	3 3 3 3 6 6 1 2	3 3 3 3 3 3 2 3 5 5 5	Total Tissues/
						64023	Tumors
Hematopoietic System			<u> </u>				
Bone marrow	<u>т</u> ттт	<u></u> .	ц ц ц ц ц .	<u>н н н н н</u>			50
Hemangioma	.		- -	- -	• • • • •		1
Histiocytic sarcoma		x					2
Lymph node	+ + +	Δ				+ +	13
Lymph node, mandibular	++++	+ + + -	+ + + +	+ + + + +		· + + + + +	49
Histiocytic sarcoma		x					3
Lymph node, mesenteric	+ + + +		+ + + +	+ + + + +	- + + + +	• • • • • •	49
Fibrous histiocytoma							1
Histiocytic sarcoma		Х					3
Spleen	+ + + + +		+ + + +	+ + + + +		• • • • • •	50
Hemangiosarcoma	, , , , , ,			x			2
Histiocytic sarcoma			х				3
Thymus	+ + + +	M + +	+ + + +	+ + + + +		· + + + + +	49
Histiocytic sarcoma		·· ·· · ·					1
Integumentary System						·····	
Mammary gland	<u>н т т т</u>	.	<u>т т т т</u>				50
Adenoacanthoma							1
Skin	+ + + +	+ + +	+ + + +	+ + + + +		• • + + + + +	50
Trichoepithelioma							1
Subcutaneous tissue, hemangiosarcoma				х			1
- ·····							
Musculoskeletal System Bone							50
Skeletal muscle	+ + + +	T T T	- - - - - - - - -		г т т т т L	• • • • • •	
				H X			1
Hemangiosarcoma				^	L		1
Nervous System							
Brain	+ + + +	+ + +	+ + + +	+ + + + +	+ + + + +	- + + + + +	50
Peripheral nerve							1
Spinal cord							1
Respiratory System							
Lung	+ + + +		+ + + +	+ + + + -	+ + + + +	• + + + + +	50
Alveolar/bronchiolar adenoma	Х		х				4
Alveolar/bronchiolar adenoma,							
multiple				х			1
Alveolar/bronchiolar carcinoma							1
Histiocytic sarcoma		Х					4
Nose	+ + + +	• + + +	+ + + +	+ + + + •	+ + + + +	+ + + + + +	50
Hemangiosarcoma					X		1
Trachea	+ + + +	• • • +	+ + + +	+ + + + -	+ + + + +	+ + + + + +	50
Special Senses System							
Harderian gland		+					1
Adenoma		х					1

Individual Animal Tumor Pathology of Female Mice in the 2-Year Feed Study of Phenolphthalein: 6,000 ppm (continued)

•

TABLE D2

Individual Animal Tumor Pathology of Female Mice in the 2-Year Feed Study of Phenolphthalein:	6.000 ppm (continued)
marridual rimmar ramor ramorogy of remarc since in the 2 rear reed stady of rimenorphichatem.	0,000 ppm (commund)

	3	3	4	5	5	5	6	6	6	6	6	6	6	6	6	6	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	
Number of Days on Study	2	3	7	5	6	6	0	0	1	2	4	5	5	8	8	9	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	
	9	8	9	1	1	7	2	4	5	2	5	1	4	6	6	3	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	
	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	
Carcass ID Number	5	3	6	6	2	4	3	1	2	4	6	4	5	2	3	4	1	1	2	2	2	2	2	3	3	
	8	7	2	4	1	6	2	6	5	0	3	5	7	9	8	1	8	9	0	2	4	7	8	0	1	
Urinary System									_																	
Kidney	+	• +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
Urinary bladder	А	. +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
Systemic Lesions																			-							
Multiple organs	+	• +	+	+	+	+	÷	+	÷	÷	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
Histiocytic sarcoma						х					х	Х			Х											
Lymphoma malignant		Х		х	x		x	Y	х	x			v	v	х		v	Y	х		Y	Y	v	X	v	

Individual Animal Tumor Pathology of Female Mice in the 2-Year Feed Study of Phenolphthalein: 6,000 ppm (continued)

	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	
Number of Days on Study	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	
	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	8	8	8	8	8	8	8	
	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	Total
Carcass ID Number	3	3	3	3	4	4	4	4	4	4	5	5	5	5	5	6	6	6	1	2	2	3	5	5	5	Tissues/
	3	5	6	9	2	3	4	7	8	9	1	4	5	6	9	0	1	5	7	3	6	4	0	2	3	Tumors
Urinary System																										
Kidney	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	50
Urinary bladder	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	49
Systemic Lesions																										
Multiple organs	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	50
Histiocytic sarcoma					Х				Х			Х														7
Lymphoma malignant	Х	Х	Х	Х		х					х			х	х		х	х	Х	х	X		Х		х	33

	0 4 4 4 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 6 6 6 6 6 6 7 7 7 7 7 7
Number of Days on Study	4 4 4 5 0 1 6 7 7 8 8 9 9 0 0 4 5 6 8 1 2 3 3 3 3
	0 7 9 0 5 4 8 3 8 8 9 4 8 1 2 0 2 7 0 5 2 0 7 7 7
	4 3 3 3 4 4 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 4 3 3 4 3 4
Carcass ID Number	1 9 8 9 1 1 9 9 8 8 9 9 8 7 0 8 6 1 8 0 6 0 6 6 7
	4 8 0 9 1 0 4 7 8 3 2 0 9 8 1 7 9 3 6 6 8 7 6 7 0
Alimentary System	
Esophagus	+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +
Gallbladder	+ + + + + + + A + A A + A A + + A +
Histiocytic sarcoma	X
Intestine large, colon	+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +
Intestine large, rectum	+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +
Intestine large, cecum	+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +
Intestine small, duodenum	+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +
Intestine small, jejunum	A + + + + + + + + + + A A + + + + + + A A + + + + A + + + + A + + + + + A + + + + + + A +
Intestine small, jejunum	+ + + + + + + + + + + A A + + + + + + +
Liver	+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +
Hepatocellular carcinoma	, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,
Hepatocellular adenoma	
Histiocytic sarcoma	x x x x x x x x
Mesentery	
Pancreas	
Histiocytic sarcoma	+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +
Salivary glands	X
	+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + M + + + + +
Stomach, forestomach	+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +
Squamous cell papilloma	
Stomach, glandular	+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +
Cardiovascular System	
Heart	+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +
Alveolar/bronchiolar carcinoma,	
metastatic, lung	Х
Endocrine System	
Adrenal cortex	+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +
Adrenal medulla	+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +
Islets, pancreatic	+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +
Parathyroid gland	+ + + + + M + + + + + + + M + + + + + +
Pituitary gland	+ + + + + + + + + + + + + M + + + + + +
Thyroid gland	+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +
General Body System None	
Genital System	
Clitoral gland	* * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +
Ovary	+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +
Cystadenoma	X
Hemangioma	
	Y
	X
Sex-cord stromal tumor, benign Uterus	X + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

Individual Animal Tumor Pathology of Female Mice in the 2-Year Feed Study of Phenolphthalein: 12,000 ppm

Individual Animal Tumor Pathology of Female Mice in the 2-Year Feed Study of Phenolphthalein: 12,000 ppm (continued)

······································				_	_	_			_		_		_		_	-		_	_	_					-		<u> </u>
Number of Desig or Ctr. J.						•	7		7		7		7				2	7	7	7	7	7	7	7		7	
Number of Days on Study	3			3 7		_	-	3 7	3 7	3 7	3 8	3 8	3 8	3 8	3 8												
~ <u>~~</u>	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	4	4	4	4	4	4	3	3	4	4	4	Total
Carcass ID Number	7	, ·	7	7	7	7	7	7	8	8	8		9	9	9	0	0	0	0	1	1	7	9	0	0	0	Tissues/
	1	ι.	2	3	5	6	7	9	1	2	4	5	3	5	6	2	3	4	9	2	5	4	1	0	5	8	Tumors
Alimentary System													_						_				_				
Esophagus	-	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	÷	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	50
Gallbladder	-	÷	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	44
Histiocytic sarcoma																											1
Intestine large, colon		÷	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	÷	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	48
Intestine large, rectum		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	49
Intestine large, cecum		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	÷	+	÷	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	45
Intestine small, duodenum	-	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	48
Intestine small, jejunum		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	÷	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	46
Intestine small, ileum		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	47
Liver		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	50
Hepatocellular carcinoma																х											1
Hepatocellular adenoma						х																					1
Histiocytic sarcoma																											7
Mesentery							+																				1
Pancreas		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	• +	+	50
Histiocytic sarcoma																											1
Salivary glands		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	• +	+	49
Stomach, forestomach		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+				+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	· +	+	50
Squamous cell papilloma		x	·	•	x	•	·	•		•		•		•	x	•	•	•	•	•			•		•		3
Stomach, glandular			+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	• +	+	50
Cardiovascular System	<u>'n 'n 'n 'n </u>																		-								
Heart		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	- +	• +	+	50
Alveolar/bronchiolar carcinoma,					-	-				-			·			-	-		-		-		-		-		
metastatic, lung																											1
Endocrine System									_													_					
Adrenal cortex		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	· +	• +	+	50
Adrenal medulla		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	• +	- +	• +	50
Islets, pancreatic		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	• +	+	+	50
Parathyroid gland		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	М	+	+	+	+	+	- +	- +	• +	47
Pituitary gland		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	М	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	· -	• +	• +	48
Thyroid gland		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	- +	- +	• +	50
General Body System None							_																				4 <u></u> , 10 , 11
Genital System																				-							
Clitoral gland		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+		• +	50
Очагу		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+			• +	50
Cystadenoma						-				-							-				,						1
Hemangioma																										x	
Sex-cord stromal tumor, benign														х					х		х		х				5
Uterus		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+		+	+	+	+								- +	
Polyp stromal			-														x									-	1

Individual Animal Tumor Pathology of Female Mice in the 2-Year Feed Study of Phenolphthalein: 12,000 ppm (continued)

		_	_			_								_		_					_				_		
	()	4	4	4	5	5	5	5	5			5	5	6	6	6	6	6	6	7	7	7	7	7	7	
Number of Days on Study	4	4	4	4	5	0	1	6	7	7	8	8	9	9					6		1	2	3	3	3	3	
	()	7	9	0	5	4	8	3	8	8	9	4	8	1	2	0	2	7	0	5	2	0	7	7	7	
		1	3	3	3	4	4	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	4	3	3	4	3	4	3	4	3	3	3	
Carcass ID Number	1	1	9	8	9	1	1	9	9	8	8	9	9	8					1	8	0		0	6			
	4	4	8	0	9	1								9				9	3	6	6	8	7	6	7	0	
Hematopoietic System		_			_		_							_						_		_					
Bone marrow		+	+	+	+	+	Ŧ	+	+	+	+	Ŧ	+	+	+	+	Ŧ	+	+	+	-	т	-	Т	-	Ŧ	
Histiocytic sarcoma		1		т	1	т	т	т	т	т	x	Ŧ	x	т	x	т	Ŧ	x	т	т	-	Ŧ	x	Ŧ	Ŧ	Ŧ	
Lymph node			+				т	+		+	+	+			+			7 +		+		+	Λ		+		
Iliac, histiocytic sarcoma			1				+	1		т	x	т	т		x			x		т		т			т		
Mediastinal, histiocytic sarcoma											Λ		х		Λ			Λ									
Pancreatic, histiocytic sarcoma											v		^														
											X X							v									
Renal, histiocytic sarcoma																		X									
ymph node, mandibular		+	÷	+	+	+	+	+	+	+		+	+			+	м		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
Histiocytic sarcoma											х			х				х									
ymph node, mesenteric		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+		+	+		+	+	+		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
Histiocytic sarcoma											х				Х			х					х				
Spleen		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+		+	+	+	+	+	
Hemangiosarcoma																					х						
Histiocytic sarcoma											х			Х				Х					Х				
Chymus		+	М	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	М	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
Alveolar/bronchiolar carcinoma,																											
metastatic, lung				х																							
Histiocytic sarcoma											х				х												
	_	_																		_				_		_	
Integumentary System																											
Mammary gland		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
Skin		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
Subcutaneous tissue, hemangiosarcoma																					х						
Musculoskeletal System																											
Bone		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
Osteosarcoma																	х										
Nervous System					_	_									_					_	_		_				
Brain		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
Respiratory System		_		_																	-						
Lung		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
Alveolar/bronchiolar adenoma		т	1	T	-	т	т	т	1	Ŧ	1	т	т	Ŧ	-		1	т		-		-	x		-	-	
Alveolar/bronchiolar adenoma				х																			л				
				л									v	x	v	v											
Histiocytic sarcoma													л	л	л	л	v										
Osteosarcoma, metastatic, bone																	x										
Nose		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
Carcinoma, metastatic, harderian																											
gland Trachea		-	Ŧ	ъ	<i>т</i>	ъ	д	.	ـــ	ᆂ	<i>н</i>	л.	т.	л.	ــ	<u>т</u>	.	ъ	т.	+	ъ	ъ	-	-		-	
		τ	-	Ŧ		+	т 	*	+			+	Ŧ		+	Ŧ	*	-	Ŧ		Τ.						
Special Senses System			,																								
Ear			+										+														
Harderian gland																								+			
Adenoma Carcinoma																								Х			

And a second s

~

Individual Animal Tumor Pathology of Female Mice in the 2-Year Feed Study of Phenolphthalein: 12,000 ppm (continued)

														_					_								_	
		7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7 '	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	
Number of Days on Study		3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	
		7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	8	8	8	8	8	8	
	- <u>N</u>	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	4	4	4	4	4	4	3	3	4	4	4	4	Total
Carcass ID Number		7	7	7	7	7	7	7	8	8	8	8	9	9	9	0	0	0	0	1	1	7	9	0	(0	0	Tissues/
		1	2	3	5	6	7	9	1	2	4	5	3	5	6	2	3	4	9	2		4	1	0	4	5	8	Tumors
Hematopoietic System									_														_					
Bone marrow		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+		+ •	+	+	50
Histiocytic sarcoma																												5
ymph node												+												H	+ ·	+	+	16
Iliac, histiocytic sarcoma																												3
Mediastinal, histiocytic sarcoma																												1
Pancreatic, histiocytic sarcoma																												1
Renal, histiocytic sarcoma																												2
Lymph node, mandibular		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	• +	⊦	+	+	49
Histiocytic sarcoma					•																							4
Lymph node, mesenteric		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	• •	+	+	+	50
Histiocytic sarcoma																												4
Spleen		+	+	+	+	Ŧ	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	-	+	+	+	50
Hemangiosarcoma																												1
Histiocytic sarcoma																												6
Fhymus		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	Μ	+	Μ	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	М	+	+	+	+	• •	F	+	+	45
Alveolar/bronchiolar carcinoma,																												
metastatic, lung																												1
Histiocytic sarcoma																												2
Integumentary System														_														
Mammary gland		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	• +		F	+	+	50
Skin		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+		ł	+	+	50
Subcutaneous tissue, hemangiosarcoma																												1
Musculoskeletal System							-	_								-	_											
Bone		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	- +		ł	+	+	50
Osteosarcoma																												1
Nervous System																												
Brain		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	• +		ł	+	+	50
Respiratory System																												<u></u>
Lung		+	+	+	• +	• +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+			ł	+	+	50
Alveolar/bronchiolar adenoma										х							х	х					Х		ĸ			6
Alveolar/bronchiolar carcinoma													х															2
Histiocytic sarcoma																												4
Osteosarcoma, metastatic, bone																												1
Nose		+	+	• +	- +	• +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	• +		۲ -	ł	+	+	50
Carcinoma, metastatic, harderian																												
gland																		х										1
Trachea		+	+	• +	- +	• +	• +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	• +		+	+	+	+	50
Special Senses System																												
Ear																												2
Harderian gland																		+										2
Adenoma																												1
Adenonità																												-

Individual Animal Tumor Pathology of Female Mice in the 2-Year Feed Study of Phenolphthalein: 12,000 ppm (continued)

	0	4	4	4	5	5	5	5	5	5	5	5	5	6	6	6	6	6	6	7	7	7	7	7	7
Number of Days on Study	4	4	4	5	0	1	6	7	7	8	8	9	9	0	0	4	5	6	8	1	2	3	3	3	3
	0	7	9	0	5	4	8	3	8	8	9	4	8	1	2	0	2	7	0	5	2	0	7	7	7
	4	3	3	3	4	4	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	4	3	3	4	3	4	3	4	3	3	3
Carcass ID Number	1	9	8	9	1	1	9	9	8	8	9	9	8	7	0	8	6	1	8	0	6	0	6	6	7
	4	8	0	9	1	0	4	7	8	3	2	0	9	8	1	7	9	3	6	6	8	7	6	7	0
Urinary System																									
Kidney	+	+	+	- +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Histiocytic sarcoma												Х													
Urinary bladder	+	- +	1	• +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Systemic Lesions																									
Multiple organs	-	+		+ +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	÷	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Histiocytic sarcoma										Х		Х	Х	Х	х		Х					Х			
Lymphoma malignant		Х		x	х	х	х		х		х								Х		х		x	Х	х

Individual Animal Tumor Pathology of Female Mice in the 2-Year Feed Study of Phenolphthalein: 12,000 ppm (continued)

Number of Days on Study	7 3 7		7 3 7	7 3 8	7 3 8	7 3 8	7 3 8	7 3 8																			
Carcass ID Number	7		7	3 7 3	3 7 5	3 7 6	3 7 7	3 7 9	3 8 1	3 8 2	3 8 4	3 8 5	3 9 3	3 9 5	3 9 6	4 0 2	4 0 3	4 0 4	4 0 9	4 1 2	4 1 5	3 7 4	3 9 1	4 0 0	4 0 5	4 0 8	Total Tissues/ Tumors
Urinary System Kidney Histiocytic sarcoma			+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	•	+	•	+	+	+	+			+	•	•	•	+	++	50 1 50
Urinary bladder Systemic Lesions Multiple organs Histiocytic sarcoma Lymphoma malignant		+ +	+	+	+ + x	+	+	+	+	+ + X	+				+ + X				+		+		+	+	+	+ + x	50 7 25

TΔ	RI	\mathbf{F}	D

TABLE D3 Statistical Analysis of Primary Neoplasms in Female Mice in the 2-Year Feed Study of Phenolphthalein

	0 ppm	3,000 ppm	6,000 ppm	12,000 ppm
Harderian Gland: Adenoma or Carcinoma	<u> </u>			<u></u>
Overall rate ^a	4/50 (8%)	1/50 (2%)	1/50 (2%)	2/50 (4%)
Adjusted rate ^b	10.0%	3.2%	2.9%	7.1%
Terminal rate ^c	3/39 (8%)	1/31 (3%)	1/34 (3%)	2/28 (7%)
First incidence (days)	730	737 (T)	737 (T)	737 (T)
Life table test ^d	P=0.422N	P=0.258N	P = 0.227N	P = 0.497N
Logistic regression test ^d	P = 0.414N	P = 0.259N	P = 0.230N	P = 0.485N
Cochran-Armitage test ^d	P = 0.313N	1-0.2391	1-0.2501	1-0.4851
Fisher exact test ^d	1 -0.51514	P=0.181N	P=0.181N	P=0.339N
Liver: Hepatocellular Adenoma				
Overall rate	17/50 (34%)	2/50 (4%)	6/50 (12%)	1/50 (2%)
Adjusted rate	41.2%	6.5%	17.1%	3.6%
Ferminal rate	15/39 (38%)	2/31 (6%)	5/34 (15%)	1/28 (4%)
First incidence (days)	597	737 (T)	693	737 (T)
Life table test	P<0.001N	P = 0.001N	P = 0.022N	P<0.001N
Logistic regression test	P<0.001N	P<0.001N	P=0.015N	P<0.001N
Cochran-Armitage test	P<0.001N			
Fisher exact test		P<0.001N	P=0.008N	P<0.001N
Liver: Hepatocellular Carcinoma				
Overall rate	6/50 (12%)	1/50 (2%)	0/50 (0%)	1/50 (2%)
Adjusted rate	14.9%	3.2%	0.0%	3.6%
Ferminal rate	5/39 (13%)	1/31 (3%)	0/34 (0%)	1/28 (4%)
First incidence (days)	708	737 (T)	_ ^e	737 (T)
Life table test	P=0.046N	P=0.106N	P=0.028N	P=0.128N
Logistic regression test	P=0.042N	P=0.099N	P=0.025N	P = 0.111N
Cochran-Armitage test	P=0.025N			
isher exact test		P=0.056N	P=0.013N	P=0.056N
Liver: Hepatocellular Adenoma or Carcinoma				
Dverall rate	21/50 (42%)	3/50 (6%)	6/50 (12%)	2/50 (4%)
Adjusted rate	49.8%	9.7%	17.1%	7.1%
Terminal rate	18/39 (46%)	3/31 (10%)	5/34 (15%)	2/28 (7%)
First incidence (days)	597	737 (T)	693	737 (T)
Life table test	P<0.001N	P<0.001N	P=0.003N	P<0.001N
ogistic regression test	P<0.001N	P<0.001N	P=0.002N	P<0.001N
Cochran-Armitage test	P<0.001N			
Fisher exact test		P<0.001N	P<0.001N	P<0.001N
Lung: Alveolar/bronchiolar Adenoma			FIFE 140 M	
Overall rate	3/50 (6%)	1/50 (2%)	5/50 (10%)	6/50 (12%)
Adjusted rate	7.2%	3.2%	14.7%	20.7%
Ferminal rate	2/39 (5%)	1/31 (3%)	5/34 (15%)	5/28 (18%)
First incidence (days)	615	737 (T)	737 (T)	730
Life table test	P=0.032	P = 0.385N	P=0.289	P=0.115
Logistic regression test	P=0.041	P=0.328N	P=0.315	P=0.154
Cochran-Armitage test	P=0.080			
Fisher exact test		P=0.309N	P=0.357	P=0.243

Statistical Analysis of Primary Neoplasms in Female Mice in the 2-Year Feed Study of Phenolphthalein (continued)

	0 ppm	3,000 ppm	6,000 ppm	12,000 ppm
Lung: Alveolar/bronchiolar Carcinoma	<u> </u>			
Overall rate	4/50 (8%)	4/50 (8%)	1/50 (2%)	2/50 (4%)
Adjusted rate	9.4%	12,3%	2.9%	5.6%
Terminal rate	2/39 (5%)	3/31 (10%)	0/34 (0%)	1/28 (4%)
First incidence (days)	597	663	693	449
Life table test	P=0.276N	P = 0.514	P = 0.231N	P=0.459N
Logistic regression test	P = 0.190N	P = 0.607	P = 0.180N	P=0.321N
Cochran-Armitage test	P = 0.186N	1 0.007		
Fisher exact test		P=0.643N	P=0.181N	P=0.339N
Lung: Alveolar/bronchiolar Adenoma or	Carcinoma			
Overall rate	6/50 (12%)	5/50 (10%)	6/50 (12%)	8/50 (16%)
Adjusted rate	13.8%	15.4%	17.1%	25.7%
Ferminal rate	3/39 (8%)	4/31 (13%)	5/34 (15%)	6/28 (21%)
First incidence (days)	597	663	693	449
Life table test	P=0.133	P=0.597	P=0.522	P=0.198
Logistic regression test	P=0.213	P = 0.542N	P=0.603	P=0.354
Cochran-Armitage test	P = 0.269	·		
Fisher exact test		P=0.500N	P=0.620N	P=0.387
Ovary: Cystadenoma				
Overall rate	0/50 (0%)	3/49 (6%)	0/50 (0%)	1/50 (2%)
Adjusted rate	0.0%	9.7%	0.0%	2.1%
Ferminal rate	0/39 (0%)	3/31 (10%)	0/34 (0%)	0/28 (0%)
First incidence (days)		737 (T)	-	449
Life table test	P=0.575	P=0.084	_	P=0.500
Logistic regression test	P=0.626N	P=0.084	<u> </u>	P=0.518
Cochran-Armitage test	P=0.631N			
Fisher exact test		P=0.117		P=0.500
Ovary: Benign Sex-Cord Stromal Tumo				
Overall rate	0/50 (0%)	7/49 (14%)	6/50 (12%)	5/50 (10%)
Adjusted rate	0.0%	21.7%	17.6%	17.9%
Ferminal rate	0/39 (0%)	6/31 (19%)	6/34 (18%)	5/28 (18%)
First incidence (days)	-	668	737 (T)	737 (T)
Life table test	P=0.056	P=0.004	P = 0.011	P = 0.012
Logistic regression test	P=0.066	P = 0.004	P = 0.011	P=0.012
Cochran-Armitage test	P=0.142			
Fisher exact test		P=0.006	P=0.013	P=0.028
Pituitary Gland (Pars Distalis): Adenom				
Overall rate	3/49 (6%)	2/50 (4%)	1/49 (2%)	0/48 (0%)
Adjusted rate	7.9%	6.5%	2.9%	0.0%
Terminal rate	3/38 (8%)	2/31 (6%)	1/34 (3%)	0/27 (0%)
First incidence (days)	737 (T)	737 (T)	737 (T)	—
Life table test	P=0.094N	P=0.593N	P = 0.345N	P = 0.187N
Logistic regression test	P=0.094N	P=0.594N	P=0.345N	P=0.187N
Cochran-Armitage test	P = 0.064 N			
Fisher exact test		P=0.490N	P = 0.309N	P=0.125N
TABLE	D3			
-------	-----------			
-------	-----------			

Statistical Analysis of Primary Neoplasms in Female Mice in the 2-Year Feed Study of Phenolphthalein (continued)

	0 ppm	3,000 ppm	6,000 ppm	12,000 ppm
Stomach (Forestomach): Squamous Cell Pa	nilloma			<u> </u>
Overall rate	1/50 (2%)	1/50 (2%)	0/50 (0%)	3/50 (6%)
Adjusted rate	2.6%	3.2%	0.0%	10.7%
Ferminal rate	2.0% 1/39 (3%)	1/31 (3%)	0/34 (0%)	3/28 (11%)
First incidence (days)	737 (T)	737 (T)	0/34 (0/0)	737 (T)
Life table test	P=0.105	P=0.710	P=0.527N	P=0.195
ogistic regression test	P = 0.105 P=0.105	P = 0.710	P = 0.527N P = 0.527N	P = 0.195 P=0.195
Cochran-Armitage test	P = 0.103 P = 0.160	r-0.710	r=0.52/1	F=0.195
isher exact test	1-0.100	P=0.753N	P=0.500N	P=0.309
tomach (Forestomach): Squamous Cell Pa	nilloma or Squamous Ce	ll Carcinoma		
Overall rate	1/50 (2%)	2/50 (4%)	0/50 (0%)	3/50 (6%)
djusted rate	2.6%	6.5%	0.0%	10.7%
erminal rate	1/39 (3%)	2/31 (6%)	0/34 (0%)	3/28 (11%)
First incidence (days)	737 (T)	737 (T)		737 (T)
Life table test	P=0.164	P=0.420	P=0.527N	P=0.195
Logistic regression test	P = 0.164 P = 0.164	P = 0.420 P = 0.420	P = 0.527N P = 0.527N	P = 0.195
Cochran-Armitage test	P = 0.104 P = 0.242	1 -0.740	1 -0.52/11	1
Fisher exact test	1 -0.242	P=0.500	P=0.500N	P=0.309
Jterus: Stromal Polyp				
Overall rate	1/50 (2%)	2/50 (4%)	3/50 (6%)	1/50 (2%)
Adjusted rate	2.6%	6.2%	8.8%	3.6%
erminal rate	1/39 (3%)	1/31 (3%)	3/34 (9%)	1/28 (4%)
First incidence (days)	737 (T)	703	737 (T)	737 (T)
Life table test	P=0.521	P=0.419	P=0.257	P=0.686
_ogistic regression test	P = 0.541	P = 0.440	P=0.257	P = 0.686
Cochran-Armitage test	P=0.577N			
Fisher exact test		P=0.500	P=0.309	P=0.753N
All Organs: Hemangiosarcoma				
Dverall rate	0/50 (0%)	1/50 (2%)	4/50 (8%)	1/50 (2%)
Adjusted rate	0.0%	3.2%	10.8%	3.2%
Ferminal rate	0/39 (0%)	1/31 (3%)	3/34 (9%)	0/28 (0%)
First incidence (days)	_ 、 ,	737 (T)	567	715
Life table test	P=0.263	P=0.454	P=0.051	P=0.444
ogistic regression test	P=0.312	P=0.454	P=0.062	P=0.473
Cochran-Armitage test	P=0.337			
Fisher exact test		P=0.500	P=0.059	P=0.500
All Organs: Hemangioma or Hemangiosarc	oma			
Overall rate	2/50 (4%)	1/50 (2%)	4/50 (8%)	2/50 (4%)
Adjusted rate	4.8%	3.2%	10.8%	6.7%
Ferminal rate	1/39 (3%)	1/31 (3%)	3/34 (9%)	1/28 (4%)
First incidence (days)	686	737 (T)	567	715
life table test	P=0.368	P=0.583N	P=0.285	P=0.575
Logistic regression test	P=0.435	P=0.548N	P=0.332	P=0.640
Cochran-Armitage test	P=0.477			
Fisher exact test		P=0.500N	P=0.339	P=0.691N

Statistical Analysis of Primary Neoplasms in Female Mice in the 2-Year Feed Study of Phenolphthalein (continued)

	0 ppm	3,000 ppm	6,000 ppm	12,000 ppm
All Organs: Histiocytic Sarcoma		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	··· ···	
Overall rate	0/50 (0%)	2/50 (4%)	7/50 (14%)	7/50 (14%)
Adjusted rate	0.0%	6.5%	17.6%	18.0%
Terminal rate	0/39 (0%)	2/31 (6%)	3/34 (9%)	0/28 (0%)
First incidence (days)	_	737 (T)	567	588
Life table test	P = 0.002	P=0.189	P=0.007	P=0.005
Logistic regression test	P=0.009	P=0.189	P=0.010	P=0.011
Cochran-Armitage test	P=0.004			
Fisher exact test		P=0.247	P=0.006	P=0.006
All Organs: Malignant Lymphoma				
Overall rate	15/50 (30%)	28/50 (56%)	33/50 (66%)	25/50 (50%)
Adjusted rate	34.3%	60.2%	74.6%	65.8%
Terminal rate	11/39 (28%)	13/31 (42%)	23/34 (68%)	16/28 (57%)
First incidence (days)	156	266	338	447
Life table test	P=0.010	P=0.003	P<0.001	P=0.004
Logistic regression test	P = 0.114	P=0.051	P<0.001	P=0.035
Cochran-Armitage test	P = 0.060			
Fisher exact test		P=0.007	P<0.001	P=0.033
All Organs: Benign Neoplasms				
Overall rate	26/50 (52%)	20/50 (40%)	23/50 (46%)	17/50 (34%)
Adjusted rate	58.8%	58.7%	61.7%	56.1%
Terminal rate	21/39 (54%)	17/31 (55%)	20/34 (59%)	15/28 (54%)
First incidence (days)	78	663	479	449
Life table test	P=0.372N	P=0.509N	P=0.566	P=0.389N
Logistic regression test	P=0.208N	P=0.431N	P=0.559N	P=0.199N
Cochran-Armitage test	P=0.067N			
Fisher exact test		P=0.158N	P=0.345N	P=0.053N
All Organs: Malignant Neoplasms				
Overall rate	25/50 (50%)	35/50 (70%)	41/50 (82%)	37/50 (74%)
Adjusted rate	55.1%	71.4%	85.4%	78.5%
Terminal rate	19/39 (49%)	17/31 (55%)	27/34 (79%)	18/28 (64%)
First incidence (days)	156	266	338	447
Life table test	P = 0.002	P=0.011	P<0.001	P=0.001
Logistic regression test	P=0.040	P=0.166	P<0.001	P=0.058
Cochran-Armitage test	P=0.010			
Fisher exact test		P=0.033	P<0.001	P=0.011

	0 ppm	3,000 ppm	6,000 ppm	12,000 ppm
All Organs: Benign or Malignant Neoplasms				
Overall rate	40/50 (80%)	40/50 (80%)	47/50 (94%)	43/50 (86%)
Adjusted rate	83.3%	81.6%	95.9%	91.4%
Terminal rate	31/39 (79%)	22/31 (71%)	32/34 (94%)	24/28 (86%)
First incidence (days)	78	266	338	447
Life table test	P=0.014	P=0.135	P=0.024	P=0.014
Logistic regression test	P=0.230	P=0.566N	P=0.037	P=0.282
Cochran-Armitage test	P=0.158			
Fisher exact test		P=0.598N	P=0.036	P=0.298

Statistical Analysis of Primary Neoplasms in Female Mice in the 2-Year Feed Study of Phenolphthalein (continued)

(T)Terminal sacrifice

^a Number of neoplasm-bearing animals/number of animals examined. Denominator is number of animals examined microscopically for liver, lung, ovary, pituitary gland, stomach, and uterus; for other tissues, denominator is number of animals necropsied.

^b Kaplan-Meier estimated neoplasm incidence at the end of the study after adjustment for intercurrent mortality

^c Observed incidence at terminal kill

^d Beneath the control incidence are the P values associated with the trend test. Beneath the exposed group incidence are the P values corresponding to pairwise comparisons between the controls and that exposed group. The life table test regards neoplasms in animals dying prior to terminal kill as being (directly or indirectly) the cause of death. The logistic regression test regards these lesions as nonfatal. The Cochran-Armitage and Fisher exact tests compare directly the overall incidence rates. For all tests, a negative trend or a lower incidence in an exposure group is indicated by N.

^e Not applicable; no neoplasms in animal group

TABLE D4a Historical Incidence of Histiocytic Sarcoma in Untreated Female B6C3F1 Mice^a

stitute/TSI Mason Laboratories, Inc.	
0/50	
1/50	
0/50	
19/1,473 (1.3%)	
1.6%	
0%-4%	
3	0/50 1/50 0/50 2/49 0/50 0/50 19/1,473 (1.3%) 1.6%

TABLE D4b Historical Incidence of Malignant Lymphoma in Untreated Female B6C3F1 Micea

Study	Incidence in Controls	
Historical Incidence at EG&G Mason Research In	stitute/TSI Mason Laboratories, Inc.	
1-Amino-2,4-dibromoanthraquinone	11/50	
Acetaminophen	10/50	
HC Yellow 4	9/50	
Methylphenidate Hydrochloride	12/49	
Pentaerythritol Tetranitrate	20/50	
Turmeric Oleoresin	9/50	
Overall Historical Incidence		
Total	339/1,473 (23.0%)	
Standard deviation	11.9%	
Range	6%-44%	

^a Data as of 12 May 1995; includes data for histocytic, lymphocytic, mixed, unspecified, or undifferentiated cell type lymphomas

Study	Incidence in Controls	
Historical Incidence at EG&G Mason Research Ins	stitute/TSI Mason Laboratories, Inc.	
1-Amino-2,4-dibromoanthraquinone	0/49	
Acetaminophen	0/47	
HC Yellow 4	0/50	
Methylphenidate Hydrochloride	0/46	
Pentaerythritol Tetranitrate	0/50	
Turmeric Oleoresin	0/50	
Overall Historical Incidence		
Total	5/1,436 (0.4%)	
Standard deviation	1.0%	
Range	0%-4%	

TABLE D4c Historical Incidence of Luteoma in the Ovary of Untreated Female B6C3F1 Mice^a

^a Data as of 12 May 1995

TABLE D4d Historical Incidence of Hepatocellular Neoplasms in Untreated Female B6C3F1 Mice^a

		Incidence in Cont	rols	
Study	Adenoma	Carcinoma	Adenoma or Carcinoma	
Historical Incidence at EG&G Ma	son Research Institute/1	SI Mason Laborator	ies, Inc.	<u></u>
1-Amino-2,4-dibromoanthraquinone	6/50	0/50	6/50	
Acetaminophen	3/49	0/49	3/49	
HC Yellow 4	5/50	1/50	6/50	
Methylphenidate Hydrochloride	6/49	5/49	9/49	
Pentaerythritol Tetranitrate	5/49	1/49	6/49	
Turmeric Oleoresin	7/50	7/50	13/50	
Overall Historical Incidence				
Total	231/1,464 (15.8%)	108/1,464 (7.4%)	313/1,464 (21.4%)	
Standard deviation	10.6%	6.1%	13.0%	
Range	2%-50%	0%-20%	3%-56%	

^a Data as of 12 May 1995

Summary of the Incidence of Nonneoplastic Lesions in Female Mice in the 2-Year Feed Study of Phenolphthalein^a

	0 ppm	3,000 ppm	6,000 ppm	12,000 ppm
Disposition Summary			· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
Animals initially in study	50	50	50	50
Early deaths				
Moribund	5	13	9	12
Natural deaths	6	6	7	10
Survivors				
Died last week of the study	1			
Terminal sacrifice	38	31	34	28
Animals examined microscopically	50	50	50	50
Alimentary System				
Intestine large, cecum	(50)	(48)	(48)	(45)
Hemorrhage			1 (2%)	
Epithelium, hyperplasia				1 (2%)
Intestine small, jejunum	(49)	(48)	(46)	(46)
Hemorrhage			1 (2%)	
Liver	(50)	(50)	(50)	(50)
Angiectasis	2 (4%)			4 (8%)
Clear cell focus	1 (2%)	2 (4%)		
Eosinophilic focus	20 (40%)	4 (8%)	2 (4%)	1 (2%)
Fibrosis	1 (2%)			
Hematopoietic cell proliferation			2 (4%)	1 (2%)
Inflammation, chronic	1 (2%)		1 (2%)	
Mixed cell focus	3 (6%)	2 (4%)	1 (2%)	
Necrosis	2 (4%)	2 (4%)	1 (2%)	2 (4%)
Vacuolization cytoplasmic	3 (6%)			2 (4%)
Centrilobular, necrosis				1 (2%)
Kupffer cell, hyperplasia	1 (2%)			
Mesentery	(16)	(2)	(7)	(1)
Inflammation, chronic	1 (6%)			
Fat, congestion			1 (14%)	
Fat, necrosis	14 (88%)	2 (100%)	5 (71%)	1 (100%)
Pancreas	(50)	(50)	(50)	(50)
Cytoplasmic alteration				1 (2%)
Inflammation, acute				1 (2%)
Inflammation, chronic	1 (2%)			
Necrosis				1 (2%)
Acinus, atrophy				1 (2%)
Stomach, forestomach	(50)	(50)	(50)	(50)
Edema			2 (4%)	
Hemorrhage				1 (2%)
Hyperkeratosis		1 (2%)	:	_ · · · · · ·
Hyperplasia, squamous	3 (6%)	6 (12%)	4 (8%)	2 (4%)
Inflammation, chronic		1 (2%)	1 (2%)	
Ulcer		2 (4%)		3 (6%)
Muscularis, hyperplasia	1 (2%)			

^a Number of animals examined microscopically at the site and the number of animals with lesion

Summary of the Incidence of Nonneoplastic Lesions in Female Mice in the 2-Year Feed Study of Phenolphthalein (continued)

	0 ppm	3,000 ppm	6,000 ppm	12,000 ррт
Alimentary System (continued)	<u></u>			
Stomach, glandular	(50)	(49)	(49)	(50)
Edema	()		2 (4%)	
Erosion		1 (2%)	1 (2%)	3 (6%)
Glands, hyperplasia			1 (2%)	· · /
Tooth			(1)	
Inflammation, chronic			1 (100%)	
Cardiovascular System		····		
Heart	(50)	(50)	(50)	(50)
Angiectasis	· /	1 (2%)		1 (2%)
Cardiomyopathy	2 (4%)	1 (2%)	2 (4%)	1 (2%)
Hemorrhage	· · · · · /		1 (2%)	1 (2%)
Inflammation, chronic	1 (2%)	1 (2%)	_ (-,-,	- ()
Inflammation, chronic active	- (-/-)	- ~-~~		1 (2%)
Mineralization		5 (10%)	4 (8%)	7 (14%)
Atrium, thrombosis		- ((())	1 (2%)
Valve, inflammation, acute			1 (2%)	- (-/0)
Valve, inflammation, chronic active		1 (2%)	- (-,-,	
Adrenal cortex	(50)	(50)	(50)	(50)
Adrenal cortex Angiectasis	(50) 1 (2%)	(50)	(50)	
Adrenal cortex Angiectasis Degeneration, cystic	1 (2%)	(50)	(50)	1 (2%)
Adrenal cortex Angiectasis Degeneration, cystic Hematopoietic cell proliferation	1 (2%) 1 (2%)	(50)	(50)	
Adrenal cortex Angiectasis Degeneration, cystic Hematopoietic cell proliferation Hypertrophy, focal	1 (2%) 1 (2%) 1 (2%)			1 (2%) 1 (2%)
Adrenal cortex Angiectasis Degeneration, cystic Hematopoietic cell proliferation Hypertrophy, focal Capsule, hyperplasia	1 (2%) 1 (2%) 1 (2%) 49 (98%)	50 (100%)	50 (100%)	1 (2%) 1 (2%) 49 (98%)
Adrenal cortex Angiectasis Degeneration, cystic Hematopoietic cell proliferation Hypertrophy, focal Capsule, hyperplasia Adrenal medulla	1 (2%) 1 (2%) 1 (2%) 49 (98%) (50)			1 (2%) 1 (2%)
Adrenal cortex Angiectasis Degeneration, cystic Hematopoietic cell proliferation Hypertrophy, focal Capsule, hyperplasia Adrenal medulla Hyperplasia	1 (2%) 1 (2%) 1 (2%) 49 (98%) (50) 2 (4%)	50 (100%) (50)	50 (100%) (50)	1 (2%) 1 (2%) 49 (98%) (50)
Adrenal cortex Angiectasis Degeneration, cystic Hematopoietic cell proliferation Hypertrophy, focal Capsule, hyperplasia Adrenal medulla Hyperplasia Islets, pancreatic	1 (2%) 1 (2%) 1 (2%) 49 (98%) (50) 2 (4%) (49)	50 (100%) (50) (50)	50 (100%) (50) (50)	1 (2%) 1 (2%) 49 (98%) (50) (50)
Adrenal cortex Angiectasis Degeneration, cystic Hematopoietic cell proliferation Hypertrophy, focal Capsule, hyperplasia Adrenal medulla Hyperplasia Islets, pancreatic Hyperplasia	1 (2%) 1 (2%) 1 (2%) 49 (98%) (50) 2 (4%) (49) 32 (65%)	50 (100%) (50) (50) 32 (64%)	50 (100%) (50) (50) 37 (74%)	1 (2%) 1 (2%) 49 (98%) (50) (50) 26 (52%)
Adrenal cortex Angiectasis Degeneration, cystic Hematopoietic cell proliferation Hypertrophy, focal Capsule, hyperplasia Adrenal medulla Hyperplasia Islets, pancreatic Hyperplasia Parathyroid gland	$ \begin{array}{c} 1 & (2\%) \\ 1 & (2\%) \\ 1 & (2\%) \\ 49 & (98\%) \\ (50) \\ 2 & (4\%) \\ (49) \\ 32 & (65\%) \\ (46) \end{array} $	50 (100%) (50) (50)	50 (100%) (50) (50)	1 (2%) 1 (2%) 49 (98%) (50) (50)
Adrenal cortex Angiectasis Degeneration, cystic Hematopoietic cell proliferation Hypertrophy, focal Capsule, hyperplasia Adrenal medulla Hyperplasia Islets, pancreatic Hyperplasia Parathyroid gland Cyst	1 (2%) 1 (2%) 1 (2%) 49 (98%) (50) 2 (4%) (49) 32 (65%)	50 (100%) (50) (50) 32 (64%)	50 (100%) (50) (50) 37 (74%) (47)	1 (2%) 1 (2%) 49 (98%) (50) (50) 26 (52%)
Adrenal cortex Angiectasis Degeneration, cystic Hematopoietic cell proliferation Hypertrophy, focal Capsule, hyperplasia Adrenal medulla Hyperplasia Islets, pancreatic Hyperplasia Parathyroid gland Cyst Hyperplasia	$ \begin{array}{c} 1 & (2\%) \\ 1 & (2\%) \\ 1 & (2\%) \\ 49 & (98\%) \\ (50) \\ 2 & (4\%) \\ (49) \\ 32 & (65\%) \\ (46) \\ 1 & (2\%) \end{array} $	50 (100%) (50) (50) 32 (64%) (48)	50 (100%) (50) (50) 37 (74%) (47) 1 (2%)	1 (2%) 1 (2%) 49 (98%) (50) (50) (50) 26 (52%) (47)
Adrenal cortex Angiectasis Degeneration, cystic Hematopoietic cell proliferation Hypertrophy, focal Capsule, hyperplasia Adrenal medulla Hyperplasia Islets, pancreatic Hyperplasia Parathyroid gland Cyst Hyperplasia Pituitary gland	$ \begin{array}{c} 1 & (2\%) \\ 1 & (2\%) \\ 1 & (2\%) \\ 49 & (98\%) \\ (50) \\ 2 & (4\%) \\ (49) \\ 32 & (65\%) \\ (46) \end{array} $	50 (100%) (50) (50) 32 (64%) (48) (50)	50 (100%) (50) (50) 37 (74%) (47)	1 (2%) 1 (2%) 49 (98%) (50) (50) 26 (52%)
Adrenal cortex Angiectasis Degeneration, cystic Hematopoietic cell proliferation Hypertrophy, focal Capsule, hyperplasia Adrenal medulla Hyperplasia Islets, pancreatic Hyperplasia Parathyroid gland Cyst Hyperplasia Pituitary gland Pars distalis, angiectasis	$ \begin{array}{c} 1 & (2\%) \\ 1 & (2\%) \\ 1 & (2\%) \\ 49 & (98\%) \\ (50) \\ 2 & (4\%) \\ (49) \\ 32 & (65\%) \\ (46) \\ 1 & (2\%) \end{array} $	50 (100%) (50) (50) 32 (64%) (48) (50) 1 (2%)	50 (100%) (50) (50) 37 (74%) (47) 1 (2%)	1 (2%) 1 (2%) 49 (98%) (50) (50) (50) 26 (52%) (47) (48)
Adrenal cortex Angiectasis Degeneration, cystic Hematopoietic cell proliferation Hypertrophy, focal Capsule, hyperplasia Adrenal medulla Hyperplasia Islets, pancreatic Hyperplasia Parathyroid gland Cyst Hyperplasia Pituitary gland Pars distalis, angiectasis Pars distalis, cyst	$ \begin{array}{c} 1 & (2\%) \\ 1 & (2\%) \\ 1 & (2\%) \\ 49 & (98\%) \\ (50) \\ 2 & (4\%) \\ (49) \\ 32 & (65\%) \\ (46) \\ 1 & (2\%) \\ (49) \end{array} $	50 (100%) (50) 32 (64%) (48) (50) 1 (2%) 1 (2%)	50 (100%) (50) (50) (50) (50) (74%) (47) (47) (47) (49)	1 (2%) 1 (2%) 49 (98%) (50) (50) 26 (52%) (47) (48) 1 (2%)
Adrenal cortex Angiectasis Degeneration, cystic Hematopoietic cell proliferation Hypertrophy, focal Capsule, hyperplasia Adrenal medulla Hyperplasia islets, pancreatic Hyperplasia Parathyroid gland Cyst Hyperplasia Pituitary gland Pars distalis, angiectasis Pars distalis, cyst Pars distalis, hyperplasia	$ \begin{array}{c} 1 & (2\%) \\ 1 & (2\%) \\ 1 & (2\%) \\ 49 & (98\%) \\ (50) \\ 2 & (4\%) \\ (49) \\ 32 & (65\%) \\ (46) \\ 1 & (2\%) \\ (49) \\ 11 & (22\%) \end{array} $	50 (100%) (50) (50) 32 (64%) (48) (50) 1 (2%)	50 (100%) (50) (50) 37 (74%) (47) 1 (2%)	1 (2%) 1 (2%) 49 (98%) (50) (50) (50) 26 (52%) (47) (48)
Adrenal cortex Angiectasis Degeneration, cystic Hematopoietic cell proliferation Hypertrophy, focal Capsule, hyperplasia Adrenal medulla Hyperplasia Islets, pancreatic Hyperplasia Parathyroid gland Cyst Hyperplasia Pituitary gland Pars distalis, angiectasis Pars distalis, cyst Pars distalis, hyperplasia Rathke's cleft, cyst	$ \begin{array}{c} 1 & (2\%) \\ 1 & (2\%) \\ 1 & (2\%) \\ 49 & (98\%) \\ (50) \\ 2 & (4\%) \\ (49) \\ 32 & (65\%) \\ (46) \\ 1 & (2\%) \\ \end{array} $ $ \begin{array}{c} 11 & (22\%) \\ 11 & (22\%) \\ 1 & (2\%) \end{array} $	50 (100%) (50) 32 (64%) (48) (50) 1 (2%) 1 (2%) 4 (8%)	50 (100%) (50) (50) (50) (37 (74%) (47) (47) (47) (49) (49) (49) (2%)	$ \begin{array}{c} 1 & (2\%) \\ 1 & (2\%) \\ 49 & (98\%) \\ (50) \\ (50) \\ 26 & (52\%) \\ (47) \\ (48) \\ 1 & (2\%) \\ 1 & (2\%) \end{array} $
Adrenal cortex Angiectasis Degeneration, cystic Hematopoietic cell proliferation Hypertrophy, focal Capsule, hyperplasia Adrenal medulla Hyperplasia Islets, pancreatic Hyperplasia Parathyroid gland Cyst Hyperplasia Pituitary gland Pars distalis, angiectasis Pars distalis, cyst Pars distalis, hyperplasia Rathke's cleft, cyst Thyroid gland	$ \begin{array}{c} 1 & (2\%) \\ 1 & (2\%) \\ 1 & (2\%) \\ 49 & (98\%) \\ (50) \\ 2 & (4\%) \\ (49) \\ 32 & (65\%) \\ (46) \\ 1 & (2\%) \\ (49) \\ \end{array} $ $ \begin{array}{c} 11 & (22\%) \\ 1 & (2\%) \\ (50) \end{array} $	50 (100%) (50) 32 (64%) (48) (50) 1 (2%) 1 (2%)	50 (100%) (50) (50) (50) (50) (74%) (47) (47) (47) (49)	1 (2%) 1 (2%) 49 (98%) (50) (50) 26 (52%) (47) (48) 1 (2%)
Degeneration, cystic Hematopoietic cell proliferation Hypertrophy, focal Capsule, hyperplasia Adrenal medulla Hyperplasia Islets, pancreatic Hyperplasia Parathyroid gland Cyst Hyperplasia Pituitary gland Pars distalis, angiectasis Pars distalis, hyperplasia	$ \begin{array}{c} 1 & (2\%) \\ 1 & (2\%) \\ 1 & (2\%) \\ 49 & (98\%) \\ (50) \\ 2 & (4\%) \\ (49) \\ 32 & (65\%) \\ (46) \\ 1 & (2\%) \\ \end{array} $ $ \begin{array}{c} 11 & (22\%) \\ 11 & (22\%) \\ 1 & (2\%) \end{array} $	50 (100%) (50) 32 (64%) (48) (50) 1 (2%) 1 (2%) 4 (8%)	50 (100%) (50) (50) (50) (37 (74%) (47) (47) (47) (49) (49) (49) (2%)	$ \begin{array}{c} 1 & (2\%) \\ 1 & (2\%) \\ 49 & (98\%) \\ (50) \\ (50) \\ 26 & (52\%) \\ (47) \\ (48) \\ 1 & (2\%) \\ 1 & (2\%) \end{array} $

General Body System

None

Summary of the Incidence of Nonneoplastic Lesions in Female Mice in the 2-Year Feed Study of Phenolphthalein (continued)

0р	pm	3,000	ppm	6,000	ppm	12,00	ю ррт
						<u> </u>	
(48)		(48)		(48)		(50)	
	(4%)		4%)				(2%)
				1	(2%)		
2	(4%)	3 ((5%)			1	(2%)
				(50)			
• •	(2%)				(2%)	(
	• •	8 (16%)			12	(24%)
							(4%)
			•				(34%)
					(2070)		(0.70)
		- (-	_ /// /				
-	(270)	1 (2%)				
		× (.	_ , , ,			1	(2%)
							(2%)
(50)		(50)		(50)			(2 /0)
	(6%)	(50)		(50)		(50)	
3	(070)			1	(2%)		
40	(08%)	16 1	07%)			45	(90%)
	•	40 (92 70)	43	(00 //)	45	(90%)
1	(270)					1	(2%)
						1	(270)
····						- <u>.</u>	
(50)		(50)		(50)		(50)	
(50)			2021		(20)	(50)	
24	((0))					26	(70 0)
	• •						(72%)
	(4%)		0%)		(22%)		(22%)
		(17)		(13)		(16)	
	•						
	• •						
	(7%)						
(49)		(50)		(49)			
						1	(2%)
1	(2%)						
			(2%)		(2%)		
(49)		(50)		(49)		(50)	
	(2%)		(4%)		(6%)		(4%)
							(2%)
1	(2%)						
	• •						
				1	(2%)		
		(50)		(50)		(50)	
	(2%)	(00)		(()	
		14	(28%)	20	(40%)	21	(42%)
							(6%)
-	(0,0)			2	(*/*/		
		1	(2%)				(2%)
	(48) 2 (50) 1 15 3 3 1 1 (50) 3 49 1 (50) 34 2 (14) 2 1 1 1 (49) 1 (49) 1 (50) 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	(48) 2 (4%) 2 (4%) (50) 1 (2%) 15 (30%) 3 (6%) 3 (6%) 1 (2%) 1 (2%) (50) 3 (6%) 49 (98%) 1 (2%) (50) 34 (68%) 2 (4%) (14) 2 (14%) 1 (7%) 1 (7%) 1 (7%) 1 (7%) 1 (7%) 1 (7%) 1 (7%) 1 (7%) 1 (7%) 1 (7%) 1 (2%) (2%) (2%) (2%) (2%) (2%) (2%) (2%)	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$

Summary of the Incidence of Nonneoplastic Lesions in Female Mice in the 2-Year Feed Study of Phenolphthalein (continued)

	0 ppm	3,000 ppm	6,000 ppm	12,000 ppm
Hematopoietic System (continued)				<u>, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , </u>
Thymus	(48)	(44)	(49)	(45)
Atrophy	3 (6%)	1 (2%)	6 (12%)	9 (20%)
Fibrosis	1 (2%)		. ,	
Hyperplasia, atypical		7 (16%)	6 (12%)	5 (11%)
Infiltration cellular, polymorphonuclear	2 (4%)			
Integumentary System				
Skin	(50)	(50)	(50)	(50)
Inflammation, chronic	× /	2 (4%)	. ,	
Ulcer				1 (2%)
Subcutaneous tissue, edema			3 (6%)	3 (6%)
Subcutaneous tissue, inflammation, chro	onic			1 (2%)
Musculoskeletal System None Nervous System Brain	(50)	(40)	(50)	(50)
None Nervous System Brain	(50)	(49)	(50)	(50) 1: (2 <i>%</i>)
None Nervous System Brain Demyelination	(50)	(49)	(50)	1 (2%)
None Nervous System Brain Demyelination Hemorrhage				1 (2%) 2 (4%)
None Nervous System Brain Demyelination Hemorrhage Thalamus, mineralization	(50) 28 (56%) (1)	(49) 23 (47%)	(50) 24 (48%) (1)	1 (2%)
None Nervous System Brain Demyelination Hemorrhage	28 (56%)		24 (48%)	1 (2%) 2 (4%)
None Nervous System Brain Demyelination Hemorrhage Thalamus, mineralization Peripheral nerve Demyelination	28 (56%) (1)		24 (48%)	1 (2%) 2 (4%)
None Nervous System Brain Demyelination Hemorrhage Thalamus, mineralization Peripheral nerve	28 (56%) (1) 1 (100%)		24 (48%) (1)	1 (2%) 2 (4%)
None Nervous System Brain Demyelination Hemorrhage Thalamus, mineralization Peripheral nerve Demyelination Spinal cord Demyelination	28 (56%) (1) 1 (100%) (1)		24 (48%) (1)	1 (2%) 2 (4%)
None Nervous System Brain Demyelination Hemorrhage Thalamus, mineralization Peripheral nerve Demyelination Spinal cord Demyelination Respiratory System	28 (56%) (1) 1 (100%) (1) 1 (100%)	23 (47%)	24 (48%) (1) (1)	1 (2%) 2 (4%) 24 (48%)
None Nervous System Brain Demyelination Hemorrhage Thalamus, mineralization Peripheral nerve Demyelination Spinal cord Demyelination Respiratory System Lung	28 (56%) (1) 1 (100%) (1)		24 (48%) (1) (1) (50)	1 (2%) 2 (4%)
None Nervous System Brain Demyelination Hemorrhage Thalamus, mineralization Peripheral nerve Demyelination Spinal cord Demyelination Respiratory System	28 (56%) (1) 1 (100%) (1) 1 (100%) (50) 7 (14%)	23 (47%) (50)	24 (48%) (1) (1)	1 (2%) 2 (4%) 24 (48%)
None Nervous System Brain Demyelination Hemorrhage Thalamus, mineralization Peripheral nerve Demyelination Spinal cord Demyelination Respiratory System Lung Hemorrhage	28 (56%) (1) 1 (100%) (1) 1 (100%) (50)	23 (47%) (50) 4 (8%)	24 (48%) (1) (1) (50)	1 (2%) 2 (4%) 24 (48%)

Summary of the Incidence of Nonneoplastic Lesions in Female Mice in the 2-Year Feed Study of Phenolphthalein (continued)

	0 ppm	3,000 ppm	6,000 ppm	12,000 ppm
Urinary System			<u> </u>	<u> </u>
Kidney	(50)	(50)	(50)	(50)
Cyst		1 (2%)		1 (2%)
Hydronephrosis	1 (2%)	1 (2%)		1 (2%)
Infarct		1 (2%)		
Inflammation, chronic	1 (2%)			
Mineralization			1 (2%)	
Necrosis			1 (2%)	1 (2%)
Nephropathy, chronic	15 (30%)	16 (32%)	19 (38%)	14 (28%)
Pigmentation	1 (2%)			
Pelvis, hemorrhage				1 (2%)
Renal tubule, accumulation, hyaline droplet		1 (2%)	3 (6%)	8 (16%)
Renal tubule, dilatation				2 (4%)
Urinary bladder	(50)	(50)	(49)	(50)
Hyperplasia, lymphoid		1 (2%)		
Infiltration cellular, lymphocyte			1 (2%)	

Phenolphthalein, NTP TR 465

APPENDIX E GENETIC TOXICOLOGY

SALMONELL	A MUTAGENICITY TEST PROTOCOL	260
CHINESE H	AMSTER OVARY CELL CYTOGENETICS PROTOCOLS	260
MOUSE PER	RIPHERAL BLOOD MICRONUCLEUS TEST PROTOCOL	261
RESULTS		262
TABLE E1	Mutagenicity of Phenolphthalein in Salmonella typhimurium	263
TABLE E2	Induction of Sister Chromatid Exchanges in Chinese Hamster Ovary Cells	
	by Phenolphthalein	266
TABLE E3	Induction of Chromosomal Aberrations in Chinese Hamster Ovary Cells	
	by Phenolphthalein	267
TABLE E4	Frequency of Micronuclei in Mouse Peripheral Blood Erythrocytes	
	Following Treatment with Phenolphthalein in Feed for 13 Weeks	268

GENETIC TOXICOLOGY

SALMONELLA MUTAGENICITY TEST PROTOCOL

Testing was performed as reported by Mortelmans *et al.* (1986). Phenolphthalein was sent to the laboratories as a coded aliquot from Radian Corporation (Austin, TX). It was incubated with the *Salmonella typhimurium* tester strains TA98, TA100, TA1535, and TA1537 either in buffer or S9 mix (metabolic activation enzymes and cofactors from Aroclor 1254-induced male Sprague-Dawley rat or Syrian hamster liver) for 20 minutes at 37° C. Top agar supplemented with *l*-histidine and *d*-biotin was added, and the contents of the tubes were mixed and poured onto the surfaces of minimal glucose agar plates. Histidine-independent mutant colonies arising on these plates were counted following incubation for 2 days at 37° C.

Each trial consisted of triplicate plates of concurrent positive and negative controls and of at least five doses of phenolphthalein. The high dose was limited by toxicity. All trials were repeated.

In this assay, a positive response is defined as a reproducible, dose-related increase in histidineindependent (revertant) colonies in any one strain/activation combination. An equivocal response is defined as an increase in revertants that is not dose related, not reproducible, or is not of sufficient magnitude to support a determination of mutagenicity. A negative response is obtained when no increase in revertant colonies is observed following chemical treatment. There is no minimum percentage or fold increase required for a chemical to be judged positive or weakly positive.

CHINESE HAMSTER OVARY CELL CYTOGENETICS PROTOCOLS

Testing was performed as reported by Galloway *et al.* (1987) and by Witt *et al.* (1995). Phenolphthalein was sent to the laboratory as a coded aliquot by Radian Corporation. It was tested in cultured Chinese hamster ovary (CHO) cells for induction of sister chromatid exchanges (SCEs) and chromosomal aberrations (Abs) both in the presence and absence of Aroclor 1254-induced male Sprague-Dawley rat liver S9 and cofactor mix. Cultures were handled under gold lights to prevent photolysis of bromodeoxyuridine-substituted DNA. Each test consisted of concurrent solvent and positive controls and of at least three doses of phenolphthalein; the high dose was limited by toxicity. A single flask per dose was used, and tests yielding equivocal or positive results were repeated.

Sister Chromatid Exchange Test: In the SCE test without S9, CHO cells were incubated for 26 hours with phenolphthalein in McCoy's 5A medium supplemented with fetal bovine serum, *l*-glutamine, and antibiotics. Bromodeoxyuridine (BrdU) was added 2 hours after culture initiation. After 26 hours, the medium containing phenolphthalein was removed and replaced with fresh medium plus BrdU and Colcemid, and incubation was continued for 2 hours. Cells were then harvested by mitotic shake-off, fixed, and stained with Hoechst 33258 and Giemsa. In the SCE test with S9, cells were incubated with phenolphthalein, serum-free medium, and S9 for 2 hours. The medium was then removed and replaced with medium containing serum and BrdU and no phenolphthalein, and incubation proceeded for an additional 26 hours with Colcemid present for the final 2 hours. Harvesting and staining were the same as for cells treated without S9. All slides were scored blind, and those from a single test were read by the same person. Fifty second-division metaphase cells were scored for frequency of SCEs/cell from each dose level. Because significant chemical-induced cell cycle delay was seen at the 50 μ g/mL dose, incubation time was lengthened to 31 hours to ensure a sufficient number of scorable (second-division metaphase) cells.

Statistical analyses were conducted on the slopes of the dose-response curves and the individual dose points (Galloway *et al.*, 1987). An SCE frequency 20% above the concurrent solvent control value was chosen as a statistically conservative positive response. The probability of this level of difference occurring by chance at one dose point is less than 0.01; the probability for such a chance occurrence at two dose points is less than 0.001. An increase of 20% or greater at any single dose was considered weak evidence of activity; increases at two or more doses resulted in a determination that the trial was positive. A highly significant trend ($P \le 0.005$) in the absence of any responses reaching 20% above background led to a call of equivocal.

Chromosomal Aberrations Test: In the Abs test without S9, cells were incubated in McCoy's 5A medium with phenolphthalein for 14.2 hours; Colcemid was added and incubation continued for 2 hours. The cells were then harvested by mitotic shake-off, fixed, and stained with Giemsa. For the Abs test with S9, cells were treated with phenolphthalein and S9 for 2 hours, after which the treatment medium was removed and the cells incubated for 12 hours in fresh medium, with Colcemid present for the final 2 hours. Cells were harvested in the same manner as for the treatment without S9. The harvest time for the Abs test was based on the cell cycle information obtained in the SCE test; because cell cycle delay was anticipated in the absence of S9, the incubation period for these cultures was extended.

Cells were selected for scoring on the basis of good morphology and completeness of karyotype $(21 \pm 2 \text{ chromosomes})$. All slides were scored blind, and those from a single test were read by the same person. Two hundred first-division metaphase cells were scored at each dose level. Classes of aberrations included simple (breaks and terminal deletions), complex (rearrangements and translocations), and other (pulverized cells, despiralized chromosomes, and cells containing 10 or more aberrations).

Chromosomal aberration data are presented as percentage of cells with aberrations. To arrive at a statistical call for a trial, analyses were conducted on both the dose response curve and individual dose points. For a single trial, a statistically significant ($P \le 0.05$) difference for one dose point and a significant trend ($P \le 0.015$) were considered weak evidence for a positive response; significant differences for two or more doses indicated the trial was positive. A positive trend in the absence of a statistically significant increase at any one dose point led to an equivocal call (Galloway *et al.*, 1987). Ultimately, the trial calls were based on a consideration of the statistical analyses as well as the biological information available to the reviewers.

MOUSE PERIPHERAL BLOOD MICRONUCLEUS TEST PROTOCOL

A detailed discussion of this assay is presented in Dietz *et al.* (1992). At the end of the 13-week study, blood was obtained from male and female mice, and smears were immediately prepared and fixed in absolute methanol. The methanol-fixed slides were stained with a chromatin-specific fluorescent dye mixture of Hoechst 33258/pyronin Y (MacGregor *et al.*, 1983) and coded. Slides were scanned at a magnification of $630 \times$ or $1000 \times$ using a semi-automated image analysis system to determine the frequency of micronuclei in 2,000 polychromatic erythrocytes (PCEs) and 10,000 normochromatic erythrocytes (NCEs) in each of 10 animals per exposure group. The criteria of Schmid (1976) were used to define micronuclei, with the additional requirement that micronuclei exhibit the characteristic fluorescent emissions of DNA (blue with 360 nm and orange with 540 nm illumination); the minimum size limit was approximately one-twentieth the diameter of the nucleus.

The frequency of micronucleated cells among PCEs was analyzed by the Cochran-Armitage trend test, and individual exposure groups were compared to the concurrent control groups by Kastenbaum-Bowman's binomial test. Log transformation of the NCE data and testing for normality by the Shapiro-Wilk test and for heterogeneity of variance by Cochran's test were performed before statistical analyses. The frequency

of micronucleated cells among NCEs was analyzed by analysis of variance using the SAS GLM procedure. The NCE data for each exposure group were compared with the concurrent control group using Student's *t*-test.

RESULTS

Phenolphthalein, tested independently in two laboratories, was not mutagenic in Salmonella typhimurium strain TA98, TA100, TA1535, or TA1537, with or without induced rat or hamster liver S9 metabolic activation enzymes (Table E1; Mortelmans et al., 1986). In cytogenetic tests with cultured CHO cells, no induction of SCEs was observed after treatment with 0.5 to 50 μ g/mL phenolphthalein with or without S9 (Table E2). Cytotoxicity was noted at the 50 μ g/mL dose level, and culture times were extended to maximize the proportion of cells available for analysis at this dose level. Results of the *in vitro* Abs test with phenolphthalein were positive for the two trials conducted with S9; no increase in Abs was observed in the absence of S9 (Table E3; Witt et al., 1995). At the 50 μ g/mL dose level, approximately one quarter of all cells contained aberrations, and most of these were chromosome breaks located at the distal end of X_a . The significance of this preferential breakage is as yet unknown, but it has been noted with other chemicals, and it occurs only in the presence of S9. A discussion of possible mechanisms for this phenomenon is presented in Galloway et al. (1987). Results from the in vivo mouse peripheral blood micronucleus test were positive for both male and female mice (Table E4; Dietz et al., 1992). Significant increases in micronuclei were noted for both NCE and PCE populations. The increases in micronucleated NCEs, which indicate the effects of chronic exposure, occurred at all exposure concentrations in males and females. The effects on PCEs, which indicate chromosomal damage induced within the 48 hours preceding analysis, occurred only at 25,000 and 50,000 ppm, the two highest exposure concentrations.

		Revertants/plate ^b							
train	Dose	- 59		<u>+10%</u> ha	mster S9	+10% rat S 9			
(J	µg/plate)	Trial 1	Trial 2	Trial 1	Trial 2	Trial 1	Trial 2		
Study pe	erformed a	t EG&G Masor	Research Insti	tute					
FA100	0	153 ± 7.9	176 ± 6.2	144 ± 5.7	197 ± 6.9	125 ± 5.6	169 ± 6.8		
	3.3	141 ± 7.2	170 ± 4.5	140 ± 6.6	196 ± 7.5	124 ± 3.0	173 ± 11.8		
	10	131 ± 2.1	180 ± 4.7	145 ± 8.3	211 ± 8.5	150 ± 7.6	166 ± 14.7		
	33	127 ± 3.0	163 ± 3.4	140 ± 10.4	198 ± 7.2	140 ± 9.9	177 ± 1.5		
	100	157 ± 7.4	184 ± 9.0	162 ± 1.5	204 ± 8.8	148 ± 6.6	191 ± 7.2		
	220		132 ± 2.7^{c}		226 ± 3.5^{c}		168 ± 6.9^{c}		
	333	Toxic		94 ± 6.4^{c}	8015	92 ± 5.9^{c}			
rial sum		Negative	Negative	Negative	Negative	Negative	Negative		
Positive c	ontrol ^d	984 ± 41.6	1,072 ± 48.0	1,109 ± 32.7	691 ± 21.4	908 ± 46.0	617 ± 8.8		
ra1535	0	31 ± 3.8	28 ± 7.0	13 ± 1.2	11 ± 1.2	15 ± 1.9	14 ± 0.6		
	3.3	29 ± 3.5	26 ± 1.9	11 ± 0.0	12 ± 0.0	10 ± 1.8	12 ± 2.3		
	10	21 ± 4.7	19 ± 3.3	9 ± 2.0	12 ± 1.9	11 ± 3.3	11 ± 0.7		
	33	31 ± 5.2	21 ± 3.7	9 ± 1.0	13 ± 4.2	9 ± 3.8	17 ± 1.8		
	100	28 ± 4.0	25 ± 2.6	11 ± 0.9	14 ± 0.6	12 ± 2.3	13 ± 1.2		
	220		Toxic		14 ± 0.6^{c}		15 ± 4.7^{c}		
	333	Toxic		Toxic		6 ± 1.0^{c}			
rial sum	-	Negative	Negative	Negative	Negative	Negative	Negative		
Positive c	ontrol	972 ± 21.3	840 ± 53.4	148 ± 15.2	68 ± 1.5	117 ± 6.6	59 ± 0.9		
FA1537	0	5 ± 2.3	7 ± 1.2	12 ± 1.8	9 ± 2.0	7 ± 1.5	9 ± 2.1		
	3.3	7 ± 0.6	6 ± 2.3	12 ± 0.3	9 ± 2.2	7 ± 1.0	8 ± 0.3		
	10	7 ± 2.3	7 ± 0.7	8 ± 1.2	7 ± 1.2	9 ± 0.3	10 ± 1.0		
	33	6 ± 0.6	5 ± 2.0	8 ± 1.8	11 ± 1.2	8 ± 1.2	7 ± 0.6		
	100	6 ± 1.2	11 ± 1.5	9 ± 1.5	9 ± 0.3	8 ± 0.9	11 ± 1.8		
	220		4 ± 1.0^{c}		$10 \pm 1.8^{\circ}$		$5 \pm 0.3^{\circ}$		
	333	Toxic		5 ± 1.7^{c}		Toxic			
rial sum	mary	Negative	Negative	Negative	Negative	Negative	Negative		
Positive c	•	393 ± 85.6	188 ± 17.2	102 ± 2.3	54 ± 2.5	73 ± 1.5	42 ± 2.5		
ГА98	0	17 ± 1.8	19 ± 2.7	23 ± 2.7	23 ± 4.0	19 ± 1.3	22 ± 2.3		
	3.3	21 ± 2.1	18 ± 2.3	29 ± 3.2	23 ± 1.0	26 ± 0.9	28 ± 3.1		
	10	20 ± 2.1	12 ± 2.0	26 ± 1.5	32 ± 2.1	23 ± 2.6	25 ± 2.6		
	33	21 ± 2.7	14 ± 3.8	27 ± 2.0	25 ± 2.0	25 ± 4.5	25 ± 0.6		
	100	16 ± 1.5	11 ± 0.9	29 ± 2.4	25 ± 1.2	25 ± 4.4	20 ± 0.3		
	220		10 ± 2.9^{c}		33 ± 5.0^{c}		25 ± 2.6^{c}		
	333	Toxic		30 ± 2.4^{c}		29 ± 2.6^{c}			
Trial sum	mary	Negative	Negative	Negative	Negative	Negative	Negative		
Positive c	•	$1,335 \pm 20.7$	$1,335 \pm 27.2$	$1,231 \pm 9.5$	467 ± 30.1	$1,001 \pm 10.1$	402 ± 49.7		

TABLE E1 Mutagenicity of Phenolphthalein in Salmonella typhimurium^a

		Revertants/plate							
Strain	Dose		- S 9		+10% hamster S9				
I	(µg/plate)	Trial 1	Trial 2	Trial 3	Trial 1	Trial 2	Trial 3		
Study p	performed	at Case Western	Reserve Univ	/ersity		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·			
ГА100	0	86 ± 1.7	99 ± 10.2	87 ± 0.9	90 ± 6.5	104 ± 8.0	113 ± 12.8		
	3.3	-	94 ± 6.0.	82 ± 1.2		94 ± 2.4	96 ± 5.6		
	10	94 ± 8.0	79 ± 7.7	88 ± 4.3	95 ± 8.0	95 ± 3.8	102 ± 10.1		
	33	90 ± 6.0	85 ± 5.9	82 ± 7.8	102 ± 6.0	113 ± 9.0	89 ± 6.7		
	100	109 ± 23.4	72 ± 1.2	70 ± 7.3	100 ± 9.2	120 ± 5.8	108 ± 10.7		
	333	Toxic	Toxic	Toxic	Toxic	122 ± 6.9	117 ± 9.3		
	1,000	Toxic		10/10	13 ± 8.5				
Frial sur	•	Negative	Negative	Negative	Negative	Negative	Negative		
Positive	control	1,381 ± 22.1	911 ± 36.0	1,641 ± 38.6	945 ± 126.4	1,383 ± 108.6	$2,007 \pm 217.0$		
		+10%	rat S9						
		Trial 1	Trial 2						
FA100 continue	0 ed) 3.3	115 ± 9.9	128 ± 3.5						
	10	92 ± 5.9	107 ± 2.7						
	33	90 ± 1.8	128 ± 2.9						
	100	101 ± 3.5	118 ± 6.2						
	333	90 ± 3.9	126 ± 4.0						
	1,000	Toxic	103 ± 15.4						
Trial sur	•	Negative	Negative						
Positive	control	1,491 ± 345.7							
			- \$9			amster S9			
		Trial 1	Trial 2	Trial 3	Trial 1	Trial 2			
ГА153		7 ± 0.9	14 ± 1.5	5 ± 1.8	10 ± 1.0	13 ± 0.3			
	3.3		12 ± 1.2	6 ± 1.7					
	10	10 ± 0.9	9 ± 1.5	7 ± 1.5	13 ± 1.5	12 ± 3.5			
	33	9 ± 2.3	8 ± 1.5	5 ± 0.7	9 ± 1.2	10 ± 1.7			
	100	9 ± 1.0	10 ± 0.7	4 ± 1.5	13 ± 2.3	9 ± 2.4			
	333	Toxic	9 ± 1.8	Toxic	11 ± 3.7	11 ± 2.0			
	1,000	Toxic			Toxic	12 ± 3.3			
Trial sur	nmary	Negative	Negative	Negative	Negative	Negative			
Positive	-	$1,029 \pm 16.2$	680 ± 28.7	$1,081 \pm 144.9$	308 ± 26.5	133 ± 6.8			

TABLE E1 Mutagenicity of Phenolphthalein in Salmonella typhimurium (continued)

			·	Revertan	its/plate				
Strain	Dose	+10%	rat S9						
(µ	ıg/plate)	Trial 1	Trial 2						
Study pe	erformed at	t Case Western	Reserve Univers	sity (continued)					
FA1535 continued	0 I) 3.3	10 ± 4.0	11 ± 1.2						
•	10	6 ± 2.6	11 ± 1.9						
	33	7 ± 1.2	7 ± 1.0						
	100	9 ± 0.0	11 ± 2.1						
	333	8 ± 1.7	10 ± 2.1						
	1,000	Toxic	16 ± 2.3						
Trial sum	mary	Negative	Negative						
Positive co	ontrol	416 ± 46.5	287 ± 19.9						
			- 89		-S9 +10% hamster S9		mster S9	+10% rat S9	
		Trial 1	Trial 2	Trial 1	Trial 2	Trial 1	Trial 2		
ГА1537	0	3 ± 1.2	9 ± 2.6	13 ± 1.0	11 ± 1.5	10 ± 1.0	15 ± 1.0		
	10	4 ± 0.3	9 ± 1.8	10 ± 3.2	9 ± 1.5	9 ± 2.2	11 ± 0.6		
	33	7 ± 1.8	9 ± 0.9	9 ± 2.0	12 ± 0.9	9 ± 2.0	11 ± 1.2		
	100	9 ± 1.5	10 ± 1.2	11 ± 0.3	9 ± 0.3	7 ± 1.7	13 ± 1.8		
	333	4 ± 2.4	7 ± 0.9	10 ± 1.2	9 ± 2.1	8 ± 1.3	13 ± 1.8		
	1,000	Toxic	Toxic	Toxic	Toxic	10 ± 3.5	Toxic		
Trial sum	mary	Negative	Negative	Negative	Negative	Negative	Negative		
Positive c	ontrol	109 ± 9.6	113 ± 39.5	68 ± 9.6	194 ± 5.9	105 ± 8.0	158 ± 41.7		
ГА98	0	16 ± 1.8	25 ± 2.2	25 ± 3.4	30 ± 4.3	24 ± 1.2	31 ± 5.8		
	10	13 ± 3.8	21 ± 2.9	22 ± 4.8	30 ± 4.2	22 ± 6.0	30 ± 1.5		
	33	11 ± 1.5	21 ± 3.5	20 ± 3.5	27 ± 2.0	18 ± 2.7	31 ± 2.3		
	100	17 ± 0.9	20 ± 4.1	29 ± 2.3	31 ± 0.9	19 ± 3.7	22 ± 3.5		
	333	16 ± 3.8	17 ± 0.9	25 ± 2.6	23 ± 4.0	25 ± 3.5	19 ± 2.8		
		Toxic	Toxic	Toxic	Toxic	Toxic	Toxic		
	1,000								

TABLE E1 Mutagenicity of Phenolphthalein in Salmonella typhimurium (continued)

^a The detailed protocol and these data are presented in Mortelmans et al. (1986).

^b Revertants are presented as mean \pm standard error from three plates.

^c Slight toxicity

^d The positive controls in the absence of metabolic activation were sodium azide (TA100 and TA1535), 9-aminoacridine (TA1537), and 4-nitro-o-phenylenediamine (TA98). The positive control for metabolic activation with all strains was 2-aminoanthracene.

TABLE E2

No. of SCEs/ Relative Dose Total No. of Chromo-SCEs/ Change of SCEs/ Chromo-Hrs Chromosome^b Compound **SCEs** Cell in BrdU $(\mu g/mL)$ Cells somes some (%) -S9 Summary: Negative 7.8 Dimethylsulfoxide 50 1,043 392 0.37 26.0 Mitomycin-C 0.001 50 1,045 677 26.0 72.38 0.64 13.5 0.005 27.7 247.66 10 212 277 1.30 26.0 Phenolphthalein 0.5 50 1,047 416 0.39 8.3 26.0 5.72 1.7 50 1,050 0.40 8.5 26.0 8.20 427 5 50 1,044 379 0.36 7.6 26.0 -3.41 17 50 1,047 417 0.39 8.3 26.0 5.97 31.0^d 50 0^c $P = 0.419^{e}$ + S9 Summary: Negative Dimethylsulfoxide 50 1,042 407 0.39 8.1 26.0 0.125 50 1,043 26.0 Cyclophosphamide 556 0.53 11.1 36.48 0.5 10 208 170 17.0 26.0 109.25 0.81 Phenolphthalein 1.7 50 1,047 389 0.37 7.8 26.0 -4.88 5 50 1,050 383 0.36 7.7 26.0 -6.61 17 50 1,042 361 0.34 7.2 26.0 -11.30 31.0^d 50 50 1,042 464 0.44 9.3 14.00 P=0.085

Induction of Sister Chromatid Exchanges in Chinese Hamster Ovary Cells by Phenolphthalein^a

^a Study performed at SITEK Research Laboratories. A detailed description of the protocol is presented in Galloway *et al.* (1987). SCE=sister chromatid exchange; BrdU=bromodeoxyuridine.

^b SCEs/chromosome in treated cells versus SCEs/chromosome in solvent control cells

^c Dose was cytostatic.

^d Because phenolphthalein induced a delay in the cell division cycle, harvest time was extended to maximize the proportion of second-division metaphase cells available for analysis.

e Significance of relative SCEs/chromosome tested by the linear regression trend test versus log of the dose

TABLE E3

Induction of Chromosomal Aberrations in Chinese Hamster Ovary Cells by Phenolphthalein^a

		- 59					+ 59		~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~
Dose (µg/mL)	Total Cells	No. of Abs	Abs/ Cell	Cells with Abs (%)	Dose (µg/mL)	Total Cells	No. of Abs	Abs/ Cell	Cells with Abs (%)
Harvest time: 16.2 Summary: Negativ					Trial 1 - Harvest Summary: Weakly		hours		
Dimethylsulfoxide	200	2	0.01	1.0	Dimethylsulfoxide	200	3	0.02	1.0
Mitomycin-C					Cyclophosphamide				
0.1	200	67	0.34	25.0	5	200	47	0.24	17.0
0.4	50	37	0.74	46.0	15	50	32	0.64	34.0
Phenolphthalein					Phenolphthalein				
11	200	0	0.00	0	11	200	1	0.01	0.5
23	200	2	0.01	1.0	23	200	0	0	0
50	200	3	0.02	1.5	50	200	59	0.30	25.0*
				P=0.198 ^c					P≤0.001
					Trial 2 - Harvest Summary: Positiv) hours		
					Dimethylsulfoxide	200	2	0.01	1.0
					Cyclophosphamide				
					Cyclophosphamide 5	200	27	0.14	13.0
					15	200 50	36	0.14	26.0
					Phenolphthalein	200	2	0.02	1 5
					30 40	200 200	3 9	0.02 0.05	1.5 4.5*
					40 50	200 200	77	0.05	4.5* 29.0*
									P≤0.00

* Positive ($P \leq 0.05$)

^a Study performed at SITEK Research Laboratories. The detailed protocol and these data are presented in Witt *et al.* (1995). Abs=aberrations.

^b Because of chemical-induced cell cycle delay, incubation time prior to addition of Colcemid was lengthened to provide sufficient second-division metaphase cells at harvest.

^c Significance of percent cells with aberrations tested by the linear regression trend test versus log of the dose

TABLE E4

Frequency of Micronuclei in Mouse Peripheral Blood Erythrocytes Following Treatment with Phenolphthalein in Feed for 13 Weeks^a

Dose		<u>Micronucleated</u> C	ells/1,000 Cells ^b	Number of
(ppm))	PCEs	NCEs	Mice
Male 0		2.01 ± 0.26	1.75 ± 0.16	10
6,000		2.08 ± 0.49	$2.51 \pm 0.23^{**}$	10
12,000		2.29 ± 0.52	$2.63 \pm 0.24 **$	10
25,000		$5.36 \pm 0.67^{**}$	$4.03 \pm 0.48^{**}$	10
50,000		$4.99 \pm 0.56^{**}$	$4.72 \pm 0.25^{**}$	10
		$P \leq 0.001^c$	P≤0.001	
Semale 0		1.49 ± 0.24	1.32 ± 0.08	10
6,000		2.20 ± 0.44	$2.07 \pm 0.19^{**}$	10
12,000		2.93 ± 0.37	$2.94 \pm 0.23 **$	10
25,000		5.36 ± 0.70**	$4.41 \pm 0.23^{**}$	10
50,000		$4.94 \pm 0.64^{**}$	4.31 ± 0.35**	10
		P≤0.001	P≤0.001	

** P≤0.01 by Kastenbaum-Bowman's binomial test (PCEs) or Student's t-test (NCEs)

^a Study performed at USDA Western Regional Center. The detailed protocol and these data are presented in Dietz *et al.* (1992);

PCEs=polychromatic erythrocytes; NCEs=normochromatic erythrocytes; 2,000 PCEs and 10,000 NCEs scored per animal. Data are presented as mean ± standard error.

^c Significance by Cochran-Armitage linear regression of proportions (PCEs) or linear contrasts from analysis of variance (NCEs)

APPENDIX F ORGAN WEIGHTS AND ORGAN-WEIGHT-TO-BODY-WEIGHT RATIOS

TABLE F1	Organ Weights and Organ-Weight-to-Body-Weight Ratios for Rats	
	in the 13-Week Feed Study of Phenolphthalein	270
TABLE F2	Organ Weights and Organ-Weight-to-Body-Weight Ratios for Mice	
	in the 13-Week Feed Study of Phenolphthalein	272

TABLE	F1
-------	----

	0 ppm	3,000 ppm	6,000 ppm	12,000 ppm	25,000 ppm	50,000 ppm
Male		······································				
n	10	10	10	10	10	10
Necropsy body wt	360 ± 6	356 ± 7	360 ± 6	356 ± 6	359 ± 10	352 ± 6
Brain						
Absolute	2.033 ± 0.035	1.995 ± 0.025	1.995 ± 0.017	2.005 ± 0.026	2.005 ± 0.018	2.015 ± 0.033
Relative	5.65 ± 0.11	5.61 ± 0.09	5.56 ± 0.08	5.64 ± 0.08	5.62 ± 0.13	5.74 ± 0.09
Heart						
Absolute	1.115 ± 0.016	1.115 ± 0.029	1.127 ± 0.016	1.147 ± 0.033	1.141 ± 0.036	1.099 ± 0.021
Relative	3.10 ± 0.05	3.13 ± 0.06	3.14 ± 0.06	3.22 ± 0.09	3.19 ± 0.07	3.13 ± 0.04
R. Kidney						
Absolute	1.344 ± 0.032	1.309 ± 0.034	1.351 ± 0.023	1.439 ± 0.036	1.416 ± 0.039	1.464 ± 0.044
Relative	3.73 ± 0.05	3.67 ± 0.06	3.76 ± 0.06	4.04 ± 0.07**	3.95 ± 0.06	4.16 ± 0.08**
Liver						
Absolute	13.664 ± 0.535	13.245 ± 0.337	14.108 ± 0.491	15.266 ± 0.480	15.560 ± 0.507*	16.577 ± 0.485**
Relative	37.82 ± 0.83	37.18 ± 0.49	39.17 ± 1.00	42.85 ± 1.10**	43.39 ± 0.74**	47.16 ± 1.06**
Lung						
Absolute	1.916 ± 0.085	1.940 ± 0.114	1.933 ± 0.138	1.847 ± 0.087	1.745 ± 0.063	1.741 ± 0.109
Relative	5.34 ± 0.28	5.46 ± 0.33	5.40 ± 0.43	5.19 ± 0.24	4.88 ± 0.17	4.97 ± 0.33
R. Testis						
Absolute	1.481 ± 0.029	1.511 ± 0.031	1.488 ± 0.025	1.502 ± 0.030	1.525 ± 0.042	1.517 ± 0.029
Relative	4.11 ± 0.05	4.25 ± 0.05	4.14 ± 0.06	4.22 ± 0.06	4.26 ± 0.10	4.32 ± 0.08
Thymus						
Absolute Relative	$\begin{array}{r} 0.330 \pm 0.014 \\ 0.92 \pm 0.04 \end{array}$	$0.414 \pm 0.019^{**}$ 1.16 $\pm 0.04^{**}$	0.346 ± 0.010 0.96 ± 0.03	0.349 ± 0.018 0.98 ± 0.04	$\begin{array}{c} 0.324 \pm 0.016 \\ 0.90 \pm 0.03 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{r} 0.335 \pm 0.017 \\ 0.95 \pm 0.05 \end{array}$

Organ Weights and Organ-Weight-to-Body-Weight Ratios for Rats in the 13-Week Feed Study of Phenolphthalein^a

TABLE F1

Organ Weights and Organ-Weight-to-Body-Weight Ratios for Rats in the 13-Week Feed Study of Phenolphthalein (continued)

	0 ppm	3,000 ppm	6,000 ppm	12,000 ppm	25,000 ppm	50,000 ppm
Female		<u> </u>		<u> </u>		<u> </u>
n	10	10	10	10	10	10
Necropsy body wt	210 ± 3	207 ± 4	212 ± 3	205 ± 3	202 ± 3	198 ± 3*
Brain						
Absolute	1.875 ± 0.017	1.885 ± 0.015	1.881 ± 0.019	1.861 ± 0.013	1.843 ± 0.016	1.816 ± 0.043
Relative	8.96 ± 0.08	9.12 ± 0.19	8.88 ± 0.08	9.10 ± 0.10	9.13 ± 0.10	9.16 ± 0.15
Heart						
Absolute	0.720 ± 0.015	0.728 ± 0.021	0.728 ± 0.021	0.722 ± 0.017	0.722 ± 0.014	0.710 ± 0.016
Relative	3.44 ± 0.05	3.51 ± 0.08	3.44 ± 0.09	3.53 ± 0.08	3.57 ± 0.07	3.58 ± 0.05
R. Kidney						
Absolute	0.806 ± 0.016	0.798 ± 0.014	0.817 ± 0.027	0.809 ± 0.013	0.807 ± 0.022	0.800 ± 0.022
Relative	3.85 ± 0.07	3.86 ± 0.08	3.85 ± 0.10	3.95 ± 0.05	3.99 ± 0.08	4.04 ± 0.10
Liver						
Absolute	6.911 ± 0.122	7.055 ± 0.214	7.110 ± 0.196	7.315 ± 0.336	7.423 ± 0.214	7.244 ± 0.179
Relative	32.98 ± 0.33	34.07 ± 0.93	33.52 ± 0.66	35.66 ± 1.35	36.68 ± 0.73*	$36.54 \pm 0.62*$
Lung						
Absolute	1.385 ± 0.050	1.224 ± 0.030	1.445 ± 0.103	1.273 ± 0.039	1.199 ± 0.045	1.247 ± 0.070
Relative	6.64 ± 0.30	5.92 ± 0.17	6.80 ± 0.43	6.22 ± 0.20	5.93 ± 0.22	6.29 ± 0.32
Thymus						
Absolute	0.346 ± 0.013	0.322 ± 0.014	0.339 ± 0.015	0.299 ± 0.016	0.334 ± 0.016	$0.292 \pm 0.013*$
Relative	1.66 ± 0.07	1.56 ± 0.08	1.60 ± 0.06	1.46 ± 0.08	1.65 ± 0.06	1.47 ± 0.06

* Significantly different ($P \le 0.05$) from the control group by Dunnett's test

** P≤0.01

^a Organ weights and body weights are given in grams; organ-weight-to-body-weight ratios are given as mg organ weight/g body weight (mean ± standard error).

TABLE F2

	0 ppm	3,000 ppm	6,000 ppm	12,000 ppm	25,000 ppm	50,000 ppm
Male		······································	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		<u></u>	
n	10	10	10	10	10	10
Necropsy body wt	28.8 ± 0.8	27.4 ± 0.5	28.4 ± 0.6	28.5 ± 0.6	29.3 ± 0.8	28.0 ± 0.6
Brain						
Absolute	0.474 ± 0.006	0.479 ± 0.013	0.481 ± 0.006	0.479 ± 0.005	0.494 ± 0.022	0.468 ± 0.005
Relative	16.52 ± 0.32	17.52 ± 0.42	17.03 ± 0.39	16.85 ± 0.32	16.91 ± 0.74	16.74 ± 0.31
Heart						
Absolute	0.155 ± 0.005	0.149 ± 0.007	0.145 ± 0.002	0.151 ± 0.004	0.149 ± 0.004	0.144 ± 0.004
Relative	5.39 ± 0.09	5.46 ± 0.26	5.13 ± 0.10	5.30 ± 0.12	5.11 ± 0.11	5.14 ± 0.11
R. Kidney						
Absolute	0.307 ± 0.011	0.292 ± 0.009	0.337 ± 0.026	0.301 ± 0.009	0.331 ± 0.014	0.297 ± 0.008
Relative	10.61 ± 0.17	10.65 ± 0.18	11.91 ± 0.99	10.55 ± 0.23	11.33 ± 0.49	10.60 ± 0.21
Liver						
Absolute	1.435 ± 0.046	1.511 ± 0.043	1.503 ± 0.053	1.466 ± 0.069	1.580 ± 0.054	1.528 ± 0.046
Relative	49.91 ± 1.60	$55.26 \pm 1.26*$	52.88 ± 1.09	51.24 ± 1.59	53.97 ± 1.21	54.54 ± 1.31
Lung						
Absolute	0.236 ± 0.020	0.219 ± 0.012	0.237 ± 0.014	0.204 ± 0.013	0.207 ± 0.009	0.215 ± 0.011
Relative	8.16 ± 0.63	8.06 ± 0.50	8.39 ± 0.56	7.18 ± 0.47	7.05 ± 0.17	7.69 ± 0.42
R. Testis						
Absolute	0.121 ± 0.003	$0.112 \pm 0.002 **$	$0.066 \pm 0.002^{**}$	0.063 ± 0.002**	$0.077 \pm 0.001 **$	$0.079 \pm 0.002 **$
Relative	4.21 ± 0.05	4.11 ± 0.13	$2.34 \pm 0.06**$	2.22 ± 0.10**	$2.63 \pm 0.07 **$	$2.82 \pm 0.06^{**}$
Thymus						
Absolute	0.046 ± 0.003	0.041 ± 0.003	0.042 ± 0.003	0.039 ± 0.003	0.041 ± 0.002	0.040 ± 0.002
Relative	1.63 ± 0.16	1.51 ± 0.11	1.49 ± 0.10	1.36 ± 0.11	1.42 ± 0.09	1.41 ± 0.05

Organ Weights and Organ-Weight-to-Body-Weight Ratios for Mice in the 13-Week Feed Study of Phenolphthalein^a

TABLE F2

6,000 ppm 12,000 ppm 25,000 ppm 50,000 ppm 0 ppm 3,000 ppm Female 10 10 10 10 10 10 n 24.8 ± 0.5 Necropsy body wt 23.8 ± 0.7 25.0 ± 0.8 25.3 ± 0.4 25.0 ± 0.5 25.0 ± 0.5 Brain 0.493 ± 0.008 0.499 ± 0.008* 0.478 + 0.004Absolute 0.474 ± 0.006 0.486 ± 0.006 0.481 ± 0.005 19.59 ± 0.44 Relative 20.06 ± 0.49 19.08 ± 0.32 19.74 ± 0.38 20.02 ± 0.44 19.31 ± 0.34 Heart 0.129 ± 0.004 0.127 ± 0.004 0.136 ± 0.003 0.132 ± 0.005 0.132 ± 0.003 0.134 ± 0.004 Absolute 5.21 ± 0.18 Relative 5.34 ± 0.14 5.48 ± 0.11 5.22 ± 0.14 5.29 ± 0.14 5.37 ± 0.15 R. Kidney 0.205 + 0.0050.203 + 0.009 0.221 ± 0.006 0.207 + 0.004 0.222 ± 0.004 0.218 ± 0.005 Absolute Relative 8.68 ± 0.28 8.14 ± 0.21 8.74 ± 0.15 8.27 ± 0.14 8.91 ± 0.17 8.77 ± 0.16 Liver 1.259 ± 0.034 1.322 ± 0.049 1.392 ± 0.040 1.396 ± 0.046 Absolute 1.287 ± 0.044 $1.421 \pm 0.035*$ Relative 56.30 ± 1.24 55.76 ± 1.18 56.27 ± 1.48 53.12 ± 1.11 51.72 ± 1.46 52.81 ± 1.48 Lung Absolute 0.206 ± 0.012 0.209 ± 0.014 0.231 ± 0.020 0.220 ± 0.008 0.214 ± 0.010 0.214 ± 0.013 8.60 ± 0.45 Relative 8.71 ± 0.51 8.42 ± 0.58 9.10 ± 0.72 8.79 ± 0.31 8.59 ± 0.41 Thymus 0.053 ± 0.003 Absolute 0.050 ± 0.004 0.056 ± 0.005 0.051 ± 0.003 0.048 ± 0.003 0.053 ± 0.003 Relative 2.15 ± 0.15 2.07 ± 0.12 2.24 ± 0.20 2.03 ± 0.12 1.91 ± 0.12 2.13 ± 0.13

Organ Weights and Organ-Weight-to-Body-Weight Ratios for Mice in the 13-Week Feed Study of Phenolphthalein (continued)

* Significantly different ($P \le 0.05$) from the control group by Dunnett's test

** P≤0.01

^a Organ weights and body weights are given in grams; organ-weight-to-body-weight ratios are given as mg organ weight/g body weight (mean \pm standard error).

APPENDIX G HEMATOLOGY AND CLINICAL CHEMISTRY RESULTS

TABLE G1	Hematology and Clinical Chemistry Data for Rats in the 13-Week Feed Study	
	of Phenolphthalein	276

Hematology and Clinical Chemistry Data for Rats in the 13-Week Feed Study of Phenolphthalein^a

	0 ppm	3,000 ppm	6,000 ppm	12,000 ppm	25,000 ppm	50,000 ppm
ale					· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
	10	10	10	10	10	10
ematology						
Hematocrit (%)						
Day 5	38.3 ± 1.2	40.1 ± 0.9	39.2 ± 0.6	39.4 ± 0.7	38.8 ± 0.9	40.6 ± 0.8
Day 21	43.1 ± 0.8	40.5 ± 1.1	43.1 ± 0.9	44.1 ± 0.7	43.5 ± 0.5	43.1 ± 1.1
Week 13	44.1 ± 0.5	43.2 ± 0.6	44.4 ± 0.4	43.9 ± 0.4	43.3 ± 0.7	43.5 ± 0.6
Hemoglobin (g/dL)						
Day 5	14.5 ± 0.2	14.5 ± 0.2	14.4 ± 0.2	14.4 ± 0.2	14.5 ± 0.2	14.6 ± 0.1
Day 21	15.7 ± 0.1	15.6 ± 0.1	15.7 ± 0.1	15.8 ± 0.1	15.5 ± 0.1	15.6 ± 0.1
Week 13	15.9 ± 0.2	15.5 ± 0.2	16.0 ± 0.4	16.2 ± 0.4	15.5 ± 0.2	15.6 ± 0.2
Erythrocytes $(10^6/\mu L)$						
Day 5	6.50 ± 0.22	6.89 ± 0.17	6.66 ± 0.12	6.56 ± 0.11	6.76 ± 0.14	6.83 ± 0.12
Day 21	7.97 ± 0.17	7.49 ± 0.23	7.89 ± 0.16	8.01 ± 0.14	$.8.00 \pm 0.11$	7.78 ± 0.20
Week 13	9.17 ± 0.11	8.90 ± 0.19	9.13 ± 0.10	9.04 ± 0.07	8.84 ± 0.15	8.93 ± 0.13
Reticulocytes $(10^6/\mu L)$					-	
Day 5	0.25 ± 0.02^{b}	0.29 ± 0.03^{b}	0.24 ± 0.02^{b}	0.23 ± 0.03	0.22 ± 0.02	0.23 ± 0.03^{b}
Day 21	0.15 ± 0.02^{c}	0.14 ± 0.01^{b}	0.15 ± 0.01^{d}	0.17 ± 0.01^{b}	0.14 ± 0.01^{b}	$0.16 \pm 0.01^{\circ}$
Week 13	0.13 ± 0.01^{e}	0.14 ± 0.01^{f}	0.13 ± 0.01^{d}	0.12 ± 0.01^{f}	0.11 ± 0.01^{f}	0.15 ± 0.01^{f}
Mean cell volume (fL)						
Day 5	59.1 ± 1.0	58.1 ± 0.4	59.0 ± 0.6	60.1 ± 0.6	57.4 ± 0.9	59.4 ± 0.9
Day 21	54.2 ± 0.3	54.0 ± 0.3	54.8 ± 0.3	54.8 ± 0.3	54.4 ± 0.4	55.3 ± 0.4
Week 13	48.2 ± 0.3	48.8 ± 0.5	48.4 ± 0.3	48.6 ± 0.3	49.0 ± 0.2	48.7 ± 0.4
Mean cell hemoglobin						
Day 5	22.5 ± 0.7	21.1 ± 0.4	21.6 ± 0.4	22.0 ± 0.3	21.5 ± 0.3	21.5 ± 0.3
Day 21	19.7 ± 0.4	20.9 ± 0.6	20.0 ± 0.4	19.7 ± 0.2	19.4 ± 0.2	20.2 ± 0.4
Week 13	19.1 ± 1.8	17.4 ± 0.2	17.5 ± 0.4	18.0 ± 0.4	17.6 ± 0.2	17.5 ± 0.1
Mean cell hemoglobin	concentration (g/dL)					
Day 5	38.2 ± 1.2	36.2 ± 0.5	36.8 ± 0.6	36.6 ± 0.5	37.5 ± 0.8	36.2 ± 0.6
Day 21	36.4 ± 0.5	38.7 ± 1.0	36.5 ± 0.8	35.7 ± 0.4	35.7 ± 0.3	36.4 ± 0.7
Week 13	36.1 ± 0.3	35.8 ± 0.3	36.1 ± 0.8	37.0 ± 1.0	35.8 ± 0.3	35.9 ± 0.2
Platelets (10 ³ /µL)						
Day 5	998.2 ± 18.5	967.8 ± 18.4	915.8 ± 23.7	898.3 ± 46.3*	907.1 ± 21.7*	916.4 ± 25.2
Day 21	760.7 ± 13.0	814.0 ± 13.3	778.7 ± 8.2	791.8 ± 18.1	817.8 ± 13.3*	848.3 ± 6.9**
Week 13	608.1 ± 11.7	665.3 ± 14.8	645.2 ± 9.7	709.3 ± 22.4**	707.8 ± 62.9*	684.9 ± 11.9**
Leukocytes (10 ³ /µL)						
Day 5	6.58 ± 0.28	5.55 ± 0.26	6.08 ± 0.35	6.15 ± 0.45	5.72 ± 0.39	6.73 ± 0.38
Day 21	7.41 ± 0.43	7.22 ± 0.26	7.14 ± 0.20	6.55 ± 0.28	7.03 ± 0.42	7.78 ± 0.31
Week 13	6.03 ± 0.42	6.43 ± 0.38	6.42 ± 0.28	6.98 ± 0.63	6.31 ± 0.38	6.39 ± 0.30
Segmented neutrophils	$(10^{3}/\mu L)$					
Day 5	0.74 ± 0.08	0.81 ± 0.11	0.82 ± 0.11	0.69 ± 0.07	0.60 ± 0.04	0.85 ± 0.08
Day 21	0.95 ± 0.09	1.00 ± 0.12	1.00 ± 0.08	0.81 ± 0.13	0.68 ± 0.08	0.81 ± 0.09
Week 13	1.21 ± 0.07	1.14 ± 0.17	1.08 ± 0.13	1.34 ± 0.16	1.03 ± 0.11	1.19 ± 0.13
Lymphocytes (10 ³ /µL))					
Day 5	5.71 ± 0.22	4.58 ± 0.23*	5.07 ± 0.26	5.31 ± 0.46	4.95 ± 0.37	5.73 ± 0.40
Day 21	6.33 ± 0.39	6.16 ± 0.23	6.06 ± 0.23	5.67 ± 0.27	6.26 ± 0.35	6.87 ± 0.26
Week 13	4.63 ± 0.37	5.12 ± 0.25	5.19 ± 0.34	5.44 ± 0.53	5.13 ± 0.33	5.04 ± 0.26

Hematology and Clinical Chemistry Data for Rats in the 13-Week Feed Study of Phenolphthalein (continued)

	0 ppm	3,000 ppm	6,000 ppm	12,000 ppm	25,000 ppm	50,000 ppm
fale (continued)						
	10	10	10	10	10	10
lematology (continued)						
Monocytes $(10^3/\mu L)$						
Day 5	0.11 ± 0.04	0.15 ± 0.03	0.19 ± 0.03	0.11 ± 0.03	0.16 ± 0.05	0.15 ± 0.04
Day 21	0.09 ± 0.02	0.05 ± 0.02	0.05 ± 0.02	0.08 ± 0.01	0.08 ± 0.04	0.09 ± 0.03
Week 13	0.11 ± 0.02	0.14 ± 0.05	0.13 ± 0.02	0.15 ± 0.03	0.11 ± 0.02	0.11 ± 0.04
Eosinophils (10 ³ /µL)						
Day 5	0.04 ± 0.02	0.04 ± 0.02	0.03 ± 0.02	0.03 ± 0.02	0.03 ± 0.02	0.01 ± 0.01
Day 21	0.03 ± 0.02	0.01 ± 0.01	0.02 ± 0.01	0.01 ± 0.01	0.01 ± 0.01	0.02 ± 0.01
Week 13	0.08 ± 0.02	0.06 ± 0.02	0.05 ± 0.02	0.07 ± 0.02	0.06 ± 0.02	0.09 ± 0.01
1	10	10	10	10	10	10
Clinical Chemistry						
Urea nitrogen (mg/dL))					
Day 5	19.0 ± 0.6	18.8 ± 0.5	18.3 ± 0.4	17.5 ± 0.7	18.3 ± 0.4	18.0 ± 0.6
Day 21	20.8 ± 0.4	20.9 ± 0.3	21.5 ± 0.4	21.9 ± 0.5	21.9 ± 1.1	22.8 ± 0.6
Week 13	20.3 ± 0.5	20.1 ± 0.6	19.6 ± 0.8	21.4 ± 0.6	19.7 ± 0.9	21.0 ± 0.7
Creatinine (mg/dL)						
Day 5	0.60 ± 0.03	0.62 ± 0.03	0.60 ± 0.02	0.57 ± 0.03	0.55 ± 0.02	0.55 ± 0.02
Day 21	0.64 ± 0.03	0.56 ± 0.05	0.58 ± 0.03	0.61 ± 0.02	0.59 ± 0.03^{b}	0.58 ± 0.02
Week 13	0.81 ± 0.07	0.72 ± 0.05	0.66 ± 0.04	$0.60 \pm 0.02^{**}$	0.65 ± 0.03	$0.64 \pm 0.03*$
Total protein (g/dL)						
Day 5	6.4 ± 0.1	6.4 ± 0.1	6.4 ± 0.1	6.3 ± 0.1	6.2 ± 0.1	6.2 ± 0.1
Day 21	7.1 ± 0.1	7.1 ± 0.1	7.2 ± 0.2	7.4 ± 0.1	7.3 ± 0.1	7.5 ± 0.1
Week 13	7.5 ± 0.3	7.6 ± 0.2	7.6 ± 0.1	7.9 ± 0.1	8.2 ± 0.2	7.9 ± 0.3
Albumin (g/dL)	4.0	4.0	4.0 . 0.0	4.0 4.0 1	4.2 + 0.1	42 . 01
Day 5	4.2 ± 0.2	4.3 ± 0.0	4.3 ± 0.0	4.3 ± 0.1	4.2 ± 0.1	4.2 ± 0.1
Day 21	4.5 ± 0.0	4.5 ± 0.1	4.6 ± 0.1	4.7 ± 0.1	4.6 ± 0.1	4.7 ± 0.1
Week 13	4.7 ± 0.1	4.6 ± 0.1	4.7 ± 0.1	4.8 ± 0.1	4.9 ± 0.1	4.9 ± 0.1
Alanine aminotransfer Day 5	32 ± 1	30 ± 1	31 ± 1	34 ± 1	33 ± 1	39 ± 1*
Day 3 Day 21	32 ± 1 37 ± 2	41 ± 3	37 ± 2	34 ± 1 37 ± 1	39 ± 2	42 ± 2
Week 13	37 ± 2 45 ± 2	41 ± 3 37 ± 2	37 ± 2 36 ± 2	37 ± 1 43 ± 3	39 ± 2 33 ± 2**	42 ± 2 43 ± 6
Alkaline phosphatase (—	5/ <u>1</u> 2	JU T 4	- T 2	22 <u>2</u> 2	·> + •
Day 5	541 ± 9	565 ± 14	550 ± 6	556 ± 9	535 ± 12	557 ± 13
Day 3 Day 21	376 ± 10	303 ± 14 379 ± 16	379 ± 5	386 ± 7^{b}	355 ± 12 355 ± 11	366 ± 9
Week 13	185 ± 7	173 ± 5	184 ± 10	181 ± 4	184 ± 9	188 ± 6
Creatine kinase (IU/L)		7.0 T 0	+- +		±	
Day 5	, 178 ± 25	228 ± 51	216 ± 53	319 ± 83	197 ± 59	177 ± 35
Day 21	152 ± 18	172 + 30	139 ± 14	152 ± 15^{b}	158 ± 21	132 ± 9
Week 13	212 ± 40	134 ± 17	148 ± 19	223 ± 43	172 ± 20	168 ± 30
Sorbitol dehydrogenas						
Day 5	8 ± 1	9 ± 1	9 ± 1	11 ± 1	7 ± 1	7 ± 1
Day 21	14 ± 2	9 ± 1	10 ± 1	11 ± 1	10 ± 1	9 ± 1*
Week 13	8 ± 1	8 ± 1	9 ± 1	10 ± 1	8 ± 1	11 ± 2
Bile acids (µmol/L)						
Day 5	25.2 ± 4.1	17.5 ± 3.7	8.3 ± 0.7**	9.2 ± 2.0**	10.0 ± 1.1	$8.9 \pm 0.9^{**}$
Day 21	8.9 ± 1.3	$5.3 \pm 0.6*$	$5.3 \pm 0.4*$	9.1 ± 3.2^{b}	$5.0 \pm 0.8^{*b}$	6.2 ± 0.3^{b}
Week 13	20.8 ± 8.3	18.6 ± 8.7	14.8 ± 6.9	19.9 ± 7.4^{b}	23.0 ± 8.4	19.5 ± 9.6

Hematology and Clinical Chemistry Data for Rats in the 13-Week Feed Study of Phenolphthalein (continued)

	0 ppm	3,000 ppm	6,000 ppm	12,000 ppm	25,000 ppm	50,000 ppm
emale						
	10	10	10	9	10	10
ematology						
Hematocrit (%)						
Day 5	39.8 ± 1.0	39.6 ± 0.7	39.6 ± 0.6	40.2 ± 1.2	39.8 ± 0.9	39.6 ± 1.1
Day 21	41.3 ± 0.5	43.5 ± 0.6	42.5 ± 0.7	42.2 ± 1.2	43.0 ± 0.6	42.8 ± 0.7
Week 13	44.1 ± 0.3	44.1 ± 0.3	43.7 ± 0.6	43.0 ± 0.8	43.6 ± 0.5	44.3 ± 0.4
Hemoglobin (g/dL)						
Day 5	15.1 ± 0.2	15.1 ± 0.2	15.2 ± 0.1	15.1 ± 0.2	15.2 ± 0.2	15.0 ± 0.2
Day 21	15.9 ± 0.2	15.9 ± 0.1	16.1 ± 0.2	15.8 ± 0.2	16.0 ± 0.1	15.6 ± 0.1
Week 13	16.3 ± 0.2	15.9 ± 0.2	16.1 ± 0.2	16.2 ± 0.2	16.1 ± 0.3	16.6 ± 0.4
Erythrocytes (10 ⁶ /µL)						
Day 5	7.05 ± 0.23	7.01 ± 0.13	7.00 ± 0.11	7.08 ± 0.23	7.12 ± 0.19	6.98 ± 0.18
Day 21	7.64 ± 0.09	8.02 ± 0.11	7.81 ± 0.16	7.75 ± 0.23	7.90 ± 0.12	7.89 ± 0.11
Week 13	8.61 ± 0.08	8.60 ± 0.07	8.54 ± 0.12	8.36 ± 0.18	8.50 ± 0.12	8.61 ± 0.08
Reticulocytes (10 ⁶ /µL)			L		F	
Day 5	0.19 ± 0.02	0.19 ± 0.01	0.18 ± 0.02^{b}	0.16 ± 0.01^{c}	0.16 ± 0.01^{b}	0.14 ± 0.02^{c}
Day 21	0.12 ± 0.01^{c}	0.14 ± 0.01^{c}	$0.13 \pm 0.01^{\circ}$	0.13 ± 0.01^{d}	0.14 ± 0.01^{c}	$0.13 \pm 0.01^{\circ}$
Week 13	0.13 ± 0.01^{f}	0.12 ± 0.01^{f}	0.12 ± 0.01^{e}	0.12 ± 0.01^{g}	0.12 ^h	$0.12 \pm 0.00^{\rm f}$
Mean cell volume (eL)						
Day 5	56.7 ± 0.6	56.5 ± 0.2	56.9 ± 0.7	56.8 ± 0.4	56.0 ± 0.3	56.6 ± 0.7
Day 21	54.2 ± 0.3	54.2 ± 0.3	54.4 ± 0.4	54.4 ± 0.3	54.2 ± 0.3	54.4 ± 0.3
Week 13	51.1 ± 0.2	51.2 ± 0.3	51.0 ± 0.3	51.4 ± 0.2	51.2 ± 0.2	51.3 ± 0.2
Mean cell hemoglobin	-					
Day 5	21.6 ± 0.6	21.5 ± 0.3	21.8 ± 0.3	21.4 ± 0.7	21.4 ± 0.4	21.6 ± 0.4
Day 21	20.8 ± 0.3	19.9 ± 0.3	20.7 ± 0.3	20.6 ± 0.7	20.3 ± 0.3	19.8 ± 0.3
Week 13	18.9 ± 0.2	18.5 ± 0.1	18.8 ± 0.1	19.4 ± 0.5	18.9 ± 0.3	19.2 ± 0.4
Mean cell hemoglobin		20.1 + 0.5	29.5 1.0.4	277 1 1 1	202 1 0 4	38.0 ± 0.8
Day 5	38.1 ± 0.8	38.1 ± 0.5	38.5 ± 0.4	37.7 ± 1.1 37.8 ± 1.2	38.2 ± 0.6 37.3 ± 0.5	36.5 ± 0.8
Day 21	38.5 ± 0.5	$36.6 \pm 0.5*$	38.0 ± 0.4	37.8 ± 1.2 37.7 ± 0.9	37.3 ± 0.3 37.0 ± 0.6	30.5 ± 0.5 37.4 ± 0.9
Week 13 Platelets (10 ³ /µL)	36.9 ± 0.4	36.0 ± 0.3	36.7 ± 0.2	31.1 ± 0.9	57.0 ± 0.0	JI.4 I 0.9
Day 5	856.0 ± 18.1	863.0 ± 12.2	870.5 ± 13.4	867.0 ± 11.7	841.0 ± 16.2	823.1 ± 17.6
Day 3 Day 21	721.3 ± 10.2	748.2 ± 15.2	711.3 ± 26.3	741.7 ± 12.9	746.5 ± 8.5	748.4 ± 13.6
Week 13	721.3 ± 10.2 638.7 ± 14.6	652.1 ± 10.0	673.2 ± 9.5	672.2 ± 8.6	656.6 ± 14.4	673.1 ± 14.2
Leukocytes $(10^3/\mu L)$	000.7 <u>T</u> 14.0	00201 <u>T</u> 1000	0.0 T >10	0.1.1. T 010	<u>-</u> - ····	
Day 5	6.14 ± 0.21	6.17 ± 0.30	6.54 ± 0.22	5.75 ± 0.46 ^c	6.07 ± 0.18	5.91 ± 0.29
Day 21	6.11 ± 0.20	6.21 ± 0.18	6.70 ± 0.22	6.53 ± 0.44^{c}	7.49 ± 0.26**	6.92 ± 0.40
Week 13	5.40 ± 0.33	5.52 ± 0.22	5.46 ± 0.31	6.18 ± 0.27^{c}	5.44 ± 0.26	5.68 ± 0.42
Segmented neutrophils				± ··	-	_
Day 5	0.67 ± 0.05	0.68 ± 0.07	0.65 ± 0.06	0.61 ± 0.06^{c}	0.69 ± 0.07	0.72 ± 0.09
Day 21	0.57 ± 0.03	0.72 ± 0.06	0.78 ± 0.13	$0.58 \pm 0.08^{\circ}$	$0.93 \pm 0.07 **$	0.70 ± 0.08
Week 13	1.04 ± 0.15	0.87 ± 0.11	1.11 ± 0.16	$0.78 \pm 0.08^{\circ}$	1.07 ± 0.14	0.88 ± 0.10
Lymphocytes (10 ³ /µL)				—		—
Day 5	, 5.34 ± 0.19	5.24 ± 0.28	5.70 ± 0.16	4.99 ± 0.40^{c}	5.25 ± 0.20	5.05 ± 0.28
Day 21	5.43 ± 0.20	5.44 ± 0.20	5.80 ± 0.22	$5.85 \pm 0.41^{\circ}$	$6.47 \pm 0.23*$	6.14 ± 0.34
Week 13	4.19 ± 0.29	4.53 ± 0.20	4.21 ± 0.26	5.30 ± 0.27^{c}	4.21 ± 0.22	4.66 ± 0.37

Hematology and Clinical Chemistry Data for Rats in the 13-Week Feed Study of Phenolphthalein (continued)

	0 ppm	3,000 ppm	6,000 ppm	12,000 ppm	25,000 ppm	50,000 ppm
Female (continued)				<u></u>		<u></u>
1	10	10	10	9	10	10
lematology (continued)						
Monocytes $(10^3/\mu L)$						
Day 5	0.12 ± 0.03	0.18 ± 0.04	0.16 ± 0.04	0.14 ± 0.04^{c}	0.11 ± 0.03	0.07 ± 0.02
Day 21	0.09 ± 0.03	0.08 ± 0.02	0.10 ± 0.02	0.09 ± 0.02^{c}	0.09 ± 0.03	0.09 ± 0.03
Week 13	0.13 ± 0.04	0.09 ± 0.03	0.11 ± 0.02	$0.10 \pm 0.02^{\circ}$	0.12 ± 0.03	0.11 ± 0.03
Eosinophils $(10^3/\mu L)$	0.15 1 0.01	0.05 1 0.05	0.11 ± 0.05	0.10 ± 0.05	0.12 1 0.04	0.11 ± 0.05
Day 5	0.04 ± 0.02	0.06 ± 0.02	0.06 ± 0.02	0.03 ± 0.02^{c}	0.03 ± 0.02	0.07 ± 0.02
Day 21	0.04 ± 0.02 0.03 ± 0.02	0.00 ± 0.02 0.01 ± 0.01	0.00 ± 0.02 0.04 ± 0.02	$0.05 \pm 0.02^{\circ}$ $0.05 \pm 0.02^{\circ}$	0.05 ± 0.02 0.01 ± 0.01	0.01 ± 0.02
Week 13	0.03 ± 0.02 0.04 ± 0.02	0.01 ± 0.01 0.04 ± 0.02	0.04 ± 0.02 0.06 ± 0.02	$0.03 \pm 0.02^{\circ}$ $0.03 \pm 0.02^{\circ}$	0.01 ± 0.01 0.03 ± 0.02	0.01 ± 0.01 0.04 ± 0.02
WEEK IS	0.04 ± 0.02	0.04 ± 0.02	0.00 ± 0.02	0.03 ± 0.02	0.03 ± 0.02	0.04 ± 0.02
1						
Day 5	10	10	9	9	10	10
Day 21	10	10	10	9	10	10
Week 13	10	10	10	9	10	10
Clinical Chemistry						
Urea nitrogen (mg/dL)						
Day 5	21.1 ± 0.7	18.6 ± 0.5	19.9 ± 0.5	18.5 ± 0.6*	20.0 ± 1.2	$18.2 \pm 0.5 **$
Day 21	21.5 ± 0.7	20.4 ± 0.6	20.4 ± 0.5	20.8 ± 0.5	22.0 ± 0.5	21.3 ± 0.5
Week 13	19.0 ± 0.8	20.5 ± 0.9	19.7 ± 0.9	20.1 ± 1.1	20.2 ± 0.7	19.5 ± 0.8
Creatinine (mg/dL)		<u> </u>	1900 <u>T</u> 000		2012 1 011	1910 1 0.0
Day 5	0.55 ± 0.01	0.56 ± 0.02	0.62 ± 0.02	0.55 ± 0.03	0.57 ± 0.02	0.54 ± 0.02
Day 21	0.58 ± 0.03	0.61 ± 0.04	0.64 ± 0.03	0.60 ± 0.02	0.61 ± 0.02	0.60 ± 0.02
Week 13	0.71 ± 0.02	0.70 ± 0.02	0.74 ± 0.02	0.68 ± 0.02	0.70 ± 0.02	0.60 ± 0.03 0.67 ± 0.02
Total protein (g/dL)	0.71 ± 0.02	0.70 1 0.02	0.74 ± 0.02	0.00 1 0.05	0.70 ± 0.02	0.07 ± 0.02
Day 5	6.3 ± 0.1	6.1 ± 0.1	6.2 ± 0.1	6.2 ± 0.1	6.2 ± 0.1	61 ± 01
Day 21	7.0 ± 0.1	7.0 ± 0.1	0.2 ± 0.1 7.2 ± 0.2	0.2 ± 0.1 7.0 ± 0.1	7.1 ± 0.1	6.1 ± 0.1 6.9 ± 0.1^{b}
Week 13	7.0 ± 0.1 8.0 ± 0.1	8.0 ± 0.1	7.2 ± 0.2 7.8 ± 0.2	7.6 ± 0.1 7.6 ± 0.2	7.1 ± 0.1 8.1 ± 0.1	
Albumin (g/dL)	0.0 <u>T</u> 0.1	0.U <u>T</u> U.2	7.0 ± 0.2	7.0 ± 0.2	0.1 ± 0.1	8.1 ± 0.2
Day 5	4.6 ± 0.1	$4.4 \pm 0.1*$	4.4 ± 0.1	4.4 ± 0.1	4.4 ± 0.0	4.3 ± 0.0*
Day 3 Day 21						
Week 13	4.6 ± 0.1 5.0 ± 0.1	4.5 ± 0.0	4.6 ± 0.1	4.6 ± 0.1	4.6 ± 0.1	4.5 ± 0.1
		5.0 ± 0.1	4.8 ± 0.2	4.9 ± 0.1	5.1 ± 0.1	5.0 ± 0.1
Alanine aminotransferas		26 1 1	20 1 1	26 + 2	21	20 1
Day 5 Day 21	30 ± 1	26 ± 1	29 ± 1	26 ± 2	31 ± 1	29 ± 1
Day 21	33 ± 1	33 ± 1^{b}	32 ± 2	30 ± 1	33 ± 1	35 ± 1
Week 13	37 ± 2	36 ± 1	37 ± 2	28 ± 2	29 ± 1	$28 \pm 1*$
Alkaline phosphatase (I	•	(AA) - A	100	100 10		405
Day 5	441 ± 11	420 ± 9	428 ± 11	420 ± 12	432 ± 14	405 ± 9
Day 21	294 ± 9	294 ± 14	300 ± 12	294 ± 11	295 ± 6	293 ± 6
Week 13	159 ± 7	160 ± 5	159 ± 7	148 ± 8	162 ± 6	148 ± 6
Creatine kinase (IU/L)						
Day 5	153 ± 16	142 ± 11	216 ± 74	154 ± 38	168 ± 24	114 ± 11
Day 21	219 ± 64	153 ± 16	163 ± 22	152 ± 39	127 ± 11	117 ± 11
Week 13	169 ± 20	136 ± 23	113 ± 14	215 ± 84	171 ± 20	198 ± 64

Hematology and Clinical Chemistry Data for Rats in the 13-Week Feed Study of Phenolphthalein (continued)

	0 ppm	3,000 ppm	6,000 ррт	12,000 ppm	25,000 ppm	50,000 ppm
Female (continued)		<u> </u>				<u> </u>
n						
Day 5	10	10	9	9	10	10
Day 21	10	10	10	9	10	10
Week 13	10	10	10	9	10	10
Clinical Chemistry (contin	nued)					
Sorbitol dehydrogena	ise (IU/L)					
Day 5	6 ± 1	6 ± 0	7 ± 1	7 ± 1	7 ± 1	6 ± 1
Day 21	9 ± 2	12 ± 2	12 ± 2	11 ± 2	11 ± 1	12 ± 1
Week 13	8 ± 1	7 ± 1	8 ± 0	7 ± 1	7 ± 1	7 ± 0
Bile acids (µmol/L)						
Day 5	21.3 ± 4.9	11.9 ± 1.3	17.3 ± 3.8	$9.3 \pm 1.3*$	13.9 ± 2.1	10.4 ± 2.2
Day 21	11.8 ± 2.4^{b}	7.5 ± 1.0	9.7 ± 1.2	8.6 ± 1.5	9.4 ± 0.7	8.8 ± 1.0
Week 13	23.5 ± 5.2	20.0 ± 3.7	20.9 ± 6.9	15.9 ± 5.6	21.6 ± 9.1	23.6 ± 7.9

* Significantly different ($P \le 0.05$) from the control group by Dunn's test

.

** P≤0.01

а Mean \pm standard error. Statistical tests were performed on unrounded data.

b n=9

c n=8d

n=7 e

n=5 f

n=3

g n=4h

.

n=1; no standard error calculated

APPENDIX H DETERMINATIONS OF TOTAL PHENOLPHTHALEIN IN PLASMA

TABLE H1	Plasma Concentrations and Estimated Area Under the Curve Values	
	of Total Phenolphthalein in Rats in the 2-Year Feed Study	
	of Phenolphthalein	282
TABLE H2	Plasma Concentrations and Estimated Area Under the Curve Values	
	of Total Phenolphthalein in Mice in the 2-Year Feed Study	
	of Phenolphthalein	283
	Plasma Concentrations of Total Phenolphthalein in Male Rats After Exposure	
	to 12,000, 25,000, or 50,000 ppm in Feed for 2 Years	284
FIGURE H2	Plasma Concentrations of Total Phenolphthalein in Female Rats After Exposure	
	to 12,000, 25,000, or 50,000 ppm in Feed for 2 Years	284
FIGURE H3	Plasma Concentrations of Total Phenolphthalein in Male and Female Rats	
	After Exposure to 12,000 ppm in Feed for 2 Years	285
FIGURE H4	Plasma Concentrations of Total Phenolphthalein in Male and Female Rats	
	After Exposure to 25,000 ppm in Feed for 2 Years	285
FIGURE H5	Plasma Concentrations of Total Phenolphthalein in Male and Female Rats	
	After Exposure to 50,000 ppm in Feed for 2 Years	286
FIGURE H6	Plasma Concentrations of Total Phenolphthalein in Male Mice After Exposure	
	to 3,000, 6,000, or 12,000 ppm in Feed for 2 Years	287
FIGURE H7	Plasma Concentrations of Total Phenolphthalein in Female Mice After Exposure	
	to 3,000, 6,000, or 12,000 ppm in Feed for 2 Years	287
FIGURE H8	Plasma Concentrations of Total Phenolphthalein in Male and Female Mice	
	After Exposure to 3,000 ppm in Feed for 2 Years	288
FIGURE H9	Plasma Concentrations of Total Phenolphthalein in Male and Female Mice	
	After Exposure to 6,000 ppm in Feed for 2 Years	288
FIGURE H10	Plasma Concentrations of Total Phenolphthalein in Male and Female Mice	
	After Exposure to 12,000 ppm in Feed for 2 Years	289

	12,000 ppm	25,000 ppm	50,000 ppm
n	3	3	3
Male			
Plasma Concentrations ^b			
6 a.m.	107.80 ± 32.81^{c}	127.00 ± 72.58	177.23 ± 185.33
9 a.m.	102.43 ± 8.79	63.50 ± 50.79	73.20 ± 24.91
1 p.m.	59.63 ± 2.54	34.45 ± 15.77^{c}	157.47 ± 181.13
4 p.m.	57.40 ± 9.93	101.23 ± 86.08	$224.40 \pm 232.78^{\circ}$
9 p.m.	69.17 ± 10.18	59.53 ± 16.70	$80.85 \pm 13.08^{\circ}$
Area Under the Curve			
6 a.m9 p.m.	1,131 ± 49	1,087 ± 217	$2,173 \pm 587$
Female			
Plasma Concentrations			
6 a.m.	94.13 ± 25.01	90.10 ± 12.05	104.23 ± 32.87
9 a.m.	92.77 ± 23.48	110.10 ± 41.79	108.33 ± 3.51
1 p.m.	68.17 ± 9.92	101.37 ± 13.45	104.07 ± 34.28
4 p.m.	97.50 ± 32.15	72.83 ± 23.25	78.37 ± 17.45
9 p.m.	69.23 ± 12.96	110.77 ± 40.25	83.30 ± 10.38
Area Under the Curve			
6 a.m9 p.m.	$1,268 \pm 94$	$1,444 \pm 125$	$1,422 \pm 81$

TABLE H1 Plasma Concentrations and Estimated Area Under the Curve Values of Total Phenolphthalein in Rats in the 2-Year Feed Study of Phenolphthalein^a

^a Data are presented as mean \pm standard deviation. Plasma concentrations are given in $\mu g/mL$. Area under the curve values are given as μg -hour/mL. Total phenolphthalein equals free and conjugated phenolphthalein.

^b Samples were collected on the last day of the study.

° n=2

	3,000 ppm	6,000 ppm	12,000 ppm
n	3	3	3
Male			
Plasma Concentrations ^b			
6 a.m.	128.67 ± 13.50	149.00 ± 33.15	174.0 ± 9.0
9 a.m.	100.47 ± 18.49	112.00 ± 20.95	159.0 ± 57.5
1 p.m.	177.00 ± 90.54	106.43 ± 13.98	105.3 ± 17.3
4 p.m.	99.67 ± 20.98	121.17 ± 35.75	109.8 ± 38.1
9 p.m.	102.03 ± 6.94	121.33 ± 15.88	175.7 ± 11.4
Area Under the Curve			
6 a.m9 p.m.	1,818 ± 166	1,776 ± 106	$2,065 \pm 135$
Female			
Plasma Concentrations			
6 a.m.	112.00 ± 57.00	180.63 ± 17.86	233.13 ± 34.49
9 a.m.	130.57 ± 10.85	169.77 ± 15.77	205.40 ± 26.61
1 p.m.	127.40 ± 32.08	135.93 ± 14.59	149.93 ± 3.90
4 p.m.	101.93 ± 8.80	110.97 ± 14.62	175.60 ± 31.13
9 p.m.	134.53 ± 32.10	112.27 ± 48.05	203.27 ± 114.67
Area Under the Curve			
6 a.m9 p.m.	$1,815 \pm 103$	$2,066 \pm 104$	$2,804 \pm 222$

TABLE H2 Plasma Concentrations and Estimated Area Under the Curve Values of Total Phenolphthalein in Mice in the 2-Year Feed Study of Phenolphthalein^a

a Data are presented as mean \pm standard deviation. Plasma concentrations are given in $\mu g/mL$. Area under the curve values are given as μg -hour/mL. Total phenolphthalein equals free and conjugated phenolphthalein. Samples were collected on the last day of the study.

b






Plasma Concentrations of Total Phenolphthalein in Female Rats After Exposure to 12,000, 25,000, or 50,000 ppm in Feed for 2 Years



Plasma Concentrations of Total Phenolphthalein in Male and Female Rats After Exposure to 12,000 ppm in Feed for 2 Years







Plasma Concentrations of Total Phenolphthalein in Male and Female Rats After Exposure to 50,000 ppm in Feed for 2 Years



Plasma Concentrations of Total Phenolphthalein in Male Mice After Exposure to 3,000, 6,000, or 12,000 ppm in Feed for 2 Years



Plasma Concentrations of Total Phenolphthalein in Female Mice After Exposure to 3,000, 6,000, or 12,000 ppm in Feed for 2 Years



Plasma Concentrations of Total Phenolphthalein in Male and Female Mice After Exposure to 3,000 ppm in Feed for 2 Years



Plasma Concentrations of Total Phenolphthalein in Male and Female Mice After Exposure to 6,000 ppm in Feed for 2 Years



Plasma Concentrations of Total Phenolphthalein in Male and Female Mice After Exposure to 12,000 ppm in Feed for 2 Years

APPENDIX I REPRODUCTIVE TISSUE EVALUATIONS AND ESTROUS CYCLE CHARACTERIZATION

TABLE I1	Summary of Reproductive Tissue Evaluations and Estrous Cycle Characterization	
	for Rats in the 13-Week Feed Study of Phenolphthalein	292
TABLE I2	Summary of Reproductive Tissue Evaluations and Estrous Cycle Characterization	
	for Mice in the 13-Week Feed Study of Phenolphthalein	293

	0 ppm	12,000 ppm	25,000 ppm	50,000 ppm
Male				···
n	10	10	10	10
Weights (g)				
Necropsy body wt	360 ± 6	356 ± 6	359 ± 10	352 ± 6
R. cauda	0.194 ± 0.006	0.198 ± 0.006	0.203 ± 0.005	0.207 ± 0.005
R. epididymis	0.448 ± 0.007	0.454 ± 0.009	0.458 ± 0.009	0.452 ± 0.009
R. testis	1.481 ± 0.029	1.502 ± 0.030	1.525 ± 0.042	1.517 ± 0.029
Epididymal spermatozoal parameters				
Motility (%)	61.60 ± 2.06	72.35 ± 2.20*	67.19 ± 2.49	67.84 ± 4.23
Abnormal (%)	0.680 ± 0.134	0.760 ± 0.107	0.840 ± 0.126	0.800 ± 0.107
Concentration				
(10 ⁶ /g cauda epididymal tissue)	368 ± 14	352 ± 32	381 ± 18	386 ± 22
Female				
1	10	10	10	10
Necropsy body wt (g)	210 ± 3	205 ± 3	202 ± 3	198 ± 3*
Estrous cycle length (days)	4.90 ± 0.10	4.60 ± 0.16	4.80 ± 0.20	4.70 ± 0.15
Estrous stages (% of cycle)				
Diestrus	40.0	38.6	34.3	40.0
Proestrus	18.6	20.0	14.3	20.0
Estrus	17.1	21.4	28.6	18.6
Metestrus	24.3	20.0	22.9	21.4

TABLE I1 Summary of Reproductive Tissue Evaluations and Estrous Cycle Characterization for Rats in the 13-Week Feed Study of Phenolphthalein^a

* Significantly different (P≤0.05) from the controls by Dunnett's test (body weight) or by Dunn's test (motility)

^a Weights, epididymal spermatozoal parameters, and estrous cycle length are presented as mean ± standard error. Differences from the control group for organ weights and estrous cycle length are not significant by Dunn's or Dunnett's test. By multivariate analysis of variance, exposed females did not differ significantly from the control females in relative length of time spent in the estrous stages.

	0 ppm	12,000 ppm	25,000 ppm	50,000 ppm
Male				, ,, ,, ,, ,, ,, ,, ,, ,, ,, ,, ,,
ı	10	10	10	10
Weights (g)				
Necropsy body wt	28.8 ± 0.8	28.5 ± 0.6	29.3 ± 0.8	28.0 ± 0.6
R. cauda	0.022 ± 0.001	$0.018 \pm 0.001*$	0.019 ± 0.001	0.019 ± 0.001
R. epididymis	0.049 ± 0.002	$0.038 \pm 0.001 **$	0.040 ± 0.001**	0.040 ± 0.001**
R. testis	0.121 ± 0.003	0.063 ± 0.002**	0.077 ± 0.001 **	0.079 ± 0.002**
Epididymal spermatozoal parameters				
Motility (%)	78.88 ± 1.95	79.22 ± 1.90	79.83 ± 1.74	75.37 ± 1.71
Abnormal (%) Concentration	1.30 ± 0.10	5.74 ± 0.63**	4.80 ± 0.45**	5.74 ± 0.26**
(10 ⁶ /g cauda epididymal tissue)	590 ± 54	349 ± 33*	417 ± 50	288 ± 32**
Female				
1	10	10	10	10
Necropsy body wt (g)	23.8 ± 0.7	25.0 ± 0.5	25.0 ± 0.5	24.8 ± 0.5
Estrous cycle length (days)	4.00 ± 0.00	4.56 ± 0.29^{b}	$4.20 \pm 0.20^{\circ}$	4.25 ± 0.16^{d}
Estrous stages (% of cycle)				
Diestrus	37.1	31.4	38.6	27.1
Proestrus	25.7	21.4	15.7	15.7
Estrus	28.6	34.3	34.3	41.1
Metestrus	8.6	12.9	11.4	15.7

TABLE I2 Summary of Reproductive Tissue Evaluations and Estrous Cycle Characterization for Mice in the 13-Week Feed Study of Phenolphthalein^a

* Significantly different (P≤0.05) from the controls by Williams' or Dunnett's test (weights) or by Dunn's test (epididymal spermatozoal parameters)

^a Weights, epididymal spermatozoal parameters, and estrous cycle length are presented as mean \pm standard error. Differences from the control group for estrous cycle length are not significant by Dunn's or Dunnett's test. By multivariate analysis of variance, exposed females did not differ significantly from the control females in relative length of time spent in the estrous stages.

^b Estrous cycle was longer than 7 days or was unclear in 1 of 10 animals.

^c Estrous cycle was longer than 7 days or was unclear in 5 of 10 animals.

^d Estrous cycle was longer than 7 days or was unclear in 2 of 10 animals.

^{**} P≤0.01

APPENDIX J CHEMICAL CHARACTERIZATION AND DOSE FORMULATION STUDIES

NT AND CHARACTERIZATION OF PHENOLPHTHALEIN	296
N AND ANALYSIS OF DOSE FORMULATIONS	297
Infrared Absorption Spectrum of Phenolphthalein	299
Nuclear Magnetic Resonance Spectrum of Phenolphthalein	300
Preparation and Storage of Dose Formulations in the Feed Studies	
of Phenolphthalein	301
Results of Analyses of Dose Formulations Administered to Rats and Mice	
in the 13-Week Feed Studies of Phenolphthalein	302
Results of Analyses of Dose Formulations Administered to Rats and Mice	
in the 2-Year Feed Studies of Phenolphthalein	303
Results of Referee Analyses of Dose Formulations Administered to Rats and Mice	
in the 13-Week Feed Studies of Phenolphthalein	308
	N AND ANALYSIS OF DOSE FORMULATIONS

CHEMICAL CHARACTERIZATION AND DOSE FORMULATION STUDIES

PROCUREMENT AND CHARACTERIZATION OF PHENOLPHTHALEIN

Phenolphthalein was obtained from Air Products and Chemicals, Inc. (Allentown, PA), in one lot (127-7809) and from Pharmco Laboratories, Inc. (Titusville, FL), in two lots (P3186-D5 and P9189-J1). Lot 127-7809 was used during the 14-day studies, lot P3186-D5 was used during the 13-week studies, and lot P9189-J1 was used during the 2-year studies. Identity, purity, and stability analyses were conducted by the analytical chemistry laboratory, Midwest Research Institute (Kansas City, MO). Reports on analyses performed in support of the phenolphthalein studies are on file at the National Institute of Environmental Health Sciences.

All lots of the chemical, a yellow powder, were identified as phenolphthalein by infrared, ultraviolet/ visible, and nuclear magnetic resonance spectroscopy and by melting point. All spectra were consistent with the literature spectra (*Sadtler Standard Spectra*) of phenolphthalein. The infrared and nuclear magnetic resonance spectra are presented in Figures J1 and J2. The melting points of all lots of the chemical were consistent with literature values (*Merck Index*, 1989).

The purity of each lot was determined by elemental analyses, Karl Fischer water analysis, functional group titration, thin-layer chromatography (TLC), and high-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC). For functional group titration of lot 127-7809, samples were titrated with 0.1 N tetrabutylammonium hydroxide in 2-propanol. For functional group titration of lots P3186-D5 and P9189-J1, samples were dissolved in dimethylformamide and reacted with excess iodine. The unreacted iodine was titrated with standardized 0.1 N sodium thiosulfate to a colorimetric endpoint using a starch indicator. TLC was performed on Silica Gel 60 F-254 plates for lots 127-7809 and P3186-D5 and on Whatman Silica Gel 60A K6F plates for lot P9189-J1. Three solvent systems were used: 1) carbon tetrachloride:diethyl ether:95% ethanol (53:42:5), 2) chloroform:ethyl acetate (80:20), and 3) acetone:methylene chloride (80:20). System 1 was used for all lots, system 2 was used for lot 127-7809, and system 3 was used for lots P3186-D5 and P9189-J1. For all lots, plates were examined under ultraviolet light (254 and/or 366 nm) and with a spray of 1 N aqueous sodium hydroxide. o-Cresolphthalein (10 $\mu g/\mu L$ in methanol) was used as a reference standard. For lot P3186-D5, plates were also examined under visible light. HPLC for all lots was performed with a Waters μ Bondapak C₁₈ column using ultraviolet detection (280 nm) and a flow rate 1.0 mL/minute. Mobile phases of water:methanol (45:55 and 55:45) were used for lot 127-7809. Mobile phases of water with 1% glacial acetic acid:methanol with 1% glacial acetic acid with ratios of 50:50 and 54:46 were used for lots P3186-D5 and P9189-J1, respectively.

For lot 127-7809, elemental analyses for carbon, hydrogen, and oxygen were in agreement with the theoretical values for phenolphthalein. Karl Fischer water analysis indicated $0.36\% \pm 0.02\%$ water. Functional group titration indicated a purity of 98.8% $\pm 0.8\%$. TLC by systems 1 and 2 indicated a major spot, a minor impurity, a trace impurity, and a slight trace impurity. HPLC with a mobile phase ratio of 45:55 revealed a major peak and five impurities with a combined area of 2.19% relative to the major peak area. HPLC with a mobile phase ratio of 55:45 revealed a major peak and four impurities with a combined area of 2.28% of the major peak area. The overall purity of lot 127-7809 was determined to be greater than or equal to 98%.

For lot P3186-D5, elemental analyses for carbon and hydrogen were in agreement with the theoretical values for phenolphthalein. Karl Fischer water analysis indicated $0.193\% \pm 0.004\%$ water. Functional group titration indicated a purity of 99.5% $\pm 0.4\%$. TLC indicated a major spot, a minor impurity, and a trace impurity by system 1 and a major spot and a trace impurity by system 3. HPLC revealed a major

Chemical Characterization and Dose Formulation

peak and three impurities with a combined area of 1.4% relative to the major peak area. Major peak comparisons of lot P3186-D5 with lot 127-7809 using the methods previously described but with a mobile phase of water:methanol (47:53), 3.0 mg/mL butyrophenone as the internal standard, and a flow rate of 1.2 mL/minute indicated a purity of $100.3\% \pm 0.6\%$ for lot P3186-D5 relative to lot 127-7809. The overall purity of lot P3186-D5 was determined to be greater than or equal to 98%.

For lot P9189-J1, elemental analyses for carbon and hydrogen were in agreement with the theoretical values for phenolphthalein. Karl Fischer water analysis indicated $0.12\% \pm 0.05\%$ water. Functional group titration indicated a purity of 99.9% $\pm 0.5\%$. TLC indicated a major spot and a trace impurity by system 1 and only a major spot by system 3. HPLC revealed a major peak and three impurities with a combined area of 1.2% relative to the major peak area. Major peak comparisons of lot P9189-J1 with lot 127-7809 using the methods previously described but with a mobile phase of water:methanol (50:50) and 3.0 mg/mL butyrophenone as the internal standard indicated a purity of 100.9 $\pm 0.2\%$ for lot P9189-J1 relative to lot 127-7809. The overall purity of lot P9189-J1 was determined to be greater than or equal to 99%.

Stability studies of lot 127-7809 were performed by the analytical chemistry laboratory. Samples were dissolved in methanol (100 mL) containing *n*-butyrophenone (1.9 mg/mL) as an internal standard. HPLC was performed as described for the purity analyses but with a mobile phase ratio of 34:63. These studies indicated that phenolphthalein was stable as a bulk chemical for 2 weeks when stored protected from light at temperatures up to 60° C. To ensure stability, the bulk chemical was stored protected from light at 25° C in sealed containers during the 13-week studies and was stored protected from light at or below 27° C in sealed containers during the 2-year studies. Stability was monitored using HPLC approximately monthly during the 13-week studies and approximately every 16 weeks during the 2-year studies. No degradation of the bulk chemical was detected.

PREPARATION AND ANALYSIS OF DOSE FORMULATIONS

The dose formulations for all studies were prepared weekly by mixing phenolphthalein with feed (Table J1). For the 14-day studies, dose formulations were mixed by hand for 1 minute and then blended in a Vortex feed mixer for 20 minutes using an intensifier bar for the initial 5 minutes. Formulations were stored in plastic bags within metal containers at room temperature for up to 1 week. For the 13-week and 2-year studies, a phenolphthalein/feed premix was prepared by hand and was then blended with feed in a Patterson-Kelly twin-shell blender for 15 minutes using an intensifier bar for the initial 5 minutes. For the 13-week studies, formulations were stored in double plastic bags at temperatures at or below -20° C for up to 3 weeks. For the 2-year studies, formulations were stored in polyethylene bags at room temperature protected from light for up to 3 weeks.

Stability studies of the 6,000 ppm dose formulation of lot 127-7809 were performed by the analytical chemistry laboratory. Samples were extracted with 100 mL of acetonitrile:water:hydrochloric acid (97:2:1). The samples were sonicated for 1 minute and then shaken for 20 minutes on a Burrell wrist-action shaker. After centrifugation, 5-mL aliquots were diluted to 50 mL with acetonitrile. The solutions were filtered and then analyzed using HPLC with the same system as described for the purity analyses but with a mobile phase of acetonitrile:water (45:55). The stability of the dose formulation was confirmed for at least 2 weeks when stored at temperatures up to 25° C.

Homogeneity studies of the 500 ppm dose formulation of lot P3186-D5 were performed by the analytical chemistry laboratory. Samples were extracted with 100 mL of acetonitrile:water:hydrochloric acid (97:2:1). The samples were shaken for 15 minutes on a wrist-action shaker. After centrifugation, 5-mL aliquots were mixed with 5 mL of internal standard solution (acetophenone, 0.09 mg/mL in water:

acetonitrile [45:55]) and diluted to 50 mL with water: acetonitrile (44:55). The solutions were filtered and analyzed using HPLC with a Hamilton PRP-1 10 μ column using ultraviolet detection (280 nm) and a mobile phase of water: acetonitrile (45:55). The flow rate was 1.0 mL/minute. Stability studies of the 500 ppm dose formulation were also performed using the same HPLC methods used for the homogeneity analyses. Homogeneity was confirmed and the stability of the dose formulation was confirmed for at least 3 weeks when stored protected from light at room temperature.

Periodic analyses of the dose formulations of phenolphthalein were conducted at the study laboratories using HPLC with the same methods used for the homogeneity analyses. During the 13-week studies, the formulations were analyzed every 6 weeks (Table J2). During the 2-year studies, the formulations were analyzed approximately every 8 weeks (Table J3). All of the dose formulations analyzed during the 13-week studies were within 10% of the target concentrations. Of the dose formulations analyzed during the 2-year studies, 99% (122/123) were within 10% of the target concentrations. During the 2-year studies, one 25,000 ppm sample mixed on 6 November 1992 was determined to be 28% greater than the target concentration. This formulation was remixed on 10 November 1992; the remix was within 10% of the target concentration. During the 2-year studies, 89% (40/45) of the animal room samples were within 10% of the target concentration. During the 2-year studies, so formulation. The other four animal room samples were within 17% of the target concentrations. Results of periodic referee analyses performed during the 13-week studies by the analytical chemistry laboratory agreed with the results obtained by the study laboratory (Table J4).



FIGURE J1 Infrared Absorption Spectrum of Phenolphthalein



FIGURE J2 Nuclear Magnetic Resonance Spectrum of Phenolphthalein

TABLE J1
Preparation and Storage of Dose Formulations in the Feed Studies of Phenolphthalein

14-Day Studies	13-Week Studies	2-Year Studies
Preparation A premix of feed and phenolphthalein was prepared by hand and then blended in a Vortex feed mixer with the intensifier bar on for 5 minutes and off for 15 minutes. Dose formulations were prepared weekly.	A premix of feed and phenolphthalein was prepared, and then layered into the remaining feed and blended in a Patterson-Kelly twin-shell blender with the intensifier bar on for 5 minutes and off for 10 minutes. Dose formulations were prepared weekly.	Same as 13-week studies
Chemical Lot Number 127-7809	P3186-D5	P9189-J1
Maximum Storage Time 1 week	3 weeks	3 weeks
Storage Conditions Stored in plastic bags within metal containers at room temperature	Stored in double plastic bags at or below -20° C	Stored in polyethylene bags protected from light at room temperature
Study Laboratory Cannon Laboratories, Inc. (Reading, PA)	Microbiological Associates, Inc. (Bethesda, MD)	TSI Mason Laboratories (Worcester, MA)
Referee Laboratory None	Midwest Research Institute (Kansas City, MO)	None

+5

-2

0

-2

-7

-6

-6

% Difference Target Determined **Date Prepared Date Analyzed** Concentration **Concentration**^a from Target (ppm) (ppm) 20 April 1987^b 3,000^c 2,910 20-21 April 1987 -3 3,000^d 2,890 -4 3,000^e 2,940 -2 50,000^c 48,800 -2 50,000^d 50,200 0 50,000^e 49,200 -2 22 April 1987 24 April 1987 3,000 3,040 +1 6,000 0 6,000 12,000 11,800 -2 25,000 24,500 -2 50,400 +1 50,000 0 3-4 June 1987 3,000 3,000 3 June 1987 5,860 -2 6,000 12,000 11,800 -2

25,000

50,000

3,000

6,000 12,000

25,000

50,000

26,300

49,100

2,990 5,910

11,200

23,400

46,800

TABLE J2

Results of Analyses of Dose Formulations Administered to Rats and Mice in the 13-Week Feed Studies of Phenolphthalein

^a Results of duplicate analyses

15 July 1987

^b Homogeneity analyses, not used for dosing

^c Sample selection from top left of twin-shell blender

^d Sample selection from top right of twin-shell blender

16-17 July 1987

^e Sample selection from bottom of twin-shell blender

TABLE J3 Results of Analyses of Dose Formulations Administered to Rats and Mice in the 2-Year Feed Studies of Phenolphthalein

Date Prepared	Date Analyzed	Target Concentration (ppm)	Determined Concentration ^a (ppm)	% Difference from Target
Rats				
1 November 1990 ^b	2 November 1990	3,000 ^c	2,980	-1
	2 1107011001 1990	3,000 ^d	2,890	-4
		3,000 ^e	2,870	-4
		50,000 ^c	50,600	+1
		50,000 ^d	50,400	+1
		50,000 ^e	50,500	+1
1 March 1991	4 March 1991	12,000	12,300	+3
		12,000	11,700	-3
	1-2 April 1991 ^f	12,000	11,200	7
	•	12,000	11,600	-3
4 March 1991	4 March 1991	25,000	25,000	0
		25,000	24,700	-1
		50,000	49,800	0
		50,000	48,700	-3
	1-2 April 1991 ^f	25,000	25,300	+1
		25,000	25,000	0
		50,000	50,200	0
		50,000	49,900	0
26 April 1991	29-30 April 1991	12,000	12,000	0
		12,000	12,400	+3
		25,000	25,600	+2
		25,000	25,100	0
		50,000	50,000	0
		50,000	49,900	0
21 June 1991	24-25 June 1991	12,000	12,100	+1
		12,000	12,200	+2
		25,000	25,000	0
		25,000	25,000	0
		50,000	50,400	+1
		50,000	50,000	0
16 August 1991	20 August 1991	12,000	11,900	-1
		12,000	11,800	-2
		25,000	25,500	+2
		25,000	25,900	+4
		50,000	50,500	+1
		50,000	51,500	+3
	4 September 1991 ^f	12,000	11,500	-4
	-	12,000	12,000	0
		25,000	25,400	+2
		25,000	25,000	0
		50,000	49,500	-1
		50,000	49,600	-1

TABLE J3

Results of Analyses of Dose Formulations Administered to Rats and Mice in the 2-Year Feed Studies of Phenolphthalein (continued)

Date Prepared	Date Analyzed	Target Concentration (ppm)	Determined Concentration (ppm)	% Difference from Target
Rats (continued)				
11 October 1991	15 October 1991	12,000	11,500	-4
		25,000	24,500	-2
		50,000	50,000	0
5 December 1991	6 December 1991	12,000	11,700	-3
		12,000	11,700	-3
		25,000	25,100	0
		25,000	24,800	-1
		50,000	49,000	-2
		50,000	48,300	-3
31 January 1992	3 February 1992	12,000	12,300	+3
•	·	25,000	25,400	+2
		50,000	49,700	-1
	24 February 1992 ^f	12,000	12,100	+1
		25,000	11,900	-52 ^g
		50,000	50,000	0
27 March 1992	30 March 1992	12,000	12,200	+2
		12,000	12,300	+3
		25,000	25,500	+2
		25,000	25,700	+3
		50,000	49,700	-1
		50,000	51,200	+2
22 May 1992	26 May 1992	12,000	12,100	+1
		12,000	12,200	+2
		25,000	24,600	-2
		25,000	24,200	-3
		50,000	47,000	-6
		50,000	47,500	-5
17 July 1992	20 July 1992	12,000	11,700	-3
		12,000	11,600	-3
		25,000	23,900	-4
		25,000	24,200	-3
		50,000	49,600	-1
		50,000	53,300	+7
	10-12 August 1992 ^f	12,000	12,000	0
		12,000	11,800	-2
		25,000	24,900	0
		25,000	24,500	-2
		50,000	49,500	-1
		50,000	49,000	-2

TABLE J3 Results of Analyses of Dose Formulations Administered to Rats and Mice in the 2-Year Feed Studies of Phenolphthalein (continued)

Date Prepared	Date Analyzed	Target Concentration (ppm)	Determined Concentration (ppm)	% Difference from Target
Rats (continued)	, and a second			
18 September 1992	21 September 1992	12,000	12,000	0
·····		12,000	12,000	0
		25,000	24,900	0
		25,000	25,000	0
		50,000	50,100	0
		50,000	50,300	+ 1
6 November 1992	9 November 1992	12,000	12,100	+1
		12,000	12,000	0
		25,000	25,200	+1
		25,000	31,900	+28
		50,000	49,800	0
		50,000	50,300	+1
10 November 1992 ^h	10 November 1992	25,000	26,200	+5
4 January 1993	5 January 1993	12,000	10,900	-9
		12,000	10,800	-10
		25,000	25,800	+3
		25,000	25,100	0
		50,000	49,200	-2
		50,000	49,400	-1
	25 January 1993 ^f	12,000	11,400	-5
		12,000	11,300	-6
		25,000	25,100	0
		25,000	24,700	-1
		50,000	49,000	-2
		50,000	50,000	0
19 February 1993	22 February 1993	12,000	12,000	0
		12,000	12,400	+3
		25,000	25,800	+3
		25,000	25,400	+2
		50,000	48,300	-3
		50,000	48,500	-3
Mice				
1 November 1990 ^b	2 November 1990	3,000 ^c	2,980	-1
		3,000 ^d	2,890	-4
		3,000 ^e	2,870	-4
		50,000 ^c	50,600	+1
		50,000 ^d	50,400	+1
		50,000 ^e	50,500	+1

TABLE J3

Results of Analyses of Dose Formulations Administered to Rats and Mice in the 2-Year Feed Studies of Phenolphthalein (continued)

Date Prepared	Date Analyzed	Target Concentration (ppm)	Determined Concentration (ppm)	% Difference from Target
Mice (continued)				
16 November 1990	19 November 1990	3,000	2,970	-1
		3,000	3,060	+2
		6,000	6,020	0
		6,000	6,020	0
		12,000	12,040	0
		12,000	12,150	+1
	11 December 1990 ^f	3,000	2,500	-17 ⁱ
		3,000	2,750	-8 ⁱ
		6,000	5,370	-11^{i}
		6,000	5,470	-9 ⁱ
		12,000	10,080	-16^{i}
		12,000	11,350	-5 ⁱ
18 January 1991	21 January 1991	3,000	3,060	+2
•		6,000	6,030	+1
		12,000	12,040	0
8 March 1991	11 March 1991	3,000	3,000	0
		6,000	6,100	+2
		12,000	11,990	0
26 April 1991	29 April 1991	3,000	3,090	+3
		6,000	5,970	-1
		12,000	11,870	-1
	16 May 1991 ^f	3,000	2,640	-12 ⁱ
	10	6,000	5,520	-8
		12,000	11,670	-3
1 June 1991	24 June 1991	3,000	3,050	+2
		6,000	5,930	-1
		12,000	11,960	0
16 August 1991	20 August 1991	3,000	3,000	0
		6,000	6,050	+.1
		12,000	12,160	+1
1 October 1991	15 October 1991	3,000	2,940	-2
	12 000001 1771	6,000	5,980	0
		12,000	11,950	ů 0
	30 October 1991 ^f	3,000	2,920	-3
		6,000	5,800	-3
		12,000	11,900	-1
5 December 1991	6 December 1991	3,000	3,010	0
		6,000	5,990	. 0
		12,000	11,900	-1

TABLE J3 Results of Analyses of Dose Formulations Administered to Rats and Mice in the 2-Year Feed Studies of Phenolphthalein (continued)

Date Prepared	Date Analyzed	Target Concentration (ppm)	Determined Concentration (ppm)	% Difference from Target
Mice (continued)	ана на селото на село	···		
31 January 1992	3 February 1992	3,000	3,090	+3
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	6,000	6,100	+2
		12,000	12,060	+1
27 March 1992	30 March 1992	3,000	3,210	+7
		6,000	5,900	-2
		12,000	11,880	-1
	15-16 April 1992 ^f	3,000	3,150	+5
	•	6,000	6,240	+4
		12,000	12,170	+1
22 May 1992	22 May 1992	3,000	3,060	+2
•	-	6,000	6,030	+1
		12,000	11,960	0
17 July 1992	20 July 1992	3,000	2,920	-3
		6,000	6,050	+1
		12,000	11,890	-1
18 September 1992	21 September 1992	3,000	3,080	+3
		6,000	6,050	+1
		12,000	12,020	0
	10 October 1992 ^f	3,000	2,910	-3
		6,000	5,800	-3
		12,000	12,030	0
6 November 1992	9 November 1992	3,000	3,040	+1
		6,000	6,130	+2
		12,000	12,080	+1

^a Results of duplicate analyses

^b Homogeneity analyses, not used for dosing

^c Sample selection from top left of twin-shell blender

^d Sample selection from top right of twin-shell blender

^e Sample selection from bottom of twin-shell blender

f Animal room samples

^g For the 25,000 ppm dose formulation prepared 31 January 1992, it was determined that a container of the 12,000 ppm dose formulation was mislabeled when the animal room samples were collected on 24 February 1992 and that the animals were not misdosed.

h Results of remix

i Low values were caused by the presence of feces, urine, and/or bedding in the animal room samples; it was determined that the animals were not misdosed.

Results of Referee Analyses of Dose Formulations in the 13-Week Feed Studies of Phenolphthalein	Administered to Rats and Mice
	Determined Concentration (ppm)

TABLE J4

Study Laboratory^a **Target Concentration** Referee (ppm) Laboratory^b **Date Prepared** 22 April 1987 15 July 1987 $6,100 \pm 60$ 25,500 \pm 300 6,000 6,000 25,000 23,400

^a Results of duplicate analyses
 ^b Results of triplicate analyses (mean ± standard error)

APPENDIX K FEED AND COMPOUND CONSUMPTION IN THE 2-YEAR FEED STUDIES OF PHENOLPHTHALEIN

Feed and Compound Consumption by Male Rats in the 2-Year Feed Study	
of Phenolphthalein	310
Feed and Compound Consumption by Female Rats in the 2-Year Feed Study	
of Phenolphthalein	311
Feed and Compound Consumption by Male Mice in the 2-Year Feed Study	
of Phenolphthalein	312
Feed and Compound Consumption by Female Mice in the 2-Year Feed Study	
of Phenolphthalein	313
	of PhenolphthaleinFeed and Compound Consumption by Female Rats in the 2-Year Feed Studyof PhenolphthaleinFeed and Compound Consumption by Male Mice in the 2-Year Feed Studyof Phenolphthalein

Feed and Compound Consumption by Male Rats in the 2-Year Feed Study of Phenolphthalein

	<u> </u>	pm		12,000 ppr	<u>n</u>		25,000 ppr	<u>n</u>		50,000 ppr	n		
Week	Feed (g/day) ^a	Body Weight (g)	Feed (g/day)	Body Weight (g)	Dose/ Day ^b (mg/kg)	Feed (g/day)	Body Weight (g)	Dose/ Day (mg/kg)	Feed (g/day)	Body Weight (g)	Dose/ Day (mg/kg		
2	14.5	170	12.7	168	907	12.7	168	1,899	12.3	161	3,818		
4	17.3	237	17.6	229	924	19.6	233	2,105	18.4	227	4,051		
5	16.8	258	17.5	250	840	18.2	254	1,790	18.0	249	3,604		
9	17.4	320	16.3	301	651	16.5	294	1,403	18.0	306	2,949		
13	15.5	344	17.0	327	622	17.9	326	1,372	16.3	333	2,453		
17	16.8	382	17.0	364	562	17.3	362	1,198	17.6	365	2,416		
25	16.0	415	17.3	398	520	17.8	402	1,106	18.3	405	2,256		
29	15.7	425	16.7	406	492	17.4	410	1,059	16.9	409	2,068		
33	15.8	437	18.4	411	537	17.9	421	1,062	18.0	420	2,136		
37	16.2	449	17.4	428	487	18.1	432	1,048	17.9	434	2,058		
41	16.8	459	18.3	437	503	18.4	442	1,039	18.6	443	2,100		
45	15.9	460	17.5	440	476	17.7	442	1,002	18.0	443	2,029		
49	16.2	463				19.0	446	1,062	18.6	446	2,092		
53	15.5	464	16.7	443	451	17.6	445	988	18.6		1,999		
57	16.4	459	17.2	439	469	17.4	441	984	17.3	442	1,961		
61	16.1	466	16.9	439	463	18.1	444	1,018	17.7	439	2,023		
65	15.8	470	17.5	443	475	19.8	443	1,116	18.2	447	2,034		
69	14.1	466	16.0	440	437	16.6	445	936	16.9	442	1,906		
73	13.8	461	15.9	442	433	15.8	441	894	16.1	442	1,825		
77	14.7	465	15.3	436	422	15.9	439	907	16.1	437	1,843		
81	13.9	457	14.1	433	392	15.9	431	920	16.0	431	1,854		
85	14.1	455	14.4	423	409	15.6	422	923	15.6	428	1,821		
89	12.8	450	13.8	419	394	13.5	404	834	14.3	415	1,719		
93	14.1	457	14.4	423	407	14.0	397	884	13.7	390	1,758		
97	13.5	451	14.6	405	432	15.2	395	961	14.5	409	1,780		
101	14.0	439	14.0	375	448	14.3	364	979	13.5	372	1,822		
104	12.8	434	13.7	367	448	13.6	341	998	13.5	342	1,972		
Mean f	for weeks												
1-13	16.3	266	16.2	255	789	17.0	255	1,714	16.6	255	3,375		
14-52	16.2	436	17.5	412	511	17.9	420	1,072	18.0	421	2,144		
53-104	14.4	457	15.3	423	434	15.9	418	953	15.8	420	1,880		

ð

a Grams of feed consumed per animal per day
 b Milligrams of phenolphthalein consumed per kilogram body weight per day

Feed and Compound Consumption by Female Rats in the 2-Year Feed Study of Phenolphthalein

	0 p	pm	1	12,000 ppn	n		25,000 ppr	n		50,000 ppr	n
Week	Feed (g/day) ^a	Body Weight (g)	Feed (g/day)	Body Weight (g)	Dose/ Day ^b (mg/kg)	Feed (g/day)	Body Weight (g)	Dose/ Day (mg/kg)	Feed (g/day)	Body Weight (g)	Dose/ Day (mg/kg)
2	10.4	129	9.3	129	865	9.4	128	1,829	9.4	129	3,661
4	9.7	142	11.1	147	907	11.1	146	1,896	11.6	151	3,844
5	11.9	157	11.0	157	843	10.9	155	1,764	11.0	159	3,441
9	11.0	184	10.6	182	702	10.5	179	1,461	11.3	180	3,144
13	10.5	201	10.1	195	618	10.4	196	1,324	11.5	191	3,024
16	10.7	214	11.0	204	647	10.6	202	1,313	11.1	200	2,775
21	10.9	222	10.7	211	609	10. 6	209	1,275	11.2	206	2,712
25	10.7	229	11.3	220	615	11.1	216	1,289	11.4	214	2,677
29	10.8	234	10.8	222	583	10.6	219	1,215	10.8	216	2,499
33	10.1	240	11.1	225	593	11.0	223	1,235	11.2	219	2,566
37	11.7	252	11.4	234	584	11.2	230	1,217	11.6	228	2,548
41	11.8	261	12.2	240	613	11.8	238	1,241	12.3	234	2,624
45	11.4	267	11.3	244	556	11.6	242	1,196	11.8	237	2,480
49	11.4	281	12.1	254	572	11.8	249	1,189	12.2	245	2,497
53	11.5	287	11.6	258	543	11.6	254	1,147	11.7	249	2,355
57	11.8	296	11.6	262	530	11.5	256	1,122	12.0	251	2,396
61	12.0	304	11.5	265	520	11.6	260	1,119	12.0	259	2,323
65	11.9	314	11.9	272	522	12.5	269	1,160	12.3	265	2,320
69	11.4	322	11.4	282	485	11.7	280	1,047	11.5	270	2,128
73	11.9	325	11.7	287	490	11.9	284	1,050	12.1	275	2,198
77	12.2	332	11.9	290	491	12.1	288	1,048	12.3	281	2,193
81	12.8	342	12.5	298	503	12.2	293	1,039	11.9	284	2,090
85	11.2	346	11.0	303	438	11.4	296	961	12.0	292	2,059
89	11.3	351	10.9	301	436	10.7	295	902	11.2	291	1,918
93	10.7	345	10.4	299	417	10.8	294	914	11.5	293	1,967
97	9.7	346	9.9	290	410	10.6	298	893	11.3	290	1,940
101	10.4	348	11.1	301	441	10.5	300	877	11.5	296	1,941
105	10.5	337	11.4	302	455	10.9	303	904	11.3	294	1,923
Mean	for weeks										
1-13	10.7	162	10.4	162	787	10.4	161	1,655	11.0	162	3,423
14-52	11.1	244	11.3	228	597	11.2	225	1,241	11.5	222	2,598
14-52 53-105	11.1	328	11.3	228	477	11.2	284	1,013	11.5	278	2,125
55-105	11.7	520	11.5	200	777	11.4	207	4,015		2.0	2,123

.

a Grams of feed consumed per animal per day
 b Milligrams of phenolphthalein consumed per kilogram body weight per day

Feed Compound Consumption by Male Mice in the 2-Year Feed Study of Phenolphthalein

Feed (g/day) ²		pm		3,000 ppn	1		6,000 ppm	1	1	12,000 ppr	n
Week	Feed (g/day) ^a	Body Weight (g)	Feed (g/day)	Body Weight (g)	Dose/ Day ^b (mg/kg)	Feed (g/day)	Body Weight (g)	Dose/ Day (mg/kg)	Feed (g/day)	Body Weight (g)	Dose/ Day (mg/kg
2	4.2	25.2	4.4	24.9	530	4.1	24.8	1.002	4.1	24.8	1.999
5	4.2	27.7	4.1	27.4	447	4.2	27.1	933	4.2	26.9	1,855
9	4.6	29.5	4.3	29.2	441	5.0	29.4	1,025	4.3	28.8	1,809
13	4.1	32.6	4.3	32.8	393	4.4	32.6	801	4.2	32.5	1,547
17	4.2	35.2	4.3	35.0	367	4.4	34.7	763	3.8	34.2	1,328
21	4.3	40.5	4.4	39.1	336	4.3	39.7	644	4.2	38.5	1,305
25	4.0	42.8	4.1	41.6	295	4.3	41.8	611	4.2	41.2	1,228
29	4.2	44.8	4.7	43.9	320		44.0	630	4.5	43.2	1,256
33	4.2	46.5	4.4	45.7	287		45.9	598	4.6	43.8	1,248
37	4.6	46.8	4.5	46.0	293		45.7	598	4.3	43.9	1,188
41	4.7	46.2	4.7	45.0	313	4.6 45.9 4.6 45.7 4.5 45.3 4.8 46.4 4.8 47.7		591	4.6	44.9	1,231
45	4.4	47.1	4.6	47.0	291		46.4	616	4.8	45.6	1,259
49	4.7	48.7	4.8	48.2	301		47.7	610	4.7	46.9	1,206
53	4.6	48.7	4.7	48.3	289	4.9	48.3	608	4.7	47.0	1,196
57	4.7	49.8	4.7	49.0	288	4.9	48.9	600	4.7	47.5	1,194
61	5.2	49.6	4.9	48.9	302	5.3	47.9	659	5.1	47.3	1,302
65	4.9	51.7	5.0	50.5	298	5.2	49.8	621	4.9	49.8	1,191
69	4.8	52.0	4.9	50.9	289	5.0	49.8	601	4.8	49.8	1,149
73	5.1	51.7	5.1	50.7	303	5.2	51.0	607	4.9	50.3	1,179
77	4.7	51.6	4.8	50.7	282	4.7	50.3	565	4.8	49.8	1,157
81	4.7	51.1	4.6	50.2	277	4.8	51.0	567	4.7	49.8	1,130
85	4.6	51.1	4.8	50.2	287	4.9	51.5	575	4.8	50.1	1,153
89	4.3	51.5	4.7	49.5	282	4.9	50.8	573	4.8	49.4	1,162
93	5.3	50.0	5.2	49.1	320	5.2	50.2	622	5.0	47.1	1,261
97	4.9	50.4	4.9	49.1	298	4.8	50.1	575	4.9	47.3	1,238
101	4.7	49.9	4.6	49.0	284	4.6	50.2	549	4.5	46.3	1,157
104	4.6	49.4	4.4	47.9	279	4.3	49.1	525	4.1	45.9	1,062
Aean fo	or weeks										
-13	4.3	28.8	4.3	28.6	453	4.4	28.5	940	4.2	28.3	1,802
4-52	4.4	44.3	4.5	43.5	311	4.5	43.5	629	4.4	42.5	1,250
3-104	4.8	50.6	4.8	49.6	291	4.9	49.9	589	4.8	48.4	1,181

^a Grams of feed consumed per animal per day
 ^b Milligrams of phenolphthalein consumed per kilogram body weight per day

Feed and Compound Consumption by Female Mice in the 2-Year Feed Study of Phenolphthalein

	0 p	pm		3,000 ppm	1		6,000 ppm	1	12,000 ppm							
Week	Feed (g/day) ^a	Body Weight (g)	Feed (g/day)	Body Weight (g)	Dose/ Day ^b (mg/kg)	Feed (g/day)	Body Weight (g)	Dose/ Day (mg/kg)	Feed (g/day)	Body Weight (g)	Dose/ Day (mg/kg)					
2	6.2	19.9	5.3	19.5	812	6.0	19.6	1,831	5.4	19.6	3,299					
5	4.7	21.8	4.8	21.8	658	4.7	21.7	1,301	4.4	21.9	2,409					
9	5.2	24.9	5.2	24.3	645	5.6	24.7	1,351	5.7	24.9	2,733					
13	4.2	27.0	4.3	26.1	489	5.1	26.9	1,144	4.8	27.4	2,118					
17	4.3	30.6	4.5	29.1	460	4.8	29.3	982	4.5	29.6	1,844					
21	4.7	34.0	4.9	33.6	436	4.7	33.6	843	4.8	34.3	1,666					
25	4.3	36.2	4.6	35.2	392	4.4	35.1	757	4.2	35.8	1,409					
29	4.7	38.8	4.7	37.5	373	4.7	37.8	750	4.6	37.5	1,475					
33	4.7	42.2	4.8	40.3	359	4.7	40.3	699	4.8	39.9	1,433					
37	4.7	42.1	4.7	40.6	346	4.8	40.7	701	4.7	40.2	1,407					
41	5.0	44.5	4.9	42.8	344	4.9	42.1	696	4.9	41.7	1,397					
45	5.1	45.2	5.3	43.1	366	5.1	42.9	719	5.2	43.1	1,444					
49	4.9	46.6	5.2	44.6	349	5.1	43.7	702	5.0	43.0	1,406					
53	5.0	47.8	4.7	46.1	308	4.9	45.5	643	4.9	45.0	1,311					
57	5.1	49.0	5.2	46.9	334	5.1	47.1	654	5.1	46.5	1,326					
61	5.7	50.2	5.7	48.0	354	5.5	47.6	697	5.4	46.8	1,384					
65	5.5	53.6	5.6	50.7	332	5.6	51.1	656	5.3	49.7	1,270					
69	5.4	55.6	5.5	52.3	317	5.2	51.0	615	5.4	50.8	1,271					
73	5.7	55.6	5.7	52.9	325	5.7	51.7	659	5.3	50.9	1,245					
77	5.0	54.6	5.1	52.4	294	4.9	51.4	567	5.2	50.3	1,244					
81	5.1	55.6	4.9	52.7	282	5.0	51.5	582	5.1	50.3	1,210					
85	5.2	56.3	5.2	52.9	295	5.0	52.5	566	5.0	51.2	1,169					
89	5.3	56.5	5.4	52.6	309	5.3	52.7	608	5.6	52.9	1,260					
93	5.8	55.2	5.6	51.4	330	5.6	51.0	659	5.5	51.7	1,287					
97	5.5	55.6	5.4	52.5	307	5.3	51.8	615	5.4	51.8	1,246					
101	5.1	54.9	4.8	50.3	288	4.8	52.0	550	5.1	51.6	1,190					
105	4.9	54.0	4.7	49.4	283	4.6	49.3	564	4.9	50.5	1,155					
Mean	for weeks															
1-13	5.1	23.4	4.9	22.9	651	5.3	23.2	1,407	5.1	23.5	2,640					
14-52	4.7	40.0	4.8	38.5	381	4.8	38.4	761	4.7	38.3	1,498					
53-105		53.9	5.3	50.8	311	5.2	50.4	617	5.2	50.0	1,255					

a b

Grams of feed consumed per animal per day Milligrams of phenolphthalein consumed per kilogram body weight per day

/

APPENDIX L INGREDIENTS, NUTRIENT COMPOSITION, AND CONTAMINANT LEVELS IN NIH-07 RAT AND MOUSE RATION

TABLE L1	Ingredients of NIH-07 Rat and Mouse Ration	316
TABLE L2	Vitamins and Minerals in NIH-07 Rat and Mouse Ration	316
TABLE L3	Nutrient Composition of NIH-07 Rat and Mouse Ration	317
TABLE L4	Contaminant Levels in NIH-07 Rat and Mouse Ration	318

Ingredients ^b	Percent by Weight	
Ground #2 yellow shelled corn	24.50	· · · · ·
Ground hard winter wheat	23.00	
Soybean meal (49% protein)	12.00	
Fish meal (60% protein)	10.00	
Wheat middlings	10.00	
Dried skim milk	5.00	
Alfalfa meal (dehydrated, 17% protein)	4.00	
Corn gluten meal (60% protein)	3.00	
Soy oil	2.50	
Dried brewer's yeast	2.00	
Dry molasses	1.50	
Dicalcium phosphate	1.25	
Ground limestone	0.50	
Salt	0.50	
Premixes (vitamin and mineral)	0.25	

TABLE L1 Ingredients of NIH-07 Rat and Mouse Ration^a

^a NCI, 1976; NIH, 1978
 ^b Ingredients were ground to pass through a U.S. Standard Screen No. 16 before being mixed.

	Amount	Source
Vitamins		
Α	5,500,000 IU	Stabilized vitamin A palmitate or acetate
D ₃	4,600,000 IU	D-activated animal sterol
K ₃	2.8 g	Menadione
d - α -Tocopheryl acetate	20,000 IU	
Choline	560.0 g	Choline chloride
Folic acid	2.2 g	
Niacin	30.0 g	
d-Pantothenic acid	18.0 g	d-Calcium pantothenate
Riboflavin	3.4 g	
Thiamine	10.0 g	Thiamine mononitrate
B ₁₂	4,000 μg	
Pyridoxine	1.7 g	Pyridoxine hydrochloride
Biotin	140.0 mg	d-Biotin
Minerals		
Iron	120.0 g	Iron sulfate
Manganese	60.0 g	Manganous oxide
Zinc	16.0 g	Zinc oxide
Copper	4.0 g	Copper sulfate
Iodine	1.4 g	Calcium iodate
Cobalt	0.4 g	Cobalt carbonate

TABLE L2 Vitamins and Minerals in NIH-07 Rat and Mouse Ration^a

^a Per ton (2,000 lb) of finished product

TABLE L3Nutrient Composition of NIH-07 Rat and Mouse Ration

	Mean ± Standard		
Nutrient	Deviation	Range	Number of Samples
Protein (% by weight)	23.61 ± 0.52	22.6 - 25.2	25
Crude fat (% by weight)	5.28 ± 0.24	4.80 - 5.80	25
Crude fiber (% by weight)	3.34 ± 0.29	2.60 - 3.80	25
Ash (% by weight)	6.54 ± 0.21	6.23 - 7.03	25
Amino Acids (% of total diet)			
Arginine	1.280 ± 0.083	1.110 - 1.390	11
Cystine	0.308 ± 0.071	0.181 - 0.400	11
Glycine	1.158 ± 0.048	1.060 - 1.220	11
Histidine	0.584 ± 0.027	0.531 - 0.630	11
Isoleucine	0.917 ± 0.033	0.867 - 0.965	11
Leucine	1.975 ± 0.051	1.850 - 2.040	11
Lysine	1.274 ± 0.049	1.200 - 1.370	11
Methionine	0.437 ± 0.109	0.306 - 0.699	11
Phenylalanine	0.999 ± 0.120	0.665 - 1.110	11
Threonine	0.904 ± 0.058	0.824 - 0.985	11
Tryptophan	0.218 ± 0.153	0.107 - 0.671	11
Tyrosine	0.685 ± 0.094	0.564 — 0.794	11
Valine	1.086 ± 0.055	0.962 - 1.170	11
Essential Fatty Acids (% of total di			
Linoleic	2.407 ± 0.227	1.830 - 2.570	10
Linolenic	0.259 ± 0.065	0.100 - 0.320	10
Vitamins			
Vitamin A (IU/kg)	$6,976 \pm 1,367$	5,940 — 12,540	25
Vitamin D (IU/kg)	$4,450 \pm 1,382$	3,000 - 6,300	4
α-Tocopherol (ppm)	36.12 ± 9.15	22.5 - 48.9	10
Thiamine (ppm)	17.76 ± 2.76	12.0 - 25.0	25
Riboflavin (ppm)	7.83 ± 0.923	6.10 - 9.00	11
Niacin (ppm)	98.64 ± 25.5	65.0 - 150.0	10
Pantothenic acid (ppm)	30.55 ± 3.52	23.0 - 34.6	11
Pyridoxine (ppm)	9.11 ± 2.53	5.60 - 14.0	11
Folic acid (ppm)	2.46 ± 0.63	1.80 - 3.70	11
Biotin (ppm)	0.268 ± 0.047	0.190 - 0.354	11
Vitamin B ₁₂ (ppb)	40.5 ± 19.1	10.6 - 65.0	11
Choline (ppm)	$2,991 \pm 382$	2,300 — 3,430	10
Minerals			
Calcium (%)	1.18 ± 0.09	1.02 - 1.36	25
Phosphorus (%)	0.93 ± 0.060	0.770 - 1.03	25
Potassium (%)	0.886 ± 0.063	0.772 - 0.971	9
Chloride (%)	0.529 ± 0.087	0.380 - 0.635	9
Sodium (%)	0.316 ± 0.033	0.258 - 0.371	11
Magnesium (%)	0.166 ± 0.010	0.148 - 0.181	11
Sulfur (%)	0.272 ± 0.059	0.208 - 0.420	10
Iron (ppm)	350.5 ± 87.3	255.0 - 523.0	11
Manganese (ppm)	92.48 ± 5.14	81.7 — 99.4	11
Zinc (ppm)	59.33 ± 10.2	46.1 - 81.6	11
Copper (ppm)	11.81 ± 2.50	8.09 - 15.4	11
Iodine (ppm)	3.54 ± 1.19	1.52 - 5.83	10
Chromium (ppm)	1.66 ± 0.46	0.85 - 2.09	11
Cobalt (ppm)	0.76 ± 0.23	0.49 - 1.15	7

	Mean ± Standard Deviation ^b	Range	Number of Samples
	·····		
Contaminants			
Arsenic (ppm)	0.50 ± 0.20	0.10 - 0.80	25
Cadmium (ppm)	0.14 ± 0.08	0.04 - 0.20	25
Lead (ppm)	0.31 ± 0.22	0.10 - 1.10	25
Mercury (ppm)	0.02 ± 0.00	0.02 - 0.03	25
Selenium (ppm)	0.35 ± 0.08	0.10 - 0.40	25
Aflatoxins (ppb)	< 5.0		25
Nitrate nitrogen (ppm) ^c	7.20 ± 3.29	1.80 - 16.0	25
Nitrite nitrogen (ppm) ^c	0.17 ± 0.12	0.02 - 0.50	25
BHA (ppm) ^d	1.40 ± 0.91	1.00 - 4.00	25
BHT (ppm) ^d	1.36 ± 1.22	1.00 - 7.00	25
Aerobic plate count (CFU/g)	$135,520 \pm 167,289$	10,000 - 630,000	25
Coliform (MPN/g)	75 ± 232	3 - 1,100	25
Escherichia coli (MPN/g)	<3	,	25
Salmonella (MPN/g)	Negative		25
Total nitrosoamines (ppb) ^e	7.03 ± 1.75	4.80 - 11.10	25
N-Nitrosodimethylamine (ppb) ^e	5.06 ± 1.12	3.40 - 7.90	25
N-Nitrosopyrrolidine (ppb) ^e	1.99 ± 1.20	1.00 - 5.80	25
esticides (ppm)			
α-BHC	< 0.01		25
β-ВНС	< 0.02		25
γ-ВНС	< 0.01		25
δ-BHC	< 0.01		25
Heptachlor	< 0.01		25
Aldrin	< 0.01		25
Heptachlor epoxide	< 0.01		25
DDE	< 0.01		25
DDD	< 0.01		25
DDT	< 0.01		25
нсв	< 0.01		25
Mirex	< 0.01		25
Methoxychlor	< 0.05		25
Dieldrin	< 0.01		25
Endrin	< 0.01		25
Telodrin	<0.01		25
Chlordane	< 0.05		25
Toxaphene	< 0.10		25
Estimated PCBs	< 0.20		25
Ronnel	< 0.01		25
Ethion	< 0.02		25
Trithion	< 0.05		25
Diazinon	< 0.10		25
Methyl parathion	<0.02		25
Ethyl parathion	< 0.02		25
Malathion	0.20 ± 0.18	0.05 - 0.54	25
Endosulfan I	< 0.01	0.00 0.01	25
Endosulfan II	< 0.01		25
Endosulfan sulfate	< 0.03		25

TABLE L4 Contaminant Levels in NIH-07 Rat and Mouse Ration^a

^a CFU=colony forming units, MPN=most probable number, BHC is hexachlorocyclohexane or benzene hexachloride

^b For values less than the limit of detection, the detection limit is given as the mean.

^c Sources of contamination: alfalfa, grains, and fish meal

^d Sources of contamination: soy oil and fish meal

^e All values were corrected for percent recovery.

•

APPENDIX M SENTINEL ANIMAL PROGRAM

METHODS			 •	•		•	•	•		•	•	 	•	•		•	 •		•		•	•	•		•		•		•	•	•	• •	•		•	•				•	•	••	320
RESULTS	••	•	 •	•	• •	•	•	•	 •	•	•	 •	•	•	•	•	 •	•	•	•••	•	•	•	• •	•	•	•	•••	•	•	•	• •	•	••	•	•	• •	•	•	•	• •	••	322
SENTINEL ANIMAL PROGRAM

METHODS

Rodents used in the Carcinogenesis Program of the National Toxicology Program are produced in optimally clean facilities to eliminate potential pathogens that may affect study results. The Sentinel Animal Program is part of the periodic monitoring of animal health that occurs during the toxicologic evaluation of chemical compounds. Under this program, the disease state of the rodents is monitored via serology on sera from extra (sentinel) animals in the study rooms. These animals and the study animals are subject to identical environmental conditions. The sentinel animals come from the same production source and weanling groups as the animals used for the studies of chemical compounds.

Serum samples were collected from randomly selected rats and mice during the 13-week and 2-year studies of phenolphthalein. Blood from each animal was collected and allowed to clot, and the serum was separated. The samples were processed appropriately and sent to Microbiological Associates, Inc. (Bethesda, MD), for determination of antibody titers. The laboratory serology methods and viral agents for which testing was performed are tabulated below; the times at which blood was collected during the studies are also listed.

Method and Test

RATS

Time of Analysis

13-Week Study	
ELISA	
PVM (pneumonia virus of mice)	Study termination
RCV/SDA (rat coronavirus/	
sialodacryoadenitis virus)	Study termination
Sendai	Study termination
Hemagglutination Inhibition	
H-1 (Toolan's H-1 virus)	Study termination
KRV (Kilham rat virus)	Study termination
2-Year Study	
ELISA	
Mycoplasma arthritidis	Study termination
Mycoplasma pulmonis	Study termination
PVM	5, 9, 12, 17, 18, and 23 months, study termination
RCV/SDA	5, 9, 12, 17, 18, and 23 months, study termination
Sendai	5, 9, 12, 17, 18, and 23 months, study termination
Immunofluorescence Assay	
RCV/SDA	Study termination
Hemagglutination Inhibition	
H-1	5, 9, 12, 17, 18, and 23 months, study termination
KRV	5, 9, 12, 17, 18, and 23 months, study termination

MICE 13-Week Study	
ELISA	
Ectromelia virus	Study termination
GDVII (mouse encephalomyelitis virus)	Study termination
LCM (lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus)	Study termination
MVM (minute virus of mice)	Study termination
Mouse adenoma virus	Study termination
MHV (mouse hepatitis virus)	Study termination
PVM	Study termination
Reovirus 3	Study termination
Sendai	Study termination
Immunofluorescence Assay	
EDIM (epizootic diarrhea of infant mice)	Study termination
Hemagglutination Inhibition	
K (papovavirus)	Study termination
Polyoma virus	Study termination
2-Year Study	
ELISA	5 12 and 19 months study termination
Ectromelia virus	5, 12, and 18 months, study termination 12 and 18 months, study termination
EDIM	5, 12, and 18 months, study termination
GDVII LCM	5, 12, and 18 months, study termination 5, 12, and 18 months, study termination
Mouse adenoma virus-FL	5, 12, and 18 months, study termination 5, 12, and 18 months, study termination
MHV	5, 12, and 18 months, study termination
MAN M. arthritidis	Study termination
M. artificiais M. pulmonis	Study termination
PVM	5, 12, and 18 months, study termination
Reovirus 3	5, 12, and 18 months, study termination
Sendai	5, 12, and 18 months, study termination
Scillar	5, 12, and 10 monails, study termination
Immunofluorescence Assay	
EDIM	5 months, study termination
GDVII	Study termination
MHV	12 months
Reovirus 3	12 months
Hemagglutination Inhibition	
K	5, 12, and 18 months, study termination
MVM	5, 12, and 18 months, study termination
Polyoma virus	5, 12, and 18 months, study termination

RESULTS

One rat had a positive titer to M. arthritidis at the end of the 2-year study. Further evaluation of the serum positive for M. arthritidis by immunoblot and Western blot procedures indicated that the positive titer may have been due to a cross reaction with antibodies of nonpathogenic Mycoplasma or other agents. There were no clinical findings or histopathologic changes indicative of M. arthritidis infection in the rat with the positive titer. Accordingly, the M. arthritidis-positive titer was considered to be a false positive.

APPENDIX N CONTINUOUS BREEDING STUDY IN SWISS (CD-1®) MICE

INTRODUCTI	ON	324
MATERIALS	AND METHODS	324
RESULTS .		326
TABLE N1	Fertility, Reproductive Performance, Length of Gestation, and Body Weight Data	
	for F_0 and F_1 Swiss (CD-1 [®]) Mice in the Continuous Breeding Study	
	of Phenolphthalein	328
TABLE N2	Litter and Body Weight Data for F_1 Swiss (CD-1 [®]) Mouse Pups	
	in the Continuous Breeding Study of Phenolphthalein	329
TABLE N3	Survival and Body Weights of F_1 Swiss (CD-1 [®]) Mouse Pups (Final Litter)	
	in the Continuous Breeding Study of Phenolphthalein	330
TABLE N4	Fertility, Reproductive Performance, Length of Gestation, and Body Weight Data	
	for F_0 and F_1 Swiss (CD-1 [®]) Mice in the Crossover Mating Trial	
	of Phenolphthalein	331
TABLE N5	Organ Weights and Organ-Weight-to-Body-Weight Ratios	
	for F ₀ Swiss (CD-1 [®]) Mice Administered Phenolphthalein in Feed	332
TABLE N6	Sperm Parameters and Estrous Cycle Characterization	
	for F ₀ Swiss (CD-1 [®]) Mice Administered Phenolphthalein in Feed	333
TABLE N7	Incidences of Selected Nonneoplastic Lesions in Male F ₀ Swiss (CD-1 [®]) Mice	
	Administered Phenolphthalein in Feed	334
TABLE N8	Fertility, Reproductive Performance, Length of Gestation, and Body Weight Data	
	for F_1 and F_2 Swiss (CD-1 [®]) Mice in the Offspring Assessment Phase	
	of the Continuous Breeding Study of Phenolphthalein	335
TABLE N9	Organ Weights and Organ-Weight-to-Body-Weight Ratios for F ₁ Swiss (CD-1 [®]) Mice	
	in the Offspring Assessment Phase of the Continuous Breeding Study	
	of Phenolphthalein	336
TABLE N10	•	
	in the Offspring Assessment Phase of the Continuous Breeding Study	
	of Phenolphthalein	337
TABLE N11	Incidences of Selected Nonneoplastic Lesions in Male F ₁ Swiss (CD-1 [®]) Mice	
	in the Offspring Assessment Phase of the Continuous Breeding Study	
	of Phenolphthalein	338

CONTINUOUS BREEDING STUDY IN SWISS (CD-1[®]) MICE

INTRODUCTION

The potential reproductive toxicity of phenolphthalein was evaluated in Swiss (CD-1[®]) mice because evidence in the literature suggests that phenolphthalein has a weak estrogenic activity (Bitman and Cecil, 1970; Ravdin *et al.*, 1987) and because data gathered at the end of the 13-week study in B6C3F₁ mice indicate chemical-related effects in male mice (Appendix I). The effects of exposure to phenolphthalein on reproduction were assessed with a continuous breeding study in Swiss (CD-1[®]) mice administered phenolphthalein in feed (NTP, 1991).

Reproductive assessment by the methods presented in Lamb (1985) and Heindel *et al.* (1989) consists of four phases: dose range finding, continuous breeding, identification of the affected sex (crossover mating trial), and offspring assessment. A 2-week dose-finding phase is conducted to determine exposure concentrations of the continuous breeding phase. During the continuous breeding phase, the effects of the maximum tolerated exposure concentration estimated in the dose-finding phase and two lower exposure concentrations on fertility and reproduction of first-generation (F_0) animals are determined. If fertility is significantly affected during the continuous breeding phase, crossover mating trials are performed to determine if males, females, or both sexes are affected. Offspring assessment includes evaluation of reproductive performance of second-generation (F_1) animals from the final litters of the continuous breeding phase. The F_1 animals are raised to sexual maturity while receiving the same exposure concentrations as their parents, are mated, and are allowed to deliver the third-generation (F_2) offspring.

In the phenolphthalein study, the exposure concentrations for the continuous breeding study were based on results of studies reported in the literature. A crossover mating trial was performed, and pups from all exposure groups were maintained for offspring assessment.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Phenolphthalein was obtained from Pharmco Laboratories, Inc. (Titusville, FL) in one lot (P3186-D5), which was also used for the 13-week studies conducted at Microbiological Associates, Inc. (Bethesda, MD). Results of purity and stability analyses of lot P3186-D5 are given in Appendix J. Dose formulations were prepared every 3 weeks, and analyses by Research Triangle Institute indicated that the dose formulations were homogeneous and within 10% of the target concentration.

Male and female VAF Crl:Swiss CD-1[®] (ICR)BR outbred albino mice were obtained from Charles River Breeding Laboratories, Inc. (Kingston, NY). Upon receipt, serum samples were collected from two males and two females, and the serum samples were analyzed for antibody titers to rodent titers. All serum samples were negative. Mice were quarantined for 2 weeks and were 11 weeks old at the start of the continuous breeding study. Mice were housed two per cage by sex during quarantine. NIH-07 open formula meal diet containing the appropriate concentrations of phenolphthalein and distilled water were available *ad libitum* for all phases of the study.

During the continuous breeding phase, the mice were housed two per cage by sex for 1 week while being exposed to 0, 1,000, 7,000, or 30,000 ppm phenolphthalein; mice were then housed in breeding pairs for 98 days while exposure continued. After the mating period, mice were housed separately for approximately 21 days while exposure continued to allow delivery of the final litter of pups. During the continuous breeding phase, clinical observations, feed consumption, pregnancy index, litters per pair, length of gestation, dam body weights, live pups per litter, proportion of pups born alive, sex of live

Continuous Breeding Study

After the last litter of pups born during the holding period was weaned, crossover mating trials with the F_0 adult mice were performed. The following groups were mated: 0 ppm males \times 0 ppm females (18 pairs), 0 ppm males \times 7,000 ppm females (19 pairs), and 7,000 ppm males \times 0 ppm females (18 pairs). The breeding pairs were housed together for 7 days or until a vaginal plug was observed, after which mice were housed separately while exposure continued. Clinical observations, feed consumption, mating index, pregnancy index, fertility index, dam body weights, length of gestation, live pups per litter, proportion of pups born alive, sex of live pups, and pup body weights were recorded (Table N4). Before necropsy, estrous cycle data were collected (Table N6). At necropsy, sperm data were collected (Table N6), and the following organs were weighed: right cauda epididymis, right epididymis, kidneys (with adrenal glands), liver, right ovary, prostate gland, seminal vesicles, and right testis (Table N5). Selected organs were fixed in 10% neutral buffered formalin or Bouin's fixative and imbedded in glycol methacrylate or paraffin. Sections were stained with hematoxylin and eosin (testis only) or PAS and hematoxylin. Histopathologic examination of selected organs was performed on 10 representative 0 and 7,000 ppm males and females as well as on animals that died during the crossover mating trial (Table N7).

To assess the offspring of treated mice, the final litter of pups born to each F_0 mouse in the 0, 1,000, and 7,000 ppm groups was raised to sexual maturity. After weaning, siblings were housed two per cage by sex and were administered the same exposure concentrations as their parents. At sexual maturity (74 \pm 10 days of age), nonsibling male and female mice from within the same exposure group (20 pairs per group) were housed as breeding pairs for 7 days. Female mice were examined for a copulatory plug, and mice were then housed separately through the delivery of pups. Clinical observations, feed consumption, mating index, pregnancy index, fertility index, dam body weights, length of gestation, live pups per litter, proportion of pups born alive, sex of live pups, and pup body weights were recorded (Table N8). Before necropsy, estrous cycle data were collected (Table N10). At necropsy, sperm data were collected (Table N10), and the following organs were weighed: right cauda epididymis, right epididymis, kidneys (with adrenal glands), liver, right ovary, prostate gland, seminal vesicles, and right testis (Table N9). Selected organs were fixed in 10% neutral buffered formalin or Bouin's fixative and imbedded in glycol methacrylate or paraffin. Sections were stained with hematoxylin and eosin (testis only) or PAS and hematoxylin. Histopathologic examination of selected organs was performed on 10 representative 0 and 7,000 ppm males and females (Table N11).

For data expressed as proportions (fertility, mating, and pregnancy indices), the Cochran-Armitage test (Armitage, 1971) was used to test for dose-related trends, and pairwise comparisons were performed with a chi-square test (Conover, 1971). A chi-square test for homogeneity was used to identify overall differences in fertility across exposure groups and for pairwise comparisons in the crossover mating trial.

The number of litters and the number of live pups per litter were determined per fertile pair and then exposure group means were determined. The proportion of live pups was defined as the number of pups born alive divided by the total number of pups produced by each pair. The sex ratio was expressed as the number of male pups born alive divided by the total number of live pups born to each fertile pair.

Exposure group means for data with skewed distributions were analyzed by the nonparametric multiple comparisons methods of Shirley (1977) or Dunn (1964). Jonckheere's test (Jonckheere, 1954) was used to assess the significance of dose-response trends and to determine whether a trend-sensitive test (Shirley's) was more appropriate for pairwise comparisons than a test that does not assume a monotonic dose-related trend (Dunn's). In the crossover mating trial, the Kruskal-Wallis test (Kruskal and Wallis, 1952) was used

to test for overall differences among exposure groups, and multiple comparisons were made with Dunn's test or Wilcoxon's test (Conover, 1971).

Analyses of covariance (Neter and Wasserman, 1974) with average litter size as the covariate, were performed to remove the potential effect of number of pups per litter on average pup weight. Least-squares estimates of exposure group means adjusted for litter size were tested for overall equality by an F-test and for pairwise equality by Dunnett's test (Dunnett, 1955) or a *t*-test; these tests were performed on males, females, and males and females (combined) to analyze potential sex differences.

For vaginal cytology data, an arcsine transformation was used to bring the data into closer conformance with normality assumptions. Treatment effects were investigated by applying a multivariate analysis of variance (Morrison, 1976) to the transformed data to test for simultaneous equality of measurements across exposure concentrations (Tables N6 and N10).

Incidences of lesions were analyzed by the Fisher exact test.

RESULTS

During the continuous breeding phase, exposure to phenolphthalein caused significant reproductive toxicity in F_0 mice. The pregnancy indices for the 7,000 and 30,000 ppm exposure groups were significantly lower than those of the controls for most litters, and only one pair in the 30,000 ppm exposure group delivered a fifth litter (Table N1). The average numbers of litters per pair of the 7,000 and 30,000 ppm exposure groups were significantly lower than that of the controls. The cumulative days to litter for the 7,000 and 30,000 ppm exposure groups were significantly greater than that for the controls from litter 2 through litter 4. Although the body weights of exposed dams were generally similar to those of the controls at delivery (data not shown), the body weight of dams in the 30,000 ppm exposure group was significantly lower than that of the controls on lactation day 0. Body weights of dams in the 7,000 and 30,000 ppm exposure groups during lactation of litter 5 were significantly lower than those of the controls from lactation days 4 to 14, and the body weight of dams in the 7,000 ppm exposure group was significantly lower than that of the controls on lactation day 21. The numbers of live male, live female, and total live pups per litter in the 7,000 and 30,000 ppm exposure groups were significantly lower than those in the controls (Table N1). The adjusted total weight of live pups in the 30,000 ppm exposure group was significantly lower than that in the controls.

The numbers of live pups per litter in the 7,000 and 30,000 ppm exposure groups were significantly lower than those in the controls for most litters and for the combined litters (Table N2). The adjusted total weight of live pups in litters 2, 3, and 4 and in the combined litters 1 through 5 in the 30,000 ppm exposure group were significantly lower than those of the controls.

The survival of male pups in litter 5 in the 30,000 ppm exposure group was significantly lower than that in the controls on lactation days 4 through 21 (Table N3). The total survival of male and female pups in the 30,000 ppm exposure group was significantly lower than that of the controls on lactation days 7 and 14. Body weights of male pups in the 7,000 ppm exposure group were significantly lower than those of the controls on lactation days 14 and 21; the single surviving pup in the 30,000 ppm exposure group also weighed less than the control pups.

For dams in the 7,000 ppm exposure group of the crossover mating trial, the average body weight at delivery and the number of days to litter were significantly lower than those of the controls (Table N4). The numbers of live male, live female, and total live pups per litter by dams in the 7,000 ppm exposure group were significantly lower than those of the controls. There were no significant differences in

Continuous Breeding Study

All mice in the control and 7,000 ppm F_0 groups were necropsied. In females, there were no treatmentrelated differences in body or organ weights (Table N5). There was no significant difference in the length or pattern of the estrous cycle between females in the control and 7,000 ppm groups (Table N6). The absolute and relative right epididymis and right testis weights of 7,000 ppm F_0 males were significantly lower than those of the controls (Table N5). The absolute weight of the kidneys (with adrenal glands) of the 7,000 ppm F_0 males was significantly greater than that of the controls. The sperm concentration in 7,000 ppm F_0 males was significantly lower than that in the controls, and the percent of abnormal sperm in this group was significantly greater than that in the controls (Table N6). There was evidence of seminiferous tubule degeneration (9/10), interstitial hyperplasia (4/10), and epididymal degeneration (7/10) in males in the 7,000 ppm exposure group (Table N7).

Because of excessive toxicity at 30,000 ppm, the reproductive effects on the F_1 mice in the offspring assessment phase were evaluated only at 0, 1,000, and 7,000 ppm. At the time of mating, there were no treatment-related differences in body weights (data not shown). The pregnancy index of the 7,000 ppm exposure group was significantly lower than that of the controls (Table N8). The length of gestation for the 7,000 ppm exposure group was significantly greater than that of the controls. In 7,000 ppm group, fewer than half of the pairs that mated delivered any live young. The numbers of live male pups and total live pups per litter and the sex ratio in the 7,000 ppm exposure group were significantly lower than those of the controls. The body weights of male, female, and total pups in the 7,000 ppm exposure group were significantly lower than those of the controls.

The necropsy body weight and absolute liver weight of 7,000 ppm F_1 females were significantly lower than those of the controls (Table N9). There were no significant differences in estrous cycle parameters between control and exposed females (Table N10). The absolute and relative right epididymis and right testis weights of the 7,000 ppm F_1 males were significantly lower than those of the controls (Table N9), but the sperm counts were similar to that of the controls despite the lower epididymis and testis weights (Table N10). However, the percent abnormal sperm in the 7,000 ppm F_1 males was significantly greater than that in the controls. Incidences of lesions in the testis and epididymis were similar between control and 7,000 ppm males (Table N11).

In summary, phenolphthalein at concentrations up to 30,000 ppm produced significant reproductive toxicity in the absence of changes in body or somatic organ weights. While the second generation did not appear markedly more affected than the first, the pattern of effect was qualitatively different. F_0 males had functioning spermatogenesis at the start of the study. Toxicant-induced decreases in this process would translate into reduced sperm counts and testicular and epididymal weights, and these effects were observed in this study. In developing F_1 males, the toxic effect appeared as a larger decrease in testis weights (50% in F_1 males vs. 35% in F_0 males) with no significant decrease in sperm count and with no significant active lesions present in the seminiferous tubule epithelium. This pattern of response suggests an effect on the development of the testis, which would be consistent with an estrogenic effect, an anti-androgenic effect, or a thyroid gland effect. An anti-androgenic effect would not explain the effects on female reproduction that were observed, so the more likely explanation may be an estrogenic effect and/or interference with thyroid hormone economy. Additional studies are necessary to explore these effects.

	0 ppm	1,000 ppm	7,000 ppm	30,000 ppm
F ₀ Adult Data				
Pregnancy index ^b				
Litter 1	38/38 (100%)	18/18 (100%)	19/19 (100%)	17/19 (89%)*
Litter 2	38/38 (100%)	18/18 (100%)	17/19 (89%)*	14/19 (74%)*
Litter 3	38/38 (100%)	18/18 (100%)	16/19 (84%)*	10/19 (53%)*
Litter 4	38/38 (100%)	18/18 (100%)	13/19 (68%)*	4/19 (21%)*
Litter 5	34/38 (89%)	18/18 (100%)	5/19 (26%)*	1/19 (5%)*
verage litters/pair	4.9 ± 0.1	5.0 ± 0.0	3.7 ± 0.3*	$2.7 \pm 0.3*$
Cumulative days to litter				
Litter 1	22.3 ± 0.7	21.4 ± 0.3	29.7 ± 5.8	24.9 ± 2.0
Litter 2	42.4 ± 0.7	41.2 ± 0.3	47.9 ± 3.1*	51.1 ± 3.3*
Litter 3	63.3 ± 1.0	61.7 ± 0.5	74.8 ± 3.5*	76.2 ± 5.0*
Litter 4	84.3 ± 1.2	82.8 ± 0.9	94.7 ± 3.6*	93.5 ± 3.9*
Litter 5	103.2 ± 0.7	103.9 ± 1.0	101.8 ± 0.8	113.0 ^c
Dam weight during lactation of litter	r 5 (g)			
n	37	18	14	4
Lactation day 0	48.2 ± 0.8	47.7 ± 1.0	45.3 ± 1.0	43.8 ± 0.9*
Lactation day 4	50.4 ± 0.9	49.0 ± 1.0	43.9 ± 1.2*	40.8 ± 0.4*
Lactation day 7	53.0 ± 0.7	51.7 ± 1.3	44.0 ± 1.7*	$41.6 \pm 1.5*$
Lactation day 14	54.6 ± 0.9	53.2 ± 1.6	$44.4 \pm 1.9*$	43.7 ± 1.3*
Lactation day 21	44.8 ± 0.9^{d}	43.4 ± 1.5^{e}	$40.2 \pm 1.5^{*f}$	41.9 ± 0.7
⁷ 1 Pup Data (Litters 1 Throug	3h 5)			
Number of litters	38	18	17	17
live male pups/litter	6.5 ± 0.2	6.2 ± 0.4	$2.8 \pm 0.5^{*i}$	$2.5 \pm 0.4*$
ive female pups/litter	6.5 ± 0.2	5.9 ± 0.4	$2.9 \pm 0.4^{*i}$	2.9 ± 0.4*
otal live pups/litter	13.0 ± 0.3	12.1 ± 0.7	5.7 ± 0.9* ⁱ	$5.4 \pm 0.6*$
ve pups/litter (%)	99 ± 0	97 ± 2	83 ± 7^{i}	93 ± 4
ex ratio ^g (%)	50 ± 1	51 ± 1	49 ± 3	48 ± 5
lale pup weight (g)	1.62 ± 0.01	1.61 ± 0.03	1.75 ± 0.05	1.62 ± 0.04^{e}
emale pup weight (g)	1.56 ± 0.01	1.53 ± 0.03	1.65 ± 0.03	1.56 ± 0.04
otal live pup weight (g)	1.59 ± 0.01	1.57 ± 0.03	1.70 ± 0.04	1.60 ± 0.04
Adjusted total pup weighth (g)	1.66 ± 0.02	1.62 ± 0.03	1.61 ± 0.03	$1.49 \pm 0.04*$

TABLE N1 Fertility, Reproductive Performance, Length of Gestation, and Body Weight Data for F_0 and F_1 Swiss (CD-1[®]) Mice in the Continuous Breeding Study of Phenolphthalein^a

* Significantly different ($P \le 0.05$) from the control group by a chi-square test (pregnancy indices), Shirley's test (average litters/pair, cumulative days to litter, dam weights, and live pups/litter), or Dunnett's test (adjusted pup weights)

^a Data for average litters/pair, cumulative days to litter, body weights, live pups/litter, and sex ratio are given as mean ± standard error. Differences from the control group for sex ratio and nonadjusted pup weights are not significant by Dunn's test.
 ^b Pregnant females/cohabiting pairs.

^b Pregnant females/cohabiting pairs

^c n=1; no standard error calculated d n=26

 ${}^{d}_{e}$ n=36

n = 16 $f \quad n = 13$

g Live male pups/live pups

^h Least-squares estimate of the mean of the average pup weight adjusted for average litter size

i n=19

	0 ppm	1,000 ppm	7,000 ppm	30,000 ppm
Litter 1				
Number of pairs delivering	38	17	15	15
Live pups/litter ^b	12.2 ± 0.5	10.7 ± 1.0^{e}	$6.4 \pm 1.1^{*f}$	8.1 ± 1.2* ^g
Total live pup weight ^c (g)	1.60 ± 0.02	1.64 ± 0.06	1.72 ± 0.06	1.63 ± 0.05
Adjusted total live pup weight ^d (g)	1.66 ± 0.02	1.66 ± 0.03	1.62 ± 0.03	1.56 ± 0.03
Litter 2				
Number of pairs delivering	38	18	16	14
Live pups/litter	13.4 ± 0.5	12.2 ± 1.0	6.9 ± 1.1* ^g	$5.0 \pm 0.8*$
Total live pup weight (g)	1.59 ± 0.02	1.56 ± 0.04	1.71 ± 0.05	1.63 ± 0.06
Adjusted total live pup weight (g)	1.66 ± 0.03	1.62 ± 0.04	1.61 ± 0.04	$1.46 \pm 0.05*$
Litter 3				
Number of pairs delivering	38	18	15	8.
Live pups/litter	13.6 ± 0.5	12.6 ± 1.0	$5.1 \pm 1.0^{*h}$	$3.4 \pm 1.1^{*1}$
Total live pup weight (g)	1.59 ± 0.02	1.58 ± 0.04	$1.75 \pm 0.05*$	1.48 ± 0.08
Adjusted total live pup weight (g)	1.67 ± 0.02	1.63 ± 0.03	1.59 ± 0.04	$1.30 \pm 0.05*$
Litter 4				
Number of pairs delivering	38	18	12	4
Live pups/litter	13.2 ± 0.5	12.9 ± 1.0	$5.7 \pm 1.0^{*J}$	$3.8 \pm 1.9*$
Total live pup weight (g)	1.61 ± 0.02	1.57 ± 0.04	1.68 ± 0.05	1.48 ± 0.14
Adjusted total live pup weight (g)	1.66 ± 0.02	1.61 ± 0.03	1.53 ± 0.05	$1.27 \pm 0.08*$
Litter 5				
Number of pairs delivering	34	18	5	1
Live pups/litter	12.6 ± 0.6	12.4 ± 0.8	$10.2 \pm 0.6^*$	2.0 ^k
Total live pup weight (g)	1.66 ± 0.03	1.62 ± 0.03	1.59 ± 0.07	1.66 ^k
Adjusted total live pup weight (g)	1.68 ± 0.02	1.62 ± 0.03	1.53 ± 0.06	1.36 ± 0.14
Litters 1 Through 5				
Number of pairs delivering	38	18	17 f	17
Live pups/litter	13.0 ± 0.3	12.1 ± 0.7	$5.7 \pm 0.9^{*1}$	$5.4 \pm 0.6^{*}$
Total live pup weight (g)	1.59 ± 0.01	1.57 ± 0.03	1.70 ± 0.04	1.60 ± 0.04
Adjusted total live pup weight (g)	1.66 ± 0.02	1.62 ± 0.03	1.61 ± 0.03	$1.49 \pm 0.04^{\circ}$

TABLE N2 Litter and Body Weight Data for F_1 Swiss (CD-1[®]) Mouse Pups in the Continuous Breeding Study of Phenolphthalein^a

* Significantly different (P≤0.05) from the control group by Dunn's or Shirley's test (live pups/litter and total live pup weights) or Dunnett's test (adjusted pup weights)

^a Data are given as mean \pm standard error.

^b Mean of average number of live pups per litter for each fertile pair

^c Mean of average live pup weight for each fertile pair

^d Least-squares estimate of mean pup weight adjusted for average litter size

^g n=17

^h n=16

i n=10

^j n=13

^k n=1; no standard error calculated

e n=18

f n=19

	0 ppm	1,000 ppm	7,000 ppm	30,000 ppm
Day 0				
Number of litters	37 ^b	18	12 ^c	3 ^d
Male pup weight (g)	1.67 ± 0.03	1.65 ± 0.03	1.65 ± 0.05	1.50 ± 0.20
Female pup weight (g)	1.63 ± 0.03	1.59 ± 0.03	1.63 ± 0.04	1.49 ± 0.09
Day 4				
Male survival (%)	99 ± 1	98 ± 1	88 ± 13	29 ± 29*
Female survival (%)	97 ± 1	91 ± 6	75 ± 13	67 ± 33
Fotal survival (%)	98 ± 1	95 ± 2	75 ± 13	56 ± 29
Male pup weight (g)	3.34 ± 0.08	3.37 ± 0.09	3.28 ± 0.25^{e}	1.89 ^f
Female pup weight (g)	3.29 ± 0.09	3.28 ± 0.10^{g}	3.02 ± 0.24^{h}	2.39 ± 0.65
Day 7				
Male survival (%)	99 ± 1	98 ± 1	75 ± 16	29 ± 29*
Female survival (%)	97 ± 1	91 ± 6	67 ± 14	67 ± 33
'otal survival (%)	98 ± 1	95 ± 2	67 ± 14	56 ± 29*
Male pup weight (g)	5.05 ± 0.13^{b}	5.09 ± 0.14	5.53 ± 0.23^{1}	3.06 ^f
emale pup weight (g)	4.96 ± 0.16	4.93 ± 0.14^{g}	4.93 ± 0.36^{J}	3.92 ± 1.03^{11}
Day 14				
Male survival (%)	99 ± 1	98 ± 1	75 ± 16	29 ± 29*
Female survival (%)	97 ± 1	90 ± 6	67 ± 14	67 ± 33
Fotal survival (%)	98 ± 1	95 ± 2	67 ± 14	56 ± 29*
Iale pup weight (g)	7.68 ± 0.22	7.88 ± 0.39	$9.18 \pm 0.56^{*1}$	6.35 ^t
emale pup weight (g)	7.72 ± 0.30	7.52 ± 0.30^{g}	8.68 ± 0.47^{j}	8.13 ± 1.97^{1}
Day 21				
Male survival (%)	97 ± 1	92 ± 6	75 ± 16	29 ± 29*
Female survival (%)	96 ± 2	84 ± 8	67 ± 14	67 ± 33
'otal survival (%)	97 ± 1	89 ± 6	67 ± 14	56 ± 29
Male pup weight (g)	11.98 ± 0.41^{1}	12.84 ± 0.74^{g}	$14.16 \pm 0.64^{*1}$	8.02 ^f
Female pup weight (g)	11.49 ± 0.41	11.76 ± 0.54^{m}	12.54 ± 0.60^{3}	$10.43 \pm 3.49^{\circ}$

TABLE N3 Survival and Body Weights of F₁ Swiss (CD-1[®]) Mouse Pups (Final Litter) in the Continuous Breeding Study of Phenolphthalein^a

* Significantly different (P≤0.05) from the control group by Shirley's test

a Data are given as mean \pm standard error.

^b Because no live male pups were born in one litter, n=36 for male pup survival and body weights.

^c Because no live male pups were born in four litters, n=8 for male pup survival and body weights.

d Because no live male pups were born in one litter, n=2 for male pup survival and body weights.

e n=7

f n=1; no standard error calculated

g n = 17

h n=9

i n=6

j n=8 k

n=21

n=35

^m n=16

TABLE N4

Fertility, Reproductive Performance, Length of Gestation, and Body Weight Data for F₀ and F₁ Swiss (CD-1[®]) Mice in the Crossover Mating Trial of Phenolphthalein^a

Male Exposure Group Female Exposure Group	0 ppm 0 ppm	7,000 ppm 0 ppm	0 ppm 7,000 ppm
F ₀ Adult Data			
Mating index ^b	14/18 (78%)	18/19 (95%)	13/18 (72%)
Pregnancy index ^c	11/18 (61%)	14/19 (74%)	10/18 (56%)
Fertility index ^d	11/14 (79%)	14/18 (78%)	10/13 (77%)
Average dam weight at delivery (g)	46.8 ± 1.0	47.5 ± 1.0	$41.7 \pm 1.0*$
Days to litter	19.0 ± 0.0	19.6 ± 0.2	$19.9 \pm 0.2*$
F ₁ Pup Data			
Number of litters	11	14	10
Live male pups/litter	6.0 ± 0.7	6.3 ± 0.9	$2.3 \pm 0.5*$
Live female pups/litter	6.0 ± 0.8	4.7 ± 0.6	$3.2 \pm 0.7*$
Total live pups/litter	12.0 ± 1.0	11.0 ± 1.3	5.5 ± 1.2*
Total live pups/litter (%)	100 ± 0	94 ± 6	85 ± 11
Sex ratio ^e (%)	51 ± 5	52 ± 6	38 ± 5^{g}
Male pup weight (g)	1.67 ± 0.04	$1.69 \pm 0.05^{\rm h}$	1.81 ± 0.10^{i}
Female pup weight (g)	1.60 ± 0.03	1.63 ± 0.06	1.74 ± 0.07^{g}
Total live pup weight (g)	1.64 ± 0.03	1.67 ± 0.05	1.77 ± 0.08^{g}
Adjusted total live pup weight ^f (g)	1.70 ± 0.04	1.71 ± 0.04	1.63 ± 0.05^{g}

* Significantly different ($P \le 0.05$) from the control group by Dunn's test

a Data for body weights, days to litter, live pups/litter, and sex ratio are given as mean \pm standard error. Differences from the control group for mating, pregnancy, and fertility indices were not significant by a chi-square test; differences for sex ratio and pup weights were not significant by Dunn's test; and differences for adjusted pup weights were not significant by a t-test. b

Females with sperm plug/cohabiting pairs С

Pregnant females/cohabiting pairs

d Pregnant females/females with sperm plug

e Live male pups/live pups

g n=9

h n = 13

i n=8

f Least-squares estimate of the mean pup weight adjusted for average litter size

	0 ppm	7,000 ррт	
Male		har	
n	39	20	
Necropsy body wt	42.4 ± 0.71	42.0 ± 0.95	
R. Cauda Epididymis			
Absolute	18.0 ± 0.37	17.7 ± 0.79	
Relative	0.43 ± 0.01	0.42 ± 0.02	
R. Epididymis			
Absolute	56.6 ± 0.98	37.5 ± 3.5*	
Relative	1.3 ± 0.03	$0.91 \pm 0.09*$	
Kidneys and Adrenal Glands			
Absolute	834.0 ± 12.6	870.7 ± 17.2*	
Relative	19.8 ± 0.36	20.9 ± 0.64	
Liver			
Absolute	2.2 ± 0.04	2.3 ± 0.06	
Relative	51.8 ± 0.76	54.1 ± 0.69	
Prostate Gland	_	-	
Absolute	25.0 ± 1.1	25.5 ± 1.4	
Relative	0.59 ± 0.03	0.61 ± 0.04	
Seminal Vesicles	_		
Absolute	692.1 ± 18.0	686.3 ± 20.4	
Relative	16.4 ± 0.37	16.4 ± 0.43	
R. Testis	_	_	
Absolute	142.2 ± 3.1	93.3 ± 4.6*	
Relative	3.4 ± 0.08	$2.2 \pm 0.12*$	
Female			
n	37	18	
Necropsy body wt	40.5 ± 0.70	39.0 ± 0.66	
Kidneys and Adrenal Glands			
Absolute	645.7 ± 13.1	634.6 ± 20.3	
Relative	16.0 ± 0.28	16.3 ± 0.43	
Liver	 -		
Absolute	2.3 ± 0.05	2.3 ± 0.06	
Relative	57.3 ± 0.87	57.9 ± 1.1	
R. Ovary			
Absolute	11.3 ± 0.44	11.2 ± 0.65	
Relative	0.28 ± 0.01	0.29 ± 0.02	

TABLE N5 Organ Weights and Organ-Weight-to-Body-Weight Ratios for F_0 Swiss (CD-1[®]) Mice Administered Phenolphthalein in Feed^a

* Significantly different (P \leq 0.05) from the control group by Wilcoxon's test

^a Liver weights and body weights are given in grams; other organ weights are given in milligrams; organ-weight-to-body-weight ratios are given as mg organ weight/g body weight (mean ± standard error).

	0 ppm	7,000 ppm
Male	·····	
1	39	20
Epididymal spermatozoal parameters		
Motility (%)	91.0 ± 0.6	86.7 ± 2.8^{b}
Abnormal (%)	2.6 ± 0.3	$4.1 \pm 0.5^{*c}$
Concentration		
(10 ⁶ /g cauda epididymal tissue)	1,167 ± 37	816 ± 88*
Female		
n	37	18
Estrous cycle length (days)	4.92 ± 0.12^{d}	4.68 ± 0.17^{e}
Estrous stages (% of cycle)	···· + •··-	
Diestrus	47.1	45.8
Proestrus	14.2	14.4
Estrus	25.7	26.4
Metestrus	13.1	13.4

TABLE N6 Sperm Parameters and Estrous Cycle Characterization for F₀ Swiss (CD-1[®]) Mice Administered Phenolphthalein in Feed^a

* Significantly different ($P \le 0.05$) from the control group by Wilcoxon's test

^a Epididymal spermatozoal parameters and estrous cycle lengths are given as mean ± standard error. Differences from the control group for epididymal spermatozoal motility are not significant by Wilcoxon's test. By multivariate analysis of variance, exposed females do not differ significantly from control females in cycle length or in the relative length of time spent in estrous stages.

^b n=19

c n=18

^d Estrous cycle length was longer than 7 days or was unclear in 7 of 37 animals.

^e Estrous cycle length was longer than 7 days or was unclear in 4 of 18 animals.

	0 ppm	7,000 ppm	
Testis ^a	11	10	
Seminiferous Tubule, Degeneration ^b Interstitial Cell Hyperplasia	$ \begin{array}{c} 2 & (2.0)^{c} \\ 0 \end{array} $	9** (1.9) 4* (1.3)	
	U	4 (1.3)	
Epididymis	11	10	
Epithelial Cell, Degeneration	5 (1.0)	7 (1.1)	
Presence of Fluid/Degenerated Cell	1 (4.0)	7** (1.3)	

TABLE N7Incidences of Selected Nonneoplastic Lesions in Male F₀ Swiss (CD-1®) MiceAdministered Phenolphthalein in Feed

* Significantly different (P \leq 0.05) from the control group by the Fisher exact test

** P≤0.01

•

^a Number of animals with organ examined microscopically

^b Number of animals with lesion

^c Average severity grade of lesions in affected animals: 1 = minimal; 2 = mild; 3 = moderate; 4 = severe

TABLE N8 Fertility, Reproductive Performance, Length of Gestation, and Body Weight Data for F_1 and F_2 Swiss (CD-1[®]) Mice in the Offspring Assessment Phase of the Continuous Breeding Study of Phenolphthalein^a

	0 ppm	1,000 ppm	7,000 ppm
F ₁ Adult Data			
Mating index ^b	19/20 (95%)	20/20 (100%)	19/20 (95%)
Pregnancy index ^c	17/20 (85%)	17/20 (85%)	9/20 (45%)*
Fertility index ^d	17/19 (89%)	17/20 (85%)	9/19 (47%)
Dam weight at delivery (g)	35.9 ± 0.8	37.1 ± 0.9	34.8 ± 0.8
Days to litter	19.1 ± 0.2^{e}	$19.0~\pm~0.1$	$19.7 \pm 0.2*$
F ₂ Pup Data			
Number of litters	17	17	9
Live male pups/litter	4.7 ± 0.6	5.5 ± 0.5	$1.6 \pm 0.4*$
Live female pups/litter	4.5 ± 0.5	6.3 ± 0.6	3.3 ± 0.4
Total live pups/litter	9.2 ± 1.0	11.8 ± 0.5	$4.9 \pm 0.8*$
Total live pups/litter (%)	94 ± 6	100 ± 0	100 ± 0
Sex ratio ^f (%)	47 ± 5^{e}	47 ± 4	$25 \pm 7*$
Male pup weight (g)	1.67 ± 0.03^{h}	1.60 ± 0.03	$1.88 \pm 0.05^{*1}$
Female pup weight (g)	1.61 ± 0.04^{e}	1.51 ± 0.03	$1.76 \pm 0.04*$
Total live pup weight (g)	1.66 ± 0.04^{e}	1.55 ± 0.03	$1.80 \pm 0.03*$
Adjusted total live pup weight ^g (g)	1.66 ± 0.03^{e}	1.61 ± 0.03	1.67 ± 0.05

* Significantly different (P≤0.05) from the control group by a chi-square test (pregnancy index) or Dunn's or Shirley's test (days to litter, live pups/litter, sex ratio, and pup weights)

^a Data for body weights, days to litter, live pups/litter, and sex ratio are given as mean ± standard error. Differences from the control group for mating and fertility indices are not significant by a chi-square test, differences for dam weights were not significant by Dunn's test, and differences for adjusted pup weights are not significant by Dunnett's test.

^b Females with sperm plug/cohabiting pairs

^c Pregnant females/cohabiting pairs

^d Pregnant females/females with sperm plug

^e n=16

f Live male pups/live pups

^g Least-squares estimate of mean pup weight adjusted for average litter size

^h n=15

i n=6

	0 ppm	1,000 ppm	7,000 ppm
n	20	20	20
Male			
Necropsy body wt	34.9 ± 0.73	34.7 ± 0.49	33.4 ± 0.44
R. Cauda Epididymis			
Absolute	14.7 ± 0.55	15.2 ± 0.50	13.2 ± 0.53
Relative	0.42 ± 0.02	0.44 ± 0.02	0.40 ± 0.02
R. Epididymis			
Absolute	45.1 ± 1.5	47.6 ± 0.96	$37.4 \pm 1.4*$
Relative	1.3 ± 0.05	1.4 ± 0.03	$1.1 \pm 0.03*$
Kidneys and Adrenal Glands	772 2 4 20 5	702 1 1 10 0	700 6 1 12 2
Absolute	723.3 ± 20.5	723.1 ± 18.8	709.6 ± 13.3
Relative Liver	20.8 ± 0.50	20.9 ± 0.50	21.3 ± 0.41
Absolute	1.8 ± 0.05	1.9 ± 0.05	1.8 ± 0.04
Relative	51.6 ± 1.0	1.9 ± 0.03 54.0 ± 1.0	1.8 ± 0.04 53.8 ± 1.0
Prostate Gland	51.0 ± 1.0	24.0 T 1.0	55.0 ± 1.0
Absolute	19.9 ± 1.3^{b}	18.1 ± 1.5	16.0 ± 1.2^{b}
Relative	0.57 ± 0.03^{b}	0.52 ± 0.04	0.48 ± 0.03^{b}
Seminal Vesicles			-
Absolute	400.4 ± 12.2	387.9 ± 13.5	398.2 ± 14.3
Relative	11.5 ± 0.32	11.2 ± 0.38	11.9 ± 0.41
R. Testis			
Absolute	134.7 ± 6.2	139.5 ± 4.7	74.5 ± 5.5*
Relative	3.9 ± 0.18	4.0 ± 0.14	$2.2 \pm 0.15*$
Female			
Necropsy body wt	30.9 ± 0.61	30.7 ± 0.67	$29.0 \pm 0.55*$
Kidneys and Adrenal Glands			
Absolute	514.7 ± 23.4	478.3 ± 10.5	489.2 ± 9.3
Relative	16.7 ± 0.67	15.6 ± 0.24	17.0 ± 0.38
Liver		1	
Absolute	1.8 ± 0.08	1.7 ± 0.04	$1.6 \pm 0.04*$
Relative	57.5 ± 2.1	56.2 ± 0.99	54.8 ± 1.4
R. Ovary	9.1 ± 0.60^{b}	70 1052	81 + 0.50
Absolute Relative	$9.1 \pm 0.60^{\circ}$ $0.30 \pm 0.02^{\circ}$	7.9 ± 0.53 0.26 ± 0.02	8.1 ± 0.50 0.28 ± 0.02
RETATIVE	0.50 ± 0.02	0.20 ± 0.02	0.20 ± 0.02

TABLE N9

Organ Weights and Organ-Weight-to-Body-Weight Ratios for F_1 Swiss (CD-1[®]) Mice in the Offspring Assessment Phase of the Continuous Breeding Study of Phenolphthalein^a

* Significantly different ($P \le 0.05$) from the control group by Shirley's test

^a Liver weights and body weights are given in grams; other organ weights are given in milligrams; organ-weight-to-body-weight ratios are given as mg organ weight/g body weight (mean ± standard error).

b n = 19

	0 ppm	1,000 ppm	7,000 ppm
le			
	20	20	20
iymal spermatozoal parameters			
Aotility (%)	79.4 ± 5.5	85.3 ± 3.6	83.3 ± 4.7
Abnormal (%)	2.2 ± 0.3	2.4 ± 0.2	$4.9 \pm 0.8^{*}$
oncentration			
(10 ⁶ /g cauda epididymal tissue)	970 ± 85	$1,087 \pm 44$	772 ± 86
ale			
	20	20	20
us cycle length (days) us stages (% of cycle)	4.90 ± 0.13	4.84 ± 0.14^{b}	$5.03 \pm 0.12^{\circ}$
Diestrus	25.4	22.1	24.2
roestrus	18.3	18.3	16.7
strus	39.2	42.9	45.8
Ietestrus	16.7	16.2	43.8
Uncertain diagnoses	0.4	0.4	0.4

TABLE N10 Sperm Parameters and Estrous Cycle Characterization for F1 Swiss (CD-1®) Mice

in the Offspring Assessment Phase of the Continuous Breeding Study of Phenolphthalein^a

* Significantly different ($P \le 0.05$) from the control group by Shirley's test

^a Epididymal spermatozoal parameters and estrous cycle lengths are given as mean ± standard error. Differences from the control group for epididymal spermatozoal motility and concentration are not significant by Dunn's test. By multivariate analysis of variance, exposed females do not differ significantly from control females in cycle length or in the relative length of time spent in estrous stages.

^b Estrous cycle length was longer than 7 days or was unclear in 1 of 20 animals.

^c Estrous cycle length was longer than 7 days or was unclear in 3 of 20 animals.

TABLE N11

Incidences of Selected Nonneoplastic Lesions in Male F_1 Swiss (CD-1[®]) Mice in the Offspring Assessment Phase of the Continuous Breeding Study of Phenolphthalein

	0 ppm	7,000 ppm
Testis ^a	10 5 (1.2) ⁶	10
Seminiferous Tubule, Degeneration ^b Interstitial Cell Hyperplasia	5 (1.2) ^c 0	7 (1.3) 1 (2.0)
Epididymis	10	10
Epithelial Cell, Degeneration	4 (1.3)	6 (1.2)
Presence of Fluid/Degenerated Cell	1 (1.0)	1 (2.0)

^a Number of animals with organ examined microscopically

^b Number of animals with lesion

^c Average severity grade of lesions in affected animals: 1 = minimal; 2 = mild; 3 = moderate; 4 = severe

APPENDIX O SINGLE-DOSE TOXICOKINETIC STUDIES IN F344/N RATS AND B6C3F₁ MICE

INTRODUCTI	ON	340
MATERIALS	AND METHODS	340
RESULTS .		341
TABLE O1	Plasma Concentrations of Total Phenolphthalein in F344/N Rats and B6C3F ₁ Mice	
	After a Single Gavage Dose of Phenolphthalein	343
FIGURE O1	Plasma Concentrations of Total Phenolphthalein in Male F344/N Rats	
	After a Single Gavage Dose of 100 or 250 mg/kg	344
FIGURE O2	Plasma Concentrations of Total Phenolphthalein in Female F344/N Rats	
	After a Single Gavage Dose of 100 or 250 mg/kg	344
FIGURE O3	Plasma Concentrations of Total Phenolphthalein in Male and Female F344/N Rats	
	After a Single Gavage Dose of 100 mg/kg	345
FIGURE O4	Plasma Concentrations of Total Phenolphthalein in Male and Female F344/N Rats	
	After a Single Gavage Dose of 250 mg/kg	345
FIGURE O5	Plasma Concentrations of Total Phenolphthalein in Male B6C3F ₁ Mice	
	After a Single Gavage Dose of 50 or 125 mg/kg	346
FIGURE O6	Plasma Concentrations of Total Phenolphthalein in Female B6C3F ₁ Mice	
	After a Single Gavage Dose of 50 or 125 mg/kg	346
FIGURE O7	Plasma Concentrations of Total Phenolphthalein in Male and Female B6C3F ₁ Mice	
	After a Single Gavage Dose of 50 mg/kg	347
FIGURE O8	Plasma Concentrations of Total Phenolphthalein in Male and Female B6C3F ₁ Mice	
	After a Single Gavage Dose of 125 mg/kg	347
TABLE O2	Pharmacokinetic Parameters in F344/N Rats After a Single Gavage Dose	
	of Phenolphthalein	348
TABLE O3	Pharmacokinetic Parameters in B6C3F ₁ Mice After a Single Gavage Dose	
	of Phenolphthalein	348

SINGLE-DOSE TOXICOKINETIC STUDIES IN F344/N RATS AND B6C3F₁ MICE

INTRODUCTION

Phenolphthalein is an isobenzofuranone derivative that is used as a cathartic and laxative. The single-dose toxicokinetic studies conducted in F344/N rats and B6C3F₁ mice were performed to determine the pharmacokinetic profile and elimination kinetics of phenolphthalein in rats and mice following a single dose by gavage (NTP, 1994).

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Phenolphthalein was obtained from Pharmco Laboratories, Inc. (Titusville, FL) in one lot (P9189-J1), which was also used for the 2-year studies conducted at TSI Mason Laboratories (Worcester, MA). Results of purity and stability analyses of lot P9189-J1 are given in Appendix J. Dose formulations were prepared as needed by suspending appropriate amounts of phenolphthalein in 0.5% aqueous methylcellulose, and analyses by the study laboratory using high-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) indicated that the dose formulations were homogeneous and within 10.7% of the target concentrations. Stability studies of a 5 mg/mL dose formulation conducted by the study laboratory indicated that suspensions are stable for up to 14 days when stored at room temperature and protected from light in sealed vials.

F344/N rats and B6C3F₁ mice were obtained from Taconic Farms (Germantown, NY). Upon receipt, the rats and mice were observed for parasites and indications of disease. The rats were quarantined for 140 (males) or 141 (females) days and were 171 (males) or 172 (females) days old at the start of the studies. The mice were quarantined for 145 (males) or 146 (females) days and were 177 (males) or 178 (females) days old at the start of the studies. Filtered municipal water and NIH-07 open formula meal diet were available *ad libitum*. During the studies, the rats administered 100 mg phenolphthalein/kg body weight were housed three per cage, and the rats administered 250 mg/kg were housed two per cage. The mice were housed separately.

Doses and sampling time points for the single-dose toxicokinetic studies were selected based on analysis of data from preliminary toxicokinetic studies and in preparation for the 2-year toxicokinetic studies.

Groups of 30 male and 30 female rats were administered a single dose of 100 mg phenolphthalein/kg body weight by gavage, and groups of 14 male and 16 female rats were administered 250 mg/kg. The dosing volume was 5 mL/kg. Groups of 30 male and 30 female mice were administered 50 mg/kg, and groups of 14 male and 16 female mice were administered 125 mg/kg. The dosing volume was 10 mL/kg. The animals were anesthetized with a mixture of carbon dioxide and oxygen, and blood samples were collected from the retroorbital sinus. Blood samples were collected from three male and three female 100 mg/kg rats and from three male and three female 50 mg/kg mice per time point at 5, 15, and 30 minutes and at 2, 4, 6, 10, 24, 34, and 48 hours after the administration of phenolphthalein. Blood samples were collected from two 250 mg/kg male rats and two 125 mg/kg male mice per time point at 15 and 30 minutes and at 3, 5, 8, 24, 34, and 48 hours after the administration of phenolphthalein; blood samples were collected from two 250 mg/kg female rats and two 125 mg/kg female mice per time point at 15 and 30 minutes and at 3, 5, 8, 24, 34, and 48 hours after the administration of phenolphthalein. Blood samples were collected only once from each animal. The samples were processed by the study laboratory, and the plasma was stored at -20° C or lower until analysis.

Single-Dose Toxicokinetic Studies

All animals were observed twice per day, 7 days per week. Clinical observations were not recorded for these studies. Individual body weights were recorded on the first day of the studies for the calculation of dosing volumes.

A plasma analysis procedure was developed and evaluated at the study laboratory for the analysis of plasma concentrations of total phenolphthalein (free and conjugated) at concentrations ranging from 0.5 to $60 \ \mu g/mL$. Concentrations less than the experimental level of quantitation (ELOQ=0.5 $\ \mu g/mL$) should be considered approximations. Plasma samples were treated with β -glucuronidase and sulfatase enzyme preparations. Solid-phase extraction with octadecyl packing material was used to isolate total phenolphthalein and clean up the extract. The samples were then analyzed using HPLC with a Whatman pellicular ODS guard column, a Waters μ Bondapak 10 $\mumerin m C_{18}$ column, ultraviolet detection (229 nm), and a mobile phase of methanol:water:0.1 N hydrochloric acid (530:470:10) with a 1.0 mL/minute flow rate.

The average plasma concentrations of total phenolphthalein and standard deviations were calculated. The logarithms of these values were plotted as a function of time. The areas under the plasma concentration versus time curves (AUC_t) and standard errors were calculated using the trapezoid rule of the form $AUC_t = \sum \{(C_n + C_{n-1})/2\} \times \{t_n - t_{n-1}\}$, where AUC_t is the cumulative area under the curve to time t and C_{n-1} and C_n are successive concentrations at t_{n-1} and t_n , respectively. The areas under the curves to infinity (AUC_0^{∞}) were calculated from $AUC_0^{\infty} = AUC_t + C_t/\lambda$, where C_t is the last measured time point and λ is the terminal rate constant determined from the slope of the terminal phase of the log plasma concentration-time profiles. Linear regression of the last three or four data points gave the slope (λ) . The half-lives $(t_{1/2})$ were calculated as $0.693/\lambda$. The total body clearance (CI) was calculated as dose/AUC_0^{\infty}. The clearance gives an estimate of the volumetric elimination of the drug from the body. The maximum observed concentration (C_{max}) and corresponding time (t_{max}) were determined from the plasma

RESULTS

The plasma concentrations of total phenolphthalein and their standard deviations in rats are given in Table O1. The semilogarithmic plots of plasma concentration-time data for male and female rats administered 100 and 250 mg/kg are shown in Figures O1 through O4 and show linear kinetics in this dose range. The AUC₀[∞], $t_{1/2}$, Cl, C_{max} and t_{max} values for rats are reported in Table O2. The $t_{1/2}$ values were generally similar among groups. For rats administered 100 mg/kg, the $t_{1/2}$ values were 13.1 hours for males and 12.3 hours for females. For rats administered 100 mg/kg, the $t_{1/2}$ values were 0.157 mL/hour/kg for females. For rats administered 100 mg/kg, the Cl values were 0.157 mL/hour/kg for males and 0.118 mL/hour/kg for females. For rats administered 250 mg/kg, the Cl values were similar for the male and female rats administered 100 mg/kg. For rats administered 250 mg/kg, the c_{max} values were similar for the male and female rats administered 100 mg/kg. For rats administered 250 mg/kg, the similar for the male and female rats administered 100 mg/kg. The t_{max} values were similar for 100 and 250 mg/kg for males and 63.4 mg/kg for females. The t_{max} values were generally similar for 100 and 250 mg/kg males and females and ranged from 2 to 5 hours.

The plasma concentrations of total phenolphthalein and their standard deviations in mice are given in Table O1. The semilogarithmic plots of plasma concentration-time data for male and female mice administered 50 and 125 mg/kg are shown in Figures O5 through O8 and show linear kinetics in this dose range. However, the scatter on the 125 mg/kg females did not allow for the accurate estimation of the terminal slope, and the slope in this case was determined between the 8- and 48-hour time points. The AUC₀^{∞}, t_{1/2}, Cl, C_{max} and t_{max} values for mice are reported in Table O3. The t_{1/2} values were similar among groups. For mice administered 50 mg/kg, the t_{1/2} values were 6.28 hours for males and 6.68 hours for females. For mice administered 125 mg/kg, the t_{1/2} values were 6.52 hours for males and 6.96 hours for females. For mice administered 50 mg/kg, the Cl values were 0.104 mL/hour/kg for males and

0.074 mL/hour/kg for females. For mice administered 125 mg/kg, the Cl values were 0.168 mL/hour/kg for males and 0.119 mL/hour/kg for females. For mice administered 50 mg/kg, C_{max} values were 29.5 mg/kg for males and 44.5 mg/kg for females. For mice administered 125 mg/kg, C_{max} values were 50.7 mg/kg for males and 79.0 mg/kg for females. The t_{max} values demonstrated an erratic trend. The 50 mg/kg males showed a maximum at 4 hours, and the 125 mg/kg males showed a maximum at 30 minutes. The 50 mg/kg females showed a maximum at 30 minutes, and the 125 mg/kg females showed a maximum at 30 minutes. This could be due to one or a combination of interanimal, assay, and dosing variabilities.

Statistical analysis of the data has not been performed; however, it appears that 1) the elimination halflives were longer for rats than for mice; 2) the $AUC_0^{\infty}s$ were not dose proportional for either males or females or for rats or mice; and 3) the $AUC_0^{\infty}s$ were larger for female rats and mice than for males. Thus, these data indicate that females are exposed to higher plasma concentrations of total phenolphthalein and that some process, possibly absorption, is saturated at the high dose.

	100 mg/kg Rats	250 mg/kg Rats	50 mg/kg Mice	125 mg/kg Mice
n	3	2	3	2
Male				
Time After Dosing	r (minutes)			
5	1.77 ± 0.85	b	14.30 ± 1.97	
15	6.67 ± 1.36		22.10 ± 10.14	
30	12.21 ± 3.46	14.68 ± 7.53	25.10 ± 5.08	50.65 ± 0.64
120	27.90 ± 0.92		28.27 ± 3.92	
180		39.00 ± 7.78		45.55 ± 4.17
240	33.27 ± 5.35	_	29.47 ± 7.73	
300	<u> </u>	49.40 ± 0.42		40.90 ± 1.56
360	29.17 ± 1.52		24.20 ± 3.00	
480	_	29.45 ± 11.53		37.85 ± 2.62
600	20.27 ± 5.12		24.37 ± 3.96	
1,440	8.37 ± 2.89	11.75 ± 1.34	2.70 ± 0.84	5.21 ± 0.16
2,040	6.12 ± 2.00	7.94 ± 2.18	1.35 ± 0.18	1.96 ± 0.63
2,880	2.57 ± 0.51	4.17 ± 2.64	0.33 ± 0.07^{c}	0.61 ^d
Female				
Time After Dosing	g (minutes)			
5	2.50 ± 0.10		16.47 ± 0.50	-
15	9.39 ± 1.53	10.83 ± 4.77	37.20 ± 6.49	67.25 ± 6.01
30	17.47 ± 5.31	26.20 ± 3.39	44.47 ± 8.82	71.85 ± 6.29
120	31.00 ± 2.46	_	44.20 ± 3.63	
180	_	57.30 ± 11.17		74.50 ± 1.56
240	28.10 ± 7.14	—	32.00 ± 6.68	
300		63.35 ± 25.67		79.00 ± 4.38
360	27.73 ± 4.65		40.23 ± 9.09	-
480		45.80 ^d	_	47.40 ± 0.14
600	28.83 ± 1.12	_	34.60 ± 10.90	—
1,440	16.83 ± 3.16	16.55 ± 1.20	2.32 ± 1.01	3.00 ± 2.03
2,040	6.44 ± 2.00	11.80 ± 3.54	0.97 ± 0.15	5.95 ± 0.33
2,880	3.93 ± 1.27	15.93 ± 9.16	0.87 ± 0.51^{e}	0.57 ± 0.08

TABLE O1 Plasma Concentrations of Total Phenolphthalein in F344/N Rats and B6C3F, Mice After a Single Gavage Dose of Phenolphthalein^a

^a Data are given in $\mu g/mL$ as mean \pm standard deviation. Total phenolphthalein equals free and conjugated phenolphthalein.

^b No samples were collected.

^c All values were below the experimental limit of quantitation (0.5 μ g/mL).

d n=1; no standard deviation calculated

 $e_{n=2}$









FIGURE O3 Plasma Concentrations of Total Phenolphthalein in Male and Female F344/N Rats After a Single Gavage Dose of 100 mg/kg



Plasma Concentrations of Total Phenolphthalein in Male and Female F344/N Rats After a Single Gavage Dose of 250 mg/kg











FIGURE O7 Plasma Concentrations of Total Phenolphthalein in Male and Female B6C3F₁ Mice After a Single Gavage Dose of 50 mg/kg



Plasma Concentrations of Total Phenolphthalein in Male and Female $B6C3F_1$ Mice After a Single Gavage Dose of 125 mg/kg

Dose (mg/kg)	AUC₀ ^{∞b} (µg•hour/mL)	t _{1/2} ° (hours)	Cl ^d (mL/hour/kg)	C _{max} ^e (mg/kg)	t _{max} f (hours)
Male					<u> </u>
100	638 ± 38	13.1	0.157	33.3	4.00
250	873 ± 88	13.8	0.286	49.4	5.00
Female					
100	847 ± 32	12.3	0.118	31.0	2.00
250	$1,879 \pm 275$	28.3	0.133	63.4	5.00

TABLE O2

Pharmacokinetic Parameters in F344/N Rats After a Single Gavage Dose of Phenolphthalein^a

^a The data were calculated from the plasma concentration-time curves, where each point represents the mean of three male or three female 100 mg/kg rats or of two male or two female 250 mg/kg rats.

^b AUC₀^{∞} = area under the curve to infinity

 $t_{1/2} = elimination half-life$

^d $Cl = Dose/AUC_0^{\infty}$

 $C_{max} = maximum mean concentration$

f t_{max} = time of maximum mean concentration (estimated from last four timepoints)

TABLE O3 Pharmacokinetic Parameters in B6C3F₁ Mice After a Single Gavage Dose of Phenolphthalein^a

Dose (mg/kg)	AUC ₀ ∞b (μg•hour/mL)	t½ ^c (hours)	Cl ^d (mL/hour/kg)	C _{max} ^e (mg/kg)	t _{max} f (hours)
Male					
50	482 ± 23	6.28	0.104	29.5	4.00
125	742 ± 18	6.52	0.168	50.7	0.50
Female					
50	676 ± 55	6.68	0.074	44.5	0.50
125	$1,051 \pm 18$	6.96	0.119	79.0	5.00

^a The data were calculated from the plasma concentration-time curves, where each point represents the mean of three male or three female 50 mg/kg mice or of two male or two female 125 mg/kg mice.

^b AUC₀^{∞} = area under the curve to infinity

 $t_{1/2} = elimination half-life$

^d $Cl = Dose/AUC_0^{\infty}$

 C_{max} = maximum mean concentration

f t_{max} = time of maximum mean concentration (estimated from last four timepoints)

DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH & HUMAN SERVICES

Public Health Service National Toxicology Program Central Data Management P.O. Box 12233, MD E1-02 Research Triangle Park, NC 27709

> Official Business Penalty for Private Use - \$300

ŧ,

FIRST-CLASS MAIL POSTAGE & FEES PAID DHHS/NIH PERMIT NO. G-763

NIH Publication No. 97-3390 November 1996